AME Medical Book 1A040

THERAPIES FOR LUNG CANCER RADIATION AND COMBINED

AME

1A040

Editors: : Shenglin Ma George Rodrigues James W. Welsh



www.amegroups.com

RADIATION AND COMBINED THERAPIES FOR LUNG CANCER

Honorary Editors: René-Olivier Mirimanoff Abraham J. Wu Editors: Shenglin Ma George Rodrigues James W. Welsh Ugur Selek

Associate Editors: Bing xia



RADIATION AND COMBINED THERAPIES FOR LUNG CANCER

Honorary Editors:	René-Olivier Mirimanoff	
	Abraham J. Wu	
Editors:	Shenglin Ma	
	George Rodrigues	
	James W. Welsh	
Associate Editors:	Bing xia	
	Ugur Selek	



AME Publishing Company

Room C 16F, Kings Wing Plaza 1, NO. 3 on Kwan Street, Shatin, NT, Hong Kong

Information on this title: www.amegroups.com For more information, contact books@amegroups.com Copyright © AME Publishing Company. All rights reserved.

This publication is in copyright. Subject to statutory exception and to the provisions of relevant collective licensing agreements, no reproduction of any part may take place without the written permission of AME Publishing Company.

First published in 2018 Printed in China by AME Publishing Company

Editors: Shenglin Ma, George Rodrigues, James W. Welsh

Radiation and Combined Therapies for Lung Cancer

(Hard Cover)

ISBN: 978-988-78919-9-4 AME Publishing Company, Hong Kong

AME Publishing Company has no responsibility for the persistence or accuracy of URLs for external or third-party internet websites referred to in this publication, and does not guarantee that any content on such websites is, or will remain, accurate or appropriate.

The advice and opinions expressed in this book are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views or practices of the publisher. No representation is made by the publisher about the suitability of the information contained in this book, and there is no consent, endorsement or recommendation provided by the publisher, express or implied, with regard to its contents.

Radiation and Combined Therapies for Lung Cancer (FIRST EDITION)

HONORARY EDITORS

René-Olivier Mirimanoff

Professor Emeritus in Radiation Oncology, Faculty of Biology and Medicine, University of Lausanne, Switzerland

Abraham J. Wu

Department of Radiation Oncology, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY 10065, USA

EDITORS

Shenglin Ma

Nanjing Medical University, Affiliated Hangzhou First People's Hospital, Hangzhou, Zhejiang, China

George Rodrigues

London Health Sciences Centre and Western University, London, Ontario, Canada

James W. Welsh

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

ASSOCIATE EDITORS

Bing xia

Nanjing Medical University, Affiliated Hangzhou First People's Hospital, Hangzhou, Zhejiang, China

Ugur Selek

Department of Radiation Oncology, Koç University, School of Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey; Department of Radiation Oncology, The University of Texas, MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

AUTHORS

Clark Anderson

Paul L Foster School of Medicine, Texas Tech University Health Sciences Center El Paso, El Paso, TX, USA

Shahed N. Badiyan

University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, Maryland, 21201, USA

Hampartsoum B. Barsoumian

Department of Experimental Radiation Oncology, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

I

Sushil Beriwal

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA

Abigail T. Berman

Department of Radiation Oncology, Perelman School of Medicine, Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Mark Edmund Bernard

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA

Jeffrey D. Bradley

Department of Radiation Oncology, Division of Medical Oncology, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, Missouri, USA

Julie Brahmer

Thoracic Oncology Program, Sidney Kimmel Comprehensive Cancer Center, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA

Eric D. Brooks

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Stuart H. Burri

Department of Radiation Oncology, Levine Cancer Institute, Carolinas HealthCare System, Charlotte, NC, USA

Allison M. Campbell

Department of Therapeutic Radiology, Yale School of Medicine, New Haven, CT, USA

Robert J. Cerfolio

Department of Thoracic Surgery, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, USA

II

Jamie Chaft

Thoracic Oncology Service, Department of Medicine, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center and Weill Cornell Medical College, New York, USA

Joe Y. Chang

Department of Radiation Oncology, The University of Texas, MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

David Anthony Clump

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA

Maria Angelica Cortez

Department of Experimental Radiation Oncology, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Melissa Culligan

Department of Surgery, Division of Thoracic Surgery, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

Roy H. Decker

Department of Therapeutic Radiology, Yale School of Medicine, New Haven, CT, USA

Todd DeWees

Department of Radiation Oncology, Division of Medical Oncology, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, Missouri, USA

Tejan P. Diwanji

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Maryland Medical Center, Baltimore, Maryland 21201, USA

Neil Duggar

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Mississippi Medical Center, Jackson, MS, USA

Panagiota Economopoulou

Department of Medical Oncology, Attikon University Hospital, Athens, Greece

James H. Estes

Department of Thoracic Surgery, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, USA

Steven Feigenberg

University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, Maryland, 21201, USA

Joseph S. Friedberg

Department of Surgery, Division of Thoracic Surgery, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

Huan Giap

Scripps Proton Therapy Center, San Diego, CA, USA

Fantine Giap

University of Texas at Southwestern, Dallas, TX, USA

Shankar P. Giri

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Mississippi Medical Center, Jackson, MS, USA

María Teresa Gómez-Hernández

Thoracic Surgery Service, Salamanca University Hospital and Salamanca's Bio-sanitary Institute (IBSAL), Salamanca, Spain

John H. Heinzerling

Department of Radiation Oncology, Levine Cancer Institute, Carolinas HealthCare System, Charlotte, NC, USA

Jeroen M. Hendriks

Department of Thoracic and Vascular Surgery, Antwerp University Hospital, Edegem, Antwerp, Belgium

Salma K. Jabbour

Department of Radiation Oncology, Rutgers Cancer Institute of New Jersey, Rutgers Robert Wood Johnson Medical School, Rutgers University, New Brunswick, NJ, USA

Chaitanya Kalavagunta

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Maryland Medical Center, Baltimore, Maryland 21201, USA

Anusha Kalbasi

Department of Radiation Oncology, David Geffen School of Medicine, University of California Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, USA

Madhava R. Kanakamedala

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Mississippi Medical Center, Jackson, MS, USA

Rakesh Kapoor

Department of Radiation Oncology, Regional Cancer Centre, Post Graduate Institute Of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh 160012, India

Ron LaLonde

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA

Patrick Lauwers

Department of Thoracic and Vascular Surgery, Antwerp University Hospital, Edegem, Antwerp, Belgium

Cecile Le Pechoux

Department of Radiation Oncology, Institut Gustave Roussy, Villejuif, France

Antonin Levy

Department of Radiation Oncology, Institut d'Oncologie Thoracique (IOT), Gustave Roussy, Universite' Paris-Saclay, Villejuif, France; Univ Paris Sud, Universite' Paris-Saclay, Le Kremlin-Bicetre, France; INSERM U1030, Molecular Radiotherapy, Gustave Roussy, Universite' Paris-Saclay, Villejuif, France

Yun R. Li

Center for Applied Genomics, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Ailin Li

Department of Experimental Radiation Oncology, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA; Department of Radiation Oncology, The First Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang 110001, China

Shenglin Ma

Translational Medicine Research Center, Nanjing Medical University, Affiliated Hangzhou Hospital, Hangzhou First People's Hospital, Hangzhou 310006, China

Olaf Mercier

Univ Paris Sud, Universite' Paris-Saclay, Le Kremlin-Bicêtre, France; Department of Thoracic and Vascular Surgery and Heart-Lung Transplantation, Institut d'Oncologie Thoracique (IOT), Marie- Lannelongue Hospital, Paris-Saclay University, Le Plessis Robinson, France

René-Olivier Mirimanoff

Professor Emeritus in Radiation Oncology, Faculty of Biology and Medicine, University of Lausanne, Switzerland

Pranshu Mohindra

University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, Maryland, 21201, USA

Daniel Morgensztern

Department of Medicine, Division of Medical Oncology, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, Missouri, USA

Sina Mossahebi

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Maryland Medical Center, Baltimore, Maryland 21201, USA

Giannis Mountzios

Department of Medical Oncology, 251 Airforce General Hospital, Athens, Greece

Nhu-Tram A. Nguyen

Department of Radiation Oncology, McMaster University-Juravinski Cancer Centre, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Sharareh Niknam

Department of Experimental Radiation Oncology, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Aalok P. Patel

Department of Surgery, Division of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Division of Medical Oncology, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, Missouri, USA

Varun Puri

Department of Surgery, Division of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Division of Medical Oncology, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, Missouri, USA

IV

Ramesh Rengan Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Washington School of Medicine, Seattle, WA, USA

Andreas Rimner

Department of Radiation Oncology, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, USA

Cliff G. Robinson

Department of Radiation Oncology, Division of Medical Oncology, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, Missouri, USA

Domingos Roda

Portuguese Oncology Institute Francisco Gentil, Coimbra, Portugal

George Rodrigues

Department of Radiation Oncology, London Health Sciences Centre, London N6A 4L6, Ontario, Canada

Jonathan E. Schoenhals

Department of Experimental Radiation Oncology, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Ugur Selek

Department of Radiation Oncology, Koc, University, School of Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey; Department of Radiation Oncology, The University of Texas, MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Steven N. Seyedin

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics, Iowa City, IA, USA

Vijai Simha

Department of Radiation Oncology, Regional Cancer Centre, Post Graduate Institute Of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh 160012, India

Charles B. Simone II

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

James W. Snider III

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Maryland Medical Center, Baltimore, Maryland 21201, USA Ranjan K. Sur Department of Radiation Oncology, McMaster University-Juravinski Cancer Centre, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Scott J. Swanson

Division of Thoracic Surgery, Department of Surgery, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

Neil K. Taunk

Department of Radiation Oncology, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, USA

Wilma Uyterlinde

Department of Thoracic Oncology, Netherlands Cancer Institute, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Annemie Van Breussegem

Department of Thoracic and Vascular Surgery, Antwerp University Hospital, Edegem, Antwerp, Belgium

Paul E. Van Schil

Department of Thoracic and Vascular Surgery, Antwerp University Hospital, Edegem, Antwerp, Belgium

Gonzalo Varela

Thoracic Surgery Service, Salamanca University Hospital and Salamanca's Bio-sanitary Institute (IBSAL), Salamanca, Spain

Melissa Vyfhuis

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Maryland Medical Center, Baltimore, Maryland 21201, USA

James W. Welsh

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Abby White

Division of Thoracic Surgery, Department of Surgery, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

Abraham J. Wu

Department of Radiation Oncology, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY 10065, USA

Bing Xia

Zhejiang Province Key Laboratory of Anti-Cancer Drug Research, Institute of Pharmacology and Toxicology, School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou 310058, China; Translational Medicine Research Center, Nanjing Medical University, Affiliated Hangzhou Hospital, Hangzhou First People's Hospital, Hangzhou 310006, China; Department of Radiation Oncology, Hangzhou Cancer Hospital, Hangzhou 310006, China

Peng Xu

Department of Radiation Oncology, Sichuan Cancer Hospital, Chengdu, China

T. Jonathan Yang

Department of Radiation Oncology, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY 10065, USA

Ahmed I. Younes

Department of Experimental Radiation Oncology, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Jen Yu

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Maryland Medical Center, Baltimore, Maryland 21201, USA

Shirong Zhang

Translational Medicine Research Center, Nanjing Medical University, Affiliated Hangzhou Hospital, Hangzhou First People's Hospital, Hangzhou 310006, China

Executive Typesetting Editor

Xiaoyan Hu, AME Publishing Company

Foreword

We are pleased to announce that the "AME Research Time Medical Book Series" launched by AME Publishing Company have been published as scheduled.

Finishing my medical degree after 4 years and 3 months of study, I decided to quit going on to become a doctor only after 3 months of training. After that, I had been muddling through days and nights until I started engaging in medical academic publishing. Even 10 years after graduation, I had not totally lost the affection for being a doctor. Occasionally, that subconscious feeling would inadvertently arise from the bottom of my heart.

In April 2011, Mr. Tiantian Li, the founder of DXY.cn, and I had a business trip to Philadelphia, where we visited the Mütter Museum. As part of The College of Physicians of Philadelphia, the museum was founded in 1858 and has now become an exhibition hall of various diseases, injuries, deformities, as well as ancient medical instruments and the development of biology. It displays more than 20,000 pieces of items including pictures of wounded bodies at sites of battle, remains of conjoined twins, skeletons of dwarfs, and colons with pathological changes. They even exhibited several exclusive collections such as a soap-like female body and the skull of a two-headed child. This museum is widely known as "BIRTHPLACE OF AMERICAN MEDICINE". Entering an auditorium, we were introduced by the narrator that the inauguration ceremony of the Perelman School of Medicine at the University of Pennsylvania would take place there every year. I asked Mr. Li, "If it was at this auditorium that you had the inauguration ceremony, would you give up being a doctor?" "No," he answered.

In May 2013, we attended a meeting of British Medical Journal (BMJ) and afterwards a gala dinner was held to present awards to a number of outstanding medical teams. The event was hosted annually by the Editor-in-Chief of BMJ and a famous BBC host. Surprisingly, during the award presentation, the speeches made by BMJ never mentioned any high impact papers the teams had published in whichever prestigious journals over the past years. Instead, they laid emphasis on the contributions they had made on improving medical services in certain fields, alleviating the suffering of patients, and reducing the medical expenses.

Many friends of mine wondered what AME means.

AME is an acronym of "Academic Made Easy, Excellent and Enthusiastic". On September 3, 2014, I posted three pictures to social media feeds and asked my friends to select their favourite version of the AME promotional leaflet. Unexpectedly we obtained a perfect translation of "AME" from Dr. Yaxing Shen, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Zhongshan Hospital, Shanghai, who wrote: enjoy a grander sight by devoting to academia (in Chinese, it was adapted from the verse of a famous Chinese poem).

AME is a young company with a pure dream. Whilst having a clear focus on research, we have been adhering to the core value "Patients come first". On April 24, 2014, we developed a public account on WeChat (a popular Chinese social media) and named it "Research Time". With a passion for clinical work, scientific research and the stories of science, "Research Time" disseminates cutting-edge breakthroughs in scientific research, provides moment-to-moment coverage of academic activities and shares rarely known behind-the-scene stories. With global vision, together we keep abreast of the advances in clinical research; together we meet and join our hands at the Research Time. We are committed to continue developing the AME platform to aid in the continual forward development and dissemination of medical science.

It is said that how one tastes wine indicates one's personality. We would say how one reads gives a better insight to it. The "AME Research Time Medical Books Series" brings together clinical work, scientific research and humanism. Like making a fine dinner, we hope to cook the most delicate cuisine with all the great tastes and aromas that everyone will enjoy.

Stephen Wang Founder & CEO, AME Publishing Company

This book addresses the role of radiotherapy in non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) in the late 2010's. Is radiation oncology, a valiant hundred years old discipline, still a key-player in the management of NSCLC ? Radiotherapy in NSCLC has a long history, and its importance has been demonstrated by a large number of level I evidence-based studies on radiotherapy alone or combined with surgery and/or chemotherapy over the past four or five decades. However on the one hand, due in part to the slow overall survival improvement, and on the other hand due to the rapid progress in other disciplines, in the first place surgery and medical oncology, the role of radiotherapy in many situations has been recently challenged, and sometimes negated by well-intended experts in NSCLC. In spite of the remarkable discoveries in basic molecular mechanisms, leading to novel individualized therapies in metastatic disease, in spite of the growing knowledge in immune reponse, and in spite of superb developments in minimally invasive surgery, it would be a tragic mistake to ignore the extraordinary developments of radiotherapy in NSCLC. Indeed, radiotherapy continues to be a major actor at nearly all stages of NSCLC, from curative to palliative treatments. It would be also a great mistake to envisage all the recent progress in surgery, radiation oncology and medical oncology separately, since many of the major advances in the management of NSCLC at any stage in the past decades came from a multidisciplinary approach, with treatment decisions taken by all partners before any therapeutic action. Only then, the best of all disciplines can be offered to individual NSCLC patients, using optimal choices, combinations and sequencing while minimizing the risk of toxicity. Given the high-speed developments of the above-mentionned oncological fields, it is increasingly important that all specialists have a solid knowledge of their partners' disciplines, as the integration of innovations in surgery, radiation therapy and systemic treatments may be very complex, and sometimes confrontational. This is why the publication of this book Radiation and Combined Therapies for Lung Cancer is particularly timely and takes up this very difficult challenge. It contains 27 well-balanced and comprehensive chapters gathered together in 6 sections on radiotherapy techniques, combinations of radiotherapy and chemotherapy, radiotherapy, radiotherapy, radiotherapy and targeted therapies, radiotherapy and surgery, and sequencing of radiotherapy and chemotherapy in combination with surgery. These excellent chapters were written by a panel of international experts from North America, Europe and Asia, and will present the most recent advances in radiation oncology and its combination with other disciplines, intended not only for radiation oncologists, but also for all their partners involved in the management of NSCLC.

René-Olivier Mirimanoff, MD

Professor Emeritus, Radiation Oncology, Faculty of Biology and Medicine, University Hospital (CHUV), University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland (Email : rene-olivier.mirimanoff@chuv.ch)

As the leading cause of cancer-related death worldwide, lung cancer's significance cannot be overstated. Radiotherapy continues to be an indispensable tool in the treatment of lung cancer. For localized disease, radiotherapy can be curative, whether it is stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for early-stage disease or chemoradiation for locally advanced disease. In advanced disease, radiotherapy is one of the most effective tools for palliation of symptoms and control of brain metastasis. However, the sobering reality remains that lung cancer is a deadly disease for most who develop it, and much more progress must be made.

In recent years, multiple exciting and impactful developments have occurred in lung cancer radiation, for all stages of disease. The chapters of this book comprise an indispensable and up-to-date overview of the current state of lung cancer radiotherapy, the recent advances that have been made, and the questions and frontiers that remain to be explored.

For early-stage disease, SBRT has truly ushered in a new era of effective management for inoperable patients. It is no longer an emerging therapy but a new standard of care for those who are not surgical candidates. The question is no longer whether SBRT is effective, but whether it can be considered a suitable alternative to resection even in those patients who are eligible for surgery.

For locally advanced disease, immunotherapy has emerged as a highly promising adjunct to standard chemoradiation. Major unanswered questions include whether proton therapy has a significant clinical benefit, and whether postoperative radiation improves survival in resected patients with N2 disease. Both of these questions are the subject of ongoing multi-center randomized trials.

For metastatic disease, the emergence of targeted agents, such as tyrosine kinase inhibitors for EGFR-mutated cancers, has greatly changed not only the prognosis of certain subsets of NSCLC patients, but the role of radiation as well. The CNS activity of certain targeted agents suggests that cranial radiation need not always be first-line therapy for brain metastasis, potentially reducing the role of radiation. On the other hand, NSCLC patients with targetable mutations such as EGFR may be prime candidates for the early integration of radiation therapy, potentially increasing the role of radiation.

These brief comments only scratch the surface of the meaningful advances, impactful data, and provocative new questions that have arisen in the last few years. The articles in this book, reflecting contributions from many esteemed experts who have been at the forefront of these new developments, will provide the reader with an excellent overview of the current state of lung cancer radiotherapy. It is a distinct pleasure and honor for me to present and introduce them to you.



Abraham J. Wu, MD Department of Radiation Oncology, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY 10065, USA (Email: wua@mskcc.org)

Radiotherapy plays an important role in the comprehensive treatment of lung cancer, approximately two thirds of patients will be received at least one course of radiotherapy throughout their illness. In recent years, the application of radiotherapy is more extensive due to the better dose coverage of tumor targets and protection of normal tissues and organs, which mainly benefited from the rapid progress of radiation and imaging techniques. For patients with early stage non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) who are unfit for radical surgery, stereotactic radiotherapy (SBRT) has become the standard of care. Even the patients who were eligible for surgery, SBRT also showed promising outcomes in some retrospective studies. The issue of postoperative radiotherapy (PORT) in patients with resected NSCLC remained controversial since the PORT meta-analysis article was published in 1998. Recent studies showed that modern PORT conferred an additional survival advantage beyond that achieved with adjuvant chemotherapy alone in pathologic N2 patients. In stage IV disease, there were also accumulating evidences indicating that the application of radiotherapy in this setting not only served as a palliative treatment but also had the potential to increase survival, especially for those with limited metastases.

With regard to systemic treatment in NSCLC, significant progress has been made in recent years, including angiogenesis inhibitors, molecular targeting therapies specific for oncogenic drivers and immunotherapies. The applications of these treatments were increased in clinic practice, which produced relatively high response rate and long duration with acceptable toxicity profile. Furthermore, the life expectancy in these patients was significantly prolonged than those in the past with treatment of chemotherapy alone. In this context, radiotherapy, as a local treatment modality, has more space for development and imagination in the area of combination therapies. For example, in local advanced NSCLC with EGFR mutation, the combination of thoracic radiotherapy and oral small-molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors produced a progression free survival of 27.9 months (RECEL study). Maintain treatment with the PD-L1 inhibitor (durvalumab) in patients with locally advanced NSCLC who have not progressed following concurrent chemoradiotherapy, showed encouraging results; the median progression free survival from randomization was 16.8 months in the randomized phase III trial (PACIFIC). Of interest, in a post hoc analysis of KEYNOTE-001 phase 1 trial, patients with a history of previous radiotherapy showed better clinical activity and got more survival benefits from the treatment of pembrolizumab, albeit most patients in this study (64%) received radiotherapy with a palliative intent. All of those indicated that combination of modern radiotherapy with novel systemic treatment deserves intensive investigation, and further work will be necessary to determine the optimal dose/fractionation, timing of radiation in order to harmonize the synergy effects.

In this book, many challenging clinical scenarios in lung cancer radiotherapy will be discussed, and recommendations based on available data or directions deserved further research will be given, including SBRT in early stage NSCLC, radiotherapy in local advanced NSCLC, cranial irradiation in specific lung cancer, and the combination of radiotherapy with chemotherapy, immunotherapy, targeted therapy and surgery.

Shenglin Ma, MD

Professor and Clinician Scientist, Nanjing Medical University, Affiliated Hangzhou First People's Hospital, Hangzhou, Zhejiang, China. (Email: mashenglin@medmail.com.cn)

The health policy implications of lung cancer are significant in terms of both cancer incidence and mortality ranging from the local to international perspectives. Although the rates of smoking-related lung cancers appear to be easing among various patient populations, mortality from lung cancer continues to be high despite advancements in imaging, surgery, radiation therapy and systemic therapies. Advancements in health policy interventions, patient screening, molecular subtyping and immunotherapy may hold promise in further reversing these incidence and mortality trends.

Radiotherapy has a central and important role in the management of NSCLC to optimize patient outcomes. In resectable disease, meta-analyses and guidelines have provided important information regarding the selection of patients and dose-fractionation for post-operative radiotherapy. Similarly, four decades of clinical trial experience have clarified the indications, dose-fractionation, and use of concurrent chemoradiation for the management of locally-advanced NSCLC. More recent investigations of stereotactic ablative radiotherapy as an alternative to surgery for early stage disease have provided patients with an important option for the management of this clinical entity. Additionally, other palliative radiotherapy indications exist to optimize health-related quality-of-life and to reduce tumour-related symptoms.

In "*Radiation and Combined Therapies for Lung Cancer*" this central role of radiotherapy in the management of NSCLC is further explored by experts in the field to provide the reader a review of what is currently known for a variety of clinical NSCLC scenarios but also to look forward to where the field is potentially heading. Specifically, the areas of radiation modality and technique are explored in terms of potential improvements in the therapeutic ratio within the radiotherapy modality. Additionally, issues surrounding the inclusion and sequencing of multimodal treatment combining radiation with surgery, chemotherapy, targeted therapy, and immunotherapy are explored by multiple authors in this book.

George Rodrigues, MD, PhD, FRCPC, FASTRO

Professor and Clinician Scientist, London Health Sciences Centre and Western University, London, Ontario, Canada. (Email: george.rodrigues@lhsc.on.ca)

Lung cancer continues to contribute to the growing burden of non-communicable disease, not just in North America but around the world. With an ever-growing world population and the accumulation of genetic mutations in that population, the need for clinicians to embrace multimodality treatment is more acute than ever. The era of "personalized therapy" for all types of cancer has arrived, particularly for lung cancer, where time and time again we see some patients having positive responses to combinatory treatments, only to see others fail to respond to the same combinations. Treatment options for lung cancer are expanding rapidly thanks to advances in immunotherapy, radiation, chemotherapy, and other types of intervention. Even more unprecedented is the paradigm shift occurring in the context of radiation therapy. Radiation, long seen as solely as a means of local tumor control, is now, in combination with immunotherapy, showing promise for improving systemic control. The ability of radiation to turn a cancer into an *in situ* vaccine, acting against itself, enhances the potential of radiation as a powerful tool for treating systemic disease.

With the rapid pace of these innovations comes the need to bridge the knowledge gap, to inform the community of the countless clinicians, research scientists, and industries devoted to meeting the demands of lung cancer treatment. This textbook undoubtedly helps to bridge that gap. Written by experts from Europe, Asia, and North America, it is a crucial resource that our community needs to meet the present and future challenges of lung cancer treatment.

This textbook, while focusing on the role of radiation therapy in lung cancer management, provides chapters focusing on a broad variety of issues ranging from the relevance of proton therapy for the management of thoracic malignancies to the influence of stereotactic ablative radiotherapy and brachytherapy for the treatment of lung cancer. Its innovation extends further to chapters that outline new combinatorial advances in radiation therapy, such as combinations with immunotherapy, surgery, and chemotherapy. The work described in this book also has major translational implications with regard to the effects of sequencing and timing of radiation treatment in combination with other forms of therapy. Answers to these sorts of crucial questions are being sought by many radiation oncology clinicians today.

Lung cancer is a global threat. The GLOBOCAN global cancer statistics, last published in 2012, show that lung cancer is the most common type of cancer all over the world, with approximately 1.8 million new cases diagnosed each year, a number that continues to grow, with up to 58% of lung cancers occurring in middle- and low-income countries. Lung cancer is still the most common cancer in men worldwide and the most common cause of death from cancer worldwide. With the ever-increasing threat of pulmonary environmental pollutants comes the pressing need to disseminate knowledge on the importance of radiation therapy in the treatment of lung cancer, and we hope that our readers find that knowledge within these pages.

We are grateful to AME Publishers for the opportunity to publish this work, and for their incredible efforts in bringing this book to fruition. We hope that its readers will gain valuable knowledge on how far this field has come and can help to generate additional ideas for the future for further enhancing the effectiveness of radiation in the fight against lung cancer.



James W. Welsh, MD Associate Professor, Department of Radiation Oncology, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

This themed collection of articles from journals of AME (http://amegroups.com/) on Radiation Therapy for Lung Cancer is aiming to be broadening the horizons of all researchers interested in optimization of lung cancer treatment and is providing a spectrum to enable practicing radiation oncologists to embrace the current management in the multidisciplinary setting of patient selection and radiotherapy in lung cancer from the basics to the cutting-edge treatments. This book covers an advocacy of radiation oncology perspective equipped with knowledge, evidence and experience based advanced technology to understand the challenging surgical and medical oncology approaches in multidisciplinary tumor board. The instructive spectrum of radiotherapy in lung cancer from brachytherapy to intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT), volumetric modulated arc therapy (VMAT), stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT), and proton therapy will outline the practical instructions to ease the management decisions of everyday and upcoming challenging cases. We hope "*Radiation and Combined Therapies for Lung Cancer*" will meet the need for an up-to-date practical review; and articles on lung cancer at different stages, providing an academic expert view of timing, combination, consequences, concerns, and influences of all modalities including surgery, radiotherapy, chemotherapy and immunotherapy, will be of value for practicing oncologists as well as fellows and residents interested in lung cancer treatments to facilitate the decision making in the management of their patients.



Ugur Selek, MD

Department Chief at MD Anderson Outreach Radiation Treatment Center at American Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey; Professor of Koc University, School of Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey; Adjunct Professor of Radiation Oncology at University of Texas, M.D. Anderson Cancer Center; Houston, TX, USA (Email: ugurselek@yahoo.com; uselek@mdanderson.org; uselek@ku.edu.tr)

Table of Contents

Radiotherapy for Lung Cancer

- 1 Radiation therapy for locally advanced lung cancer Mark Edmund Bernard, David Anthony Clump, Ron LaLonde, Sushil Beriwal
- 17 Stereotactic body radiation therapy in lung Madhava R. Kanakamedala, Neil Duggar, Shankar P. Giri
- 31 Brachytherapy in lung cancer: a review Nhu-Tram A. Nguyen, Ranjan K. Sur
- 47 Advances in radiotherapy techniques and delivery for non-small cell lung cancer: benefits of intensitymodulated radiation therapy, proton therapy, and stereotactic body radiation therapy Tejan P. Diwanji, Pranshu Mohindra, Melissa Vyfhuis, James W. Snider III, Chaitanya Kalavagunta, Sina Mossahebi, Jen Yu, Steven Feigenberg, Shahed N. Badiyan
- 64 Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for early stage non-small cell lung cancer: a word of caution Gonzalo Varela, María Teresa Gómez-Hernández.
- 68 Cranial irradiation in patients with *EGFR*-mutant non-small cell lung cancer brain metastases *T. Jonathan Yang, Abraham J. Wu*
- 72 Advances in palliative radiotherapy of metastatic non-small cell lung cancer Rakesh Kapoor, Vijai Simha
- 78 Can proton beam therapy be clinically relevant for the management of lung cancer? Huan Giap, Domingos Roda, Fantine Giap

Chemoradiotherapy for Lung Cancer

- 91 Chemoradiotherapy for stage III non-small cell lung cancer: have we reached the limit? Peng Xu, Cecile Le Pechoux
- **101 Overcoming toxicity-challenges in chemoradiation for non-small cell lung cancer** *Wilma Uyterlinde*

Radiotherapy and Immunotherapy for Lung Cancer

106 Novel radiotherapy approaches for lung cancer: combining radiation therapy with targeted and immunotherapies

Charles B. Simone II, Stuart H. Burri, John H. Heinzerling

- XIV
- 114 Integrating immunotherapy into chemoradiation regimens for medically inoperable locally advanced nonsmall cell lung cancer

Salma K. Jabbour; Abigail T. Berman, Charles B. Simone II

120 Uncovering the immune tumor microenvironment in non-small cell lung cancer to understand response rates to checkpoint blockade and radiation

Jonathan E. Schoenhals, Steven N. Seyedin, Clark Anderson, Eric D. Brooks, Yun R. Li, Ahmed I. Younes, Sharareh Niknam, Ailin Li, Hampartsoum B. Barsoumian, Maria Angelica Cortez, James W. Welsh

- 131 Clinical experiences of combining immunotherapy and radiation therapy in non-small cell lung cancer: lessons from melanoma Anusha Kalbasi, Ramesh Rengan
- 140 Immunotherapy and radiation therapy for operable early stage and locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer

Neil K. Taunk, Andreas Rimner, Melissa Culligan, Joseph S. Friedberg, Julie Brahmer, Jamie Chaft

148 Mini-review of conventional and hypofractionated radiation therapy combined with immunotherapy for non-small cell lung cancer Allison M. Campbell, Roy H. Decker

Radiotherapy and Targeted Therapy for Lung Cancer

- 158 Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and central nervous system (CNS) metastases: role of tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) and evidence in favor or against their use with concurrent cranial radiotherapy Panagiota Economopoulou, Giannis Mountzios
- 169 Management of non-small cell lung cancer with *EGFR* mutation: the role of radiotherapy in the era of tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy—opportunities and challenges *Bing Xia, Shirong Zhang, Shenglin Ma*

Radiotherapy and Surgical Treatment of Lung Cancer

- 178 Is post-operative radiotherapy of any benefit after R0 resection for N2 disease? Robert J. Cerfolio, James H. Estes
- 180 Response to "Is post-operative radiotherapy of any benefit after R0 resection for N2 disease?" Cliff G. Robinson, Aalok P. Patel, Todd DeWees, Daniel Morgensztern, Jeffrey D. Bradley, Varun Puri
- **181** Salvage surgery after high-dose radiotherapy Annemie Van Breussegem, Jeroen M. Hendriks, Patrick Lauwers, Paul E. Van Schil
- 189 Surgery versus stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR) for early-stage non-small cell lung cancer: less is not more

Abby White, Scott J. Swanson

196 Stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy (SABR): an alternative to surgery in stage I-II non-small-cell cancer of the lung? *Paná Oliviar Miringroff*

René-Olivier Mirimanoff

206 Stereotactic ablative body radiation therapy or surgery for operable early non-small cell lung cancer patients: bound hand and foot to evidence *Antonin Levy, Olaf Mercier, Cécile Le Péchoux*

Sequence of Radiotherapy and Chemotherapy After Lung Cancer Operation

- 209 Optimal sequencing of adjuvant chemotherapy and radiation therapy in resected non-small cell lung cancer with pathological N2 disease *George Rodrigues*
- 212 Optimal sequencing of postoperative radiotherapy and chemotherapy in IIIA-N2 non-small cell lung cancer Ugur Selek, Joe Y. Chang
- 216 Neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy followed by surgery for stage IIIa and IIIb non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC): is it still justified? *René-Olivier Mirimanoff*

Radiation therapy for locally advanced lung cancer

Mark Edmund Bernard, David Anthony Clump, Ron LaLonde, Sushil Beriwal

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA *Contributions*: (I) Conception and design: ME Bernard, DA Clump, S Beriwal; (II) Administrative support: DA Clump, S Beriwal; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: ME Bernard, DA Clump, S Beriwal; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: ME Bernard, DA Clump, S Beriwal; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: S Beriwal, DA Clump, ME Bernard; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors. *Correspondence to:* Sushil Beriwal. Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Magee Women's Hospital, 300 Halket St, Pittsburgh, PA 15213, USA. Email: beriwals@upmc.edu.

> Abstract: Management for locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer (LANSCLC), which consists of Stage IIIA and IIIB disease, has progressed throughout the decades. While overall survival (OS) remains guarded, advancements in radiotherapy techniques along with the integration of chemotherapy, including targeted therapy, is transforming modern management. LANSCLC was initially treated with definitive radiation therapy (RT) alone. Early trials showed a local control benefit and OS benefit with dose escalation using conventional and altered fractionation. The next phase of management included the addition of chemotherapy. Sequential chemoradiation led to a survival benefit, however, concurrent chemoradiation proved to be a better regimen. While definitive chemoradiation is the standard of care for LANSCLC, neoadjuvant chemoradiation followed by surgical management is reserved for a subset of patients who have low volume single nodal station disease and are eligible for a lobectomy upfront. In terms of techniques, we have progressed from treating elective nodal sites to involved nodal regions. Supplementary technical improvements include three dimensional computed tomography planning, targeting ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography-computed tomography planning, motion management, use of Intensity Modulated Radiation Therapy (IMRT), and evaluating normal tissue dose volume relationships. We will also discuss ongoing novel techniques such as adaptive RT and use of hypofractionation. Finally, appropriate palliative treatment will be reviewed highlighting the role of dose per fraction, brachytherapy, and use of concurrent chemotherapy. American society for radiation oncology (ASTRO) summary guidelines will be presented at the end of the definitive and palliative section. Here, the advancement of RT for definitive and palliative treatment will be reviewed.

Keywords: Cancer; radiation; palliative; definitive

Submitted Aug 03, 2015. Accepted for publication Aug 05, 2015. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-676X.2015.08.03 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2218-676X.2015.08.03

Definitive RT

RT alone

Definitive radiotherapy as a therapeutic strategy for LANSCLC is based on the landmark study reported by Roswit *et al.* in 1966 (1). This randomized control trial (RCT) found RT doses of 40 to 50 Gy using 1.75 to 2 Gy per fraction resulted in an overall survival (OS) benefit when compared to observation (1-year OS 18.2% *vs.* 13.9%, respectively). While OS was limited, local control

as a means of improving overall outcomes was established. Further improvement in survival was sought in the first dose escalation conducted by the RTOG. Here, RTOG 73-01 compared four radiation fractionation schemes. This included a split course regimen of 40 Gy, as well as 40, 50, and 60 Gy delivered at 2 Gy per fraction, 5 fractions per week (2). While the split course had the lowest survival (2-year OS 10%), the other dose regimens were equivalent in regards to survival (2-year OS 45%). Maturation of the data demonstrated that the 60 Gy arm, when compared to the other conventional treatments of 50 Gy and 40 Gy had higher intrathoracic control [3-year local regional control (LRC) 67% *vs.* 58% *vs.* 56%, respectively] (3). This dose response relationship was supported by additional RTOG Trials where dose was found to correlate with an increase OS (4). Consequently, 60 Gy at 2 Gy per fraction became the standard of care for LANSCLC.

Hyperfractionation benefits

Seeking to improve upon the results of standard fractionation, various fractionation schemes were developed in an attempt to improve local control. This included hyperfractionation which is the delivery of higher doses in the same overall treatment time but with more fractions (e.g., 2 fractions per day). Total dose must be increased to account for the lower dose per fraction to achieve equivalent local control. When hyperfractionation is applied clinically, typically two fractions are delivered per day (with a 6-hour interfraction interval to allow for normal tissue repair). For example, RTOG 8311 was a phase I/II dose escalation trial using hyperfractionation. Dose was escalated using 60, 64.8, 69.9, 74.4, and 79.2 Gy at 1.2 Gy twice daily (BID) fractions (5). This feasibility study demonstrated that hyperfractionation as a means of escalating dose did not lead to a significant increase in acute or late effects on normal tissue. Also, the 69.6 Gy arm showed an improved OS in a subset of patients with stage III disease [American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) 1984], $\leq 5\%$ weight loss, and Karnofsky performance scale (KPS) \geq 70. Hyperfractionation can also be delivered using a three fraction per day approach referred to as continuous hyperfractionated accelerated radiotherapy (CHART). CHART was explored in a RCT where 60 Gy in 2 Gy daily fractions was compared to 54 Gy in 1.5 Gy fractions given three times a day (TID) (6). The TID regimen was associated with an OS advantage, predominantly in squamous cell carcinoma histology, while again showing no difference in late dysphagia and moderate/severe pneumonitis. A follow-up dose escalation study (CHARTWEL) compared 60 Gy using 1.5 Gy TID fractions against 54 Gy using 1.5 Gy TID fractions (7). The high dose arm was associated with higher acute esophagitis and late mild pulmonary morbidity. Additionally, ARO97-1 compared the CHARTWEL regimen against 66 Gy using 2 Gy daily fractions (8). While CHARTWEL may have improved local control in those with advanced disease, when including all cohorts the OS, local control, and rate of distant metastasis were the same.

Sequential chemoradiation therapy

Concurrent with the development of hyperfractionation regimens, the introduction of chemotherapy to the management of LANSCLC occurred. The CALGB were the first to demonstrate that induction cisplatin and vinblastine followed by 60 Gy (2.0 Gy per fraction) improved median survival for inoperable LANSCLC when compared to RT alone (13.7 vs. 9.6 months, respectively) (9). Additionally, the benefit of sequential chemoradiotherapy (CRT) was demonstrated in the Intergroup (INT) study as induction chemotherapy followed by 60 Gy in 2 Gy fractions led to an increase in median survival when compared to RT alone using 60 Gy in 2 Gy fractions and altered fractionation RT alone using 69.6 Gy with 1.2 Gy BID fractions (13.8 vs. 11.4 vs. 12.3 months, respectively) (10). These two trials established induction chemotherapy followed by 60.0 Gy at 2.0 Gy per fraction as the standard management for LANSCLC prior to the development of concurrent CRT.

Concurrent chemoradiation therapy

Though the CALGB and INT trials established sequential CRT over RT alone as the standard of care for LANSCLC, multiple concurrent CRT trials established this to be superior over sequential therapy as seen in Table 1. A Japanese trial included 312 patients with unresectable stage III NSCLC and compared concurrent CRT (split course RT) to sequential therapy (11). The median survival and OS was improved in the concurrent CRT arm at the expensive of increased myelosuppression. Additionally, RTOG 9410 performed a 3-arm study in patients with unresectable stage II-IIIB (99% were stage III) disease (12). Here, sequential CRT using conventional fractionation to 63 Gy, concurrent CRT using conventional fractionation to 63 Gy, or concurrent chemotherapy using hyperfractionation, 69.6 Gy at 1.2 Gy BID were compared. After a median follow-up of 11 years, the concurrent CRT arm was reported superior to that of sequential therapy by demonstrating an OS benefit of 6%. Several other studies contributed to the establishment of concurrent CRT to be superior to sequential chemotherapy using radiotherapy doses between 60 to 66 Gy (12-14) (Table 1). In 2010, the NSCLC Collaborative Group published a meta-analysis analyzing sequential and concurrent CRT

Radiation and Combined Therapies for Lung Cancer

Trials	Pts	Arms	Conclusions
BT alone	1 10	74110	
VA Study	800 pts	Placebo (Inert compound)	BT (compared to placebo)
<i>in cludy</i>	Localized inoperable	II. RT alone (40-50 Gv)	I. \uparrow MS (112 \rightarrow 142 days: P=0.05)
	RCT	III. Chemotherapy	II. ↑ 1-vear OS (13.9 \rightarrow 18.2%; P=0.05)
			III. Long term survivors* (230 \rightarrow 300 days;
			P=0.01)
RTOG 73-01	365 pts	I. Split course 40 Gy	Split course 40 Gy lowest survival (2-year OS 10%)
	Stage III	II. Continuous 40 Gy	3-year LRC
	(Included T3N0)	III. Continuous 50 Gy	I. Split Course 40 Gy (48%)
	RCT	IV. Continuous 60 Gy	II. Continuous 40 Gy (56%)
			III. Continuous 50 Gy (58%)
			IV. Continuous 60 Gy (67%)
Altered fraction	ation		
RTOG 83-11	848 pts	I. 60.0 Gy at 1.2 Gy BID	All arms
	Stage II-IV (No DM)	II. 64.8 Gy at 1.2 Gy BID	I. Same amount of acute and late toxicity
	Phase I/II	III. 69.6 Gy at 1.2 Gy BID	II. Same OS
		IV. 74.4 Gy at 1.2 Gy BID	Subset meeting CALGB 84-33 requirements*
		V. 79.2 Gy at 1.2 Gy BID	MS peaked at 69.6 Gy (13.0 mo)
CHART	563 pts	I. 60 Gy at 2 Gy Daily	54 Gy at 1.5 Gy BID
	Locally advanced,	II. 54 Gy at 1.5 Gy BID	I. \uparrow 3-year OS (13 \rightarrow 20%)
	inoperable stage IA-		II. \uparrow MS (13 \rightarrow 16.5 mo)
	IIIB (61% stage III)		III. Acute severe dysphagia ($3 \rightarrow 19\%$)
Sequential abo	RUI		
			Induction characterization
84-33	Stage III	I. In a dolle \mathbb{R}	$I \uparrow MS (9.7 \rightarrow 13.8 \text{ mo: } P=0.066)$
04-00	Phase III	Chemotherapy: cisplatin (100 mg/m ² days 1 and	$1. \uparrow \text{FES} (6.0 \rightarrow 8.2 \text{ mo; } P=0.041)$
	i nase m	29) with vinblastine (5 mg/m ² weekly)	n. + ++ 0 (0.0 + 0.2 m0, + =0.041)
		RT: 60 Gv at 2 Gv fractions	
RTOG	452 pts	I. Standard RT alone	Induction chemotherapy
88-08/ECOG	Stage II, IIIA, IIIB	II. Hyperfractionated RT alone	I. ↑ MS (11.4, 12.3, → 13.8 mo; P=0.03)
4588	(95% IIIA, IIIB)	III. Sequential chemotherapy \rightarrow standard RT	
(INT)	Phase III	Standard RT: 60 Gy at 2 Gy daily	
		Hyperfractionated RT: 69.6 Gy at 1.2 Gy BID	
		Chemotherapy: cisplatin (100 mg/m ² days	
		1 and 29) and vinblastine (5 mg/m ² weekly)	
Concurrent che	emotherapy		
RTOG 9410	610 pts	I. Sequential chemotherapy \rightarrow using	Concurrent conventional chemoradiation
	Phase III	conventional 63 Gy	I. ↑ Highest 5-year OS (10%, 16%, 13%)
		II. Concurrent chemoradiation using	No different in Survival between conventional
		conventional 63 Gy	vs. altered fractionation.
		III. Concurrent chemoradiation using 69.6 Gy at	
		1.2 Gy BID	
		Unemotherapy: Armo 1, Ω , Ciaplatin (100, $m = 4m^2$, down 1, and Ω)	
		Arms 1+2: Cisplatin (100 mg/m ² , days 1 and 29)	
		Arms 3: cisplatin (50 mg/m ² wookly) and	
		etonoside (50 mg PO BID)	

Table 1 Important definitive radiation therapy trials for Locally Advanced Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer (LANSCLC)

Table 1 (continued)

_

Trials	Pts	Arms	Conclusions
Japan	320 pts	I. Sequential chemotherapy \rightarrow RT	Concurrent chemoradiation
	Phase III	II. Concurrent chemoradiation using split	I. \uparrow Response Rates (66 \rightarrow 84%; P=0.0002)
		course RT	II. \uparrow MS (13.3 \rightarrow 16.5 mo; P=0.03998)
		Chemotherapy: cisplatin, vindesine, MMC;	III. ↑ Myelosuppression (P=0.0001)
		Sequential RT: 56 Gy continuous;	
		Split course RT: 28 Gy $ ightarrow$ 10 day rest $ ightarrow$	
		28 Gy	
French	205 pts	I. Sequential chemotherapy \rightarrow RT	2, 3, 4 year OS
	Stage III	II. Concurrent chemoradiation	I. Sequential arm: 26%, 19%, 14%
	Phase III	Chemotherapy: cisplatin (120 mg/m ² days 1, 29,	II. Concurrent arm: 39%, 25%, 21%
		57) and vinorelbine (30 mg/m ² /week)	Caveat:
		Thoracic RT: 66 Gy in 2 Gy fractions	Although differences not significant, trend to OS benefit
Zatloukal	102 pts	I. Sequential chemotherapy \rightarrow RT	Concurrent chemoradiation
et al.	Stage IIIA/B	II. Concurrent chemoradiation	I. \uparrow MS (12.9 \rightarrow 16.6 mo, P= 0.023)
	Phase III	Chemotherapy: cisplatin and vinorelbine	II. \uparrow TTP (8.5 \rightarrow 11.9 mo, P= 0.024)
		RT: 60 Gy in 2 Gy fractions	↑ WHO grade 3/4 toxicity
RTOG 06-17	166 pts	First randomization	74 Gy Arm
	2×2 phase III	I. Concurrent chemoradiation using	I. \downarrow MS (28.7 \rightarrow 20.3 mo)
		60 Gy \rightarrow Adjuvant chemotherapy \times	II. \downarrow 2-year OS (57.6 \rightarrow 44.6%)
		2 cycles	III. Same Median PFS (11.8 vs. 9.8 mo)
		II. Concurrent chemoradiation using	IV. Same 2-year LF (30.7 vs. 38.6 mo)
		74 Gy→ Adjuvant chemotherapy ×	V. Same 2-year DM (46.6 vs. 51.0 mo)
		2 cycles	
		Second randomization	
		I. No adjuvant cetuximab	
		II. Adjuvant cetuximab	
		Concurrent chemotherapy: Carboplatin (AUC 2	
		weekly) paclitaxel (45 mg/m ² weekly)	
		Adjuvant chemotherapy: Carboplatin (AUC 6)	
		and paclitaxel (200 mg/m²) Q3weeks	
Surgical manag	gement		
INT-0139	396 pts	I. Definitive chemoradiation	Neoadjuvant chemoradiation + surgery
	Phase III	II. Neoadjuvant chemoradiation \rightarrow	I. Same OS (22.2 vs. 23.6 mo)
		thoracotomy	II. \uparrow PFS (10.5 \rightarrow 12.8 mo, P=0.017)
		Definitive RT dose: 61 Gy	III. \uparrow morbidity (2 \rightarrow 8%)
		Neoadjuvant RT dose: 45 Gy	Subset analysis
		Chemotherapy: weekly cisplatin 50 mg/m ² +	In lobectomy eligible patients, Trimodality \uparrow
		etoposide 50 mg/m ²	MS (31.7 → 33.6 mo)

*, upper 25 percentile; [#], AJCC 1984 stage III, ≤5% weight loss, KPS ≥70; AJCC, American Joint Committee on Cancer; AUC, area under the curve; BID, twice a day; DM, distant metastasis; ECOG, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group; FFS, failure free survival; Fx, fractions; INT, intergroup; KPS, Karnofsky performance scale; LC, local control; LF, local failure; mo, months; MMC, mitomycin C; MS, medium survival; OS, overall survival; PO, oral intake; PFS, progression free survival; pts, patients; Q3weeks, every 3 weeks; RCT, randomized control trial; RT, radiation therapy; RTOG, radiation therapy oncology group.

trials concluding that concurrent CRT provides an OS benefit (5.7% at 3 years; 4.5% at 5 years) nevertheless at the cost of increased acute grade 3 or 4 esophageal toxicity (18% vs. 4%) (15).

Multiple chemotherapeutic agents have been delivered concurrently with radiotherapy however platinum based dual agents are standard with carboplatin and paclitaxel often favored over cisplatin and etoposide given the lower toxicity profile (16,17). Additionally, dosing has varied from weekly to full dose every-3-weeks (Q3weekly) regimens. Belani *et al.* randomized 404 patients with LANSCLC treated with definitive concurrent CRT to either carboplatin with weekly paclitaxel or Q3weekly paclitaxel and carboplatin (18). Both arms had similar median survivals and time to progression. The weekly paclitaxel arm had more grade 3 or 4 anemia and the Q3weekly arm had more neuropathy and arthralgia. The authors concluded both treatment strategies were acceptable.

However, given the low survival after definitive management, consolidative chemotherapy was studied to improve these outcomes. The Southwest Oncology Group (SWOG) phase II S9504 trial demonstrated promising results using consolidative docetaxel after concurrent chemoradiation for stage IIIB patients (19). The results showed a 3-year OS of 37% and a median survival of 26 months. However, the Hoosier Oncology Group conducted phase III trial evaluating the use of consolidative docetaxel after concurrent chemoradiation therapy and no survival difference was seen (20). Therefore, while consolidative chemotherapy is often given after concurrent chemoradiation therapy for stage III patients, there is no randomized evidence to support routine use. A recent meta-analysis, however, did show maintenance chemotherapy for advanced non-small lung cancer may increase progressive free survival and OS (21).

Surgical management for locally advanced NSCLC

While definitive CRT is standard for the majority of LANSCLC, surgery remains an option for a limited subset of Stage IIIA disease. The INT-0139 trial compared neoadjuvant concurrent CRT using 45 Gy in 1.8 Gy fractions followed by surgical resection versus definitive CRT therapy alone (22). The final results showed no difference in OS between both groups. However, an unplanned subset analysis suggested that those who were eligible for a lobectomy (versus pneumonectomy) had an improvement in median survival (33.6 vs. 21.7 months). Additionally, a French study analyzed 702 patients with

resected N2 disease and stratified based on clinical staging, single nodal involvement, or multi-station nodal involvement (23). The authors reported that single station, microscopic N2 disease had the highest 5 year OS (34%) while clinically positive, multistation N2 disease had limited outcomes (3%). From these series, surgical management is favored for stage IIIA patients with low volume, single nodal station disease, that are eligible for a lobectomy prior to the initiation of systemic therapy. In terms of neoadjuvant treatment, the radiotherapy dose should be between 45 and 54 Gy (24).

Dose escalation

Efforts to improve OS in the setting of definitive concurrent CRT have focused on dose escalation as a means of improving local control and subsequent survival. In 2001, a phase I/II trial for dose escalation with concurrent chemotherapy in unresectable stage IIIA/B NSCLC demonstrated the feasibility of dose escalation from 60 to 74 Gy with concurrent and induction carboplatin and paclitaxel with only 8% grade 3-4 toxicity (25). In 2004, a second phase I dose escalation trial with concurrent chemotherapy for unresectable stage III NSCLC evaluated doses from 78 to 90 Gy (26). Here, dose escalation to 90 Gy was achieved without dose-limiting toxicity and grade 3 esophagitis occurred in only 16%. These data lead to a recent dose escalation trial using concurrent CRT followed by consolidative chemotherapy. Specifically, RTOG 0617 trial was a 2×2 study evaluating 60 Gy against 74 Gy and the addition of consolidative cetuximab along with concurrent and adjuvant carboplatin and paclitaxel (27). The study was powered to detect a median survival benefit of 7 months. Surprisingly, the study was halted after an interim analysis reported the 74 Gy provided no benefit in terms of survival and potentially was detrimental.

Several explanations for the poor survival in the 74 Gy arm have been postulated (28,29). Interestingly, the inferior survival could not be accounted for by treatment-related deaths, local control, or distant metastasis between the high dose and low dose arms. There may have been uncaptured grade 5 deaths at community sites. Discrepancies in causes of mortality on death certificates and autopsy reports have been reported in the literature, and can happen in up to 47% of cases (30). This theory is supported by the heart V5 and V30 being linked to OS on multivariate analysis. Moreover, heart and lung dose constraints were suggested but not enforced and only half of the centers used intensity modulated radiation therapy (IMRT). For centers using IMRT, poor dose calculations and variable heart contours could have affected dosimetric outcomes. The high dose arm had poorer heart contours than the low dose arm (28). Perhaps requiring proper dose constraints for critical organs at risk, necessitating use of IMRT, and providing standard organ contours could have produced different results.

Movsas *et al.* reported on patient quality of life (QOL) in RTOG 0617 (31). QOL was measured using a Physical Well Being, Functional Well Being, and Lung Cancer Subscale index. While the final results showed no difference in treatment related morbidity, patients in the 74 Gy had a significant lower QOL at 3 months than the 60 Gy arm. The authors also reported baseline QOL was a predictor for survival. However, IMRT was associated with a higher QOL over 3D-CRT. These findings lead the authors to conclude IMRT may improve the therapeutic window for LANSCLC.

The choice of chemotherapy regimens could have influenced the survival outcomes as well. The increase in mortality in the high dose group commenced within 3 months of being randomized. During this period, patients would be receiving consolidative paclitaxel and carboplatin. It is known sequential taxanes after radiotherapy increases toxicity including pneumonitis (32). This is supported by the fact less patients completed consolidative chemotherapy in the high dose arm. Perhaps different chemotherapy regimens should be used in the adjuvant setting.

Finally, the longer treatment time using conventional fractionation may have contributed to the survival difference in the high dose arm. It is known longer treatment times may lead to poor survival for advanced NSCLC patients (33). The longer treatment time could allow for tumor re-population. In CHART, 54 Gy given in 1.5 Gy BID fractions (2.5 weeks) provided a survival advantage over 60 Gy in 2 Gy fractions (6 weeks) (6). The shorter treatment time accounted for tumor re-population. Shorter treatment times with equal dose equivalence via use of hypofractionation may overcome this concern.

While RTOG 0617 did not show a benefit for high dose radiation, other factors could have contributed to the final results. Therefore, the concept of dose escalation should not be abandoned especially given the rapid advances in RT including IMRT, 4D-CT simulation scans, motion gating, image guided therapy, adaptive RT, and use of hypofractionation. Utilizing these techniques in addition to stricter protocol requirements in the setting of dose escalation, and alternative adjuvant chemotherapy options, may provide more favorable results.

Concluding remarks and ASTRO guidelines

Therefore the ideal radiotherapy dose with concurrent chemotherapy for LANSCLC is between 60 Gy to 66 Gy with no randomized benefit seen above 60 Gy. Higher doses close to 74 Gy are associated with inferior outcomes. If concurrent CRT cannot be delivered consideration of sequential therapy or RT alone can be advocated, of which altered fractionation may be an option. If not, 60 Gy using 2 Gy fractions is the most appropriate regimen. If the patient is lobectomy eligible, a dose of 45 to 54 Gy with concurrent chemotherapy is acceptable in a select subset. The ASTRO guideline statements conclude that the standard RT given with concurrent chemoradiation therapy is 60 Gy in 2 Gy daily fractions over 6 weeks (34). If RT alone is utilized, a minimum dose of conventional fractionated 60 Gy is recommended to optimize local control. Altered fractionation has been explored with RT alone and has a strong recommendation. A summary of the landmark studies is provided in Table 1.

Radiation therapy techniques

CT-based treatment planning

Prior to the advent of computerized tomography (CT), 2-D lung treatment planning was performed using planar radiographs to define the field boundaries and dose calculation was performed in a single plane using rough measurements of the patient's body contour. This dose calculation also ignored tissue density changes in the lung.

Three-dimensional treatment planning based on CT scans enabled more accurate definition of target volumes and more accurate dose calculation accounting for tissue heterogeneity. In CT-based treatment planning, the gross tumor volume (GTV) is outlined, and a margin is added to include suspected microscopic spread of disease, creating the clinical target volume (CTV). To obtain the planning target volume (PTV), an additional margin is added to account for setup error and intrafraction tumor movement. Three-dimensional planning also allows detailed evaluation of doses received by tumor targets and by adjacent organs using Dose Volume Histograms (DVHs). Both institutional as well as a SEER analysis suggest that 3D treatment planning improves survival (35,36).

Volume delineation with CT-based treatment planning

When treating nodal areas, we have progressed from using Elective Nodal Radiotherapy (ENRT) to involved field irradiation (IFI). ENRT was used given the risk of microscopic disease harboring in the neighboring hilar and mediastinal nodal eras. Previous surgical series have shown occult mediastinal metastasis can be found in 20% of clinically node negative patients (37). However, treating elective nodal areas leads to larger treatment volumes which increases the risk of normal tissue toxicity. Also, there was published data in which 524 patients with NSCLC treated with IFI using 3D conformal RT had a 2-year elective nodal control of 92.4%. This control was likely due to incidental radiation eradicating subclinical microscopic disease as discussed below (38).

Yuan *et al.* addressed whether ENRT is equivalent to IFI in a RCT in which 200 inoperable stage III NSCLC patients treated with concurrent CRT were randomized to receive ENRT or IFI (39). Patients receiving IFI had higher local control, higher response rates, and decreased pneumonitis, but were treated to higher doses. The out of field recurrence rates were equivalent between both groups. This led to the prevalent adoption of treating involved nodal groups only.

In regards to adequately covering microscopic disease from the primary tumor, the histology determines the extent of CTV. Surgical series have shown local microscopic extension is larger for adenocarcinoma than squamous cell carcinoma (40,41). Given these differences a margin of 8 mm is suggested for adenocarcinoma and 6 mm for squamous cell carcinoma.

Targeting PET/CT

The advent of the 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) positron emission tomography–computed tomography (PET-CT) has greatly assisted in target delineation. PET-CT scans are superior to CT or PET alone for detection of mediastinal nodal metastasis (42). When compared to conventional CT scans, PET has increased sensitivity from 61% to 85% and increased specificity from 79% to 90% in regards to detection of lymph node metastasis (43). Registration of PET-CT scans to the treatment simulation CT has also led to greater consistency for defining the GTV (44).This can allow for IFI to be more confidently delivered. The PET-START trial was the first RCT to compare PET-CT treatment planning to standard treatment CT planning (45). Results included an increase in the amount of stage IV patients identified and a trend in OS for those who received combined CRT therapy in the PET-CT group.

While PET-CT has these advantages, it has limitations seen in high false positive results for clinically node positive patients and thus should not be used to replace surgical mediastinal staging (46). There is currently an open phase II trial utilizing PET-CT for adaptive RT which will be discussed later.

Motion management

Respiratory movement has always been a major concern in thoracic irradiation (47). Unfortunately, tumor movement takes place throughout the respiratory cycle. This leads to the possibility of the tumor missing significant amounts to dose throughout the course of treatment. It also leads to artifact formation in CT scanning resulting in difficulty contouring the GTV. Due to these concerns, proper motion management techniques are recommended for movement greater than 5 mm in any dimension.

Historically, tumor motion was accounted for by adding a margin around the CTV to create the internal target volume (ITV). This becomes challenging for tumors with significant respiratory motion, such as those near the diaphragm, where superior-inferior motion can be more than 3 cm (48). The additional ITV leads to a large treatment volume which increases the risk of normal tissue toxicity and limits the ability for dose escalation. However, motion management accounts for tumor motion which allows for dose escalation without the added risk of increased toxicity (49). Several methods for motion management exist but can be broadly categorized into respiratory gating or tumor tracking techniques.

Many respiratory gating techniques utilize four dimensional CT (4D-CT) scans. This process involves a simulation CT scan during which multiple images (typically 10-12) are obtained throughout the respiratory cycle at each axial slice (50). The abdominal motion, as a surrogate for the respiratory cycle, is recorded concurrently during this process for appropriate temporal correlation. This surrogate motion may be recorded, for example, by a camera system measuring the motion of a reflective marker on the patient's abdomen, or by measuring pressure changes in a belt placed around the patient's abdomen. The signal from the abdominal surrogate is then used to bin the CT images, resulting in series of separate CT scans for each phase in the

Bernard et al. RT for locally advanced lung cancer



Figure 1 This CT image shows the difference in tumor location during the respiratory cycle and the importance of motion management. The blue contour shows the original tumor location at maximum expiration. If no motion management was performed, then a significant amount of the tumor may be missed during treatment and more radiation may go to normal lung. CT, computerized tomography.

breathing cycle. These scans can then be viewed in a movie loop to show how the tumor moves.

The appropriate phase window for treatment, one in which the total tumor motion is limited to a defined threshold (for example, total motion ≤ 5 mm) is identified. The treatment window is typically near the end of exhalation, since this tends to be the longest and most reproducible part of the breathing cycle. During treatment, an equivalent abdominal surrogate signal is used to control the beam on time of the linear accelerator. Choosing a narrower phase window will produce a tighter limit on tumor motion, but it will also lengthen treatment.

Abdominal compression may also be used to decrease the amount of diaphragmatic motion which in turn reduces respiratory tumor motion. The compression technique has the advantage that the treatment beam on time is not limited to just part of the breathing cycle, so overall treatment times may be shorter than those for gating. However, compression may be uncomfortable for patients, particularly those whose respiration is already compromised.

Another respiratory motion management technique is active breath control (ABC). In this procedure, the patient breathes through a digital spirometer which is connected to a balloon valve (51). The system can suspend the patients breathing at a specified lung volume, typically at deep or moderate inhalation (52,53). After taking a few preparatory breaths, the patient is asked to breathe in to a fixed volume indicated by a video display. The valve is then closed for a patient-dependent period (typically 15-30 seconds), during which irradiation of the tumor takes place.

Another means of accommodating respiratory motion is to reposition the radiation beam dynamically so as to follow the tumor's changing position, referred to as real-time tumor tracking (54,55). Real-time tumor tracking can be achieved by using a dynamic MLC or a linear accelerator attached to a robotic arm (55). This technique requires continuous monitoring of the position of the tumor (or surrogate), which may be accomplished by tracking fiducial markers or direct fluoroscopic imaging of the tumor.

Regardless of the method, motion management is a promising technique which can allow for appropriate dose delivery to the actual tumor site while sparing critical organs at risk. *Figure 1* shows an example of the importance for motion management.

IMRT

IMRT is gaining popularity in the treatment for various malignancies (56). This technique results in increased conformity and greater sparing of normal tissue than three dimensional conformal radiation therapy (3D-CRT) (57,58). This allows for decreased rates of treatment related toxicity. Yom et al. published a retrospective review of advanced NSCLC treated with CRT comparing those treated with IMRT against 3D-CRT. IMRT resulted in reduced levels of grade 3+ pneumonitis. Liao et al. previously published a retrospective review comparing IMRT against 3D-CRT (59). Lower rates of grade 3 or higher pneumonitis were reported in the IMRT group which was thought to be secondary to a lower lung V20 value. While the V20 was higher in the 3D-CRT group, the V5 was higher in the IMRT group. These data suggest that IMRT is associated with reduced treatment related morbidity. This in return can lead to higher rates of treatment compliance. This coincides with an ASTRO Abstract published on QOL in the dose escalation RTOG 0617 study (31). This secondary analysis evaluated patient reported outcomes and its effect on survival. Interestingly, while no significant difference in toxicity between the high dose and low dose arm was found, lower patient reported QOL was more prevalent in the high dose arm at 3 months and was associated with a decrease

Radiation and Combined Therapies for Lung Cancer

in survival. IMRT use was also associated with less QOL decline than 3D-CRT. This gives grounds for future phase III trials evaluating IMRT *vs.* 3D-CRT in the treatment for LANSCLC.

However there are concerns for IMRT delivery. IMRT has steep dose gradients potentially risking decreased coverage for a moving target. This disadvantage can be accounted for by gating technology as discussed above. Second, IMRT leads to more low dose spillage. Lastly, the more accurate target definition may provide a potential disadvantage. While 3D-CRT fields are conformed to the target, other mediastinal lymph nodes not contoured but in the path of the beam will receive a significant dose (60). This incidental irradiation is suggested to eradicate subclinical microscopic metastasis regional nodal stations (38). This suggested benefit in 3D-CRT may be lost with highly conformal irradiation with steeper dose gradients. *Figure 2* shows a dosimetric comparison of 3D-CRT and IMRT for a LANSCLC patient.

Organs at risk

Maintaining proper dose constraints for the lung, esophagus, and heart are critical to decrease treatment related morbidity associated with CRT. Graham *et al.* showed the lung volume receiving 20 Gy (V20 Gy) was a predictor for radiation pneumonitis and grade 2 or higher can occur in 36% of patients if the V20 Gy exceeds 40% (61). Other reports show a reduction in radiation pneumonitis when V5 Gy \leq 60%, V10 \leq 50%, V30 \leq 18 Gy and mean lung dose (MLD) is less than 17 Gy using conventional fractionation (62-65). We therefore recommend keeping the MLD <17 Gy, V5 \leq 60%, V10 \leq 40%, V20 <30% to keep the grade 2 or higher toxicity to less than 11%.

Additionally, excessive esophageal dose leads to increased morbidity and mortality. Singh *et al.* evaluated predictors for radiation induced esophageal toxicity in patients with NSCLC. He reported 58 Gy was the threshold dose for acute grade 3-5 esophageal toxicity for those who received concurrent CRT (66). Takeda *et al.* also showed the volume receiving greater than 35 Gy was a predictor for acute toxicity for both NSCLC and small cell lung cancer patients treated with thoracic radiation (67). The literature suggests esophageal volumes receiving above 40 to 50 Gy correlates with acute symptoms and the prescription dose should be the maximum dose allowed to the esophagus (68).

Heart constraints are also important. In 2010, a SEER analysis reported on over 34,000 patients treated with

chemotherapy and/or radiation for NSCLC between 1991 to 2002 (69). The large retrospective review identified an association with CRT treatment and the development of ischemic heart disease, cardiomyopathy, and cardiac dysfunction. Left sided tumors treated with radiation therapy alone were associated with an increased risk of heart failure. While there is a paucity of data regarding heart dose constraints for patients treated specifically for LANSCLC, the recent RTOG 0617 trial showed the V5 and V30 heart constraints influenced survival (27). In this trial, the recommended constraints were V60 Gy <33%, V45 Gy <66%, and V40 Gy <100%. However, adequate heart dose constraints will need to be defined and confirmed to assure the best therapeutic ratio for LANSCLC. Acceptable heart dose constraints are V30 Gy ≤50% and V45 Gy \leq 35% to reduce the risk of pericarditis (70).

Future of definitive radiation therapy

Adaptive radiation therapy

Despite multidisciplinary advances for lung cancer management, local control and survival remain low. Escalating the radiotherapy dose may improve local control, however, there are limitations given the need to respect normal tissue toxicity. One method of combating this dilemma is through the emerging technique of adaptive radiation therapy. In this technique, a PET-CT is obtained during the treatment course. The initial course of radiation therapy uses the GTV identified on initial staging scans. However, a repeat PET-CT is obtained after a defined dose and the cone down dose is delivered to the residual FDG avid volumes. University of Michigan conducted a pilot study in 2007 to assess whether tumor and lung metabolic response during treatment correlated with post-treatment responses using PET-CT scans (71). After 45 Gy, 73% of the patients had a partial response and 13% had a complete response. The qualitative response after 45 Gy correlated with the overall response after radiation. The same group had a follow-up prospective study evaluating the use of dose escalation in adaptive planning showing adaptive RT allowed for a significant reduction in treatment volumes and allowed for dose escalation with a range of 30-102 Gy (mean 58 Gy) to be safely administered (72).

RTOG 0116 is a going randomized phase II trial evaluating Adaptive Radiation Therapy using a FDG PET-CT scan during treatment. This trial consists of stage IIIA and IIIB NSCLC patients. The control arm will receive 50 Gy



Figure 2 3D *vs.* IMRT for locally advanced NSCLC. The patient was treated to 60 Gy with concurrent chemotherapy. The 3D plan is on the left and the IMRT plan is on the right. Notice IMRT has greater sparing of the esophagus and heart from high dose radiation. However, 3D-CRT has less low dose spread out. IMRT, intensity modulated radiation therapy, NSCLC, locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer; CRT, chemoradiotherapy.

in 2 Gy fractions, receive a FDG PET-CT scan, and then continue therapy to 60 Gy. The experimental arm will receive 46.2 Gy using 2.2 Gy fractions, receive a FDG PET-CT scan, and then receive adaptive radiotherapy based on the new PET metabolic tumor volume up to a total dose of 80.4 Gy.

Hypofractionation

NSCLC cells have a cell doubling time of approximately 3 days and accelerated repopulation during radiation therapy is well described (73). Each additional daily treatment after 6 weeks of treatment is associated with a 1.6% decrease in survival (74). This concept is so important that it's postulated to be one of the reasons the high dose arm had a poorer survival in the RTOG 0617 trial. Hypofractionated radiation therapy may provide a valuable option to overcome this hurdle. Using this technique an equivalent or higher biological equivalent dose (BED) may be given in an equal or shorter treatment time. While there are concerns with organs at risk with this technique, hypofractionation has been shown to safely and effectively allow for dose escalation when given with or without concurrent chemotherapy for advanced stage NSCLC (73,75). The fraction dose given with chemotherapy has ranged from 2.4 to 3.0 Gy (73).

The EORTC phase I/II hypofractionation trial used 2.75 Gy fractions to a dose range of 60.5 to 66 Gy with concurrent cisplatin (76). The majority of these patients were advanced stage. This feasibility study showed low rates of both acute and late toxicity. The 2-year local disease-free interval rate was 58%. The follow up EORTC Trial which compared sequential versus concurrent chemotherapy with hypofractionated radiotherapy also had promising results (77). This trial used 2.75 Gy fractions. The authors reported low rates of both acute grade 3 or 4 hematologic toxicity and esophagitis and low rates of late grade 3 or 4 pneumonitis and esophagitis. Both of studies consisted predominately of advanced staged patients and used single agent chemotherapy. However, the SOCCAR Trial used dual agent chemotherapy and only consisted of stage III NSCLC (78). This phase II trial used 2.5 Gy per fraction up to 55 Gy and randomized between sequential and concurrent chemotherapy. Early results show treatment related mortality to be 2.9%, grade 3 or higher esophagitis to be 8.8%, and the 2-year OS to be 50% in the concurrent chemotherapy arm.

We know from previous trials, hyperfractionation using BID or TID allows for successfully dose escalation with a survival benefit. However, hypofractionation has the benefit of providing these same advantages while being more convenient for the patient. It is also important to note, given the higher dose per fraction, conformal techniques such as IMRT, motion management, and image guided therapy should be employed to ensure our best efforts of decreasing normal tissue toxicity.

Palliative

Patients with stage IV NSCLC are often treated with palliative radiotherapy to alleviate symptomatic burden. Indications for this form of therapy include dyspnea, bronchial obstruction, hemoptysis, superior vena cava syndrome, and pain (34,79).

Different dose schedules have been evaluated in multiple randomized controls; each showing hypofractionated radiation therapy can provide adequate palliation (80-82). Common dose schedules used are 30 Gy in 10 fractions, 20 Gy in 5 fractions, 17 Gy in 2 weekly fractions, and 10 Gy in 1 fraction (34). Higher dose regimens are associated with higher rates of symptomatic improvement, more prolonged palliation, and a modest improvement in survival principally with those with a good performance status (34,83,84). However, this is at a cost of increased toxicity such as esophagitis. More succinct fractionation schedules (e.g., 20 Gy in 5 fractions, 17 Gy in 2 weekly fractions, and 10 Gy in 1 fraction) have also shown to provide adequate relief with decreased rates of toxicity (34). These shorter schedules also have an added benefit of shorter delays to chemotherapy and thus can be more efficiently assimilated between cycles.

Endobronchial brachytherapy has also been evaluated and reviewed as palliative treatment for NSCLC. This technique has the advantage of delivering high dose irradiation to a localized luminal tumor through a catheter. There is no standard dose/fractionation regimen although a range from a single fraction of 10 to 15 Gy to quadruple fractions of 3.8 Gy has been reported (85-87). Endobronchial brachytherapy is able to deliver a higher dose per fraction with a more rapid dose falloff. This aspect of treatment has a theoretical advantage of allowing for higher rates of symptomatic improvement with lower rates of normal tissue toxicity. Interestingly however, a 2006 Cochrane meta-analysis showed external beam radiation therapy (EBRT) is superior to brachytherapy for initial palliation and there is no additional advantage to combined modality (88). However endobronchial brachytherapy remains a valuable treatment option for those who have progressed through prior palliative EBRT, irradiation needed for a previously irradiated area (whether definitive or palliative), or lung obstruction in a non-metastatic patient with attempts to expand the lung for definitive treatment (34).

Concurrent chemotherapy for palliative external beam radiation therapy

Palliative radiation therapy has the benefit of providing relief in a shorter period of time than chemotherapy. Given systemic chemotherapy combined with radiation

therapy has improved outcomes for those with LANSCLC, the question arises if the same is true for those needing radiation therapy for palliative intent. There are several studies evaluating the feasibility and outcomes of this question, albeit, with variations in systemic agents, radiation schedules/doses, and patient factors (89-91). However, there is an Australian RCT designed to specifically answer this question. After randomizing 200 patients to palliative radiation therapy with or without chemotherapy, the authors concluded the addition of chemotherapy resulted in a higher radiographic response rate with no improvement in palliation, OS, or disease free survival (92). There was also a significant increase in toxicity for combined modality. The study is limited, however, in that an uncommon chemotherapy for LANSCLC was given (fluorouracil), radiographic response was measured by plain radiographs, and patients received a high dose per fraction (4 Gy × 5 fractions).

Therefore the question of concurrent chemotherapy remains unanswered given trials evaluating the use of more contemporary chemotherapy agents is sparse. Although, agents such as bevacizumab and gemcitabine are discouraged (34).

In summary, there is no data which can definitely suggest a benefit to the addition of systemic chemotherapy to palliative radiation. The therapeutic ratio is narrow and the treating Radiation Oncologist should attempt to sequence chemotherapy and radiation therapy as best as possible to provide optimal treatment outcomes with minimal side effects.

ASTRO guidelines for palliative thoracic radiation therapy

ASTRO states short fractionation schedules provide adequate symptomatic alleviation and can be used for patients with poor performance status or those requesting shorter treatment times (34). Higher dose schedules (e.g., 30 Gy in 10 fractions equivalent or greater) may provide a survival benefit for those with a good performance status and is associated with an increase in total symptom score. There is no proven additional benefit to concurrent chemotherapy. There is no concrete randomized evidence to recommend endobronchial brachytherapy with or without other palliative therapies for routine *initial* palliative management for symptomatic NSCLC tumors. Although, it is a reasonable option as a palliative therapy for previous irradiated areas.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Roswit B, Patno ME, Rapp R, et al. The survival of patients with inoperable lung cancer: a large-scale randomized study of radiation therapy versus placebo. Radiology 1968;90:688-697.
- Perez CA, Stanley K, Rubin P, et al. A prospective randomized study of various irradiation doses and fractionation schedules in the treatment of inoperable non-oat-cell carcinoma of the lung. Preliminary report by the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group. Cancer 1980;45:2744-2753.
- Perez CA, Pajak TF, Rubin P, et al. Long-term observations of the patterns of failure in patients with unresectable non-oat cell carcinoma of the lung treated with definitive radiotherapy. Report by the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group. Cancer 1987;59:1874-1881.
- 4. Perez CA, Bauer M, Edelstein S, et al. Impact of tumor control on survival in carcinoma of the lung treated with irradiation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1986;12:539-547.
- 5. Cox JD, Azarnia N, Byhardt RW, et al. A randomized phase I/II trial of hyperfractionated radiation therapy with total doses of 60.0 Gy to 79.2 Gy: possible survival benefit with greater than or equal to 69.6 Gy in favorable patients with Radiation Therapy Oncology Group stage III nonsmall-cell lung carcinoma: report of Radiation Therapy Oncology Group 83-11. J Clin Oncol 1990;8:1543-1555.
- Saunders M, Dische S, Barrett A, et al. Continuous, hyperfractionated, accelerated radiotherapy (CHART) versus conventional radiotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer: mature data from the randomised multicentre trial. CHART Steering committee. Radiother Oncol 1999;52:137-148.
- Saunders MI, Rojas A, Lyn BE, et al. Experience with dose escalation using CHARTWEL (continuous hyperfractionated accelerated radiotherapy weekend less) in non-small-cell lung cancer. Br J Cancer 1998;78:1323-1328.
- Baumann M, Herrmann T, Koch R, et al. Final results of the randomized phase III CHARTWEL-trial (ARO 97-1) comparing hyperfractionated-accelerated versus conventionally fractionated radiotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Radiother Oncol 2011;100:76-85.
- 9. Dillman RO, Herndon J, Seagren SL, et al. Improved

Radiation and Combined Therapies for Lung Cancer

survival in stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: seven-year follow-up of cancer and leukemia group B (CALGB) 8433 trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 1996;88:1210-1215.

- Sause WT, Scott C, Taylor S, et al. Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) 88-08 and Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) 4588: preliminary results of a phase III trial in regionally advanced, unresectable non-small-cell lung cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 1995;87:198-205.
- Furuse K, Fukuoka M, Kawahara M, et al. Phase III study of concurrent versus sequential thoracic radiotherapy in combination with mitomycin, vindesine, and cisplatin in unresectable stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 1999;17:2692-2699.
- Curran WJ Jr, Paulus R, Langer CJ, et al. Sequential vs. concurrent chemoradiation for stage III non-small cell lung cancer: randomized phase III trial RTOG 9410. J Natl Cancer Inst 2011;103:1452-1460.
- Fournel P, Robinet G, Thomas P, et al. Randomized phase III trial of sequential chemoradiotherapy compared with concurrent chemoradiotherapy in locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: Groupe Lyon-Saint-Etienne d'Oncologie Thoracique-Groupe Français de Pneumo-Cancérologie NPC 95-01 Study. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:5910-5917.
- Zatloukal P, Petruzelka L, Zemanova M, et al. Concurrent versus sequential chemoradiotherapy with cisplatin and vinorelbine in locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer: a randomized study. Lung Cancer 2004;46:87-98.
- Aupérin A, Le Péchoux C, Rolland E, et al. Meta-analysis of concomitant versus sequential radiochemotherapy in locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:2181-2190.
- Belani CP, Lee JS, Socinski MA, et al. Randomized phase III trial comparing cisplatin-etoposide to carboplatinpaclitaxel in advanced or metastatic non-small cell lung cancer. Ann Oncol 2005;16:1069-1075.
- Peters S, Adjei AA. Lung cancer. How much platinumbased chemotherapy is enough in NSCLC? Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2015;12:8-10.
- Belani CP, Ramalingam S, Perry MC, et al. Randomized, phase III study of weekly paclitaxel in combination with carboplatin versus standard every-3-weeks administration of carboplatin and paclitaxel for patients with previously untreated advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:468-473.
- 19. Gandara DR, Chansky K, Albain KS, et al. Consolidation docetaxel after concurrent chemoradiotherapy in stage IIIB

non-small-cell lung cancer: phase II Southwest Oncology Group Study S9504. J Clin Oncol 2003;21:2004-2010.

- 20. Hanna N, Neubauer M, Yiannoutsos C, et al. Phase III study of cisplatin, etoposide, and concurrent chest radiation with or without consolidation docetaxel in patients with inoperable stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: the Hoosier Oncology Group and U.S. Oncology. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:5755-5760.
- Zhang C, Huang C, Wang J, et al. Maintenance or Consolidation Therapy for Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: A Meta-Analysis Involving 5841 Subjects. Clin Lung Cancer 2015;16:e15-e23.
- 22. Albain KS, Swann RS, Rusch VW, et al. Radiotherapy plus chemotherapy with or without surgical resection for stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: a phase III randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2009;374:379-386.
- Andre F, Grunenwald D, Pignon JP, et al. Survival of patients with resected N2 non-small-cell lung cancer: evidence for a subclassification and implications. J Clin Oncol 2000;18:2981-2989.
- 24. Machtay M, Lee JH, Stevenson JP, et al. Two commonly used neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy regimens for locally advanced stage III non-small cell lung carcinoma: longterm results and associations with pathologic response. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2004;127:108-113.
- 25. Socinski MA, Rosenman JG, Halle J, et al. Dose-escalating conformal thoracic radiation therapy with induction and concurrent carboplatin/paclitaxel in unresectable stage IIIA/B nonsmall cell lung carcinoma: a modified phase I/II trial. Cancer 2001;92:1213-1223.
- 26. Socinski MA, Morris DE, Halle JS, et al. Induction and concurrent chemotherapy with high-dose thoracic conformal radiation therapy in unresectable stage IIIA and IIIB non-small-cell lung cancer: a dose-escalation phase I trial. J Clin Oncol 2004;22:4341-4350.
- 27. Bradley JD, Paulus R, Komaki R, et al. Standard-dose versus high-dose conformal radiotherapy with concurrent and consolidation carboplatin plus paclitaxel with or without cetuximab for patients with stage IIIA or IIIB non-small-cell lung cancer (RTOG 0617): a randomised, two-by-two factorial phase 3 study. Lancet Oncology 2015;16:187-199.
- Faivre-Finn C. Dose escalation in lung cancer: have we gone full circle? Lancet Oncol 2015;16:125-127.
- 29. Belderbos J, Walraven I, van Diessen J, et al. Radiotherapy dose and fractionation for stage III NSCLC. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:e156-e157.
- 30. Modelmog D, Rahlenbeck S, Trichopoulos D. Accuracy of

Bernard et al. RT for locally advanced lung cancer

death certifi cates: a population-based, complete-coverage, one-year autopsy study in East Germany. Cancer Causes Control 1992;3:541-546.

- 31. Movsas B, Hu C, Sloan J, et al. Quality of Life (QOL) Analysis of the Randomized Radiation (RT) Dose-Escalation NSCLC Trial (RTOG 0617): The Rest of the Story. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;87:S1-S2.
- 32. Palma DA, Senan S, Tsujino K, et al. Predicting radiation pneumonitis after chemoradiation therapy for lung cancer: an international individual patient data meta-analysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;85:444-450.
- 33. Machtay M, Hsu C, Komaki R, et al. Effect of overall treatment time on outcomes after concurrent chemoradiation for locally advanced non-small-cell lung carcinoma: analysis of the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) experience. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005;63:667-671.
- Rodrigues G, Videtic GM, Sur R, et al. Palliative thoracic radiotherapy in lung cancer: An American Society for Radiation Oncology evidence-based clinical practice guideline. Pract Radiat Oncol 2011;1:60-71.
- 35. Fang LC, Komaki R, Allen P, et al. Comparison of outcomes for patients with medically inoperable Stage I non-small-cell lung cancer treated with two-dimensional vs. three-dimensional radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006;66:108-116.
- 36. Chen AB, Neville BA, Sher DJ, et al. Survival outcomes after radiation therapy for stage III non-small-cell lung cancer after adoption of computed tomography-based simulation. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:2305-2311.
- Graham AN, Chan KJ, Pastorino U, et al. Systematic nodal dissection in the intrathoracic staging of patients with non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1999;117:246-251.
- Kepka L, Maciejewski B, Withers RH. Does incidental irradiation with doses below 50 Gy effectively reduce isolated nodal failures in non-small-cell lung cancer: dose-response relationship. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2009;73:1391-1396.
- Yuan S, Sun X, Li M, et al. A randomized study of involved-field irradiation versus elective nodal irradiation in combination with concurrent chemotherapy for inoperable stage III nonsmall cell lung cancer. Am J Clin Oncol 2007;30:239-244.
- Giraud P, Antoine M, Larrouy A, et al. Evaluation of microscopic tumor extension in non-small-cell lung cancer for three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy planning. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2000;48:1015-1024.

- Li WL, Yu JM, Liu GH, et al. A comparative study on radiology and pathology target volume in non-small-cell lung cancer. Zhonghua Zhong Liu Za Zhi 2003;25:566-568.
- 42. De Wever W, Ceyssens S, Mortelmans L, et al. Additional value of PET-CT in the staging of lung cancer: comparison with CT alone, PET alone and visual correlation of PET and CT. Eur Radiol 2007;17:23-32.
- 43. Gould MK, Kuschner WG, Rydzak CE, et al. Test performance of positron emission tomography and computed tomography for mediastinal staging in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med 2003;139:879-892.
- 44. Fox JL, Rengan R, O'Meara W, et al. Does registration of PET and planning CT images decrease interobserver and intraobserver variation in delineating tumor volumes for non-small-cell lung cancer? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005;62:70-75.
- 45. Ung YC, Gu C, Cline K, et al. An Ontario Clinical Oncology (OCOG) Randomized Trial (PET START) of FDG PET/CT in Stage 3 Non-small Cell Lung Cancer (NSCLC): Impact of PET on Survival. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;81:S137.
- 46. Darling GE, Maziak DE, Inculet RI, et al. Positron emission tomography-computed tomography compared with invasive mediastinal staging in non-small cell lung cancer: results of mediastinal staging in the early lung positron emission tomography trial. J Thorac Oncol 2011;6:1367-1372.
- Giraud P, Garcia R. Respiratory gating for radiotherapy: main technical aspects and clinical benefits. Bull Cancer 2010;97:847-856.
- Keall PJ, Mageras GS, Balter JM, et al. The management of respiratory motion in radiation oncology report of AAPM Task Group 76. Med Phys 2006;33:3874-3900.
- 49. Ling CC, Yorke E, Amols H, et al. High-tech will improve radiotherapy of NSCLC: a hypothesis waiting to be validated. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2004;60:3-7.
- Rietzel E, Rosenthal SJ, Gierga DP, et al. Moving targets: detection and tracking of internal organ motion for treatment planning and patient set-up. Radiother Oncol 2004;73:S68-S72.
- 51. Wong JW, Sharpe MB, Jaffray DA, et al. The use of active breathing control (ABC) to reduce margin for breathing motion. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1999;44:911-919.
- 52. Remouchamps VM, Letts N, Vicini FA, et al. Initial clinical experience with moderate deep-inspiration breath hold using an active breathing control device in the treatment of patients with left-sided breast cancer using

14

Radiation and Combined Therapies for Lung Cancer

15

external beam radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2003;56:704-715.

- Sixel KE, Aznar MC, Ung YC. Deep inspiration breath hold to reduce irradiated heart volume in breast cancer patients. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2001;49:199-204.
- Sharp GC, Jiang SB, Shimizu S, et al. Prediction of respiratory tumour motion for real-time image-guided radiotherapy. Phys Med Biol 2004;49:425-440.
- Murphy MJ. Tracking moving organs in real time. Semin Radiat Oncol 2004;14:91-100.
- Mell LK, Mehrotra AK, Mundt AJ. Intensity-modulated radiation therapy use in the U.S., 2004. Cancer 2005;104:1296-1303.
- Wu VW, Kwong DL, Sham JS. Target dose conformity in 3-dimensional conformal radiotherapy and intensity modulated radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol 2004;71:201-206.
- Hong TS, Ritter MA, Tome WA, et al. Intensitymodulated radiation therapy: Emerging cancer treatment technology. Br J Cancer 2005;92:1819-1824.
- Liao ZX, Komaki RR, Thames HD Jr, et al. Influence of technologic advances on outcomes in patients with unresectable, locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer receiving concomitant chemoradiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;76:775-781.
- Kepka L, Bujko K, Zolciak-Siwinska A, et al. Incidental irradiation of mediastinal and hilar lymph node stations during 3D-conformal radiotherapy for non-small cell lung cancer. Acta Oncol 2008;47:954-961.
- Graham MV, Purdy JA, Emami B, et al. Clinical dosevolume histogram analysis for pneumonitis after 3D treatment for non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1999;45:323-329.
- 62. Shen WB, Zhu SC, Gao HM, et al. Low dose volume histogram analysis of the lungs in prediction of acute radiation pneumonitis in patients with esophageal cancer treated with three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy. Zhonghua Zhong Liu Za Zhi 2013;35:45-49.
- Kwa SL, Lebesque JV, Theuws JC, et al. Radiation pneumonitis as a function of mean lung dose: an analysis of pooled data of 540 patients. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1998;42:1-9.
- Hernando ML, Marks LB, Bentel GC, et al. Radiationinduced pulmonary toxicity: a dose-volume histogram analysis in 201 patients with lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2001;51:650-659.
- 65. Shi A, Zhu G, Wu H, et al. Analysis of clinical and dosimetric factors associated with severe acute radiation pneumonitis in patients with locally advanced non-small

cell lung cancer treated with concurrent chemotherapy and intensity-modulated radiotherapy. Radiat Oncol 2010;5:35.

- 66. Singh AK, Lockett MA, Bradley JD. Predictors of radiation-induced esophageal toxicity in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer treated with three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2003;55:337-341.
- 67. Takeda K, Nemoto K, Saito H, et al. Dosimetric correlations of acute esophagitis in lung cancer patients treated with radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005;62:626-629.
- Werner-Wasik M, Yorke E, Deasy J, et al. Radiation dosevolume effects in the esophagus. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;76:S86-S93.
- 69. Hardy D, Liu CC, Cormier JN, et al. Cardiac toxicity in association with chemotherapy and radiation therapy in a large cohort of older patients with non-small-cell lung cancer. Ann Oncol 2010;21:1825-1833.
- Gagliardi G, Constine LS, Moiseenko V, et al. Radiation dose-volume effects in the heart. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;76:S77-S85.
- 71. Kong FM, Frey KA, Quint LE, et al. A pilot study of [18F]fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography scans during and after radiation-based therapy in patients with non small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:3116-3123.
- 72. Feng M, Kong FM, Gross M, et al. Using fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography to assess tumor volume during radiotherapy for non-smallcell lung cancer and its potential impact on adaptive dose escalation and normal tissue sparing. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2009;73:1228-1234.
- 73. Lin Q, Liu YE, Ren XC, et al. Dose escalation of accelerated hypofractionated three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy (at 3 Gy/fraction) with concurrent vinorelbine and carboplatin chemotherapy in unresectable stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: a phase I trial. Radiat Oncol 2013;8:201.
- Mehta M, Scrimger R, Mackie R, et al. A new approach to dose escalation in non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2001;49:23-33.
- 75. Thirion P, Holmberg O, Collins CD, et al. Escalated dose for non-small-cell lung cancer with accelerated hypofractionated three-dimensional conformal radiation therapy. Radiother Oncol 2004;71:163-166.
- 76. Uitterhoeve AL, Belderbos JS, Koolen MG, et al. Toxicity of high-dose radiotherapy combined with daily cisplatin in non-small cell lung cancer: results of the EORTC 08912

phase I/II study. European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer. Eur J Cancer 2000;36:592-600.

- 77. Belderbos J, Uitterhoeve L, van Zandwijk N, et al. Randomised trial of sequential versus concurrent chemoradiotherapy in patients with inoperable non-small cell lung cancer (EORTC 08972-22973). Eur J Cancer 2007;43:114-121.
- 78. Maguire J, Khan I, McMenemin R, et al. SOCCAR: A randomised phase II trial comparing sequential versus concurrent chemotherapy and radical hypofractionated radiotherapy in patients with inoperable stage III Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer and good performance status. Eur J Cancer 2014;50:2939-2949.
- Rowell NP, Gleeson FV. Steroids, radiotherapy, chemotherapy and stents for superior vena caval obstruction in carcinoma of the bronchus: a systematic review. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2002;14:338-351.
- Lester JF, Macbeth FR, Toy E, et al. Palliative radiotherapy regimens for non-small cell lung cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2006.CD002143.
- Budach W, Belka C. Palliative percutaneous radiotherapy in non-small-cell lung cancer. Lung cancer 2004;45 Suppl 2:S239-S245.
- Toy E, Macbeth F, Coles B, et al. Palliative thoracic radiotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer: a systematic review. Am J Clin Oncol 2003;26:112-120.
- 83. Kramer GW, Wanders SL, Noordijk EM, et al. Results of the Dutch National study of the palliative effect of irradiation using two different treatment schemes for nonsmall cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:2962-2970.
- 84. Teo P, Tai TH, Choy D, et al. A randomized study on palliative radiation therapy for inoperable non small cell carcinoma of the lung. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1988;14:867-871.
- 85. Mallick I, Sharma SC, Behera D, et al. Optimization of

Cite this article as: Bernard ME, Clump DA, Lalonde R, Beriwal S. Radiation therapy for locally advanced lung cancer. Transl Cancer Res 2015;4(4):356-371. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-676X.2015.08.03

dose and fractionation of endobronchial brachytherapy with or without external radiation in the palliative management of non-small cell lung cancer: a prospective randomized study. J Cancer Res Ther 2006;2:119-125.

- 86. Stout R, Barber P, Burt P, et al. Clinical and quality of life outcomes in the first United Kingdom randomized trial of endobronchial brachytherapy (intraluminal radiotherapy) vs. external beam radiotherapy in the palliative treatment of inoperable non-small cell lung cancer. Radiother Oncol 2000;56:323-327.
- Huber RM, Fischer R, Haŭtmann H, et al. Palliative endobronchial brachytherapy for central lung tumors. A prospective, randomized comparison of two fractionation schedules. Chest 1995;107:463-470.
- Ung YC, Yu E, Falkson C, et al. The role of high-doserate brachytherapy in the palliation of symptoms in patients with non-small cell lung cancer: a systematic review. Brachytherapy 2006;5:189-202.
- Michael M, Wirth A, Ball DL, et al. A phase I trial of high-dose palliative radiotherapy plus concurrent weekly vinorelbine and cisplatin in patients with locally advanced and metastatic NSCLC. Br J Cancer 2005;93:652-661.
- Hoffman PC, Cohen EE, Masters GA, et al. Carboplatin plus vinorelbine with concomitant radiation therapy in advanced non-small cell lung cancer: a phase I study. Lung Cancer 2002;38:65-71.
- 91. Jeremic B, Shibamoto Y, Milicic B, et al. Short-term chemotherapy and palliative radiotherapy for elderly patients with stage IV non-small cell lung cancer: a phase II study. Lung Cancer 1999;24:1-9.
- 92. Ball D, Smith J, Bishop J, et al. A phase III study of radiotherapy with and without continuous-infusion fluorouracil as palliation for non-small-cell lung cancer. Br J Cancer 1997;75:690-697.

Stereotactic body radiation therapy in lung

Madhava R. Kanakamedala, Neil Duggar, Shankar P. Giri

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Mississippi Medical Center, Jackson, MS, USA

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: SP. Giri; (II) Provision of study materials or patients: All authors; (III) Manuscript writing: All authors; (IV) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Madhava R. Kanakamedala. Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Mississippi Medical Center, Jackson, MS, USA. Email: madkr2006@hotmail.com.

Abstract: Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer death worldwide, in both men and women. Contrary to the improved survival outcomes for many other types of cancers, the prognosis for people diagnosed with lung cancer remains poor, with 5-year relative survival ranging 6-18%. Majority of lung cancers diagnosed at locally advanced stage, due to the lack of observable symptoms for early stage lung cancer. Recently Lung Cancer screening in high-risk population with low dose CT scan showed 20% reduction in relative death from cancer. Screening allows diagnosing the cancer at early stage. For early (local only) stage, lobectomy is the treatment of choice that offers best 5-year overall survival of 60%. But majority of these patients are unable to tolerate the surgery due to poor pulmonary reserve or medical co morbidity. With the advent of new technology, improvements in imaging and treatment delivery enable us to extend the stereotactic radiation therapy to extra cranial sites. Stereotactic radiation therapy to lung reported 5-year local control rates in excess of 90% and overall survival of 40%. In this review article, we discussed the rationale, evidence supporting stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) in lung tumors, radiobiology of hypofractionation, mediastinal staging, the treatment planning, and delivery process and also the role of SBRT in metastatic setting.

Keywords: Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT); lung cancer; hypofractionation

Submitted Aug 20, 2015. Accepted for publication Aug 24, 2015. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-676X.2015.08.11 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2218-676X.2015.08.11

Introduction

Treatment of choice for stage I (T1-T2N0) non-smallcell lung cancer (NSCLC) is surgery. But many patients are unable to tolerate the resection due to poor pulmonary reserve or medically inoperable due to multiple comorbid conditions. Five-year overall survival for untreated patients with stage I NSCLC is 5% and median survival 9 months (13 months for T1), as reported by Raz *et al.* based on California cancer registry (1).

Primary radiation therapy is considered to be reasonable therapy, for non-surgical early-stage NSCLC with reported 5-year survival rates ranging from 10% to 30% (2).

A review of 156 medically inoperable patients with stage I NSCLC at Duke University between 1980 and 1995 demonstrated a 5-year, cause-specific survival rate of 32% with RT alone. Improved survival was significantly correlated with achieving local control and approached significance for higher RT doses (3).

The standard approach involves administering an approximate dose of 4,500 to 6,600 cGy in fractions of 180 to 200 cGy. Historically, RT fields for early-stage NSCLC encompassed the primary tumor and regional lymphatics in the ipsilateral hilum and mediastinum. This "prophylactic" treatment was based on the identified risk of occult nodal involvement from surgical series ranging up to 20%, and surgical data indicating better control with more extensive resections (4).

However, large RT fields are potentially poorly tolerated in this population of patients with limited pulmonary reserves. More recent retrospective experiences have demonstrated similar survival results with fields limited to
the primary tumor or gross disease alone, compared to fields including prophylactic treatment to lymph node chains (5,6).

Several studies reported safety and feasibility of dose escalation using 3D conformal radiation therapy to the gross disease alone omitting elective nodal irradiation was studied (7,8).

In a report from the Netherlands, limited "postage-stamp" fields were treated using hypo fractionated RT (i.e., 4,800 cGy in 400 cGy fractions) with reported 3-year overall and disease-specific survival rates of 42% and 76%, respectively (9).

The only dose finding study of stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for lung tumors was reported by Timmerman et al. from Indiana. They conducted a phase I study of dose escalation of a 3 fractions regiment, starting with 8 Gy ×3, and escalating to 10, 12, 14, 16, 18, 20 and 22 Gy ×3 fractions, in patients with potentially resectable NSCLC but who were not surgical candidates for medical reasons ("medically inoperable"). Doses were calculated without correction for tissue inhomogeneity. Patients were enrolled into three separate dose escalation groups based on tumor size. While dose-limiting toxicity (DLT) was observed in one or two patients at several dose levels, the protocol defined maximum tolerated dose (MTD) was only observed in patients with large T2 tumors (5-7 cm in size) at 22 Gy ×3. In other tumor size groups, dose escalation was stopped prior to reaching the MTD (20-22 Gy ×3). Greater than 90% primary tumor control was observed with 20 Gy ×3; this total dose of 60 Gy corresponds to a biologically equivalent dose (BED) (if expressed in 2 Gy/ fraction) of 180 Gy if using the formula BED = nd (1+ d/ alpha/beta), where n = number of fractions; d = dose perfraction; and alpha/beta =10 for acute reacting tissue), although it is not clear how applicable this conversion is to highly hypofractionated treatments (10).

In a subsequent single institution phase II study of this SBRT regiment, Timmerman and colleagues treated 70 patients with early stage (T1-2, N0) inoperable NSCLC with 60 Gy in 3 fractions for T1 and 66 Gy in 3 fractions for T2.14 That study allowed enrollment of patients with tumors located anywhere within the lung, and confirmed high rates of primary tumor control: 95% at 2 years. After median follow up of 17.5 months, three patients demonstrated a local recurrence. The study was particularly instructive in terms of local toxicity: eight patients were deemed by the data safety monitoring board to have grade 3 or 4 adverse events resulting from SBRT; the adverse events were primarily respiratory (decline in pulmonary function, pneumonia, pleural effusion, apnea) and/or skin reaction; they occurred a median of 7.6 months after completion of SBRT. Six patients may potentially have had grade 5 (i.e., fatal) toxicity. In five patients, these grade 5 adverse events were respiratory: one fatal hemoptysis (associated with a local recurrence) and four infectious pneumonias; the sixth patient died of complications from a pericardial effusion. These deaths occurred a median of 10.4 months after SBRT (range, 0.6-19.5 months). Tumor location was a strong predictor of toxicity, with hilar or pericentral tumors showing an 11-fold increased risk in grade 3-5 adverse events when compared to more peripheral tumors (P=0.004). Two-year freedom from severe adverse events was 54% for these central tumors, as compared to 83% for the peripheral tumors, defined as outside the "zone of the proximal bronchial tree", which is a 2 cm radius around the main tracheo-bronchial tree: trachea; left and right main stem bronchi; right upper, middle, and lower lobe bronchus; and left upper, lingular, and lower lobe bronchus. The only other variable that was a predictor of toxicity, although not as strong as tumor location, was the size of gross tumor volume (GTV), with >10 cc tumors showing greater toxicity than smaller GTVs (11).

On the basis of these two studies, 60 Gy in 3 fractions was chosen as the dose for the RTOG-led phase II multicenter study, RTOG 0236, but patients with tumors within the above-described zone of proximal bronchial tree were excluded from the study. As in the prior phase I and II studies, the doses were calculated without correction for tissue inhomogeneity.

Five-year results of this study were presented at ASTRO 2014. In the of 55 evaluable patients, Primary recurrence was 7% (4/55), lobar recurrence 20% (9/55), loco-regional recurrence 38% (7/55-Nodal + adjacent organs), Disseminated failure entire lung: 31% (15/55). Disease free survival 26%, Overall survival 40% and Median survival were 4 years. Pulmonary toxicity observed was grade 3 in 27% (15/55), grade 4 in 3.6% (2/55) and no grade 5.

Radiobiology of SBRT

Radiation death is defined as loss of reproductive integrity of the cell when exposed to radiation. Traditionally it was explained by damage of DNA with radiation. Biologically effective dose (BED) based on the linear-quadratic (LQ) model is as follows:

$$BED = nd \times (1 - d/(\alpha/\beta))$$

In this calculation, n equals the number of fractions and

d equals the fraction size. The α component represents the linear portion of the cell survival curve, where a single radiation event (DNA double-strand break) causes cell death. The β component represents the quadratic portion of the cell survival curve, where cell death results from at least two double-strand breaks (12).

But at hypo fractionated regimens that were used in SBRT vascular effects due to endothelial apoptosis appears to play a major role. Endothelial cells upon exposure to high dose of radiation (>10 Gy) acid sphingomyelinase is translocated to the plasma membrane of endothelial cells where it plays a role in generating ceramide from sphingomyelin. Ceramide release leads to activation of the apoptotic protein BAX (13,14).

BAX is part of the Bcl-2 family of proteins and is important pro apoptotic regulator. Activation of BAX leads to the release of mitochondrial cytochrome c, which signifies commitment of the cell to apoptosis via intrinsic pathway (15). Endothelial apoptosis peaks within 6 hours after radiation and causes micro vascular dysfunction and hence acutely disrupts tumor perfusion (16).

SBRT in metastatic setting

Rusthoven *et al.*, studied patterns of failure after SBRT following first line systemic therapy for metastatic lung cancer. Local failure was noted in 64%, distant only failure was noted in 9% and in 14% failed both local and distant together. SBRT dose range was from 36-60 Gy in 3 fractions. Time to first progression was 3 months in local only failure compared to 5.7 months in disatant failure (HR: 0.44; 95% CI: 0.22-0.90). This study suggests that SBRT could improve time to progression (17).

Another Ph II study by Iyengar *et al.*, treated metastatic NSCLC with <6 metastatic lesions with SBRT after early failure of systemic therapy. Failure rate was 6.4% in the SBRT treated lesions. Majority of patients progressed in new distant sites. Median progression free survival was 14.7 months and overall survival was 20.4 months, which exceeded the historical controls (18).

These initial studies proved the benefit of aggressive local treatment in the oligometastatic setting and safety of treating the metastases with SBRT when the lesions are at least 5 cm apart.

At present NRG-BR001 studying the safety of SBRT in treating multiple metastases particularly >3 or 2 lesions separated by less than 5 cm.

Mediastinal staging

Accurate mediastinal staging is essential for the treatment planning of SBRT patients with NSCLC to ensure they do not have lymph node metastasis. In addition to a traditional mediastinoscopy noninvasive methods have been developed. These include Computed tomography (CT) scans, FDG PET scan and endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration (EUS-FNA) and endobronchial ultrasoundguided fine needle aspiration (EBUS-FNA).

CT provides an excellent anatomic detail in mediastinal staging of NSCLC. However, approximately 40% of nodes reported as malignant by CT criteria are benign, and 20% reported as benign prove to be malignant (19). In patients with clinical stage I tumors, 5% to 15% will have positive lymph nodes at surgery (20). Dwamena *et al.* in a metaanalysis showed an average CT sensitivity of 60% and specificity of 77% for the detection of mediastinal nodal metastases (21). In 2003, another meta-analysis by Toloza *et al.* reported the pooled sensitivity and specificity for CT at 57% and 82%, respectively (22). The 2007 American College of Chest Physicians (ACCP) Evidence-Based Practice Guidelines reported 51% pooled sensitivity and 85% pooled specificity (23). Hence CT falls short in its ability to accurately stage the mediastinum.

The major benefit of fluorodeoxyglucose-PET scans in the lung cancer is its ability to provide functional information during the evaluation for intrathoracic and extrathoracic metastases. Numerous studies have demonstrated a higher sensitivity and specificity for PET than CT in the detection of malignant mediastinal nodes, with various meta-analyses reporting PET sensitivities of 74% to 85% and specificities of 85% to 92% (24,25). A high negative predictive value (NPV) of >90% in nodal staging has also been reported (26). Normal physiologic uptake and artifacts can lead to falsepositive (FP) results. The ability of PET to resolve small hypermetabolic abnormalities in nodes is limited (27). Takamochi et al. studied PET limitations in nodal staging in NSCLC and reported low spatial resolution as a major causative factor for their 20% False negative rate (28). PET also could not identify small tumor foci ranging from 1 to 7.5 mm. A Cochrane data base (29) review of 45 studies concluded that sensitivity and specificity estimates for PET-CT positivity criterion were 77.4% (95% CI: 65.3-86.1) and 90.1% (95% CI: 85.3-93.5), respectively. They concluded that PET CT alone could not be used in mediastinal staging of lung cancer. Thus current imaging advancements have not, however, supplanted invasive staging (30,31).

EUS-FNA is generally regarded as a safe procedure. Contraindications are few, and include inability to tolerate conscious sedation, esophageal obstruction, and uncorrectable blood dyscrasia. Complications are rare and usually minor (32). Lymph nodes as small as 4 to 6 mm can be detected by EUS as long as they are in the vicinity of the esophagus and not obscured by tracheal air or intervening blood vessels. A recent review of 2,756 patients demonstrated overall median sensitivity of 89% and NPV of 91% (19). A meta-analysis in 2008 by Puli et al. reported that FNA raised the sensitivity of EUS in the diagnosis of mediastinal adenopathy from 85% to 88% and the specificity from 85% to 96% (33). Prenzel et al. (34) reported that lymph node size was not a reliable predictor of metastatic involvement; 44% of metastatic lymph nodes in NSCLC patients studied measured <1 cm in short axis, 77% of patients without nodal metastases had a lymph node >1 cm, and 12% of patients with nodal metastases had no nodes >10 mm. Sonographic characteristics of lymph nodes identified during EUS have also been studied. Features reported as predictive of malignancy include rounded contour, sharply circumscribed border, hypoechoic echogenicity, and >1 cm diameter. An increased number of these features has been associated with a higher likelihood that a particular lymph node is malignant (80% to 100%), with 25% of malignant nodes reportedly fulfilling all four conditions (35,36). Kramer and Groen (37) published a meta-analysis of 14 studies in 2003 and reported the sensitivity of EUS-FNA as 81% to 97% and the specificity as 83% to 100% for the diagnosis of posterior mediastinal lymphadenopathy. In 2007, Micames et al. published a meta-analysis of 18 studies and reported a pooled sensitivity of 83% and specificity of 97% (32). EUS-FNA is therefore been recommended for staging of the mediastinum when CT and PET do not show disease. Mediastinoscopy should only be performed for patient with a high probability of having nodal disease and the EUS-FNA was negative for malignancy.

Practical aspects of planning SBRT

SBRT typically refers to a radiation therapy technique in which an extracranial tumor receives high doses (7-30 Gy) of radiation following a hypofractionated prescription of 5 or less fractions. Provision of these high doses while also achieving normal tissue doses less than tolerance is characterized by tight conformation of the prescription dose to the target volume, steep gradient fall-off away from the target edge, and a high level of inhomogeneity of target dose. Due to the levels of conformity, inhomogeneity, and dose gradient falloff, accurate tumor delineation, dose modeling, and treatment delivery are of extreme importance even compared to conventional intensity modulated radiation therapy (IMRT). These high standards of accuracy and precision for SBRT have led to much tighter tolerances when traditional QA tests are performed on treatment machines, treatment planning systems, and even patient plans, i.e., the guidance document published by the AAPM on QA of Linear accelerators where machines used to deliver SBRT are separated from those used for only conventional IMRT or 3D. In addition to the need for increased accuracy, proper and successful SBRT to the lung requires the consideration of another component which is delivery to a moving target. Consideration of the need for increased accuracy and breathing motion must occur at all steps in the radiation treatment planning and delivery process for SBRT Lung. What follows is a discussion of practical aspects of the aforementioned process (38-41).

Physics preparation

Prior to beginning a treatment technique, it must be commissioned by the physics staff. As small fields (i.e., <3 cm × 3 cm) techniques are to be used, this will likely include the acquisition of further beam data and characteristics that likely will not currently be included in the planning system. The treatment device used will need to be tuned and adjusted to meet stereotactic tolerances. Perhaps a totally new treatment device is to be used in which case this device (i.e., Cyberknife, Vero, ViewRay, etc.) will need to be commissioned for complete clinical use rather than simply for a given technique. Even among individual machines, accessories to be used in SBRT lung may differ such as stereotactic cones, multi-leaf collimator (MLC), or even micro-MLC and, therefore each must be commissioned before use. Motion management systems will also have to be tested and implemented properly. This work will require the physicist to be familiar with new and unconventional equipment even including the detectors used for data acquisition. The use of redundant equipment such as detectors is highly recommended so that clinical data obtained with each is corroborated by that obtained by the other (41,42). Proper procedures for this are extensive and require significant attention to detail, thus the full discussion of the topic is beyond the scope of this writing, however, SBRT commissioning processes have been described extensively in literature including a few American



Figure 1 Patient immobilized for 4D simulation utilizing a bodyfix bag with evacuated plastic and a bellows belt for respiratory cycle capture.

Association of Physicists in Medicine (AAPM) task group (TG) reports. Recommendations from those guidance documents and others should be understood and followed (39,41-43).

Simulation

Simulation of a patient to be treated with SBRT to the Lung basically involves two parts:

- (I) Reproducible patient positioning and immobilization;
- (II) Proper acquisition of patient data (i.e., imaging).

Patient setup and immobilization

Patient setup and immobilization has come a long way since the introduction of 3D imaging and conventional IMRT. In order to provide consistent and reproducible setup, stereotactic body frames have been developed by a number of vendors. Many of the current generation of frames includes a fiducial-based localization system, however, most clinics avoid the use of such in body radiosurgery due to the availability of accurate image guidance and the inconsistency of tumor location in the body compared to coordinates based on external fiducials. These frames often consist of vacuum bags conformed to a large portion of the patient's body with the added option of active breathing management to be discussed later (44). Despite improvements in setup and immobilization for use in SBRT, the need for image guidance has been shown (*Figure 1*) (45,46).

Acquisition of patient data

Imaging and motion management

Technically, proper tumor diagnosis and/or biopsy is a major

part of this process; however, for the sake of this discussion, the focus will primarily be on the imaging portion of this step. Currently, CT is the modality of choice for treatment planning for lung SBRT. This is primarily due to the feasibility of reasonably accurate dose calculations based on the relationship of electron density and CT number which allows for proper consideration of tissue heterogeneity and radiation transport. All simulations of SBRT lung patients will utilize CT and then will take it a step further with the use of 4D CT. 4D CT combines the capture of a representation of the patient's breathing cycle with simultaneous CT imaging during the breathing motion. The patient breathing is graphed as a sinusoidal curve and during reconstruction the CT images are then organized based on the time point in the breathing cycle at which they were taken. Theoretically, each image would be mapped directly to the exact point in the respiratory cycle that it was taken and "binned" into a CT dataset with all other CT images scanned at that time point and each position. However, since there are infinite arbitrary time points in the cycle, the result would be CT datasets with limited numbers of images that would not represent the entire area scanned for all time points. For practical implementation, the respiratory cycle is divided into "phases" based on when in the cycle it occurs and each phase represents a range of time points in the cycle. Then, each CT image for a given slice position and given time point in a "phase" are sorted with all other CT images that occur at different slice positions but within the same "phase" of the respiratory cycle. Using the resulting datasets(typically 10 phases), one can hold the slice position constant, but rotate through the different phase datasets in order of their position in time on the respiratory cycle and the motion of the anatomy at that slice position should be represented as a "video". The aforementioned method represents phase binning and is the most commonly utilized 4D reconstruction method; however, amplitude binning is also an option utilized based on needs, raw data, and desired results. Also, typically, prospective binning is performed, but strategies exist for retrospective binning when desired results are not achieved by the latter (47-49).

Vendors provide different techniques for capturing the breathing cycle which utilize different forms of "surrogates" for respiration. Varian's RPM utilizes a camera system to watch external fiducials placed on the abdomen. The C-RAD Sentinel system implements a scanning laser over the abdominal surface. Philips interfaces with a bellows system around the abdomen that monitors air flow dependent on the position of the abdominal surface. Even the Microsoft KINECT has been tested for use in the acquisition of the respiratory cycle. Regardless of the system utilized, the desired endpoint is the same and certain uncertainties exist which should be taken into account during the remaining treatment planning process. Some of these uncertainties have been described as inaccurate binning of CT images into their respective phase, non-correlation of a respiratory surrogate to actual tumor motion, and non-reproducibility of respiratory cycle throughout patient treatment. These uncertainties should be accounted for during the treatment planning and delivery process (40,50,51).

In addition to the 4D phase datasets, the data obtained from 4D scanning can also be reconstructed into intensity projection datasets. Maximum intensity projection (MIP) datasets are represented by each voxel being assigned its maximum CT number that occurred during the 4D cycle. Average intensity projection (Ave-IP) and minimum intensity projection (mini-IP) follow the same logic, but with the average and minimum CT numbers respectively. Theoretically representing the maximum tumor motion, the MIP comes into play as a useful single shot representation of the motion displayed by the 4D phases. The Ave-IP often comes into play when considering the optimal image for dose calculation. Mini-IP is not used very often in regards to lung, but does offer value in radiation with tumors in the abdomen, such as liver or pancreas (40,52-54).

Rather than simply acquiring the full potential tumor motion in an image, one may also take steps to actively reduce target motion before imaging it. Many types of active motion control exist with the simplest being to image during a breath hold at a particular time point in the respiratory cycle (typically full inspiration or full exhalation) with the intent of treating with this same breath hold status. A few systems have been designed that can assist the patient in reproducing the same breath hold each time while also communicating with the radiation oncology staff about the actual status of the patient's breathing. Another technique for motion reduction is to apply some type of abdominal compression. One form of this involves placing specially designed plastic wrap over the patient in their vacuum bag and then evacuating the air out from underneath it. A more rigid type of compression exists in the form of a frame that is placed over the patient's abdomen where a flat pad can be screwed down to apply pressure to the patient's upper abdomen until the desired tumor motion is achieved when reviewed with imaging. Another type of active

motion management is referred to as respiratory gating. Implementation of this technique will involve physician review of the 4D CT. He or she will decide which of the phases contain the target within an acceptable margin and the target delineation and treatment will be adjusted to only treat the outlined area during those chosen phases. Many have begun utilizing the placement of radiopaque fiducials in or near the tumor. This is typically done by the surgeon and usually greater than three days before the patient's scheduled radiation oncology simulation and assists in target identification and localization throughout the entire simulation and treatment process. Often, multiple types of motion management are used in tandem during the treatment process (40,41,43).

Imaging and target identification

In addition to motion management, one must consider the proper identification of the proposed target. Lung tumors, especially in the typical SBRT lung patient, can be shrouded by non-cancerous tissue that may obscure or even masquerade as the tumor itself. This can be especially problematic with tumors located near the diaphragm or in the presence of heavy atelectasis. The most common method of alleviating this issue is currently with the utilization of positron emission tomography (PET) often in conjunction with an anatomical CT (PET/CT). PET increases the specificity of imaging of malignant tissue and when fused with the planning images, can assist in accurate delineation of the tissues to be treated. Ideally, this PET image would be performed close to the simulation date and in the proposed treatment position to reduce the fusion uncertainty. This fusion can be performed rigidly or deformably using multiple types of software including most modern treatment planning systems (55,56). Another option to assist in target identification is the placement of radiopaque fiducials as mentioned above. The use of fiducials assists in target identification throughout the entire simulation and treatment delivery process (57,58).

Practical simulation considerations

As stated previously, the simulation should result in reproducible patient positioning and immobilization as well as proper acquisition of patient data for planning and treatment. For reproducibility, consideration should be given to items such as patient comfort, habitus, and mental status. Sometimes medication can be used to assist a patient in relaxation both at simulation and treatment. Ideally, a patient would be setup in such a manner so that pre-

treatment corrections could be maximally applied (robotic couches offer 6 degrees of correction and submillimeter corrections opposed to traditional treatment couches with only 3 degrees and subcentimeter corrections) however this may require a frame with infrared markers which will not fit over patients of a given habitus. Also, in some cases, the desired patient position may not be easily achievable due to patient's historical injuries or such and the simulation technique may need to be adapted. In general, though, patients should be positioned head first and supine with their arms up inside their immobilization device. CT imaging should achieve ≤ 3 mm slice thickness (one could optionally use variable slice thickness on some scanners to scan thin slices in and near the tumor and thicker as you get away from it) and should cover all normal tissues of interest as accurate dose volume histogram (DVH) data will be necessary on these structures. Margin well above and below the area to be treated will be necessary for accurate dose calculation and also due to the probable use of noncoplanar beam angles (39,40).

Patient data that is also of interest during SBRT lung planning is the clearance distance between the gantry and the patient when various gantry, collimator, and couch positions are utilized. The acquisition of this data is usually performed in three basic ways. The first method is to simply scan a larger portion of the patient during simulation so that collisions can be anticipated virtually and avoided. A second method is to take the patient and their immobilization devices to the treatment room after simulation and perform a comprehensive dry run positioning the gantry, couch, and collimator at various places with the patient aligned roughly at isocenter. The third method basically ignores this possibility (not completely as the planner still tries to avoid collision) and a treatment dry run is performed before the first fraction. If a collision is discovered, then the plan is quickly adaptively planned to avoid the collision but still achieve the planning goals.

Treatment planning

The treatment planning process, in general, includes several steps such as delineation of target and normal tissue volumes, determination of prescription and fractionation schedule, and calculation and optimization of the dose distribution. This process has several additional considerations (some discussed above) when compared to conventional fractionation or non-lung treatments. Several Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) trials exist that provide guidance and the opportunity for consistency in performance of the treatment planning process.

Contouring

Care should be taken to follow International Commission on Radiation Units (ICRU) and Measurements guidelines on the definition of target volumes. The GTV is delineated using a combination of what is visible on CT and PET, implanted fiducials, and clinical experience on one static CT image. For SBRT lung, the clinical target volume (CTV) is equal to the GTV. At this stage, the GTV is then expanded to the internal target volume (ITV) so that the ITV includes the GTV at all stages of the respiratory cycle. If the treatment utilizes respiratory gating, the ITV will only include the GTV on the phases to be included in the actual treatment delivery. Once the ITV has been created, it can then be expanded to create the planning target volume (PTV) using a geometrical expansion to account for setup uncertainty. RTOG protocols recommend a 5 mm expansion; however, one could justify a smaller number with high confidence in tumor localization. Normal tissues can be contoured according to RTOG guidelines. Typical evaluation structures for use during plan analysis are the body minus the PTV and the body minus the PTV with a 2 cm margin. A copy of the PTV may also be created to allow for volumetric control of the block margin around the PTV for better conformity (Figure 2) (59).

Dose prescription

This decision is made by the treating physician who may follow various protocols and guidelines that have been published. Typically, single fraction, high dose regimens are reserved for peripheral floating tumors that are "far" away from the mediastinum. Some people use the bronchial tree plus 2 cm in order to gauge whether a tumor is peripheral or central. Central lesions or those where rib fracture are a consideration are typically treated with more reserved fractionations in 3-5 fractions. Often when evaluating dose regimens, the LO model can be used to calculate BED. Studies have shown that when BED >100 Gy, local control and survival significantly improves. Further discussion of the LO model and its use in SBRT lung can be found elsewhere. One should note that the indiscriminate use of this BED model is not recommended as the LQ model is an approximation and use with heavy hypo-fractionation is not yet verified and the need for improvements on the model



Figure 2 A three-view representation of the contours ITV (green) and PTV (red) for use in SBRT lung. The ITV was created by propagating the GTV contour from one phase of the respiratory cycle to all phases. The PTV was then created with a 5 mm expansion in all directions from the ITV. PTV, planning target volume; ITV, internal target volume; SBRT, stereotactic body radiation therapy; GTV, gross tumor volume.

for use with SBRT have been indicated by some (60-62).

Dose calculation and optimization

General

Regardless of technique, there are certain considerations during the dose calculation and optimization phase of the treatment planning process. Typically, one must be prepared to use multiple beams or arcs and also that these beams or arcs will need to approach the patient from a noncoplanar direction. Energy selection >6 MV is highly discouraged to avoid the excessive lateral scatter that occurs in a low density medium such as lung. Due to the high gradients (possibly about 10-12% per mm) expected and encountered in this type of plan, the dose calculation grid must be set with a high enough resolution that the distribution is accurately characterized. For the sake of efficiency, initial planning can be performed at a lower resolution before changing it for the final stages of dose calculation and optimization. Quantitatively, TG 101 of the AAPM recommends grid spacing of $\leq 2 \text{ mm}$ and strongly discourage grid spacing >3 mm. In addition to grid spacing, an appropriate algorithm must be selected that correctly handles lateral electron scattering in addition to the presence of heterogeneities and their interfaces. Most consider convolution-superposition algorithms a necessity and recommend Monte Carlo when available. Though not universally applied, many institutions take precautions to avoid calculating dose to "normal" lung when the goal is to treat "solid" tumor. These methods often include either using the Ave-IP for dose calculation or overriding the ITV to tissue density before dose calculation (39,40,52,53).

Regardless of planning technique, plans should be evaluated consistently using certain metrics. Typically, 100% of the prescription dose should cover 95% of the PTV and 90% of the prescription dose should cover 99% of the PTV (D_{95} =100%, D_{99} =90%). A conformity index should be used to ensure that only the PTV receives the prescription. Though inhomogeneity of dose is expected in SBRT lung, a homogeneity index should be used to govern that the level stays within a reasonable range such as that suggested by RTOG. A gradient index monitors that the desired gradient is achieved outside of the PTV to spare normal tissue. Various versions of these indices have been proposed. It should be noted that the values expected for the indices discussed above will differ depending on the exact treatment machine, accessories, and technique used in the treatment. The amount tissue outside of the PTV exposed to above prescription level dose should also be evaluated. Of course, dose to normal structures should also be evaluated. Constraints for all of the above have been listed in the various RTOG trial documents and mostly unvalidated normal tissue constraints have been published (Table 1) (63).

Prior to treatment of the patient on the machine and just as with any complex mode of radiation delivery, each patient's treatment plan must undergo quality assurance on the treatment machine to ensure machine capabilities, **Table 1** Our departmental table used during SBRT evaluationto ensure we are meeting planning criteria for RTOG 0813 for50 Gy in 5 fractions

Planning criteria	Goal values
Coverage	
V _{90%} ≥99%	99%
V _{100%} ≥95%	95%
Conformality	
R _{100%} ≤1.2	1.2
R _{50%}	4.6
R _{105%} Outside of PTV ≤15%	15%
D _{2 cm}	2,588 cGy
Normal tissues (constraints per protocol)	
Spinal cord, max dose	3,000 cGy
Spinal cord, V _{2,250 cGy} ≤0.25 cc	0.25 cc
Spinal cord, V _{1,350 Gy} ≤0.5 cc	0.50 cc
Esophagus, max dose	5,250 cGy
Esophagus, V _{2,750 cGy} ≤5 cc	5.00 cc
Ipsilateral brachial plexus, max dose	3,200 cGy
Ipsilateral brachial plexus, V _{3,000 cGy} ≤3 cc	3.00 cc
Trachea and ipsilateral bronchus, max dose	5,250 cGy
Trachea and ipsilateral bronchus, $V_{1,800 \text{ cGy}} \leq 4 \text{ cc}$	4.00 cc
Great vessels, max dose	5,250 cGy
Great vessels, V _{4,700 cGy} ≤10 cc	10 cc
Heart/pericardium, max dose	5,250 cGy
Heart/pericardium, V _{3,200 cGy} ≤15 cc	15.00 cc
Whole lung-GTV, $V_{20 \text{ Gy}}$ <10%	10%
Whole lung-GTV, $V_{1,250 \text{ cGy}} \leq 1,500 \text{ cc}$	1,500 cc
Whole lung-GTV, $V_{1,350 \text{ cGy}} \leq 1,000 \text{ cc}$	1,000 cc
Skin, max dose	3,200 cGy
Skin, V _{3,000 cGy} ≤10 cc	10.00 cc
Ribs, V _{3,200 cGy} ≤1 cc (RTOG 0915)	1.00 cc
Ribs, max dose (RTOG 0915)	4,000 cGy

SBRT, stereotactic body radiation therapy; PTV, planning target volume; GTV, gross tumor volume.

no dose calculation mistakes, and proper electronic transmission of treatment parameters to the treatment machine. Various methods of this process have been described and are offered by many different vendors. Physicists should put for significant effort to not only understand their QA devices and methods, but also to establish stringent enough tolerances for the pass or fail of each plan as typical tolerances for conventional IMRT may not be acceptable. As with acquiring commissioning data, the use of multiple systems for corroboration is highly encouraged.

3D static fields

This technique is usually marked by 8-15 static fields directed at the PTV. Beams are arranged around the PTV in 20-40 gantry intervals typically avoiding the contralateral lung. A normalization point is placed at the center of mass of the PTV and the prescription is normalized to 60-90% at this point. With certain machines and accessories, it may be necessary to use more than 1 isocenter in order to achieve coverage or the technique may be nonisocentric in order to achieve coverage. Little or no block margin around the PTV is applied per RTOG protocols; however, best results are achieved when methods are utilized to create a variable margin around the PTV (if using MLC or non-static collimation such as cones). Typically, this means a positive margin of a few mm where the block edge intersects with a large amount of lung and a negative margin when the block edge may intersect or be near tissue density areas such as the chest wall or mediastinum. In some cases, the block may need to be adjusted to ensure that nearby normal tissues are appropriately spared. During plan optimization, multiple plan characteristics can be adjusted such as gantry, collimator, and couch positions, block margins, and prescription normalization percentage. Of course, what can be adjusted and how much is dependent on the machine and accessories in use.

3D conformal arcs

This technique involves one or more arcs during which either the isocenter is placed in the target so that the beam is always directed towards the target or the collimating device will direct the beam towards the target during the arc rotation. This technique is often optimized similarly to that of 3D static; however, it has certain tradeoffs when compared to it. It is often more difficult to achieve the same gradient with arcs, though the delivery time will be much shorter. In some cases, a hybrid plan involving 1-3 arcs and a noncoplanar static field or two will achieve planning objectives while sparing the efficiency (*Figure 3*).

IMRT static fields

Similarly to the relationship between conventional 3D and conventional IMRT, inverse optimization produces a treatment plan that meets the discussed goals potentially in a more efficient manner. Applied optimization objectives



Figure 3 An axial cut of a characteristic dose distribution for lung SBRT delivered using a linear accelerator and MLC via two coplanar arcs. SBRT, stereotactic body radiation therapy; MLC, multi-leaf collimator.

will be different with SBRT Lung as homogeneity within the PTV is not as important and a steep dose gradient is desired regardless of whether critical normal tissues are nearby. It should be mentioned that some institutions shy away from IMRT for SBRT lung due to the possibility of a large interplay effect within so few fractions. Some mitigate this issue with the use of gating and/or fiducial tracking. It should be noted that some studies have also found that this effect averages out over the total treatment, though the question remains whether the fractional dose is just as important as the total dose in SBRT lung. Regardless of feelings on the possible interplay effect, studies have shown that IMRT typically achieves better normal tissue sparing but less steep of a gradient when compared to 3D techniques and so may not be appropriate on a regular basis as this effect seems to magnify as target volumes become smaller (64-66).

VMAT

VMAT is the intensity modulated arc form of 3D conformal treatment and their relationship is similar to that described above between IMRT and 3D static fields. Interplay may still play a role in this delivery technique and similar results with normal tissue and dose gradient have been shown, therefore the same considerations for the use of VMAT in the lung should be taken into account (67-69).

Other delivery techniques

Depending on the equipment and device used, other techniques may be available that mimic any one of these four mentioned above. Different delivery machines have different degrees of freedom and ability to adjust for target motion (70). CyberKnife with its possibly fiducial-less tumor tracking and nonisocentric delivery have become a popular method of lung SBRT (71,72). Even TomoTherapy units have been used for lung SBRT in many places as well (73,74). Other devices used are newer and are still being tested clinically by centers who have implemented those machines. It should be noted that recent emphasis has been placed on lung SBRT delivered with very high doserate. Due to the availability of linear accelerators without flattening filters, very high dose rates have become available and are being systematically employed in various centers around the world for lung SBRT treatment (75,76).

Treatment delivery

In today's image guidance age, treatment delivery consists of two parts:

- (I) Localization of target;
- (II) Radiation delivery.

Localization

The treatment delivery process begins with patient immobilization and setup just as it occurred during simulation. The treating therapists spend time to reproduce as closely as possible the setup that was acquired at simulation all the way down to exact vacuum pressure numbers and respiratory fiducial placement. Then, the patient is roughly aligned at the treatment isocenter based on external markings and imaging is performed. The imaging utilized can vary between sites; however, consistency typically exists for sites using similar machines for delivery. For traditional linear accelerators, cone-beam CT (CBCT) is the most common. However, relatively recently 4D CBCT has become available, but has not yet been adopted for widespread use even for SBRT lung. Fluoroscopy-based systems exist for traditional linear accelerators, but are most often utilized with other stereotactic machines. These systems are most useful when attempting to track tumor motion during delivery using implanted fiducials. Vendors are beginning to provide systems where the tumor can not only be tracked during delivery, but the collimating device or treatment couch can actually adjust to the actual tumor position. Currently, this "real-time" tracking requires the use of fiducials. Other systems may use megavoltage CT or even simplified magnetic resonance imaging. The latter is in development with current linear

accelerator vendors and would be ideal due to improved soft tissue contrast and zero imaging dose (39,40,43).

Regardless of the imaging technique utilized, imaging must occur prior to treatment and then the patient will be adjusted based on the comparison of the current image to reference images created during simulation and planning. The size of these shifts often dictates whether imaging should be performed again before treatment. In some departments, shifts >5 mm require a repeat CBCT before treatment to verify correct localization. Repeat imaging is also sometimes performed prior to adjusting couch rotation for noncoplanar beams and at the end of treatment. If respiratory gating is to be used, that system must be set up and synchronized with the delivery system before beam on. The same must also occur for any fiducial/tumor tracking systems.

Radiation delivery

Many departments require the presence of the physician and physicist during stereotactic hypofractionated procedures. Once the staff is present and pre-treatment setup and imaging is approved, treatment delivery can commence. It is important that all staff is aware of both the patient and the necessary monitoring systems. Any significant patient motion or system malfunction such as gating may require a pause in treatment and a repeat of setup and imaging. Treatments often take time on the order of 20-90 min from setup to delivery completion depending on staff familiarity, plan complexity or delivery technique, and delivery mechanism. The use of flattening filters in linear accelerators has been shown to significantly affect total delivery time (75,76).

Summary

SBRT to the lung requires great effort on the part of all the radiation oncology staff. Its success and not to mention convenience for the patient cannot be ignored. Each person involved must be sure to invest in the necessary attention to detail and consideration of challenges that SBRT lung requires. Even though its success in lung cancer has been shown, implementation and use of this technique carries with it a significant amount of risk for harm even when the procedure is performed properly (77).

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Raz DJ, Zell JA, Ou SH, et al. Natural history of stage I non-small cell lung cancer: implications for early detection. Chest 2007;132:193-199.
- Haffty BG, Goldberg NB, Gerstley J, et al. Results of radical radiation therapy in clinical stage I, technically operable non-small cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1988;15:69-73.
- Sibley GS, Jamieson TA, Marks LB, et al. Radiotherapy alone for medically inoperable stage I non-small-cell lung cancer: the Duke experience. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1998;40:149-154.
- Ginsberg RJ, Rubinstein LV. Randomized trial of lobectomy versus limited resection for T1 N0 non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer Study Group. Ann Thorac Surg 1995;60:615-622; discussion 622-623.
- Krol AD, Aussems P, Noordijk EM, et al. Local irradiation alone for peripheral stage I lung cancer: could we omit the elective regional nodal irradiation? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1996;34:297-302.
- Williams TE, Thomas CR Jr, Turrisi AT 3rd. Counterpoint: better radiation treatment of non-small cell lung cancer using new techniques without elective nodal irradiation. Semin Radiat Oncol 2000;10:315-323.
- Robertson JM, Ten Haken RK, Hazuka MB, et al. Dose escalation for non-small cell lung cancer using conformal radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1997;37:1079-1085.
- Bradley J, Graham MV, Winter K, et al. Toxicity and outcome results of RTOG 9311: a phase I-II dose-escalation study using three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy in patients with inoperable non-small-cell lung carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005;61:318-328.
- Slotman BJ, Antonisse IE, Njo KH. Limited field irradiation in early stage (T1-2N0) non-small cell lung cancer. Radiother Oncol 1996;41:41-44.
- Timmerman R, Papiez L, McGarry R, et al. Extracranial stereotactic radioablation: results of a phase I study in medically inoperable stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Chest 2003;124:1946-1955.
- 11. Timmerman R, McGarry R, Yiannoutsos C, et al. Excessive toxicity when treating central tumors in a phase II study of stereotactic body radiation therapy for

medically inoperable early-stage lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:4833-4839.

- Hall EJ. Radiobiology for the Radiologist. 5th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2000.
- 13. Kolesnick R, Fuks Z. Radiation and ceramide-induced apoptosis. Oncogene 2003;22:5897-5906.
- Henry B, Möller C, Dimanche-Boitrel MT, et al. Targeting the ceramide system in cancer. Cancer Lett 2013;332:286-294.
- 15. Danial NN, Korsmeyer SJ. Cell death: critical control points. Cell 2004;116:205-219.
- Garcia-Barros M, Paris F, Cordon-Cardo C, et al. Tumor response to radiotherapy regulated by endothelial cell apoptosis. Science 2003;300:1155-1159.
- Rusthoven KE, Hammerman SF, Kavanagh BD, et al. Is there a role for consolidative stereotactic body radiation therapy following first-line systemic therapy for metastatic lung cancer? A patterns-of-failure analysis. Acta Oncol 2009;48:578-583.
- Iyengar P, Kavanagh BD, Wardak Z, et al. Phase II trial of stereotactic body radiation therapy combined with erlotinib for patients with limited but progressive metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2014;32:3824-3830.
- Silvestri GA, Gonzalez AV, Jantz MA, et al. Methods for staging non-small cell lung cancer: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013;143:e211S-e250S.
- 20. Pretreatment evaluation of non-small-cell lung cancer. The American Thoracic Society and The European Respiratory Society. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997;156:320-332.
- Dwamena BA, Sonnad SS, Angobaldo JO, et al. Metastases from non-small cell lung cancer: mediastinal staging in the 1990s--meta-analytic comparison of PET and CT. Radiology 1999;213:530-536.
- 22. Toloza EM, Harpole L, McCrory DC. Noninvasive staging of non-small cell lung cancer: a review of the current evidence. Chest 2003;123:137S-146S.
- Silvestri GA, Gould MK, Margolis ML, et al. Noninvasive staging of non-small cell lung cancer: ACCP evidencedbased clinical practice guidelines (2nd edition). Chest 2007;132:178S-201S.
- 24. Birim O, Kappetein AP, Stijnen T, et al. Meta-analysis of positron emission tomographic and computed tomographic imaging in detecting mediastinal lymph node metastases in nonsmall cell lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2005;79:375-382.

- 25. Gould MK, Kuschner WG, Rydzak CE, et al. Test performance of positron emission tomography and computed tomography for mediastinal staging in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med 2003;139:879-892.
- Schrevens L, Lorent N, Dooms C, et al. The role of PET scan in diagnosis, staging, and management of non-small cell lung cancer. Oncologist 2004;9:633-643.
- 27. Bunyaviroch T, Coleman RE. PET evaluation of lung cancer. J Nucl Med 2006;47:451-469.
- Takamochi K, Yoshida J, Murakami K, et al. Pitfalls in lymph node staging with positron emission tomography in non-small cell lung cancer patients. Lung Cancer 2005;47:235-242.
- 29. Schmidt-Hansen M, Baldwin DR, Hasler E, et al. PET-CT for assessing mediastinal lymph node involvement in patients with suspected resectable non-small cell lung cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014;11:CD009519.
- Lardinois D, Weder W, Hany TF, et al. Staging of nonsmall-cell lung cancer with integrated positron-emission tomography and computed tomography. N Engl J Med 2003;348:2500-2507.
- 31. Reed CE, Harpole DH, Posther KE, et al. Results of the American College of Surgeons Oncology Group Z0050 trial: the utility of positron emission tomography in staging potentially operable non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2003;126:1943-1951.
- 32. Micames CG, McCrory DC, Pavey DA, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration for non-small cell lung cancer staging: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Chest 2007;131:539-548.
- 33. Puli SR, Batapati Krishna Reddy J, Bechtold ML, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound: it's accuracy in evaluating mediastinal lymphadenopathy? A metaanalysis and systematic review. World J Gastroenterol 2008;14:3028-3037.
- Prenzel KL, Mönig SP, Sinning JM, et al. Lymph node size and metastatic infiltration in non-small cell lung cancer. Chest 2003;123:463-467.
- Catalano MF, Sivak MV Jr, Rice T, et al. Endosonographic features predictive of lymph node metastasis. Gastrointest Endosc 1994;40:442-446.
- 36. Bhutani MS, Hawes RH, Hoffman BJ. A comparison of the accuracy of echo features during endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) and EUS-guided fine-needle aspiration for diagnosis of malignant lymph node invasion. Gastrointest Endosc 1997;45:474-479.
- 37. Kramer H, Groen HJ. Current concepts in the mediastinal

lymph node staging of nonsmall cell lung cancer. Ann Surg 2003;238:180-188.

- Rule WG, Jain S, Boike TP. Stereotactic body radiation therapy. In: Khan FM, Gerbi BJ, eds. Treatment Planning in Radiation Oncology. 3rd ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2012:278-97.
- Benedict SH, Yenice KM, Followill D, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy: the report of AAPM Task Group 101. Med Phys 2010;37:4078-4101.
- Khan FM, Gibbons JP. The physics of radiation therapy. 5th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott, Williams, and Wilkins, 2014:18.
- 41. Solberg TD, Balter JM, Benedict SH, et al. Quality and safety considerations in stereotactic radiosurgery and stereotactic body radiation therapy: Executive summary. Pract Radiat Oncol 2012;2:2-9.
- Bova, F J. Cranial Radiosurgery. Treatment Planning in Radiation Oncology. Ed. FM Khan and BJ Gerbi. 3rd. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2012:259-77.
- Keall PJ, Mageras GS, Balter JM, et al. The management of respiratory motion in radiation oncology report of AAPM Task Group 76. Med Phys 2006;33:3874-3900.
- 44. Fuss M, Salter BJ, Rassiah P, et al. Repositioning accuracy of a commercially available double-vacuum whole body immobilization system for stereotactic body radiation therapy. Technol Cancer Res Treat 2004;3:59-67.
- 45. Blomgren H, Lax I, Göranson H, et al. Radiosurgery for Tumors in the Body: Clinical Experience Using a New Method. Journal of Radiosurgery 1998;1:63-74.
- Wulf J, Hädinger U, Oppitz U, et al. Stereotactic radiotherapy of extracranial targets: CT-simulation and accuracy of treatment in the stereotactic body frame. Radiother Oncol 2000;57:225-236.
- Abdelnour AF, Nehmeh SA, Pan T, et al. Phase and amplitude binning for 4D-CT imaging. Phys Med Biol 2007;52:3515-3529.
- Li H, Noel C, Garcia-Ramirez J, et al. Clinical evaluations of an amplitude-based binning algorithm for 4DCT reconstruction in radiation therapy. Med Phys 2012;39:922-932.
- Didierlaurent D, Ribes S, Batatia H, et al. The retrospective binning method improves the consistency of phase binning in respiratory-gated PET/CT. Phys Med Biol 2012;57:7829-7841.
- Castillo SJ, Castillo R, Castillo E, et al. Evaluation of 4D CT acquisition methods designed to reduce artifacts. J Appl Clin Med Phys 2015;16:4949.
- 51. Cerviño LI, Chao AK, Sandhu A, et al. The diaphragm as

an anatomic surrogate for lung tumor motion. Phys Med Biol 2009;54:3529-3541.

- 52. Tian Y, Wang Z, Ge H, et al. Dosimetric comparison of treatment plans based on free breathing, maximum, and average intensity projection CTs for lung cancer SBRT. Med Phys 2012;39:2754-2760.
- Ehler ED, Tomé WA. Lung 4D-IMRT treatment planning: an evaluation of three methods applied to fourdimensional data sets. Radiother Oncol 2008;88:319-325.
- 54. Liu J, Wang JZ, Zhao JD, et al. Use of combined maximum and minimum intensity projections to determine internal target volume in 4-dimensional CT scans for hepatic malignancies. Radiat Oncol 2012;7:11.
- Grosu AL, Piert M, Weber WA, et al. Positron emission tomography for radiation treatment planning. Strahlenther Onkol 2005;181:483-499.
- 56. de Figueiredo BH, Antoine M, Trouette R, et al. Use of FDG-PET to guide dose prescription heterogeneity in stereotactic body radiation therapy for lung cancers with volumetric modulated arc therapy: a feasibility study. Radiat Oncol 2014;9:300.
- 57. Rong Y, Bazan JG, Sekhon A, et al. Minimal Inter-Fractional Fiducial Migration during Image-Guided Lung Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy Using SuperLock Nitinol Coil Fiducial Markers. PLoS One 2015;10:e0131945.
- Nuyttens JJ, Prévost JB, Praag J, et al. Lung tumor tracking during stereotactic radiotherapy treatment with the CyberKnife: Marker placement and early results. Acta Oncol 2006;45:961-965.
- International Commission on Radiation Units and Measurements. ICRU Report 83 Prescribing, Recording, and Reporting Photon-Beam Intensity-Modulated Radiation Therapy (IMRT). Journal of the ICRU 10.1, 2010.
- 60. Fowler JF. The linear-quadratic formula and progress in fractionated radiotherapy. Br J Radiol 1989;62:679-694.
- 61. Onishi H, Araki T, Shirato H, et al. Stereotactic hypofractionated high-dose irradiation for stage I nonsmall cell lung carcinoma: clinical outcomes in 245 subjects in a Japanese multiinstitutional study. Cancer 2004;101:1623-1631.
- 62. Kirkpatrick JP, Meyer JJ, Marks LB. The linearquadratic model is inappropriate to model high dose per fraction effects in radiosurgery. Semin Radiat Oncol 2008;18:240-243.
- 63. Emami B. Tolerance of normal tissue to therapeutic radiation. Reports of Radiotherapy and Oncology

30

2013;1:35-48.

- 64. Ong CL, Verbakel WF, Cuijpers JP, et al. Stereotactic radiotherapy for peripheral lung tumors: a comparison of volumetric modulated arc therapy with 3 other delivery techniques. Radiother Oncol 2010;97:437-442.
- 65. Bortfeld T, Jiang SB, Rietzel E. Effects of motion on the total dose distribution. Semin Radiat Oncol 2004;14:41-51.
- 66. Rao M, Wu J, Cao D, et al. Dosimetric impact of breathing motion in lung stereotactic body radiotherapy treatment using intensity modulated radiotherapy and volumetric modulated arc therapy Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012;83:e251-e256. [corrected].
- 67. McGrath SD, Matuszak MM, Yan D, et al. Volumetric modulated arc therapy for delivery of hypofractionated stereotactic lung radiotherapy: A dosimetric and treatment efficiency analysis. Radiother Oncol 2010;95:153-157.
- Brock J, Bedford J, Partridge M, et al. Optimising stereotactic body radiotherapy for non-small cell lung cancer with volumetric intensity-modulated arc therapy--a planning study. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2012;24:68-75.
- 69. Ong C, Verbakel WF, Cuijpers JP, et al. Dosimetric impact of interplay effect on RapidArc lung stereotactic treatment delivery. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;79:305-311.
- Tajima Y, Nakayama H, Itonaga T, et al. Dosimetric evaluation of compensator intensity modulation-based stereotactic body radiotherapy for Stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. Br J Radiol 2015;88:20150122.
- 71. Wang Z, Kong QT, Li J, et al. Clinical outcomes of

Cite this article as: Kanakamedala MR, Duggar N, Giri SP. Stereotactic body radiation therapy in lung. Transl Cancer Res 2015;4(4):435-448. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-676X.2015.08.11 cyberknife stereotactic radiosurgery for lung metastases. J Thorac Dis 2015;7:407-412.

- 72. Bahig H, Campeau MP, Vu T, et al. Predictive parameters of CyberKnife fiducial-less (XSight Lung) applicability for treatment of early non-small cell lung cancer: a single-center experience. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;87:583-589.
- 73. Arcangeli S, Agolli L, Portalone L, et al. Patterns of CT lung injury and toxicity after stereotactic radiotherapy delivered with helical tomotherapy in early stage medically inoperable NSCLC. Br J Radiol 2015;88:20140728.
- 74. Casutt A, Bouchaab H, Beigelman-Aubry C, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy with helical TomoTherapy for medically inoperable early stage primary and secondprimary non-small-cell lung neoplasm: 1-year outcome and toxicity analysis. Br J Radiol 2015;88:20140687.
- 75. Hrbacek J, Lang S, Graydon SN, et al. Dosimetric comparison of flattened and unflattened beams for stereotactic ablative radiotherapy of stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Med Phys 2014;41:031709.
- 76. Li X, Yang Y, Li T, et al. Dosimetric effect of respiratory motion on volumetric-modulated arc therapy-based lung SBRT treatment delivered by TrueBeam machine with flattening filter-free beam. J Appl Clin Med Phys 2013;14:4370.
- 77. Corradetti MN, Haas AR, Rengan R. Central-airway necrosis after stereotactic body-radiation therapy. N Engl J Med 2012;366:2327-2329.

Brachytherapy in lung cancer: a review

Nhu-Tram A. Nguyen, Ranjan K. Sur

Division of Radiation Oncology, McMaster University-Juravinski Cancer Centre, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: All authors; (II) Administrative support: All authors; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: All authors; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: All authors; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: All authors; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Dr. Nhu-Tram A. Nguyen, MDCM. Juravinski Cancer Centre, 699 Concession street, Hamilton, ON L8V 5C2, Canada. Email: nhu.t.a.nguyen@gmail.com.

Abstract: Metastatic non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) remains the leading cause of cancer death worldwide. Intraluminal brachytherapy (ILBT) has been shown to improve patients' symptoms in some studies. However, its role in the palliation of these patients amidst the other local treatment modalities such as external beam radiotherapy (EBRT), laser and photodynamic therapy (PDT) remains unclear. We have completed a systematic review of the literature to evaluate outcomes of patients with lung cancer treated with ILBT alone and/or in combination with other treatment modalities. We have reviewed tumour and symptom response, overall survival (OS) and toxicities of patients treated with diverse fractionation schemes and those treated with a curative intent. Overall, ILBT is associated with improvement of patients' symptoms in most cases. Its toxicity profile is generally low with small risk of fatal hemoptysis. Further studies are needed to establish an optimal fractionation schedule, although it appears that fractionated treatments (3 fractions) were associated with less toxicity yet similar symptom relief when compared to single fraction treatments. Caution must be taken when prescribing the dose to avoid necrosis and or fistula that may be lead to fatal hemoptysis.

Keywords: Brachytherapy; lung cancer; non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC); high-dose rate (HDR)

Submitted Aug 17, 2015. Accepted for publication Aug 17, 2015. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-676X.2015.08.08 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2218-676X.2015.08.08

Introduction

Metastatic non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) remains the leading cause of cancer death in men and the second leading cause of cancer deaths in women worldwide (1). It is a debilitating disease that results in a high burden of symptoms including shortness of breath, hemoptysis, cough and pain resulting in poor quality of life. Intraluminal brachytherapy (ILBT) has been shown to improve patients' symptoms in some studies. However, its role in the palliation of these patients amidst the other local treatment modalities such as external beam radiotherapy (EBRT), laser and photodynamic therapy (PDT) remains unclear. Effectiveness in palliation and toxicity profile vary widely between cohorts of patients treated with different fractionation schemes making it difficult to compare them. Finally, ILBT has also been used in different ways to treat patients in a radical setting in small series.

We have endeavoured to pursue a systematic review of the literature to evaluate outcomes of patients with lung tumours treated with ILBT alone and/or in combination with other treatment modalities. We have reviewed outcomes of patients treated with diverse fractionation schemes and those treated with a curative intent.

Methods and materials

Literature search

The English and French-language literature from 1980 to June 1st 2015 was reviewed according to PRISMA guidelines (2), using PubMed. All relevant abstracts and

articles were thoroughly examined by two independent individuals. Studies were included if they (I) consisted of randomized control trials (RCT), prospective studies or retrospective studies; (II) included patients with biopsyproven lung cancer and treated with ILBT.

Studies were excluded if they (I) included patients treated for distant lung metastases (II) were non-original studies, i.e., practice guidelines, metaanalyses or systematic review articles (III) did not address patients' outcomes after treatments of their endoluminal lung cancer; (IV) included patients treated with interstitial brachytherapy; (V) patients were treated post-operatively; (VI) treated patients with low-dose rate brachytherapy (LDR), medium dose rate brachytherapy (MDR) or pulse-dose rate brachytherapy (PDR).

The results were divided into into RCTs, prospective studies and retrospective studies. Although metaanalyses, systematic reviews and practice guidelines were not included in our literature search, these were crossreferenced with our search strategies to ensure a complete set of manuscripts for review. The following keywords and MeSH headings were used: "radiotherapy or irradiation or external beam or radiation" and "palliation or palliative or lung cancer or bronchial or endobronchial or lung malignancy" and "thoracic cancer or lung cancer or bronchor endobronchial" and "palliation or palliative or lung cancer or bronchial or endobronchial or lung malignancy".

Results

Randomized control trials describing the role of ILBT alone or in conjunction with other modalities in the palliative management of lung cancer

ILBT allows the delivery of high-dose radiation to the luminal aspect of the tumour and thereby, relieving patients' symptoms. Few RCTs have attempted to assess the benefit of ILBT in addition to or compared to other treatment modalities, with conflicting results. These are studies with their results are summarized in *Table 1*.

Many RCT have randomized patients to EBRT with or without ILBT to evaluate the impact on outcomes with the addition of ILBT.

Huber *et al.* (8) randomized 93 patients with NSCLC treated with ILBT to a mean delivered dose of 13.4 Gy in 4 weekly fractions or 13.7 Gy in 2 fractions over 3 weeks. The 1-year survival, local control (LC) and fatal hemoptysis rates were not significantly different between the two

groups. Huber *et al.* (7) also randomized 98 patients with inoperable NSCLC to EBRT alone (n=42) compared to EBRT with ILBT (EBRT-ILBT) (n=56). In this trial, although survival rates (and fatal hemoptysis rates) were similar, patients with primary lung squamous cell carcinoma experienced a significantly longer LC when treated with EBRT+ ILBT compared to EBRT alone.

More recently, Langendijk *et al.* (4) randomized previously untreated NSCLC stage I-IIIB in proximal airways to EBRT to 30 Gy in 10 fractions with or without ILBT to a dose of 15 Gy in 2 fractions delivered weekly. This study showed that the addition of ILBT to EBRT improved the rates of re-expansion of collapsed lung from obstructing tumours in the main bronchus resulting in lower levels of dyspnea. There were improved rates of re-aeration (57% *vs.* 35%, P=0.001) and mean dyspnea scores (P=0.02) over time in patients treated with EBRT-ILBT compared to those treated with EBRT alone.

Stout *et al.* (6) randomized 99 patients with inoperable NSCLC to EBRT (30 Gy over 10-12 days) or ILBT (15 Gy). Although patients treated with EBRT had significantly longer survival (9.4 *vs.* 8.2 months), their dysphagia rates were also higher. ILBT and EBRT both provided similar symptom response rates. Of note, in this study, many patients treated with EBRT also received ILBT and vice versa. Patients' tumour size response was not reported.

Niemoeller et al. (3) randomized 142 patients with advanced endoluminal centrally located malignant tumours to a different ILBT fractionation schemes, i.e., 15.2 Gy in 4 weekly fractions (n=60) or 14.4 Gy in 2 fractions in 3 weeks. In both groups, survival and symptom response were similar. Interestingly, local tumour response with 2 fractions was significantly higher compared to 4 fractions (median 12 vs. 6 weeks, P<0.015) and fatal hemoptysis rate was lower (12% vs. 18%), although it did not reach statistical significance. Niemoeller et al. attributed the difference in the results to a higher radiation dose per fraction. It is also possible that the larger sample size of Niemoeller's cohort and the difference in the randomization method-performance status in each group was not described and not accounted for- may explain these different findings.

Chella *et al.* (5) evaluated the role of ILBT in addition to Nd-YAG laser in a RCT. Their study included 29 patients with NSCLC involving the central airways between Nd-YAG versus Nd-YAG with ILBT. The addition of ILBT to Nd-YAG increased the symptom-free survival (8.5 *vs.* 2.8 months P<0.05) and decreased the need of further

TUDAL T JUDAL		anualing outco	ones of partones with fung cancer in care		unuar practity discrapy			
Author, year	Population	z	Treatment	Median follow-up	OS median/1-year OS (%)	Sympt resp (%)	Tumour resp (%)	A/E
Niemoeller et al.,	Endobronchial central NSCLC	Total=142 (I) n= 60	(I) 3.8 Gy q1wk × 4# (15.2 Gy) @ 1 cm	20 mos	19 wks/ median 1-yr OS: 11%	NR	49%	fHemop: 18%
2013 (3)	rumours	(II) n=82	(II) 7.2 Gy × 2# (14.4 Gy) @ 1 cm		18 wks/ median 1-yr OS: 21% (ns)		53%	fHemop: 12% (ns)
Langendijk e <i>t al.</i> , 2001 (4)	Inoperable, biopsy- proven NSCLC with tumor in main or lobar bronchus,	Total=95 (I) 47	 (I) EBRT alone Radical EBRT: 2.25 Gy × 4# q1wk to 45 Gy + 15 Gy boost, or palliative EBRT: 3 Gy × 4# q1wk to 30 Gy 	R	8.5 mos/NR (95% Cl: 5.4-11.6)	*SOB: 37% *Re-aeration: 35% Hemop 82%	NR	fHemop: 13%
	otages I-IIIB (IIIB 55%)	(II) 48	(II) EBRT+BT Radical or palliative EBRT + BT of 7.5 Gy × 2# @ 1 cm q1wk		7.0 mos/NR (95% Cl: 5.3-8.9) P=0.21	*SOB: 46% *Re-aeration: 57% Hemop: 86%		fHemop: 15% Fistula: 4%
Chella <i>et al.</i> , 2000 (5)	NSCLC involving central airway not eligible for other treatments (Sq 72%)	Total=29 (I) n=15	Nd-YAG laser alone: 25-45 Watts using pulses up to 1.2 s to a mean total of 1,850 J	17.8 mo	7.4 mos/NR	100% (hemop, stridor) 76% (SOB), 48% (cough); *15 further endoscopic Rx *Shorter period free-from symptoms 2.8 mos (P<0.05)	RN	n=5 (gr2 actinic bronchitis) n=1 (gr 3 actinic bronchitis- dilatation required)
		(II) n=14	Nd-YAG laser + BT (15 Gy/3# q1wk @ 0.5 cm)		10.3 mos/NR	*3 further Rx (P<0.05) *Free-from symptoms =8.5 mos	CR: 66%	
Stout <i>et al.</i> , 2000 (6)	Inoperable, histologically	n=99 (I) 50	EBRT: 30 Gy/8# over 10-12 days	RN	9.4 mos/38%	67% cough (ns)	RN	Massive hemop: 8%
	proven Noceco, Sq 82%	(II) 49	BT: 15 Gy /1# @ 1 cm		8.2 mos/22% (P=0.04)	50% cough (ns)	R	Massive hemop: 6% less dysphagia than EBRT
Huber <i>et al.</i> , 1997 (7)	Inoperable, histologically proven NSCLC (Sq 69%, Stages	Total n=98 Group 1: n=42	EBRT alone: 2-2.5 Gy/d with 4-5# /wk up to 50 Gy + 10 Gy boost (60 Gy total) Mean= 50.5 Gy	30 mos	6.5 mos/19%	R	NR	fHemop: 14%
	(%// //////////////////////////////////	Group 2: n=56	EBRT + BT: BT: 4.8 Gy × 2# (1 wk pre- and 3 wk post-EBRT) @ 1 cm; mean BT: 7.44±2.6 Gy; mean EBRT =50 Gy		6.2 mos/25% (ns)			fHemop: 19% (P=0.53) longer LC, *SCC

Table 1 Randomized control trials evaluating outcomes of patients with lung cancer treated with intraluminal brachytherapy

Table 1 (continued)

Author, year	Population	z	Treatment	Median follow-up	OS median/1-year OS (%)	Sympt resp (%)	Tumour resp (%)	A/E
Huber <i>et al.</i> , 1995 (8)	Histologically proven NSCLC (ns), Sq 49%, Stages	Total: n=93 Group 1: n=44	BT: 3.8 Gy × 4# q1wk @ 1 cm (mean dose: 13.4±5.2 Gy)	30 mos	4.2 mos/11.4%	R	CR: 2% PR: 42%	N
	1-IV (IIIB/IV 80%)	Group 2: n=49	BT: 7.2 Gy × 2# q3wk @ 1 cm (mean dose: 13.7±4.4 Gy)		4.4 mos/20.4% (ns)		PR: 49%	
A/F, adverse	events: BT, brachvthe	erany: Cl. cor	ufidence interval: CBT. chemoradiatio	n: EBRT. exte	rnal beam radiation: G	iv. Grav: mo(s), month(s): ft	Hemon, fatal he	montvsis: Hem

nemoptysis; n, number of patients; NR, not reported; NS, not significant; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; q, every; OS, overall survival; resp, response; Rx, treatment; SOB, shortness of breath; Sq, squamous cell carcinoma; symp, symptom; wk(s), week(s); *, statistically significant; #, fraction(s)

Nguyen and Sur. Role of brachytherapy in lung cancer

endoscopic treatments (15 vs. 3 further endoscopic treatments, P<0.05). It is possible that these two treatments are in fact complimentary. Indeed, Nd-YAG laser may be used to remove bulky tumours-to relieve symptoms rapidly while delivering ILBT provides a longer symptom-free survival and limit the needs of further interventions.

The current data suggests that in patients with endobronchial disease, ILBT given in addition to EBRT may improve LC and symptoms, especially in patients with collapse lung. When ILBT is delivered without EBRT, the use of Nd-YAG laser may be complimentary because it can remove bulky tumours and relieve symptoms rapidly and while ILBT provides a longer period of symptom-free survival. Further studies are needed to better evaluate and quantify the benefits of the addition of ILBT to EBRT in a palliative setting.

Prospective studies describing the role of ILBT alone or in conjunction with other modalities in the palliative management of lung cancer

Ornadel *et al.* (9) reported outcomes of 117 patients previously treated patients undergoing with Nd-YAG laser prior to BT if there was significant endobronchial likely to cause lung collapse before ILBT would have time to relieve obstruction or if patients were in acute distress. ILBT dose was of 15 Gy in 1 fraction, prescribed at 1 cm from the source axis. There was an improvement in symptoms in 59% for cough, 50% for dyspnea and 76% for hemoptysis. Of note, patients with prior laser treatments had a statistically significantly higher risk of subsequent fatal hemoptysis.

Muto *et al.* (10) reported outcomes of 320 patients with stage III NSCLC treated with EBRT (60 Gy in 30 fractions) and with three different schedules of ILBT of 10 Gy in 1 fraction, 14 Gy in 2 fractions and 15 Gy in 3 fractions. The mean OS and rates of symptomatic improvements were not statistically significantly different between the groups. However, the group treated with 3 fractions experienced less toxicity.

Skowronek *et al.* (11) treated 15 patients with 20-30 Gy of EBRT and a weekly high-dose rate (HDR) brachytherapy (3 fractions of 3.5-10 Gy, at 1 cm from the source). In all patients subjective improvement (regression of all symptoms) was found on the first check-up following treatment. In one case complete remission of the tumour lasted for over 6 months, 9 cases had partial remission. The combination of ILBT and EBRT led to regression of

symptoms and improvement of well-being in most patients.

Speiser *et al.* (12) reported one of the largest series of patients treated with ILBT with or without EBRT. The ILBT dose ranged between 22.5 and 30 Gy in 3 fractions. There was a high symptom response rate ranging between 85% (cough, SOB) and 99% (hemoptysis). The rates of procedure-related complications were low, at 3%.

Finally, Freitag *et al.* (13) assessed indirectly whether PDT compared to PDT with ILBT improved tumour response. This prospective study included unresectable endobronchial primary bronchogenic carcinoma (n=15) and recurrent lung tumours (n=17). The complete response rate associated with the initial PDT was of 75%. After patient completed ILBT, the CR was of 97%. These results suggest that perhaps delivering ILBT in addition to PDT may improve tumour control. It would be interesting to evaluate how ILBT alone compares to PDT, with the hope of using only one modality of treatment and minimize toxicities.

Most recently, Goldberg *et al.* (14) reported outcomes of inoperable patients with endobronchial lung cancer treated with ILBT with or without EBRT or chemoradiation. ILBT was delivered with a dose of 14 Gy in 2 fractions. Although the survival was improved in patients with CRT, the mean cough-free survival (4.7 months), mean shortness of breathfree survival (5.8 months) and hemoptysis free-survival (7.7 months) were not statistically significant between groups.

Freitag *et al.* (13) assessed indirectly whether PDT compared to PDT with ILBT improved tumour response. This prospective study included unresectable endobronchial primary bronchogenic carcinoma (n=15) and recurrent lung tumours (n=17). The complete response rate associated with the initial PDT was of 75%. After patient completed ILBT, the CR was of 97%. These results suggest that perhaps delivering ILBT in addition to PDT may improve tumour control. It would be interesting to evaluate how ILBT alone compares to PDT, with the hope of using only one modality of treatment and minimize toxicities.

All these prospective studies used different fractionation schemes and doses. All series report a good rate of symptom relief with low incidence of toxicities. Further studies are needed to determine the optimal dose fractionation scheme.

Retrospective studies describing the role of ILBT alone or in conjunction with other modalities in the palliative management of lung cancer

Many fractionation schemes have been described in

35

retrospective series. The vast majority of the literature on ILBT discusses its use in the palliation of patients with lung cancers to relieve symptoms such as hemoptysis, cough, dyspnea or atelectasis. The data is summarized in *Tables 1-3*. Its effectiveness in improving symptoms mostly ranges from 43% to 92%, depending on symptoms evaluated. Hemoptysis is the most consistently and effectively palliated symptom, with relief in 70-100% of cases. On the other hand, dyspnea is the symptom the least consistently relieved, with rates ranging from 33-85%.

Technical aspect of ILBT

Prescription point

The prescription point for lung brachytherapy is usually 1 cm from the centre of the source axis. Many authors attempt to treat the entire tumor with the brachytherapy catheters. For tumours in the trachea and mainstem, a prescription point at 1cm from the centre of the source axis is safe. From Goldberg *et al.* experience (18), it appears that prescribing at a depth of 0.5 cm was associated with no toxicities. It is not always possible to treat the entire tumour. Dose prescription points beyond what is recommended above can lead to massive cartilage necrosis causing airway- vascular fistula and massive haemoptysis.

Optimal dose fractionation scheme for palliative endobronchial brachytherapy for patients with lung cancer

In a palliative setting, the ideal treatment schedule aims to balance maximal LC and tumour and symptom response with minimal toxicities from ILBT (such as fatal hemoptysis), number of treatments and overall treatment time. There are innumerable fractionation schemes published in the literature with limited studies comparing them to establish superiority of one over the others.

Huber *et al.* (8) randomized 93 patients with NSCLC to a mean delivered dose of 13.4 Gy in 4 weekly fractions or 13.7 Gy in 2 fractions q3weeks. The 1-year survival, LC and fatal hemoptysis rates were not significantly different between the two groups.

One of the largest study from Niemoeller *et al.* (3) randomized 142 patients with advanced endoluminal centrally located malignant tumors to two fractionation schemes, i.e., 15.2 Gy in 4 weekly fractions (n=60) or 14.4 Gy in 2 fractions over 3 weeks. In both groups, survival and symptom responses were similar. Interestingly, local tumour response with 2 fractions was significantly higher compared to 4 fractions (median 12 *vs.* 6 weeks, P<0.015)

Table 2 Prospe	ective str	ıdies evaluating outcomes	of patients with lung cancer trea	ted with intraluminal brachythera	py			
Author, year	Ē	Population	Treatment	Symptomatic response (%)	Size response (%)	FU time	OS (mos)	Toxicity
Goldberg <i>et al.</i> , 2015 (14)	98	Inoperable endobronchial lung cancer	n=52- BT alone: 7 Gy × 2# n=34- BT 7 Gy × 2# + EBRT (30 Gy/10#)	Mean cough-free survival = 4.7 mos Mean SOB-free survival =5.8 mos Mean Hemop-free survival =7.7 mos	ц	12 mos	Mean =4.6 mos Mean =7.5 mos	R
			n=6- B1 7 Gy × 2# + CRT (60 Gy/30#) n=6- BT 7 Gy × 2# + Chemo alone @ 1 cm for main and 0.5 cm for segmental bronchi	(ns) "no difference in sympt- free survival or QOL between treatment groups			Mean =10.5 mos* Mean =8.4 mos	
Skowronek <i>et al.</i> , 2009 (11)	648	Advanced lung cancer	n=303- BT: 22.5 Gy/3# @ 1 cm q1wk n=345- BT: 10 Gy/1# @ 1 cm	88% (subsidence of all symptoms at 4 weeks post- ILBT)	CR: 17% PR: 71%	R	Median = 3.7 mos (ns)	R
de Aquino <i>et al.</i> , 2013 (15)	78	Primary or metastatic bronchogenic carcinoma	BT (22.5 Gy/3#) + EBRT (60 Gy/30# or 30 Gy/10#)	Overall: 87% Cough: 34% SOB: 57% Hemop: 100% AO: 74% Infection: 80%	CR: 48%	R	Median =6 mos	Stenosis-stent: 1.3% Fistula 2.6% fHemop 10% (but with PD)
Freitag <i>et al.</i> , 2004 (13)	32	unresectable endobronchial primary bronchogenic carcinoma (n=15) and recurrent lung cancer (n=17)	PDT + BT (20 Gy/5# @ 1 cm)	٣	CR: 75% (after PDT) CR: 97% after PDT+ BT	Mean =24 mos	ж	No A/E ≥ grade 3 A/E
Escobar- Sacristan <i>et al.</i> , 2004 (16)	81	Primary or metastatic endobronchial cancer	BT: 5 Gy @ 0.5-1 cm +/- surgery, chemo, CRT, laser or EBRT	Overall: 85% Cough: 88%, SOB: 75%, hemop 96%	CR: 57% PR: 41%	Minimum 1 month after BT	R	Fistula (1%)-no mediastinitis/death
Muto <i>et al.</i> , 2000 (10)	320	Biopsy proven NSCLC, KPS >60, Stages IIIA-IIIB	EBRT (60 Gy/30#) + BT (3 schedules of BT) (1) 10 Gy/1# (11) 14 Gy/2# (11) (1) 15 Gy/3# @1 cm (ii) 15 Gy/3# @0.5 cm	Cough: 77%, SOB: 85% Hemop: 94%, atelectasis: 94% Obstructive pneumonia: 90%	R	5-36 mos	Mean =9.7 mos (ns between groups)	ACUTE: 6-mo bronchitts 16-80% (ss) CHRONIC: Fhem: 2.5- 6.5% fstula 1-3% 3# associated with fewer A/E but similar OS and sympt relief; trend in higher A/E in C1 vs. C2

Table 2 (continued)

Nguyen and Sur. Role of brachytherapy in lung cancer

Author, year	۲	Population	Treatment	Symptomatic response (%)	Size response (%)	FU time	OS (mos)	Toxicity
Ofiara <i>et al.</i> , 1997 (17)	24	Bronchogenic carcinoma inoperable, recurrent or persistent symptomatic	24 Gy/3# @ 1 cm	Cough: 46% SOB: 33% Hemop: 79% Atelectasis: 54%	62%	Ч	Я	R
Ornadel <i>et al.</i> , 1997 (9)	117	Bronchial carcinoma unresectable and not candidate for EBRT	BT: 15 Gy/1# @ 1 cm	Cough: 59% SOB: 50% Hemop: 76%	N	RN	Median =12 mos	*Prior laser has higher risk of fHemop (P=0.048)
Hernandez et al., 1996 (18)	26	Residual or recurrent lung cancer	Prior EBRT (mean =44 Gy) BT: 7.5-10 Gy × 1-3# (total=7.5-30 Gy) @ 1 cm	Atelectasis 44% Hemop 71% Cough 55% SOB 36% Pneumonitis 50%	42%	Ч	Я	n=6/29 (minor hemoptysis <100 mL) n=1/29: (non fatal massive hemop >500 mL) n=1/29: PTx
Trédaniel <i>et al.</i> , 1994 (19)	51	Primary carcinoma of tracheobronchial tree	BT alone (14-21 Gy/2-3#) (I) BT radical (n=29) (II) metastatic: BT palliative (n=22)	Overall: 70% Cough: 85% SOB: 55% Hemop: 85%	Group 1: CR: 84% PR: 12% Group 2: CR: 27% PR: 59%	Я	Mean OS (I) 23 mos (II) 5 mos	Abscess: 4% fHemop: 10%
Goldman <i>et al.</i> , 1993 (20)	20	Carcinoma in the bronchus	BT alone: 15 Gy/1# @ 1 cm	SOB: 89% (17/19) Cough: 37% (7/19) Hemop: 100% (6/6) Collapse: 69% (9/13)	CR: 42% PR: 47%	RN	RN	R
Speiser <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1993 (12)	(Total: 342) 47 144	Curative Palliative	(I) EBRT (60 Gy/30#) + IDR (30 Gy/3#) (II) EBRT (37.5Gy/15#) + UDD (50 C.7.24)	SOB: 86% Pneumonia: 86% Hemop: 99% Cough: 85%	RN	RN	RN	3% procedure- complications 7.3% fHemop
	151	Recurrent	(III) HDR (22.5 Gy/3#) @ 1 cm					
Bedwinek <i>et al.</i> , 1992 (21)	45	Recurrent endobronchial carcinoma	6 Gy/1# @ 1 cm	Overall: 76% (29/38) ⁱ Cough and hemoptysis: 80% SOB: 71% Atelectasis: 64%	CR: 41% PR: 41%	2-12 mos	Median =6.5 mos	fHemop: 32%
Gauwitz et al., 1992 (22)	54	Recurrent endobronchial cancers	9 Gy/1# @ 1 cm	Overall: 88% (21/24) Reaeration: 83% (15/18)	100%	R	R	n=1 min hemop n=1 fHemop
Table 2 (conti	inued)							

Table 2 (continued)

Toxicity	Fistula 11%		fHemop 33% Fistula 10%	Asymptomatic PTx (n=1)
OS (mos)	Median =5.5 mos; 1-yr 1%	Median =4 mos 1-yr 67%	PR: 7 mos NR: 3 mos	R
FU time	Median 6.5 mos	Median 4.5 mos	R	К
Size response (%)	78%	85%	PR: 72%	88% (15/17)
Symptomatic response (%)	Overall: 78% Cough: 68%; SOB: 79%; Pneumonia: 82%; hemop 91%; Chest pain: 73%	Overall: 82% Cough: 73%; SOB: 75%; Pneumonia: 71%; hemop 100% Chest pain: 75%	SOB: 82% (18/22)	Cough: 50%, SOB: 64%, Hemop: 86%, atelectasis: 33%
Treatment	(I) LDR: 32 Gy/4# BID × 2 days @ 1 cm	(II) HDR: 20 Gy/4# BID × 2 days	10 Gy/1# @ 1 cm	BT alone (15-20 Gy/1#) @ 1 cm (n=1 had EBRT, n=1 had chemo also)
Population	Endobronchial tumours		Recurrent endobronchial stage III lung cancer	Inoperable symptomatic endobronchial carcinoma
	66		31	20
Author, year	Mehta <i>et al.</i> , 1992 (23)		Sutedja <i>et al.</i> , 1992 (24)	Burt <i>et al.</i> , 1990 (25)

A/E, adverse events; BID, twice a day; BT, brachytherapy; chemo, chemotherapy; CI, confidence interval; CRT, chemoradiation; EBRT, external beam radiation; Gy, Gray; mo(s), month(s); fHemop, fatal hemoptysis; n, number of patients; HDR, high-dose rate brachytherapy; Hemop, hemoptysis; KPS, Karnosfsky performance status; LDR, low-dose rate brachytherapy; NR, not reported; NS, not significant; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; q, every; OS, overall survival; PD, progression of disease; PDT, photodynamic therapy; PTX, pneumothorax; resp, resp, response; Rx, treatment; SOB, shortness of breath; Sq, squamous cell carcinoma; symp, symptom; wk(s), week(s); *, statistically significant; #, fraction(s); ¹, among evaluated patients.

I

T

T

Table 2 (continued)

Table 3 Retros	pective studies evaluating	g outcomes	s of patients with lung cance	er treated with int	traluminal brack	nytherapy			
Author, year	Disease description	z	HDREB/EBR treatment	Median FU (mos)	Med OS (mos)	Toxicity hemoptysis (%)	Toxicity (%)	Tumour resp (%)	Symptom response (%)
Rochet <i>et al.</i> , 2013 (26)	NSCLC inoperable stage I-III ineligible Sx/Chemo	35	EBRT (50 Gy) + BT (15 Gy/3#)	26	N	fHemop (3%)	Hemoptysis (6%), necrosis (3%)	PR (17%); CR (57%)	RN
Chan <i>et al.</i> , 2011 (27)	Early-stage inoperable NSCLC -> RFA+BT	17	Median 18 Gy/1# (14.4-20 Gy)	22 mos	21/2-yr OS: 53%	Ч	PneumoTx (11/17) empyema (1/17) pleural effusion (3/17)	NR	RN
Zaric <i>et al.</i> , 2010 (28)	NSCLC	761	14 Gy/2#	R	N	1.1%	5% overall acute A/E; severe hypoxemia (1.7%)	NR	RN
Dagnault <i>et</i> a <i>l.</i> , 2010 (29)	Iry and metastatic endobronchial turmours <6 mos survival	81	5 Gy × 4# =20 Gy	RN	14.7	1% (gr 1)	46% bronchitis gr1	60% pCR 42% radiol resp	SOB: 85% Hemop: 100% Cough: 77%
Skowronek e <i>t al.</i> , 2009 (11)	Advanced endobronchial NSCLC non-curative dz,treated with HDR alone	648	(l) 22.5/3# q1wk (n=303) (ll) 10 Gy/1# (n=345)	Я	3.71 mos *patients with resp lived longer	R	R	CR: 17% PR: 71%	15% at 1 yr
Fortunato <i>et al.</i> , 2009 (30)	Primary and recurrent bronchial tree turnour treated with BT, EBRT, chemo, laser	~	EBRT (30-44 Gy) + BT (5-7 Gy/2-4#)	Mean 17 mos	Mean 54 mos	n=1 (14%) fHemop	Fatal hemoptysis 6 mos post-BT due to necrosis of bronchial wall due to PD n=1- grade 1 dysphagia	6/7 (86%)	6/7 (86%) at 72 h
Ozkok <i>et al.</i> , 2008 (31)	NSCLC st III and palliative patients	Total: 158 n=43	@ 1 cm (l) NSCLC III: EBRT (60 Gy/30#) + BT (15 Gy/3#) @ 1 cm	Я	Median OS: 11 mos CR: 15 mos NR: 9 mos (P=0.03)	fHemop 4%	Fibrous tracheal malacia (n=1) esophagitis gr 3 (n=3) bronchitis (n=6) (P=0.03)	86%	Cough: 58% SOB: 77% Hemop: 100%
		n=74	(II) EBRT (30 Gy/10#) + BT (15 Gy/2#) @ 1 cm			fHemop 11%	Fibrous tracheal malacia (n=1) bronchitis (n=1)	77%	Cough: 57% SOB: 90% Hemop: 94%
		n=41	(III) recurrent: BT (22.5 Gy/3#) @ 1 cm			fHemop 20%	Bronchitis (n=1)	72%	Cough: 55% SOB: 78% Hemop: 77%
Kubaszewska <i>et al.</i> , 2008 (32)	NSCLC + SCLC	270	8-10 Gy/1#; 22.5/3#	ЛR	R	R	R	80%	Cough: 77% SOB: 76% Hemop: 92% Pneumonia: 82% Re-aeration: 73%

© AME Publishing Company. All rights reserved.

www.amegroups.com

Table 3 (continued)

Table 3 (contin	(pən								
Author, year	Disease description	z	HDREB/EBR treatment	Median FU (mos)	Med OS (mos) h	Toxicity 1emoptysis (%)	Toxicity (%)	Tumour resp (%)	Symptom response (%)
Zorlu <i>et al.</i> , 2008 (33)	Recurrent endoluminal NSCLC	21	Paliative EBRT then BT (10 Gy/1# (n=9) and 15 Gy/1# (n=12) @ 1 cm	ЯN	5.5 mo (range, 4-12 mo)	fHemop 5%	Intrabronchial edema (5%)	ЧN	SOB: 71 <i>%</i> Hemop: 80%
Mallick <i>et al.</i> , 2006 (34)	Endobronchial, NSCLC, Stages III	All: 95 n=65	EBRT (30 Gy/10#)	8 mos	10 mos	%0	No other	61% reduction in obstruction	SOB: 93% Cough: 81%
		n=15	EBRT (30 Gy/10#) + 10 Gy/1# @ 1 cm			%0		score	Hemop 97% Obstructive nneumonia: 91%
		n=15	BT 15 Gy/1#			n=1 fHemop			
Allison <i>et al.</i> , 2004 (35)	NSCLC endobronchial recurrence	10	18/3#	Ч	10.5	RN	R	ЧN	NR
Magne <i>et al.</i> , 2003 (36)	Pall+curative	31	LDR (n=13) + HDR (n=18) HDR: 36/6# LDR: 21/3#	3.5 yrs	23 mos	16% severe Hemop	22.5%; 6%=PTx 31% stenosis	ц	NR
Gejerman et <i>al.</i> , 2002 (37)	Locally advanced or metastatic lung cancer	33	15/3# q1wk + EBRT (37.5 Gy/15#)	12 mos	Med 5.2 mos	NR	64% odynophagia- fluconazole	54%	72%
Celebioglu et <i>al.</i> , 2002 (38)	Inoperable lung cancer	95	22.5/3# vs. 20/2#	Mean 7.5 mos	RN	3%-Admission	3% (hemoptysis only)	NR (but significant improvement)	NR (but significant improvement)
Harms <i>et al.</i> , 2000 (39)	 (l) prior Rx; (ll) palliative new; max 3 cm periluminal extension NSCLC 	55	(I) BT: 5-27 Gy (med=20); (II) 10-20 Gy (med=15)	12.6 mos	Med A1: 5 mos B1: 20 mos	0% (from DP only)	A: 0% B: 6% gr 1-2. no gr 3-4	A1: CR+PR 53% B1: 77%	R
Kelly <i>et al.</i> , 2000 (38)	Recurrent/mets, MD Anderson	175	BT alone: 30 Gy/2#	ШZ	Mean 6 mos	5% fHemop	11%	78%	66% (32% much improved; 34% slight improved)
Hennequin <i>et al.</i> , 1998 (39)	Biopsy proven bronchial malignancies (SCLC 2%), Sq 88%, prior EBR 75%	149	Mostly @ 1 cm (range, 0.5-1.5 cm)	R	R	7.4%	R	N	R
Taulele <i>et al.</i> , 1998 (40)	Stages I-I/V lung cancer, 90% with symptoms of endobronchial disease (SCLC 6%), Sq 84%, WHO ≥2 53%, prior EBR 62%	189	6-10 Gy @ 1 cm q1w × 2-6	Я	ЯИ	Massive hem 7%	Я	Ч	74%
Table 3 (contin	(pən								

www.amegroups.com

Nguyen and Sur. Role of brachytherapy in lung cancer

40

Table 3 (continu	(pən								
Author, year	Disease description	z	HDREB/EBR treatment	Median FU (mos)	Med OS (mos)	Toxicity hemoptysis (%)	Toxicity (%)	Tumour resp (%)	Symptom response (%)
Delclos <i>et al.</i> , 1996 (41)	Recurrent endobronchial	81	15 Gy × 2# (30 Gy) @ 6 mm	R	КN	R	n=2 grade 5 (fistula and tracheal malacia)	R	Total=84% 32%=excellent 31%=moderate 21%=minimal median Duration=4.5 mos
Macha et <i>al.</i> , 1995 (42)	Recurrent bronchial carcinoma, Sq 65%, SCLC 9%, majority had prior EBR	365	5 Gy @ 1 cm × 3 (G1) or × 4 (G2) q2w	RN	Я	N	NR	RN	R
Gollins <i>et al.</i> , 1994 (43) mostly palliative, some curative	Inoperable, primary endobronchial or endotracheal, Sq 87%, NSCLC 6.5%, Stages II-IV (IV 81%), prior EBR 20%	406	Group 1 N=324 (80%) previously no-RT -> 1× BT (I) n=218: 1× EBT (I) n=106; further EBRT/BT Group 2 (n=65): prior EBRT, now treated with BT Median= 15 Gy/1# (10-20 Gy) qd @ 1 cm Group 3: EBRT (30/8#- 50/16#) + BT	щ	Med OS: 5.8 mos 2-yr:1% 5-yr:1%	fHemop 7.9%	Worsening SOB 5% removing of necrotic debris 0.2%	ц	© 6 wks: GROUP 1: 92% stridor 88% hemoptysis 62% cough 60% SOB 50% pain 46% atelectasis GROUP 2: 75% stridor 88% hemoptysis 55% cough 52% SOB 60% pain 7%
Chang <i>et al.</i> , 1994 (44)	Primary lung cancer curative/palliative	76	Median 7 Gy x3# (21 Gy) @ 1 cm if curative, add EBRT 60- 70 Gy if pall, add EBRT 20-59 Gy	Mean 7.8 mos	Mean 5 mos	4% fHemop (BT same week as EBRT) 1% mild hemop	4% pneumonitis- steroid 3% mod esoph	CR 35% PR 52% (87% overall)	95% hemoptysis 79% cough 87% SOB 88% post- obs pneumonia
A/E, adverse e fHemop, fatal f not reported; N response; RFA	vents; BID, twice a day; ł nemoptysis; n, number of VS, not significant; NSCL , radiofrequency ablatior	BT, brac f patient .C, non- ı; Rx, tre	:hytherapy; chemo: chemot is; HDR, high-dose rate bra -small cell lung cancer; q, e eatment; SOB, shortness o	herapy; Cl, confic chytherapy; Hem very; OS, overall f breath; Sq, squ	dence interval; (op, hemoptysis survival; PD, p amous cell carr	CRT, chemoradia ;; KPS, Karnosfsk rrogression of dis cinoma; symp, sy	tion EBRT, external beam y performance status; LDI aase; PDT, photodynamic mptom; Sx, surgery; wk(;	radiation; Gy, Gi R, Iow-dose rate therapy; PTX, p s), week(s); *, sta	ay; mo(s), month(s); brachytherapy; NR, neumothorax; resp, titstically significant;

#, fraction(s)

and fatal hemoptysis rate was lower (12% vs. 18%), although it did not reach statistical significance. Niemoeller *et al.* attributed the difference in the results to a higher irradiation dose per fraction. It is also possible that the larger sample size of Niemoeller's cohort and the difference in the randomization method—performance status in each group was not described and not accounted for- may explain these different findings.

More prospective randomised studies are needed to establish the optimal dose and fractionation can give the best palliation with minimal toxicity in advanced lung cancer.

ILBT-related toxicities

Acute toxicities

One of the most attractive characteristic of ILBT is its sharp dose fall-off curve. It is thus not surprising that its acute toxicities are relatively limited. Although acute bronchitis or pneumonitis has been reported in up to 46% of patients treated (10,31,43), these episodes were usually selflimited or readily treated with inhaled bronchodilators or steroids. Incidences of rapid necrosis of tumours sometimes requiring bronchoscopic removal of the debris have been reported in up to 5% of cases (26,43); patients generally improved after the procedure. Small risks of procedurerelated complications such as pneumothorax, infection, empyema and abscess has been reported in up to 6% of cases (12,19,36,45).

Long-term toxicities

The most significant long-term toxicities include fibrosis causing stenosis, fistulisation and fatal hemoptysis.

Rates of bronchial fibrosis causing stenosis range from 2-56% (31,36,45). In most, patients are asymptomatic or minimally symptomatic thus not requiring any intervention. Fistulisation is a more significant complication, as it may lead to uncontrolled infections that may be fatal, albeit these are rare occurrences (41). Rates of fistula are relatively rare, ranging from 1-11% and were not fatal in most series (10,15,16,23,46).

One of most significant toxicity from ILBT consists of hemoptysis that may be fatal. It can occur as soon as a few weeks after ILBT and as late as almost 1 year post-ILBT. Rates of fatal hemoptysis are highly variable and in some series, can be up to 19-33% (7,21,24,31). Ornadel *et al.* (9) suggested that prior laser treatments increased the risk of fatal hemoptysis. Dose prescription point is important in preventing fatal hemoptysis although this has not been tested in a clinical setting. Hemoptysis also occurs due to disease progression and invasion of blood vessels by tumour and not necessarily from ILBT. In most series, incidences of massive hemoptysis ranged between 2-10% and were almost invariable fatal.

Role of ILBT alone or in conjunction with other modalities in a radical setting

While the most common use of ILBT remains in a palliative setting, small series have reported outcomes of patients treated with EBBT either alone or as a boost to EBRT alone, as shown in *Table 4*.

Kawamura *et al.* (48) have previously reported outcomes of 13 patients with small endobronchial squamous cell carcinomas treated wither with EBRT and ILBT or ILBT alone. The median ILBT dose was 20 Gy in four fractions and 25 Gy in 5 fractions, respectively. The median dose was 45 Gy (range, 40-61 Gy), delivered at 2 Gy/fraction. The 2-year overall survival (OS) and 2-year LC were 92% and 86%, respectively. The 2-year LC was slightly higher for patients treated with EBRT-ILBT compared to ILBT alone (89% *vs.* 80%). One patient who experience airway stenosis causing cough (n=1/13) and another patient experience dyspnea grade 3 after treatments.

Perol et al. (45) reported prospective data on outcomes of 18 patients treated with ILBT alone with a dose escalation scheme from 21 to 35 Gy, prescribed at 1cm from the source axis and delivered at 7 Gy per fraction, weekly. The 2-year LC and OS rates were of 75% and 58%, respectively. Moreover, two patients developed major necrosis of their bronchial wall and two patients died after an episode of fatal hemoptysis. When comparing these results to those of patients treated with stereotactic body radiotherapy in other studies (49), patients treated with ILBT had a lower LC and OS rates. Furthermore, the occurrences of fatal toxicities were relatively high. Further studies are needed to evaluate the role of ILBT in a curative setting. Until further evidence is available, ILBT should be used on a case-bycase basis, and offered only when other better-established treatments such as surgery or stereotactic body radiotherapy have been deemed not feasible.

Fernando *et al.* (50) have reported outcomes of 224 high-risk operable patients with T1-3N0 NSCLC treated with sublobar resection with or without intraoperative brachytherapy (IOBT). The primary endpoint of this study was to assess whether IOBT improved local recurrence

		, ,								
Author (study)	Ē	Tumour	Treatments	FU (mos)	LC (%)	Tumour resp	Sympt resp	0S (%)	Acute A/E	Long-term A/E
Anacak <i>et al.</i> , 2001 (47) (P)	30	NSCLC stage III	60 Gy + 15 Gy/3#	Я	Median locoregional- free survival: 9 mos	RN	Cough: 43% SOB: 80% Hemop: 95% Chest pain: 88%	Median 11 mos	Bronchitis (70%), esophagitis (6%)	Bronchial fibrosis (25%), esophageal fibrosis (13%), fHemop (11%)
Perol et al., 1997 (45), pilot study (P)	18	NSCLC <1 cm, exclusive endobronchial involvement (no disease on CT-scan in lung/LNs) with C/A to other therapies	(l) 7 Gy \times 3# (21 Gy) (l) 7 Gy \times 4# (28 Gy) (l1) 7 Gy \times 5# (35 Gy) q1wk # @ 1 cm	Mean 28 mos	75%	pCR 83%	ц	1-yr: 58 % 2-yr: 58 %	n=1 fatal hemoptysis n=1 slight PTx (undrained) n=1 bronchial infection	 Asymptomatic partial fibrous stenosis 10/18 (56%) n=2 major necrosis of bronchial wall n=2 fHemop
Kawamura <i>et al.</i> , 2012 (48) (R)	13	SCC endobronchial ca'a <2 cm Roentgenographically occult early endobronchial cancer	n=10: EBRT (median = 45 Gy/22#, range, 40- 61 Gy/18-30#) + BT [5 Gy ×4=20 Gy (median)] n=6: BT alone (median 5 Gy ×5=25 Gy/wk	Median 32.5 mos	86% BT alone =80% EBRT + BT =89%			92%	(1/13) SOB grade 3	0% hemoptysis (1/13) airway stenosis causing cough grade 2

Table 4 Studies describing outcomes of patients treated with brachytherapy with a curative intent

A/E, adverse event; BT, brachytherapy; C/A, contraindications; EBRT, external beam radiotherapy; fHemop, fatal hemoptysis; FU, follow-up; LC, local control; n: number of patients; mos, months; NR, not reported; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; OS, overall survival; (P), prospective study; PTx, pneumothorax; (R), retrospective studyl; resp, response; SCC, squamous cell carcinoma; SOB, shortness of breath; sympt, symptom; wk, week; #, fraction.

Radiation and Combined Therapies for Lung Cancer

rates or not. The dosimetry goal of IOBT was to deliver 100 Gy at 5-7 mm along the central axis of the resection margin. IOBT did not reduce local recurrence rates or time to recurrence (HR 1.01; 95% CI 0.51-1.98, P=0.98) nor did it improve 3-year OS rates (71% *vs.* 71%, P=0.97)

In summary, the role of ILBT in curative treatments remains investigational. Its use alone to treat radically endobronchial tumours is not well established and should not be routinely practiced other than in a clinical trial or if the patient is unsuited for surgery/radical chemoradiation due to any reason. ILBT may be considered either as a boost for endoluminal tumours or post-operatively, if they are not candidates for EBRT. These treatments should be delivered within a clinical trial to document outcomes of these patients.

Conclusions

In conclusion, the current evidence mainly supports the use of ILBT in a palliative setting mostly in combination with other treatments modality, such as EBRT (most commonly) and Nd-YAG laser. When delivered with EBRT, it improves rates of lung re-oxygenation and LC without significantly increasing toxicities. Its role in a radical setting remains investigational. Further studies are required to determine the optimal dose fractionation scheme.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- International Agency for Research on Cancer W. World cancer report 2014. In: Stewart BW, Wild CP, eds. 2014:630.
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, et al. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. BMJ 2009;339:b2535.
- Niemoeller OM, Pöllinger B, Niyazi M, et al. Mature results of a randomized trial comparing two fractionation schedules of high dose rate endoluminal brachytherapy for the treatment of endobronchial tumors. Radiat Oncol

2013;8:8.

- Langendijk H, de Jong J, Tjwa M, et al. External irradiation versus external irradiation plus endobronchial brachytherapy in inoperable non-small cell lung cancer: a prospective randomized study. Radiother Oncol 2001;58:257-268.
- Chella A, Ambrogi MC, Ribechini A, et al. Combined Nd-YAG laser/HDR brachytherapy versus Nd-YAG laser only in malignant central airway involvement: a prospective randomized study. Lung Cancer 2000;27:169-175.
- Stout R, Barber P, Burt P, et al. Clinical and quality of life outcomes in the first United Kingdom randomized trial of endobronchial brachytherapy (intraluminal radiotherapy) vs. external beam radiotherapy in the palliative treatment of inoperable non-small cell lung cancer. Radiother Oncol 2000;56:323-327.
- Huber RM, Fischer R, Hautmann H, et al. Does additional brachytherapy improve the effect of external irradiation? A prospective, randomized study in central lung tumors. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1997;38:533-540.
- Huber RM, Fischer R, Hautmann H, et al. Palliative endobronchial brachytherapy for central lung tumors. A prospective, randomized comparison of two fractionation schedules. Chest 1995;107:463-470.
- Ornadel D, Duchesne G, Wall P, et al. Defining the roles of high dose rate endobronchial brachytherapy and laser resection for recurrent bronchial malignancy. Lung Cancer 1997;16:203-213.
- Muto P, Ravo V, Panelli G, et al. High-dose rate brachytherapy of bronchial cancer: treatment optimization using three schemes of therapy. Oncologist 2000;5:209-214.
- Skowronek J, Kubaszewska M, Kanikowski M, et al. HDR endobronchial brachytherapy (HDRBT) in the management of advanced lung cancer--comparison of two different dose schedules. Radiother Oncol 2009;93:436-440.
- Speiser BL, Spratling L. Remote afterloading brachytherapy for the local control of endobronchial carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1993;25:579-587.
- Freitag L, Ernst A, Thomas M, et al. Sequential photodynamic therapy (PDT) and high dose brachytherapy for endobronchial tumour control in patients with limited bronchogenic carcinoma. Thorax 2004;59:790-793.
- 14. Goldberg M, Timotin E, Farrell T, et al. A prospective analysis of high-dose-rate endobronchial brachytherapy in the palliation of obstructive symptoms in lung cancer patients: A single-institution experience. Brachytherapy

2015. [Epub ahead of print].

- de Aquino Gorayeb MM, Gregorio MG, et al. High-doserate brachytherapy in symptom palliation due to malignant endobronchial obstruction: a quantitative assessment. Brachytherapy 2013;12:471-478.
- Escobar-Sacristán JA, Granda-Orive JI, Gutiérrez Jiménez T, et al. Endobronchial brachytherapy in the treatment of malignant lung tumours. Eur Respir J 2004;24:348-352.
- Ofiara L, Roman T, Schwartzman K, et al. Local determinants of response to endobronchial high-dose rate brachytherapy in bronchogenic carcinoma. Chest 1997;112:946-953.
- Hernandez P, Gursahaney A, Roman T, et al. High dose rate brachytherapy for the local control of endobronchial carcinoma following external irradiation. Thorax 1996;51:354-358.
- Trédaniel J, Hennequin C, Zalcman G, et al. Prolonged survival after high-dose rate endobronchial radiation for malignant airway obstruction. Chest 1994;105:767-772.
- Goldman JM, Bulman AS, Rathmell AJ, et al. Physiological effect of endobronchial radiotherapy in patients with major airway occlusion by carcinoma. Thorax 1993;48:110-114.
- Bedwinek J, Petty A, Bruton C, et al. The use of high dose rate endobronchial brachytherapy to palliate symptomatic endobronchial recurrence of previously irradiated bronchogenic carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1992;22:23-30.
- 22. Gauwitz M, Ellerbroek N, Komaki R, et al. High dose endobronchial irradiation in recurrent bronchogenic carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1992;23:397-400.
- Mehta M, Petereit D, Chosy L, et al. Sequential comparison of low dose rate and hyperfractionated high dose rate endobronchial radiation for malignant airway occlusion. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1992;23:133-139.
- Sutedja G, Baris G, Schaake-Koning C, et al. High dose rate brachytherapy in patients with local recurrences after radiotherapy of non-small cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1992;24:551-553.
- 25. Burt PA, O'Driscoll BR, Notley HM, et al. Intraluminal irradiation for the palliation of lung cancer with the high dose rate micro-Selectron. Thorax 1990;45:765-768.
- Rochet N, Hauswald H, Stoiber EM, et al. Primary radiotherapy with endobronchial high-dose-rate brachytherapy boost for inoperable lung cancer: long-term results. Tumori 2013;99:183-190.
- Chan MD, Dupuy DE, Mayo-Smith WW, et al. Combined radiofrequency ablation and high-dose rate brachytherapy for early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer.

Brachytherapy 2011;10:253-259.

- Zaric B, Perin B, Jovelic A, et al. Clinical risk factors for early complications after high-dose-rate endobronchial brachytherapy in the palliative treatment of lung cancer. Clin Lung Cancer 2010;11:182-186.
- 29. Dagnault A, Ebacher A, Vigneault E, et al. Retrospective study of 81 patients treated with brachytherapy for endobronchial primary tumor or metastasis. Brachytherapy 2010;9:243-247.
- Fortunato M, Feijo S, Almeida T, et al. Endoluminal high dose rate brachytherapy in the treatment of primary and recurrent bronchogenic tree malignancies. Rev Port Pneumol 2009;15:151-164.
- Ozkok S, Karakoyun-Celik O, Goksel T, et al. High dose rate endobronchial brachytherapy in the management of lung cancer: response and toxicity evaluation in 158 patients. Lung Cancer 2008;62:326-333.
- 32. Kubaszewska M, Skowronek J, Chichel A, et al. The use of high dose rate endobronchial brachytherapy to palliate symptomatic recurrence of previously irriadiated lung cancer. Neoplasma 2008;55:239-245.
- Zorlu AF, Selek U, Emri S, et al. Second line palliative endobronchial radiotherapy with HDR Ir 192 in recurrent lung carcinoma. Yonsei Med J 2008;49:620-624.
- Mallick I, Sharma SC, Behera D. Endobronchial brachytherapy for symptom palliation in non-small cell lung cancer--analysis of symptom response, endoscopic improvement and quality of life. Lung Cancer 2007;55:313-318.
- 35. Allison R, Sibata C, Sarma K, et al. High-dose-rate brachytherapy in combination with stenting offers a rapid and statistically significant improvement in quality of life for patients with endobronchial recurrence. Cancer J 2004;10:368-373.
- 36. Magné N, Porsin B, Marcy PY, et al. Reappraisal of the role of endobronchial brachytherapy in the management of lung cancer: ten years' experience at the centre Antoine-Lacassagne. Cancer Radiother 2003;7:160-165.
- 37. Gejerman G, Mullokandov EA, Bagiella E, et al. Endobronchial brachytherapy and external-beam radiotherapy in patients with endobronchial obstruction and extrabronchial extension. Brachytherapy 2002;1:204-210.
- Kelly JF, Delclos ME, Morice RC, et al. High-doserate endobronchial brachytherapy effectively palliates symptoms due to airway tumors: the 10-year M. D. Anderson cancer center experience. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2000;48:697-702.

Nguyen and Sur. Role of brachytherapy in lung cancer

- Hennequin C, Tredaniel J, Chevret S, et al. Predictive factors for late toxicity after endobronchial brachytherapy: a multivariate analysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1998;42:21-27.
- 40. Taulelle M, Chauvet B, Vincent P, et al. High dose rate endobronchial brachytherapy: results and complications in 189 patients. Eur Respir J 1998;11:162-168.
- Delclos ME, Komaki R, Morice RC, et al. Endobronchial brachytherapy with high-dose-rate remote afterloading for recurrent endobronchial lesions. Radiology 1996;201:279-282.
- 42. Macha HN, Wahlers B, Reichle C, et al. Endobronchial radiation therapy for obstructing malignancies: ten years' experience with iridium-192 high-dose radiation brachytherapy afterloading technique in 365 patients. Lung 1995;173:271-280.
- Gollins SW, Burt PA, Barber PV, et al. High dose rate intraluminal radiotherapy for carcinoma of the bronchus: outcome of treatment of 406 patients. Radiother Oncol 1994;33:31-40.
- 44. Chang LF, Horvath J, Peyton W, et al. High dose rate afterloading intraluminal brachytherapy in malignant airway obstruction of lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1994;28:589-596.

Cite this article as: Nguyen NT, Sur RK. Brachytherapy in lung cancer: a review. Transl Cancer Res 2015;4(4):381-396. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-676X.2015.08.08

- 45. Pérol M, Caliandro R, Pommier P, et al. Curative irradiation of limited endobronchial carcinomas with highdose rate brachytherapy. Results of a pilot study. Chest 1997;111:1417-1423.
- 46. Sutedja T, Baris G, Zoetmulder F, et al. High dose rate brachytherapy improves resectability in squamous cell lung cancer. Chest 1992;102:308-309.
- Anacak Y, Mogulkoc N, Ozkok S, et al. High dose rate endobronchial brachytherapy in combination with external beam radiotherapy for stage III non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2001;34:253-259.
- 48. Kawamura H, Ebara T, Katoh H, et al. Long-term results of curative intraluminal high dose rate brachytherapy for endobronchial carcinoma. Radiat Oncol 2012;7:112.
- Rowe BP, Boffa DJ, Wilson LD, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for central lung tumors. J Thorac Oncol 2012;7:1394-1399.
- 50. Fernando HC, Landreneau RJ, Mandrekar SJ, et al. Impact of brachytherapy on local recurrence rates after sublobar resection: results from ACOSOG Z4032 (Alliance), a phase III randomized trial for high-risk operable nonsmall-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2014;32:2456-2462.

46

Advances in radiotherapy techniques and delivery for non-small cell lung cancer: benefits of intensity-modulated radiation therapy, proton therapy, and stereotactic body radiation therapy

Tejan P. Diwanji¹, Pranshu Mohindra², Melissa Vyfhuis¹, James W. Snider III¹, Chaitanya Kalavagunta¹, Sina Mossahebi¹, Jen Yu¹, Steven Feigenberg², Shahed N. Badiyan²

¹Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Maryland Medical Center, Baltimore, Maryland 21201, USA; ²University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, Maryland, 21201, USA

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: S Feigenberg, SN Badiyan, P Mohindra, TP Diwanji; (II) Administrative support: None; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: None; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: All Authors; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: All Authors; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Shahed N. Badiyan, MD. 22 South Greene Street, Baltimore, Maryland 21201, USA. Email: sbadiyan1@umm.edu.

Abstract: The 21st century has seen several paradigm shifts in the treatment of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) in early-stage inoperable disease, definitive locally advanced disease, and the postoperative setting. A key driver in improvement of local disease control has been the significant evolution of radiation therapy techniques in the last three decades, allowing for delivery of definitive radiation doses while limiting exposure of normal tissues. For patients with locally-advanced NSCLC, the advent of volumetric imaging techniques has allowed a shift from 2-dimensional approaches to 3-dimensional conformal radiation therapy (3DCRT). The next generation of 3DCRT, intensity-modulated radiation therapy and volumetric-modulated arc therapy (VMAT), have enabled even more conformal radiation delivery. Clinical evidence has shown that this can improve the quality of life for patients undergoing definitive management of lung cancer. In the earlystage setting, conventional fractionation led to poor outcomes. Evaluation of altered dose fractionation with the previously noted technology advances led to advent of stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT). This technique has dramatically improved local control and expanded treatment options for inoperable, earlystage patients. The recent development of proton therapy has opened new avenues for improving conformity and the therapeutic ratio. Evolution of newer proton therapy techniques, such as pencil-beam scanning (PBS), could improve tolerability and possibly allow reexamination of dose escalation. These new progresses, along with significant advances in systemic therapies, have improved survival for lung cancer patients across the spectrum of non-metastatic disease. They have also brought to light new challenges and avenues for further research and improvement.

Keywords: Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC); stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT); proton therapy; intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT)

Submitted Nov 05, 2016. Accepted for publication Mar 17, 2017. doi: 10.21037/tlcr.2017.04.04 **View this article at:** http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/tlcr.2017.04.04

Introduction

The 21st century has seen several paradigm shifts in the treatment of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) in early-stage inoperable disease, definitive locally advanced disease, and the postoperative setting. Patients are increasingly being treated with curative intent rather than palliation. Survival has improved in advanced stages with more aggressive approaches involving combinations of chemotherapy and thoracic radiotherapy (RT) (1). Several chemotherapy agents developed during the 1990s

demonstrated enhanced activity. In addition, the birth of immunotherapy and targeted therapy has revolutionized the treatment of advanced lung cancer. Improved survival rates for inoperable patients with stage III NSCLC have been realized by using "conventional" radiation techniques (2-5) involving the standard dose of 60 Gy delivered over 6 weeks. This dose of radiation was found to be most efficacious in dose-escalation trials in the 1970s and did not change significantly for 20 years. Initial radiation therapy approaches utilized 2-dimensional (2D) imaging for the design of treatment fields. The inherent problems in visualization of tumor and nodal disease on a 2D radiograph necessitated larger radiation fields to cover uncertainty and minimize marginal failures. The tradeoff with these larger fields was an increase in toxicity, which limited use of higher radiation doses.

Local tumor control remained suboptimal in patients treated with conventional RT (even with the addition of chemotherapy) which resulted in renewed interest in strategies to improve local treatment (5). A key driver in the improvement of local control has been the significant evolution in radiation techniques in the last three decades, allowing delivery of more effective radiation doses while limiting doses to normal tissues. With the advent of imageguided radiation therapy (IGRT), techniques have moved from 2D approaches to 3-dimensional conformal RT (3DCRT). The next generation of 3DCRT, intensitymodulated RT (IMRT) and volumetric-modulated arc therapy (VMAT), have enabled even more conformal radiation delivery. Evaluation of altered dose fractionation with these technology advances led to the development of stereotactic body RT (SBRT) for early-stage lung cancer. The recent advent of pencil-beam scanning (PBS) proton therapy has opened new avenues for improving conformity and the therapeutic ratio. SBRT and PBS techniques have placed significant emphasis on motion management, which continues to be among the biggest technical challenges in the use of advanced radiation modalities in lung cancer. Novel monitoring and mitigation strategies have provided the possibility of reducing morbidity/ mortality using the standard dose, as well as the possibility of safely escalating the dose to improve oncologic outcomes.

This article reviews the technical advances in RT, their clinical impact, and the associated possibilities for future research in NSCLC. We will focus on progression from 3DCRT to IMRT/VMAT in definitive management of advanced disease, the utility of SBRT in early-stage

Diwanji et al. Advances in RT techniques and delivery for NSCLC

inoperable disease, and the advent of proton therapy and its role in early- and late-stage disease.

Technical comparison: 3DCRT and IMRT

3DCRT and challenges

Conventional RT for lung cancer, developed in the 1970s before adoption of computed tomography (CT) for treatment planning, was supplanted by 3DCRT, which uses 3D patient-specific geometry in treatment planning. Despite this progression from conventional RT, limited beam arrangements and uniform dose in each beam in 3DCRT can lead to high doses to organs at risk (OARs) (i.e., normal lungs, heart, spinal cord, and esophagus) because of the simple and relatively large fields (6,7). Several pioneers of the early 3DCRT era published predictors of complications (8-14). Graham et al. from Washington University in 1999 demonstrated a correlation between the volume of lung receiving 20 Gy and rates of pneumonitis that remains in use today (8). This analysis demonstrated an 8% rate of grade 3 pneumonitis in patients whose lung volume receiving greater than 20 Gy (V20) was between 22-31%, as compared to 23% for patients whose V20 was >40%. Furthermore, no patients with V20 <32% had grade 5 toxicity. Wang et al. performed a retrospective investigation in 223 NSCLC patients treated with concurrent chemotherapy and 3DCRT and found the incidence of grade 3 or higher pneumonitis for patients with V20 >28% was 37% compared to 4% in patients with V20 \leq 28% (14). This high risk of complications translated to poor outcomes from increased morbidity and mortality in patients whose disease was controlled. A significant risk of local failures, suggesting a possible utility to dose escalation, was also noted; however, the already high rates of toxicity meant that newer techniques would be required that could change the therapeutic ratio. For these reasons, considerable interest focused on developing and applying treatment planning and delivery techniques that could improve dose conformality (e.g., IMRT).

IMRT is an increasingly common method of lung cancer treatment for both early-stage and locally advanced NSCLC. IMRT treatment plans use advanced technology to modify the intensity of each photon beam via dose-rate alterations and field modulation with multileaf collimators (MLCs). The two main types of IMRT delivery are static and dynamic (or VMAT). Although VMAT has treatment time advantages over static IMRT delivery, no evidence



Figure 1 Improved conformity of the high-dose region to the target volume and improved sparing of organs at risk with intensitymodulated radiation therapy compared to 3-dimensional conformal radiation therapy. Gross tumor volume including nodal disease is depicted by the red/orange contour. Spinal cord is depicted by the green contour. Esophagus is depicted by the yellow contour. The relative isodose is depicted in colorwash as per the color scale in the picture.

indicates definitive superiority of one technique over the other (15-18). Regardless of IMRT technique, treatment plans are usually inversely optimized by a treatment planning system and generate conformal dose distributions with sharper dose falloff around treatment structures, thereby theoretically reducing collateral dose to normal tissue and resulting morbidity associated with radiation dose to OARs (*Figure 1*: esophagus and spinal cord) (13,19-21).

To test the hypothesis of reduced OAR dose with IMRT, several studies have compared the dosimetry of 3DCRT and IMRT in treating NSCLC (22-25). Grills et al. showed that IMRT can reduce the lung V20 by 15% and esophagus V50 by 40% in node-positive patients (23). Christian et al. evaluated five IMRT plans using three, five, seven, and nine equally spaced coplanar beams and one plan with non-coplanar beams and compared them to six-field, inversely planned, 3DCRT plans for 10 patients (26). Their results demonstrated that the ratio of the percentage of the planning target volume (PTV) covered by the 90% isodose line to the percentage of lung volume receiving 20 Gy (PTV 90/V20) was significantly better in all IMRT plans, except those with three fields, when compared with equivalent 3DCRT plans. Regarding the benefit of an increase in the number of beams in IMRT plans for NSCLC, they showed an increase in PTV90/V20 ratio with the increase in the number of equally spaced coplanar beams. They found that nine beams provided the optimal solution in six of the 10 cases; however, they cautioned that increasing setup times, as well as the risk of increased systematic and random errors, may mitigate the marginal increase in benefit (26). More importantly, they also noted that IMRT plans with <5 beams conferred no notable benefit "compared with beam-angle optimized 3DCRT plans" (26).

Numerous techniques have been developed recently that can leverage the advantages of IMRT with the dynamic motion of MLCs and simultaneous motion of the X-ray source. Intensity-modulated arc therapy (IMAT) is an alternative to tomotherapy proposed by Yu that delivers the radiation dose through single or multiple arcs along with MLC-based modulation to conform the beam to the target and to block critical structures (27). VMAT, as developed by Otto, is a single-arc form of IMAT that also uses a variable dose rate to modulate radiation dose delivery (28).

Motion management and mitigation

These advanced techniques, including VMAT and IMRT, allow delivery of more complex plans while simultaneously decreasing treatment times. In the treatment of NSCLC, however, they heighten concerns about the effects of motion interplay on IMRT delivery. Unlike 3DCRT plans that encompass the entire target through each beam, IMRT plans may block certain regions of the target from certain beams or arc angles (29). These concerns have led to the development of a variety of motion management and mitigation techniques. Breath-hold and abdominal compression are two common methods to reduce tumor motion and, thereby, the average dose to normal lung tissue (30,31). Other management strategies include acquiring 4-dimensional CT (4DCT) to identify tumor motion during breathing cycles and to allow a better estimation of dose delivery to tumors and normal structures (32-37). All of these methods have shown significantly reduced lung V20 (31,38). Finally, significant research exists on beam gating and tumor tracking (39-42). However, inherent

irregularities in patient breathing patterns and the intrinsic delay in dose delivery (i.e., MLC and gantry motion) can lead to increased treatment times and necessitate development of class solutions that are predictive in nature (43-45). Techniques to minimize breathing irregularity including biofeedback and active breathing control may offer additional benefits in improving inter- and intrafraction reproducibility but additional work to improve reproducibility is needed (46-48). Ongoing research may elucidate techniques that can effectively reduce normal tissue dose without compromising treatment efficiency.

Impact of heterogeneity correction

The increasing complexity of treatment plans results in increasing dependency on accurate dose modeling. One significant advance on this front has been determining the impact of heterogeneous tissue density on dose delivery. Differences in dose calculations with and without heterogeneity corrections for IMRT and SBRT treatments in NSCLC patients have been investigated in several studies that have uniformly demonstrated the necessity for advanced algorithms with heterogeneity corrections to achieve accurate dose calculations (49-54). Vanderstraeten et al. compared full Monte Carlo calculations with two different convolution/superposition algorithms and one pencilbeam algorithm for 10 lung cancer patients receiving IMRT (55). They found a better agreement between convolution/superposition and Monte Carlo methods for dose calculation within the target structures. They concluded that none of the dose calculation algorithms could provide results within 5% of the Monte Carlo calculations, and therefore it is imperative to be aware of the impact of the dose calculation algorithm on plan evaluation. Davidson et al. determined the accuracy of heterogeneity on dose calculations from two IMRT treatment planning systems against thermoluminescent detectors and radiochromic film measurements positioned in a lung phantom (56). They found that the collapsed cone convolution/superposition dose calculation algorithm provided clinically acceptable results within ±5% of the measurements. They also demonstrated that the pencilbeam algorithm as tested may overestimate the dose to the target. Although Monte Carlo simulations continue to serve as the gold standard for dose calculations, heterogeneity corrections have dramatically improved the accuracy of more efficient but less precise algorithms needed to successfully implement inverse planning IMRT.

Clinical evidence: 3DCRT and IMRT

Although the initial rationales for IMRT and VMAT were largely their dosimetric advantages, numerous retrospective studies have attempted to isolate the clinical benefits of IMRT over conventional external-beam radiation. Some early reports on the benefits of intensity modulation in lung cancer treatment came from the MD Anderson Cancer Center (MDACC) (13,21). Yom et al. reviewed rates of toxicity, particularly radiation pneumonitis, in 68 patients with advanced NSCLC treated with concurrent chemotherapy and IMRT from 2002 to 2005 (21). They found that patients treated with IMRT had dramatic and statistically significant decreases in the rate of grade 3 radiation pneumonitis at 1 year compared to 3DCRT patients (8% and 32%, respectively). Liao et al. then evaluated an expanded cohort of 496 patients treated between 1999 and 2006, with 318 receiving 3DCRT and 91 receiving 4DCT/IMRT. Their report demonstrated a statistically significant improvement in overall survival (OS), with a hazard ratio of 0.64 (95% CI, 0.41-0.98) when treated with IMRT (13).

The advent of 3DCRT and consequent improvements in toxicity profiles also initiated a series of phase I and II dose-escalation trials that occurred in parallel with development of IMRT. Several authors showed that with the same dose constraints, up to 35% greater RT doses could be given to the target with IMRT than 3DCRT, with the aim of improving local control (23,25,57). Armed with this favorable dosimetric data on toxicity and significant improvements already demonstrated with 3DCRT, several institutions initiated dose-escalation trials in the 1990s and 2000s.

The Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) conducted a phase I/II study of dose escalation without concurrent chemotherapy (58) in 177 patients treated using 3DCRT to doses ranging from 70.9 to 90.3 Gy. The results demonstrated that it was safe to escalate radiation dose to 83.8 Gy with a lung V20 of <25% and to 77.4 Gy if the planned lung V20 was between 25% and 36%. Equally important, 90.3 Gy, the highest dose tested, was determined to be too toxic on the basis of two grade 5 toxicities in that population. The safety of dose escalation in the absence of concurrent chemotherapy was also verified by University of Michigan researchers, who escalated the radiation dose from 63 to 103 Gy in 2.1-Gy fractions (59). Most patients (81%) did not receive neoadjuvant chemotherapy. The authors demonstrated improved local control and OS with

higher doses of radiation when patients were divided into three treatment groups (63–69, 74–84, and 92–103 Gy).

The cited studies demonstrated the potential safety and efficacy of dose escalation in lung cancer without concurrent chemotherapy; in the same period, emerging data also indicated a benefit for concurrent chemotherapy. Dose escalation in the setting of concurrent chemotherapy was believed by some to be challenging because of increased risks of cardiopulmonary and esophageal toxicity and the possibility that synergistic effects on tumors could be overshadowed by increased rates of adverse effects. Three phase I/II trials with concurrent chemotherapy were undertaken by RTOG, the University of North Carolina (UNC), and the North Central Cancer Treatment Group (NCCTG) (60-62). RTOG 0117 was designed as a combined phase I/II trial and enrolled 8 patients in cohort 1 of the phase I portion of the trial (60). These patients were treated to a dose of 75.25 Gy in 35 fractions. Two major pulmonary toxicities (grade 3 and grade 5) occurred, leading to a reduction in dose to 74 Gy in 37 fractions. An additional 9 patients were enrolled in the phase I cohort 2, with only one experiencing dose-limiting toxicity (grade 3 esophagitis). The phase II component enrolled a total of 55 patients in the 74-Gy arm, of whom 53 were evaluable (60). This portion of the study showed a median OS of 21.6 months with a more acceptable $10\% \ge$ grade 3 lung toxicity. Similarly, the NCCTG designed a phase I trial to escalate the RT dose from 70 to 78 Gy and found unacceptably high toxicities (50%; 2 of 4 patients) at a dose of 78 Gy (62). Like the RTOG, they concluded that 74 Gy was a safe and tolerable dose. The UNC phase I trial also demonstrated that 74 Gy was a safe dose with concurrent chemotherapy (61).

On the basis of these trials, RTOG launched a phase III trial (RTOG 0617) to determine the benefit of doseescalated RT utilizing the 74-Gy dose and assessing the benefit of cetuximab (63). The trial was stopped prematurely when results crossed the prespecified boundary for futility. Median OS was 28.7 months in the standard dose (60 Gy) arm and 20.3 months in the dose-escalation arm. Toxicity, particularly severe esophagitis, was more prevalent in the 74 Gy arm (21%) than the 60 Gy arm (7%). Pulmonary toxicity did not differ statistically but marginally favored the standard-dose arm. Despite early termination, this study raised critical questions about dose and toxicity. Of particular importance were questions on rates of completion of prescribed chemoradiation and concerns about volume of disease, adequacy of margins, and heart dose, with associated cardiac morbidity. A recent secondary analysis of this trial further demonstrated that IMRT was associated with lower cardiac doses and pulmonary toxicities (64). The cardiac dose, particularly V40, was further linked with OS on adjusted analysis (64). Notably, this was despite larger PTV, higher PTV/volume of lung ratio, and more stage IIIB disease in patients receiving IMRT (64). Lastly, there was no difference in OS between IMRT and 3DCRT.

Additional secondary analysis on differences in quality of life (QOL) in the standard- and high-dose arms revealed a correlation between baseline QOL and outcomes (65). The authors also demonstrated that, despite the absence of dramatic differences in physician-graded toxicity profiles, patient-reported QOL was meaningfully and statistically significantly lower in the high-dose arm at 3 months. Participants in the RTOG 0617 trial were stratified by receipt of IMRT or 3DCRT. When the QOL of these two groups was compared using the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Lung Cancer Subscale, fewer patients in the IMRT arm experienced a decline (21% and 46%, respectively; P=0.003). Overall IMRT utilization was similar in the 60- and 74-Gy arms (44.1% and 46.0%, respectively). The difference in QOL, however, occurred despite certain imbalances favoring the 3DCRT group over the IMRT group such as lower PTV volumes [409 and 509 cc, respectively (P<0.001)] and fewer stage IIIB patients [31% and 43%, respectively (P=0.04)]. Finally, the lower proportion of decline in QOL was persistent for patients receiving IMRT at 12 months, and treatment modality (IMRT or 3DCRT) remained significant in multivariate logistic regression models.

Future directions

Strong emphasis has been placed on determining the cause of decreased survival in the high-dose arm of the RTOG 0617 trial. This is likely to drive further work in not only identifying dosimetric parameters but also innovations in reliably characterizing and quantifying cardiopulmonary toxicity from RT. One increasingly used method is cardiac magnetic resonance imaging, which offers the possibility of evaluating characteristics such as late fibrosis and tissue perfusion. These metrics may help increase sensitivity for detection of radiation-associated cardiac complications beyond frank ischemic changes. Motion management and mitigation will also play a significant role in decreasing dose to surrounding uninvolved lung, and predictive strategies will be integral to minimizing target volumes. Functional

Diwanji et al. Advances in RT techniques and delivery for NSCLC

lung imaging may help leverage the inherent heterogeneity of lung function to minimize consequences from normal tissue irradiation. Parallel research into development of radiation toxicity mitigators is underway and may further improve the therapeutic ratio and potentially allow re-evaluation of dose escalation in the future. The next generation of treatment planning is already being investigated and could help further reduce intermediate dose regions despite the potential downside of a larger lowdose bath. One such modality, 4π , involves the use of a highly non-coplanar planning system that utilizes the entire 4π solid angle space in an attempt to improve high-dose conformality at the expense of increased treatment time (66). Much work remains to be done, but dosimetric studies are increasingly highlighting the advantages of 4π treatment planning techniques (67).

SBRT

Introduction

SBRT or stereotactic ablative RT (SABR) is a technique for delivering a high biologically effective dose (BED; usually BED >100 Gy₁₀ in contrast to a BED of 72 Gy₁₀ with 60-Gy conventional fractionation) to well-localized early-stage NSCLC lesions. SBRT has developed into an excellent option for patients with early-stage NSCLC, especially in cases deemed medically or surgically inoperable. Stereotactic treatment offers the advantage of higher doses per fraction, decreased overall treatment time, and steep dose gradients. However, uncertainty remains over SBRT's superiority to other modes of treatment, such as surgical resection, which remains the standard of care for stage I disease.

SBRT technique

SBRT can be delivered using a 3DCRT, IMRT, or VMAT approach. Typically for the 3DCRT technique, 8–15 static beams are used to generate conformal dose distributions and steep dose gradients. Six megavolt energies are desired over higher energies because of the sharper penumbra resulting from less lateral electron transport (i.e., secondary electrons are lower energy and travel shorter distances). The individual beams are non-opposed, separated by 20°–30°, and can be coplanar or non-coplanar. Non-coplanar beams have the advantage of increasing the conformality of the

high-dose region but should be used with caution because of inherent shortcomings, including difficulties with portal imaging and associated increase in setup uncertainty, potential for collision and inadequate gantry clearance, possibly longer beam paths, and theoretically longer treatment times.

Beam weighting is adjusted to achieve optimal coverage while minimizing dose to critical structures. The prescription point is also an important consideration for SBRT. In the United States, dose is usually prescribed to between 60% and 90% isodose lines, although the initial Japanese (JCOG 0403) study prescribed to the isocenter (68). Additionally, coverage of the PTV is usually set so that 95% of the PTV is covered by the prescription dose and 99% of the PTV receives at least 90% of the dose. The hot spot is ideally placed in the gross tumor volume (GTV) or should fall within the PTV. To generate rapid falloff, the 50% isodose line can be analyzed to make it conformal around the lesion with few spikes (Figure 2). In order to generate the steep gradient, there is very little margin around the target to account for penumbra. Alternative techniques involve prescribing to lower isodose lines, which can also improve dose falloff (69). The dose prescription for SBRT fractionation varies depending on whether the tumor is peripherally located in the chest $(25-34 \text{ Gy} \times 1 \text{ fraction},$ 18 Gy \times 3 fractions, 12–12.5 Gy \times 4 fractions, or 10–12 Gy \times 5 fractions) or centrally located (10–12 Gy \times 5 fractions). Because of the high doses involved, tumor size is typically limited to <5 cm in diameter, which prevents overinclusion of treated healthy tissue (70-72).

IMRT/VMAT-based SBRT techniques may have advantages compared with 3DCRT in paraspinal patients in whom motion is limited and where dose constraints to esophagus or spinal cord cannot be achieved. IMRT has the advantage of better coverage of irregular-shaped targets. This approach has also been utilized for peripheral tumors to help reduce dose to the ribs/chest wall. VMAT has the advantage of delivering a beam of radiation over a 358° arc with simultaneous movement of the MLC with varying gantry speed and dose rate. This leads to a reduction in treatment time with increased OAR sparing. And while analyses comparing the impact of technique on normal lung dosimetry are limited, initial results are mixed and warrant careful consideration of the low-dose bath (17,73). Using IMRT/VMAT requires attention to positional misses and uncertainty in dose delivery because of the interplay between MLC movement and respiratory tumor



Figure 2 Representative axial and coronal slices demonstrating the dose distribution in a stereotactic body radiation therapy plan. Gross tumor volume including nodal disease is depicted by the red contour. Spinal cord is depicted by the green contour. Esophagus is depicted by the yellow contour. Heart is depicted by the purple contour. The relative isodose is depicted in colorwash as per the color scale in the picture.

motion, as well as dosimetric inaccuracy resulting from tissue heterogeneity and small field sizes. Furthermore, compared with conventionally fractionated therapy, fewer fractions limit the degree of dose-averaging for SBRT regimens. IMRT and VMAT also require significantly more technical resources for planning, quality assurance, and delivery of treatment (74). Lastly, clinical data comparing techniques are limited, and while retrospective data suggest adequate rates of tumor control and toxicity (75), careful consideration of motion mitigation and caution when using modulated beams in tumors with significant (>1 cm) motion are recommended.

The challenges of SBRT treatment planning (i.e., geometric miss, dose heterogeneity, and normal lung dose) are accentuated by the high dose per fraction and low number of fractions. Reliable geometry is of paramount importance in safe and accurate delivery of SBRT, and the regular use of Winston-Lutz tests to check the isocentricity of delivery (<1 mm) and online image guidance to accurately verify tumor and OAR location before and potentially during treatment play significant roles in the reliability of the system (70,76). SBRT dose calculations must also be very precise and, therefore, should include a heterogeneity correction, because lung density can vary up to 0.1× or 0.1 times that of surrounding tissue. This leads to an increased range of photons and secondary electrons that can blur beam edges. Tissue heterogeneity correction depends on beam energy, field size, path length, and lung density and can be calculated accurately using Monte Carlo and superposition/convolution algorithms. The dose calculation grid is frequently set to ≤ 2 mm for acceptable accuracy (within 1%) (77).

Clinical evidence for SBRT

A number of retrospective reports suggest that conventional RT for early-stage NSCLC results in poor rates of local control and OS. For example, retrospective data from Duke University looked at 156 patients with stage I medically inoperable NSCLC who received a median dose of 64 Gy (range, 50-80 Gy) in 1.2-Gy twice-daily or 3-Gy daily fractions (78). At these doses, deaths were attributed to a high rate of local failure (42%), and the researchers observed that patients with improved local control, which correlated to radiation dose received, also had improved 5-year cause-specific survival (CSS) rates. Population data further validated this; a Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results study looked at 4,357 patients with stage I and II NSCLC who did not undergo surgical resection but were treated with conventional RT (79). The researchers concluded that radiation offers a 5-7-month survival benefit but no cure; patients who did and did not receive RT had similar outcomes (5-year OS, 15%). Various literature reviews report 5-year OS to be 30-40% in earlystage NSCLC treated with conventional RT, with doses \geq 65 Gy necessary for long-term control (80-82). These data compared adversely with historical surgical series (83-85). Moreover, despite higher doses of conventional radiation, local failure rates remained high (30-70%) (80) and clinicians started exploring the practicality of radiosurgery in treatment of early-stage NSCLC. The use of SBRT for lung cancer was first published in 1991 from clinical work started in Sweden for 42 tumors in 31 cancer patients (86). Various sites, including lung, were treated using a stereotactic body frame for fixation, and prescribed
doses, ranging from 7.7 to 30 Gy/fraction (mean, 14.2 Gy), were given for 1–4 fractions. This early work demonstrated an excellent local control rate (80%) and, more important, revealed minimal complications, suggesting the safety of such an approach. During this time, early studies were also underway in Japan, and the combination of Swedish and Japanese experience spearheaded exploration of SBRT for early-stage NSCLC (87,88).

A phase I dose escalation study from the University of Indiana was conducted on operable but medically ineligible stage IA and IB patients (tumor size <7 cm) (89). For T1 tumors, the maximum tolerated dose (MTD) was not reached (maximum dose =60 Gy), but for tumors >5 cm, the MTD was 72 Gy in 3 fractions. At the time of publication, only one local failure occurred in doses ≥16 Gy. This work led to RTOG 0236, a phase II trial recruiting resectable but medically inoperable patients whose primary tumor was <5 cm in size and ≥2 cm from the bronchial tree (because of high rates of grade 5 toxicities seen with centrally located tumors) (69). The radiation dose was 60 Gy in 20-Gy fractions without heterogeneity corrections (18 Gy ×3 with corrections), and 3-year local control was 90.6%, with survival at 55.8% (90).

In this setting of numerous trials with no clear consensus on optimal dosing, retrospective data published from Japan looked at 245 stage I patients treated with 18–75 Gy targeted at the isocenter, given in 1–22 fractions (87). The group observed a local failure rate of only 8.1% for a BED₁₀ ≥100 Gy *vs.* 26.4% when the BED₁₀ was <100 Gy. This trend was also seen in survival outcomes, where 3-year OS was 88.4% *vs.* 69.4% with BED₁₀ ≥ or <100 Gy, respectively.

In this setting of dose escalation, numerous subsequent retrospective analyses began to demonstrate improving local control rates and survival. Grills et al. reviewed 124 early-stage NSCLC patients who were not eligible for a lobectomy and underwent either SBRT (n=55) or a wedge resection (n=69) (91). The authors noted better local control with SBRT (recurrence of 4% vs. 20%) and similar CSS in both cohorts (93% vs. 94%) (91). This equivalence was further supported by data from Onishi et al., who retrospectively evaluated operable stage IA and IB patients treated with a mean BED₁₀ of 116 Gy (range, 100-141 Gy) and reported excellent 5-year local control rates of 92%, with OS ranging from 62% to 72%, similar to surgical outcomes (92). A separate group also performed a propensity-matched analysis that compared 64 SABR patients with 64 patients who underwent a video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery lobectomy and determined that postSABR locoregional control rates were superior at 1 and 3 years (96.8% and 93.3% *vs.* 86.9% and 82.6%, respectively) with similar OS (93).

Because of this equivalence in survival and improved local control compared with historical surgical data, the STARS trial out of MDACC and the ROSEL trial from The Netherlands attempted to compare SBRT to surgical lobectomy in a randomized trial. Additionally an American College of Surgeons Oncology Group and RTOG combined trial (ACOSOG Z4099/RTOG1021) was also initiated to compare clinical results of SBRT to sublobar resection. Despite early termination, an exploratory QOL analysis of the 22 enrolled patients on the ROSEL trial suggested a possible advantage to SBRT, particularly in health-related QOL (94). All analyses of these trials, however, are extremely limited due to being underpowered, as all the trials closed early due to poor accrual.

To mitigate this statistical limitation, a pooled analysis of the STARS and ROSEL trials was performed with a combined total of 58 T1–T2 (<4 cm) operable patients (95). Patients were randomized in a 1:1 fashion to surgery or SBRT (54 Gy/3 fractions for peripheral lesions given over 5–8 days vs. 50 Gy/4 fractions or 60 Gy/5 fractions for central lesions). Surprisingly, OS for the SBRT cohort was superior to the surgical cohort, with 3-year OS of 95% in the SBRT cohort vs. 79% with surgery (P<0.05). Toxicity rates were also lower in the SBRT arm than the surgery arm (10% and 44%, respectively, grade 3 or greater toxicities). The surgical arm also had one grade 5 toxicity. These randomized trials, although underpowered, suggest that SBRT may be better tolerated than surgery, with the possibility of improved survival.

Future work

Technological improvements will continue to drive significant innovation in the field of SBRT. To address the above technical challenges in 3DCRT/IMRT/VMAT planning and delivery for SBRT, such as reliable setup, motion management, and accurate target and normal structure delineation, new tools will be needed to improve the therapeutic ratio. Reliable and consistent patient immobilization systems, tumor motion management strategies (such as abdominal compression, breath-hold, respiratory gating, coaching with audiovisual feedback, and intra-fraction tumor-tracking real-time imaging techniques with dynamic beam and/or couch compensation), and improved imaging modalities (such as ¹⁸F-FDG PET for



Figure 3 Proton therapy has improved the low-dose bath to the heart and lungs with relatively unchanged high-dose conformity compared with photon therapy. The relative isodose is depicted in colorwash as per the color scale in the picture.

better identification of GTV) all appear to be potential strategies to improve outcomes and decrease toxicity from SBRT. Further clinical research is needed to directly answer the question about equivalence with surgical management, and, to that end, multiple randomized trials, including STABLE-MATES, SABRTooth, VALOR (Veterans Affairs Lung Cancer Surgery Or Stereotactic Radiotherapy), and POSTILV (A Randomized Phase II Trial In Patients With Operable Stage I Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer: Radical Resection Versus Ablative Stereotactic Radiotherapy-RTOG3502), are planned or underway (96). Additionally, emerging data looking at expanding the cohort of patients eligible for SBRT [e.g., patients with central tumors (97) or tumors >5 cm (98)] are promising; and further clinical data are imminent.

Proton therapy

Introduction

Proton therapy offers a unique pattern of energy deposition, with the majority of dose delivered at the end of range, with virtually no exit dose. This property makes the modality particularly attractive for clinical use in the thorax, where numerous radiosensitive critical structures reside in close proximity to the target (i.e., uninvolved lung, heart, esophagus, spinal cord, major vessels, and chest wall) (*Figure 3*). Dose distributions associated with proton therapy allow the possibility of dose escalation while maintaining current levels of normal tissue exposure. As noted, recent clinical trials suggest that RT can achieve local disease control rates similar to surgical approaches with potentially less toxicity in early-stage NSCLC (90,95). Such results have correlated with significant dose escalation,

in the range of BED >100 Gy₁₀, over doses traditionally achieved with non-stereotactic techniques or in locally advanced disease (88). Results from RTOG 0617, however, have given clinicians pause in attempting to achieve higher doses with traditional 3DCRT or IMRT, considering the worsened outcomes with 74 vs. 60 Gy (63). These outcomes were attributed to, and correlated on multivariate analysis, with increased exposure of normal tissues, such as the heart and esophagus, to significant doses of radiation. These may be areas where, in well-selected patients, proton therapy could offer substantial dosimetric advantages.

Proton therapy technique

Modalities

Proton therapy can now be delivered through several methodologies. The most widely used, passive scattering (PS-PT), employs a single beam that is spread out in the depth dimension by a range-modulator wheel (spread-out Bragg peak) prior to widening in the other dimensions by a scatterer. The lateral edge of the beam is then shaped by an aperture and the distal edge by a compensator. Of note, it is not possible to conform the proximal edge of a PS-PT beam.

On the other hand, the rapidly expanding technique of PBS proton therapy, also known as "spot scanning", employs scanning magnets to deliver discrete spots of proton beams across a 2D rectilinear grid in the vertical and lateral directions. The range is set for each layer by the energy selection system. This approach allows for both improved proximal dose conformality and intensity-modulated proton therapy (IMPT) within the target. By utilizing multifield optimization and a few (usually 2–4) highly heterogeneous fields that sum to the desired improved dose distribution, IMPT has shown dosimetric improvements over IMRT and PS-PT in multiple *in silico* studies (99,100). However, these advantages do not come without some increase in uncertainties and diminution in robustness of plan delivery. These uncertainties are highlighted in lung cancers (101-104). In particular, several studies have demonstrated the heightened sensitivity of IMPT to changes in heterogeneity and motion interplay effects as compared with PS-PT (105-109).

Several methods are available to mitigate these uncertainties: robust beam angle selection utilizing waterequivalent thickness optimization, 4DCT-based robust optimization, layer or volumetric "repainting" delivery, spotsequence delivery optimization, increased fractionation, spot-size modulation, mini-ridge filter utilization, and respiratory gating or breath-hold-based treatment, to name a few (105,110-114). Unfortunately, most of these methods require additional treatment planning software and devices or increase time and logistical burden on planning, quality assurance, and treatment delivery.

Dosimetric studies

Multiple dosimetric planning efforts have revealed the theoretical benefits of proton therapy and especially PBS-PT over 3DCRT and IMRT techniques. For example, planning comparisons in patients with stage I disease demonstrated reductions in mean dose to ipsilateral lung, total lung, heart, esophagus, and spinal cord for proton therapy over 3DCRT (115). Important dosimetric surrogates for pulmonary complications (V5 and V20) were also substantially reduced. Additional work from MDACC and the University of Florida has exhibited the potential for PT to reduce dose to other structures of concern, such as the chest wall in SBRT approaches (116,117).

Similar results were demonstrated in the locally advanced setting. In fact, proton therapy has shown the potential for targeting more comprehensive volumes, including prophylactic treatment of at-risk nodal volumes, with persistently reduced dosimetric markers for complication when compared with photon approaches (117,118). Another approach being evaluated is photon-SBRT with proton mediastinal nodal irradiation (119). These data also encouraged investigators to compare dose-escalated proton planning with 3DCRT and IMRT in both earlyand late-stage disease (120,121). In stage I tumors, dose was escalated from 66 Gy to 87.5 CGE without increases in lung V5, V10, or V20 (121). Similarly, in stage III tumors, 74 CGE was achieved versus 63 Gy with 3DCRT, again without worsening of lung dosimetric constraints (121). Spinal cord, heart, esophageal, and integral doses were also all improved with proton therapy. IMPT has shown a particular ability to reduce projected complication rates in early-stage, late-stage, and postoperative patients with lung cancer. As a result, dosimetric studies for dose escalation with IMPT have shown great promise over comparative plans with 3DCRT, IMRT, and PS-PT (99,100,118,122).

When compared with photon techniques, proton therapy in general substantially reduces moderate-tolow-dose exposure of normal lung and nearby critical tissues when targeting lung cancers. Conformality of high-dose regions, however, is compromised due to the increased uncertainty that results from a combination of highly heterogeneous beam paths in the thorax and the finite range of the proton beams. Mitigation of these uncertainties necessitates motion-robust planning approaches that inherently degrade the high-dose conformality. However, the resulting improvements in dosimetric surrogates for complication from photon experiences would seem to allow for further target dose escalation without increasing toxicity.

Clinical outcomes

Numerous clinical trials have been initiated to investigate proton therapy in lung cancer patients; however, initial results have been mixed. A phase I trial performed at MDACC demonstrated in 25 patients the potential for a moderately hypofractionated course (15 fractions of 3-4 Gy/fraction) of proton therapy without concurrent chemotherapy (biologic agents allowed) (123). Two highgrade toxicities occurred, including a tracheoesophageal fistula in a patient who also received bevacizumab, as well as a case of radiation pneumonitis. A Japanese study escalated dose in stage IA and IB patients to 70-94 CGE (3.5-4.9 CGE/fraction) in 37 patients (124). The authors demonstrated excellent local control and low rates of toxicity. Specifically, they achieved 80% local control and 84% survival at 2 years, with only 6 patients experiencing grade 2 and 3 (3 patients each) pulmonary toxicities. Of these 6, 5 patients had stage IB disease, highlighting the significance of the dose-volume effect. Work at Loma Linda University utilizing PS-PT has shown the efficacy and safety of dose escalation from 50 to 70 CGE in 10 fractions in early-stage lung cancers (125,126). They demonstrated

a 4-year OS rate of 51%, and none of the 111 patients required steroid treatment for pneumonitis (125). Further evidence, primarily out of Japan, has strengthened the case for comparable efficacy of proton therapy and photon SBRT, although some high-grade toxicities have been encountered at relatively acceptable rates (125,127,128).

In locally advanced disease, a recent National Cancer Database analysis suggested a possible improvement in OS for stage II and III patients receiving proton therapy compared with photon therapies, however this difference was not significant on propensity-matched analysis (129). Early clinical trials have also been relatively positive. Following the previously cited study at MDACC, Chang et al. published the results of a phase II effort investigating concurrent chemoradiotherapy utilizing proton therapy in unresectable stage III NSCLC (130). This study employed a total dose of 74 CGE, similar to the high-dose arm in RTOG 0617 that demonstrated increased complications and worsened survival with photons. In contrast, Chang et al. encountered no grade 4 or 5 toxicities. Grade 3 toxicities were limited to 5 patients with dermatitis, 5 with esophagitis, and 1 with pneumonitis out of total 44 patients enrolled. OS and progression-free survival were 86% and 63%, respectively, at 1 year, with only 4 (9.1%) local-only recurrences. Median survival was 29.4 months. A similar study from the University of Florida closed early after enrolling 14 patients but employed 74 to 80 CGE in conventional fractionation in patients with stage III disease (131). Median OS and progression-free survival were 33 and 14 months, respectively, with no acute grade 3 toxicities and only two patients experiencing late grade 3 toxicities (one gastrointestinal, one pulmonary). Another 15-patient effort from the University of Tsukuba demonstrated similar results at the 74-CGE mark (132).

Multiple phase II and III clinical trials have been initiated to compare proton results to those with photons or to further test dose escalation, especially in the setting of concurrent chemotherapy. Recently, Chang *et al.* nicely summarized trials underway or recently completed (133). The only randomized data to date were presented at the 2016 meeting of the American Society for Clinical Oncology. Disappointingly, this MDACC/Massachusetts General Hospital trial failed to demonstrate a reduction in toxicity with PS-PT versus IMRT, despite relatively similar outcomes (134). It is notable that target volumes were larger in the proton therapy group (P=0.071) and that higher doses were generally prescribed in the proton cohort with higher resultant lung volumes receiving 30 and 80 Gy.

Future directions

Proton therapy, mainly through PS-PT experiences, has demonstrated largely acceptable toxicity rates with similarto-improved outcomes in several small institutional trials. With rapidly expanding availability, the shift toward PBS-PT techniques, improvements in gating/breath-hold approaches, and the potential for daily volumetric image guidance, great promise remains for the application of proton therapy in early, locally advanced, and recurrent lung cancers. Further evidence and clinical investigation are anticipated.

Conclusions

Technological advances in RT, starting with volumetric imaging, have revolutionized the paradigm for lung cancer treatment. These improvements have allowed development of a variety of techniques that can enhance the therapeutic ratio. Application of these techniques has allowed physicians to reduce toxicity by sparing normal tissue in certain cases and to dose escalate the BED to improve tumor control in others. Clinical validation of these advantages has been demonstrated in the form of IMRT and SBRT, respectively. Emerging technologies, such as highly non-coplanar planning (4π) and PBS, continue to push the boundaries of the therapeutic ratio. And although they have raised new challenges regarding precision of delivery, dosimetric comparisons have been promising and clinical data are eagerly awaited. Finally, these technological advances in radiation therapy are paving the way to safely and effectively expand our multimodality treatment arsenal to integrate burgeoning systemic therapies, including immunotherapy.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Nancy Knight, PhD, for editorial review of the manuscript and Sarah Snider, JD, for assistance with preparation of the figures.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

1. Ettinger DS, Wood DE, Akerley W, et al. NCCN

Diwanji et al. Advances in RT techniques and delivery for NSCLC

Guidelines Insights: Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer, Version 4.2016. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2016;14:255-264.

- Perez CA, Pajak TF, Rubin P, et al. Long-term observations of the patterns of failure in patients with unresectable non-oat cell carcinoma of the lung treated with definitive radiotherapy. Report by the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group. Cancer 1987;59:1874-1881.
- Perez CA, Stanley K, Rubin P, et al. A prospective randomized study of various irradiation doses and fractionation schedules in the treatment of inoperable non-oat-cell carcinoma of the lung. Preliminary report by the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group. Cancer 1980;45:2744-2753.
- Schaake-Koning C, van den Bogaert W, Dalesio O, et al. Effects of concomitant cisplatin and radiotherapy on inoperable non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 1992;326:524-530.
- Dillman RO, Seagren SL, Propert KJ, et al. A randomized trial of induction chemotherapy plus high-dose radiation versus radiation alone in stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 1990;323:940-945.
- Rengan R, Rosenzweig KE, Venkatraman E, et al. Improved local control with higher doses of radiation in large-volume stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2004;60:741-747.
- Wang L, Correa CR, Zhao L, et al. The effect of radiation dose and chemotherapy on overall survival in 237 patients with Stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2009;73:1383-1390.
- Graham MV, Purdy JA, Emami B, et al. Clinical dosevolume histogram analysis for pneumonitis after 3D treatment for non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1999;45:323-329.
- Hernando ML, Marks LB, Bentel GC, et al. Radiationinduced pulmonary toxicity: a dose-volume histogram analysis in 201 patients with lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2001;51:650-659.
- Jin H, Tucker SL, Liu HH, et al. Dose-volume thresholds and smoking status for the risk of treatment-related pneumonitis in inoperable non-small cell lung cancer treated with definitive radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol 2009;91:427-432.
- Kim TH, Cho KH, Pyo HR, et al. Dose-volumetric parameters for predicting severe radiation pneumonitis after three-dimensional conformal radiation therapy for lung cancer. Radiology 2005;235:208-215.
- 12. Kong FM, Hayman JA, Griffith KA, et al. Final toxicity results of a radiation-dose escalation study in patients

with non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC): predictors for radiation pneumonitis and fibrosis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006;65:1075-1086.

- Liao ZX, Komaki RR, Thames HD Jr, et al. Influence of technologic advances on outcomes in patients with unresectable, locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer receiving concomitant chemoradiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;76:775-781.
- 14. Wang S, Liao Z, Wei X, et al. Analysis of clinical and dosimetric factors associated with treatment-related pneumonitis (TRP) in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) treated with concurrent chemotherapy and three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy (3D-CRT). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006;66:1399-1407.
- Bertelsen A, Hansen O, Brink C. Does VMAT for treatment of NSCLC patients increase the risk of pneumonitis compared to IMRT? - a planning study. Acta Oncol 2012;51:752-758.
- Chan OS, Lee MC, Hung AW, et al. The superiority of hybrid-volumetric arc therapy (VMAT) technique over double arcs VMAT and 3D-conformal technique in the treatment of locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer--a planning study. Radiother Oncol 2011;101:298-302.
- Holt A, van Vliet-Vroegindeweij C, Mans A, et al. Volumetric-modulated arc therapy for stereotactic body radiotherapy of lung tumors: a comparison with intensitymodulated radiotherapy techniques. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;81:1560-1567.
- Jiang SB, Pope C, Al Jarrah KM, et al. An experimental investigation on intra-fractional organ motion effects in lung IMRT treatments. Phys Med Biol 2003;48:1773-1784.
- Galvin JM, Ezzell G, Eisbrauch A, et al. Implementing IMRT in clinical practice: a joint document of the American Society for Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology and the American Association of Physicists in Medicine. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2004;58:1616-1634.
- 20. Veldeman L, Madani I, Hulstaert F, et al. Evidence behind use of intensity-modulated radiotherapy: a systematic review of comparative clinical studies. Lancet Oncol 2008;9:367-375.
- Yom SS, Liao Z, Liu HH, et al. Initial evaluation of treatment-related pneumonitis in advanced-stage nonsmall-cell lung cancer patients treated with concurrent chemotherapy and intensity-modulated radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2007;68:94-102.
- 22. Chapet O, Khodri M, Jalade P, et al. Potential benefits of using non coplanar field and intensity modulated radiation therapy to preserve the heart in irradiation of lung

58

tumors in the middle and lower lobes. Radiother Oncol 2006;80:333-340.

- 23. Grills IS, Yan D, Martinez AA, et al. Potential for reduced toxicity and dose escalation in the treatment of inoperable non-small-cell lung cancer: a comparison of intensitymodulated radiation therapy (IMRT), 3D conformal radiation, and elective nodal irradiation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2003;57:875-890.
- Murshed H, Liu HH, Liao Z, et al. Dose and volume reduction for normal lung using intensity-modulated radiotherapy for advanced-stage non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2004;58:1258-1267.
- 25. Schwarz M, Alber M, Lebesque JV, et al. Dose heterogeneity in the target volume and intensity-modulated radiotherapy to escalate the dose in the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005;62:561-570.
- Christian JA, Bedford JL, Webb S, et al. Comparison of inverse-planned three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy and intensity-modulated radiotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2007;67:735-741.
- Yu CX. Intensity-modulated arc therapy with dynamic multileaf collimation: an alternative to tomotherapy. Phys Med Biol 1995;40:1435-1449.
- Otto K. Volumetric modulated arc therapy: IMRT in a single gantry arc. Med Phys 2008;35:310-317.
- Palta JR, Deye JA, Ibbott GS, et al. Credentialing of institutions for IMRT in clinical trials. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2004;59:1257,9; author reply 1259-1261.
- Mah D, Hanley J, Rosenzweig KE, et al. Technical aspects of the deep inspiration breath-hold technique in the treatment of thoracic cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2000;48:1175-1185.
- Rosenzweig KE, Hanley J, Mah D, et al. The deep inspiration breath-hold technique in the treatment of inoperable non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2000;48:81-87.
- Chavaudra J, Bridier A. Definition of volumes in external radiotherapy: ICRU reports 50 and 62. Cancer Radiother 2001;5:472-478.
- Keall PJ, Mageras GS, Balter JM, et al. The management of respiratory motion in radiation oncology report of AAPM Task Group 76. Med Phys 2006;33:3874-3900.
- Liu HH, Balter P, Tutt T, et al. Assessing respirationinduced tumor motion and internal target volume using four-dimensional computed tomography for radiotherapy of lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2007;68:531-540.
- 35. Rietzel E, Liu AK, Chen GT, et al. Maximum-intensity volumes for fast contouring of lung tumors including

respiratory motion in 4DCT planning. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2008;71:1245-1252.

- Underberg RW, Lagerwaard FJ, Slotman BJ, et al. Use of maximum intensity projections (MIP) for target volume generation in 4DCT scans for lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005;63:253-260.
- 37. Webb S. Motion effects in (intensity modulated) radiation therapy: a review. Phys Med Biol 2006;51:R403-R425.
- Barnes EA, Murray BR, Robinson DM, et al. Dosimetric evaluation of lung tumor immobilization using breath hold at deep inspiration. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2001;50:1091-1098.
- Ohara K, Okumura T, Akisada M, et al. Irradiation synchronized with respiration gate. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1989;17:853-857.
- 40. Kubo HD, Hill BC. Respiration gated radiotherapy treatment: a technical study. Phys Med Biol 1996;41:83-91.
- 41. Keall PJ, Kini VR, Vedam SS, et al. Motion adaptive x-ray therapy: a feasibility study. Phys Med Biol 2001;46:1-10.
- Neicu T, Shirato H, Seppenwoolde Y, et al. Synchronized moving aperture radiation therapy (SMART): average tumour trajectory for lung patients. Phys Med Biol 2003;48:587-598.
- Sawant A, Venkat R, Srivastava V, et al. Management of three-dimensional intrafraction motion through real-time DMLC tracking. Med Phys 2008;35:2050-2061.
- Dietrich L, Tücking T, Nill S, et al. Compensation for respiratory motion by gated radiotherapy: an experimental study. Phys Med Biol 2005;50:2405.
- 45. Keall P, Vedam S, George R, et al. The clinical implementation of respiratory-gated intensity-modulated radiotherapy. Med Dosim 2006;31:152-162.
- 46. Cheung PC, Sixel KE, Tirona R, et al. Reproducibility of lung tumor position and reduction of lung mass within the planning target volume using active breathing control (ABC). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2003;57:1437-1442.
- 47. Wong JW, Sharpe MB, Jaffray DA, et al. The use of active breathing control (ABC) to reduce margin for breathing motion. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1999;44:911-919.
- Kashani R, Balter JM, Hayman JA, et al. Short-term and long-term reproducibility of lung tumor position using active breathing control (ABC). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006;65:1553-1559.
- Keall PJ, Webb S. Optimum parameters in a model for tumour control probability, including interpatient heterogeneity: evaluation of the log-normal distribution. Phys Med Biol 2007;52:291-302.
- 50. Lax I, Panettieri V, Wennberg B, et al. Dose distributions in

Diwanji et al. Advances in RT techniques and delivery for NSCLC

SBRT of lung tumors: Comparison between two different treatment planning algorithms and Monte-Carlo simulation including breathing motions. Acta Oncol 2006;45:978-988.

- 51. Li J, Galvin J, Harrison A, et al. Dosimetric verification using monte carlo calculations for tissue heterogeneity-corrected conformal treatment plans following RTOG 0813 dosimetric criteria for lung cancer stereotactic body radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012;84:508-513.
- 52. Matsuo Y, Takayama K, Nagata Y, et al. Interinstitutional variations in planning for stereotactic body radiation therapy for lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2007;68:416-425.
- 53. Panettieri V, Wennberg B, Gagliardi G, et al. SBRT of lung tumours: Monte Carlo simulation with PENELOPE of dose distributions including respiratory motion and comparison with different treatment planning systems. Phys Med Biol 2007;52:4265-4281.
- 54. Xiao Y, Papiez L, Paulus R, et al. Dosimetric evaluation of heterogeneity corrections for RTOG 0236: stereotactic body radiotherapy of inoperable stage I-II non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2009;73:1235-1242.
- 55. Vanderstraeten B, Reynaert N, Paelinck L, et al. Accuracy of patient dose calculation for lung IMRT: A comparison of Monte Carlo, convolution/superposition, and pencil beam computations. Med Phys 2006;33:3149-3158.
- 56. Davidson SE, Ibbott GS, Prado KL, et al. Accuracy of two heterogeneity dose calculation algorithms for IMRT in treatment plans designed using an anthropomorphic thorax phantom. Med Phys 2007;34:1850-1857.
- 57. Marnitz S, Stuschke M, Bohsung J, et al. Intraindividual comparison of conventional three-dimensional radiotherapy and intensity modulated radiotherapy in the therapy of locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer a planning study. Strahlenther Onkol 2002;178:651-658.
- 58. Bradley J, Graham MV, Winter K, et al. Toxicity and outcome results of RTOG 9311: a phase I-II dose-escalation study using three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy in patients with inoperable non-small-cell lung carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005;61:318-328.
- 59. Kong FM, Ten Haken RK, Schipper MJ, et al. High-dose radiation improved local tumor control and overall survival in patients with inoperable/unresectable non-small-cell lung cancer: long-term results of a radiation dose escalation study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005;63:324-333.
- 60. Bradley JD, Bae K, Graham MV, et al. Primary analysis of the phase II component of a phase I/II dose intensification study using three-dimensional conformal radiation therapy

and concurrent chemotherapy for patients with inoperable non-small-cell lung cancer: RTOG 0117. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:2475-2480.

- Rosenman JG, Halle JS, Socinski MA, et al. High-dose conformal radiotherapy for treatment of stage IIIA/ IIIB non-small-cell lung cancer: technical issues and results of a phase I/II trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2002;54:348-356.
- 62. Schild SE, McGinnis WL, Graham D, et al. Results of a Phase I trial of concurrent chemotherapy and escalating doses of radiation for unresectable non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006;65:1106-1111.
- 63. Bradley JD, Paulus R, Komaki R, et al. Standard-dose versus high-dose conformal radiotherapy with concurrent and consolidation carboplatin plus paclitaxel with or without cetuximab for patients with stage IIIA or IIIB non-smallcell lung cancer (RTOG 0617): a randomised, two-by-two factorial phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:187-199.
- 64. Chun SG, Hu C, Choy H, et al. Impact of intensitymodulated radiation therapy technique for locally advanced non–small-cell lung cancer: A secondary analysis of the NRG oncology RTOG 0617 randomized clinical trial. J Clin Oncol 2017;35:56-62.
- 65. Movsas B, Hu C, Sloan J, et al. Quality of Life Analysis of a Radiation Dose-Escalation Study of Patients With Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: A Secondary Analysis of the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group 0617 Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Oncol 2016;2:359-367.
- Dong P, Lee P, Ruan D, et al. 4^π non-coplanar liver SBRT: a novel delivery technique. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;85:1360-1366.
- Dong P, Lee P, Ruan D, et al. 4^{to} noncoplanar stereotactic body radiation therapy for centrally located or larger lung tumors. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;86:407-413.
- Hiraoka M, Ishikura S. A Japan clinical oncology group trial for stereotactic body radiation therapy of non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2007;2:S115-S117.
- 69. Timmerman R, McGarry R, Yiannoutsos C, et al. Excessive toxicity when treating central tumors in a phase II study of stereotactic body radiation therapy for medically inoperable early-stage lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:4833-4839.
- Sethi RA, Barani IJ, Larson DA, et al. Handbook of Evidence-Based Stereotactic Radiosurgery and Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy. Springer, 2016:245.
- Benedict SH, Yenice KM, Followill D, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy: the report of AAPM Task Group 101. Med Phys 2010;37:4078-4101.
- 72. Merrow CE, Wang IZ, Podgorsak MB. A dosimetric

evaluation of VMAT for the treatment of non-small cell lung cancer. J Appl Clin Med Phys 2012;14:4110.

- 73. Ong CL, Verbakel WF, Cuijpers JP, et al. Stereotactic radiotherapy for peripheral lung tumors: a comparison of volumetric modulated arc therapy with 3 other delivery techniques. Radiother Oncol 2010;97:437-442.
- Bortfeld T. Image Guided IMRT: concepts and clinical applications. New York, NY: Springer, 2005.
- Yamashita H, Haga A, Takahashi W, et al. Volumetric modulated arc therapy for lung stereotactic radiation therapy can achieve high local control rates. Radiat Oncol 2014;9:243.
- 76. Dahele M, Pearson S, Purdie T, et al. Practical considerations arising from the implementation of lung stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) at a comprehensive cancer center. J Thorac Oncol 2008;3:1332-1341.
- 77. Pass HI, Carbone DP, Johnson DH, et al. Principles and practice of lung cancer: the official reference text of the IASLC. 4th ed. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Health/ Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2010.
- Sibley GS, Jamieson TA, Marks LB, et al. Radiotherapy alone for medically inoperable stage I non-small-cell lung cancer: the Duke experience. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1998;40:149-154.
- Wisnivesky JP, Bonomi M, Henschke C, et al. Radiation therapy for the treatment of unresected stage I-II non-small cell lung cancer. Chest 2005;128:1461-1467.
- Qiao X, Tullgren O, Lax I, et al. The role of radiotherapy in treatment of stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2003;41:1-11.
- Zimmermann FB, Bamberg M, Molls M, et al. Radiation therapy alone in early stage non-small cell lung cancer. Semin Surg Oncol 2003;21:91-97.
- Jeremic B, Classen J, Bamberg M. Radiotherapy alone in technically operable, medically inoperable, early-stage (I/ II) non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2002;54:119-130.
- Ginsberg RJ, Rubinstein LV. Randomized trial of lobectomy versus limited resection for T1 N0 non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer Study Group. Ann Thorac Surg 1995;60:615,22; discussion 622-623.
- Wisnivesky JP, Yankelevitz D, Henschke CI. The effect of tumor size on curability of stage I non-small cell lung cancers. Chest 2004;126:761-765.
- Nesbitt JC, Putnam JB Jr, Walsh GL, et al. Survival in early-stage non-small cell lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 1995;60:466-472.
- 86. Blomgren H, Lax I, Naslund I, et al. Stereotactic high dose

fraction radiation therapy of extracranial tumors using an accelerator. Clinical experience of the first thirty-one patients. Acta Oncol 1995;34:861-870.

- Onishi H, Araki T, Shirato H, et al. Stereotactic hypofractionated high-dose irradiation for stage I nonsmall cell lung carcinoma: clinical outcomes in 245 subjects in a Japanese multiinstitutional study. Cancer 2004;101:1623-1631.
- Onishi H, Shirato H, Nagata Y, et al. Hypofractionated stereotactic radiotherapy (HypoFXSRT) for stage I nonsmall cell lung cancer: updated results of 257 patients in a Japanese multi-institutional study. J Thorac Oncol 2007;2:S94-100.
- McGarry RC, Papiez L, Williams M, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy of early-stage non-small-cell lung carcinoma: phase I study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005;63:1010-1015.
- Timmerman R, Paulus R, Galvin J, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for inoperable early stage lung cancer. JAMA 2010;303:1070-1076.
- Grills IS, Mangona VS, Welsh R, et al. Outcomes after stereotactic lung radiotherapy or wedge resection for stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:928-935.
- 92. Onishi H, Shirato H, Nagata Y, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for operable stage I non-small-cell lung cancer: can SBRT be comparable to surgery? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;81:1352-1358.
- 93. Verstegen NE, Oosterhuis JW, Palma DA, et al. Stage I-II non-small-cell lung cancer treated using either stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR) or lobectomy by video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery (VATS): outcomes of a propensity score-matched analysis. Ann Oncol 2013;24:1543-1548.
- 94. Louie AV, van Werkhoven E, Chen H, et al. Patient reported outcomes following stereotactic ablative radiotherapy or surgery for stage IA non-small-cell lung cancer: Results from the ROSEL multicenter randomized trial. Radiother Oncol 2015;117:44-48.
- 95. Chang JY, Senan S, Paul MA, et al. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy versus lobectomy for operable stage I nonsmall-cell lung cancer: a pooled analysis of two randomised trials. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:630-637.
- Moghanaki D, Chang JY. Is surgery still the optimal treatment for stage I non-small cell lung cancer? Transl Lung Cancer Res 2016;5:183-189.
- 97. Bezjak A, Paulus R, Gaspar L, et al. Primary study endpoint analysis for NRG Oncology/RTOG 0813 trial of stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for centrally located non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Int J Radiat

Diwanji et al. Advances in RT techniques and delivery for NSCLC

62

Oncol Biol Phys 2016;1:5-6.

- 98. Verma V, McMillan MT, Grover S, et al. Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy and the Influence of Chemotherapy on Overall Survival for Large (≥ 5 Centimeter) Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2017;97:146-154.
- Register SP, Zhang X, Mohan R, et al. Proton stereotactic body radiation therapy for clinically challenging cases of centrally and superiorly located stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;80:1015-1022.
- 100.Zhang X, Li Y, Pan X, et al. Intensity-modulated proton therapy reduces the dose to normal tissue compared with intensity-modulated radiation therapy or passive scattering proton therapy and enables individualized radical radiotherapy for extensive stage IIIB non-small-cell lung cancer: a virtual clinical study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;77:357-366.
- 101. Szeto YZ, Witte MG, van Kranen SR, et al. Effects of anatomical changes on pencil beam scanning proton plans in locally advanced NSCLC patients. Radiother Oncol 2016;120:286-292.
- 102. Mori S, Dong L, Starkschall G, et al. A serial 4DCT study to quantify range variations in charged particle radiotherapy of thoracic cancers. J Radiat Res 2014;55:309-319.
- 103.Dowdell S, Grassberger C, Sharp G, et al. Fractionated Lung IMPT Treatments: Sensitivity to Setup Uncertainties and Motion Effects Based on Single-Field Homogeneity. Technol Cancer Res Treat 2016;15:689-696.
- 104. Santiago A, Fritz P, Muhlnickel W, et al. Changes in the radiological depth correlate with dosimetric deterioration in particle therapy for stage I NSCLC patients under high frequency jet ventilation. Acta Oncol 2015;54:1631-1637.
- 105. Dowdell S, Grassberger C, Sharp GC, et al. Interplay effects in proton scanning for lung: a 4D Monte Carlo study assessing the impact of tumor and beam delivery parameters. Phys Med Biol 2013;58:4137-4156.
- 106.Li Y, Kardar L, Li X, et al. On the interplay effects with proton scanning beams in stage III lung cancer. Med Phys 2014;41:021721.
- 107.Hui Z, Zhang X, Starkschall G, et al. Effects of interfractional motion and anatomic changes on proton therapy dose distribution in lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2008;72:1385-1395.
- 108. Matney J, Park PC, Bluett J, et al. Effects of respiratory motion on passively scattered proton therapy versus intensity modulated photon therapy for stage III lung cancer: are proton plans more sensitive to breathing motion? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;87:576-582.

- 109. Furukawa T, Inaniwa T, Sato S, et al. Moving target irradiation with fast rescanning and gating in particle therapy. Med Phys 2010;37:4874-4879.
- 110. Yu J, Zhang X, Liao L, et al. Motion-robust intensitymodulated proton therapy for distal esophageal cancer. Med Phys 2016;43:1111-1118.
- 111.Liu W, Schild SE, Chang JY, et al. Exploratory Study of 4D versus 3D Robust Optimization in Intensity Modulated Proton Therapy for Lung Cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2016;95:523-533.
- 112.Kardar L, Li Y, Li X, et al. Evaluation and mitigation of the interplay effects of intensity modulated proton therapy for lung cancer in a clinical setting. Pract Radiat Oncol 2014;4:e259-e268.
- 113.Li H, Zhu XR, Zhang X. Reducing Dose Uncertainty for Spot-Scanning Proton Beam Therapy of Moving Tumors by Optimizing the Spot Delivery Sequence. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2015;93:547-556.
- 114. Grassberger C, Dowdell S, Lomax A, et al. Motion interplay as a function of patient parameters and spot size in spot scanning proton therapy for lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;86:380-386.
- 115. Welsh J, Amini A, Ciura K, et al. Evaluating proton stereotactic body radiotherapy to reduce chest wall dose in the treatment of lung cancer. Med Dosim 2013;38:442-447.
- 116. Hoppe BS, Huh S, Flampouri S, et al. Double-scattered proton-based stereotactic body radiotherapy for stage I lung cancer: a dosimetric comparison with photonbased stereotactic body radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol 2010;97:425-430.
- 117. Nichols RC, Huh SH, Hoppe BS, et al. Protons safely allow coverage of high-risk nodes for patients with regionally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. Technol Cancer Res Treat 2011;10:317-322.
- 118.Kesarwala AH, Ko CJ, Ning H, et al. Intensity-modulated proton therapy for elective nodal irradiation and involvedfield radiation in the definitive treatment of locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: a dosimetric study. Clin Lung Cancer 2015;16:237-244.
- 119. Caringi A, Goldsmith B, Kirk M, et al. Combined Photon SBRT and Proton Mediastinal Radiation for Stage III Lung Cancer: The Best of Both Worlds? J Thorac Oncol 2012;7:S237.
- 120. Wu CT, Motegi A, Motegi K, et al. Dosimetric comparison between proton beam therapy and photon radiation therapy for locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer. Jpn J Clin Oncol 2016. [Epub ahead of print].

- 121. Chang JY, Zhang X, Wang X, et al. Significant reduction of normal tissue dose by proton radiotherapy compared with three-dimensional conformal or intensitymodulated radiation therapy in Stage I or Stage III nonsmall-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006;65:1087-1096.
- 122. Berman AT, Teo BK, Dolney D, et al. An in-silico comparison of proton beam and IMRT for postoperative radiotherapy in completely resected stage IIIA non-small cell lung cancer. Radiat Oncol 2013;8:144,717X-8-144.
- 123.Nihei K, Ogino T, Ishikura S, et al. High-dose proton beam therapy for Stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006;65:107-111.
- 124. Hata M, Tokuuye K, Kagei K, et al. Hypofractionated high-dose proton beam therapy for stage I non-smallcell lung cancer: preliminary results of a phase I/II clinical study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2007;68:786-793.
- 125.Bush DA, Cheek G, Zaheer S, et al. High-dose hypofractionated proton beam radiation therapy is safe and effective for central and peripheral early-stage non-small cell lung cancer: results of a 12-year experience at Loma Linda University Medical Center. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;86:964-968.
- 126. Bush DA, Slater JD, Bonnet R, et al. Proton-beam radiotherapy for early-stage lung cancer. Chest 1999;116:1313-1319.
- 127. Hatayama Y, Nakamura T, Suzuki M, et al. Clinical Outcomes and Prognostic Factors of High-Dose Proton Beam Therapy for Peripheral Stage I Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. Clin Lung Cancer 2016;17:427-432.

Cite this article as: Diwanji TP, Mohindra P, Vyfhuis M, Snider JW 3rd, Kalavagunta C, Mossahebi S, Yu J, Feigenberg S, Badiyan SN. Advances in radiotherapy techniques and delivery for non-small cell lung cancer: benefits of intensitymodulated radiation therapy, proton therapy, and stereotactic body radiation therapy. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2017;6(2):131-147. doi: 10.21037/tlcr.2017.04.04

- 128. Westover KD, Seco J, Adams JA, et al. Proton SBRT for medically inoperable stage I NSCLC. J Thorac Oncol 2012;7:1021-1025.
- 129. Higgins KA, O'Connell K, Liu Y, et al. National Cancer Database Analysis of Proton Versus Photon Radiation Therapy in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2017;97:128-137.
- 130. Chang JY, Komaki R, Lu C, et al. Phase 2 study of highdose proton therapy with concurrent chemotherapy for unresectable stage III nonsmall cell lung cancer. Cancer 2011;117:4707-4713.
- 131.Hoppe BS, Henderson R, Pham D, et al. A Phase 2 Trial of Concurrent Chemotherapy and Proton Therapy for Stage III Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer: Results and Reflections Following Early Closure of a Single-Institution Study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2016;95:517-522.
- 132. Oshiro Y, Okumura T, Kurishima K, et al. High-dose concurrent chemo-proton therapy for Stage III NSCLC: preliminary results of a Phase II study. J Radiat Res 2014;55:959-965.
- 133. Chang JY, Jabbour SK, De Ruysscher D, et al. Consensus Statement on Proton Therapy in Early-Stage and Locally Advanced Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2016;95:505-516.
- 134.Liao Z, Lee J, Komaki R, et al. Bayesian randomized trial comparing intensity modulated radiation therapy versus passively scattered proton therapy for locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2016;34:abstr 8500.

Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for early stage non-small cell lung cancer: a word of caution

Gonzalo Varela, María Teresa Gómez-Hernández

Thoracic Surgery Service, Salamanca University Hospital and Salamanca's Bio-sanitary Institute (IBSAL), Salamanca, Spain Correspondence to: Dr. Gonzalo Varela. Cirugía Torácica, Hospital Universitario, Paseo de San Vicente 58, 37007 Salamanca, Spain. Email: gys@usal.es.

Abstract: Recently published data from pooled randomised trials conclude that stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR) can be considered the treatment of choice in operable lung cancer patients fit for lobectomy. This conclusion comes for comparable 3-year survival and much lower risk of early severe morbidity and mortality. In this editorial comment we discuss the validity of the conclusions due to the prematurity of the survival analysis and to the poor accuracy of patients' staging leading to higher rates of regional relapse in the SABR arm. Besides, therapy-related mortality and morbidity in the pooled cohort is much higher that the internationally accepted standards maybe because surgery was not performed according to the best approaches and procedures currently available. The effectiveness of SABR as the sole therapy for resectable lung cancer is still awaiting for sound evidences. It could be adopted for individual cases only in two situations: (I) the patient does not accept surgical treatment; and (II) in cases were the risk of surgical related mortality is considered to exceed the probability of long-term survival after lung resection. For this, a multidisciplinary team (MDT) assessment, including surgeons and oncologists, is mandatory.

Keywords: Lung cancer; pulmonary resection; radiotherapy

Submitted Sep 03, 2015. Accepted for publication Sep 14, 2015. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2015.10.10 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2015.10.10

In a recently published issue at the *Lancet Oncology*, the authors reported a pooled analysis of two randomised trials [STARS (NCT02357992) and ROSEL (NCT00687986)] comparing stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR) and lobectomy for operable stage I non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) (1).

Although the second was closed prematurely due to slow accrual, the authors conclude that SABR can be considered a treatment option in operable patients fit for lobectomy and that future randomised trials including more cases are warranted. The first conclusion comes from the statistically significant advantage on 3-year overall survival in the SABR-treated pooled cohort (although the difference was significant in the STARS trial alone) and from a higher rate of severe treatment-related complications in the surgical arm. In fact, overall surgical mortality was 4% (1/27) and grade 3-4 treatment-related adverse events were 44% (12/27). These data were compared to 0% mortality and 10% (3/31) grade 3 adverse events in the SABR arm. Any new therapeutic option offering comparable outcomes at a lower risk for the patient has to be praised and disseminated as much as possible. The only condition for doing so is that therapeutic recommendations have to be supported on strong evidence.

Is survival really comparable?

In the aforementioned publication (1), it is to note that in the SABR series, almost 13% of the cases (4/31) suffered from regional lymph node relapse while in the surgical arm, the rate was only 3.7% (1/27) at 3 years. Higher rate of loco-regional relapse has been also reported by Verstegen *et al.* (2), comparing SABR *vs.* video-assisted thoracic surgery (VATS); these authors also found comparable 3-year survival in surgical and SABRT series.

Higher rates of loco-regional relapse in patients treated with radiotherapy can be justified in part by the superiority of intraoperative surgical staging if compared to clinical staging by FEDG-PET image or invasive procedures. Although the authors underline that clinical staging was accomplished in both trials by image (CT and PET scan) and endobronchial fine-needle aspiration or mediastinoscopy when indicated, it is well known that the accuracy of surgical staging is higher (3-5) allowing for adjuvant therapies in surgically staged N1 or N2 cases. Thus, waiting for 5-year survival data in both trials before recommending non-surgical therapy in early stage NSCLC would be advisable. Furthermore, in the ROSEL study, eight (26%) tumours in the SABR group had unknown histology and one patient without histological diagnosis in the surgical group underwent resection and were found to have benign disease. So the proportion of patients who had NSCLC or benign disease in the SABR group remains unclear. This lack of information could have contributed to an increased survival rate in the SABR group.

As more interim analysis on 3-year survival are reported, there is an increasing feeling that SABR or related techniques are equally effective than surgery for early lung cancer. In a publication from Ricardi *et al.* (6), reporting their results in a series of cases, it is stated that "The results of the present study support the routine use of SABR for stage I NSCLC in a daily practice environment". Such a kind of statements are lacking enough evidence, especially if the new therapy in intended as a substitute of a historically proven effective treatment for early stage lung cancer.

Reported adverse effects of surgery are higher than the internationally accepted standards

High reported surgical mortality (4%) and grade 3-4 morbidity (44%) in the pooled cohort deserves some comments. According to the last report from the European Society of Thoracic Surgeons Database, the standard surgical mortality after lobectomy for lung cancer, in any pathological stage, in Europe is 2% (7), half the reported mortality in Chang's *et al.* paper (1). Due to the low number of cases in the pooled analysis, these differences are probably not statistically significant but they are clinically relevant especially because only stage I cases, where surgical mortality is highly infrequent, were included in both trials.

Also the high rate of major adverse events after surgical therapy has to be regarded with caution. Among the cases included in the SABR group, only three cases (10%) suffered treatment-related grade 3 adverse events: chest wall pain in three (10%), dyspnoea or cough in two (6%) and fatigue and rib fracture in one case (3%). No patient

experienced treatment-related grade 4 toxic effect. On the contrary, in the surgical group, 12 (44%) patients had grade 3-4 related adverse events. Again from the ESTS Database, the rate of major cardio-pulmonary complications after lobectomy, in any pathological stage, is 17.8% (7). Obviously, the accuracy in recording adverse events in a prospective clinical trial is non comparable to a multiinstitutional database where participation is not mandatory. Nevertheless, the difference seems to be large enough as to be accepted without any criticism.

Standardising surgical procedures is much more difficult if compared to radiotherapy. In both trials surgical approach was either thoracotomy or VATS at surgeon's choice. Out of the 27 patients who received surgery, only five had VATS lobectomies, while 19 cases were approached through thoracotomy (in the rest of the cases the procedure was not completed). The term thoracotomy includes any open approach coming from posterolateral incision sectioning latissimus dorsi and serratus anterior muscles, to axillary mini-thoracotomy; that is, any approach were a rib spreader is used. All these approaches are quite different in terms of inflammatory response (8) and related complications. Lung resection for NSCLC is nowadays usually performed through a mini-invasive approach frequently video-assisted. This approach has been demonstrated to produce less short term and long term complications (9) and being equally effective in terms of survival (10,11). Thus, it seems to be logical, when designing a trial to compare the last available technique in radiotherapy to any surgical treatment, selecting also the least aggressive surgical technique, instead of obsolete approaches, to obtain conclusive results.

In the past we have shown that the majority of the risk of lobectomy depends not on patients' conditions but on the quality of the perioperative care (12). Unfortunately, both trials lack precise information on the type of perioperative care received by the patients. It has to be supposed that in both situations the best available care was offered to the patients but this doesn't guarantee the homogeneity of the pooled series with respect to the most relevant variable influencing immediate patients' outcome.

What does it mean "medically inoperable"?

In some of the recently published papers where SABR or any other modality of radiotherapy is offered as an alternative to lung resection, surgery was not considered because patients were: "medically inoperable" (6,13,14). Nevertheless, the specific reasons for inoperability are not stated clearly. Obviously, any therapy shortening patient's survival is not indicated.

To our mind, the most accurate recommendations to evaluate patients' functional operability have been published in 2013 by Brunelli *et al.* (15). Shortly, these authors recommend:

- (I) Decision on lung cancer therapy has to be agreed by a multidisciplinary team (MDT);
- (II) Patient's age per se is not a contraindication for surgery;
- (III) Cardiologic consultation is needed after specific cardiac risk scoring for thoracic procedures is calculated;
- (IV) Estimation of postoperative FEV1 and DLCO is mandatory in all cases;
- (V) Exercise tests, starting by low technology ones, have to be indicated in cases with limited estimated postoperative FEV1 and/or DLCO (under 60% of theoretical values for age, sex and height).

Maybe the most important and simplest recommendation regarding therapy for lung cancer is that all therapeutically decisions have to be adopted after discussion in a MDT. MDT management has become the standard of care in some countries, after some advantages to both the patient and the clinicians have been demonstrated (16). In our practice, we noticed a slight decrease in lung resection related mortality after implementing internationally accepted guidelines and MDT agreement before indicating surgical therapy for lung cancer patients (17).

In summary, the effectiveness of SABR as the sole therapy for resectable lung cancer is still awaiting for sound evidences. It could be adopted for individual cases only in two situations: (I) the patient does not accept surgical treatment; and (II) in cases were the risk of surgical related mortality is considered to exceed the probability of long-term survival after lung resection. For this, a MDT assessment, including surgeons and oncologists, is mandatory.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Provenance: This is a Guest Editorial commissioned by the Editorial Board Member Ying Liang (Department of

Medical Oncology, Sun Yat-sen University Cancer Center (SYSUCC), Guangzhou, China)

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Comment on: Chang JY, Senan S, Paul MA, *et al.* Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy versus lobectomy for operable stage I non-small-cell lung cancer: a pooled analysis of two randomised trials. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:630-7.

References

- Chang JY, Senan S, Paul MA, et al. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy versus lobectomy for operable stage I nonsmall-cell lung cancer: a pooled analysis of two randomised trials. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:630-637.
- Verstegen NE, Oosterhuis JW, Palma DA, et al. Stage I-II non-small-cell lung cancer treated using either stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR) or lobectomy by video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery (VATS): outcomes of a propensity score-matched analysis. Ann Oncol 2013;24:1543-1548.
- D'Cunha J, Herndon JE 2nd, Herzan DL, et al. Poor correspondence between clinical and pathologic staging in stage 1 non-small cell lung cancer: results from CALGB 9761, a prospective trial. Lung Cancer 2005;48:241-246.
- Shingyoji M, Nakajima T, Yoshino M, et al. Endobronchial ultrasonography for positron emission tomography and computed tomography-negative lymph node staging in non-small cell lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2014;98:1762-1767.
- Whitson BA, Groth SS, Maddaus MA. Surgical assessment and intraoperative management of mediastinal lymph nodes in non-small cell lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2007;84:1059-1065.
- Ricardi U, Frezza G, Filippi AR, et al. Stereotactic Ablative Radiotherapy for stage I histologically proven non-small cell lung cancer: an Italian multicenter observational study. Lung Cancer 2014;84:248-253.
- European Society of Thoracic Surgeons Database Committee. Database Annual Report 2015. Available online: http://www.ests.org/_userfiles/pages/files/ ESTS%20201Silver_Book_FULL_PEF.pdf, accessed on Aug 30th, 2015.
- Yim AP, Wan S, Lee TW, et al. VATS lobectomy reduces cytokine responses compared with conventional surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 2000;70:243-247.
- 9. Falcoz PE, Puyraveau M, Thomas PA, et al. Video-assisted

thoracoscopic surgery versus open lobectomy for primary non-small-cell lung cancer: a propensity-matched analysis of outcome from the European Society of Thoracic Surgeon database. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2016;49:602-609.

- Higuchi M, Yaginuma H, Yonechi A, et al. Long-term outcomes after video-assisted thoracic surgery (VATS) lobectomy versus lobectomy via open thoracotomy for clinical stage IA non-small cell lung cancer. J Cardiothorac Surg 2014;9:88.
- Yan TD, Black D, Bannon PG, et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized and nonrandomized trials on safety and efficacy of video-assisted thoracic surgery lobectomy for early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2009;27:2553-2562.
- Novoa N, Ballesteros E, Jiménez MF, et al. Chest physiotherapy revisited: evaluation of its influence on the pulmonary morbidity after pulmonary resection. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2011;40:130-134.
- Grills IS, Mangona VS, Welsh R, et al. Outcomes after stereotactic lung radiotherapy or wedge resection for stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:928-935.

Cite this article as: Varela G, Gómez-Hernández MT. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for early stage non-small cell lung cancer: a word of caution. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2016;5(1):102-105. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2015.10.10

- Lanni TB Jr, Grills IS, Kestin LL, et al. Stereotactic radiotherapy reduces treatment cost while improving overall survival and local control over standard fractionated radiation therapy for medically inoperable non-small-cell lung cancer. Am J Clin Oncol 2011;34:494-498.
- 15. Brunelli A, Kim AW, Berger KI, et al. Physiologic evaluation of the patient with lung cancer being considered for resectional surgery: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013;143:e166S-90S.
- Powell HA, Baldwin DR. Multidisciplinary team management in thoracic oncology: more than just a concept? Eur Respir J 2014;43:1776-1786.
- Novoa N, Jiménez MF, Aranda JL, et al. Effect of implementing the European guidelines for functional evaluation before lung resection on cardiorespiratory morbidity and 30-day mortality in lung cancer patients: a case-control study on a matched series of patients. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2014;45:e89-93; discussion e93.

Cranial irradiation in patients with *EGFR*-mutant non-small cell lung cancer brain metastases

T. Jonathan Yang, Abraham J. Wu

Department of Radiation Oncology, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY 10065, USA *Correspondence to:* Abraham J. Wu, MD. Department of Radiation Oncology, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, 1275 York Avenue, New York, NY 10065, USA. Email: wua@mskcc.org.

Abstract: The most effective treatment approach for brain metastases in patients with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and activating epidermal growth factor receptor (*EGFR*) mutations is a current subject of investigation. Cranial irradiation is the standard treatment for brain metastases, but tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) such as erlotinib have also activity against brain metastases in this subset of patients. The combination of TKI and radiotherapy is a promising one, but data is lacking to indicate whether this is superior to erlotinib or whole brain radiation therapy (WBRT) alone. Retrospective data suggest that WBRT achieves more durable intracranial control compared to erlotinib alone. Randomized, prospective studies will be necessary to determine whether TKI, cranial irradiation, or both is the optimal initial treatment for brain metastases in *EGFR*-mutant NSCLC.

Keywords: Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC); epidermal growth factor receptor (*EGFR*); erlotinib; whole brain radiation therapy (WBRT)

Submitted Dec 11, 2015. Accepted for publication Dec 12, 2015. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2016.01.08 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2016.01.08

Brain metastases occur in 20% to 40% of patients with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) (1). They are a common cause of morbidity and mortality and their incidence may be increasing (2). Historically, therapeutic options for brain metastases have been limited to local therapies such as whole brain radiation therapy (WBRT), stereotactic radiosurgery, surgery or a combination of the above. Due to concern for inadequate central nervous system (CNS) penetration, chemotherapy has not typically been considered a standard primary treatment for brain metastases. In a multi-institutional retrospective analysis that included 1,833 NSCLC patients with newly diagnosed brain metastases treated with radiation therapy between 1985 and 2007, a median overall survival of seven months (95% CI, 6.5–7.5 months) was reported (3).

It is now well established that NSCLC patients harboring activating epidermal growth factor receptor (*EGFR*) mutations have a different prognosis. Studies examining survival in *EGFR*-mutated patients have shown a more favorable median survival of 15-17 months from onset of brain metastases (4,5). Based on randomized trials demonstrating improved survival, EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) have replaced cytotoxic chemotherapy as first-line treatments with patients with metastatic *EGFR*mutant NSCLC (6,7). However, whether EGFR-TKI can enhance or replace cranial irradiation in the initial treatment of brain metastases remains unclear.

In 2013, Welsh *et al.* published the results of a bicentric phase II trial in the *Journal of Clinical Oncology* (8) that examined whether the combination of erlotinib and WBRT would improve median survival in patients with NSCLC brain metastases. Erlotinib is known to possess CNS penetrability (9). In the Welsh study, 40 NSCLC patients with radiographically confirmed brain metastases between 2006 and 2010 received a loading dose of erlotinib (150 mg per day for 6 days), followed by concurrent erlotinib (150 mg per day) with WBRT, followed by maintenance erlotinib (150 mg per day) until disease progression or adverse effects. WBRT was delivered as 30 Gy in 3 Gy fractions for the first 10 patients, then changed to a regimen of 35 Gy in 2.5 Gy fractions given concerns of possible neurotoxicity in two patients. The primary endpoint was to detect an increase in median survival from a historical control of 3.9 to 6.0 months. The authors reported that the combination of erlotinib and WBRT was well tolerated, with no grade 4 or 5 treatment-related toxicity. After median followup of 28.5 months, the median survival was 11.8 months, significantly surpassing the target of 6.0 months. Of the 40 patients included in the study, 17 had known EGFR status. Subgroup analysis showed a nonsignificant improvement in median survival (19.1 vs. 9.3 months, P=0.53) and CNS progression-free survival (12.3 vs. 5.2 months, P=0.74) in the nine patients with known activating EGFR mutations compared to the eight patients with known wild-type EGFR.

While this pioneering study demonstrates the safety and promise of administering concurrent erlotinib with WBRT, it does not directly indicate whether concurrent treatment is superior to either treatment alone (or in close succession) for EGFR-mutant patients. In preclinical models, overexpression of EGFR is associated with radiation resistance (10) and EGFR signaling blockade sensitizes EGFR-mutant cells to radiation (11). The investigators of the trial hypothesized that concurrent EGFR inhibition and WBRT may therefore be synergistic and potentially improve survival. However, the single-arm design of the study and the limited number of patients with known EGFR mutations leaves open the question of whether combination therapy would have been any more effective than erlotinib or WBRT alone. Though the study cohort's survival handily exceeded the historical expectation of 3.9 months, some of this could have been attributable to general improvements in the prognosis of NSCLC patients with brain metastases, due to factors such as stage migration from the widespread use of brain MRI screening. Known EGFR-mutant patients had particularly favorable results, but such patients are now known to have relatively better prognosis when treated with erlotinib alone.

There is prospective evidence that EGFR-TKIs are an effective primary treatment for *EGFR*-mutated NSCLC brain metastases. In an open-label, single institution phase II study, 28 molecularly selected patients with activating *EGFR*-mutant NSCLC and brain metastases received either oral gefitinib (250 mg daily) or erlotinib (150 mg daily) (5). Study patients did not receive prior local therapy for brain metastases such as radiation or surgery. The median survival and CNS progression-free-survival was 15.9 and 6.6 months, respectively. In another phase II trial, 40 patients

with non-molecularly-selected NSCLC and asymptomatic brain metastases were treated with erlotinib (150 mg daily). Clinically significant improvement in OS was observed in activating *EGFR* mutation-positive patients (37.5 months, n=8) compared to EGFR wild-type patients (18.4 months, n=15; P=0.14), as well as in CNS progression-free survival (15.2 vs. 4.4 months, P=0.02). These studies not only corroborate the longer survival observed for patients with *EGFR*-mutant NSCLC and brain metastases reported by Welsh *et al.*, they also suggest that erlotinib monotherapy may be an effective primary treatment for patients with *EGFR*-mutant NSCLC brain metastases.

There is no randomized data directly comparing erlotinib to WBRT for primary treatment of EGFR-mutant NSCLC brain metastases. In a retrospective analysis, our group examined the role of cranial irradiation in patients with EGFR-mutant lung adenocarcinoma and newly diagnosed brain metastases (12). While it did not reach statistical significance, we observed longer survival in patients who received WBRT (n=32, 35 months) compared to patients who received erlotinib alone (n=63, 26 months, P=0.62) for newly diagnosed brain metastases. Our results corroborate the favorable survivals reported by Welsh et al., as well as the phase II studies of primary EGFR-TKI therapy for brain metastases discussed above. Furthermore, we found that patients who received WBRT had significantly longer time to intracranial progression compared to those who received erlotinib alone (24 vs. 16 months, P=0.04), despite having significantly greater intracranial disease burden (more patients with >3 brain metastases and larger lesions received WBRT). This study suggests that WBRT retains an important role in intracranial control in patients with EGFR-mutant NSCLC brain metastases. In a recent metaanalysis that included 12 non-comparative studies and 363 patients, upfront cranial radiation was found to improve intracranial disease control and survival outcomes compared to TKI alone (13). The majority of patients included in the study received TKI alone (n=185), 115 patients received WBRT alone, 23 patients received stereotactic radiosurgery alone, and 40 patients received concurrent WBRT and TKI. Despite significant methodological limitations, this analysis further highlights the notion that upfront radiotherapy should not be summarily abandoned in EGFR-mutant NSCLC patients even though targeted therapies have also demonstrated CNS activity.

Pre-clinical data has demonstrated that erlotinib can cause radiosensitization through cell cycle redistribution, induction of apoptosis, and inhibition of DNA repair (11). It is therefore reasonable to hypothesize that the combination of erlotinib and WBRT for EGFR-mutant NSCLC would result in significantly improved CNS disease control and potentially enhance survival. In a retrospective analysis, Gow et al. demonstrated that patients with EGFR mutations had higher response rates to WBRT compared to patients with wild-type EGFR disease. The administration of EGFR-TKI during WBRT was independently associated with response to WBRT, and response to WBRT was an independent predictor for survival (14). In a second study, concomitant administration of gefitinib and WBRT was found to result in higher treatment response and disease control rates in patients with EGFR-mutant NSCLC brain metastases compared to gefitinib alone (15). In 2014, Lee et al. reported results of a multicenter trial that included 80 non-molecularly selected NSCLC patients with newly diagnosed brain metastases randomized to WBRT alone (20 Gy in 5 fractions) or WBRT with concurrent erlotinib (16). They reported median survival of 2.9 months with WBRT alone and 3.4 months with WBRT plus erlotinib. However, only one patient had known activating EGFR-mutation status, limiting the study's relevance to current practice where EGFR mutation status is routinely verified, and erlotinib is only offered to patients with activating mutations. Overall, these studies suggest that the approach of concurrent EGFR-TKI and WBRT is a promising treatment deserving further study in patients with brain metastases and EGFR mutations. However, definitive support for this strategy is limited by the dearth of prospective randomized data, and the fact that many published studies only contained a small subset of patients with known EGFR mutations.

In summary, the phase II study of concurrent erlotinib and WBRT from Welsh et al. demonstrates the tolerability and safety of the combination in treating newly diagnosed brain metastases from NSCLC. Patients with EGFRmutated NSCLC brain metastases appear to have improved intracranial disease control and survival compared to patients with EGFR wild-type disease. Nevertheless, whether erlotinib, radiotherapy, or both is the optimal treatment for brain metastases in this population remains unanswered. Retrospective studies (12-14) indicate that upfront cranial irradiation may improve intracranial control and possibly survival compared to EGFR-TKI alone, and the combination of WBRT and EGFR-TKI may ultimately prove to be the best strategy (14,15). However, this needs to be confirmed with prospective randomized trials, one of which is ongoing: the TRACTS trial is comparing concurrent erlotinib and WBRT vs. erlotinib

alone (clinicaltrials.gov/NCT01763385). Crucially, this trial limits eligibility to patients with known activating *EGFR* mutations. Until such data are available, we suggest that patients with brain metastases from *EGFR*-mutant NSCLC should still be considered for upfront cranial irradiation, prior to or concurrent with erlotinib or other targeted therapies.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Provenance: This is a Guest Commentary commissioned by Guest Editor Hongcheng Zhu, MD, PhD (Department of Radiation Oncology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China).

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Comment on: Welsh JW, Komaki R, Amini A, *et al.* Phase II trial of erlotinib plus concurrent whole-brain radiation therapy for patients with brain metastases from non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2013;31:895-902.

References

- Barnholtz-Sloan JS, Sloan AE, Davis FG, et al. Incidence proportions of brain metastases in patients diagnosed (1973 to 2001) in the Metropolitan Detroit Cancer Surveillance System. J Clin Oncol 2004;22:2865-2872.
- 2. Gavrilovic IT, Posner JB. Brain metastases: epidemiology and pathophysiology. J Neurooncol 2005;75:5-14.
- Sperduto PW, Kased N, Roberge D, et al. Summary report on the graded prognostic assessment: an accurate and facile diagnosis-specific tool to estimate survival for patients with brain metastases. J Clin Oncol 2012;30:419-425.
- Eichler AF, Kahle KT, Wang DL, et al. EGFR mutation status and survival after diagnosis of brain metastasis in nonsmall cell lung cancer. Neuro Oncol 2010;12:1193-1199.
- Park SJ, Kim HT, Lee DH, et al. Efficacy of epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors for brain metastasis in non-small cell lung cancer patients harboring either exon 19 or 21 mutation. Lung Cancer 2012;77:556-560.
- 6. Maemondo M, Inoue A, Kobayashi K, et al. Gefitinib or chemotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer with mutated

EGFR. N Engl J Med 2010;362:2380-2388.

- Burotto M, Manasanch EE, Wilkerson J, et al. Gefitinib and erlotinib in metastatic non-small cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis of toxicity and efficacy of randomized clinical trials. Oncologist 2015;20:400-410.
- Welsh JW, Komaki R, Amini A, et al. Phase II trial of erlotinib plus concurrent whole-brain radiation therapy for patients with brain metastases from non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2013;31:895-902.
- 9. Weber B, Winterdahl M, Memon A, et al. Erlotinib accumulation in brain metastases from non-small cell lung cancer: visualization by positron emission tomography in a patient harboring a mutation in the epidermal growth factor receptor. J Thorac Oncol 2011;6:1287-1289.
- Akimoto T, Hunter NR, Buchmiller L, et al. Inverse relationship between epidermal growth factor receptor expression and radiocurability of murine carcinomas. Clin Cancer Res 1999;5:2884-2890.
- Chinnaiyan P, Huang S, Vallabhaneni G, et al. Mechanisms of enhanced radiation response following epidermal growth factor receptor signaling inhibition by erlotinib (Tarceva). Cancer Res 2005;65:3328-3335.

Cite this article as: Yang TJ, Wu AJ. Cranial irradiation in patients with *EGFR*-mutant non-small-cell lung cancer brain metastases. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2016;5(1):134-137. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2016.01.08

- Gerber NK, Yamada Y, Rimner A, et al. Erlotinib versus radiation therapy for brain metastases in patients with EGFR-mutant lung adenocarcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2014;89:322-329.
- Soon YY, Leong CN, Koh WY, et al. EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors versus cranial radiation therapy for EGFR mutant non-small cell lung cancer with brain metastases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Radiother Oncol 2015;114:167-172.
- Gow CH, Chien CR, Chang YL, et al. Radiotherapy in lung adenocarcinoma with brain metastases: effects of activating epidermal growth factor receptor mutations on clinical response. Clin Cancer Res 2008;14:162-168.
- Zeng YD, Zhang L, Liao H, et al. Gefitinib alone or with concomitant whole brain radiotherapy for patients with brain metastasis from non-small-cell lung cancer: a retrospective study. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2012;13:909-914.
- Lee SM, Lewanski CR, Counsell N, et al. Randomized trial of erlotinib plus whole-brain radiotherapy for NSCLC patients with multiple brain metastases. J Natl Cancer Inst 2014;106:dju151.

Advances in palliative radiotherapy of metastatic non-small cell lung cancer

Rakesh Kapoor, Vijai Simha

Department of Radiation Oncology, Regional Cancer Centre, Post Graduate Institute Of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh 160012, India *Contributions:* (I) Conception and design: R Kapoor; (II) Administrative support: PGIMER; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: V Simha; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: V Simha; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: V Simha; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Dr. Rakesh Kapoor, Professor. Department of Radiotherapy Post Graduate Institute Of Medical Education and Research Chandigarh 160012, India. Email: drkapoor.r@gmail.com.

Abstract: Radiotherapy has important role in the palliation of metastatic non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Randomized trials tend to suggest that, in general, short regimens give similar palliation though with more long term toxicity compared to longer regimens. Hypofractionated radiotherapy has been the standard of care for the palliative management of lung cancer since decades. Stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) and stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) are forms of extreme hypofractionation being used more frequently in the treatment of single or oligometastases. In general, they offer good tumor control with little toxicity (at a more expensive cost) compared to the traditionally fractionated radiotherapy regimens. The combination of targeted therapy with radiotherapy is an evolving concept in the management of metastatic lung cancer.

Keywords: Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC); hypofractionation; molecular targeted therapy; palliative care; radiosurgery

Submitted Jun 16, 2015. Accepted for publication Jul 30, 2015. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-676X.2015.08.02 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2218-676X.2015.08.02

Introduction

Patients with metastatic lung cancer have a poor prognosis and the therapeutic options are limited. Controlling their symptoms and maintaining their quality of life should be the principle of treatment. The primary goal of treatment is to use the most effective and the least toxic regimen for the treatment. Radiotherapy has largely been used to palliate non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) for this reason (1). Multiple prospective randomized trials using different dose or fractionation schedules have shown that palliative radiotherapy alleviate thoracic and extrathoracic symptoms in patients with locally advanced or metastatic NSCLC (1-3).Indications for thoracic radiation include hemoptysis, cough, chest pain, dyspnea, obstructive pneumonia, superior vena cava syndrome and hoarseness of voice. Indications for extra-thoracic radiation therapy were initially limited to brain and bone

but has now widened to include adrenal abdominal lymph nodal, liver and re-irradiation for spinal metastases. In a comprehensive review by the Cochrane Collaboration (4), no significant difference among short compared to long radiotherapy regimens in terms of palliation and hypofractionated radiotherapy is the standard of care. The clinical picture and the performance status of the patients must dictate the treatment regimen. Short course and simple treatments must be generally preferred. Our typical palliative dose is 8 Gy in single fraction or 30 Gy in 10 fractions which is simple, well tolerated, efficient and comparable to other regimens (5,6).

Advances in palliative radiotherapy of NSCLC

'Oligometastatic disease' is a disease state intermediate between localized disease and metastatic disease (7) where local treatment modalities have a role in reducing tumour burden and improving the long term survival. Surgery and stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) are the competing modalities; and it is being increasingly recognized that SBRT can provide results equivalent to surgery while being noninvasive and producing minimal complication rates (8). Among the sites favored for the local therapy for oligometastatic tumours are the liver, lung, spine and the adrenal glands. The volume and number of sites of oligometastatic disease are vital in the decision making for aggressive local therapy and affect survival outcomes. Also of increased interest in recent times is the evolving role of reirradiation to metastatic sites to achieve better quality of life (9,10).

SBRT for thoracic disease

SBRT or "stereotactic ablative radiotherapy" is a form of extreme hypofractionated radiation delivery. It utilizes hypofractionated precisely targeted high dose radiation to the tumor while minimizing radiation to adjacent normal tissue.

Stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) for the lung became possible because of the advent of 3D treatment planning and body immobilization devices to reduce intra- and inter-treatment movement of the tumour. It involves the use of 4DCT scans to manage the pulmonary motion during treatments. This technique allows treatment of small to moderate sized tumors, in either single or limited number of high daily dose fractions, with high chances of local control and little toxicity. Antitumour effects of extreme hypofractionation may be due to reasons beyond direct ionizing radiation induced DNA damage such as damage to the tumour vasculature, tumour stroma (11) and enhancement of tumour specific adaptive immune response (12). Clinically the expected results of hypofractionation have clearly overshot the expected efficacy with hypofractionation as arrived by radiobiological models particularly the LQ model. The role of hypofractionation in lung has been established due to improvement in the therapeutic ratio as the α/β ratio of the tumour is high compared to the α/β ratio of the surrounding lung parenchyma which is relatively higher. Also the fact that the peripheral part of the lung behaves as a parallel organ may be helpful in delivery of high doses per fraction in the treatment of lung tumours. Hypofractionated radiotherapy has shown benefit in clinical trials in the radical treatment of lung cancer (13,14). Even in the setting of highly conformal setting of SBRT, the mean lung dose (>4 Gy) and the volume receiving 20 Gy

(V₂₀>4%) has shown maximum correlation with radiation pneumonitis (15). This by itself shows the thin line between control and toxicity in a radiosensitive tissue like lung thus emphasizing the role of SBRT. SBRT also has a role in treating selected patients with painful bone metastases or with oligometastases in, liver spine and adrenals. The COMET study (stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for comprehensive treatment of oligometastatic tumors) (SABR-COMET) is a randomized Phase II Trial open in Europe and Canada, comparing patients with up to five metastatic lesions from any primary tumor site who can receive SABR. Eligible patients are randomized to either standard palliative radiotherapy versus SABR (16).

SBRT for liver oligometastasis

The incidence of metastasis to the liver is in the range of 30-70% of patients with metastatic lung cancer and a subset (10-15%) of patients have been shown to have oligometastatic disease in the liver. There has been gaining interest in surgical or non-surgical treatment of liver oligometastasis (17). Ercolani *et al.* have shown in their case series of survival of as high as 3 years (in one out of three patients) after surgical resection of oligometastatic disease to the liver (18). When radiation is used in the treatment of oligometastasis to the liver, it has been shown that the complication probabilities steeply rise with small increases in the dose. For a dose of 60 Gy delivered in three fractions by SBRT, it is recommended that <700 cc of the normal liver receive >15 Gy (19,20). This calls for accurate and conformal therapies.

SBRT in brain metastases

When brain metastases occur in patients with NSCLC, there is often active disease at the primary site or elsewhere in the body. In few cases, the brain is the only site with active disease (21).There are many guidelines on the treatment of brain metastases showing that therapeutic intervention (radiotherapy or surgery) is associated with improved control of disease in the brain (22).

SRS to the brain involves a single shot of high dose radiotherapy and can control very efficiently one to few metastases either close to the surface or deep in the brain (23). No randomized trials have compared SRS with traditional surgical resection. The traditional whole brain radiotherapy (WBRT) treats the metastases and may also prevent the growth of new metastases, but may cause side effects such as memory loss. Recent Cochrane review shows that there is low quality evidence that adding upfront WBRT to surgery or to SRS decreases any intracranial disease progression at 1 year. There is also no clear evidence of an effect on overall survival and progression free survival (24). However a phase III trial comparing WBRT and stereotactic boost treatment showed improved functional autonomy performance status for all patients and survival for patients with a single unresectable brain metastasis. WBRT and stereotactic radiosurgery has been as a standard treatment for patients with a surgically unresectable oligometastasis (25).

SRS has become increasingly important treatment technique in the management of brain metastases, but it is not available everywhere and it is more expensive than WBRT. An approach of SRS alone as initial treatment of brain metastases has allowed patients to delay or avoid WBRT and its associated side effects (26). The benefit of SRS in resource poor settings and the cost-benefit ratio is yet to be defined.

Adrenal metastasis

Metastatic disease from a NSCLC to the adrenal gland is common, and systemic treatment is the therapeutic option of choice. However patients with isolated adrenal metastasis have shown good response after surgical resection. The non-invasive option is SBRT (27) which has shown markedly improved progression free survival times and modest improvement in overall survival (28).

Spinal lesions

Durable pain control is one of the primary goals for metastatic spinal lesions which can be achieved by sustained local control. It has been shown that the local control is gradually lost over a period of time after conventional radiotherapy to spinal metastasis (6,29). This lays the foundation for dose escalation for durable pain relief with SBRT by delivery of higher biologically equivalent dose at the time of initial irradiation. Also in re-irradiation of metastases, the margin for error is very small due to the low tolerance of the spinal cord (30). Significant reductions in patient-reported pain and other symptoms were evident 6 months after SBRT, along with satisfactory progressionfree survival and no late spinal cord toxicities (31). Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) study number 0631 is an open Phase II/III Study of Image-Guided SBRT for localized spine metastasis comparing one treatment of 16 Gy delivered with SBRT versus a single fraction of 8 Gy.

Targeted therapy with palliative radiotherapy

When used in combination with radiotherapy, molecularly targeted agents aim to increase the effect of the radiation on the tumor. Substantial preclinical data have accumulated to show that these agents can potentially enhance the tumor response to radiotherapy through a variety of mechanisms (32). They offer new but challenging possibilities for clinical practice. There is a growing evidence for combination of radiotherapy and targeted therapies in other cancers (e.g., head and neck cancers) (33,34). However the addition of targeted agents to thoracic radiation so far has not improved outcomes in patients with locally advanced NSCLC (35,36).

The combination of radiotherapy and molecular agents targeting vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) mediated angiogenesis may result in synergistic effects leading to enhanced tumor cell killing on the one hand, but to enhanced normal tissue damage on the other hand (37). To date, there are only limited data on the efficacy and toxicity of anti-angiogenic agents given in combination with radiotherapy in lung cancer. Given the strong preclinical rationale for combining Epidermal Growth Factor Inhibitor inhibitors (Cetuximab, Panitumumab, Erlotinib, Gefitinib, Lapatinib, and Trastuzumab) with radiation, additional studies are needed. Phase I/II data and lack of long-term experience suggest that physicians should consider combined modality approaches with caution, considering the possibility of uncommon but potentially severe toxicity (38). With high-precision irradiation techniques (such as SBRT), the combination with targeted agents is feasible with apparent no increase in severe adverse events. Phase III trials involving addition of erlotinib or Temozolomide to radiosensitize WBRT failed to show any benefit (39). In another trial which attempted to substitute erlotinib for WBRT showed that the incidence of intracranial failures was high in the erlotinib arm (40) suggesting that targeted therapies can never substitute for WBRT in NSCLC with brain metastasis. Nevertheless, the addition of molecular targeted drugs to radiotherapy outside of approved regimens or clinical trials warrants careful consideration on a case by case basis.

There is still a debate on the timing of combining targeted agents with radiation and is an open area for future research.

It cannot be assumed that giving the drug concurrently with radiation (as it happens with chemotherapy) is always the optimal treatment strategy. Indeed, drugs that cause cell cycle arrest or prolong cells in the radio-resistant phase of the cell cycle may jeopardize the radiation effect (34).

Brachytherapy

High dose rate (HDR) endobronchial brachytherapy for palliation of hemoptysis or obstruction as these sites are not amenable to ablation by stereotactic techniques (using doses between 6 and 10 Gy at 1 cm). Hypofractionation is the underlying principle in this setting also. However this is not in common use the rarity of the clinical picture meriting brachytherapy. External radiation alone is more effective than endobronchial brachytherapy for symptom palliation in previously untreated patients with endobronchial NSCLC. Endo-bronchial therapy is recommended for symptomatic patients with recurrent endobronchial obstruction previously treated by radiation, provided it is technically feasible (41).

Cost benefit ratio in SBRT

The basic principle of palliative case is to do best with as little as possible. Though these advanced techniques offer conformal and accurate doses with adequate palliation of symptoms and better quality of life, they have to be evaluated in terms of increased costs associated with the treatment particularly in developing countries where the patient himself bears the cost of the treatment. Cost effective analysis from various trials comparing SBRT with other treatment modalities showed that the treatment outcomes are comparable or superior compared to other treatment modalities and are cost effective in the long run (42). SBRT compared to other modalities was more effective in freeing up hospital resources and allowing patients to resume normal activities earlier thus minimizing indirect costs (43,44).

Conclusions

With the newer advancements in radiation delivery techniques allowing a very high precise radiation dose to a well localized target, there is a wealth of data for the practice of evidence based medicine in the palliative management of lung cancer. Advocating aggressive management of oligometastatic disease offers the potential for enhanced quality and quantity of survival. This has not only widened the scope of palliative radiation in the metastatic setting as well as re-irradiation of previously treated sites.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Okawara G, Mackay JA, Evans WK, et al. Management of unresected stage III non-small cell lung cancer: a systematic review. J Thorac Oncol 2006;1:377-393.
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network. Treatment Guidelines – NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer 20th edition.
- Rodrigues G, Videtic GM, Sur R, et al. Palliative thoracic radiotherapy in lung cancer: An American Society for Radiation Oncology evidence-based clinical practice guideline. Pract Radiat Oncol 2011;1:60-71.
- Lester JF, Macbeth FR, Toy E, et al. Palliative radiotherapy regimens for non-small cell lung cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2006.CD002143.
- Sundstrøm S, Bremnes R, Aasebø U, et al. Hypofractionated palliative radiotherapy (17 Gy per two fractions) in advanced non-small-cell lung carcinoma is comparable to standard fractionation for symptom control and survival: a national phase III trial. J Clin Oncol 2004;22:801-810.
- Steenland E, Leer JW, van Houwelingen H, et al. The effect of a single fraction compared to multiple fractions on painful bone metastases: a global analysis of the Dutch Bone Metastasis Study. Radiother Oncol 1999;52:101-109.
- Hellman S, Weichselbaum RR. Oligometastases. J Clin Oncol 1995;13:8-10.
- Hasselle MD, Haraf DJ, Rusthoven KE, et al. Hypofractionated image-guided radiation therapy for patients with limited volume metastatic non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2012;7:376-381.
- Maranzano E, Trippa F, Casale M, et al. Reirradiation of metastatic spinal cord compression: definitive results of two randomized trials. Radiother Oncol 2011;98:234-237.
- 10. Rades D, Stalpers LJ, Veninga T, et al. Spinal

Kapoor and Simha. Palliative radiotherapy

reirradiation after short-course RT for metastatic spinal cord compression. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005;63:872-875.

- Park HJ, Griffin RJ, Hui S, et al. Radiation-induced vascular damage in tumors: implications of vascular damage in ablative hypofractionated radiotherapy (SBRT and SRS). Radiat Res 2012;177:311-327.
- 12. Hellevik T, Martinez-Zubiaurre I. Radiotherapy and the tumor stroma: the importance of dose and fractionation. Front Oncol 2014;4:1.
- Cheung PC, Yeung LT, Basrur V, et al. Accelerated hypofractionation for early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2002;54:1014-1023.
- 14. Maguire PD, Marks LB, Sibley GS, et al. 73.6 Gy and beyond: hyperfractionated, accelerated radiotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2001;19:705-711.
- 15. Barriger RB, Forquer JA, Brabham JG, et al. A dosevolume analysis of radiation pneumonitis in nonsmall cell lung cancer patients treated with stereotactic body radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012;82:457-462.
- 16. Palma DA, Haasbeek CJ, Rodrigues GB, et al. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for comprehensive treatment of oligometastatic tumors (SABR-COMET): study protocol for a randomized phase II trial. BMC Cancer 2012;12:305.
- Di Carlo I, Grasso G, Patane' D, et al. Liver metastases from lung cancer: is surgical resection justified? Ann Thorac Surg 2003;76:291-293.
- Ercolani G, Ravaioli M, Grazi GL, et al. The role of liver resections for metastases from lung carcinoma. HPB (Oxford) 2006;8:114-115.
- Baisden JM, Reish AG, Sheng K, et al. Dose as a function of liver volume and planning target volume in helical tomotherapy, intensity-modulated radiation therapy-based stereotactic body radiation therapy for hepatic metastasis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006;66:620-625.
- Rusthoven KE, Kavanagh BD, Cardenes H, et al. Multi-institutional phase I/II trial of stereotactic body radiation therapy for liver metastases. J Clin Oncol 2009;27:1572-1578.
- Ashworth A, Rodrigues G, Boldt G, et al. Is there an oligometastatic state in non-small cell lung cancer? A systematic review of the literature. Lung Cancer 2013;82:197-203.
- 22. Tsao MN, Rades D, Wirth A, et al. Radiotherapeutic and surgical management for newly diagnosed brain metastasis(es): An American Society for Radiation Oncology evidence-based guideline. Pract Radiat Oncol

2012;2:210-225.

- Khalsa SS, Chinn M, Krucoff M, et al. The role of stereotactic radiosurgery for multiple brain metastases in stable systemic disease: a review of the literature. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 2013;155:1321-1327; discussion 1327-1328.
- Soon YY, Tham IW, Lim KH, et al. Surgery or radiosurgery plus whole brain radiotherapy versus surgery or radiosurgery alone for brain metastases. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014;3:CD009454.
- 25. Andrews DW, Scott CB, Sperduto PW, et al. Whole brain radiation therapy with or without stereotactic radiosurgery boost for patients with one to three brain metastases: phase III results of the RTOG 9508 randomised trial. Lancet 2004;363:1665-1672.
- Halasz LM, Rockhill JK. Stereotactic radiosurgery and stereotactic radiotherapy for brain metastases. Surg Neurol Int 2013;4:S185-S191.
- Scorsetti M, Mancosu P, Navarria P, Tozzi A, Castiglioni S, Clerici E, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for adrenal metastases: a feasibility study of advanced techniques with modulated photons and protons. Strahlenther Onkol 2011;187:238-244.
- Holy R, Piroth M, Pinkawa M, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for treatment of adrenal gland metastases from non-small cell lung cancer. Strahlenther Onkol 2011;187:245-251.
- 29. Mizumoto M, Harada H, Asakura H, et al. Radiotherapy for patients with metastases to the spinal column: a review of 603 patients at Shizuoka Cancer Center Hospital. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;79:208-213.
- 30. Chang EL, Shiu AS, Lii MF, et al. Phase I clinical evaluation of near-simultaneous computed tomographic image-guided stereotactic body radiotherapy for spinal metastases. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2004;59:1288-1294.
- 31. Wang XS, Rhines LD, Shiu AS, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for management of spinal metastases in patients without spinal cord compression: a phase 1-2 trial. Lancet Oncol 2012;13:395-402.
- 32. Lin SH, George TJ, Ben-Josef E, et al. Opportunities and challenges in the era of molecularly targeted agents and radiation therapy. J Natl Cancer Inst 2013;105:686-693.
- Niyazi M, Maihoefer C, Krause M, et al. Radiotherapy and "new" drugs-new side effects? Radiat Oncol 2011;6:177.
- Searle EJ, Illidge TM, Stratford IJ. Emerging opportunities for the combination of molecularly targeted drugs with radiotherapy. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2014;26:266-276.

76

- 35. Spigel DR, Hainsworth JD, Yardley DA, et al. Tracheoesophageal fistula formation in patients with lung cancer treated with chemoradiation and bevacizumab. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:43-48.
- Sacco PC, Maione P, Rossi A, et al. Combination of radiotherapy and targeted therapies in the treatment of locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer. Target Oncol 2011;6:171-180.
- Mazeron R, Anderson B, Supiot S, Paris F, Deutsch E. Current state of knowledge regarding the use of antiangiogenic agents with radiation therapy. Cancer Treat Rev 2011;37:476-486.
- Xu Y, Zhang Y, Ma S. EGFR inhibitors with concurrent thoracic radiation therapy for locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2011;73:249-255.
- 39. Sperduto PW, Wang M, Robins HI, et al. A phase 3 trial of whole brain radiation therapy and stereotactic radiosurgery alone versus WBRT and SRS with temozolomide or erlotinib for non-small cell lung cancer and 1 to 3 brain metastases: Radiation Therapy Oncology Group 0320. Int

Cite this article as: Kapoor R, Simha V. Advances in palliative radiotherapy of metastatic non-small cell lung cancer. Transl Cancer Res 2015;4(4):397-402. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-676X.2015.08.02

J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;85:1312-1318.

- Gerber NK, Yamada Y, Rimner A, et al. Erlotinib versus radiation therapy for brain metastases in patients with EGFR-mutant lung adenocarcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2014;89:322-329.
- Ung YC, Yu E, Falkson C, et al. The role of high-doserate brachytherapy in the palliation of symptoms in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer: a systematic review. Brachytherapy 2006;5:189-202.
- Bijlani A, Aguzzi G, Schaal DW, et al. Stereotactic radiosurgery and stereotactic body radiation therapy costeffectiveness results. Front Oncol 2013;3:77.
- 43. Papatheofanis FJ, Williams E, Chang SD. Cost-utility analysis of the cyberknife system for metastatic spinal tumors. Neurosurgery 2009;64:A73-A83.
- 44. Vuong DA, Rades D, Le AN, et al. The cost-effectiveness of stereotactic radiosurgery versus surgical resection in the treatment of brain metastasis in Vietnam from the perspective of patients and families. World Neurosurg 2012;77:321-328.

Can proton beam therapy be clinically relevant for the management of lung cancer?

Huan Giap¹, Domingos Roda², Fantine Giap³

¹Scripps Proton Therapy Center, San Diego, CA, USA; ²Portuguese Oncology Institute Francisco Gentil, Coimbra, Portugal; ³University of Texas at Southwestern, Dallas, TX, USA

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: All authors; (II) Administrative support: All authors; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: H Giap; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: All authors; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: All authors; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Huan Giap, MD, Ph.D. Scripps Proton Therapy Center, San Diego, CA 92121, USA. Email: giap.huan@scrippshealth.org.

Abstract: Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer death in the USA and worldwide. Radiation has played a significant role in the treatment of all types and stages of lung cancer. Despite improvement in lung cancer treatment over the past few decades, the mortality and treatment morbidities for lung cancer patients remain high. Lung cancer treatment often requires multi-modality approaches. Radiation therapy (RT) for lung cancer is challenging due to pre-existing morbidity, poor lung tolerance and its location near by critical organs (heart, esophagus, spinal cord). Conventional RT with photon has improved, but has reached a plateau. Particle beam therapy is promising due to the ability to spare normal surrounding tissues from unnecessary collateral radiation. Particle beam therapy has been used in the past decade in USA and Japan with encouraging results. This article will review the basic physics and radiobiology of particle beam therapy and their role in the management of early stage, locally advanced, and recurrent lung cancer.

Keywords: Proton therapy; particle beam therapy; lung cancer; intensity modulated proton therapy (IMPT)

Submitted Apr 02, 2015. Accepted for publication May 07, 2015. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-676X.2015.08.15 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2218-676X.2015.08.15

Introduction

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer death in the United States and worldwide (1). According to the American Cancer Society, there were 221,200 new cases and an estimated 158,040 deaths in the USA in 2015. Mortality for lung cancer is higher than prostate, breast, colorectal, and pancreatic cancers combined. Local control (LC) is important for lung cancer. Failure to control local disease in the thorax accounts for 2/3 of deaths for lung cancer.

In terms of treatment, lung cancer has been divided into two major histologic types: non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and small cell lung cancer (SCLC). According to SEER data, SCLC accounts for 10-15% of all lung cancer, and they are typically treated by systemic therapy. The rest are NSCLC, which have an overall prognosis of 15% 5-year survival. Lung cancer survival significantly decreases with later staging (SEER). Early stages IA and IB have 49% and 45% 5-year survival, respectively. Stage IIA and IIB have about 30% 5-year survival. However, there is sharp decline in survival from stages IIIA (14%) to IIIB (5%) to IV (1%). Treatment guidelines have been developed by the National Cancer Care Network (NCCN) depending on the stage of the disease at presentation.

Local disease is the major cause of symptoms in lung cancer patients. Radiation therapy (RT) plays a role in almost all stages of lung cancer. For stage I NSCLC, surgery alone is recommended for medically operable tumors. Alternatively, RT is used as a sole modality to treat stage I NSCLC for patients who are medically inoperable or refuse surgery. In stage II-III NSCLC, radiation is used in combination with systemic therapy (chemotherapy and/ or targeted therapy) and sometimes surgery to provide definitive treatment. Radiation is also used in limited stage SCLC in combination with systemic therapy for curative

treatment. RT is the most effective treatment for palliation for stage IV lung cancer (2).

Treatment of lung cancer is challenging due to: (I) most patients are diagnosed at late stages III or IV; (II) most lung patients are elderly (2/3 patients are 65 years old or older) and often have co-morbidities; (III) current treatments for lung cancer are difficult to tolerate since they require radical surgery and/or combined systemic cytotoxic drugs and radiation to the above organs; (IV) lung cancers are radiation-resistant and surrounded by healthy lung tissues, which are radiation sensitive. Furthermore, lung tumors are often located near other critical organs such as the heart, esophagus, and spinal cord. Too much radiation to the lung can cause radiation pneumonitis, which can decrease lung function, require long term steroid and oxygen, and sometimes cause death. The risk of radiation pneumonitis is dependent on both irradiated volume and dose. Radiation esophagitis can cause pain and difficulty with swallowing, hence causing weight loss. Sometimes, it can cause ulceration and stenosis as late side effects. Too much radiation to the heart can lead to major cardiac adverse events such as myocardial infarction, pericarditis, etc. Similar to the lung, the risk of complication to the heart and esophagus is both dose and volume dependent.

Thus, any improvements to lung cancer radiation treatment would ideally increase dose to the tumor and/ or decrease dose to surrounding healthy tissues. Because of the Bragg peak effect, particle beam treatment has unique physical properties that allow RT to be delivered with less normal tissue exposure compared with photon-based RT (3); hence, lung cancer is a perfect application for particle beam therapy for these reasons. In this article, the role of proton beam therapy (PBT) in lung cancer is explored in three scenarios: (I) early stage lung cancer; (II) locally advanced lung cancer; (III) recurrent lung cancer.

Physics and radiobiology of proton beam therapy

Starting in the mid 1950's, over 130,000 patients have undergone particle beam treatments, of which, about 110,000 are proton and the rest are light ions such as carbon and helium. Traditionally, the therapeutic use of charged particles is motivated primarily by their inverted depth-dose profile from the Bragg peak; thus, the collateral damage induced in healthy tissues surrounding the tumor is limited. Distinct beams of different energies can then be integrated to achieve the prescribed dose in a region as large as the target volume, resulting in the production of



Figure 1 Schematic of dose distribution along a single line for proton versus other types of radiation. The Bragg peak and SOBP are demonstrated. SOBP, spread-out Bragg peak; SSD, source-toskin.

what is designated as the spread-out Bragg peak (SOBP) (4) (Figure 1). A proton is produced by removing the orbiting electron from the hydrogen atom, resulting in a positively charged hydrogen ion. These ions are further accelerated to a typical energy of 70-250 mega electron-volts (MeV) in an accelerator such as synchrotron, or cyclotron. These protons are then delivered to a patient precisely to the appropriate depth in the body through either a "passive scattering" or "beam scanning" technique (5). Protons can be delivered with two different radiation techniques: passive scattering proton therapy (PSPT) or pencil beam scanning technique (PBS). In PSPT, the tumor volume is irradiated as a whole, using collimators and compensators for dose conformality. With PBS, the target volume is scanned spotby-spot with a narrow proton beam, sequential targeting of 300 to 600 spots in a voxel-like array, enabling intensitymodulated proton therapy (IMPT) (6,7).

Charged particles such as protons have minimal ionization along their beam path, the dose delivered to any point along the path is minimal, and the entrance dose for an individual beam is less than that for a comparable photon beam (8). Consequently, deep-seated tumors, especially those close to organs at risk (OAR), represent an ideal configuration for exploiting the advantageous physical characteristics of charged particle beams (5). Typically, the integral dose delivered to the body can be 2-3 times lower with protons when compared to X-rays delivered by intensity modulated radiation therapy (IMRT) (9). The increased linear energy transfer (LET) compared to X-rays when protons are near the Bragg peak is correlated with a localized energy deposition and induction of enhanced unrepairable biological damage (10). Protons are also different from photon irradiation in terms of killing power. The relative biological effectiveness (RBE) for proton RT is estimated at 1.1 times that for photons. Hence, proton RT has theoretically 10% more cancer kill capability for each gray (Gy) than photon RT (11). As historically described in the literature, this absorbed energy leads to breaks in DNA strands and free radical formation, resulting in cell death predominantly in rapidly reproducing tissue. Tumor response, as we now know, is strongly associated with local microenvironment, communication, and interaction between cancer cells and healthy cells, as well as among targeted and non-targeted cells (12).

A current aspect of discussion is whether the use of a fixed relative biological effectiveness in PBT is still appropriate, or if a variable RBE is more pertinent taking into account the dependency on LET, tissue properties, total dose, and dose fractionation (5). The main benefits of PBT when compared to photon are based on the above mentioned interactions with matter when the particles are traveling in a patient. The fact that the proton beam virtually stops at the target volume results in marginal radiation exposure beyond the tumor, allowing for the sparing of distally placed tissues (13). In contrast, photons travel through the entire body from the entrance to the exit point. This difference in dosage to distal OAR makes proton therapy a more ideal treatment option for tumors surrounded by critical tissues. Maximal sparing of these crucial organs is important in potentially improving patient outcomes (survival, quality of life, and toxicity) (11).

From a genuinely physics point of view, the dose distribution of protons is in most cases superior to that of photons. The lateral dose fall-off or beam penumbra is better than photon at shallow depth, then it becomes worse for protons as the proton beam travels deep into the tissue (14). Several studies demonstrate that PBT allows the delivery of higher tumor doses compared to photons while sparing healthy tissues. The Radiation Oncology Collaborative Comparison consortium performed a planning study for 25 NSCLC, stage IA-IIIB patients. On 4D F18-labeled fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) positron emission tomography (PET)-computed tomography (CT) scans, the gross tumor, clinical and planning target volumes, and OAR were delineated and it was illustrated that passive scatter proton therapy resulted in the lowest dose to the OARs, while keeping the dose to the target at 70 Gy. The integral dose was higher for 3D-Conformal RT (CRT)

(59%) and IMRT (43%) than for PSPT. The mean lung dose was 18.9 Gy for 3D-CRT, 16.4 Gy for IMRT, and 13.5 Gy for PSPT (15). Chang *et al.* completed a planning study comparing 3D-CRT, IMRT, and PSPT in 25 patients with stage I-III NSCLC. Using photons, the mean tumor dose of 63 Gy and the mean V20 (lung) was 34.8%, compared to a mean proton dose of 74 cobalt gray equivalent (CGE) to the tumor and a mean V20 (lung) of 31.6%. The authors concluded that proton treatment appears to reduce dose to normal tissues significantly, even with dose escalation, compared with standard-dose photon therapy, either 3D-CRT or IMRT (16). In stage I NSCLC, protons also achieved lower doses to OARs than photon stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) (17).

It is essential to recognize that range uncertainties, or uncertainty regarding where the proximal and distal edges of the Bragg peak will be in the patient, are a perilous component to proton therapy planning (18,19). In hypodense tissues, where beam attenuation is low (e.g., lung), this consideration carries a major importance, especially at the most distal part of the SOBP. Because of organ motion as well as changes in lung density during respiration, PBT in the lung requires significantly more effort in planning and dose validation (2).

Proton therapy for early stage lung cancer

SBRT surface has been found to be as effective as surgery in regards to primary tumor control rates and overall survival (OS) for patients who refuse surgery or with medically inoperable early-stage lung cancer (20-22).

Since 1999 studies have reported an 80 to 90 percent rate of LC for patients with stage I NSCLC treated with hypofractionated proton beam radiotherapy (23-27). Supporting the idea that a higher dose can result in better tumor control, dose escalation has been actively studied in the past two decades. These clinical investigations confirmed a dose-response relationship both in terms of LC and OS duration (28).

Bush *et al.* reported phase I-II study from Loma Linda University for a group of 111 patients with NSCLC stage T1-2 N0 using a 2-week course of hypofractionated proton therapy for 60-70 Gy in 10 treatments with tolerable side effect and good LC (about 75% for T2 patients at 4 years), no grade 3 pneumonitis, or change in FEV1 or DLCO function. There were four patients with rib fractures (tumor abutting the chest wall).

The range uncertainties were studied and compared

The second		
	Advantages	Disadvantages
Photons	 Heterogeneous dose within tumor can be used for hypoxic centers 	Higher exit doseScattered dose
	 Arc therapy can spread out exit dose 	 Increased risk of second malignancy
	 depth-dose profile minimally affected 	Relatively high entrance dose
Protons	Relatively low entrance dose	• Very sensitive to tumor motion or tumor shrinking
	Maximum dose at depth	Range uncertainties
	No exit dose	 Variation in patient anatomy anywhere in the beam
	Reduction in integral dose	path can lead to severe degradation of the actual
	 Homogeneous dose reducing hotspots within tumor 	delivered dose

Table 1 Advantages and disadvantages of using protons and photons for stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT).



Figure 2 Comparative dosimetry for photon (A) versus proton (B). At the high dose region near the tumor, the photon IMRT plan is more conformal than the proton plan due to added margin for range uncertainty for proton. At the low dose region, there is more sparing of the normal structures (heart, lung, esophagus, and spinal cord). IMRT, intensity modulated radiation therapy.

the use of protons and photons for SBRT for NSCLC by Seco *et al.* (29). The authors attempted an overview of the advantages and disadvantages of the usage of this different particles reproduced in *Table 1*.

This concept is demonstrated in *Figure 2*, which shows the comparative dosimetry with photon plan on the left and proton plan on the right. The photon plan has higher dose conformity at the high dose region near the tumor due to range uncertainty while the proton plan can spare much better at the low dose region. An example of an actual patient is shown in *Figure 3*.

Some authors explored dose escalation with SBRT using proton. Onishi *et al.* found that among different SBRT regimens, a biologically effective dose (BED) of at least 100 Gy is associated with a higher 5-year LC rate (91.9% *vs.* 73.6%) and longer OS (88.4% *vs.* 69.4%) than a BED of less than 100 Gy (30). Bush *et al.* reported treatment dose escalated from 51 to 70 CGE in 10 fractions for 111 patients (T1/T2) (4). LC and survival were wellestablished to improve with escalated doses. OS at 5 years was 18%, 32%, and 51% at 51 CGE, 60 CGE, and 70 CGE. Nonetheless, tumors greater than 5 cm were associated with worse LC. There were no cases of radiation pneumonitis, suggesting room for increased dose delivery to improve outcomes (3). Nihei et al., reported treatment dose between 70-94 CGE in 20 fractions for 37 patients (T1/T2 <5 cm) (25). Two-year LC and survival were 98% and 84%, respectively. Late pulmonary toxicity was associated with tumor shrinkage during treatment, demonstrating the need for adaptive replanning (31). Recently, Makita et al. (24) explored toxicities and prognostic factors related to two high-dose PBT protocols (BED ≥ 100 Gy) for treatment of stage I NSCLC. Patients (n=32) with peripherally located tumors were given 66 Gy (RBE) over 10 fractions while patients (n=24) with centrally located tumors were given 80 Gy (RBE) over 25 fractions. The three-year OS, progression-free survival (PFS), LC rates were 81.3%, 73.4%, and 96.0%, respectively.

The authors concluded that both high-dose PBT protocols achieved high LC rates with tolerable toxicities



Figure 3 Intensity modulation proton therapy (IMPT) was used to treat this early stage non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), stage T2 N0 M0, with 65 Gy in 10 fractions, using a posterior and right anterior oblique field. The PET/CT images below showed tumor prior to treatment (A), at 2 months after treatment (B), and 10 months after the treatment (D). The PET/CT image taken at 2 months (B) showed the inflammation in the treated area and a reactive lymph node in the mediastinum. PET, positron emission tomography.

and that the standardized uptake value was a significant prognostic factor.

At Scripps Proton Therapy Center, patient is set-up in supine position with both arms above the head and immobilized with a vacuum bag and head holder *Figure 4*. 4D CT scan was done using Varian RPM system to evaluate tumor motion. If the tumor motion is 1 cm or less, then the ITV approach was done. The GTV was contoured on lung window on inspiration and expiration phases, GTV was expanded with 5 mm margin for CTV (excluding chest wall or bronchus). The two CTV are combined to form ITV. Setup uncertainty (5 mm) and range uncertainty are added to form beam specific PTV as shown in *Figure 4*. Typically, two fields are used to treat the tumor daily, and orthogonal kV images were obtained for each field prior to the treatment.

For patients with tumor more than 1 cm, then we use the deep inspiration breath hold (DIBH) technique with the SDX Spirometric Motion Management System (QFix, Avondale, PA, USA) as shown in *Figure 5*. The system consists of a spirometric breathing device, goggle, and a computer system. The system allows patients to voluntarily hold their breath at a set level with the visual feedback.

Figure 6 showed a case of early stage lung cancer that was treated using the SDX system to mitigate the tumor motion. Intensity modulation proton therapy (IMPT) was used to treat this early stage non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) with 70 Gy in 10 fractions. Two posterior fields were used. Tumor motion was minimized using the SDX system. The panels below showed the PET/CT images before (A) and 8 months after treatment (B).

Proton therapy for locally advanced lung cancer

Stage II/III NSCLC are treated with combination of chemotherapy and RT. Median survival for stage II/III



Figure 4 Typical patient setup for lung treatment (A) at Scripps Proton Therapy Center, and ITV contouring were derived for tumor with motion less than 1 cm.



Figure 5 Organ motion management with SDX Spirometric Motion Management System. This is used for tumor motion more than 1 cm.



Figure 6 Organ motion management with SDX Spirometric Motion Management System is used for treatment of lung tumor with more than 1 cm motion for this T1 No Mo NSCLC. The PET/CT below showed the tumor before (A) and 8 months (B) after the treatment. NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; PET, positron emission tomography.



Figure 7 Improvement in median survival for stage II/III NSCLC over the last 40 years (32-36). NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer.

NSCLC has improved from 12 months in the mid 1980 (RTOG 7301) to 29 months currently (RTOG 0617), as shown in *Figure* 7.

RTOG 9410 clinical trial demonstrated better median survival (17 months over 15 months) and lower local relapse rate (41% vs. 50%) of concurrent chemo-radiation over

sequential chemotherapy followed RT of 60 Gy. This gain is offset by higher rate of grade 3 or higher GI toxicity (23% vs. 4%). The grade 3 or higher lung toxicity is about 13-14% for these groups of patients. Elective nodal radiation was done in this study, and 3-D conformal photon radiation was used. RTOG 0617 compared dose escalation of 74 vs. 60 Gy, both are given concurrently with systemic therapy. The patients in the lower dose arm has better median survival of 28.7 vs. 20.3 months (36). This study does not use elective nodal irradiation and radiation was given by either 3-D conformal or IMRT technique with photon. Subsequent analysis of this study speculated that the lower survival in patients of higher dose group due to the cardiac toxicity, radiation pneumonitis and esophagitis, and possible geographic miss. There is a current prospective randomized study comparing proton versus photon IMRT (concurrent with platinum doublet chemotherapy) for stage II to IIIB NSCLC at MD Anderson and MGH. The maximum dose of 74 Gy in 2 Gy per fraction is prescribed if dose tolerance is achievable, if not, then dose is reduced by 2 Gy step



Figure 8 Comparing dose distribution of passive scatter proton therapy (left) and IMPT (right). IMPT has better dose conformality to target, normal organ sparing, and allow simultaneous boost. IMRT, intensity modulated radiation therapy.

until dose constraints to all OAR are met. This RTOG 1308 protocol has enrolled about 300 patients of total 560 patients at the time of this writeup, and the median heart dose is lower in the proton arm.

Chang *et al.* reported a phase II trial in which 44 patients were treated with proton therapy for a dose of 74 Cobalt Gray Equivalent (CGE) in 37 fractions with concurrent chemotherapy (carboplatin and paclitaxel) (37). In this study, the median OS was 29.4 months, PFS is 63% and OS is 86% at 1 year. Local failure was 9%, and no patient experienced grade 4 or 5 proton-related adverse events.

Sejpal *et al.* (38) compared the outcomes of PBT + chemotherapy (n=62), 3D-CRT + chemotherapy (n=74), and IMRT + chemotherapy (n=66) in patients with stage III NSCLC. The median total radiation dose was 63 Gy and 74 CGE respectively the photon and proton groups. The incidence of severe pneumonitis and esophagitis was lower in the proton group even with higher radiation dose. The median survival times were 17.7 months for the 3-D CRT group, 17.6 months for the IMRT group, and 24.4 months for the proton therapy group (P=0.1). It can be predicted that higher doses of PBT could be delivered to lung tumors with lower rates of esophagitis and pneumonitis, despite current concern regarding the apparent lack of benefit and potentially harmful of dose escalation in locally advanced

(stage III) NSCLC (36).

Grutters *et al.* (39) performed a meta-analysis of observational studies comparing photon, proton, and carbon-ion radiotherapy in the treatment of NSCLC, in which they concluded that proton beam radiotherapy did not offer a statistically significant improvement in OS when compared to photon-based stereotactic RT. However, both modalities were significantly better than conventional photon RT. Particle therapy may be more beneficial in stage III NSCLC, especially in reducing adverse events, and may spare lung volumes from receiving low-dose irradiation from exiting photon beams (39). Thus, proton therapy may offer an advantage by safely delivering higher doses within a short overall treatment time (hypofractionation) (40).

Majority of current proton therapy in the USA is done using passive scatter proton therapy. There are few centers exploring the use of pencil beam scanning. There are several modes of pencil beam scanning such as uniform scanning, spot scanning, raster scanning. A detailed descriptions is beyond the scope of this article. Pencil beam scanning allows the use of intensity modulated proton therapy (IMPT). IMPT is more subjective to organ motion; however, IMPT allows for better dose conformality and organ sparing. IMPT also allows simultaneous boost within the target volume. An example of dose distribution is shown in *Figure 8*.



Figure 9 This 76 year old male with diagnosis of NSCLC (squamous cell carcinoma), who was treated concurrent chemotherapy and IMRT for 70 Gy in 35 fractions [panel (A)]. He then developed local recurrence about 2 years later [panel (B)], who then received salvage systemic chemotherapy for 6 months without change. He received salvage proton therapy using IMPT [panel (C)] for a dose of 66 Gy in 33 fractions with concurrent cisplatin. Patient tolerated the treatment well. He had a follow up with PET/CT 10 months later showing good response [panel (D)]. Patient is doing clinically well with no evidence of disease and no late toxicity. NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; PET, positron emission tomography; IMRT, intensity modulated radiation therapy.

Proton therapy for recurrent lung cancer

Patients, who have previous received RT and now with local recurrence, present a challenge to current treatment. They are often not a surgical candidate and systemic chemotherapy does not work well in this patient population. Re-irradiation with SBRT or proton therapy offers a new curative treatment modality with reasonable side effect profile. SBRT works well in patients with a small recurrence with lots of motions and not in central location (2 cm away from the main bronchus and trachea). SBRT is given with 5 or fewer fractions and chemotherapy is not given concurrently. For patient with larger tumor and/or nodal recurrence in area of less motion, proton therapy is a better option. Re-irradiation with proton therapy can be given as hypofractionated or standard fractionation regimen and can be given concurrently with systemic chemotherapy. The larger and the more complex shape of the tumor, the better proton therapy is. The majority of these patients need sparing of the remaining healthy lung (even at low dose), heart, and esophagus. This is where proton excels. There are several phase I-II trials ongoing investigating role of proton therapy for this group of patients. *Figures 9,10* shows cases of re-treatment with IMPT for two patients with local recurrent NSCLC after previous radiation treatment.

Current clinical trials

At the time of this writing, there are 17 clinical trials that are investigating the use of proton therapy for lung cancer. Of the trials, 13 are open to patient accrual and 4 are closed. There is one pilot study, 13 phase I and/or II studies, one phase III study, and two medical physics studies. Ten of the trials are single institution, while the other seven are multi-



Figure 10 This 72 year old male with diagnosis of NSCLC (adenocarcinoma), who was treated with SBRT with CyberKnife for 54 Gy in 3 fractions. He then developed local recurrence about 3 years later [panel (A)]. He received salvage proton therapy using IMPT [panel (B)] for a dose of 63 Gy in 25 fractions to CTV and 80 Gy boost to the GTV with concurrent cisplatin. Patient tolerated the treatment well. He had a follow up with PET/CT 8 months later showing good response [panel (C)]. The area was re-biopsied and showing no evidence of malignancy. Patient is doing clinically well with no evidence of disease and no late toxicity. NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; SBRT, stereotactic body radiation therapy; IMRT, intensity modulated radiation therapy.

institutional. Six of the trials involve combined modalities (i.e., concurrent chemotherapy). For more information about these clinical trials, please refer to the PTCOG website (www.PTCOG.ch) or clinicaltrials.gov. Areas under investigation with current clinical trials are:

- (I) Prospective randomized trial for stage II/III between photon and proton: RTOG-1308 is a phase 3 randomized study comparing proton versus IMRT, allowing the dose range of 60-74 Gy, similar to the RTOG 0617; however, with proton therapy, it is hoped that the reduction in critical structure dose (heart and lung) will improve survival. PCORI trial is being proposed by Dr. Brad Hoppe at University of Florida to compare proton versus photon for stage II/III;
- (II) Hypofractionation regimen for stage II/III. This is done to reduce the treatment cost of proton therapy and extending the experience from proton

therapy for early stage lung cancer. Dr. Brad Hoppe (University of Florida, USA) started a protocol with total of 60 Gy given 15, 17, 20, and 24 fraction regimens given concurrently with chemotherapy. Dr. Cliff Robinson (Washington University, USA) proposed 15 fraction regimen for total dose of 45, 48.75, 52.5, 56.25, and 60 Gy concurrently with chemotherapy;

- (III) SBRT boost to the primary tumor after treating the mediastinal nodes with proton therapy. Dr. Kristin Higgins (Emory University, USA) proposed 44 Gy given in 22 fractionations, followed by boost to primary tumor with SBRT with following regimens, 18 Gy in 2 fractions, 20 Gy in 2 fractions, 30 Gy in 5 fractions, 30 Gy in 5 fractions, 35 Gy in 5 fractions and 40 Gy in 5 fractions;
- (IV) Proton therapy for post-op treatment for patients with N2 disease. Drs. Cliff Robinson (Washington)

University, USA) and Charles Simone (University of Pennsylvania) proposed a randomized trial of photon versus proton for post-op radiation of patients with stage IIIA (pN2) for dose of 50.4 to 54 Gy;

(V) Re-irradiation protocols for patients who received previous radiation to the lung or nearby area. There are several institutions investigating this area.

Conclusions

The unique properties of proton therapy allow the sparing of normal structures around the target tumors, which could be beneficial for lung cancer patients with tumors near critical structures, limited pulmonary reserve, or with larger tumors (3). Proton therapy can lower the risk of treatment side effects and provide a valuable tool for dose escalation or re-irradiation. Implementation of proton therapy is currently hindered by the cost of the technology and limited approval from healthcare payers. Per treatment fraction, proton therapy is more expensive than standard photon therapy. However, if one factors into the cost of treatment excess side effects and sequential mortality and also the new hypofractionation schemes, proton therapy can be established to be cost-effective for the management of selected cases of lung cancer (41). The current argumentation tends to overlook the existing evidence on clinical- and cost-effectiveness data. Patients deserve the best technology available, on the medical and ethical basis of the best available evidence. Therefore, when analyzing new and emerging technologies, all risks of treatment-related side effects and complications, as well as all possible clinical improvements, need to be taken under consideration (42,43).

On another front, with more vendors available, there are more competitions to have the equipments less expensive, more reliable with more features. Technology and its implementation continue to improve on a daily basis. Pencil beam scanning including IMPT may produce better clinical results than scattered PBT (11). More research is needed to successfully optimize proton delivery treatments. Improvements are needed to optimize the motion management, volumetric image guidance, and adaptive therapy. More research is needed to create plans that are more robust in the face of uncertainty, especially for the new pencil beam scanning systems. Additional prospective trials for lung cancer are needed to clarify the category of patients that will benefit the most from proton therapy. Findings of increased quality of life, LC, and survival will hopefully lead to greater cost-effectiveness in the future.

Acknowledgments

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- 1. Siegel R, Ma J, Zou Z, et al. Cancer statistics, 2014. CA Cancer J Clin 2014;64:9-29.
- Allen AM, Pawlicki T, Dong L, et al. An evidence based review of proton beam therapy: the report of ASTRO's emerging technology committee. Radiother Oncol 2012;103:8-11.
- Bush DA, Cheek G, Zaheer S, et al. High-dose hypofractionated proton beam radiation therapy is safe and effective for central and peripheral early-stage non-small cell lung cancer: results of a 12-year experience at Loma Linda University Medical Center. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;86:964-968.
- Tommasino F, Durante M. Proton radiobiology. Cancers (Basel) 2015;7:353-381.
- Grant JD, Chang JY. Proton-based stereotactic ablative radiotherapy in early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer. Biomed Res Int 2014;2014;389048.
- Wink KC, Roelofs E, Solberg T, et al. Particle therapy for non-small cell lung tumors: where do we stand? A systematic review of the literature. Front Oncol 2014;4:292.
- McGowan SE, Burnet NG, Lomax AJ. Treatment planning optimisation in proton therapy. Br J Radiol 2013;86:20120288.
- Skinner HD, Komaki R. Proton radiotherapy in the treatment of lung cancer. Transl Cancer Res 2012;1:264-270.
- Lomax AJ, Bortfeld T, Goitein G, et al. A treatment planning inter-comparison of proton and intensity modulated photon radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol 1999;51:257-271.
- Goodhead DT. Energy deposition stochastics and track structure: what about the target? Radiat Prot Dosimetry 2006;122:3-15.
- 11. Schild SE, Rule WG, Ashman JB, et al. Proton beam

therapy for locally advanced lung cancer: A review. World J Clin Oncol 2014;5:568-575.

- Prise KM, O'Sullivan JM. Radiation-induced bystander signalling in cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 2009;9:351-360.
- Halperin EC, Perez CA, Brady LW, et al. Perez and Brady's Principles and Practice of Radiation Oncology. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2007.
- 14. Engelsman M, Schwarz M, Dong L. Physics controversies in proton therapy. Semin Radiat Oncol 2013;23:88-96.
- Roelofs E, Engelsman M, Rasch C, et al. Results of a multicentric in silico clinical trial (ROCOCO): comparing radiotherapy with photons and protons for non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2012;7:165-176.
- 16. Chang JY, Zhang X, Wang X, et al. Significant reduction of normal tissue dose by proton radiotherapy compared with three-dimensional conformal or intensitymodulated radiation therapy in Stage I or Stage III nonsmall-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006;65:1087-1096.
- Bongers EM, Dahele MR, Slotman BJ, et al. Proton stereotactic body radiation therapy for clinically challenging cases of centrally and superiorly located stage I non-small-cell lung cancer: in regards to Register et al. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;80:1015-1022. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012;82:492; author reply 492.
- Urie M, Goitein M, Wagner M. Compensating for heterogeneities in proton radiation therapy. Phys Med Biol 1984;29:553-566.
- Schaffner B, Pedroni E. The precision of proton range calculations in proton radiotherapy treatment planning: experimental verification of the relation between CT-HU and proton stopping power. Phys Med Biol 1998;43:1579-1592.
- Chang JY, Balter PA, Dong L, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy in centrally and superiorly located stage I or isolated recurrent non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2008;72:967-971.
- Timmerman R, Paulus R, Galvin J, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for inoperable early stage lung cancer. JAMA 2010;303:1070-1076.
- 22. Shirvani SM, Jiang J, Chang JY, et al. Comparative effectiveness of 5 treatment strategies for early-stage nonsmall cell lung cancer in the elderly. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012;84:1060-1070.
- 23. Hata M, Tokuuye K, Kagei K, et al. Hypofractionated high-dose proton beam therapy for stage I non-smallcell lung cancer: preliminary results of a phase I/II clinical

study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2007;68:786-793.

- Makita C, Nakamura T, Takada A, et al. High-dose proton beam therapy for stage I non-small cell lung cancer: Clinical outcomes and prognostic factors. Acta Oncol 2015;54:307-314.
- Nihei K, Ogino T, Ishikura S, et al. High-dose proton beam therapy for Stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006;65:107-111.
- Bush DA, Slater JD, Bonnet R, et al. Proton-beam radiotherapy for early-stage lung cancer. Chest 1999;116:1313-1319.
- 27. Bush DA, Slater JD, Shin BB, et al. Hypofractionated proton beam radiotherapy for stage I lung cancer. Chest 2004;126:1198-1203.
- Bradley J, Graham MV, Winter K, et al. Toxicity and outcome results of RTOG 9311: a phase I-II doseescalation study using three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy in patients with inoperable non-smallcell lung carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005;61:318-328.
- 29. Seco J, Panahandeh HR, Westover K, et al. Treatment of non-small cell lung cancer patients with proton beam-based stereotactic body radiotherapy: dosimetric comparison with photon plans highlights importance of range uncertainty. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012;83:354-361.
- Onishi H, Shirato H, Nagata Y, et al. Hypofractionated stereotactic radiotherapy (HypoFXSRT) for stage I nonsmall cell lung cancer: updated results of 257 patients in a Japanese multi-institutional study. J Thorac Oncol 2007;2:S94-100.
- 31. Chang JY, Komaki R, Wen HY, et al. Toxicity and patterns of failure of adaptive/ablative proton therapy for earlystage, medically inoperable non-small cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;80:1350-1357.
- 32. Kong FM, Ten Haken RK, Schipper MJ, et al. Highdose radiation improved local tumor control and overall survival in patients with inoperable/unresectable nonsmall-cell lung cancer: long-term results of a radiation dose escalation study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005;63:324-333.
- 33. Rengan R, Rosenzweig KE, Venkatraman E, et al. Improved local control with higher doses of radiation in large-volume stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2004;60:741-747.
- 34. Machtay M, Bae K, Movsas B, et al. Higher biologically effective dose of radiotherapy is associated with improved outcomes for locally advanced non-small cell lung
Giap et al. Proton beam therapy for lung cancer

carcinoma treated with chemoradiation: an analysis of the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012;82:425-434.

- 35. Socinski MA, Blackstock AW, Bogart JA, et al. Randomized phase II trial of induction chemotherapy followed by concurrent chemotherapy and dose-escalated thoracic conformal radiotherapy (74 Gy) in stage III nonsmall-cell lung cancer: CALGB 30105. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:2457-2463.
- 36. Bradley JD, Paulus R, Komaki R, et al. Standard-dose versus high-dose conformal radiotherapy with concurrent and consolidation carboplatin plus paclitaxel with or without cetuximab for patients with stage IIIA or IIIB non-small-cell lung cancer (RTOG 0617): a randomised, two-by-two factorial phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:187-199.
- Chang JY, Komaki R, Lu C, et al. Phase 2 study of highdose proton therapy with concurrent chemotherapy for unresectable stage III nonsmall cell lung cancer. Cancer 2011;117:4707-4713.

Cite this article as: Giap H, Roda D, Giap F. Can proton beam therapy be clinically relevant for the management of lung cancer? Transl Cancer Res 2015;4(4):E3-E15. doi: 10.3978/ j.issn.2218-676X.2015.08.15

- Sejpal S, Komaki R, Tsao A, et al. Early findings on toxicity of proton beam therapy with concurrent chemotherapy for nonsmall cell lung cancer. Cancer 2011;117:3004-3013.
- Grutters JP, Kessels AG, Pijls-Johannesma M, et al. Comparison of the effectiveness of radiotherapy with photons, protons and carbon-ions for non-small cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. Radiother Oncol 2010;95:32-40.
- De Ruysscher D, Chang JY. Clinical controversies: proton therapy for thoracic tumors. Semin Radiat Oncol 2013;23:115-119.
- 41. Grutters JP, Pijls-Johannesma M, Ruysscher DD, et al. The cost-effectiveness of particle therapy in non-small cell lung cancer: exploring decision uncertainty and areas for future research. Cancer Treat Rev 2010;36:468-476.
- 42. Holm S, Takala T. High hopes and automatic escalators: a critique of some new arguments in bioethics. J Med Ethics 2007;33:1-4.
- 43. Grutters JP, Abrams KR, de Ruysscher D, et al. When to wait for more evidence? Real options analysis in proton therapy. Oncologist 2011;16:1752-1761.

Chemoradiotherapy for stage III non-small cell lung cancer: have we reached the limit?

Peng Xu¹, Cecile Le Pechoux²

¹Department of Radiation Oncology, Sichuan Cancer Hospital, Chengdu, China; ²Department of Radiation Oncology, Institut Gustave Roussy, Villejuif, France

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: All authors; (II) Administrative support: None; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: None; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: None; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: None; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Dr. Cecile Le Pechoux. Institut Gustave Roussy, 114 Rue Edouard Vaillant, 94800 Villejuif, France. Email: Cecile.LEPECHOUX@gustaveroussy.fr.

Author's introduction: Peng Xu, MD, Radiation Oncologist at Sichuan Cancer Hospital, has been involved in the Thoracic Diseases Unit and Head Neck Diseases Unit. He has studied in Gustave-Roussy Institute and obtained a diploma of radiotherapy. Her areas of interest are combined modality treatment in both head neck cancer and lung cancer, stereotactic ablative radiotherapy and adaptative radiotherapy.

Cecile Le Pechoux, MD, Senior Radiation Oncologist at Gustave-Roussy Institute, has been involved in the Thoracic Diseases Unit and Sarcoma Unit. Her areas of interest are combined modality treatment in both non-small cell lung cancer and small-cell lung cancer, thymoma, sarcomas, multidisciplinary approaches in cancer treatment, high precision radiotherapy (stereotactic ablative radiotherapy, intensity modulated radiotherapy). She has participated to several prospective studies both in the field of lung cancer and sarcoma.



Peng Xu



Cecile Le Pechoux

Abstract: Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer-related mortality in men and the second leading cause in women. Approximately 85% of lung cancer patients have non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), and most present with advanced stage at diagnosis. The current treatment for such patients is chemoradiation (CRT) provided concurrently preferably or sequentially with chemotherapy, using conventionally fractionated radiation doses in the range of 60 to 66 Gy in 30 to 33 fractions. An individual patient data based metaanalysis has shown that in good performance status (PS), concomitant CRT was associated to improved survival by 4.5% compared to sequential combination (5-year survival rate of 15.1% and 10.6% respectively). In the recent years, improvement of modern technique of radiotherapy (RT) and new chemotherapy drugs may be favorable for the patients. Furthermore, the positron emission tomography-computed tomography (PET-CT) contributes to improved delineation of RT especially in terms of nodal involvement. Improving outcomes for patients with stage III disease remains a challenge, this review will address the questions that are considered fundamental to improving outcome in patients with stage III NSCLC.

Keywords: Lung cancer; non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC); locally advanced inoperable; combined chemoradiotherapy (combined cRT)

Submitted May 15, 2015. Accepted for publication Oct 15, 2015. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2304-3865.2015.11.04 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2304-3865.2015.11.04

Worldwide, lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer deaths in men and the second leading cause of cancer deaths in women. Based on the GLOBOCAN 2012 estimates, about 1.9 million new lung cancer cases and 1.6 million deaths expected to occur (1). Approximately 85% of lung cancers are non-small cell lung cancers (NSCLC) and only 25-30% of these are eventually suitable for surgical resection with a curative intent (2). At present, the 5-year survival of resected patients ranges between 75% for stage IA and 25% for stage IIIA (2). The current treatment strategy for NSCLC depends on clinical staging. Surgical resection is generally considered the treatment of choice in operable patients with stage I and II disease (3,4). Conversely the role of surgery for stage III NSCLC patients continues to be debated (5-7).

Treatment decisions concerning patients with stage III disease, have to be taken upfront; ideally within a multidisciplinary thoracic tumour board to decide the optimal strategy taking into consideration the anatomical characteristics of the tumour as well as performance status (PS) and ability to undergo surgery, high-dose radiotherapy (RT) and chemotherapy (8,9). The first decision is usually to decide whether the patient is potentially operable, and surgery will be discussed for most stage IIIA patients and some selected stage IIIB patients, whereas most stage IIIB patients will be eligible for combined chemoradiation (CRT) (9). Thus most patients with inoperable stage III disease

will be candidates for combined modality chemotherapy and RT. While concomitant administration improves survival compared to sequential combination as shown in several meta-analyses, there is a higher rate of acute toxicities, especially esophageal toxicities (9-13). While the randomized trials have provided evidence in favor of concurrent chemoradiotherapy (cCTRT), there is place for improvement for future research and protocols to optimize chemoradiotherapy. The 5-year survival with concomitant platin based CRT is 15.1% in the meta-analysis and 16% in the largest randomized trial included, the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG 9410) with median survival rate of 17 months whereas the 5-year survival in the sequential CRT arm is 10.6% in the meta-analysis and 10% in the RTOG trial (11,14). It should be outlined that the patients included in the trials included in the meta-analysis were treated between 1988 and 2003, before the positron emission tomography-computed tomography (PET-CT) era. It is superior to CT to rule out detectable extrathoracic extracranial metastasis and to assess potential mediastinal lymph node involvement. More recently, a randomized trial (RTOG 0617) evaluating both dose escalation from 60 to 74 Gy as well as the addition of cetuximab to concomitant CRT was published. The median survival in the control arm was 28.7 months for patients with stage III disease treated with cCTRT at the dose of 60 Gy (15). It should be outlined that 90% of patients were selected with PET-CT,

and improved survival compared to previous studies is partly due to better selection. Part of the improvement may also be explained by more modern technique of RT and more conformal RT as indirectly shown in retrospective studies (16,17).

Improving outcomes for patients with stage III disease remains a challenge, this review will address the questions that are considered fundamental to improving outcome in patients with stage III NSCLC.

Radiotherapy (RT)

Changes in radiotherapy (RT) technology

Historically, thoracic RT planning has been complicated by difficult target delineation, unquantifiable tumor motion, all issues that may have led to geographic miss using conventional RT. There have been major changes in the past 15 years due also to the systematic implementation of PET-CT into radiation treatment planning (18,19). PET CT contributes to improved delineation especially in terms of nodal involvement, as well as difficult situations such as tumor with atelectasis. It should be performed ideally within 4 weeks before the start of treatment. We have no randomized data to support that contemporary conformal RT with the implementation of PET-CT increases local control and potentially survival. There are however retrospective studies that seemed to show a beneficial effect of the use of more modern RT techniques in stage III NSCLC patients (16,17).

Compared with 3D-CRT, intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT) enables even tighter sculpting of high-dose regions around the tumor volume, creates steep dose gradients and thus reduces radiation dose to surrounding normal tissues, ultimately facilitating dose-escalation (20). The University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center investigated the rate of high-grade treatment-related pneumonitis in patients with advanced NSCLC treated with concurrent chemotherapy and IMRT. Toxicity rates were compared with a similar cohort of patients treated with 3D-CRT (median radiation dose 63 Gy for both treatment modalities). The levels of grade ≥ 3 radiation pneumonitis at 12 months according to RTOG toxicity scoring were significantly (P=0.002) lower for IMRT than for 3D-CRT, being 8% [95% confidence interval (CI), 4-19%] and 32% (95% CI, 26-40%), respectively (21). This initial evaluation is consistent with the conclusion of a subsequent study, including more patients and with longer follow-up times (17). Out of 496 NSCLC patients, 318 were treated with CT/3D-CRT and 91 with 4DCT/IMRT. The hazard ratio (HR) for 4DCT/IMRT was 0.33 (95% CI, 0.13-0.82; P=0.017) for grade \geq 3 radiation pneumonitis, indicating lower toxicity rates were associated with 4DCT/IMRT. These findings were confirmed by other studies (22,23). Furthermore, IMRT reduces radiation doses to the esophagus, heart and spinal cord (23,24).

The following solutions could be considered to allow using IMRT to both primary and lymph node areas. A reduction in the planning target volume (PTV) margin may allow for dose escalation for more patients using IMRT. We could use 4DCT for getting the data on systematic and random movements of the proximal bronchial tree and great vessels, and generate the most appropriate margin (25); use of daily online cone-beam CT to decrease CTV to PTV margins (26).

Changes in radiation dose

Dose-escalation studies of three-dimensional conformal RT seem to show that in a 63-103 Gy range, a higher radiation dose increased local control of the tumor and OS (27). However other studies did not result in better outcome. The clinical practice of stereotactic body irradiation for NSCLC comfort this hypothesis that higher doses of RT may result in better outcome: the survival of patients who received RT at a BED ≥100 Gy was significantly better than those who received a BED of less than 100 Gy (28).

Although phase I/II dose-escalation studies of conventional fractionated RT with concurrent chemotherapy reported encouraging survival outcomes obtained with the high dose of 74 Gy (29,30), the results of the subsequent phase III randomized did not confirm these results (15). In the latter study, 166 patients were randomly assigned to receive carboplatin-paclitaxel based chemoradiotherapy with 60 Gy considered as the standard RT dose, 121 to high-dose chemoradiotherapy (same regimen with RT at the dose of 74 Gy), 147 to standard-dose chemoradiotherapy and cetuximab, and 110 to high-dose chemoradiotherapy and cetuximab. Median follow-up for the RT comparison was 22.9 months (IQR, 27.5-33.3). Median overall survival was 28.7 months (95% CI, 24.1-36.9) for patients who received standard-dose RT and 20.3 months (17.7-25.0) for those who received high-dose RT (HR 1.38, 95% CI, 1.09-1.76; P=0.004). Both the radiation-dose and cetuximab results crossed protocol specified futility boundaries. The authors recorded no statistical differences

in grade 3 or worse toxic effects between RT groups. There were no differences in severe pulmonary events between treatment groups. Severe esophagitis was more common in patients who received high-dose chemoradiotherapy than in those who received standard-dose treatment [43 (21%) of 207 patients *vs.* 16 (7%) of 217 patients; P<0.0001] (19). The authors have concluded that dose escalation for all patients at the dose of 74 Gy could be harmful. There are ongoing studies exploring a more selective dose escalation.

NSCLC is a rapidly proliferating cancer, and accelerated repopulation occurs during RT. Thus another area of possible RT intensification is altered fractionation. An individual data based meta-analysis showed that modified fractionation (hyperfractionated and/or accelerated RT) improved survival as compared with conventional schedules resulting in an absolute benefit of 2.5% (8.3% to 10.8%) at 5 years (P=0.009). In a RTOG retrospective study evaluating treatment duration in several CTRT prospective studies, overall treatment time exceeding by over 5 days the theoretical duration, was associated with a 2% increase in the risk of death for each day of prolongation in therapy (31). Prolonged overall treatment time may be one of the reasons why high-dose RT in the RTOG 0617 study failed to produce any survival benefit as treatment time was 7.4 weeks long (32).

Changes in radiation fractionation

Several studies have shown that higher biologically effective doses (BEDs) of RT in cancer treatments could improve local control and survival (32-34). An analysis demonstrated a moderate linear relationship between lesional BED and overall survival: for every 1 Gy increase in BED, there was an absolute overall survival benefit ranging from 0.36% to 0.7% (35). Because dose escalation with conventional fractionation requires a significant increase in treatment time, two methods to improve BED that maintain or reduce treatment time have been explored: hyperfractionation and hypofractionation.

Accelerated hypofractionated irradiation (AHRT) is infrequently used for the treatment of locally advanced NSCLC. Several studies have explored AHRT combined with chemotherapy with some interesting results (36-44). However hypofractionation particularly in the context of concurrent CRT may cause severe adverse effects on the lung and soft tissues of chest wall, so that it cannot be recommended outside a clinical trial (45). A randomised phase II trial comparing sequential versus concurrent chemotherapy and radical hypofractionated RT at the dose of 55 Gy in 20 fractions of 2.75 was recently published and showed similar survival rates at 2 years of 50% and 46%. Hypofractionated dose-escalated RT with IMRT at doses from 57 to 85.5 Gy in 25 daily fractions over 5 weeks was explored in a phase I study. The maximum tolerated dose was 63.5 Gy; late toxicity was dominated by late radiation toxicity involving central and perihilar structures (45). It should be outlined that no concomitant chemotherapy was administered in this study.

Recently, high-precision RT such as intensity-modulated RT, image-guided RT, treatment gating, have made this approach more feasible. Compared to prior RT approaches, IMRT can significantly lower the doses of radiation to normal tissues, allowing for the administration of larger doses per fraction on tumors. The hypofractionated regimen of 55 Gy in 20 fractions is one of the most common fractionation schedules in the United Kingdom (44).

In the UK, a very dose intense approach, a continuous hyperfractionated accelerated radiotherapy (CHART) was evaluated in NSCLC (32). Patients were randomly assigned to receive the dose of 54 Gy provided in 12 consecutive days (including weekends) with 1.5 Gy administered 3 times per day, or 60 Gy in conventional fractionation. This trial showed a significant benefit in favor of the investigational arm as there was a 24% reduction in the relative risk of death, a 9% absolute improvement in 2-year survival. However these results were not confirmed in the CHARTWEL-trial whether patients were randomly assigned to the CHART week-end less regimen (60 Gy/40 fractions/2.5 weeks) or to control arm (66 Gy/33 fractions/6.5 weeks) (46). Overall, outcome was not different in both arms with 2- and 5 year-survival respectively 31% and 11% in the CHARTWELL arm and 32% and 7% in the control arm (P=0.43). There was a trend for higher efficacy in higher stages and after induction chemotherapy. Both trials were included in the meta-analysis exploring the role of altered fractionation in lung cancer; it demonstrated a 2.5% absolute overall survival benefit at 5 years over conventional fractionation (33).

However, such accelerated treatment may induce more acute toxicity (especially esophagitis) But a further study of cost effectiveness of altered fractionation schedules compared to standard regimen seems to show that accelerated RT may be more efficient and should be recommended as standard RT for the curative treatment of unresected NSCLC patients not receiving concurrent chemo-radiotherapy (33,47).

One could expect less toxicity with newer RT techniques such as IMRT. In the study of Yom *et al.* (21), where 4D IMRT enabled less high grade pneumonitis than it was observed with 3DRT (8% vs. 32 % at 12 months, respectively). More clinical research is needed in this field to provide deeper insight into the problem of high-grade toxicity of hyperfractionated RT with concurrent CT. In the meta analysis exploring for predictive factors of pneumonitis, after combined CRT using either 3-D conformal RT or IMRT, older age, use of carboplatin and paclitaxel concomitant chemotherapy as well as dosimetric parameters were predictive of symptomatic pneumonitis (48). Based on this study, the rate of pneumonitis (\geq grade 2) was 29.8%; only 1.9% was fatal. Daily doses over 2 Gy (7% if >2 Gy vs. 1.5% if ≤2 Gy; P=0.01), V20 (OR, 1.09 per 1% increase, P=0.044), and tumor location (1% for upper lobe, 0% for middle lobe, and 5% for lower lobe, P=0.007) were found to be associated with fatal pneumonitis in this meta-analysis. The same group performed another individual data based meta-analysis to explore to determine factors predictive of clinically significant radiation esophagitis. Based on the data of over 1,000 patients, the risk of grade 2, grade 3 and grade 4 esophagitis was respectively 32.2%, 17.1%, and 0.9%. The value of V60 was the best predictor for radiation esophagitis (49).

Chemotherapy

Changes of chemotherapy timing

cCTRT is widely used throughout the world as standard of care for inoperable stage III NSCLC patients with good PS and limited co-morbidities (6,9,11,12,50-57). Concurrent CRT may be offered to selected elderly patients, but it should be outlined that there is a higher risk for toxicity reported in the elderly population (57). In a large meta-analysis (N=1,205) of chemotherapy in locally advanced NSCLC, concomitant chemoradiotherapy, as compared with sequential chemoradiotherapy, produced significant improvements in overall survival (HR, 0.84; 95% CI, 0.74-0.95), 3-year survival (absolute benefit of 5.7%), and 5-year survival (absolute benefit of 4.5%) (11), while the advances have been made in improving survival from stage III NSCLC by optimizing local control, latest evidence suggests that cc CTRT does not reduce the risk of distant relapse. But randomized trials having evaluated induction or consolidation chemotherapy added to concomitant CRT do not seem to improve survival (9,58-60). The phase III trial which evaluated consolidation CT after treatment with cCTRT compared consolidation docetaxel (75 mg/m²

every 21 days) for three cycles *vs.* observation (58). The trial was terminated early after planned interim analysis on the basis of futility. No significant difference in median survival between the docetaxel and observation arms was observed (21.2 *vs.* 23.2 months, P=0.883). There were higher rates of grade 3-5 pneumonitis in the docetaxel arm compared to the observation arm (9.6% *vs.* 1.4%, P<0.001) and a subsequent analysis of the data confirmed that treatment with consolidation docetaxel was a predictive factor for radiation pneumonitis following cCTRT (61). A recent pooled analysis of 41 phase II/III trials has confirmed that there is no evidence to suggest that consolidation chemotherapy after cCTRT improves survival for stage patients with III NSCLC (60).

In general, the highest incidence of NSCLC is observed in patients older than 65 years. As a consequence, a considerable percentage of patients with newly diagnosed NSCLC are frail and unfit for concurrent RCT treatments. More than half of patients are theoretically not eligible for concurrent RCT in a population-based study (61). Intensification of both RT and concurrent chemotherapy may result also into excessive toxicity or incomplete treatment (57,61). Less toxic alternatives are needed for these patients.

Changes in the chemotherapy drugs

The current standard for locally advanced NSCLC is conformal RT administered at the dose of 60-66 Gy combined with concurrent platinum-based regimen (9,11,49,50,52,53). Etoposide-cisplatin, cisplatin-vinorelbine as well as paclitaxel-carboplatin are commonly used with concurrent radiation therapy in locally advanced NSCLC.

The broadest evidence concerning this issue comes from trials that have included cisplatin based doublets, particularly, cisplatin and etoposide or cisplatin and vinorelbine (9). Despite this accepted evidence, there has been a strong trend in North America and even in parts of Europe to prefer outpatient administration of weekly low-dose carboplatin and paclitaxel combination schedules that are simultaneously administered with outpatient RT, on the basis of the assumption that this is more convenient and possibly just as effective as cisplatin-based doublets (9). It should be outlined that the concomitant administration of carboplatin-taxol as well as docetaxel administered concomitantly or as consolidation treatment seems to increase the rate of pneumonitis (48,54,55).

Santana-Davila et al. (62) tried to evaluate the optimal CRT regimen, in a large retrospective study from the Veterans

Health Administration (VHA) database of 1,842 patients treated over a 10-year period (2001 to 2011). They compared patient groups receiving either cisplatin and etoposide, or a combination of carboplatin and paclitaxel, administered concurrently with curative doses of radiation. The aim of their study was to compare the two chemotherapy protocols with respect to the survival outcome. They concluded that carboplatin and paclitaxel, when administered concurrently with RT, resulted in survival outcomes that were comparable to cisplatin and etoposide in a comparable clinical setting. However one should always be cautious with such a posteriori comparisons. This cannot be considered as robust evidence in favour of one treatment modality. It should be outlined that carboplatin may also not be as effective as cisplatin against micro metastases in lung cancer, as we have learned a meta-analysis on metastatic NSCLC which showed that cisplatin-based chemotherapy was slightly superior to carboplatin-based chemotherapy in terms of response rate and, in certain subgroups, in prolonging survival without being associated with an increase in severe toxic effects (63). A subsequent meta-analysis comparing cisplatin doublets to carboplatin doublets combined to third generation drugs in metastatic NSCLC did not show any difference in survival but a better response rate with cisplatin doublets (64). It should be recalled that all trials that have evaluated carboplatin alone with RT were negative (65). On the basis of the published evidence from the meta-analysis that used individual patient data (48), it was found that carboplatin/ paclitaxel might be even more toxic than the cisplatin/ etoposide combination with respect to the development of pneumonitis. Pulmonary toxicity remains a sensitive issue for such a curative treatment. It also has clinically relevant implications for quality of life and well-being of patients, based on the development of late effects from chemoradiotherapy (48).

A number of other drugs have been investigated for combined modality treatment and the development of newer chemotherapeutic agents with activity in NSCLC provides the opportunity to explore novel approaches in the treatment of stage III disease, as pemetrexed which has become one of the major drugs in metastatic adenocarcinoma. According to a current review of the literature of phase I and phase II studies (66), it seems pemetrexed can be administered safely at full systemic doses with cisplatin concomitantly with radical doses of thoracic RT. Of the six phase II trials with mature data available, median overall survival ranged from 18.7 to 34 months. However, we should wait for the results of the phase III trial PROCLAIM which has not been published yet. The trial has been presented at the ASCO meeting 2015 (67). It shows that pemetrexed and cisplatin may be safely administered, but is not superior in terms of efficacy to cisplatin and etoposide in the concurrent setting. Median survival, 2- and 3-year survival rate was respectively 26.8 months, 52% and 40% in the pemetrexedcisplatin based CTRT arm and 25 months, 52% and 37% in the control arm combing RT at the dose of 66 Gy with etoposide and cisplatin.

In conclusion, it is clear that cCTRT is the current standard of care for inoperable stage III NSCLC patients with good PS and minimal co-morbidities. However, a survival plateau has been reached, with disappointing results from dose escalation studies using conventional fractionation and studies investigating the addition of systemic doses of chemotherapy delivered before or after concurrent CRT. Further improvement such as IMRT/IGRT utilized for more selective dose escalation and to reduce dose to critical structures will be determined by better local control and by reducing the risk of distant recurrence. The benefits of newer chemotherapeutic agents will reduce both the risk of local and distant relapse. Collaborative efforts are now needed to these advances for optimal treatment and improved outcomes of locally advanced NSCLC.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Ferlay J. GLOBOCAN 2012, Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: IARC Cancer Base. Lyon, France: IARC, 2012.
- Le Chevalier T. Adjuvant chemotherapy for resectable non-small-cell lungcancer: where is it going? Ann Oncol 2010;21 Suppl 7:vii196-vii198.
- Wright G, Manser RL, Byrnes G, et al. Surgery for nonsmall cell lung cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Thorax 2006;61:597-603.

Radiation and Combined Therapies for Lung Cancer

- Howington JA, Blum MG, Chang AC, et al. Treatment of stage I and II non-small cell lung cancer: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rded: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013;143:e278S-e313S.
- Okawara G, Mackay JA, Evans WK, et al. Management of unresected stage III Non-small cell lung cancer: a systematic review. J Thorac Oncol 2006;1:377-393.
- 6. Goldstraw P, Ball D, Jett JR, et al. Non-small-cell lung cancer. Lancet 2011;378:1727-1740.
- Helbrow J, MacNicoll F, Bayman N, et al. Concurrent chemoradiotherapyfor locally advanced, unresectable nonsmall cell lung cancer: a UK survey of current practice. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2012;24:e127.
- Anderson CS, Curran WJ. Combined modality therapy for stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. Semin Radiat Oncol 2010;20:186-191.
- Eberhardt WE, De Ruysscher D, Weder W, et al. 2nd ESMO Consensus Conference in Lung Cancer: locallyadvanced stage III non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Ann Oncol 2015;26:1573-1588.
- Non-Small Cell Cancer Collaborative Group. Chemotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer: a metaanalysis using updated data on individual patients from 52 randomized clinical trials. Br Med J 1995;311:899-909.
- Aupérin A, Le Pechoux C, Rolland E, et al. Meta-analysis of concomitant versus sequential radiochemotherapy in locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:2181-2190.
- 12. O'Rourke N, Roqué i Figuls M, Farré Bernadó N, et al. Concurrent chemoradiotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2010.CD002140.
- Furuse K, Fukuoka M, Kawahara M, et al. Phase III study of concurrent versus sequential thoracic radiotherapy in combination with mitomycin, vindesine, and cisplatin in unresectable stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 1999;17:2692-2699.
- Curran WJ, Paulus R, Langer CJ, et al. Sequential vs. concurrent chemoradiation for stage III non-small cell lung cancer: randomized phase III trial RTOG 9410. J Natl Cancer Inst 2011;103:1452-1460.
- 15. Bradley JD, Paulus R, Komaki R, et al. Standard-dose versus high-dose conformal radiotherapy with concurrent and consolidation carboplatin plus paclitaxel with or without cetuximab for patients with stage IIIA or IIIB non-small-cell lung cancer (RTOG 0617): a randomised, two-by-two factorial phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol

2015;16:187-199.

- Sher DJ, Koshy M, Liptay MJ, et al. Influence of conformal radiotherapy technique on survival after chemoradiotherapy for patients with stage III non-small cell lung cancer in the National Cancer Data Base. Cancer 2014;120:2060-2068.
- Liao ZX, Komaki RR, Thames HD, et al. Influence of technologic advances on outcomes in patients with unresectable, locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer receiving concomitant chemoradiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;76:775-781.
- Gould MK, Kuschner WG, Rydzak CE, et al. Test performance of positron emission tomography and computed tomography for mediastinal staging in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med 2003;139:879-892.
- Konert T, Vogel W, MacManus MP, et al. PET/CT imaging for target volume delineation in curative intent radiotherapy of non-small cell lung cancer: IAEA consensus report 2014. Radiother Oncol 2015;116:27-34.
- Christian JA, Bedford JL, Webb S, et al. Comparison of inverse-planned three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy and intensity-modulated radiotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2007;67:735-741.
- Yom SS, Liao Z, Liu HH, et al. Initial evaluation of treatment-related pneumonitis in advanced-stage nonsmall-cell lung cancer patients treated with concurrent chemotherapy and intensity-modulated radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2007;68:94-102.
- 22. Scrimger RA, Tome WA, Olivera GH, et al. Reduction in radiation dose to lung and other normal tissues using helical tomotherapy to treat lung cancer, in comparison to conventional field arrangements. Am J Clin Oncol 2003;26:70-78.
- Liu HH, Wang X, Dong L, et al. Feasibility of sparing lung and other thoracic structures with intensitymodulated radiotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2004;58:1268-1279.
- 24. Sura S, Gupta V, Yorke E, et al. Intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT) for inoperable non-small cell lung cancer: the Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center (MSKCC) experience. Radiother Oncol 2008;87:17-23.
- Vinogradskiy Y, Castillo R, Castillo E, et al. Use of 4-dimensional computed tomography-based ventilation imaging tocorrelate lung dose and function with clinical outcomes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;86:366-371.

- 26. Bissonnette JP, Purdie TG, Higgins JA, et al. Conebeam computed tomographic image guidance for lung cancer radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2009;73:927-934.
- Kong FM, Ten Haken RK, Schipper MJ, et al. Highdose radiation improved local tumor control and overall survival in patients with inoperable/unrespectable nonsmall-cell lung cancer: long-term results of a radiation dose escalation study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005;63:324-333.
- Onishi H, Shirato H, Nagata Y, et al. Hypofractionated stereotactic radiotherapy (HypoFXSRT) for stage I nonsmall cell lung cancer: updated results of 257 patients in a Japanese multi-institutional study. J Thorac Oncol 2007;2:S94-100.
- 29. Bradley JD, Moughan J, Graham MV, et al. A phase I/II radiation dose escalation study with concurrent chemotherapy for patients with inoperable stages I to III non-small-cell lung cancer: phase I results of RTOG 0117. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;77:367-372.
- 30. Schild SE, McGinnis WL, Graham D, et al. Results of a Phase I trial of concurrent chemotherapy and escalating doses of radiation for unresectable non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006;65:1106-1111.
- Machtay M, Hsu C, Komaki R, et al. Effect of overall treatment time on outcomes after concurrent chemoradiation for locally advanced non-small-cell lung carcinoma: analysis of the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) experience. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005;63:667-671.
- 32. Saunders M, Dische S, Barrett A, et al. Continuous hyperfractionated accelerated radiotherapy (CHART) versus conventional radiotherapy in non-small-cell lung cancer: a randomized multicenter trial. CHART Steering Committee. Lancet 1997;350:161-165.
- 33. Mauguen A, Le Péchoux C, Saunders MI, et al. Hyperfractionated or accelerated radiotherapy in lung cancer: an individual patient data meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol 2012;30:2788-2797.
- 34. Machtay M, Bae K, Movsas B, et al. Higher biologically effective dose of radiotherapy is associated with improved outcomes for locally advanced non-small cell lung carcinoma treated with chemoradiation: an analysis of the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012;82:425-434.
- 35. Partridge M, Ramos M, Sardaro A, et al. Dose escalation for non-small cell lung cancer: analysis and modeling of

published literature. Radiother Oncol 2011;99:6-11.

- Machtay M, Washam C, Devine P. Pilot study of accelerated radiotherapy with concurrent chemotherapy for stage III non small cell lung cancer. Semin Oncol 2005;32:S9-12.
- 37. Bral S, Duchateau M, Versmessen H, et al. Toxicity report of a phase 1/2 dose-escalation study in patients with inoperable, locally advanced nonsmall cell lung cancer with helical tomotherapy and concurrent chemotherapy. Cancer 2010;116:241-250.
- Carruthers R, O'Rourke N, Mohammed N, et al. Toxicity of hypofractionated accelerated radiotherapy concurrent with chemotherapy for non small cell carcinoma of the lung. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2011;23:561-562.
- Zhu ZF, Fan M, Wu KL, et al. A phase II trial of accelerated hypofractionated three-dimensional conformal radiation therapy in locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer. Radiother Oncol 2011;98:304-308.
- Amini A, Lin SH, Wei C, et al. Accelerated hypofractionated radiation therapy compared to conventionally fractionated radiation therapy for the treatment of inoperable non-small cell lung cancer. Radiat Oncol 2012;7:33.
- 41. Lin Q, Liu YE, Ren XC, et al. Dose escalation of accelerated hypofractionated three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy (at 3 Gy/fraction) with concurrent vinorelbine and carboplatin chemotherapy in unresectable stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: a phase I trial. Radiat Oncol 2013;8:201.
- 42. Din OS, Harden SV, Hudson E, et al. Accelerated hypofractionated radiotherapy for non-small cell lung cancer: results from 4 UK centres. Radiother Oncol 2013;109:8-12.
- 43. Cheung P, Faria S, Ahmed S, et al. Phase II study of accelerated hypofractionated three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy for stage T1-3 N0 M0 non-small cell lung cancer: NCIC CTG BR.25. J Natl Cancer Inst 2014;106:dju164.
- 44. Maguire J, Khan I, McMenemin R, et al. SOCCAR: A randomised phase II trial comparing sequential versus concurrent chemotherapy and radical hypofractionated radiotherapy in patients with inoperable stage III Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer and good performance status. Eur J Cancer 2014;50:2939-2949.
- 45. Cannon DM, Mehta MP, Adkison JB, et al. Doselimiting toxicity after hypofractionated dose-escalated radiotherapy in non small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol

Radiation and Combined Therapies for Lung Cancer

2013;31:4343-4348.

- 46. Baumann M, Herrmann T, Koch R, et al. Final results of the randomized phase III CHARTWEL-trial (ARO 97-1) comparing hyperfractionated-accelerated versus conventionally fractionated radiotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Radiother Oncol 2011;100:76-85.
- Ramaekers BL, Joore MA, Lueza B, et al. Cost effectiveness of modified fractionation radiotherapy versus conventional radiotherapy for unresected non-small-cell lung cancer patients. J Thorac Oncol 2013;8:1295-1307.
- Palma DA, Senan S, Tsujino K, et al. Predicting radiation pneumonitis after chemoradiation therapy for lung cancer: an international individual patient data meta-analysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;85:444-450.
- Palma DA, Senan S, Oberije C, et al. Predicting esophagitis after chemoradiation therapy for non-small cell lung cancer: an individual patient data meta-analysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;87:690-696.
- Lim E, Baldwin D, Beckles M, et al. Guidelines on the radical management of patients with lung cancer. Thorax 2010;65:iii1-ii27.
- 51. Ramnath N, Dilling TJ, Harris LJ, et al. Treatment of stage III non-small cell lung cancer: diagnosis and management of lungcancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinicalpractice guidelines. Chest 2013;143:e314S-40S.
- 52. Yamamoto N, Nakagawa K, Nishimura Y, et al. Phase III study comparing second- and third-generation regimens with concurrent thoracic radiotherapy in patients with unresectable stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: West Japan Thoracic Oncology Group WJTOG0105. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:3739-3745.
- 53. Segawa Y, Kiura K, Takigawa N, et al. Phase III trial comparing docetaxel and cisplatin combination chemotherapy with mitomycin, vindesine, and cisplatin combination chemotherapy with concurrent thoracic radiotherapy in locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: OLCSG 0007. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:3299-3306.
- 54. Barriger RB, Fakiris AJ, Hanna N, et al. Dose-volume analysis of radiation pneumonitis in non-small-cell lung cancer patients treated with concurrent cisplatinum and etoposide with or without consolidation docetaxel. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;78:1381-1386.
- 55. Dang J, Li G, Zang S, et al. Risk and predictors for early radiation pneumonitis in patients with stage III non-small cell lung cancer treated with concurrent or sequential chemoradiotherapy. Radiat Oncol 2014;9:172.

- 56. Brunelli A, Charloux A, Bolliger CT, et al. ERS/ESTS clinical guidelines on fitness for radical therapy in lung cancer patients (surgery and chemo-radiotherapy). Eur Respir J 2009;34:17-41.
- 57. Pallis AG, Gridelli C, van Meerbeeck JP, et al. EORTC Elderly Task Force and Lung Cancer Group and International Society for Geriatric Oncology (SIOG) experts' opinion for the treatment of non-smallcell lung cancer in an elderly population. Ann Oncol 2010;21:692-706.
- 58. Hanna N, Neubauer M, Yiannoutsos C, et al. Phase III study of cisplatin etoposide, and concurrent chest radiation with or without consolidation docetaxel in patients with inoperable stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: the Hoosier Oncology Group and U.S. Oncology. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:5755-5760.
- 59. Tsujino K, Kurata T, Yamamoto S, et al. Is consolidation chemotherapy after concurrent chemo-radiotherapy beneficial for patients with locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer? A Pooled Analysis of the Literature. J Thorac Oncol 2013;8:1181-1189.
- 60. Vokes EE, Herndon JE 2nd, Kelley MJ, et al. Induction chemotherapy followed by chemoradiotherapy compared with chemoradiotherapy alone for regionally advanced unresectable stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: Cancer and Leukemia Group B. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:1698-1704.
- 61. De Ruysscher D, Botterweck A, Dirx M, et al. Eligibility for concurrent chemotherapy and radiotherapy of locally advanced lung cancer patients: a prospective, populationbased study. Ann Oncol 2009;20:98-102.
- 62. Santana-Davila R, Devisetty K, Szabo A, et al. Cisplatin and etoposide versus carboplatin and paclitaxel with concurrent radiotherapy for stage III non–small-cell lung cancer: An analysis of Veterans Health Administration data. J Clin Oncol 2015;33:567-574.
- 63. Ardizzoni A, Boni L, Tiseo M, et al. Cisplatin- versus carboplatin-based chemotherapy in first-line treatment of advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: an individual patient data meta-analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst 2007;99:847-857.
- 64. de Castria TB, da Silva EM, Gois AF, et al. Cisplatin versus carboplatin in combination with third-generation drugs for advanced non-small cell lung cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013;8:CD009256.
- 65. Aupérin A, Le Pechoux C, Pignon JP, et al. Concomitant radio-chemotherapy based on platin compounds in patients with locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): a meta-analysis of individual data from 1764

Xu and Le Pechoux. New changes in chemoradiotherapy of stage III NSCLC

100

patients. Ann Oncol 2006;17:473-483.

- 66. Choy H, Gerber DE, Bradley JD, et al. Concurrent pemetrexed and radiation therapy in the treatment of patients with inoperable stage III non-small cell lung cancer: A systematic review of completed and ongoing studies. Lung Cancer 2015;87:232-240.
- 67. Senan S, Brade A, Wang L, et al. Final overall survival (OS)

Cite this article as: Xu P, Le Pechoux C. Chemoradiotherapy for stage III non-small cell lung cancer: have we reached the limit? Chin Clin Oncol 2015;4(4):45. doi: 10.3978/ j.issn.2304-3865.2015.11.04 results of the phase III PROCLAIM trial: Pemetrexed (Pem), cisplatin (Cis) or etoposide (Eto), Cis plus thoracic radiation therapy (TRT) followed by consolidation cytotoxic chemotherapy (CTX) in locally advanced nonsquamous non-small cell lung cancer (nsNSCLC). J Clin Oncol 2015;33:abstr 7506.

Overcoming toxicity-challenges in chemoradiation for non-small cell lung cancer

Wilma Uyterlinde

Department of Thoracic Oncology, Netherlands Cancer Institute, Amsterdam, The Netherlands *Correspondence to:* Wilma Uyterlinde, PhD, ANP, AOCN, RN. Department of Thoracic Oncology, Netherlands Cancer Institute, Amsterdam, The Netherlands. Email: w.uyterlinde@nki.nl.

Abstract: Concurrent chemoradiation (CCRT) is the treatment of choice for locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) with a modest survival benefit over sequential chemoradiation or radiotherapy (SCRT) alone. However, this benefit is at the cost of increasing acute toxicity such as esophagitis. Previous analysis revealed several predictive parameters in dose-volume and patient characteristics which helped us to identify those patients at risk for severe esophagus toxicity. As a result, supportive care interventions including individualized patient information, dietary guidance, adequate medication, hydration and tubefeeding could be initiated. This paper discusses the challenges in overcoming chemoradiation induced acute esophageal toxicity (AET).

Keywords: Chemoradiation; supportive care; toxicity; management

Submitted Jan 27, 2016. Accepted for publication Mar 09, 2016. doi: 10.21037/tlcr.2016.05.03 **View this article at:** http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/tlcr.2016.05.03

Introduction

This paper will discuss the challenges in preventing and managing chemoradiation induced acute esophageal toxicity (AET). Following a clinical summary of AET, the current guidelines from the Netherlands Cancer Institute will be discussed including a case study.

Concurrent chemoradiation (CCRT) is the treatment of choice for locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). The increase in survival for concurrent versus sequential chemoradiation (SCRT) (+5.7% at 3 years) or radiotherapy (RT) alone (+7% at 3 years) is mainly due to an improvement in local control of the disease (1). Several radio sensitizing agents are in use (2) and daily low dose cisplatin has shown to be an effective treatment regimen (3,4). Because of a milder hematological toxicity profile, more patients are able to benefit from this treatment compared to regimen using high dose chemotherapy (5-9). However, recent analysis revealed that 35% of the patients suffered from severe acute toxicity, including anorexia, nausea and vomiting, esophagitis and dehydration. Mediastinal tumor location and/or lymph nodes are common in locally advanced NSCLC patients, resulting in

the involvement of the esophagus in the radiation field. Due to the sensitizing effect of cisplatin, the incidence of AET is higher in CCRT compared to SCRT or RT only (10,11). Mucosal inflammation (12) and edema of the esophagus causes functional impairment, and is clinically described as a blocking sensation or pain when swallowing. Severe AET usually leads to weight loss, dehydration and malnutrition, requiring intravenous hydration, tube feeding or even hospitalization (13). As it is believed that the completion of CCRT optimizes the beneficial sensitizing effect, we took efforts to increase the management of this toxicity caused by CCRT. Although it is recognized that a range of toxicities needs to be addressed, AET is one of the most burdensome which can lead to clinical impairment and a severe reduction in quality of life.

In the last few years, several pro-and retrospective analyses in the Netherlands Cancer Institute led to increased knowledge on incidence, timelines and RT dose-effect relation of acute esophagus toxicity. This knowledge was used for initiating proactive supportive care management, patient education and the recalculation of RT restraints (13-15).
 Table 1 Esophagitis: a disorder characterized by inflammation of the esophageal wall

Grade 1

Symptomatic and altered eating/swallowing

Grade 2

Symptomatic and altered eating/swallowing

Grade 3

Severely altered eating/swallowing; tube feeding or total parenteral nutrition or hospitalization indicated

Grade 4

Life-threatening consequences urgent intervention indicated

Patients and treatment

Aproximally 90 patients with cytological or histological proven locally advanced NSCLC are treated with CCRT in the Netherlands Cancer institute every year. Treatment consists of cisplatin 6 mg/m² as a 10 mL bolus injection, 1–2 hours prior to RT, for a total of 24 administrations over a period of 32 days. The standard RT consists of 24 fractions of 2.75 Gy, resulting in a total dose of 66 Gy to the primary tumor and involved lymph nodes. In case of large tumors or re-irradiation, where the mean lung dose exceeds 20 Gy, an alternative RT fractionation scheme is applied without changing the administration of cisplatin. All patients are treated with 7-field intensity modulated radiotherapy (IMRT) (3).

In case of severe comorbidities, a too large tumor volume, high age and/or a decreased performance status, patients are treated with SCRT or RT only.

Acute esophagus toxicity

Acute toxicity is defined as toxicity occurring with 3 months after treatment. Recent analysis showed that AET grade 2 occurred in 37% of the patients and grade 3 in 20%. The median onset was day 15 with a maximum grade at day 30 and of the grade 3 patients 48% recovered to grade 0 within 3 months. The median duration was 43 days for grade 1, 50 days for grade 2 and >80 days for grade 3. For grade 2 analgesics and dietary supplements are required, for grade 3 tube feeding and/or hospitalization (*Table 1*) (13).

Acute radiation esophagitis is primarily due to effects on the basal epithelial layer of the esophageal mucosa. The normal esophageal mucosa undergoes continuous cell turnover and renewal. RT causes a thinning of the mucosa and as a result progresses the peeling.

A prospective study from the Netherlands Cancer Institute of 139 patients with inoperable NSCLC treated with IMRT and concurrent chemotherapy aimed to analyze predictive parameters for AET with the dose effect relationship between AET and dose volume parameters investigated (14). Before the introduction of IMRT, 3D-conformal radiotherapy (3DCRT) was the standard technique used for radical treatment. The treatment planning esophagus constraint at that time was the length of the esophagus ≤ 12 cm. Because this constraint was found insufficient in patients treated with 3DCRT and concurrent chemotherapy, a derived V35 (relative volume of the esophagus receiving more than 35 Gy) model was scaled (14). However, with IMRT dose-distributions and dose-volume-parameters for the esophagus having changed, it was concluded that V35 was no longer sufficient as well. It was revealed that in IMRT the relative volume of the esophagus treated with 50 Gy (V50) was a more predictive parameter for AET (14). In addition to these findings patient and treatment characteristics were analyzed in relation to AET, including the V50 model. Univariate and multivariate analyses were performed to correlate clinical, tumor, dosimetric and chemotherapy dose variables to AET grade ≥ 2 and grade 3. V50 (oes), ethnic background, and the number of cisplatin administrations were significantly correlated with grade 3 AET (13). As CCRT is associated with a favorable overall survival of 35% at 3 years, a certain risk on grade 3 AET is deemed acceptable since the toxicity is often temporary and manageable. However, in our study, grade 3 patients had a low recovery rate (48%) within 3 months and a long median duration (>80 days). We concluded that 52% of grade 3 patients are subjective to a risk of developing late esophagus toxicity, which in the severe cases (e.g., stenosis and fistula) could deteriorate the long-term quality of life, or even compromise survival (15).

Management of acute esophagus toxicity

In order to identify and categorize patients with AET by its severity the CTC classification is used in clinical practice (*Table 1*) as it helps to communicate and initiate clinical guidelines.

We present below the clinical guidelines that have been developed and introduced in the Netherlands Cancer Centre.

Weight loss and nutritional guidelines

Before treatment

In case of 5% weight loss in 1 month or $\geq 10\%$ in the last 6 months before treatment nutritional food supplements are administered.

During treatment

When the patient loses 5% of body weight loss in one month or 2 kg per week, tube feeding is started. This is also the case when there are clinical or biochemical signs of dehydration with an oral intake of maximum 1,000 mL/day.

After treatment

As per during treatment.

Analgesia

In case of grade 2 AET, paracetamol, sucralfate and proton pump inhibitors are administered, eventually with codeine or tramadol with additional laxation. In case of grade 3, durogesic transdermal and Abstral sublingual or instanyl nasal spray are added to paracetamol suppository. Also, tube feeding is indicated. In case of uncontrollable pain, the patient is admitted in the hospital for intravenous analgesics. In case of a superimposed candida infection, treatment with fluconazole is indicated.

Debydration

Approximately 19% of the patients were not able to finish the complete 24 administrations of cisplatin because of a significant increase of the serum creatinine (7). This was mainly due to the inability of drinking enough fluids because of esophageal pain. In 2011 we started to prehydrate patients before the cisplatin bolus injection. The prehydration consisted of 1 L of natriumchloride (NaCl) 0.9% intravenously administered in one hour. In case of a history of cardiac failure or the occurrence of the syndrome of inappropriate anti-diuretic hormone secretion (SIADH), patients were given 500 mL of NaCl 0.9%. In the prehydrated group, only 2% discontinued treatment (P=0.001) (16). Surprisingly, the incidence of AET grade ≥ 2 decreased following prehydration: 62% vs. 34% (P<0.001) for the non-prehydrated and the prehydrated group, respectively (7).

V50

In case \geq 30% of the esophagus receives 50 Gy, there is a significant risk of AET grade 3. This information is useful for initiating proactive interventions such as the insertion of a percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy and the administration of pantoprazole.

Case study

Mrs X is a 52-year-old patient, married, with two teenage children. She has a history of atrial fibrillation and is a former smoker with 40 pack years. In 2014 she developed a cT2N2M0 (Stage IIIa) adeno carcinoma of the right lung with positive lymph nodes in Naruke 7 for which CCRT was indicated. In the 3rd week of treatment swallowing became difficult and painful. She was able to eat and drink adequately so paracetamol 4×1,000 mg and pantoprazole 40 mg once daily was initiated. In week 5, the oral intake was decreased to a minimum because of esophageal pain. The serum creatinine increased and she started losing weight. By then, the family of the patient felt extremely concerned, feeling incapable of controlling the situation. As a consequence, they became angry with the patient for not consuming the food they prepared for her every day. When an endoscopy was performed, several mucosal defects were seen in the distal part of the esophagus; evidentially causing the pain. The patient was hospitalized and tube feeding and intravenous hydration was started. A pain physician was consulted and she started with intravenous analgesics. She was discharged after 1 week with oral analgesics and tube feeding. Within 3 weeks the esophagitis had recovered to AET grade 1 and she was able to eat and drink adequately so the tubefeeding could be discontinued.

Discussion

CCRT for locally advanced NSCLC is the treatment of choice despite its toxicity profile. AET is one of the most profound toxicity caused by this treatment but accepted because of survival benefits. The clinical implications of AET can vary but most often consist of pain, dysphagia, weight loss and dehydration. As a result, health related quality of life is likely to be (temporary) compromised. It is therefore recommended to optimize patient education and supportive care management for palliating symptoms. Although research has been performed regarding pharmaceutical management of AET, there are no guidelines to address this problem. Demonstration has been made of the difference in pain in esophageal cancer patients receiving sucralfate or sodium alginate for AET following external beam and intracavitary RT (17). In the sucralfate group, patients had a significant relief of symptoms within 7 days of treatment and it was detected endoscopically that most ulcers had healed by 12 days of treatment. Patients receiving sodium alginate showed little improvement of symptoms and had persistent ulcers even after 4 weeks of therapy. However, although these results seemed promising, there was limited follow up with negative outcomes regarding sucralfate (18,19).

As seen above there is not yet a satisfactory golden standard in the management of acute oesophagus toxicity. Health care professionals should aim to inform patients about the risk of AET and start medication and nutritional interventions pro-actively.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The author has no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Aupérin A, Le Péchoux C, Rolland E, et al. Meta-analysis of concomitant versus sequential radiochemotherapy in locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:2181-2190.
- Baas P, Belderbos JS, van den Heuvel M. Chemoradiation therapy in nonsmall cell lung cancer. Curr Opin Oncol 2011;23:140-149.
- Belderbos J, Sonke JJ. State-of-the-art lung cancer radiation therapy. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 2009;9:1353-1363.
- Belderbos JS, De Jaeger K, Heemsbergen WD, et al. First results of a phase I/II dose escalation trial in nonsmall cell lung cancer using three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol 2003;66:119-126.
- Schaake-Koning C, van den Bogaert W, Dalesio O, et al. Effects of concomitant cisplatin and radiotherapy on inoperable non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med

Uyterlinde. Overcoming toxicity in chemoradiation for NSCLC

1992;326:524-530.

- 6. De Ruysscher D, Botterweck A, Dirx M, et al. Eligibility for concurrent chemotherapy and radiotherapy of locally advanced lung cancer patients: a prospective, populationbased study. Ann Oncol 2009;20:98-102.
- Uyterlinde W, Belderbos J, Baas C, et al. Prediction of acute toxicity grade ≥ 3 in patients with locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer receiving intensity modulated radiotherapy and concurrent low-dose Cisplatin. Clin Lung Cancer 2013;14:541-548.
- Schaake-Koning C, Bartelink H, Adema BH, et al. Radiotherapy and cis-diammine dichloroplatinum (II) as a combined treatment modality for inoperable non-small cell lung cancer: a dose finding study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1986;12:379-383.
- Uitterhoeve AL, Belderbos JS, Koolen MG, et al. Toxicity of high-dose radiotherapy combined with daily cisplatin in non-small cell lung cancer: results of the EORTC 08912 phase I/II study. European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer. Eur J Cancer 2000;36:592-600.
- Belderbos J, Heemsbergen W, Hoogeman M, et al. Acute esophageal toxicity in non-small cell lung cancer patients after high dose conformal radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol 2005;75:157-164.
- 11. Rose J, Rodrigues G, Yaremko B, et al. Systematic review of dose-volume parameters in the prediction of esophagitis in thoracic radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol 2009;91:282-287.
- Choy H, LaPorte K, Knill-Selby E, et al. Esophagitis in combined modality therapy for locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer. Semin Radiat Oncol 1999;9:90-96.
- Uyterlinde W, Chen C, Kwint M, et al. Prognostic parameters for acute esophagus toxicity in intensity modulated radiotherapy and concurrent chemotherapy for locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer. Radiother Oncol 2013;107:392-397.
- Kwint M, Uyterlinde W, Nijkamp J, et al. Acute esophagus toxicity in lung cancer patients after intensity modulated radiation therapy and concurrent chemotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012;84:e223-e228.
- Chen C, Uyterlinde W, Sonke JJ, et al. Severe late esophagus toxicity in NSCLC patients treated with IMRT and concurrent chemotherapy. Radiother Oncol 2013;108:337-341.
- 16. Uyterlinde W, Chen C, Nijkamp J, et al. Treatment adherence in concurrent chemoradiation in patients with locally advanced non-small cell lung carcinoma: results of daily intravenous prehydration. Radiother Oncol

Radiation and Combined Therapies for Lung Cancer

2014;110:488-492.

- 17. Sur RK, Kochhar R, Singh DP. Oral sucralfate in acute radiation oesophagitis. Acta Oncol 1994;33:61-63.
- 18. McGinnis WL, Loprinzi CL, Buskirk SJ, et al. Placebocontrolled trial of sucralfate for inhibiting radiation-

Cite this article as: Uyterlinde W. Overcoming toxicitychallenges in chemoradiation for non-small cell lung cancer. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2016;5(3):239-243. doi: 10.21037/ tlcr.2016.05.03 induced esophagitis. J Clin Oncol 1997;15:1239-1243.

 Taal BG, Vales Olmos RA, Boot H, et al. Assessment of sucralfate coating by sequential scintigraphic imaging in radiation-induced esophageal lesions. Gastrointest Endosc 1995;41:109-114.

Novel radiotherapy approaches for lung cancer: combining radiation therapy with targeted and immunotherapies

Charles B. Simone II¹, Stuart H. Burri², John H. Heinzerling²

¹Department of Radiation Oncology, Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA; ²Department of Radiation Oncology, Levine Cancer Institute, Carolinas HealthCare System, Charlotte, NC, USA

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: JH Heinzerling, CB Simone 2nd; (II) Administrative support: JH Heinzerling, CB Simone 2nd; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: JH Heinzerling, CB Simone 2nd; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: JH Heinzerling, CB Simone 2nd; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: JH Heinzerling, CB Simone 2nd; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors. *Correspondence to:* John H. Heinzerling, MD. Department of Radiation Oncology, Levine Cancer Institute, Carolinas Healthcare System, 1021 Morehead Medical Drive, Charlotte, NC 28204, USA. Email: John.Heinzerling@carolinashealthcare.org.

Abstract: Targeted therapies and immunotherapies have quickly become fixtures in the treatment armamentarium for metastatic non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Targeted therapies directed against epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutations, anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) translocations, and ROS-1 rearrangements have demonstrated improved progression free survival (PFS) and, in selected populations, improved overall survival (OS) compared with cytotoxic chemotherapy. Immunotherapies, including checkpoint inhibitor monoclonal antibodies against programmed death receptor 1 (PD-1) and programmed death ligand 1 (PD-L1), have now also demonstrated improved survival compared with chemotherapy. The use of these novel systemic agents in non-metastatic patient populations and in combination with radiation therapy is not well defined. As radiation therapy has become more effective and more conformal with fewer toxicities, it has increasingly been used in the oligometastatic or oligoprogression setting. This has allowed improvement in PFS and potentially OS, and in the oligoprogressive setting may overcome acquired drug resistance of a specific lesion(s) to allow patients to remain on their targeted therapies. Molecularly targeted therapies and immunotherapies for patients with metastatic NSCLC have demonstrated much success. Advances in radiation therapy and stereotactic body radiotherapy, radiation therapy have led to combination strategies with targeted therapies among patients with lung cancer. Radiation therapy has also been combined with immunotherapies predominantly in the metastatic setting. In the metastatic population, radiation therapy has the ability to provide durable local control and also augment the immune response of systemic agents, which may lead to an abscopal effect of immune-mediated tumor response in disease sites outside of the radiation field in select patients.

Keywords: Abscopal effect; immunotherapy; lung cancer; radiation therapy; targeted therapy

Submitted Oct 02, 2015. Accepted for publication Oct 10, 2015. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2015.10.05 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2015.10.05

Role of radiation in early stage and locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC)

Definitive radiation therapy has been part of the standard of care for patients with locally advanced NSCLC for almost 5 decades. Combined modality therapy with chemoradiation became the preferred treatment of these patients based on multiple clinical trials showing improved survival (1,2).

Conventionally fractionated radiation therapy remains the standard, and attempts at dose escalation have failed to show a benefit in this patient population (3). Newer technologies such as intensity modulated radiation (4), image guided radiation therapy, and proton therapy (5-7) are increasingly being utilized or studied to lower rates of toxicity with combined modality therapy.

Radiation and Combined Therapies for Lung Cancer

 Table 1 Classes of targeted therapies in clinical use in metastatic

 non-small cell lung cancer

Target	Currently available targeted therapies
EGFR	Erlotinib
	Afatinib
	Gefitinib
	Cetuximab
ALK	Crizotinib
	Ceritinib
ROS1	Crizotinib
MET	Crizotinib
VEGF	Bevacizumab
	Ramucirumab

EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; ALK, anaplastic lymphoma kinase; ROS1, ROS proto-oncogene 1; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor.

Surgical resection has been the standard of care for patients with stage I NSCLC with 5 years survival rates of approximately 60-70% (8,9). While patients determined to be medically inoperable have been treated in the past with standard fractionated radiotherapy, newer technologies within radiation therapy have led to the standardization of high dose, ablative hypofractionated therapy termed stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) or stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR) (10). SBRT has allowed for improved dose conformity, improved local tumor control, and superior overall survival (OS) when compared to conventionally fractionated radiotherapy (11,12). Based on the improved outcomes with SBRT and the increased utilization of this technology, interest in its use for medically operable patients has emerged. A recently published pooled analysis of two randomized trials comparing surgery and SBRT for stage I NSCLC demonstrated that SBRT was highly effective and had a limited toxicity profile, and that there was equipoise between the two treatment options (13).

SBRT has also begun to be used more frequently in patients with oligometastatic disease, including lung, liver, and bone metastases. Recent data has shown excellent control rates with encouraging progression free survival (PFS) in patients with oligometastatic NSCLC (14,15). Conventionally fractionated radiotherapy, in combination with chemotherapy, can also be considered in patients with oligometastatic disease not amenable to treatment with SBRT and may improve survival in a select subset of patients with minimal extrathoracic disease (16).

Targeted therapy for advanced NSCLC

With the discovery of molecular pathways that correspond with tumor progression and growth, numerous potential targets have been identified and explored for potential therapeutics for advanced NSCLC (*Table 1*).

Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is an essential part of the oncogenic growth pathway and is expressed at higher levels in some lung cancers. EGFR as a molecular target has shown promising results in advanced lung cancer. Monoclonal antibodies, such as cetuximab and panitumumab, and tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs), such as gefitinib, erlotinib, and afatinib, are available. Initial trials evaluating patients treated with cytotoxic chemotherapy either in combination or followed by EGFR pathway inhibitors without prior molecular mutation analyses demonstrated mixed results, although trials have generally demonstrated at least a benefit to PFS (17-23). Further subset analysis of many of these trials showed clear correlation between the presence of EGFR driver mutations and clinical benefit of these agents. This has led to the standardization of the use of EGFR TKIs in the first line setting for patients with EGFR mutations (24-30).

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) plays an essential part in tumor angiogenesis and is often expressed at higher rates in NSCLC, thus creating another molecular pathway target for therapy. The most well studied VEGF inhibitor in NSCLC, bevacizumab, has shown increased PFS and OS in patients with non-squamous NSCLC when added to standard cytotoxic chemotherapy (31-33). Ongoing trials are evaluating bevacizumab with other platinum combinations (NCT00150657, NCT00753909), as well as with other targeted agents such as erlotinib and ramucirumab (NCT01532089, NCT00257608, NCT00553800).

One of the most promising recent areas of new drug development in treatment of NSCLC has been anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) inhibitors. These are targeted agents directed at the novel fusion oncogene echinoderm microtubule associated protein like 4-anaplastic lymphoma kinase (EML4-ALK). The first available drug was crizotinib, an oral small-molecule inhibitor of ALK and c-Met tyrosine kinases. Crizotinib has shown favorable outcomes both in the second line setting, as well as in the primary treatment setting for patients that are positive for this rearrangement (34,35). Second generation TKI inhibitors of ALK include ceritinib and alectinib are undergoing investigation in national trials in ALK positive patients that have progressed, as well as the primary setting with pending

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	
Monoclonal antibody	Target	FDA approved
lpilimumab	CTLA-4 on T cells	Melanoma
Nivolumab	PD-1 on T cells	Lung cancer, melanoma
Pembrolizumab	PD-1 on T cells	Melanoma
BMS-936559	PD-L1 on tumor cells	No
MEDI4736	PD-L1 on tumor cells	No
MPDL3280A	PD-L1 on tumor cells	No
Lirilumab	Killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptor (KIR) on NK cells	No
BMS-986016	Lymphocyte-activation gene 3 (LAG3) on tumor infiltrating lymphocytes	No

Table 2 Checkpoint inhibitors in clinical use or under development for advanced or metastatic non-small cell lung cancer

FDA, Food and Drug Administration; CTLA-4, cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4; PD-1, programmed death receptor 1; PD-L1, programmed death ligand 1; NK, natural killer.

results (NCT02292550, NCT02393625, NCT02075840, NCT02271139). ALK inhibitors have also demonstrated efficacy in patients with chromosomal rearrangements of the gene encoding ROS1 proto-oncogene receptor tyrosine kinase, which occurs in 1-2% of patients with NSCLC (36).

Immunotherapy for advanced NSCLC

Utilizing the immune system as an effective oncologic tool to fight cancer has been the subject of preclinical and clinical research for several decades (37). Immunotherapy agents allow the immune system to recognize a patient's cancer cells as foreign, prompting an immune response resulting in tumor cell death and/or inhibition of tumor growth. Newer immunotherapy agents have been developed based on improved knowledge of the molecular process of the immune response, leading to a resurgence in investigative use of these agents for patients with NSCLC. Such checkpoint inhibitors include monoclonal antibodies to cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA-4) such as ipilimumab, as well as antibodies to programmed death receptor 1 (PD-1), such as nivolumab and pembrolizumab (*Table 2*).

CTLA-4 is responsible for regulation of early T cell activity. It becomes upregulated after antigen exposure and competes for binding with CD28, preventing the stimulatory signal needed for T cell activation. Thus, inhibition of this receptor allows T cell activation after tumor antigen presentation. PD-1 is also upregulated on T cells, but it is thought to play a role further down the immune response pathway within the tumor microenvironment. Binding of PD-1 to programmed death ligand 1 (PD-L1) leads to T cell inactivation, and antibodies to PD-1 allow activation to proceed at the site of direct anti-tumor immune response.

The majority of data for use of these newer immunotherapy agents in NSCLC have been studied in advanced, stage IV patients. Ipilimumab was developed as an IgG1 CTLA-4 monoclonal antibody and was originally investigated in metastatic melanoma. A phase II randomized trial combining ipilimumab with standard first line chemotherapy in patients with stage IIIB-IV NSCLC showed improvement of PFS with the addition of ipilimumab (38). Subset analysis showed that patients with squamous cell histology benefitted primarily from the addition of ipilimumab, prompting an ongoing phase III trial that is comparing standard first line chemotherapy with carboplatin and paclitaxel with or without the addition of ipilimumab in patients with advanced squamous cell NSCLC. Additional trials are evaluating its effectiveness in combination with other targeted or immunotherapy agents (39).

Anti PD-1 antibody agents have been more commonly studied in patients with progressive metastatic NSCLC and showed promising results with prolonged tumor responses (40). Based on the recently published data from the CheckMate 017 and 063 trials in 2014, nivolumab has now received Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval for treatment of advanced squamous cell NSCLC. Checkmate 063 was a single arm phase II trial in patients that had progressed after at least two prior systemic treatments. Nivolumab achieved an encouraging 1 year survival rate of 41% in these heavily pretreated patients (41). The follow up phase III trial, CheckMate 017, randomized patients with metastatic squamous cell NSCLC who had progressed after doublet chemotherapy to nivolumab or and docetaxel. The trial was stopped early due to superior OS in the nivolumab arm with a median survival of 9.2 vs. 6 months

in the docetaxel arm (P=0.00025). Nivolumab also showed a more favorable toxicity profile compared with docetaxel (42). Additional phase III trials are currently evaluating pembrolizumab monotherapy in both the first line and second line setting for advanced and metastatic NSCLC (NCT02220894, NCT02142738) (38).

Targeted therapy with radiation therapy for localized NSCLC

Many targeted therapies have been integrated into the treatment of localized NSCLC. While the data are much more limited than for the metastatic setting, targeted therapies have been used in combination with or concurrently with radiation therapy. The majority of this data are in conjunction with radiation therapy in the setting of locally advanced NSCLC classically treated with concurrent chemotherapy and radiation.

Preclinical data have shown biologic rationale for combining EGFR inhibitors and radiation therapy. Cetuximab has been combined with chemotherapy and radiation in treatment of locally advanced NSCLC in both phase II and phase III trials (3,43,44). In two sequential Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) trials, cetuximab was combined with carboplatin/paclitaxel and radiation therapy for stage IIIA/IIIB lung cancer. While the median survival (22.7 months) and 24-month OS (49.3%) achieved in the phase II study (RTOG 0324) of cetuximab and concurrent chemoradiation were longer than any previously reported by the RTOG (43), the randomized phase III trial RTOG 0617 failed to show a benefit to the addition of cetuximab to chemoradiation in an unselected population (3). Among all patients, median OS in patients randomized to cetuximab was 25.0 vs. 24.0 months among those not receiving cetuximab (P=0.29). However, in a planned analysis of the association of EGFR expression and outcome, among patients with an EGFR H score of 200 or higher, cetuximab use was associated with improved OS (42.0 vs. 21.2 months, P=0.032) (3).

Gefitinib and erlotinib have also been integrated into both the concurrent chemoradiation setting, as well as a maintenance therapy after chemoradiation for locally advanced NSCLC (45-47). Again, phase III trials have failed to show a benefit to these agents in all subsets of patients, but they have shown improved outcomes in patients who had evidence of EGFR amplification or EGFR mutation, suggesting that in selected patients, these drugs may prolong PFS or OS in combination with chemotherapy and radiation therapy for non-metastatic patients. Newer studies are evaluating the use of these agents in patients with confirmed mutations (NCT01391260, NCT01822496, NCT02277457) (38).

Another area of clinical interest combining radiation and targeted therapy has been in the limited or oligometastatic setting. While the definition of oligometastatic has varied in the clinical literature, there has been increased use of local therapies for patients with limited sites of metastastic disease, especially as the ability to deliver effective local therapies with less morbidity has improved. Given the encouraging local control and limited toxicity profile of SBRT in both the lung and other organs commonly afflicted with metastasis from lung cancer, this remains an active area of research in treating patients with limited oligometastatic disease in combination with targeted agents. One recent published phase II trial showed encouraging results for PFS in advanced NSCLC patients with six or fewer sites of metastatic disease when they were treated with local SBRT to these sites in combination with second line erlotinib (7). Other active studies are similarly looking at this patient population in combination with other targeted as well as immunotherapeutic agents (NCT02450591, NCT0208672, NCT02444741).

As in the oligometastatic setting, the use of radiation therapy can be considered in the oligoprogression setting among patients being treated with TKIs for metastatic NSCLC. While patients with stage IV NSCLC and EGFR mutation or ALK rearrangement have achieved excellent PFS with targeted therapy, disease progression often occurs within a year of therapy initiation. While initial progression of EGFR- or ALK-directed therapy can be diffuse, many patients can have oligoprogression, or limited sites of progression, potentially due to acquired resistance from evolutionary selection on molecularly diverse tumors in which tumor clones in some sites of metastasis but not others develop resistance. Systemic options for such patients include increasing the dose of the targeted therapy they are progressing on, switching to another next-line targeted therapy, switching to cytotoxic chemotherapy, or adding chemotherapy to the targeted therapy (48). However, several groups have recently demonstrated that radiation therapy or other local therapies to sites of oligoprogression can also be considered and can achieve durable local control of the sites of progression and also allow for patients to be maintained on their existing TKI, thus saving alternative or next-line systemic therapy options for subsequent disease progression (49,50).

Anti-angiogenesis agents typically targeting VEGF have become standard treatment components of therapy for advanced NSCLC. Bevacizumab has been studied in combination with radiation therapy, but this combination has shown a high incidence of tracheoesophageal fistula formation when given concurrently, especially among patients with squamous cell carcinoma and centrally located tumors being irradiated (51).

Given the favorable results in advanced lung cancer, integration of ALK inhibitors into the setting of locally advanced NSCLC has already entered ongoing randomized phase II trials, including NRG/RTOG 1306/ NCT01822496, which is evaluating erlotinib and crizotinib as induction therapy followed by standard chemoradiation in patients with confirmed EGFR mutation or EML4-ALK fusion rearrangement, respectively (39).

Immunotherapy with radiation therapy for NSCLC

Although there is limited data to date combining radiation therapy and immunotherapy, this combination has the ability to achieve a synergistic therapeutic effect (52,53). As ionizing radiation can increase the production and presentation of tumor antigens, it can serve to augment the antitumor immune responses achieved by checkpoint inhibitors (54). Radiation therapy can augment immunomodulation by bolstering cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity (53) and reduce myeloid-derived suppressor cells (55), allowing for synergism with checkpoint inhibitors.

SBRT may be the radiotherapy modality most optimally combined with immunotherapy since it can achieve a more robust immune response than conventionally fractionated radiotherapy. SBRT has been shown to induce cellular expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) I, inflammatory mediators, costimulatory molecules, heat shock proteins, immunomodulatory cytokines, adhesion molecules, and death receptors, all of which can enhance antitumor immune responses of systemic therapy (56).

There have been a number of reports in which a distant tumor mass regresses following the administration of radiation therapy before or after treatment with immunotherapy, known as the abscopal effect (57-59). In addition to the abscopal effect, radiation therapy may also allow for immune activation that leads to a more complete or accelerated clearance of the irradiated tumor, or sterilization of microscopic metastasis that were not clinically apparent at the time of irradiation. Aside from case reports, a number

of prospective clinical trials have been completed that have combined anti-CTLA-4 therapy and radiotherapy for melanoma (60) and prostate cancer (61) with promising results. A phase I/II study in metastatic castration resistant prostate cancer combining ipilimumab in combination with radiation therapy showed 50% of patients having a decline in prostate-specific antigen (PSA) with one complete response (60). A phase I trial combining ipilimumab and radiation in melanoma showed a response rate of 18% and PFS of 3.8 months prompting further investigation into this combination in the clinical setting (62). To date, no prospective study combining radiation therapy with anti-CTLA-4, anti-PD-1, or anti-PD-L1 therapy has been completed for lung cancer.

Future directions

Targeted therapy and immunotherapy have become pillars of lung cancer treatment. As we gain a greater understanding of the molecular basis of lung cancer, additional targeted agents will become part of standard practice to expand the role beyond the currently limited proportion of lung cancer patients with a known targetable mutation or translocation. Additionally, with increasing knowledge of acquired mutations, second- and third-line targeted agents will become standard options over salvage cytotoxic chemotherapy offering the promise of greater effectiveness and less toxicity. Cooperative group studies combining targeted agents and radiotherapy for nonmetastatic patients are ongoing (NCT01822496).

Similarly, immunotherapies will become more entrenched as standard therapy for second-line NSCLC and will be investigated in the first line setting. Combination therapies will increasingly be the subject of investigation, including the inhibition of both CTLA-4 and PD-1, or the use of an immunotherapy agent with a targeted therapy or with a cytotoxic chemotherapy. Toxicities to such combinations, however, may prove prohibitive.

While there is much excitement around the phenomenon of a radiotherapy-induced anticancer immune response and combining radiation therapy with immunotherapy, numerous questions remain before this combination can be exported to routine clinical practice. Additional research is needed to determine if conventionally fractionated irradiation, multi-fraction SBRT, or single fraction SBRT is most effectively combined with immunotherapy, and how radiotherapy and immunotherapy should be sequenced. Like with combination systemic therapies, combining

Radiation and Combined Therapies for Lung Cancer

radiotherapy with such novel immunotherapies and systemic therapies may result in overlapping toxicities of radiation therapy and immunotherapy. In addition to the immune modulators and checkpoint inhibitors discussed in this manuscript, additional ways to provide tumor-associated antigen to the immune system that can be combined with radiotherapy are currently being investigated, including recombinant vaccines, tumor lysates, and synthetic peptides. While early results are promising, studies combining radiation therapy with immunotherapy warrant careful consideration of toxicity and safety.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Curran WJ Jr, Paulus R, Langer CJ, et al. Sequential vs. concurrent chemoradiation for stage III non-small cell lung cancer: randomized phase III trial RTOG 9410. J Natl Cancer Inst 2011;103:1452-1460.
- Furuse K, Fukuoka M, Kawahara M, et al. Phase III study of concurrent versus sequential thoracic radiotherapy in combination with mitomycin, vindesine, and cisplatin in unresectable stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 1999;17:2692-2699.
- Bradley JD, Paulus R, Komaki R, et al. Standard-dose versus high-dose conformal radiotherapy with concurrent and consolidation carboplatin plus paclitaxel with or without cetuximab for patients with stage IIIA or IIIB non-small-cell lung cancer (RTOG 0617): a randomised, two-by-two factorial phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:187-199.
- Shirvani SM, Jiang J, Gomez DR, et al. Intensity modulated radiotherapy for stage III non-small cell lung cancer in the United States: predictors of use and association with toxicities. Lung Cancer 2013;82:252-259.
- Wink KC, Roelofs E, Solberg T, et al. Particle therapy for non-small cell lung tumors: where do we stand? A systematic review of the literature. Front Oncol 2014;4:292.
- 6. Chang JY, Komaki R, Lu C, et al. Phase 2 study of high-

dose proton therapy with concurrent chemotherapy for unresectable stage III nonsmall cell lung cancer. Cancer 2011;117:4707-4713.

- 7. Simone CB 2nd, Rengan R. The use of proton therapy in the treatment of lung cancers. Cancer J 2014;20:427-432.
- Naruke T, Goya T, Tsuchiya R, et al. Prognosis and survival in resected lung carcinoma based on the new international staging system. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1988;96:440-447.
- Nesbitt JC, Putnam JB Jr, Walsh GL, et al. Survival in early-stage non-small cell lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 1995;60:466-472.
- Timmerman R, Paulus R, Galvin J, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for inoperable early stage lung cancer. JAMA 2010;303:1070-1076.
- Heinzerling JH, Kavanagh B, Timmerman RD. Stereotactic ablative radiation therapy for primary lung tumors. Cancer J 2011;17:28-32.
- Simone CB 2nd, Wildt B, Haas AR, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for lung cancer. Chest 2013;143:1784-1790.
- Chang JY, Senan S, Paul MA, et al. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy versus lobectomy for operable stage I nonsmall-cell lung cancer: a pooled analysis of two randomised trials. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:630-637.
- Iyengar P, Kavanagh BD, Wardak Z, et al. Phase II trial of stereotactic body radiation therapy combined with erlotinib for patients with limited but progressive metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2014;32:3824-3830.
- Siva S, MacManus M, Ball D. Stereotactic radiotherapy for pulmonary oligometastases: a systematic review. J Thorac Oncol 2010;5:1091-1099.
- 16. Xanthopoulos EP, Handorf E, Simone CB 2nd, et al. Definitive dose thoracic radiation therapy in oligometastatic non-small cell lung cancer: A hypothesisgenerating study. Pract Radiat Oncol 2015;5:e355-e363.
- 17. Pirker R, Pereira JR, Szczesna A, et al. Cetuximab plus chemotherapy in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (FLEX): an open-label randomised phase III trial. Lancet 2009;373:1525-1531.
- Lynch TJ, Patel T, Dreisbach L, et al. Cetuximab and first-line taxane/carboplatin chemotherapy in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: results of the randomized multicenter phase III trial BMS099. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:911-917.
- 19. Cappuzzo F, Ciuleanu T, Stelmakh L, et al. Erlotinib as maintenance treatment in advanced non-small-cell lung

Simone et al. Radiotherapy with targeted and immunotherapy

cancer: a multicentre, randomised, placebo-controlled phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol 2010;11:521-529.

- 20. Brugger W, Triller N, Blasinska-Morawiec M, et al. Prospective molecular marker analyses of EGFR and KRAS from a randomized, placebo-controlled study of erlotinib maintenance therapy in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:4113-4120.
- 21. Takeda K, Hida T, Sato T, et al. Randomized phase III trial of platinum-doublet chemotherapy followed by gefitinib compared with continued platinum-doublet chemotherapy in Japanese patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: results of a west Japan thoracic oncology group trial (WJTOG0203). J Clin Oncol 2010;28:753-760.
- Zhang L, Ma S, Song X, et al. Gefitinib versus placebo as maintenance therapy in patients with locally advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer (INFORM; C-TONG 0804): a multicentre, double-blind randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2012;13:466-475.
- 23. Zhao H, Fan Y, Ma S, et al. Final overall survival results from a phase III, randomized, placebo-controlled, parallelgroup study of gefitinib versus placebo as maintenance therapy in patients with locally advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer (INFORM; C-TONG 0804). J Thorac Oncol 2015;10:655-664.
- Mok TS, Wu YL, Thongprasert S, et al. Gefitinib or carboplatin-paclitaxel in pulmonary adenocarcinoma. N Engl J Med 2009;361:947-957.
- 25. Fukuoka M, Wu YL, Thongprasert S, et al. Biomarker analyses and final overall survival results from a phase III, randomized, open-label, first-line study of gefitinib versus carboplatin/paclitaxel in clinically selected patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer in Asia (IPASS). J Clin Oncol 2011;29:2866-2874.
- 26. Mitsudomi T, Morita S, Yatabe Y, et al. Gefitinib versus cisplatin plus docetaxel in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer harbouring mutations of the epidermal growth factor receptor (WJTOG3405): an open label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2010;11:121-128.
- 27. Inoue A, Kobayashi K, Maemondo M, et al. Updated overall survival results from a randomized phase III trial comparing gefitinib with carboplatin-paclitaxel for chemonaïve non-small cell lung cancer with sensitive EGFR gene mutations (NEJ002). Ann Oncol 2013;24:54-59.
- 28. Zhou C, Wu YL, Chen G, et al. Erlotinib versus chemotherapy as first-line treatment for patients with advanced EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (OPTIMAL, CTONG-0802): a multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol

2011;12:735-742.

- 29. Rosell R, Carcereny E, Gervais R, et al. Erlotinib versus standard chemotherapy as first-line treatment for European patients with advanced EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (EURTAC): a multicentre, open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2012;13:239-246.
- 30. Sequist LV, Yang JC, Yamamoto N, et al. Phase III study of afatinib or cisplatin plus pemetrexed in patients with metastatic lung adenocarcinoma with EGFR mutations. J Clin Oncol 2013;31:3327-3334.
- Sandler A, Gray R, Perry MC, et al. Paclitaxel-carboplatin alone or with bevacizumab for non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2006;355:2542-2550.
- 32. Reck M, von Pawel J, Zatloukal P, et al. Overall survival with cisplatin-gemcitabine and bevacizumab or placebo as first-line therapy for nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer: results from a randomised phase III trial (AVAiL). Ann Oncol 2010;21:1804-1809.
- 33. Soria JC, Mauguen A, Reck M, et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised, phase II/III trials adding bevacizumab to platinum-based chemotherapy as first-line treatment in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. Ann Oncol 2013;24:20-30.
- Shaw AT, Kim DW, Nakagawa K, et al. Crizotinib versus chemotherapy in advanced ALK-positive lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2013;368:2385-2394.
- Solomon BJ, Mok T, Kim DW, et al. First-line crizotinib versus chemotherapy in ALK-positive lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2014;371:2167-2177.
- Shaw AT, Ou SH, Bang YJ, et al. Crizotinib in ROS1rearranged non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2014;371:1963-1971.
- Smith RT. Tumor-specific immune mechanisms. N Engl J Med 1968;278:1326-31 concl.
- 38. Lynch TJ, Bondarenko I, Luft A, et al. Ipilimumab in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin as first-line treatment in stage IIIB/IV non-small-cell lung cancer: results from a randomized, double-blind, multicenter phase II study. J Clin Oncol 2012;30:2046-2054.
- ClinicalTrials.gov. A service of the U.S. National Institutes of Health. [Accessed September 29, 2015]. Available online: https://clinicaltrials.gov/
- 40. Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med 2012;366:2443-2454.
- 41. Ramalingam SS, Mazières J, Planchard D, et al. Phase II Study of Nivolumab (anti-PD-1, BMS-936558, ONO-

112

4538) in Patients with Advanced, Refractory Squamous Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer: Metastatic Non-small Cell Lung Cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol 2014;90:1266-1267.

- 42. Brahmer J, Reckamp KL, Baas P, et al. Nivolumab versus Docetaxel in Advanced Squamous-Cell Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med 2015;373:123-135.
- 43. Blumenschein GR Jr, Paulus R, Curran WJ, et al. Phase II study of cetuximab in combination with chemoradiation in patients with stage IIIA/B non-small-cell lung cancer: RTOG 0324. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:2312-2318.
- 44. Govindan R, Bogart J, Stinchcombe T, et al. Randomized phase II study of pemetrexed, carboplatin, and thoracic radiation with or without cetuximab in patients with locally advanced unresectable non-small-cell lung cancer: Cancer and Leukemia Group B trial 30407. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:3120-3125.
- 45. Herbst RS, Prager D, Hermann R, et al. TRIBUTE: a phase III trial of erlotinib hydrochloride (OSI-774) combined with carboplatin and paclitaxel chemotherapy in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:5892-5899.
- 46. Gatzemeier U, Pluzanska A, Szczesna A, et al. Phase III study of erlotinib in combination with cisplatin and gemcitabine in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: the Tarceva Lung Cancer Investigation Trial. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:1545-1552.
- 47. Ready N, Jänne PA, Bogart J, et al. Chemoradiotherapy and gefitinib in stage III non-small cell lung cancer with epidermal growth factor receptor and KRAS mutation analysis: cancer and leukemia group B (CALEB) 30106, a CALGB-stratified phase II trial. J Thorac Oncol 2010;5:1382-1390.
- Camidge DR, Pao W, Sequist LV. Acquired resistance to TKIs in solid tumours: learning from lung cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2014;11:473-481.
- 49. Weickhardt AJ, Scheier B, Burke JM, et al. Local ablative therapy of oligoprogressive disease prolongs disease control by tyrosine kinase inhibitors in oncogeneaddicted non-small-cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2012;7:1807-1814.
- 50. Yu HA, Sima CS, Huang J, et al. Local therapy with continued EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy as a treatment strategy in EGFR-mutant advanced lung cancers that have developed acquired resistance to EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors. J Thorac Oncol 2013;8:346-351.
- 51. Spigel DR, Hainsworth JD, Yardley DA, et al.

Tracheoesophageal fistula formation in patients with lung cancer treated with chemoradiation and bevacizumab. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:43-48.

- Domagala-Kulawik J. The role of the immune system in non-small cell lung carcinoma and potential for therapeutic intervention. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2015;4:177-190.
- 53. Tang C, Wang X, Soh H, et al. Combining radiation and immunotherapy: a new systemic therapy for solid tumors? Cancer Immunol Res 2014;2:831-838.
- Reits EA, Hodge JW, Herberts CA, et al. Radiation modulates the peptide repertoire, enhances MHC class I expression, and induces successful antitumor immunotherapy. J Exp Med 2006;203:1259-1271.
- 55. Deng L, Liang H, Burnette B, et al. Irradiation and anti-PD-L1 treatment synergistically promote antitumor immunity in mice. J Clin Invest 2014;124:687-695.
- Finkelstein SE, Timmerman R, McBride WH, et al. The confluence of stereotactic ablative radiotherapy and tumor immunology. Clin Dev Immunol 2011;2011:439752.
- Postow MA, Callahan MK, Barker CA, et al. Immunologic correlates of the abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. N Engl J Med 2012;366:925-931.
- 58. Stamell EF, Wolchok JD, Gnjatic S, et al. The abscopal effect associated with a systemic anti-melanoma immune response. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;85:293-295.
- 59. Hiniker SM, Chen DS, Reddy S, et al. A systemic complete response of metastatic melanoma to local radiation and immunotherapy. Transl Oncol 2012;5:404-407.
- 60. Twyman-Saint Victor C, Rech AJ, Maity A, et al. Radiation and dual checkpoint blockade activate non-redundant immune mechanisms in cancer. Nature 2015;520:373-377.
- Slovin SF, Higano CS, Hamid O, et al. Ipilimumab alone or in combination with radiotherapy in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: results from an open-label, multicenter phase I/II study. Ann Oncol 2013;24:1813-1821.
- 62. Mayor S. Radiation in combination with immunecheckpoint inhibitors. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:e162.

Cite this article as: Simone CB 2nd, Burri SH, Heinzerling JH. Novel radiotherapy approaches for lung cancer: combining radiation therapy with targeted and immunotherapies. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2015;4(5):545-552. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2015.10.05

Integrating immunotherapy into chemoradiation regimens for medically inoperable locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer

Salma K. Jabbour¹, Abigail T. Berman², Charles B. Simone II³

¹Department of Radiation Oncology, Rutgers Cancer Institute of New Jersey, Rutgers Robert Wood Johnson Medical School, Rutgers University, New Brunswick, NJ, USA; ²Department of Radiation Oncology, Perelman School of Medicine, Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA; ³Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA *Contributions*: (I) Conception and design: All authors; (II) Administrative support: SK Jabbour; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: SK Jabbour; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: SK Jabbour, CB Simone 2nd; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: All authors; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Salma K. Jabbour, MD. 195 Little Albany Street, New Brunswick, NJ 08903, USA. Email: jabbousk@cinj.rutgers.edu.

Abstract: For patients with inoperable stage II–III non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), the backbone of curative intent therapy is concurrent chemoradiotherapy (CRT). As checkpoint inhibitors have shown clinical benefit in the setting of metastatic NSCLC, additional study is necessary to understand their role in patients receiving CRT. When integrating immunotherapy with radiotherapy (RT) for cure, clinicians will need to consider synergy, timing, doses, and safety among the combination of therapies. This article seeks to review data evaluating interactions, temporal sequencing, fractionation, and overlapping toxicity profiles of thoracic chemoradiation and immunotherapy.

Keywords: Immunotherapy; chemoradiation; non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC); PD-1; PD-L1

Submitted Mar 26, 2017. Accepted for publication Mar 28, 2017. doi: 10.21037/tlcr.2017.04.02 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/tlcr.2017.04.02

Introduction

For patients with inoperable stage II-III non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), the backbone of curative intent therapy is concurrent chemoradiotherapy (CRT). The supportive evidence for the use of combined CRT is rooted in several decades of methodical clinical studies that established the superiority of concurrent CRT compared to either modality alone or sequential delivery of chemotherapy followed by radiotherapy (RT) (1-5). The customary platform for localized and inoperable NSCLC consists of concurrent chemoradiation with a platinum-based doublet and 60 Gy of RT delivered daily over 6 weeks followed by consideration of two cycles of consolidative chemotherapy, particularly for carboplatin and paclitaxel regimens (6,7). Although consolidative chemotherapy was not found to demonstrate an obvious survival benefit for inoperable, locally advanced NSCLC (8,9), its incorporation into RTOG 0617 has led to its acceptance as the de facto standard of care (7). Despite

its acceptance as a curative intent treatment, concurrent CRT results in relatively meager treatment outcomes with median survival rates of 20–28 months and 5-year overall survival (OS) rates of 15–20%.

The advent of novel immunotherapy agents affords patients and clinicians therapeutic modalities to improve patient longevity and avenues to study innovative combinations of therapies (10-13). Incorporation of immunotherapy with standard therapy provides the potential to build upon the gains of the well-established regimen of CRT for inoperable NSCLC. Since checkpoint inhibitors have shown clinical benefit in the setting of metastatic NSCLC, additional study will be necessary to understand their role in combined modality CRT. When integrating immunotherapy with RT for cure, clinicians will need to consider synergy, timing, doses, and safety among the combined therapies. This article seeks to review data evaluating interactions, temporal sequencing, fractionation, and overlapping toxicity profiles of CRT and immunotherapy.

Immune modulation in the setting of RT

Local ionizing radiation can interact with the host's immune system by increasing the tumor antigen specific effector cells that traffic to a tumor. In a study comparing xenografts with B16-F0 tumors, irradiated mice (treated with 15 Gy) had greater ability to present tumor antigens and specific T-cells and tumor infiltrating lymphocytes than nonirradiated mice (14). In melanoma murine models, tumor control increased with the size of the RT dose as did tumorreactive T cells, but a dose of 7.5 Gy per fraction proved to be the regimen with the optimal tumor control and tumor immunity with the lowest number of T-regulatory cells (T-regs) (15).

RT modulates the immune system and can help to mount an immune response that can result in immunogenic cell death. Radiation releases tumor antigens and facilitates tumor antigen release by dendritic cells (DC) and crosscomplementation on major histocompatibility complex-1 (MHC-1) (16). RT potentiates calretinin's exposure on the cell surface and release of ATP and high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1), which seems to be required for DC activation and immune priming against malignant cells (17). Therefore, RT also acts as an in-situ tumor vaccine and may immunize the patient against their neoplasm and can provide immunologic memory which may endure for the host's lifetime (18,19).

RT also provides a pro-immunogenic effect on the tumor microenvironment (18). RT elicits activation of both innate and adaptive immunity (20), and these immune responses are potentiated by the cellular damage caused by RT and the cascade of interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), tumor necrosis-factor- α (TNF- α), and chemokine (C-C-C motif) ligand 16 (CXCL16), MHC molecules, adhesion molecules and death receptors (21). RT also can reprogram macrophage differentiation to an iNOS+/M1 phenotype that orchestrates effective T cell immunotherapy (18,22).

The interaction of RT and checkpoint inhibitors or other immunotherapies may lead to an abscopal effect whereby after the administration of RT to one location, a non-responding systemic tumor then displays diffuse systemic response at distant sites from the site of irradiation. This concept has gained much attention in the setting of metastatic melanoma patient who had been maintained on ipilimumab with relatively stable disease subsequently received stereotactic body RT to an enlarging paraspinal mass and was found to have response at their other sites of distant metastases. The authors suggested that the tumor was resistant to T cell mediated antitumor effects until the delivery of RT (23). T cells are thought to be a driver for the abscopal effect, which may require Flt-3 ligand as mice bearing tumor in both flanks responded in both flanks despite irradiation of only one flank when Flt-3 was available (24). This abscopal effect has been demonstrated on multiple occasions but is thought to be relatively infrequent, and no reliable method has been discovered to reproducibly harness these potent series of events clinically.

PD-1 and its interaction with RT

Programmed cell death-1 is an immune checkpoint inhibitory receptor and facilitates immune escape (25). PD-1 primarily curbs the activity of T cells in the periphery during chronic inflammation, infection or cancer and limits autoimmunity. When PD-1 interacts with its ligand PD-L1, it can inhibit T cell growth, survival, and effector function, such as cytokine release and cytotoxicity (26), and leads to tumor specific T cell apoptosis (27), stimulates the differentiation of CD4+ T cells into T-regs (28) and allows for the resistance of tumor cells to cytotoxic T cell (CTL) attack (29).

Inhibition of PD-1, and likely PD-L1, improves tumor rejection. Polyclonal antibody against PD-L1 can promote tumor rejection in models (29). Since PD-1 is expressed directly on tumor surfaces, this is an attractive target for immune-mediated responses. PD-1 blockade can allow for tumor rejection and immune-mediated signaling to allow the immune system to attack the tumor. PD-1 expression is generally increased in tumors with a higher nonsynonymous mutational burden in tumors and is associated with improved responses and durable clinical benefit with longer progression-free survival in NSCLC (30). Given the high mutational burden that is often seen in smokers who develop NSCLC, PD-1/PD-L1 inhibition appears to be a logical combination.

Blockade of PD-L1 improves T cell responses leading to tumor rejection (31). PD-L1 can be upregulated in the tumor microenvironment after RT in murine models. The addition of anti-PD-L1 therapy can improve the efficacy of RT through a CTL-dependent mechanism. This combination also reduced tumor-infiltrating myeloidderived suppressor cells that contribute to altering the tumor microenvironment (32).

Importantly, the interaction of stereotactic RT can

Clinical trial title (phase of trial)	NCT identification (number/institution/status)	
Pembrolizumab, Paclitaxel, Carboplatin, and Radiation Therapy in Treating Patients With Stage II-IIIB Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer (I)	NCT02621398/Rutgers Cancer Institute of New Jersey, University of Pennsylvania, Yale/recruiting	
Consolidation Pembrolizumab Following Chemoradiation in Patients With Inoperable/ Unresectable Stage III NSCLC (II)	NCT02343952/Hoosier Oncology Group/active, not recruiting	
A Global Study to Assess the Effects of MEDI4736 Following Concurrent Chemoradiation in Patients With Stage III Unresectable Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer (PACIFIC) (III)	NCT02125461/AstraZeneca/active, not recruiting	
Nivolumab COnsolidation with Standard First-line Chemotherapy and Radiotherapy in Locally Advanced Stage IIIA/B Non-Small Cell Lung Carcinoma (NICOLAS) (II)	NCT02434081/European Thoracic Oncology Platform/recruiting	
Cisplatin and Etoposide Plus Radiation Followed by Nivolumab/Placebo for Locally Advanced NSCLC (III)	NCT02768558/RTOG Foundation, Inc./recruiting	
MPDL3280A with Chemoradiation for Lung Cancer (II)	NCT02525757/MD Anderson Cancer Center/ recruiting	

Table 1 Trials of PD-1 or PD-L1 agents combined with chemoradiation for NSCLC

Ongoing trials incorporating immunotherapy with definitive chemoradiation for inoperable NSCLC.

augment antigen-specific PD-1 mediated antitumor responses by inducing a more robust immune response and cross-presentation of tumor antigen, which was studied in melanoma and breast cancer models (33). In those models, RT resulted in the development of antigen-specific T cell and B cell-mediated immune responses. These immune stimulating effects of RT were increased when RT was combined with anti-PD-1 therapy or regulatory T cell depletion and resulted in improved local control of the tumor.

As discussed in other articles in this series, anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 therapies have shown clinical activity for NSCLC alone and in combination with chemotherapy. Since the clinical effect of anti-PD-1/anti-PD-L1 therapies is evident without the incorporation of RT, it is plausible that the incorporation of RT may provide combinatorial, abscopal or synergistic effects.

Timing, dose, fractionation of immunotherapy with chemoradiation

To date, clinicians have related many of the abscopal responses to hypofractionated irradiation regimens, often with stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT), also termed stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR). Dewan et al. evaluated three RT fractionation schemes: 20 Gy \times 1, 8 Gy \times 3 or 6 Gy \times 5 with or without CTLA blockade. CTLA blockade alone was ineffective, but when combined with any of the RT regimens, growth delay was seen. Abscopal effects were evident with the combination of the fractionated RT

designs (34). Clinically, abscopal effects have been seen with 8 Gy \times 3, 6 Gy \times 5, and 9.5 Gy \times 3 fractions (23,35,36). The greatest difference occurred for patients with 8 Gy \times 3, and 80% of tumors outside the field regressed (16). Lower RT doses may cause reprogramming of macrophages toward an iNOS+/M1 phenotype, enabling them the ability to allow tumor rejection (37).

Also, concurrent platinum and RT cause calretinin translocation from dying tumor cells at dosages tested in a dose-dependent manner. Calretinin translocation increased due to platinum but remained stable after adding RT. Nevertheless, platinum and RT cause release of HMGB1 from dying tumor cells. When RT was combined with paclitaxel, adding RT caused immunogenic cell death (18).

A study by Gulley *et al.*, demonstrated the possible efficacy of standard radiation fractionation of 1.8–2 Gy per day in combination with a poxviral vaccine. T cell responses were seen in the tumor antigens and not in the vaccine, suggesting irradiation promoted the activation of T cells (16,38). Therefore, the combination of standard fractionation CRT and immunotherapy may be effective when they are used together.

Ongoing trials will help to elucidate the role and timing of PD-L1 or PD-1 blockade for inoperable NSCLC treated with definitive chemoradiation (*Table 1*).

Additional immunotherapy combinations

For locally advanced NSCLC, other agents have been

investigated, including tecemotide (L-BLP25), a mucin 1 (MUC1) specific agent that induced T cell responses to MUC1. The phase III START trial was a double-blind phase III trial that randomly assigned 1,006 subjects to tecemotide and 507 to placebo. Median overall survival (OS) was 25.6 months with tecemotide vs. 22.3 months with placebo (HR 0.88, 95% CI: 0.75-1.03, P=0.123). In patients who received prior concurrent CRT, median OS for those who received tecemotide was 30.8 months compared to 20.6 months for the control group (HR 0.78, P=0.016), whereas patients who received sequential CRT did not benefit in terms of OS (39,40). In the group of patients who received prior CRT, high soluble MUC1 and antinuclear antibodies correlated with tecemotide benefit (41). However, in a subsequent study by Katakami et al., which randomized Japanese patients (n=172) with stable or clinical responses after CRT to receive adjuvant tecemotide vs. placebo, no apparent trend toward increased OS or other secondary endopoint with tecemotide was observed (42).

Additionally, study of GV1001, a telomerase peptide vaccine, was administered after CRT in a phase I/II trial of 23 patients. A GV1001-specific immune response developed in 16/20 evaluable patients and long-term immunomonitoring showed persisting responses in 13 patients. Immune responders demonstrated a median progression-free survival of 19 months compared to 3.5 months for nonresponders (P<0.001). Responders all harbored durable GV1001-specific T-cell memory responses with high IFN γ , and low IL-4 and IL-10 levels (43,44).

Toxicities of immunotherapy overlap with RT side effects

Administration of thoracic RT places patients at higher risk of radiation-induced pneumonitis, and the clinical presentation is similar to immunotherapy-induced pneumonitis with dry cough, fever, dyspnea, and tachycardia. Urgent initiation of steroid therapy is often required. A study evaluating 915 patients who were treated with PD-1/PD-L1 antibody demonstrated that 43 patients developed pneumonitis (about 5% of patients). Pneumonitis was more likely to occur when anti-PD-1/anti-PD-L1 and another simultaneous immunotherapy were administered, such as concurrent CTLA-4 therapies. Pneumonitis is a toxicity of variable onset clinically, and in the aforementioned study, it ranged from 9 days to 19.2 months (45). Concern for a pneumonitis requires urgent evaluation with imaging and often rapid initiation of steroids to avoid severe and potentially lifethreatening respiratory compromise.

Another complication that can occur with both RT and immunotherapy is myocarditis. Unlike pericarditis that can occur in the acute or subacute setting, radiotherapeutic injury to the myocardium is thought to be a delayed effect with long-term toxicities such as coronary artery disease and valvular injury. In contrast, fulminant cases of myocarditis from immunotherapy have been described, particularly with the combination of nivolumab and ipilimumab. The incidence of fatal myocarditis with nivolumab alone is <0.01% and with dual nivolumab and ipilimumab is 0.17%. The incidence of any myocarditis with single-agent nivolumab is 0.06% compared to 0.27% with dual agent therapy. In post-mortem examination of the cardiac tissue of immune checkpoint mediated myocarditis, increased expression of PD-L1 was found in the injured myocardium of patients, consistent with the upregulation of myocardial PD-L1 studies in mice. Investigators have hypothesized that PD-L1 upregulation in the myocardium is a cytokineinduced cardioprotective mechanism that is abrogated by immune checkpoint blockade (46).

Therefore, combinatorial therapy of CRT and immunotherapy must be approached with caution and careful clinical evaluation in prospective clinical trials.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: Dr. Jabbour has research funding from Merck Sharp & Dohme. The other authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Dillman RO, Herndon J, Seagren SL, et al. Improved survival in stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: seven-year follow-up of cancer and leukemia group B (CALGB) 8433 trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 1996;88:1210-1215.
- Sause WT, Scott C, Taylor S, et al. Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) 88-08 and Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) 4588: preliminary results of a phase III trial in regionally advanced, unresectable non-small-cell lung cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 1995;87:198-205.

- Le Chevalier T, Arriagada R, Quoix E, et al. Radiotherapy alone versus combined chemotherapy and radiotherapy in unresectable non-small cell lung carcinoma. Lung cancer 1994;10 Suppl 1:S239-S244.
- Schaake-Koning C, van den Bogaert W, Dalesio O, et al. Effects of concomitant cisplatin and radiotherapy on inoperable non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 1992;326:524-530.
- Jeremic B, Shibamoto Y, Acimovic L, et al. Hyperfractionated radiation therapy with or without concurrent low-dose daily carboplatin/etoposide for stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: a randomized study. J Clin Oncol 1996;14:1065-1070.
- Curran WJ Jr, Paulus R, Langer CJ, et al. Sequential vs. concurrent chemoradiation for stage III non-small cell lung cancer: randomized phase III trial RTOG 9410. J Natl Cancer Inst 2011;103:1452-1460.
- Bradley JD, Paulus R, Komaki R, et al. Standard-dose versus high-dose conformal radiotherapy with concurrent and consolidation carboplatin plus paclitaxel with or without cetuximab for patients with stage IIIA or IIIB non-small-cell lung cancer (RTOG 0617): a randomised, two-by-two factorial phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:187-199.
- Hanna N, Neubauer M, Yiannoutsos C, et al. Phase III study of cisplatin, etoposide, and concurrent chest radiation with or without consolidation docetaxel in patients with inoperable stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: the Hoosier Oncology Group and U.S. Oncology. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:5755-5760.
- 9. Vokes EE, Senan S, Treat JA, et al. PROCLAIM: A phase III study of pemetrexed, cisplatin, and radiation therapy followed by consolidation pemetrexed versus etoposide, cisplatin, and radiation therapy followed by consolidation cytotoxic chemotherapy of choice in locally advanced stage III non-small-cell lung cancer of other than predominantly squamous cell histology. Clin Lung Cancer 2009;10:193-198.
- Brahmer J, Reckamp KL, Baas P, et al. Nivolumab versus Docetaxel in Advanced Squamous-Cell Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med 2015;373:123-135.
- Borghaei H, Paz-Ares L, Horn L, et al. Nivolumab versus Docetaxel in Advanced Nonsquamous Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med 2015;373:1627-1639.
- 12. Garon EB, Rizvi NA, Hui R, et al. Pembrolizumab for the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2015;372:2018-2028.
- 13. Reck M, Rodriguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, et al.

Pembrolizumab versus Chemotherapy for PD-L1-Positive Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med 2016;375:1823-1833.

- Lugade AA, Moran JP, Gerber SA, et al. Local radiation therapy of B16 melanoma tumors increases the generation of tumor antigen-specific effector cells that traffic to the tumor. J Immunol 2005;174:7516-7523.
- 15. Schaue D, Ratikan JA, Iwamoto KS, et al. Maximizing tumor immunity with fractionated radiation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012;83:1306-1310.
- Demaria S, Formenti SC. Radiation as an immunological adjuvant: current evidence on dose and fractionation. Front Oncol 2012;2:153.
- Golden EB, Formenti SC. Is tumor (R)ejection by the immune system the "5th R" of radiobiology? Oncoimmunology 2014;3:e28133.
- Golden EB, Frances D, Pellicciotta I, et al. Radiation fosters dose-dependent and chemotherapyinduced immunogenic cell death. Oncoimmunology 2014;3:e28518.
- 19. Formenti SC, Demaria S. Radiation therapy to convert the tumor into an in situ vaccine. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012;84:879-880.
- 20. McBride WH, Chiang CS, Olson JL, et al. A sense of danger from radiation. Radiat Res 2004;162:1-19.
- 21. Formenti SC, Demaria S. Combining radiotherapy and cancer immunotherapy: a paradigm shift. J Natl Cancer Inst 2013;105:256-265.
- Klug F, Prakash H, Huber PE, et al. Low-dose irradiation programs macrophage differentiation to an iNOS(+)/M1 phenotype that orchestrates effective T cell immunotherapy. Cancer cell 2013;24:589-602.
- 23. Postow MA, Callahan MK, Barker CA, et al. Immunologic correlates of the abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. N Engl J Med 2012;366:925-931.
- Demaria S, Ng B, Devitt ML, et al. Ionizing radiation inhibition of distant untreated tumors (abscopal effect) is immune mediated. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2004;58:862-870.
- 25. Okazaki T, Honjo T. The PD-1-PD-L pathway in immunological tolerance. Trends Immunol 2006;27:195-201.
- Tseng SY, Otsuji M, Gorski K, et al. B7-DC, a new dendritic cell molecule with potent costimulatory properties for T cells. J Exp Med 2001;193:839-846.
- Dong H, Strome SE, Salomao DR, et al. Tumor-associated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: a potential mechanism of immune evasion. Nat Med 2002;8:793-800.

Radiation and Combined Therapies for Lung Cancer

- Wang L, Pino-Lagos K, de Vries VC, et al. Programmed death 1 ligand signaling regulates the generation of adaptive Foxp3+CD4+ regulatory T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008;105:9331-9336.
- 29. Iwai Y, Ishida M, Tanaka Y, et al. Involvement of PD-L1 on tumor cells in the escape from host immune system and tumor immunotherapy by PD-L1 blockade. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002;99:12293-12297.
- Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, et al. Cancer immunology. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. Science 2015;348:124-128.
- Liang H, Deng L, Chmura S, et al. Radiation-induced equilibrium is a balance between tumor cell proliferation and T cell-mediated killing. J Immunol 2013;190:5874-5881.
- Deng L, Liang H, Burnette B, et al. Irradiation and anti-PD-L1 treatment synergistically promote antitumor immunity in mice. J Clin Invest 2014;124:687-695.
- Sharabi AB, Nirschl CJ, Kochel CM, et al. Stereotactic Radiation Therapy Augments Antigen-Specific PD-1-Mediated Antitumor Immune Responses via Cross-Presentation of Tumor Antigen. Cancer Immunol Res 2015;3:345-355.
- 34. Dewan MZ, Galloway AE, Kawashima N, et al. Fractionated but not single-dose radiotherapy induces an immune-mediated abscopal effect when combined with anti-CTLA-4 antibody. Clin Cancer Res 2009;15:5379-5388.
- Stamell EF, Wolchok JD, Gnjatic S, et al. The abscopal effect associated with a systemic anti-melanoma immune response. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;85:293-295.
- Golden EB, Demaria S, Schiff PB, et al. An abscopal response to radiation and ipilimumab in a patient with metastatic non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Immunol Res 2013;1:365-372.
- Golden EB, Apetoh L. Radiotherapy and immunogenic cell death. Semin Radiat Oncol 2015;25:11-17.

Cite this article as: Jabbour SK, Berman AT, Simone CB 2nd. Integrating immunotherapy into chemoradiation regimens for medically inoperable locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2017;6(2):113-118. doi: 10.21037/tlcr.2017.04.02

- Gulley JL, Arlen PM, Bastian A, et al. Combining a recombinant cancer vaccine with standard definitive radiotherapy in patients with localized prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2005;11:3353-3362.
- Butts C, Socinski MA, Mitchell PL, et al. Tecemotide (L-BLP25) versus placebo after chemoradiotherapy for stage III non-small-cell lung cancer (START): a randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2014;15:59-68.
- Berman AT, Simone CB 2nd. Immunotherapy in locally-advanced non-small cell lung cancer: releasing the brakes on consolidation? Transl Lung Cancer Res 2016;5:138-142.
- 41. Mitchell P, Thatcher N, Socinski MA, et al. Tecemotide in unresectable stage III non-small-cell lung cancer in the phase III START study: updated overall survival and biomarker analyses. Ann Oncol 2015;26:1134-1142.
- 42. Katakami N, Hida T, Nokihara H, et al. Phase I/II study of tecemotide as immunotherapy in Japanese patients with unresectable stage III non-small cell lung cancer. Lung cancer 2017;105:23-30.
- 43. Brunsvig PF, Kyte JA, Kersten C, et al. Telomerase peptide vaccination in NSCLC: a phase II trial in stage III patients vaccinated after chemoradiotherapy and an 8-year update on a phase I/II trial. Clin Cancer Res 2011;17:6847-6857.
- Hansen GL, Gaudernack G, Brunsvig PF, et al. Immunological factors influencing clinical outcome in lung cancer patients after telomerase peptide vaccination. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2015;64:1609-1621.
- 45. Naidoo J, Wang X, Woo KM, et al. Pneumonitis in Patients Treated With Anti-Programmed Death-1/ Programmed Death Ligand 1 Therapy. J Clin Oncol 2017;35:709-717.
- Johnson DB, Balko JM, Compton ML, et al. Fulminant Myocarditis with Combination Immune Checkpoint Blockade. N Engl J Med 2016;375:1749-1755.

Uncovering the immune tumor microenvironment in non-small cell lung cancer to understand response rates to checkpoint blockade and radiation

Jonathan E. Schoenhals¹, Steven N. Seyedin², Clark Anderson³, Eric D. Brooks⁴, Yun R. Li⁵, Ahmed I. Younes¹, Sharareh Niknam¹, Ailin Li^{1,6}, Hampartsoum B. Barsoumian¹, Maria Angelica Cortez¹, James W. Welsh⁴

¹Department of Experimental Radiation Oncology, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA; ²Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics, Iowa City, IA, USA; ³Paul L Foster School of Medicine, Texas Tech University Health Sciences Center El Paso, El Paso, TX, USA; ⁴Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA; ⁵Center for Applied Genomics, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Philadelphia, PA, USA; ⁶Department of Radiation Oncology, The First Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang 110001, China

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: All authors; (II) Administrative support: None; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: None; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: None; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: None; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: James W. Welsh. Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA. Email: jwelsh@mdanderson.org.

Abstract: The study of immunology has led to breakthroughs in treating non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). The recent approval of an anti-PD1 checkpoint drug for NSCLC has generated much interest in novel combination therapies that might provide further benefit for patients. However, a better understanding of which combinations may (or may not) work in NSCLC requires understanding the lung immune microenvironment under homeostatic conditions and the changes in that microenvironment in the setting of cancer progression and with radiotherapy. This review provides background information on immune cells found in the lung and the prognostic significance of these cell types in lung cancer. It also addresses current clinical directions for the combination of checkpoint inhibitors with radiation for NSCLC.

Keywords: Anti-CTLA4; anti-PD1; immunotherapy; radiotherapy; non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC)

Submitted Nov 19, 2016. Accepted for publication Mar 21, 2017. doi: 10.21037/tlcr.2017.03.06 **View this article at:** http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/tlcr.2017.03.06

The lung as an immune organ

Because the lungs are constantly exposed to foreign pathogens and particulates, well-established mechanisms are in place to quickly eliminate these and other types of invaders. First, the upper respiratory tract is coated with mucus that contains many antimicrobial compounds. This mucus is constantly secreted by goblet cells and expelled by ciliated epithelial cells (1). Epithelial cells that line the respiratory tract also express pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that recognize molecular patterns associated with pathogens and other dangerous particles or cells; not only can these cells modulate the response to infection through various pathways, they also can recognize, take up, and kill pathogens (2,3). These epithelial cells also direct immune responses through cytokine recognition and secretion (2).

The next line of defense in the lung rests in immune cells. Tissue-resident alveolar macrophages are readily available for phagocytosis and for clearing debris. In fact, 95% of the airspace leukocytes are alveolar macrophages; very few are lymphocytes or neutrophils (4). Various cells in the lung, including alveolar macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs), and granulocytes also express PRRs that

Radiation and Combined Therapies for Lung Cancer



Figure 1 The interplay between the immune system and the tumor. There is a battle between the tumor and immune system; certain immune cells are able to attack the tumor, while the tumor has developed various ways to evade the immune system. Typically, tumors are eliminated by immune surveillance (elimination). However, some tumors are capable of pushing back against the immune system (equilibrium), where they eventually develop various mechanisms to stop immune-mediated tumor killing (escape). In NSCLC, the myeloid cells appear to be playing a major role in this process. Radiation may be able to push the immune system back to elimination.NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer.

trigger immune responses to perturbation of homeostatic conditions. This allows quick recruitment of other immune cells to the lung that can mount an effective response and clear pathogens that may be present.

An important cell type residing in the lungs are lymphocytes. In a study of the prevalence of various lymphocyte populations in the lung, Wong et al. used cytometry by time-of-flight (CyTOF) to interrogate subsets of lymphocytes identified by surface and intracellular protein expression from healthy donors (5). CD8+ T cells and CD4+ T cells were the most prevalent subtypes in lung tissue, although natural-killer (NK) cells and NK T cells were also present. Very few B cells were found in the lungs. In vitro stimulation of lung cultures to detect intracellular cytokines revealed that the most prevalent CD4+ subset in the lung was T helper I [Th1; expresses interferon-gamma (IFN-γ)], although T helper II [Th2; interleukin (IL)-4 expressing] and regulatory T cell (Treg, IL-10 expressing) were detected at low levels. Interestingly, granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) expression by the CD4+ T cells in the lung was also very high and overlapped with IFN- γ expression; production of GM-CSF by T cells has been shown to influence DC maturation (6) and drive immune disorders, specifically multiple sclerosis (7).

Immunological changes during cancer development

The progression of cancer with regard to the immune system has been described in three stages: elimination, equilibrium, and escape (8,9). During the elimination phase, the immune system actively attacks cancerous cells (*Figure 1*). The tumor reaches equilibrium with the immune system before it eventually escapes immune surveillance. At that stage, the tumors begin to grow. The following sections describe changes in the immune system that result in clinically relevant NSCLC, specifically the current understanding of immune cell populations linked to cancer and cancer outcomes derived from preclinical models, in silico sequencing analysis, and clinical evidence.

Preclinical studies of immunologic changes in lung cancer

Numerous preclinical studies have focused on the lung tumor microenvironment (TME) in efforts to reveal how tumors escape immune surveillance. In a study of the Lewis lung carcinoma (LLC) model of NSCLC, interactions of the death receptor Fas on tumor cells with its ligand did not promote apoptosis, but rather caused recruitment of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) to the tumor through secretion of prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) (10). PGE2 has been well studied in the context of inflammation and cancer promotion (11). That study also showed that forced overexpression of Fas on the tumor cells caused enhanced MDSC and Treg infiltration into the tumors, and depletion of MDSCs through an anti-Gr1 antibody was found to delay tumor growth. Another group also found that Fas overexpression in the LLC model led to enhanced tumor growth (12), noting that MDSC-like cells accumulated in response to cigarette smoke but that those cells did not acquire suppressive functions until after a tumor had formed (13). Drugs targeting MDSCs like gemcitabine or arginase inhibitors may facilitate T cell infiltration in the lung TME. Suzuki et al., also working with the LLC model, found that gemcitabine led to reduced numbers of MDSCs in the spleen (14), and the loss of MDSCs was reported to increase tumor growth delay in mice bearing both small and large AB12 mesothelioma tumors.

Other factors apart from PGE2 influence inflammation in preclinical lung cancer models. Kim et al. (15) found that tumor cells secreted an extracellular matrix protein called versican, which stimulated toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 on macrophages and drove the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, specifically IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-α). This effect was abrogated when TLR2 was knocked out in the mice; interestingly, those mice had fewer lung and liver tumors as well as prolonged. Additionally, blocking monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, also known as CCL2, can inhibit tumor growth and spontaneous metastases (16). Upon CCL2 blockade, macrophages were found to shift away from a pro-tumor phenotype, and this antitumor effect was dependent on CD8+ T cells; even though the percentages of CD8+ T cells did not increase, the expression of the activation markers CD25 and 41BB on those cells doubled.

The effect of neutrophils on the lung TME has been studied with a lung cancer model based on methylcholanthrene and hydroxytoluene exposure. In one study, depletion of Ly6G+ neutrophils led to considerable reductions in the number of tumor sites (17). However, once a tumor had formed, neutrophil depletion did not affect the growth of that tumor. These results suggest that neutrophils may be important for tumor initiation and metastasis but not tumor growth.

Overall, these studies suggest that tumors are fully capable of recruiting and polarizing myeloid cells to block adaptive immunity. They also imply that chronic inflammation may be an important factor driving the accumulation of such cells in the lung TME.

In silico methods of investigating immune-cell changes in lung cancer

Technical constraints have impeded in-depth investigations of the TME in humans over the past decade, including difficulties in identifying and studying specific types of cells in a tumor owing to intratumoral heterogeneity and identifying functional differences such as different patterns of gene expression in specific cell subsets, largely because of the inability to resolve gene expression differences at the level of individual cells or cell types (18-20). However, recent advances in single-cell genomics, transcriptomics and computational techniques have facilitated investigations of the nature of intratumoral heterogeneity in cell type and in the functional behavior of infiltrating cells (i.e., levels of PD-1 expression on the cell surface of CD4+ T cells). Much of the work in single-cell 'omics' has been limited to investigations of clonal diversity and tumor evolution at the level of the tumor genome, with relatively limited effort applied to evaluating non-tumor cells (19-21).

One novel way of distinguishing the individual expression profile of cell types in tumor samples is by applying a linear support vector regression-based algorithm; this approach was recently proposed and tested on existing tumor data from more than 18,000 patients from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) and the Encyclopedia of DNA Elements (ENCODE) (22,23). This method quantifies the composition of cell types by using gene expression data from tumor samples by inferring cellular compositions based on levels of expression from sets of genes based on known transcriptome profile of purified cell types.

The investigators who pioneered this algorithm evaluated tumor-infiltrating immune cell subpopulations across a range of solid tumor cell types and found that the predominance of specific subtypes of immune cells seem to be positive predictors of outcome (23). Specifically, in lung adenocarcinoma they found that an abundance of inactivated mast cells, inactivated CD4 memory T cells, and naïve and memory B cells and plasma cells was strongly associated with favorable prognosis. On the other hand, an abundance of polymorphonuclear cells and other cells of myeloid origin was strongly associated with unfavorable prognosis. Unexpectedly, the presence of activated CD4+ memory T cells was also strongly associated with poor prognosis. In lung squamous cell carcinoma, most myeloid populations seemed to confer an unfavorable prognosis, as did memory B cells and resting CD4 memory T cells. However, the presence of activated DCs was favorable, as were activated CD4 memory, CD8, and gamma delta T cells. In both subsets of lung cancer, the presence of inactivated mast cells was associated with favorable prognosis.

Other preclinical investigations are undergoing, such as deeper phenotyping—for instance, are there specific subsets of CD4 T helper cells whose presence in tumors improve cancer outcomes? How does the memory status of helper T cells affect the TME? Does the TME differ based on patient age? Some evidence exists to suggest that inflammation increases with advanced age and is mediated through MDSCs (24). Further studies of the lung TME will probably help to answer these questions.

Clinical correlates of immune-cell subpopulations in lung cancer

Many groups have attempted to profile immune-cell

subpopulations in patients with lung cancer by using techniques such as tissue microarray and immunohistochemical staining. Most such studies were done with resected tumor samples that had later been stained to evaluate immune subpopulations and their correlation with survival after surgery. Studies involving blood-based biomarkers have included samples from patients treated with a variety of modalities.

Myeloid cells

Given the prevalence of macrophages in the lung, many have investigated their role as either the tumor-suppressing (M1) or the tumor-promoting (M2) macrophage subtypes. An excellent review of tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), their polarization, and their localization in lung cancer with regard to prognosis (25) suggested that infiltration of macrophages into tumor islets or nests (26-29) or M1 polarization (29,30) correlate with better survival in patients with lung cancer, whereas TAM density (31,32), their presence in the tumor stroma (26,27,33), and/or M2 polarization (34,35) correlate with worse survival. Other groups have found that IL-10 expression (M2-related) in TAMs (but not in tumors) at the protein level was associated with worse overall survival (36) and high IL-10 mRNA levels in TAMs were associated with tumor invasion (37). Although some studies found no correlation between TAMs and tumor progression (38-40), most have implicated TAMs in lung cancer progression.

Tumor infiltration by TAMs may not be the only relevant macrophage-related factor in lung cancer prognosis. One group showed that alveolar macrophages (obtained through bronchoalveolar lavage from patients with lung cancer) had reduced phagocytic capability (41). Incubation of alveolar macrophages with PGE2 also led to decreased phagocytosis. Another group showed that similarly obtained alveolar macrophages had increased levels of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), a traditional marker of M1 macrophage polarization (42). In addition to PGE2, chronic inflammation is also thought affect macrophage function so as to reduce phagocytic capability, perhaps because of inflammatory cytokines produced by alveolar macrophages or other myeloid cells. One group found IL-6 and IL-1 to be elevated in patients with NSCLC relative to patients with benign lung disease (43) while another showed elevated levels of TNF- α and IL-6, but not IL-1, in patients with NSCLC (44), suggesting that tumors may influence both TAMs at the tumor site and alveolar macrophages throughout the lung. Notably, IL-1, IL-6, and TNF-α

tend to be associated with M1 macrophages. Could these macrophages be contributing to tumor growth, as noted in the aforementioned LLC and TLR2 preclinical study (15)? The ability of tumors to influence macrophage function may be limited spatially, as suggested by one study showing that alveolar macrophages in a non-cancerous lobe did not secrete as much TNF- α as did macrophages from a lobe containing cancer (45). Another study of bronchoalveolar lavage samples obtained well away from the affected region still demonstrated impaired phagocytosis (41). An additional study showed that macrophages from the pleural cavity and peripheral blood monocytes in patients with stage I-III lung cancer retained their phagocytic ability while producing the aforementioned pro-inflammatory cytokines (46). These studies suggest that these M1-like macrophages may not have antitumor functions, because they have lost some ability for phagocytosis and tend to create a pro- inflammatory environment. Although these cytokines can be important for antitumor effects, evidence exists to suggest that TNF-a (47,48), IL-6 (49), and IL-1 (50,51) may also participate in cancer progression.

Tumor-associated neutrophils have been less well studied with regard to lung cancer outcomes. Conflicting results have been published, with one study showing worse overall survival based on CD10 expression (52) and one showing no difference between CD10+ and CD10- tumors (53). However, in the former study, the authors compared high CD10-expressing tumors with low CD10-expressing tumors, whereas the latter study compared only CD10+ and CD10- tumors. Comparisons based on high, low, or no expression might show clearer correlations with overall survival, as suggested by studies that compared neutrophilto-lymphocyte ratios in the blood of NSCLC patients with outcome. A meta-analysis of 14 studies comparing this ratio with outcome confirmed that a higher neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio correlated with worse survival in patients with lung cancer (54). Interestingly, one study found that elevated neutrophil counts alone was enough to predict poor survival (55), implying that systemic inflammation may be a risk factor in patients with cancer. Lastly, isolated neutrophils from early-stage lung tumors seem to exhibit immune-stimulatory properties; in one study, neutrophils from resected tumors that were cultured with T cells were able to drive T cell proliferation via the co-stimulatory molecules 4-1BBL, OX40L, and CD86 (56).

Elevated blood levels of MDSCs may correlate also with poorer survival. One group profiled MDSCs in blood samples of NSCLC patients and found that higher levels of MDSCs, and lower levels of DCs and monocytes, correlated with worse survival (57). Another similar study found no correlation between MDSC levels and survival, but rather that patients with NSCLC generally had increased levels of MDSC in the blood, which correlated with fewer CD8+ T cells (58), implying that the MDSCs might have more of a systemic role as compared with M2 TAMs, which seemed to be changed only locally.

The presence of tertiary lymphoid structures near tumors (59) has been investigated in patients with lung cancer. The first such study in 2008 reported the presence of these structures only in tumors and not in healthy areas of the lung among patients who had undergone surgical resection (60). These tertiary lymphoid structures were found to contain DCs, and the presence of high levels of DC-Lamp+ DCs (a maturation marker) was associated with improved disease-free survival. Notably, tumors with DC-Lamp levels also had more T cell infiltration, more B cells, and more T-bet+ Th1 (helper) cells. Tertiary lymphoid structures seem to be capable of recruiting T cells through several mechanisms (61), and their presence correlates with higher T cell numbers within both the stroma and tumor (62). DC-Lamp-high tumors have also been linked with higher 5-year overall survival rates (60% vs. 40% for DC-lamp low tumors). Another study comparing levels of B cells and DC-Lamp+ DCs in tumors reported a similar trend: tumors that had higher levels of mature DCs tended to have higher numbers of B cells, which correlated with better survival rates (63).

Lymphocytes

The importance of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) has been well-documented in several types of cancer. One large clinical study (956 patients) sought to correlate various immune markers with the probability of recurrence in patients with stage I adenocarcinoma (64). Higher levels of stromal Foxp3 (the transcription factor found in Tregs) and IL-7 receptor correlated with higher probability of recurrence. However, if the high Foxp3 levels were associated with high CD3 levels in the stroma, the outcomes were similar to those for low Foxp3 levels, hinting that T cell infiltration can trump Treg levels in lung cancer. The same study also showed that higher levels of IL-12 receptor beta-2 within the tumor correlated with lower probability of recurrence. A recent meta-analysis with the goal of evaluating subsets of TILs and prognosis in patients with lung cancer noted that high levels of CD3+ and CD8+ T cells correlated with improved survival, but higher stromal

Foxp3 levels may have been detrimental (65).

The influence of B cells on survival is less clear. As noted previously, tertiary lymphoid structures seem to be capable of housing B cells near the tumor, and the presence of B cells has been correlated with improved survival (63), although this finding has not been consistent (66). Another study showed that infiltration of IgG4-expressing plasma cells in stromal areas correlated with high rates of survival (67), a finding that agrees with in silico results (23).

Evidence also links NK cells with improved survival. One group using CD56 as a marker for NK cells found that 88% of their evaluated patients had lower CD56 in the stroma, but the 5-year survival rate was higher among the 11% of patients with high CD56 levels (82% *vs.* 56%) after surgery (39). Another group found similar results with NKcell infiltration (68).

Conclusions from the lung TME

TAMs, neutrophils, MDSCs, and Tregs all have immunosuppressive activity in the lung TME. Macrophage function seems to be altered locally, whereas MDSCs may be affected systemically. In line with other types of cancer, the presence of T cell infiltration in lung tumors, mature DCs, NK cells, and, surprisingly, B cells seems to correlate with favorable prognosis.

Radiation therapy and the immune cell response

Radiation therapy (XRT) modifies immune responses in the TME in contradictory ways. It enhances MHC class I expression, which enables the immune system to react to tumor neoantigens (69). XRT also activates immunogenic cell death via the expression of calreticulin on tumor cell surfaces and the release of ATP and HMGB1 (70,71). XRT can also promote abscopal responses with or without immunotherapy through several mechanisms, including upregulation of various trafficking receptors and CD8+ T cell recruitment (72-75), even though lymphocytes are quite sensitive to radiation and are killed shortly after XRT.

One well-studied effect of XRT is its ability to increase transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) levels (76). TGF- β is critical for Treg polarization and could contribute to increased Treg representation after XRT; however, Tregs are also inherently resistant to radiation (77-79). XRT also has several roles in recruiting myeloid cells to the TME (80); XRT recruits MDSCs and macrophages and, depending on the radiation dose, polarizes macrophages to the M2 phenotype. In one study of the LLC model, CD18 hypomorphic mice responded better to a single 20-Gy fraction of XRT because of reduced recruitment of myeloid cells (81). However, another group found that a higher dose (a single 30-Gy fraction) led to recruitment of mainly CD8+ T cells, and that fractionation (3 Gy ×10 fractions) led to recruitment of MDSCs (75). Indeed, these conflicting results after XRT may help to explain why some patients respond to therapy combining XRT and immunotherapies, especially immune checkpoint blockade, while others do not.

Immune checkpoint inhibitors

Our focus on the lung TME was chosen specifically to illustrate the effects of combined checkpoint inhibitors and XRT at the level of the TME. The first checkpoint inhibitor approved for NSCLC, an antibody to the programmed death 1 (PD1) receptor, inhibits a membrane protein expressed on T cells, B cells, NK cells, activated monocytes, and DCs (82). When bound by its ligand PDL1, which is expressed on the surfaces of tumor cells and myeloid cells, PD1 leads to downregulation of antigen receptor signaling, which inhibits effector cell activity (83). PD1 is also expressed by stimulated T cells, hinting that PD1+ T cells may be both tumor-specific and overstimulated (84). Both CD3+ and CD8+ T cell infiltration correlates with improved survival in NSCLC. PD1 blockade may reinvigorate these T cells, driving the immune response seen in the clinic. Tumors with high PDL1 expression are known to have decreased numbers of TILs (85) and to respond better to anti-PD1 monoclonal antibody than do tumors with low PDL1 levels, suggesting that even if T cells do express PD1, they may not be signaling through PD1 unless the tumor is actively expressing PDL1 (86).

The second common checkpoint inhibitor, anti-cytotoxic T-lymphocyte associated protein 4 (CTLA4), is targeted to a receptor expressed on T cells, extensively so on Tregs. When CTLA4 is bound by CD80 or CD86 on an antigenpresenting cell, it transmits an inhibitory signal to T cells but promotes Treg immunosuppressive functions (87). Because CTLA4 binds to CD80 and CD86 with greater affinity than to the costimulatory receptor CD28, T cell activation leads to increased expression of CTLA4 as a means of negative feedback to prevent autoimmune reactions (88). Recent evidence suggests that the primary mode of action of anti-CTLA4 drugs in mice is not to promote stimulation of effector T cells but to deplete Tregs via antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (89). Although PD1 targets T cells that have already been activated and CTLA4 may deplete Tregs, it is important to note that other immune cells are present in the lung TME; myeloid cells in particular seem to have large role in immunosuppression.

Preclinical studies of PD1 or CTLA4 + XRT

Few preclinical studies have been done that combine anti-PD1 or anti-CTLA4 and XRT in models of lung cancer. In one such study, combining PD1 blockade with XRT in a mouse model of KRAS-mutant NSCLC yielded significantly improved survival and smaller tumor volumes in comparison with control and monotherapy groups (90). XRT + anti-PD1 was capable of causing regression in the 344SQ (p53 and KRAS mutant) NSCLC line (91), and two of eight mice treated with this modality experienced complete tumor regression and were resistant to tumor rechallenge. The anti-CTLA4 antibody was first reported to increase the antitumor activity of XRT in 2014 (92); combining anti-CD25 with XRT in a lung cancer model led to significant decreases in Tregs both at the irradiated site and distally at nonirradiated sites relative to either therapy given alone (93). One could expect similar results with anti-CTLA4 and XRT for the following reasons: (I) CTLA4 acts to reduce Tregs; (II) Tregs seem to have important roles in the lung TME; (III) and XRT may increase the numbers of Tregs in the lung TME.

Future directions

Applying XRT to multiple sites of disease

Key questions remaining for the use of XRT with immunotherapy are the optimal radiation dose and schedule, tumor location, and extent of tumor to be irradiated. Several of the ongoing trials of XRT plus immunotherapy treat only one metastatic site; however, targeting multiple sites or even all areas of gross disease may be much more likely to improve systemic responses. One advantage of such an approach would be to prompt the release of greater numbers of neoantigens from different sites of metastasis, which would improve the probability of priming more T cells, perhaps translating into improved systemic control. Another challenge to the destruction of cancer via the immune system is low T cell penetration into the tumor; for example "cold" tumors without T cells are much less likely to respond to checkpoint inhibitors. Destroying all sites
of gross disease with XRT would abrogate this problem. Irradiation of all disease sites may not be feasible for some patients, and it could well increase toxicity, especially for colitis from treating abdominal disease. Recent trials have demonstrated improvements in outcome from aggressive ablative therapy for patients with up to 3 sites of metastatic NSCLC (94), and there could be further improvement with the addition of immunotherapy.

Using XRT to increase response rates to adoptive T cell therapy

Adoptive T cell therapy has recently gained attention for its potential as systemic antitumor therapy. Because TILs consist of CD4+ and CD8+ lymphocytes, some TILs directly destroy tumors and others promote stimulation of other immune cells (B cells, macrophages, CD8+ T cells) to promote tumor-cell lysis (95). This may explain why the presence of TILs is a prognostic factor for overall and event-free survival as well as recurrence in melanoma, breast cancer, and ovarian cancer (96-98). Efforts have begun to investigate the infusion of expanded autologous T cells isolated from resected tumors.

Given the ability to isolate, extract, and expand TILs, XRT has taken on new promise for improving distant disease control. Metastatic disease is common in NSCLC, for which the mainstay treatment is chemotherapy. However, chemotherapy is lymphocyte-depleting and (99) cannot penetrate the blood-brain barrier. Replacing chemotherapy with tumor-specific T cells may be a way of resolving this difficult issue, as preclinical studies have shown that T cells can penetrate the blood-brain barrier (100,101). Infusing TILs that have been expanded *ex vivo* with the greater antigen receptor diversity generated from definitive XRT could enhance the penetration of those cells into metastases in the brain and at other sites.

Conclusions

Immunotherapy has profoundly changed the care of lung cancer patients. Maximizing its utility requires a deep understanding of the TME. Although anti-PD1 agents have shown to be effective against NSCLC, additional immune cell populations will need to be targeted to increase response rates. Of all the immune cell populations that have been implicated in NSCLC, immunotherapies targeting TAMs and MDSCs are likely the most critical because XRT recruits these cells to the TME. XRT could also be used to recruit T cells to multiple sites and, with immunotherapy, could also be useful for enhancing the production of TILs, which could then be harvested for expansion as a more diverse population of tumor-specific T cells. These and other strategies will lead to improved clinical outcomes for patients with NSCLC.

Acknowledgements

The authors are indebted to Christine F. Wogan of MD Anderson's Division of Radiation Oncology for editorial assistance and David M. Aten in MD Anderson's Medical Illustration and Multimedia for graphics assistance.

Funding: This work was supported by an MD Anderson Knowledge Gap award, Doctors Cancer Foundation Grant, The Lung Cancer Research Foundation, Cancer Center Support (Core) Grant CA016672 from the NCI (to The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center), the Mabuchi Research Fund, the family of M. Adnan Hamed, the Susan and Peter Goodwin Foundation, the Orr family, and the VanSteklenburg family.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Diamond G, Legarda D, Ryan LK. The innate immune response of the respiratory epithelium. Immunol Rev 2000;173:27-38.
- Suzuki T, Chow CW, Downey GP. Role of innate immune cells and their products in lung immunopathology. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2008;40:1348-1361.
- Kowalski MP, Dubouix-Bourandy A, et al. Host resistance to lung infection mediated by major vault protein in epithelial cells. Science 2007;317:130-132.
- 4. Martin TR, Frevert CW. Innate immunity in the lungs. Proc Am Thorac Soc 2005;2:403-411.
- Wong MT, Ong DE, Lim FS, et al. A High-Dimensional Atlas of Human T Cell Diversity Reveals Tissue-Specific Trafficking and Cytokine Signatures. Immunity 2016;45:442-456.
- Min L, Mohammad Isa SA, Shuai W, et al. Cutting edge: granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor is the major CD8+ T cell-derived licensing factor for dendritic cell activation. J Immunol 2010;184:4625-4629.
- 7. Rasouli J, Ciric B, Imitola J, et al. Expression of GM-

CSF in T Cells Is Increased in Multiple Sclerosis and Suppressed by IFN-beta Therapy. J Immunol 2015;194:5085-5093.

- Dunn GP, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. The immunobiology of cancer immunosurveillance and immunoediting. Immunity 2004;21:137-148.
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Ikeda H, et al. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. Nat Immunol 2002;3:991-998.
- Zhang Y, Liu Q, Zhang M, et al. Fas signal promotes lung cancer growth by recruiting myeloid-derived suppressor cells via cancer cell-derived PGE2. J Immunol 2009;182:3801-3808.
- Nakanishi M, Rosenberg DW. Multifaceted roles of PGE2 in inflammation and cancer. Semin Immunopathol 2013;35:123-137.
- Lee JK, Sayers TJ, Back TC, et al. Lack of FasL-mediated killing leads to in vivo tumor promotion in mouse Lewis lung cancer. Apoptosis 2003;8:151-160.
- Ortiz ML, Lu L, Ramachandran I, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the development of lung cancer. Cancer Immunol Res 2014;2:50-58.
- Suzuki E, Kapoor V, Jassar AS, et al. Gemcitabine selectively eliminates splenic Gr-1+/CD11b+ myeloid suppressor cells in tumor-bearing animals and enhances antitumor immune activity. Clin Cancer Res 2005;11:6713-6721.
- Kim S, Takahashi H, Lin WW, et al. Carcinoma-produced factors activate myeloid cells through TLR2 to stimulate metastasis. Nature 2009;457:102-106.
- Fridlender ZG, Kapoor V, Buchlis G, et al. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 blockade inhibits lung cancer tumor growth by altering macrophage phenotype and activating CD8+ cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2011;44:230-237.
- Vikis HG, Gelman AE, Franklin A, et al. Neutrophils are required for 3-methylcholanthrene-initiated, butylated hydroxytoluene-promoted lung carcinogenesis. Mol Carcinog 2012;51:993-1002.
- Navin NE. The first five years of single-cell cancer genomics and beyond. Genome Res 2015;25:1499-1507.
- Yu P, Lin W. Single-cell Transcriptome Study as Big Data. Genomics Proteomics Bioinformatics 2016;14:21-30.
- 20. de Bourcy CF, De Vlaminck I, Kanbar JN, et al. A quantitative comparison of single-cell whole genome amplification methods. PloS One 2014;9:e105585.
- 21. Aceto N, Bardia A, Miyamoto DT, et al. Circulating tumor cell clusters are oligoclonal precursors of breast cancer

metastasis. Cell 2014;158:1110-1122.

- Newman AM, Liu CL, Green MR, et al. Robust enumeration of cell subsets from tissue expression profiles. Nat Methods 2015;12:453-457.
- 23. Gentles AJ, Newman AM, Liu CL, et al. The prognostic landscape of genes and infiltrating immune cells across human cancers. Nat Med 2015;21:938-945.
- 24. Bowdish DM. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells, age and cancer. Oncoimmunology 2013;2:e24754.
- Conway EM, Pikor LA, Kung SH, et al. Macrophages, Inflammation, and Lung Cancer. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2016;193:116-130.
- Welsh TJ, Green RH, Richardson D, et al. Macrophage and mast-cell invasion of tumor cell islets confers a marked survival advantage in non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:8959-8967.
- 27. Dai F, Liu L, Che G, et al. The number and microlocalization of tumor-associated immune cells are associated with patient's survival time in non-small cell lung cancer. BMC Cancer 2010;10:220.
- 28. Kim DW, Min HS, Lee KH, et al. High tumour islet macrophage infiltration correlates with improved patient survival but not with EGFR mutations, gene copy number or protein expression in resected non-small cell lung cancer. Br J Cancer 2008;98:1118-1124.
- Ohri CM, Shikotra A, Green RH, et al. Macrophages within NSCLC tumour islets are predominantly of a cytotoxic M1 phenotype associated with extended survival. Eur Respir J 2009;33:118-126.
- Ma J, Liu L, Che G, et al. The M1 form of tumorassociated macrophages in non-small cell lung cancer is positively associated with survival time. BMC Cancer 2010;10:112.
- Chen JJ, Yao PL, Yuan A, et al. Up-regulation of tumor interleukin-8 expression by infiltrating macrophages: its correlation with tumor angiogenesis and patient survival in non-small cell lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2003;9:729-737.
- 32. Arenberg DA, Keane MP, DiGiovine B, et al. Macrophage infiltration in human non-small-cell lung cancer: the role of CC chemokines. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2000;49:63-70.
- Kawai O, Ishii G, Kubota K, et al. Predominant infiltration of macrophages and CD8(+) T Cells in cancer nests is a significant predictor of survival in stage IV nonsmall cell lung cancer. Cancer 2008;113:1387-1395.
- 34. Zhang B, Yao G, Zhang Y, et al. M2-polarized tumorassociated macrophages are associated with poor prognoses

resulting from accelerated lymphangiogenesis in lung adenocarcinoma. Clinics (Sao Paulo) 2011;66:1879-1886.

- Ohtaki Y, Ishii G, Nagai K, et al. Stromal macrophage expressing CD204 is associated with tumor aggressiveness in lung adenocarcinoma. J Thorac Oncol 2010;5:1507-1515.
- Zeni E, Mazzetti L, Miotto D, et al. Macrophage expression of interleukin-10 is a prognostic factor in nonsmall cell lung cancer. Eur Respir J 2007;30:627-632.
- Wang R, Lu M, Zhang J, et al. Increased IL-10 mRNA expression in tumor-associated macrophage correlated with late stage of lung cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2011;30:62.
- 38. Toomey D, Smyth G, Condron C, et al. Infiltrating immune cells, but not tumour cells, express FasL in non-small cell lung cancer: No association with prognosis identified in 3-year follow-up. Int J Cancer 2003;103:408-412.
- Al-Shibli K, Al-Saad S, Donnem T, et al. The prognostic value of intraepithelial and stromal innate immune system cells in non-small cell lung carcinoma. Histopathology 2009;55:301-312.
- 40. Carus A, Ladekarl M, Hager H, et al. Tumor-associated neutrophils and macrophages in non-small cell lung cancer: no immediate impact on patient outcome. Lung Cancer 2013;81:130-137.
- Dehle FC, Mukaro VR, Jurisevic C, et al. Defective lung macrophage function in lung cancer +/- chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD/emphysema)mediated by cancer cell production of PGE2? PloS One 2013;8:e61573.
- 42. Liu CY, Wang CH, Chen TC, et al. Increased level of exhaled nitric oxide and up-regulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase in patients with primary lung cancer. Br J Cancer 1998;78:534-541.
- Matanić D, Beg-Zec Z, Stojanović D, et al. Cytokines in patients with lung cancer. Scand J Immunol 2003;57:173-178.
- 44. Chyczewska E, Mroz RM, Kowal E. TNF-alpha, IL-1 and IL-6 concentration in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Rocz Akad Med Bialymst 1997;42 Suppl 1:123-135.
- 45. Siziopikou KP, Harris JE, Casey L, et al. Impaired tumoricidal function of alveolar macrophages from patients with non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer 1991;68:1035-1044.
- 46. Kimura S, Sone S, Takahashi K, et al. Antitumour potential of pleural cavity macrophages in lung cancer patients

without malignant effusion. Br J Cancer 1989;59:535-539.

- Lebrec H, Ponce R, Preston BD, et al. Tumor necrosis factor, tumor necrosis factor inhibition, and cancer risk. Curr Med Res Opin 2015;31:557-574.
- Yan HQ, Zhang D, Shi YY, et al. Ataxia-telangiectasia mutated activation mediates tumor necrosis factor-alpha induced MMP-13 up-regulation and metastasis in lung cancer cells. Oncotarget 2016;7:62070-62083.
- Yao X, Huang J, Zhong H, et al. Targeting interleukin-6 in inflammatory autoimmune diseases and cancers. Pharmacol Ther 2014;141:125-139.
- Apte RN, Dotan S, Elkabets M, et al. The involvement of IL-1 in tumorigenesis, tumor invasiveness, metastasis and tumor-host interactions. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2006;25:387-408.
- Dmitrieva OS, Shilovskiy IP, Khaitov MR, et al. Interleukins 1 and 6 as Main Mediators of Inflammation and Cancer. Biochemistry (Mosc) 2016;81:80-90.
- 52. Kadota K, Nitadori J, Ujiie H, et al. Prognostic Impact of Immune Microenvironment in Lung Squamous Cell Carcinoma: Tumor-Infiltrating CD10+ Neutrophil/ CD20+ Lymphocyte Ratio as an Independent Prognostic Factor. J Thorac Oncol 2015;10:1301-1310.
- Kristiansen G, Schluns K, Yongwei Y, et al. CD10 expression in non-small cell lung cancer. Anal Cell Pathol 2002;24:41-46.
- Yin Y, Wang J, Wang X, et al. Prognostic value of the neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio in lung cancer: A metaanalysis. Clinics (Sao Paulo) 2015;70:524-530.
- 55. Teramukai S, Kitano T, Kishida Y, et al. Pretreatment neutrophil count as an independent prognostic factor in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: an analysis of Japan Multinational Trial Organisation LC00-03. Eur J Cancer 2009;45:1950-1958.
- 56. Eruslanov EB, Bhojnagarwala PS, Quatromoni JG, et al. Tumor-associated neutrophils stimulate T cell responses in early-stage human lung cancer. J Clin Invest 2014;124:5466-5480.
- 57. Vetsika EK, Koinis F, Gioulbasani M, et al. A circulating subpopulation of monocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells as an independent prognostic/predictive factor in untreated non-small lung cancer patients. J Immunol Res 2014;2014:659294.
- 58. Liu CY, Wang YM, Wang CL, et al. Population alterations of L-arginase- and inducible nitric oxide synthaseexpressed CD11b+/CD14(-)/CD15+/CD33+ myeloidderived suppressor cells and CD8+ T lymphocytes in patients with advanced-stage non-small cell lung cancer. J

128

Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2010;136:35-45.

- Dieu-Nosjean MC, Goc J, Giraldo NA, et al. Tertiary lymphoid structures in cancer and beyond. Trends Immunol 2014;35:571-580.
- Dieu-Nosjean MC, Antoine M, Danel C, et al. Longterm survival for patients with non-small-cell lung cancer with intratumoral lymphoid structures. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:4410-4417.
- 61. de Chaisemartin L, Goc J, Damotte D, et al. Characterization of chemokines and adhesion molecules associated with T cell presence in tertiary lymphoid structures in human lung cancer. Cancer Res 2011;71:6391-6399.
- 62. Goc J, Germain C, Vo-Bourgais TK, et al. Dendritic cells in tumor-associated tertiary lymphoid structures signal a Th1 cytotoxic immune contexture and license the positive prognostic value of infiltrating CD8+ T cells. Cancer Res 2014;74:705-715.
- 63. Germain C, Gnjatic S, Tamzalit F, et al. Presence of B cells in tertiary lymphoid structures is associated with a protective immunity in patients with lung cancer. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2014;189:832-844.
- Suzuki K, Kadota K, Sima CS, et al. Clinical impact of immune microenvironment in stage I lung adenocarcinoma: tumor interleukin-12 receptor beta2 (IL-12Rbeta2), IL-7R, and stromal FoxP3/CD3 ratio are independent predictors of recurrence. J Clin Oncol 2013;31:490-498.
- Geng Y, Shao Y, He W, et al. Prognostic Role of Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes in Lung Cancer: a Meta-Analysis. Cell Physiol Biochem 2015;37:1560-1571.
- 66. Nelson BH. CD20+ B cells: the other tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. J Immunol 2010;185:4977-4982.
- Fujimoto M, Yoshizawa A, Sumiyoshi S, et al. Stromal plasma cells expressing immunoglobulin G4 subclass in non-small cell lung cancer. Hum Pathol 2013;44:1569-1576.
- Jin S, Deng Y, Hao JW, et al. NK cell phenotypic modulation in lung cancer environment. PloS One 2014;9:e109976.
- Reits EA, Hodge JW, Herberts CA, et al. Radiation modulates the peptide repertoire, enhances MHC class I expression, and induces successful antitumor immunotherapy. J Exp Med 2006;203:1259-1271.
- Golden EB, Frances D, Pellicciotta I, et al. Radiation fosters dose-dependent and chemotherapyinduced immunogenic cell death. Oncoimmunology 2014;3:e28518.
- 71. Li G, Liang X, Lotze MT. HMGB1: The Central

Cytokine for All Lymphoid Cells. Front Immunol 2013;4:68.

- 72. Brooks ED, Schoenhals JE, Tang C, et al. Stereotactic Ablative Radiation Therapy Combined With Immunotherapy for Solid Tumors. Cancer J 2016;22:257-266.
- 73. Schoenhals JE, Seyedin SN, Tang C, et al. Preclinical Rationale and Clinical Considerations for Radiotherapy Plus Immunotherapy: Going Beyond Local Control. Cancer J 2016;22:130-137.
- Seyedin SN, Schoenhals JE, Lee DA, et al. Strategies for combining immunotherapy with radiation for anticancer therapy. Immunotherapy 2015;7:967-980.
- 75. Filatenkov A, Baker J, Mueller AM, et al. Ablative Tumor radiation can change the tumor immune cell microenvironment to induce durable complete remissions. Clin Cancer Res 2015;21:3727-3739.
- Dancea HC, Shareef MM, Ahmed MM. Role of Radiationinduced TGF-beta Signaling in Cancer Therapy. Mol Cell Pharmacol 2009;1:44-56.
- 77. Kachikwu EL, Iwamoto KS, Liao YP, et al. Radiation enhances regulatory T cell representation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;81:1128-1135.
- Persa E, Balogh A, Sáfrány G, et al. The effect of ionizing radiation on regulatory T cells in health and disease. Cancer Lett 2015;368:252-261.
- Balogh A, Persa E, Bogdandi EN, et al. The effect of ionizing radiation on the homeostasis and functional integrity of murine splenic regulatory T cells. Inflamm Res 2013;62:201-212.
- 80. Vatner RE, Formenti SC. Myeloid-derived cells in tumors: effects of radiation. Semin Radiat Oncol 2015;25:18-27.
- Ahn GO, Tseng D, Liao CH, et al. Inhibition of Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18) enhances tumor response to radiation by reducing myeloid cell recruitment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010;107:8363-8368.
- Keir ME, Butte MJ, Freeman GJ, et al. PD-1 and its ligands in tolerance and immunity. Annu Rev Immunol 2008;26:677-704.
- Butte MJ, Keir ME, Phamduy TB, et al. Programmed death-1 ligand 1 interacts specifically with the B7-1 costimulatory molecule to inhibit T cell responses. Immunity 2007;27:111-122.
- Gros A, Robbins PF, Yao X, et al. PD-1 identifies the patient-specific CD8(+) tumor-reactive repertoire infiltrating human tumors. J Clin Invest 2014;124:2246-2259.
- 85. Konishi J, Yamazaki K, Azuma M, et al. B7-H1 expression

on non-small cell lung cancer cells and its relationship with tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and their PD-1 expression. Clin Cancer Res 2004;10:5094-5100.

- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med 2012;366:2443-2454.
- 87. Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer 2012;12:252-264.
- Perkins D, Wang Z, Donovan C, et al. Regulation of CTLA-4 expression during T cell activation. J Immunol 1996;156:4154-4159.
- Selby MJ, Engelhardt JJ, Quigley M, et al. Anti-CTLA-4 antibodies of IgG2a isotype enhance antitumor activity through reduction of intratumoral regulatory T cells. Cancer Immunol Res 2013;1:32-42.
- 90. Herter-Sprie GS, Koyama S, Korideck H, et al. Synergy of radiotherapy and PD-1 blockade in Kras-mutant lung cancer. JCI Insight 2016;1:e87415.
- 91. Wang X, Schoenhals JE, Li A, et al. Suppression of Type I IFN Signaling in Tumors Mediates Resistance to Anti-PD-1 Treatment That Can Be Overcome by Radiotherapy. Cancer Res 2017;77:839-850.
- 92. Yoshimoto Y, Suzuki Y, Mimura K, et al. Radiotherapyinduced anti-tumor immunity contributes to the therapeutic efficacy of irradiation and can be augmented by CTLA-4 blockade in a mouse model. PloS One 2014;9:e92572.
- 93. Son CH, Bae JH, Shin DY, et al. Combination effect of regulatory T-cell depletion and ionizing radiation in mouse models of lung and colon cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2015;92:390-398.

Cite this article as: Schoenhals JE, Seyedin SN, Anderson C, Brooks ED, Li YR, Younes AI, Niknam S, Li A, Barsoumian HB, Cortez MA, Welsh JW. Uncovering the immune tumor microenvironment in non-small cell lung cancer to understand response rates to checkpoint blockade and radiation. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2017;6(2):148-158. doi: 10.21037/ tlcr.2017.03.06

- 94. Gomez DR, Blumenschein GR Jr, Lee JJ, et al. Local consolidative therapy versus maintenance therapy or observation for patients with oligometastatic non-smallcell lung cancer without progression after first-line systemic therapy: a multicentre, randomised, controlled, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol 2016;17:1672-1682.
- 95. Radvanyi LG. Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocyte Therapy: Addressing Prevailing Questions. Cancer J 2015;21:450-464.
- 96. Salgado R, Denkert C, Campbell C, et al. Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes and Associations With Pathological Complete Response and Event-Free Survival in HER2-Positive Early-Stage Breast Cancer Treated With Lapatinib and Trastuzumab: A Secondary Analysis of the NeoALTTO Trial. JAMA Oncol 2015;1:448-454.
- Zhang L, Conejo-Garcia JR, Katsaros D, et al. Intratumoral T cells, recurrence, and survival in epithelial ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med 2003;348:203-213.
- Schatton T, Scolyer RA, Thompson JF, et al. Tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes and their significance in melanoma prognosis. Methods Mol Biol 2014;1102:287-324.
- 99. Tang C, Liao Z, Gomez D, et al. Lymphopenia association with gross tumor volume and lung V5 and its effects on non-small cell lung cancer patient outcomes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2014;89:1084-1091.
- 100. Yu JS, Lee PK, Ehtesham M, et al. Intratumoral T cell subset ratios and Fas ligand expression on brain tumor endothelium. J Neurooncol 2003;64:55-61.
- 101.Lu W, Su J, Kim LS, et al. Active specific immunotherapy against occult brain metastasis. Cancer Res 2003;63:1345-1350.

130

Clinical experiences of combining immunotherapy and radiation therapy in non-small cell lung cancer: lessons from melanoma

Anusha Kalbasi¹, Ramesh Rengan²

¹Department of Radiation Oncology, David Geffen School of Medicine, University of California Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, USA; ²Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Washington School of Medicine, Seattle, WA, USA

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: All authors; (II) Administrative support: All authors; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: None; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: A Kalbasi; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: All authors; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Ramesh Rengan, MD, PhD. Department of Radiation Oncology, 200 Suite B265 Medical Plaza Driveway, Seattle, WA, USA. Email: rengan@uw.edu.

Abstract: Radiation therapy (RT) is an essential component of local control for non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), but distant failures dictate the poor prognosis of this disease. Until recently, the possibility of using RT as an immunoadjuvant to stimulate a systemic anti-tumor immune response was not a realistic clinical opportunity. The emergence of immune checkpoint blockade as an effective immunotherapy for NSCLC has opened the door for combinatorial approaches involving RT. In melanoma, the body of preclinical evidence combining radiation and immunotherapy buoyed clinical efforts, from which promising results have begun to emerge. Preclinical work combining radiation and immunotherapy indicate similar findings in NSCLC, and clinical efforts are ongoing. Here, we review the rationale, preclinical evidence, ongoing efforts and anticipated challenges of efforts combining radiation and immunotherapy in NSCLC.

Keywords: Radiation; immunotherapy; checkpoint blockade; non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC); lung cancer

Submitted Oct 17, 2016. Accepted for publication Mar 14, 2017. doi: 10.21037/tlcr.2017.03.03 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/tlcr.2017.03.03

Introduction

The emergence of immunotherapy as the fourth pillar of cancer therapy, alongside surgery, radiation and chemotherapy, has generated interest in combinatorial strategies to maximize the benefits of anti-tumor immunity. The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval of immune checkpoint blockade in the treatment of metastatic non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) has specifically ignited efforts toward combinatorial approaches in NSCLC. Radiation therapy (RT) may be well suited as a partner to immunotherapy in NSCLC given its immunoadjuvant properties and its utility across the spectrum of patients with NSCLC. While combinations of RT and immunotherapy in NSCLC are still nascent, there is a body of preclinical literature supporting this approach. Moreover, emerging clinical data in melanoma and other disease sites support testing combinations of RT and immunotherapy in NSCLC.

The need for greater systemic control in NSCLC

NSCLC is the leading cause of cancer death in the United States with an estimated 158,080 deaths in 2016 (1). RT plays a prominent role in the treatment of NSCLC patients across the spectrum of disease: early stage, locally advanced and metastatic. In the growing population of patients with early stage disease, curative local therapy (surgery or stereotactic body radiotherapy) results in 5-year survival rates below 55% (SEER 2005–2011) and 3-year distant metastasis rates between 20–40% (2). For patients with locally advanced or metastatic disease, outcomes remain poor: 5-year survival rates reach 25% for locally advanced stage IIIA patients (2). Patients with metastatic disease 132

treated with platinum-doublet therapy have a median survival less than 1 year.

In the absence of better systemic disease control, even the most effective RT will have limited gains. Cytotoxic chemotherapy has had limited efficacy for patients with locally advanced and metastatic NSCLC. Several studies demonstrated a survival benefit to adjuvant chemotherapy after resection of non-metastatic NSCLC (stage II-III) (3-7). Adjuvant chemotherapy does not improve clinical outcomes in stage IA patients. For stage IB patients, CALGB 9633 found no benefit to adjuvant chemotherapy, notwithstanding a posthoc analysis suggesting benefit for patients with tumors >4.0 cm (8). Even in the unplanned subgroup analysis of patients with tumors >4.0 cm, the modest benefit of adjuvant chemotherapy must be weighed against its toxicities.

Other approaches, including angiogenesis inhibitors, have had limited success (9,10). The emergence of next generation sequencing has helped identify patients whose tumors harbor mutations for which targeted therapies exist. With this type of personalized medicine, profound responses are observed. However, this approach is limited to a small subset of patients whose tumors harbor actionable mutations (11).

Thus, additional approaches are needed to combat this devastating disease. Immunotherapeutic approaches are the most promising of the emerging therapies for NSCLC. These approaches were first successful in melanoma, a disease in which the immune activating factor IL-2 emerged as a standard therapy in the 1980s (12). Adoptive cell transfer of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL), and subsequently T cell receptor engineered lymphocytes, induced profound responses in melanoma in the 1990s and early 2000s. But it was not until 2011, when level I evidence demonstrated the survival benefit of immune checkpoint blockade targeting the immunoregulatory molecule CTLA-4, that immunotherapy attracted the attention of a global audience (13). This was followed closely by clinical trials demonstrating the efficacy of a second class of immune checkpoint inhibitors targeting programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) (14).

In 2015, immune checkpoint inhibitors targeting the PD-1 pathway were approved by the U.S. FDA for treatment of patients with locally advanced or metastatic NSCLC that had progressed on prior therapy. More recently the results of the KEYNOTE-024 trial randomized previously untreated patients with metastatic PD-L1 positive NSCLC to pembrolizumab, a humanized monoclonal antibody

against PD-1, versus standard chemotherapy and showed a significant survival benefit in favor of patients receiving pembrolizumab (15).

Rationale for immunotherapy in NSCLC: the shoe fits

Before the approval of immune checkpoint blockade (anti-PD1 therapy) for metastatic NSCLC, there were hints in studies of the immune microenvironment of these tumors that immunotherapy could be an effective approach. Several studies have examined the association of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes TIL on outcome in patients with NSCLC. The interest in TIL may be largely based on observations of heavy T-cell infiltrates in melanoma, a disease highly responsive to immunotherapy. In melanoma, the rich T-cell infiltrate serves as the basis for TIL therapy, in which TIL are grown *ex vivo* for therapeutic intravenous administration in combination with myeloablative regimens and immune growth factors (e.g., IL-2).

Across numerous studies, the presence of CD8+ T cells within the NSCLC tumor microenvironment was associated with superior clinical outcome, despite heterogeneous clinical populations and quantification methods (16). Even more recently, a study examined the association of TIL with survival in a more homogeneous population of patients with resected NSCLC who were enrolled on clinical trials testing adjuvant chemotherapy. The presence of TIL was associated with improved overall survival in this dataset (17). These data supporting TIL as a prognostic factor lend credence to the potential anti-tumor role of infiltrating T cells in NSCLC, as in melanoma.

In addition to TIL, the burden of somatic mutations in a particular tumor may determine its immunogenicity. Effective immunotherapy is based on the premise that T cells recognize a non-self antigen presented by tumor cells. One hypothesis is that tumors with greater mutational load also have greater neoantigens repertoire, increasing the likelihood of a productive anti-tumor T cell response. Compared to other cancer types, melanoma has the highest burden of somatic mutations, thought to be a result of UV-light exposure (18). Consistent with this hypothesis, melanoma patients with higher mutational load are more likely to derive clinical benefit from anti-CTLA-4 immune checkpoint blockade (19).

The two major subtypes of NSCLC, squamous cell carcinoma and adenocarcinoma, carry the second and third highest mutational burden of all cancer types. This

heavy mutational signature may be related to the effects of tobacco smoking. It is plausible that like melanoma, the greater mutational burden seen in NSCLC results in a higher likelihood of tumor reactive T cells that may mount a productive anti-tumor response under the appropriate stimulus. And in line with findings in melanoma, NSCLC patients with tumors harboring higher mutational load, anti-PD-1 immune checkpoint blockade was more effective (20).

Clinical data for immunotherapy in NSCLC

The FDA approval of pembrolizumab was based on results of an international phase 1 study of pembrolizumab (KEYNOTE-001) that included 495 patients with locally advanced or metastatic NSCLC (including both squamous and non-squamous histology). In these patients there was an overall response rate of 19.4%, including a response rate of 45.2% in the PD-L1 high-expressing population (21). Because of the latter finding, its approval was limited to patients with tumors expressing PD-L1.

Two trials compared an alternate antibody antagonist of PD-1, nivolumab, with docetaxel in the second-line treatment of metastatic squamous or non-squamous lung cancer (CheckMate-017 and CheckMate-057, respectively) (22,23). For both CheckMate-017 and CheckMate-057, 2-year overall survival was higher in the nivolumab arm (23% vs. 8% and 29% vs. 16%, respectively). Unlike CheckMate-057, there was a statistically significant increase in progression-free survival for patients on CheckMate-017 and responses were not tied to baseline PD-L1 expression. Nivolumab was approved by the FDA in March of 2015 for treatment of advanced squamous cell NSCLC refractory to chemotherapy.

Despite the overwhelming success of immune checkpoint blockade, the majority of patients do not respond. Combination therapies—including those with RT—may circumvent the resistance mechanism and expand the efficacy of immune checkpoint blockade to larger fraction of patients with NSCLC.

Rationale for radiotherapy as an immunoadjuvant

Radiation is classically categorized as a DNA-damaging, cytotoxic therapy. However, in addition, it acts as an immunomodulator. The interest in radiation as an immunomodulator began nearly half a century ago, with the first anecdotal reports of the abscopal effect (24). The abscopal effect is a clinical response in a malignant lesion other than the target lesion (or a response outside the irradiated field), and was posited to be a result of an immunologic response incited by radiation to the target lesion.

Over the subsequent decades, scattered cases of the abscopal effect were reported, but these were met with healthy skepticism. As immune checkpoint blockade and other immunotherapies began to emerge over the past decade, reports of the abscopal effect became more prominent (25). Concurrently, the body of preclinical evidence on the intersection of radiation and immunity began to grow exponentially. These have been reviewed extensively elsewhere (26-28).

Importantly, the local effects of radiation were noted to be immune dependent in specific mouse models. In a murine model of melanoma, the depletion of CD8+ T cells abrogated the local effects of irradiation (29). Likewise, in a murine model of colon cancer, the local effects of radiotherapy were partially dependent on IFNalpha receptor and stimulator of interferon genes (STING) signaling (30). In both of these studies, the local anti-tumor effects of radiation could not be uncoupled from the T cell immunity. That radiation can incite a local anti-tumor T cell response supports the possibility that it may incite a systemic anti-tumor T cell response, otherwise known as concomitant immunity (31).

Indeed, studies in an animal model of breast cancer demonstrated that ablative radiation of a local tumor impeded the development of lung metastases in a CD8+ T-cell dependent fashion (32). These results have been corroborated by several studies where local irradiation and systemic immunotherapy led to improved tumor control compared to either therapy alone (32-36).

Several mechanisms have been proposed by which radiation potentiates an anti-tumor T cell response. Radiation can induce the release of danger signals or danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), which serve as the first step in a cascade that leads to activation of antigen presenting cells (APCs)/dendritic cells. Danger signals, such as HMGB1, can bind to toll like receptors on the surface of APCs and potentiate the ability of APCs to activate nearby T cells (37). Thus, indirectly via release of DAMPs or via release of specific chemokines (e.g., GM-CSF), radiation may modulate antigen presentation. Radiation can also lead to increase in the quantity, variety and presentation of antigens from a tumor though activation of proteasome pathways, and augmentation of MHC class I presentation (38,39). Radiation-induced chemokines may also directly attract APCs or effector CD8+ T cells to the tumor microenvironment (40).

Radiation can also have immunosuppressive effects that may counteract the development of systemic antitumor immunity. Foremost, radiation can recruit immunosuppressive myeloid cells (e.g., myeloid derived suppressor cells, inflammatory monocytes, or tumorassociated macrophages) that either directly promote tumor outgrowth (41), or contribute to be an immunosuppressive microenvironment in which T cells are dysfunctional (42). Additionally, radiation has been shown in pre-clinical models to upregulate PD-L1 expression in the tumor microenvironment, which can lead to T-cell exhaustion (36). Finally, radiation can lead to accumulation of T-regulatory cells, which serve as obstacles to productive anti-tumor immunity (43).

Whether the dominant effects of radiation promote or disrupt anti-tumor immunity may largely depend on tumor type and context. In tumors with baseline immunogenicity, radiation may be more likely to stimulate productive anti-tumor immunity. On the contrary, immunologically "cold" tumors that lack a neoantigens signature and T cell infiltrate, may predominantly recruit immunosuppressive myeloid cells in response to radiation.

Abscopal response to radiotherapy in NSCLC

The majority of clinical data indicating an immunoadjuvant role for radiation are from patients with melanoma. However, data in NSCLC have also emerged. In 2013, clinicians reported a case of an abscopal response to radiotherapy in a patient with metastatic NSCLC who did not receive systemic therapy. The patient received conventionally fractionated radiation (60 Gy) for a T3N0 left upper lobe primary adenocarcinoma, and SBRT (26 Gy ×1) to a right lower lobe primary adenocarcinoma. Two weeks after treatment the patient was noted to have an FDG avid lesion in the adrenal gland consistent with metastasis, and approximately 2 months after treatment developed an FDG avid humeral lesion, also consistent with metastasis. One year after radiation, even without systemic therapy, these lesions had achieved complete metabolic response. The patient ultimately progressed at a different osseous site (44).

The potential for radiation to initiate a systemic antitumor immune response has been used as an argument for the treatment of early stage NSCLC with SBRT, especially in contrast to surgery. In a 2010 retrospective study comparing patients with T1-T2N0 NSCLC who underwent either wedge resection or SBRT, local and locoregional recurrence rates were lower in patients receiving SBRT (45). However, in the pooled analysis of two randomized trials of surgery versus SBRT in medically operable patients (STARS and ROSEL), while SBRT was as effective as surgery (46), there was no significant difference in the rate of regional recurrence or distant metastasis.

Radiotherapy and immune checkpoint blockade

The ability of radiation to initiate systemic anti-tumor immunity may be amplified in the context of immune checkpoint blockade. In animal models, radiation interacts favorably with immune checkpoint blockade. When combined with dual immune checkpoint blockade in a murine model of melanoma, radiation is associated with T cell receptor diversification, and results in greater control of non-irradiated tumors (47). A concordant phenomenon was seen in the peripheral blood from a cohort of patients with metastatic melanoma treated with immune checkpoint blockade (anti-CTLA-4) and palliative radiotherapy. In this cohort, 17% of patients experienced a response in the nonirradiated lesion, which exceeds the expected response rate for anti-CTLA-4 therapy alone.

In the largest dataset thus far examining the effects of local therapy in combination with immune checkpoint blockade (anti-CTLA-4), 127 metastatic melanoma patients were treated with electrochemotherapy, radiation or selective internal radiation therapy (SIRT). After accounting for measured differences in the treatment groups, patients receiving local therapy had significantly longer overall survival (48).

In NSCLC, there are case reports of abscopal responses to radiotherapy in patients also receiving immune checkpoint blockade. In one case, a patient with metastatic lung adenocarcinoma who had progressed despite multiple systemic therapy regimens, received RT concurrently with anti-CTLA-4 therapy and experienced a clinical response in multiple metastatic lesions (49). While it is possible this response was primarily related to anti-CTLA-4, it should be noted that anti-CTLA-4 therapy alone or in combination with systemic therapy has not resulted in improvements in disease outcomes for patients with NSCLC.

A recently reported phase I study of anti-CTLA-4 therapy with SBRT in patients with non-melanoma solid tumors included eight patients with NSCLC (50). Uniquely in this trial, patients received ablative doses of radiation, with BED of ~100 Gy (assuming alpha/beta =10) to the lung or liver. One out of eight NSCLC patients experienced either a partial response or prolonged (6 months) stable disease outside of the irradiated field (according to immune related response criteria).

Toxicity considerations

Multiple early phase studies have been conducted examining the safety of combining ablative radiotherapy with immunotherapeutic agents (47,51,52). At the University of Pennsylvania, combination ipilimumab with hypofractionated palliative radiotherapy was tested in a phase I study. Of 21 enrolled patients, there was no grade 4 or higher toxicities. The most common grade 3 toxicity was anemia, which was unlikely to be related to the effects of focal hypofractionated radiotherapy.

For the combination of lung radiation and immune checkpoint blockade, pneumonitis is an overlapping toxicity. Radiation pneumonitis and pneumonitis due to immune checkpoint blockade may have shared mechanisms. The precise mechanism for radiation pneumonitis is unclear, but in addition to innate immune responses driven by monocyte, macrophage and neutrophil infiltration (53,54), T cell driven adaptive immune processes have been implicated (55-57). The mechanism for pneumonitis related to immune checkpoint blockade has not been well studied, but is putatively due to autoreactive T cells.

Anti-PD-1 agents have a better safety profile than anti-CTLA4 agents. The rate of grade 3 toxicity for pembrolizumab in NSCLC in KEYNOTE-001 was <10%, including a 1.8% rate of grade 3 pneumonitis. And in modern SBRT series, the rate of grade 3 radiation pneumonitis is <5% (58).

Thus, given the low independent rates of pneumonitis with each therapy, this combination will likely be safe and tolerable. However, given potential overlapping immune mechanisms of pneumonitis related to each therapy, it is important to carefully characterize the safety and toxicity profile in a prospective study. In the aforementioned phase I study of anti-CTLA-4 therapy with SBRT in patients with non-melanoma solid tumors, which included eight patients with NSCLC, clinical pneumonitis was not observed. A phase I safety study of atezolizumab (anti-PD-L1 antibody) in combination with SBRT in early stage NSCLC is actively recruiting patients (NCT02599454, www.clinicaltrials.gov). Likewise, in the metastatic setting, escalating doses of radiotherapy to the lung will be investigated combination with pembrolizumab to assess safety and toxicity (NCT02587455).

Ongoing studies

In addition to the phase I study of SBRT combined with anti-PD-L1 in early stage NSCLC, other studies are examining combinations of immunotherapy and radiation or chemoradiation in NSCLC (*Table 1*). Many of the trials are conducted in the metastatic or oligometastatic setting, similar to those described above, wherein patients with NSCLC are included with other histologies and the emphasis is to examine the impact of SBRT on efficacy of immune checkpoint blockade or other immunotherapy. At one institution, investigators are testing FLT3 ligand, which may enhance antigen presentation, administered subcutaneously concurrent with SBRT in patients with metastatic NSCLC refractory to standard therapy (NCT02839265).

In studies of early stage and locally advanced disease, the focus of combination studies is to test the efficacy of immunotherapy when added to standard therapy. This includes immunotherapy other than immune checkpoint blockade, such as cancer vaccines that have been tested in the metastatic setting (e.g., cancer-testis antigens such as NY-ESO-1 and MAGE-A3, as well as telomerase and MUC-1). A phase II study of telomerase peptide vaccination in locally-advanced stage IIIA NSCLC suggested patients developed specific immune responses against the peptide in 80% of patients (59). Another vaccine study in locally advanced patients, this one a phase III randomized study, examined the impact of a vaccine against MUC1 glycoprotein on overall survival. While no overall survival difference was noted, the vaccine was associated with a benefit in a subset of patients who had received prior chemoradiotherapy (60).

Other vaccine studies are ongoing for patients after chemoradiation for locally advanced disease. However, combinations using immune checkpoint blockade have generated the most interest, and several trials are ongoing for locally advanced patients. RTOG will be studying adjuvant nivolumab after definitive chemoradiation for locally advanced NSCLC in a randomized phase III design (NCT02768558). Another institution is testing the use of neoadjuvant pembrolizumab for patients with stage IB, II or IIIA NSCLC in a single arm phase II design (NCT02818920). Durvalumab, an anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibody, will be tested as a neoadjuvant therapy in combination with chemotherapy in patients with resectable stage IIIA NSCLC

Table 1 Ongoing clinical trials	combining radiation and i	mmunotherapy for NSCI	CC			
Institution	Disease	Design	Primary outcome	Immunotherapy	Radiation	Combination timing
UC Davis	Stage I NSCLC	Single arm phase I	Safety	Atezolizumab (anti-PD-L1)	SBRT 50 Gy	Concurrent
Weill Medical College of Cornell Univ.	Stage IB and II NSCLC	Randomized phase II	DFS	Durvalumab (anti-PD-L1)	Randomized to surgery or preop SBRT	Concurrent
RTOG/Multi-Institutional	Stage III NSCLC (unresectable)	Phase III randomized	OS, PFS	Nivolumab (anti-PD1)	Thoracic chemoradiation 60 Gy	Immunotherapy after chemo-radiation
Duke Univ./Multi-Institutional	Stage IB, II or IIIA NSCLC	Single arm phase II	Surgical feasibility	Pembrolizumab	Adjuvant thoracic RT if necessary	Not concurrent
UC Davis	Stage IV or recurrent NSCLC	Single arm phase I	safety	MPDL3280A (anti-PD-L1)	SBRT	Concurrent; induction; or sequential
Royal Marsden Hospital	Metastatic NSCLC	Phase I dose escalation	safety	Pembrolizumab (anti-PD1)	Palliative RT (low-dose, high-dose)	
Albert Einstein College of Medicine	Metastatic NSCLC	Phase 2	PFS	FLT3 ligand (CDX-301)— given subcutaneously	SBRT to lung lesion	Concurrent
NSCLC, non-small cell lung c	ancer; DFS, disease-free	survival; PFS, progressi	on-free surv	ival; OS, overall survival; SBR	T, stereotactic body radioth	erapy.

(NCT02572843). Patients will also receive adjuvant durvalumab, but only after adjuvant radiotherapy, should it be indicated. While these studies may prove a benefit for the experimental agent, they are unlikely to produce data on the potential synergy and radiotherapy.

Resistance mechanisms/future directions

While optimism is abounding regarding these combinatorial successes, failure of these approaches can and should be anticipated. In melanoma, where immune checkpoint blockade has had startling success, a substantial number of refractory cases remain. Some patients do not respond to therapy, and others respond and then progress. Recent evidence suggests that defects in interferon sensitivity within tumor cells may limit the efficacy of immune checkpoint blockade (61,62). Interferon pathway stimulation is likely an important component of the radiotherapy-induced antitumor response as well (30). Thus, identifying patients with NSCLC that lack sufficient interferon pathway signaling, will allow for better selection of patients for clinical trials of combined radiation and immunotherapy.

Conclusions

Some of the immune effects of radiation can induce or boost systemic anti-tumor immunity, especially in tumor with baseline immunogenicity. By doing so, radiation can complement immunotherapies such as immune checkpoint blockade. This is an especially promising approach in NSCLC because of its shared features with melanoma, the disease where immunotherapy has made the most headway. Like melanoma, NSCLC is characterized by a significant number of somatic mutations and a substantial T cell infiltrate. Given these similarities, it is not surprising that NSCLC is one of a handful of malignancies that, like melanoma, responds to immune checkpoint blockade. With the emerging data in melanoma that radiotherapy may improve clinical response rates and outcomes with immune checkpoint blockade, this approach is equally intriguing in NSCLC. We await results from numerous studies testing this approach in the early stage, locally advanced and metastatic settings.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Ryerson AB, Eheman CR, Altekruse SF, et al. Annual Report to the Nation on the Status of Cancer, 1975-2012, featuring the increasing incidence of liver cancer. Cancer 2016;122:1312-1337.
- Howlader N, Noone A, Krapcho M, et al. SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2010. National Cancer Institute. Bethesda, MD. 2013. Available online: http://seer.cancer. gov/csr/1975_2010/
- Arriagada R, Bergman B, Dunant A, et al. Cisplatinbased adjuvant chemotherapy in patients with completely resected non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2004;350:351-360.
- Winton T, Livingston R, Johnson D, et al. Vinorelbine plus cisplatin vs. observation in resected non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2005;352:2589-2597.
- Douillard JY, Rosell R, De Lena M, et al. Adjuvant vinorelbine plus cisplatin versus observation in patients with completely resected stage IB-IIIA non-small-cell lung cancer (Adjuvant Navelbine International Trialist Association [ANITA]): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 2006;7:719-727.
- Pignon JP, Tribodet H, Scagliotti GV, et al. Lung adjuvant cisplatin evaluation: a pooled analysis by the LACE Collaborative Group. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:3552-3559.
- Butts CA, Ding K, Seymour L, et al. Randomized phase III trial of vinorelbine plus cisplatin compared with observation in completely resected stage IB and II nonsmall-cell lung cancer: updated survival analysis of JBR-10. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:29-34.
- Strauss GM, Herndon JE, Maddaus MA, et al. Adjuvant paclitaxel plus carboplatin compared with observation in stage IB non-small-cell lung cancer: CALGB 9633 with the cancer and leukemia group B, radiation therapy oncology group, and North Central cancer treatment group study groups. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:5043-5051.
- Sandler A, Gray R, Perry MC, et al. Paclitaxel-carboplatin alone or with bevacizumab for non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2006;355:2542-2550.
- 10. Patel JD, Hensing TA, Rademaker A, et al. Phase II study of pemetrexed and carboplatin plus bevacizumab with maintenance pemetrexed and bevacizumab as first-line

therapy for nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2009;27:3284-3289.

- 11. Hirsch FR, Suda K, Wiens J, et al. New and emerging targeted treatments in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. Lancet 2016;388:1012-1024.
- 12. Rosenberg SA, Lotze MT, Yang JC, et al. Experience with the use of high-dose interleukin-2 in the treatment of 652 cancer patients. Ann Surg 1989;210:474-484; discussion 484-485.
- Robert C, Thomas L, Bondarenko I, et al. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med 2011;364:2517-2526.
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med 2012;366:2443-2454.
- Reck M, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, et al. Pembrolizumab versus Chemotherapy for PD-L1— Positive Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med 2016;375:1823-1833.
- Bremnes RM, Busund LT, Kilvær TL, et al. The Role of Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes in Development, Progression, and Prognosis of Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2016;11:789-800.
- Brambilla E, Le Teuff G, Marguet S, et al. Prognostic Effect of Tumor Lymphocytic Infiltration in Resectable Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. J Clin Oncol 2016;34:1223-1230.
- Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, et al. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. Nature 2013;500:415-421.
- Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, et al. Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med 2014;371:2189-2199.
- Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, et al. Cancer immunology. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. Science 2015;348:124-128.
- Garon EB, Rizvi NA, Hui R, et al. Pembrolizumab for the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2015;372:2018-2028.
- Brahmer J, Reckamp KL, Baas P, et al. Nivolumab versus Docetaxel in Advanced Squamous-Cell Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med 2015;373:123-135.
- Borghaei H, Paz-Ares L, Horn L, et al. Nivolumab versus Docetaxel in Advanced Nonsquamous Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med 2015;373:1627-1639.
- 24. Ehlers G, Fridman M. Abscopal effect of radiation in papillary adenocarcinoma. Br J Radiol 1973;46:220-222.

Kalbasi and Rengan. Radiation and immunotherapy in advanced NSCLC

- Postow MA, Callahan MK, Barker CA, et al. Immunologic correlates of the abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. N Engl J Med 2012;366:925-931.
- Kalbasi A, June CH, Haas N, et al. Radiation and immunotherapy: a synergistic combination. J Clin Invest 2013;123:2756-2763.
- 27. Demaria S, Golden EB, Formenti SC. Role of Local Radiation Therapy in Cancer Immunotherapy. JAMA Oncol 2015;1:1325-1332.
- Schaue D, McBride WH. Opportunities and challenges of radiotherapy for treating cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2015;12:527-540.
- 29. Lee Y, Auh SL, Wang Y, et al. Therapeutic effects of ablative radiation on local tumor require CD8+ T cells: changing strategies for cancer treatment. Blood 2009;114:589-595.
- Deng L, Liang H, Xu M, et al. STING-Dependent Cytosolic DNA Sensing Promotes Radiation-Induced Type I Interferon-Dependent Antitumor Immunity in Immunogenic Tumors. Immunity 2014;41:843-852.
- North RJ, Kirstein DP. T-cell-mediated concomitant immunity to syngeneic tumors. I. Activated macrophages as the expressors of nonspecific immunity to unrelated tumors and bacterial parasites. J Exp Med 1977;145:275-292.
- 32. Demaria S, Kawashima N, Yang AM, et al. Immunemediated inhibition of metastases after treatment with local radiation and CTLA-4 blockade in a mouse model of breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2005;11:728-734.
- Zeng J, See AP, Phallen J, et al. Anti-PD-1 blockade and stereotactic radiation produce long-term survival in mice with intracranial gliomas. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;86:343-349.
- Liang H, Deng L, Chmura S, et al. Radiation-induced equilibrium is a balance between tumor cell proliferation and T cell-mediated killing. J Immunol 2013;190:5874-5881.
- 35. Sharabi AB, Nirschl CJ, Kochel CM, et al. Stereotactic Radiation Therapy Augments Antigen-Specific PD-1-Mediated Antitumor Immune Responses via Cross-Presentation of Tumor Antigen. Cancer Immunol Res 2015;3:345-355.
- Deng L, Liang H, Burnette B, et al. Irradiation and anti-PD-L1 treatment synergistically promote antitumor immunity in mice. J Clin Invest 2014;124:687-695.
- Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, et al. Toll-like receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Nat Med 2007;13:1050-1059.

- Walter S, Weinschenk T, Stenzl A, et al. Multipeptide immune response to cancer vaccine IMA901 after singledose cyclophosphamide associates with longer patient survival. Nat Med 2012;18):1254-61.
- Reits EA, Hodge JW, Herberts CA, et al. Radiation modulates the peptide repertoire, enhances MHC class I expression, and induces successful antitumor immunotherapy. J Exp Med 2006;203:1259-1271.
- Matsumura S, Wang B, Kawashima N, et al. Radiationinduced CXCL16 release by breast cancer cells attracts effector T cells. J Immunol 2008;181:3099-3107.
- Kalbasi A, Komar C, Tooker GM, et al. Tumor-Derived CCL2 Mediates Resistance to Radiotherapy in Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 2017;23:137-148.
- 42. Seifert L, Werba G, Tiwari S, et al. Radiation Therapy Induces Macrophages to Suppress T-Cell Responses Against Pancreatic Tumors in Mice. Gastroenterology 2016;150:1659-72.e5.
- 43. Schaue D, Xie MW, Ratikan JA, et al. Regulatory T cells in radiotherapeutic responses. Front Oncol 2012;2:90.
- Siva S, Callahan J, MacManus MP, et al. Abscopal [corrected] effects after conventional and stereotactic lung irradiation of non-small-cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2013;8:e71-e72.
- 45. Grills IS, Mangona VS, Welsh R, et al. Outcomes after stereotactic lung radiotherapy or wedge resection for stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:928-935.
- 46. Chang JY, Senan S, Paul MA, et al. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy versus lobectomy for operable stage I nonsmall-cell lung cancer: a pooled analysis of two randomised trials. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:630-637.
- 47. Twyman-Saint Victor C, Rech AJ, Maity A, et al. Radiation and dual checkpoint blockade activate non-redundant immune mechanisms in cancer. Nature 2015;520:373-377.
- Theurich S, Rothschild SI, Hoffmann M, et al. Local Tumor Treatment in Combination with Systemic Ipilimumab Immunotherapy Prolongs Overall Survival in Patients with Advanced Malignant Melanoma. Cancer Immunol Res 2016;4:744-754.
- 49. Golden EB, Demaria S, Schiff PB, et al. An abscopal response to radiation and ipilimumab in a patient with metastatic non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Immunol Res 2013;1:365-372.
- 50. Tang C, Welsh JW, de Groot P, et al. Ipilimumab with Stereotactic Ablative Radiation Therapy: Phase I Results and Immunologic Correlates from Peripheral T Cells.

138

Clin Cancer Res 2017;23:1388-1396.

- 51. Golden EB, Chhabra A, Chachoua A, et al. Local radiotherapy and granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor to generate abscopal responses in patients with metastatic solid tumours: a proof-of-principle trial. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:795-803.
- 52. Gulley JL, Arlen PM, Bastian A, et al. Combining a recombinant cancer vaccine with standard definitive radiotherapy in patients with localized prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2005;11:3353-3362.
- Chen Y, Williams J, Ding I, et al. Radiation pneumonitis and early circulatory cytokine markers. Semin Radiat Oncol 2002;12:26-33.
- 54. Miura G, Awaya H, Matsumoto T, et al. Does granulocyte colony-stimulating factor exacerbate radiation-induced acute lung injury in rats? Radiat Med 2000;18:227-232.
- 55. Roberts CM, Foulcher E, Zaunders JJ, et al. Radiation pneumonitis: a possible lymphocytemediated hypersensitivity reaction. Ann Intern Med 1993;118:696-700.
- 56. Nakayama Y, Makino S, Fukuda Y, et al. Activation of lavage lymphocytes in lung injuries caused by radiotherapy for lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1996;34:459-467.

Cite this article as: Kalbasi A, Rengan R. Clinical experiences of combining immunotherapy and radiation therapy in non-small cell lung cancer: lessons from melanoma. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2017;6(2):169-177. doi: 10.21037/tlcr.2017.03.03

- McBride WH, Vegesna V. The role of T-cells in radiation pneumonitis after bone marrow transplantation. Int J Radiat Biol 2000;76:517-521.
- Zhao J, Ling L, Yorke ED, et al. Simple Clinical Factors Associated With Radiation-Induced Lung Toxicity After Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy in Lung Cancer: A Pooled Analysis of 70 Studies. Int J Radiat Oncol 2014;90:S60.
- 59. Brunsvig PF, Kyte JA, Kersten C, et al. Telomerase peptide vaccination in NSCLC: a phase II trial in stage III patients vaccinated after chemoradiotherapy and an 8-year update on a phase I/II trial. Clin Cancer Res 2011;17:6847-6857.
- 60. Butts C, Socinski MA, Mitchell PL, et al. Tecemotide (L-BLP25) versus placebo after chemoradiotherapy for stage III non-small-cell lung cancer (START): a randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2014;15:59-68.
- Zaretsky JM, Garcia-Diaz A, Shin DS, et al. Mutations Associated with Acquired Resistance to PD-1 Blockade in Melanoma. N Engl J Med 2016;375:819-829.
- 62. Gao J, Shi LZ, Zhao H, et al. Loss of IFN-γ Pathway Genes in Tumor Cells as a Mechanism of Resistance to Anti-CTLA-4 Therapy. Cell 2016;167:397-404.e9.

Immunotherapy and radiation therapy for operable early stage and locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer

Neil K. Taunk¹, Andreas Rimner¹, Melissa Culligan², Joseph S. Friedberg², Julie Brahmer³, Jamie Chaft⁴

¹Department of Radiation Oncology, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, USA; ²Department of Surgery, Division of Thoracic Surgery, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA; ³Thoracic Oncology Program, Sidney Kimmel Comprehensive Cancer Center, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA; ⁴Thoracic Oncology Service, Department of Medicine, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center and Weill Cornell Medical College, New York, USA

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: All authors; (II) Administrative support: All authors; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: All authors; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: All authors; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: All authors; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Jamie Chaft, MD. Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, 300 East 66th Street, New York, NY 10065, USA. Email: chaftj@mskcc.org.

Abstract: Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) is the most common cause of cancer mortality. Although a significant proportion of patients can be cured with surgery, with or without adjuvant or neoadjuvant chemotherapy and radiation, a significant proportion of patients will fail, particularly distantly. Over fifty percent of patients present with stage IV disease. There are multiple forms of immunotherapy available including T-cell transfer, cytokine therapy, and oncolytic viruses. Checkpoint inhibitors have shown tremendous activity in NSCLC and are currently under intense study given promising data on response. Immunotherapy and radiation therapy (RT) both show significant immune editing activity in NSCLC that may allow the innate and adaptive immune system to help control systemic disease by both radiosensitization and a sustained systemic immunotherapy in operable NSCLC. A substantial amount of progress is to be made in terms of optimizing radiation dose and fractionation, immunotherapy type and dose, and integrating both to best realize the benefits of immunotherapy and radiation in operable lung cancer.

Keywords: Radiation therapy (RT); immunotherapy; non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC)

Submitted Nov 08, 2016. Accepted for publication Mar 15, 2017. doi: 10.21037/tlcr.2017.03.05 **View this article at:** http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/tlcr.2017.03.05

Introduction

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer mortality in the United States. About 25% of patients with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) present with early stage disease, which is potentially curable with standard of care lobectomy (1,2). Local control is generally excellent after surgery or radiation. Stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) has become an excellent alternative treatment option in patients with early-stage, node negative disease (3). Local control is about 90% at 3 years. Early data in patients with operable patients treated with SBRT indicate local control is 92% and 73% at 5 years for T1 and T2 disease, respectively (4).

For patients with node-positive or locally advanced operable disease, conventionally fractionated radiation therapy (RT) can be integrated in several different ways. In resectable locally advanced patients, typically stage IIIA (AJCC v7), primary surgery is performed before or after platinum-based chemotherapy, and post-operative RT is indicated in disease with persistent N2 lymph nodes. Preoperative chemoradiotherapy is an alternative approach to the treatment of resectable N2 disease. Patients with unresectable locally advanced NSCLC are treated with curative intent concurrent or sequential chemoradiation.

However, there is a critical need to develop better therapeutic approaches to treat patients with early and locally advanced stage disease and to integrate systemic therapies that have the capacity to effectively eradicate micrometastatic disease and create a sustained systemic response.

Patients with early stage disease still have high risk of relapse

Although local control is high for patients with operable NSCLC, systemic relapse remains the predominant failure pattern. Even among patients with the earliest clinical stage of lung cancer, 50% will die within 5 years of diagnosis after lobectomy (5). For patients with Stage II and IIIA disease and good performance status, platinum-based chemotherapy is recommended to improve systemic relapse rates.

There exists a subset of early stage patients with identifiable poor prognostic characteristics. This includes patients with a suboptimal gene profile, and a number of variably expressed tumor markers and oncogenes (6,7). In one analysis, survival at 5 years in low risk Stage I patients was nearly 90%, but in high risk patients survival was nearly 40% (8). An example of a risk factor is histologic subtype of lung adenocarcinoma, where certain growth patterns such as solid or micropapillary indicate poorer prognosis (9-11). We and others have previously reported that increased SUVmax on pre-treatment fluorodeoxyglucose-PET (FDG-PET) correlate with poorer local control and survival after treatment with SBRT, consistent with surgical series (12). Similar to operable patients, unfavorable subsets of patients have been identified in inoperable patients that are at high risk for nodal and distant failures. These are based on tumor and treatment-related characteristics such as age, functional status, tumor size, histology, proximity to the hilum, and deliverable radiation dose (13).

The opportunity to combine immunotherapy and radiation

There exists a growing body of evidence that T-cell checkpoint inhibitors have robust and enduring activity in some patients with metastatic lung cancer (14-17). Approximately 20% of patients with previously treated lung cancers have objective response to anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-L1 therapies. The responses may be remarkably durable and the treatment associated with good tolerability. Thus far in patients with lung cancers these studies have largely been in patients with metastatic disease, but T-cell checkpoint inhibitors in melanomas have been shown to improve relapse free survival compared to placebo (HR 0.75, P=0.0013) (18). There is a critical unmet need to translate the potential benefits of T-cell checkpoint inhibitors into the early-stage setting for patients with lung cancers. Additionally, as it is only a subset of patients who appear to benefit from anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-L1 therapies, there is also a need to identify effective combination approaches that can augment the benefit of immunotherapy for patients (19,20).

In this context, the opportunity to combine immunotherapy and RT represents a unique approach toward several key challenges in the treatment of patients with lung cancers: (I) can immunotherapy be integrated with RT to improve systemic relapse in patients with early stage lung cancers treated with surgery? (II) can RT in combination with immunotherapy be performed safely and can a synergistic, appropriately sequenced combination be determined?

An analogy to this potential relationship exists in the role of concurrent chemoradiation. In multiple solid tumors, including NSCLC, head and neck disease, and gynecologic malignancies, combined modality therapy with RT and chemotherapy is more effective than either alone, and even more effective compared to sequential therapy. This results in both increased local and systemic control (21). Combined modality therapy has been extensively studied as modulating tumor-host interactions and may improve treatment beyond simply radiosensitization of tumor cells.

Immunotherapy exists in many forms including adoptive T-cell transfer, oncolytic viruses, and cytokine therapy, among other modalities. Currently, immunotherapy using immune checkpoint inhibitors has offered unprecedented rates of response and has since attracted intense attention. Thus the focus of this review will primarily be on immune checkpoint inhibitors and their combination with RT in operable NSCLC.

The activity of immunotherapy in inoperable and metastatic NSCLC

Over 50% of patients with NSCLC will present with metastatic disease and will be treated with chemotherapy with or without local palliative RT. Approximately 18% of patients will present with Stage IIIB unresectable disease and will go on to have chemoradiation with curative intent (22). In these populations, immunotherapy, despite representing an already heavily treated and frail population with a guarded prognosis, has yielded significant improvements in overall survival (20).

The activity of pembrolizumab was reported in a Phase 1 study that analyzed both efficacy and safety (20). After treatment with pembrolizumab, the objective response rate was 19.4%, and the median duration of overall survival was 12 months. In patients with PD-L1 expression in at least 50% of tumor cells, the objective response rate was 45.2% and median overall survival was not reached. The recently published study of first-line pembrolizumab showed it was superior to chemotherapy in NSCLC patients without sensitizing EGFR mutations or ALK translocations that express the protein PD-L1 in more than 50% of cells (23).

Multiple other studies have shown activity of these and other immune checkpoint inhibitors in NSCLC, which has led to several receiving FDA approval for use in firstline or progressive disease (Hellman ASCO 2016) (24,25). These data also indicate there likely exist tumor-specific characteristics to guide whom may best respond to these therapies.

Immune editing with radiation and improved local control when combined with immune therapy in solid tumors

After treatment, tumor cell transformation drives activation of the host immune response, with modifications in both the innate and adaptive systems. A growing body of evidence suggests that RT can quantitatively augment the immune system by directly upregulating tumor-associated antigens (TAAs), augment MHC class I surface expression in a doseresponsive manner, and increase T-cell tumor-specific CD8+ T cells (26,27). Some tumors downregulate MHC expression to evade immune detection, but upregulation characteristics after RT exposure may prevent this.

Beyond MHC class I surface expression, RT may also stimulate the immune system via activating dendritic cells and increasing antigen cross-presentation. This also increases FAS surface expression, which, in turn, induces programmed cell death. FAS is a cell surface receptor that leads to programmed cell death. FAS upregulation ultimately increases the density of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes, and upregulates PD-L1 expression (28,29). RT already is known to generate inflammation, increase antigen presentation, and modify the tumor microenvironment. In multiple patient reports, the stimulatory effect of RT inducing an abscopal effect (even in the absence of immunotherapy) has been shown using a variety of RT total doses and fractionation schemes (30).

Multiple preclinical studies show that checkpoint blockade augments the immunostimulatory effects of RT to improve local disease control. Demaria et al. showed in breast cancer cell lines that anti-CTLA4 therapy sensitized cells to RT (31). This was additionally demonstrated in an orthotopic glioblastoma model when combining anti-CTLA4 with stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS), a highly potent local therapy. SRS plus checkpoint blockade improved overall survival by 50% as a product of improved local control (32). RT has been shown in melanoma to augment the immune environment leading to the abscopal effect after combination RT and immunotherapy using anti-CTLA4 therapy (33,34). Deng et al. first showed that RT upregulated PD-L1, and then showed that anti-PD-L1 therapy enhanced the therapeutic efficacy of ionizing RT. This was primarily accomplished through an enhanced cytotoxic T-cell dependent mechanism. This combined approach also reduced the accumulation of tumorinfiltrating suppressor cells (35). Sharabi et al. showed that anti-PD1 therapy, when combined with stereotactic RT in mouse models of melanoma or breast cancer, increased T-cell infiltration into tumor and enhanced antigen presentation in draining lymph nodes (36).

Combined therapy leading to abscopal and sustained systemic response

While the above mentioned studies suggest that RT and immunotherapy may work synergistically to improve local control, but the clinically unmet need even in patients with localized disease is to improve systemic control given the high propensity for distant progression. Deng et al. in the same study as above showed both an abscopal effect and a sustained anti-tumor effect after combined therapy. Using a TUBO breast cancer model, mice receiving both anti-PD1 therapy and irradiation of a single lesion showed abscopal effect by growth rate reduction of a second unirradiated tumor. After complete tumor eradication, mice were rechallenged with the same tumor and no palpable tumors developed on the dual-treated mice (35). Park et al. showed a similar result with melanoma and renal cancer mouse models; however, they further showed that the increased antigenicity was tumor-specific when mice bore both tumors (37).

Postow *et al.* described a patient with metastatic melanoma who was treated with paraspinal SBRT and anti-

CTLA4 therapy and who was later found to have a decrease in non-irradiated splenic and hilar masses (34). Golden *et al.* found a similar effect when a patient with NSCLC was treated with combined therapy. This patient received liver SBRT for a NSCLC metastasis and anti-CTLA4. Not only did the irradiated lesion improve, but there was also significant improvement in nonirradiated disease in the lung, skeleton, and elsewhere in the liver (38).

Multiple other clinical reports show the abscopal effect in patients who have received combined RT and immunotherapy. In one series on the combination of anti-CTLA4 and RT, there was a range of 3–6 months from after treatment until an abscopal effect was reached. A range of 5–47 months was observed from the occurrence of the abscopal effect until further disease progression (39). It is important to note that there was significant heterogeneity in tumor type, site irradiated, and total dose and fractionation of RT. The optimal RT regimen, dose and fractionation to elicit an abscopal effect in combination with immunotherapy remain indeterminate.

Neoadjuvant or adjuvant immunotherapy studies show promise

Several clinical studies have shown activity of various forms of neoadjuvant immunotherapy, including adoptive cell transfer, vaccines, and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) therapies. A study with neoadjuvant chemo-immunotherapy in Stage IIB–IIIB NSCLC patients used cisplatin and gemcitabine, and then randomized patients to concurrent recombinant TNF fused with thymosin-alpha. Seventyone percent had response to chemo-immunotherapy, versus 50% to neoadjuvant chemotherapy alone (Lazutin ASCO 2015). In an updated analysis, the chemotherapy alone group showed a decrease in NK cells while the chemoimmunotherapy group did not (Zlatnik ASCO 2016).

Kimura *et al.* performed a randomized study of adjuvant chemo-immunotherapy versus immunotherapy alone in patients with IB–IV NSCLC after thoracotomy. Patients who received non-curative resections were included. Chemotherapy was given in platinum-doublets, and immunotherapy consisted of activated killer T-cells and dendritic cells. There was a remarkable difference in 5-year overall survival after the addition of immunotherapy after surgery (81.4% vs. 48.3%, HR 0.229, P=0.0013). In addition, there was improvement in recurrence-free survival (40). A meta-analysis of 4 randomized trials consisting of 472 patients showed a significant benefit of adjuvant adoptive immunotherapy with a 39% relative reduction in risk of death. Two of the 4 studies allowed RT as part of treatment (41).

The Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) proposed a Phase II study of adjuvant immunotherapy and RT in patients with completely resected Stage II and IIIA NSCLC (RTOG 9909, ClinicalTrials.gov number: NCT00006470). Patients received surgery and within 7 weeks, began two anti-idiotype vaccines (one which mimicked CEA, and the other mimicked the human milk fat globule antigen) and 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions of RT. These vaccines are used to mimic TAAs. Proposed accrual was 54 patients; however, only 22 patients were accrued and the study closed without reporting results.

Current clinical studies in operable patients

There are multiple current clinical trials open exploring neoadjuvant and adjuvant immunotherapy in operable NSCLC, with a significant focus on checkpoint inhibitors given promising results in patients with advanced or metastatic disease. There is significant heterogeneity in the type of immunotherapy utilized, and none currently combine with RT (*Table 1*).

Emerging studies combining radiation and immunotherapy for effectiveness and safety

The prospect of combined modality treatment augmenting curative surgical treatment has significant advantages in NSCLC. Although approaches combining surgery, RT, chemotherapy and immunotherapy are emerging, there is already significant interest in understanding the role of adjuvant immunotherapy after definitive concurrent RT and chemotherapy. The PACIFIC trial aimed to accrue 702 patients with locally advanced NSCLC who received platinum-based chemo-RT, and then were enrolled and randomized to adjuvant durvalumab or observation if they had not progressed after initial therapy (ClinicalTrials. gov number: NCT02125461). This study is closed to accrual and results are expected sometime in 2017. RTOG Foundation 3505 study will enroll patients prior to chemo-RT and randomize 660 patients with stage III NSCLC who will receive chemo-RT followed by adjuvant nivolumab for 1 year, or observation. Both studies will analyze overall survival as their primary endpoint (ClinicalTrials.gov number: NCT02768558).

However, there are unexplored risks to combining chemo-RT, immunotherapy, and surgery. Preoperative RT

			-		0			
Identifier (ClinicalTrials.gov)	Sponsor	Stage	Phase	Immune therapy	Arms	Accrual	Endpoint	Status
NCT02572843	Swiss Group for Clinical Cancer Research	IIIA (N2)	II	Neoadjuvant and adjuvant durvalumab	Cisplatin/docetaxel ± neoadjuvant and adjuvant durvalumab	68	Event-free survival	Open
NCT02818920	Duke University	ib, II, IIIA	II	Neoadjuvant and adjuvant pembrolizumab	Single arm	32	Safety	Open, not yet recruiting
NCT02716038	Columbia University	IB-IIIA	II	Neoadjuvant atezolizumab	Single arm; combined with Nab-paclitaxel and carboplatin	30	Efficacy	Open
NCT02259621	Sidney Kimmel Cancer Center; Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center	I–IIIA	II	Neoadjuvant nivolumab	Single arm	20	Safety	Open
NCT02595944	NCI-EA5142	IB-IIIA	III	Adjuvant nivolumab	Postoperative platinum-based chemotherapy as per standard of care, ± PORT ± nivolumab	718	DFS/OS	Open
NCT02273375	Canadian Cancer Trials Group	IB-IIIA	III	Adjuvant durvalumab	Postoperative platinum-based chemotherapy as per standard of care (no RT) ± durvalumab	1,100	Disease-free survival	Open

Table 1 Active clinical trials using immunotherapy in operable non-small cell lung can

NCI, National Cancer Institute; RT, radiation therapy; DFS, disease-free survival; OS, overall survival; PORT, postoperative radiation therapy.

may lead to lung fibrosis or lung edema, resulting in difficult surgery or concerns with wound healing (42). Postoperative RT, particularly in those who have had significant lung volume removed may have compromised lung function from pneumonitis or long-term pulmonary fibrosis.

Some potential RT toxicities may be augmented by immunotherapy, or vice versa. Grade 3 or higher pneumonitis may be seen in 2% of patients after treatment with pembrolizumab, and it is unknown the magnitude of synergy with RT and immune checkpoint modulators on pneumonitis (20). Published data on RT and immunotherapy in other disease sites suggests no significant increase in the risk of toxicity. This includes no significant increased toxicity of immunotherapy when combined with brain SRS or with pelvic RT (43-45).

Our group has shown that combining thoracic RT and immunotherapy is generally safe and yields acceptable toxicities within the range of treatment with thoracic RT alone. The most often encountered toxicities included fatigue, infection, dermatitis, and rash. Pneumonitis, primarily Grade 1 and 2, occurs in approximately 7% of patients. There were no differences in toxicity when comparing patients who received immunotherapy concurrently or sequential with RT (46).

Challenges to this approach

There is tremendous potential benefit to combining RT and immunotherapy with surgery. Given that the bulk of patients fail distantly, improving systemic relapse rates is of critical importance. However, there are significant emerging challenges in this approach.

First, we must determine which patients are most likely to benefit from this combined modality treatment by (I) identifying patients likely to fail and (II) identifying patients who will respond to RT and immunotherapy. Previous data shows that patients with high pre-SBRT SUV_{max} or adenocarcinoma subtype (e.g., micropapillary or solid) may be the most likely to fail local therapy, and other clinicopathologic markers such as mutation status may enter into consideration (11,12). In addition, not all patients may respond to RT or immunotherapy. There remains discord in identifying patients who may or may not benefit from immunotherapy and what are the best methods to determine this metric (e.g., CD8 T-cells, total lymphocytes, PD-L1 expression, IL-6 plasma levels, etc.) (47).

For example, studies showing patient's with tumors expressing >50% PD-L1 may be the best responders to certain immunotherapies (20).

After patients are identified, it is unclear what treatment schema to use. There are multiple forms of immunotherapy including multiple checkpoint inhibitors with various targets, vaccines, and adoptive T-cell transfer, among others. There is no consensus in what RT total dose and fractionation to use. Finally, the timing of each of these treatments also lacks clarity. It is unclear whether how best to order therapy whether sequential or concurrent RT and immunotherapy, or if best to use these therapies in the adjuvant versus neoadjuvant setting in relation to surgery. The neoadjuvant setting allows determination of initial tumor response, and possible guidance on post-operative systemic therapy (48).

Once patients are treated with this combined modality approach, it is unclear exactly how to measure treatment response. The most obvious is clinical and imaging evidence of progression-free survival after surgery, RT, and immunotherapy. Even with routinely used imaging modalities responses to immunotherapy can present in unusual fashion such as delayed responses, pseudoprogression etc. Therefore immune-related response criteria were developed and are analyzed in many prospective studies to further evaluate the natural presentation of these immunotherapy responses (49). However, other biomarkers of treatment response should play also be included. These markers may perhaps include measures of immune response and measures of tumor response (e.g., circulating tumor DNA).

There remain a number of concerns in regards to the above with efficacy, timing, type of immunotherapy, dose and location of RT, and measuring response. However, there remains great promise in this approach combining the immune-stimulatory effects of both RT and immunotherapy to decrease systemic relapse rates in patients with otherwise curable disease.

Acknowledgements

Funding: This work is funded by MSK Cancer Center Support Grant/Core Grant (NIH P30CA008748).

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Martini N, Bains MS, Burt ME, et al. Incidence of local recurrence and second primary tumors in resected stage I lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1995;109:120-129.
- Scott WJ, Howington J, Feigenberg S, et al. Treatment of non-small cell lung cancer stage I and stage II: ACCP evidence-based clinical practice guidelines (2nd edition). Chest 2007;132:234S-42S.
- Timmerman R, Paulus R, Galvin J, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for inoperable early stage lung cancer. JAMA 2010;303:1070-1076.
- Onishi H, Shirato H, Nagata Y, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for operable stage I non-small-cell lung cancer: can SBRT be comparable to surgery? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;81:1352-1358.
- Goldstraw P, Crowley J, Chansky K, et al. The IASLC Lung Cancer Staging Project: proposals for the revision of the TNM stage groupings in the forthcoming (seventh) edition of the TNM Classification of malignant tumours. J Thorac Oncol 2007;2:706-714.
- Harpole DH Jr, Herndon JE 2nd, Wolfe WG, et al. A prognostic model of recurrence and death in stage I non-small cell lung cancer utilizing presentation, histopathology, and oncoprotein expression. Cancer Res 1995;55:51-56.
- Monzó M, Rosell R, Felip E, et al. A novel anti-apoptosis gene: Re-expression of survivin messenger RNA as a prognosis marker in non-small-cell lung cancers. J Clin Oncol 1999;17:2100-2104.
- Beer DG, Kardia SL, Huang CC, et al. Geneexpression profiles predict survival of patients with lung adenocarcinoma. Nat Med 2002;8:816-824.
- Russell PA, Wainer Z, Wright GM, et al. Does lung adenocarcinoma subtype predict patient survival?: A clinicopathologic study based on the new International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer/American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society international multidisciplinary lung adenocarcinoma classification. J Thorac Oncol 2011;6:1496-1504.
- Ujiie H, Kadota K, Chaft JE, et al. Solid Predominant Histologic Subtype in Resected Stage I Lung Adenocarcinoma Is an Independent Predictor of Early, Extrathoracic, Multisite Recurrence and of Poor Postrecurrence Survival. J Clin Oncol 2015;33:2877-2884.
- Leeman JE, Rimner A, Montecalvo J, et al. Histologic Subtype in Core Lung Biopsies of Early-Stage Lung Adenocarcinoma is a Prognostic Factor for Treatment

Taunk et al. Immunotherapy and radiotherapy for operable NSCLC

Response and Failure Patterns After Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2017;97:138-145.

- 12. Kohutek Z, Wu AJ, Zhang Z, et al. Pretreatment SUVmax on [18F]FDG-PET Is Associated With Recurrence and Survival After SBRT for Early-Stage NSCLC. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;87:S12.
- 13. Chi A, Liao Z, Nguyen NP, et al. Systemic review of the patterns of failure following stereotactic body radiation therapy in early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer: clinical implications. Radiother Oncol 2010;94:1-11.
- 14. Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med 2012;366:2443-2454.
- 15. Brahmer JR, Rizvi NA, Lutzky J, et al. Clinical activity and biomarkers of MEDI4736, an anti-PD-L1 antibody, in patients with NSCLC. J Clin Oncol 2014; 32: abstr 8021.
- Rizvi NA, Garon EB, Patnaik A, et al. Safety and clinical activity of MK-3475 as initial therapy in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). J Clin Oncol 2014;32: abstr 8007.
- Garon EB, Gandhi L, Rizvi N, et al. Antitumor activity of pembrolizumab (pembro; MK-3475) and correlation with programmed death ligand 1 (PD-L1) expression in a pooled analysis of patients (PTS) with advanced nonsmall cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC). Annals of Oncology 2014;25:1-41.
- Eggermont AM, Chiarion-Sileni V, Grob JJ, et al. Adjuvant ipilimumab versus placebo after complete resection of high-risk stage III melanoma (EORTC 18071): a randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:522-530.
- Swaika A, Hammond WA, Joseph RW. Current state of anti-PD-L1 and anti-PD-1 agents in cancer therapy. Mol Immunol 2015;67:4-17.
- 20. Garon EB, Rizvi NA, Hui R, et al. Pembrolizumab for the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2015;372:2018-2028.
- 21. Formenti SC, Demaria S. Combining radiotherapy and cancer immunotherapy: a paradigm shift. J Natl Cancer Inst 2013;105:256-265.
- 22. Wisnivesky JP, Yankelevitz D, Henschke CI. Stage of lung cancer in relation to its size: part 2. Evidence. Chest 2005;127:1136-1139.
- Reck M, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, et al. Pembrolizumab versus Chemotherapy for PD-L1-Positive Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med 2016;375:1823-1833.

- Borghaei H, Paz-Ares L, Horn L, et al. Nivolumab versus Docetaxel in Advanced Nonsquamous Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med 2015;373:1627-1639.
- 25. Herbst RS, Baas P, Kim DW, et al. Pembrolizumab versus docetaxel for previously treated, PD-L1-positive, advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (KEYNOTE-010): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2016;387:1540-1550.
- 26. Zeng J, Harris TJ, Lim M, et al. Immune modulation and stereotactic radiation: improving local and abscopal responses. Biomed Res Int 2013;2013:658126.
- Burnette B, Fu YX, Weichselbaum RR. The confluence of radiotherapy and immunotherapy. Front Oncol 2012;2:143.
- Sharabi AB, Lim M, DeWeese TL, et al. Radiation and checkpoint blockade immunotherapy: radiosensitisation and potential mechanisms of synergy. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:e498-e509.
- 29. Formenti SC, Demaria S. Systemic effects of local radiotherapy. Lancet Oncol 2009;10:718-726.
- Siva S, MacManus MP, Martin RF, et al. Abscopal effects of radiation therapy: a clinical review for the radiobiologist. Cancer Lett 2015;356:82-90.
- Demaria S, Kawashima N, Yang AM, et al. Immunemediated inhibition of metastases after treatment with local radiation and CTLA-4 blockade in a mouse model of breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2005;11:728-734.
- 32. Belcaid Z, Phallen JA, Zeng J, et al. Focal radiation therapy combined with 4-1BB activation and CTLA-4 blockade yields long-term survival and a protective antigen-specific memory response in a murine glioma model. PLoS One 2014;9:e101764.
- Barker CA, Postow MA. Combinations of radiation therapy and immunotherapy for melanoma: a review of clinical outcomes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2014;88:986-997.
- Postow MA, Callahan MK, Barker CA, et al. Immunologic correlates of the abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. N Engl J Med 2012;366:925-931.
- Deng L, Liang H, Burnette B, et al. Irradiation and anti-PD-L1 treatment synergistically promote antitumor immunity in mice. J Clin Invest 2014;124:687-695.
- Sharabi AB, Nirschl CJ, Kochel CM, et al. Stereotactic Radiation Therapy Augments Antigen-Specific PD-1-Mediated Antitumor Immune Responses via Cross-Presentation of Tumor Antigen. Cancer Immunol Res 2015;3:345-355.
- 37. Park SS, Dong H, Liu X, et al. PD-1 Restrains Radiotherapy-Induced Abscopal Effect. Cancer Immunol

146

Res 2015;3:610-619.

- Golden EB, Demaria S, Schiff PB, et al. An abscopal response to radiation and ipilimumab in a patient with metastatic non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Immunol Res 2013;1:365-372.
- Reynders K, Illidge T, Siva S, et al. The abscopal effect of local radiotherapy: using immunotherapy to make a rare event clinically relevant. Cancer Treat Rev 2015;41:503-510.
- Kimura H, Matsui Y, Ishikawa A, et al. Randomized controlled phase III trial of adjuvant chemoimmunotherapy with activated killer T cells and dendritic cells in patients with resected primary lung cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2015;64:51-59.
- Zeng Y, Ruan W, He J, et al. Adoptive Immunotherapy in Postoperative Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. PLoS One 2016;11:e0162630.
- 42. Mehta V. Radiation pneumonitis and pulmonary fibrosis in non-small-cell lung cancer: pulmonary function, prediction, and prevention. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005;63:5-24.
- 43. Moraes FY, Taunk NK, Marta GN, et al. The Rationale for Targeted Therapies and Stereotactic Radiosurgery in the Treatment of Brain Metastases. Oncologist 2016;21:244-251.

Cite this article as: Taunk NK, Rimner A, Culligan M, Friedberg JS, Brahmer J, Chaft J. Immunotherapy and radiation therapy for operable early stage and locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2017;6(2):178-185. doi: 10.21037/tlcr.2017.03.05

- 44. Kwon ED, Drake CG, Scher HI, et al. Ipilimumab versus placebo after radiotherapy in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer that had progressed after docetaxel chemotherapy (CA184-043): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2014;15:700-712.
- 45. Kiess AP, Wolchok JD, Barker CA, et al. Stereotactic radiosurgery for melanoma brain metastases in patients receiving ipilimumab: safety profile and efficacy of combined treatment. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2015;92:368-375.
- von Reibnitz D, Wu AJ, Barker CA Jr, et al. Safety of Combining Immune Checkpoint Inhibition and Thoracic Radiation Therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2016;96:S156.
- Characiejus D, Jacobs JJ, Pašukonienė V, et al. Prediction of response in cancer immunotherapy. Anticancer Res 2011;31:639-647.
- Kalbasi A, June CH, Haas N, et al. Radiation and immunotherapy: a synergistic combination. J Clin Invest 2013;123:2756-2763.
- Wolchok JD, Hoos A, O'Day S, et al. Guidelines for the evaluation of immune therapy activity in solid tumors: immune-related response criteria. Clin Cancer Res 2009;15:7412-7420.

Mini-review of conventional and hypofractionated radiation therapy combined with immunotherapy for non-small cell lung cancer

Allison M. Campbell, Roy H. Decker

Department of Therapeutic Radiology, Yale School of Medicine, New Haven, CT, USA

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: All authors; (II) Administrative support: All authors; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: None; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: All authors; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: All authors; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Roy H. Decker, MD, PhD. Smilow Cancer Hospital, 35 Park Street, Lower Level, New Haven, CT 06510, USA. Email: roy.decker@yale.edu.

Abstract: A successful antitumoral response requires immunological activation as well as an antigenic pool capable of stimulating both the innate and the adaptive immune system. Recent advances in immunotherapy have been aimed at boosting the activation status of the innate and adaptive immune system, including cytokine administration, monoclonal antibodies engineered to target high yield elements in oncogenic signaling pathways, cancer vaccines, and checkpoint inhibitors. Herein, we examine the ways that radiation therapy induced cell death provides a pool of stimulus antigen, and draw parallels from the immunobiology of autoimmunity to explore how the immunogenicity of antigen derived from radiation-induced cell death might augment the antitumoral response. We also review basic research into the ability of different radiation dose fractionation schedules to induce an antitumoral response. After a discussion of basic immunotherapeutic principles, we review the published literature in the field of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and examine the ways that combining radiation and immunotherapy have begun to change the therapeutic terrain. We provide a summary of ongoing clinical trials aimed at combining immunotherapy and radiation therapy in NSCLC while emphasizing the need for identification of biomarkers with predictive power and the assessment of efficacy as a function of fractionation strategy.

Keywords: Radiotherapy; immunotherapy; non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC); checkpoint inhibition

Submitted Sep 14, 2016. Accepted for publication Feb 20, 2017. doi: 10.21037/tlcr.2017.03.02 **View this article at:** http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/tlcr.2017.03.02

Immunotherapy and radiotherapy: theoretical and practical synergy

The intuitive appeal of perturbing the immune system to generate an effective anti-tumor response is so profound that the idea emerged contemporaneously with the field of cellular immunology itself. In 1884, Elie Metchnikoff discovered macrophages (1) and Anton Chekov noted a connection between erysipelas and cancer remission (2). Less than a decade later, William Coley was injecting patients with a cocktail of *Streptococcus pyogenes* and *Serratia marcescens* (3-5). Over a century of subsequent empirical

inquiry has uncovered a plethora of interacting signal transduction cascades within a multitude of interacting cell types. We are faced with not only understanding this system, but with purposefully manipulating it for the advancement of human health. Despite formidable immunological complexity, immunotherapy has yielded recent gains in overall survival and disease-free progression in a variety of cancers, most notably: melanoma (6-10), non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) (11-14), and renal cell carcinoma (RCC) (15-17). These therapies are designed to work by increasing the activation levels of the immune



Figure 1 Synergy between radiation therapy and immune therapy in NSCLC. Radiation therapy (top left) releases and alters antigen as targeted tissue dies, influencing immunogenicity in ways we are only beginning to understand. Cellular contents activate the innate immune system, represented here by a dendritic cell (DC), which then leads to an antitumoral response by the adaptive immune system. Immunotherapeutic agents such as cytokines and vaccines (pictured top right), augment immune activation by acting on antigen presenting cells or T cells. Checkpoint inhibitors maintain T-cell activation by blocking inhibitory signaling pathways. Activated T-cells act to improve both systemic and local control. NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer.

system in response to the antigenic load generated by the tumor in question.

At the most reductive level, harnessing the immune system to attack a tumor consists of two components that are amenable to manipulation: the stimulus and the subsequent response. The word and concept of "immunotherapy" invites a particular focus on the latter, but manipulation of the stimulus (in this case, the antigenic load provided by the tumor) may be equally powerful. The most obvious way to influence the quality or quantity of antigenic load is by inducing preferential killing of tumor cells, either systemically with chemotherapy, or locally with radiation therapy. Increasing the antigenic load and facilitating immune activation with optimal kinetics may achieve a synergistic anti-tumor response, producing an effect on the immune system more definitive and durable than either approach alone. In this review we will provide a brief overview of the conceptual and empirical underpinnings that make radiotherapy and immunotherapy such promising therapeutic partners before turning our attention specifically to oligometastatic lung cancer and summarizing current experience with the combined approach of radiotherapy and immunotherapy in this particular patient population.

Augmented immunological activation

Like the brain, the immune system generates complex output in response to input that varies in character from the simple to the multiplex. Every fate choice, line of cellular communication, and metabolic activation state becomes a branch point in an intricate effector response that might be modified to produce an improved clinical outcome. Over the past several decades, we have attempted to influence the cytokine milieu, kick-start the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system with vaccines and their adjuvants, and prevent T cell exhaustion with immune checkpoint inhibitors (as depicted in *Figure 1*). A full discussion of the history, breadth, and efficacy of these approaches is beyond the scope of this review, though we will touch on relevant highlights here, with particular attention paid to NSCLC.

Cytokines

Administration of purified cytokines began in the 1980s with IL-2 (18). Dramatic clinical responses in a modest percentage of patients with melanoma (19) and RCC (20) led to FDA approval of IL-2 for the treatment of these diseases, though unfortunately, IL-2-monotherapy did not provide a significant benefit in patients with NSCLC (21). Other gamma-chain cytokines, such as IL-7, IL-15, and IL-21 have theoretical promise in stimulating antitumoral T-cell activation (22), though they have yet to fulfill their bench promise of bedside clinical gains. Cytokines that are major players in innate responses have also been shown to augment the antitumoral response. IL-12 is a particularly attractive immunomodulator due to its ability to activate cytocidal innate and adaptive responses, but its efficacy in early clinical trials was disappointing and it carried attendant toxicities (23). Interest in IL-12 continues with alternative administration strategies designed to increase intratumoral levels while circumventing systemic exposure (24). GM-CSF has shown promise in murine models of melanoma, and it has consequently been evaluated as a monotherapy and as part of multipronged approaches, with

mixed results (25).

Vaccination

Cancer vaccination is a strategy with attractive theoretical underpinnings, and many ongoing trials are using peptide vaccines, cellular vaccines, or viral-based approaches to stimulate the adaptive immune system to identify and attack tumor cells (26). Of particular relevance to NSCLC was the Phase III MAGRIT trial, which evaluated a peptide vaccine containing MAGE-A3, an antigen expressed in 35% of lung cancers. Unfortunately, vaccination failed to confer any benefit to overall survival (27). Cellular vaccines, composed of cancer cell lines, are intended to provide a selection of antigen that is broad as well as a more authentic stimulus, which allows for cross-presentation by dendritic cells, though in NSCLC there have yet to be any significant improvements in overall survival (28). A viral-based vaccine designed to stimulate an immune response against the antigen Mucin 1 (MUC1), expressed in NSCLC, has shown an improvement in progression-free survival, but has not yet demonstrated a difference in overall survival, though final results from the phase III trial have not yet been published (29).

Checkpoint inhibitors

The most promising immunotherapeutic interventions have come in the form of checkpoint inhibitors, so called because they remove the biochemical brakes on immunological activation. Two such inhibitory pathways have been targeted in T cells: the signaling cascade initiated by cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA-4), and the signaling cascade initiated by the receptor known as programmed death 1 (PD-1) and its ligand, PD-L1, both of which function in T cells. CTLA-4 was first identified as a homolog to CD28, another member of the Ig superfamily known to be essential to the two-signal model of T cell activation (30). Mice deficient in CTLA-4 had a dramatically proinflammatory phenotype (31) and blockade of this pathway enhanced antitumoral immunity in murine tumor models (32). Two monoclonal antibodies have been developed that serve as CTLA-4 antagonists: ipilimumab and tremelimumab. The first success with CTLA-4 blockade came in a trial of ipilimumab used as a second-line agent in melanoma, which showed an advantage in overall survival (7). The beneficial effects of ipilimumab extended to other cancers, including NSCLC, where a regimen of ipilimumab and paclitaxel increased overall survival when compared with paclitaxel alone (11). As of yet,

tremelimumab has not been approved by the FDA for use in treating any cancer as initial trials in melanoma failed to demonstrate significant survival benefit (33).

PD-1 and PD-L1, a receptor and ligand respectively, control T cell exhaustion, maintain tissue tolerance, and initiate resolution of inflammation (34,35). Mice deficient in PD-1 do not spontaneously develop flagrant autoimmune disease, though they have a predisposition toward developing spontaneous glomerulonephritis on the B6 background and dilated cardiomyopathy on the BALB/c background (36). Two monoclonal antibodies that target PD-1 have been approved by the FDA for NSCLC: nivolumab and pembrolizumab. Nivolumab has been approved for use in second-line NSCLC based on the results of a phase III trial comparing nivolumab to docetaxel which showed a benefit in overall survival (12,13). Pembrolizumab was also found to confer an overall survival benefit in NSCLC patients who failed other therapies and whose tumors expressed PD-L1 (37). Atezolimumab and durvalumab are two of several antibodies under development that target PD-L1 rather than its receptor. Atezolimumab was initially approved by the FDA for its promise in bladder cancer (38), and a recently completed phase II study has demonstrated an increase in overall survival in patients with previously treated NSCLC (39).

Biomarkers

Checkpoint inhibitors have been notable for the durability and magnitude of the clinical responses they effect in certain subpopulations of patients. There is consequently a great deal of interest in identifying biomarkers that, used as screening tools, would signify a higher pre-test probability of response in a given patient. The B7 family of cell surface proteins consists of related ligands for CTLA-4 that are expressed by many different cancers, including NSCLC (40). Perhaps because of the wide variety of B7 family members that are expressed on host antigen presenting cells at baseline, no surface marker has yet been identified capable of predicting response to ipilimumab (41).

Significantly more progress has been made in predicting responses to PD-1 blockade. PD-1 transduces an inhibitory signal after binding its ligand; therefore, patients with tumors expressing PD-L1 would potentially be good candidates for therapy with nivolumab, pembrolizumab, atezolimumab and durvalumab. PD-L2, which leads to inhibitory signaling through PD-1 (42), is also expressed by tumor cells. Tumoral overexpression of PD-L2 may render these cancers particularly sensitive to nivolumab and pembrolizumab, while anti-PD-L1 antibodies might fail to provide significant clinical benefit. PD-L1 and PD-L2 status have been determined as part of several trials, and some data is beginning to emerge on the utility of these two molecules as predictive markers. A trial evaluating the use of PD-1 blockade in NSCLC demonstrated that patients with PD-L1 expressing tumors responded to treatment while those without PD-L1 expressing tumors did not (43).

The picture has been complicated by subsequent studies, which have revealed a subset of PD-1 negative tumors that respond to PD-1 blockade (44). Alternative predictive strategies are therefore needed. Venturing beyond surface markers, genetic analysis of the mutational burden in tumors from patients with NSCLC has demonstrated that a high mutational load predicts a positive response to PD-1 blockade (45). Immunohistological characteristics of pre-treatment tumors in patients with melanoma have demonstrated that a preponderance of CD8+, PD-1+ T cells near or within the tumor correlates with robust T cell infiltration and response to anti-PD-1 therapy (46).

Augmented antigenic immunogenicity

When it comes to tumor cells, the manner of death may be as important as death itself when immunological activation is on the line. Recent insights into cellular death pathways have transformed the idea of a binary live/dead fate into interacting signal cascades influenced by cell intrinsic and extrinsic factors. The baseline burden of dying cells is estimated to be on the order of billions of events per day (47,48), and any defect in clearance of this materialwhether from deficiencies in complement (49), mutations in Fcy receptors (50), disruption of phagocytosis (51,52), inability to break down DNA (53)-leads to autoimmunity. Insights into aberrant immune activation and the pathogenesis of autoimmune disease are directly responsible for the development of checkpoint inhibitors. The potential synergy between antigen load and immunological activation is illustrated in Figure 1. Proinflammatory cell death triggers the innate immune system to stimulate an adaptive antitumoral response while checkpoint inhibitors sustain that activation by preventing T cell exhaustion.

Forms of cell death and their relative immunogenicity

Here we will describe three forms of cell death in the order of putative increasing immunogenicity: apoptosis, necrosis/ necroptosis, and pyroptosis. Apoptosis is an intrinsically or extrinsically mediated proteolytic cascade that transforms a dying cell into consumable packets that fall away like so many leaves. Dendritic cells take up the debris and present it to T cells. In the absence of costimulatory innate signals, this process promotes and maintains peripheral tolerance (54,55). The canonical contrast to apoptosis is necrosis, a disaster of cytoplasmic swelling, plasma membrane rupture, and organelle degradation that was originally thought to proceed in the absence of intracellular signaling (56). While there is little ambiguity in the fatal mechanical disruption, if necrotic death takes place over the course of hours, there seems to be some room for cellular preparation for the inevitable in the form of a signaling cascade dependent on RIP kinases that is known as necroptosis (57). Pyroptosis is a form of proinflammatory cell death in which pores in the plasma membrane, created by the activity of caspase-1, achieve membrane lysis in seconds and allow undegraded DNA and bioactive cytoplasmic enzymes to spill into the extracellular space (58). This form of cell death has been described in macrophages and other professional phagocytic cells. Our understanding of cellular death pathways is far from complete, and it is worth noting that a binary conceptualization-immunogenic or not-is unlikely to reflect in vivo reality. Immunogenic potential of tumor antigen is perhaps better described as a spectrum determined by the load, kinetics, and manner of cellular death. As we move away from morphology-based descriptions and toward biochemical characterization of cellular demise, the hope is that our ability to predict the relative immunogenicity of tumor antigen liberated by chemotherapy and radiation therapy will improve.

Immunological impacts of chemotherapy

Chemotherapy preferentially affects rapidly dividing cells by inducing death or cell cycle arrest. While this is an effective strategy for killing tumor cells, it hampers the ability of the adaptive immune system to mount an effective response against tumor antigen. In the broadest terms, impaired proliferation in the presence of chemotherapy leads to subpar clonal selection, in turn blunting the specificity of the antitumoral response. Furthermore, the cytocidal action of chemotherapeutic agents has been primarily characterized as apoptotic by *in vitro* studies, which (given the caveats mentioned above) is primarily a tolerogenic form of cell death (59). The picture rapidly complicates when individual agents or classes of agents are considered, with different drugs interacting to influence the immune system in unexpected ways. As a case in point, imatinib, famous for its specificity, has been shown to activate NK cells to produce IFN- γ in a manner that is independent of mutation status in KIT or PDGFRA when studied in a population of patients with GIST tumors. In these patients, IFN- γ levels correlated with prognosis, suggesting that imatinib-mediated activation of NK cells may be playing a clinically meaningful role (60,61).

Radiation therapy as an immunomodulator

As our understanding of cellular death pathways deepens, we will gain additional tools to assess the role these forms of cell death may play in the tissue response to radiation in vivo. The ability of ionizing radiation to induce apoptosis via the creation of double strand breaks has been studied the most, and is reviewed elsewhere (62). We are only beginning to explore the roles that necroptosis, and pyroptosis may play. Necroptosis has been demonstrated to occur in an anaplastic thyroid cell line exposed to radiation in vitro (63), but the extent to which this occurs in vivo is as vet unknown. Pyroptosis occurs in macrophages in response to multiple signals, including adenosine triphosphate (ATP) (64), which has been demonstrated to be released from cells exposed to ionizing radiation (65). Though it continues to be difficult to study cellular death pathways within the context of a living host, one might predict that if radiation-induced cell death in vivo is capable of providing a stimulatory signal to the immune system one might see anti-tumor effects that occur outside the radiation field. Such an "abscopal", or "away from the target", effect was first described in 1953 (66). In recent years there have been a small number of patients who, after receiving an immunotherapeutic agent followed by radiation therapy, have had responses outside the radiation field (67-69). The "abscopal effect" is a putative combination of augmented immunological activation with augmented availability of antigen, which gives it a satisfying theoretical appeal. There is little wonder it has so captured the excitement and attention of the oncology community, with the hope that predictable, reproducible, and durable responses in at least a subset of patients might be achieved.

Immunological correlates of fractionation strategies

In a murine model of melanoma it has been demonstrated that both single fraction and multi-fraction regimens increase the number of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes that synthesized IFN- γ and lysed tumor cells (70). A subsequent series of experiments in a murine model of breast cancer assessed the ability of fractionated versus single-dose radiotherapy to activate CD8 T cells and elicit an anti-tumor response outside the radiation field found that a fractionated strategy was superior to a single dose. The fractionation regimen consisted of either 8 Gy \times 3 fractions or 6 Gy \times 5 fractions, both of which would be comparable to a hypofractionated, or stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) regimen (71). A second study that compared an ablative to a conventionally fractionated regimen in a murine model of melanoma demonstrated that a hypofractionated regimen was superior to a conventional regimen in its ability to activate CD8 T cells and trigger the reduction or destruction of distant metastases (72). These findings were supported by a study assessing tumor control in a murine melanoma model as a function of dose and fractionation. The most effective strategy was a hypofractionated regimen. The less robust response in the conventionally fractionated regimen was associated with an increase in regulatory T cells (73). It is tempting to hypothesize that cell death induced by conventional fractionation may be more tolerogenic than death via hypofractionation, but ambiguity remains. A murine model examining tumor-associated macrophages exposed to radiation therapy found that high dose radiation caused impaired T-cell recruitment while low dose radiation led to effective T cell recruitment and tumoral killing (74). A follow-up study demonstrated that low-dose irradiation converted tumor-associated macrophages back to the M1 phenotype, which are better able to coordinate antitumoral T cell responses (75).

Immunotherapy and radiation in oligometastatic and oligoprogressive NSCLC

Initial clinical experiences in the metastatic setting

Given that checkpoint inhibitors have yielded promising results in NSCLC, there has been a great deal of interest in combining radiation therapy and immunotherapy in these patients. A case report documenting an abscopal effect in a patient with metastatic NSCLC who was receiving ipilimumab demonstrated a post-treatment immunological response in the form of infiltrating CD8 T cells within an affected supraclavicular node when compared to an adjacent pre-treatment node removed from the same

Table 1 Ongoing trials combining immunotherapy with radiation in NSCLC

NCT#	Phase	Description
Metastatic disease		
NCT02318771	I	Use of anti-PD-1 + RT in patients with metastatic or recurrent solid tumor
NCT02303990	I	RADVAX: use of pembrolizumab + hypofractionated RT in metastatic melanoma or NSCLC
NCT02400814	I	Use of MPDL3280A (anti-PD-1) with stereotactic ablative radiotherapy in patients with stage IV NSCLC
NCT02444741	I/II	Use of dose escalated ipilimumab and SBRT in patients with metastatic solid tumors
NCT02221739	Ш	Use of ipilimumab and RT in patients with metastatic NSCLC
NCT02831933	II	ENSIGN: use of SBRT and gene therapy prior to nivolumab in patients with metastatic NSCLC
NCT02658097	II	Use of pembrolizumab following SBRT in patients with previously treated stage IV NSCLC
NCT02492568	II	Use of pembrolizumab following SBRT in patients with previously treated stage IV NSCLC
NCT02407171	II	Use of anti-PD1 MK-3475 (pembrolizumab) and stereotactic body radiotherapy in patients with metastatic melanoma or NSCLC
Oligometastatic/oligo	oprogres	ssive disease
NCT02621398	I	Use of pembrolizumab with chemoradiation in stage II/III NSCLC
NCT00828009	Ш	Use of bevacizumab and BLP25 vaccine in patients with stage III SNCLC who have received chemoradiation
NCT02434081	Ш	NiCOLAS: use of nivolumab consolidation after standard first line chemoradiation in locally advanced NSCLC
NCT02125461	111	PACIFIC: use of anti-PD1 MEDI4736 (AstraZeneca) following chemoradiation in patients with unresectable stage III NSCLC
NCT02768558	Ш	RTOG 3505: use of chemoradiation with adjuvant nivolumab in patients with locally advanced NSCLC

NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; PD-1, programmed death 1; SBRT, stereotactic body radiation therapy.

site. To date there have been no prospective studies combining checkpoint inhibition with radiation therapy for lung cancer. A proof-of-principle trial assessing local radiotherapy in conjunction with the cytokine GM-CSF enrolled 41 patients with metastatic solid tumors, which included 18 patients with NSCLC. An abscopal response was defined as: "a decrease in the longest diameter of at least 30% in any measurable non-irradiation lesion from baseline". In patients with multiple tumors outside the radiation field, the best response was reported. According to these criteria, abscopal responses occurred in four patients with NSCLC (68). Further studies are being conducted using a combined approach of radiotherapy and immunotherapy in the metastatic setting, and in coming years we should have an improved idea of the magnitude of benefit a combined approach may provide. Ongoing trials that combine immunotherapy with RT in metastatic NSCLC; these are listed in Table 1. The results of a phase Ib trial combining NHS-IL2 with radiotherapy in NSCLC patients who had received first-line palliative

chemotherapy have recently been published. Thirteen patients were treated with varying doses of NHS-IL2. Though the trial was not designed to test efficacy, two patients achieved long-term survival, defined as >4 years from first chemotherapy (76).

Immunotherapy in the oligometastatic and oligoprogressive settings

While the abscopal effect has inspired intense interest, there are other ways in which immunotherapy and radiation might advantageously be combined. Oligometastatic disease has no consensus definition but is understood to represent a low disease burden, with limited spread. Immunotherapy, if used in this setting, may enhance the efficacy of local control by stimulating the immune system to respond more robustly within the radiation field, perhaps significantly prolonging survival and improving quality of life by giving a boost to the "three Es" of immunoediting—elimination, equilibrium, and escape. In the oligometastatic setting, the first line use of radiation and immunotherapy may increase the magnitude of the initial round of tumoral elimination and prolong and enhance the amount of time the immune system is able to keep growth in check during the equilibrium phase. The combination of radiation and immunotherapy may also have a role in the oligoprogressive state where most sites of disease are responding to therapy but one or two continue to progress. It may be that the combined approach of immunotherapy and radiation directed at the progressing site is capable of preventing or slowing disease escape.

Ongoing trials and future efforts

Subgroup analyses of large trials have indicated a potential synergy between immunotherapy and select groups of patients who had received radiation therapy. In particular, the START trial, which examined the MUC1 liposomal vaccine, showed no significant difference between vaccine versus placebo, but a subgroup of patients who received concurrent radiation therapy did show a statistically significant benefit (77). Perhaps most promising are the trials combining checkpoint inhibitors with radiation therapy. The Phase III double-blinded PACIFIC trial is evaluating maintenance therapy with an anti-PD-1 agent MEDI4736 versus placebo in patients with stage III NSCLC (NCT02125461). We have provided a list of other ongoing trials in Table 1. Further inquiries into the safety and efficacy of combined immunotherapy and radiation therapy in NSCLC are needed, but based on the immunological principles and data reviewed above, there may be certain trajectories that are more fruitful than others. As future trials unfold, the following approaches may be of particularly high yield: (I) prospective investigation into combination therapy should include a gross evaluation of basic immunologic competence, including a quantitative assessment of circulating cellular compartments in the peripheral blood with a particular focus on the CD4 and CD8 T cell compartments, as the ability to mount an effective immune response may be at least correlative if not causative in the efficacy of any immunomodulatory agent; (II) investigation into the biomarkers PD-L1 and PD-L2 should continue, with tumoral expression of these ligands determined for patients receiving anti-PD-1 therapy; (III) given the lack of clarity regarding the immunological benefits of conventional versus hypofractionation, these two strategies should be prospectively compared in the presence of immunomodulatory agents.

Concluding remarks

The potential synergy of immunotherapy and radiation therapy has begun to blur the boundaries between systemic and local control. As synthesized in Figure 1, radiation releases and alters antigen as targeted tissue dies, influencing immunogenicity in ways we are only beginning to characterize, comprehend, and predict. The innate and adaptive immune systems work together to mount responses against tumor cells, aided by immunotherapeutic agents that provide stimulatory signals or circumvent checkpoints that prevent sustained T cell activation. Activated T cells act systemically, but also may play a potentially important role in augmenting radiation-induced local control in the oligometastatic or oligoprogressive setting. The confluence of basic science advances in immunology, radiobiology, and oncology have made this a particularly promising time for translational research. Anton Chekhov, one of the earliest physicians to point out the connection between infection and spontaneous cancer remission, said also: "If you say in the first chapter that there is a rifle hanging on the wall, in the second or third chapter it absolutely must go off." This dictum is known as "Chekov's Gun," and is meant to be a tool of narrative fiction. But if immunotherapy is that rifle, we have been looking at it for a long time.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Noah Capurso M. D. for assistance in editing the manuscript.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: RH Decker receives research support from Merck & Co., Inc. AM Campbell has no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- 1. Gordon S. Elie Metchnikoff: father of natural immunity. Eur J Immunol 2008;38:3257-3264.
- Gresser I. A. CkM.D., and Coley's toxins. N Engl J Med 1987;317:457.
- 3. Coley WB. The Treatment of Inoperable Sarcoma by Bacterial Toxins (the Mixed Toxins of the Streptococcus

155

erysipelas and the Bacillus prodigiosus). Proc R Soc Med 1910;3:1-48.

- Nauts HC, Swift WE, Coley BL. The treatment of malignant tumors by bacterial toxins as developed by the late William B. Coley, M.D., reviewed in the light of modern research. Cancer Res 1946;6:205-216.
- Coley WB. The treatment of malignant tumors by repeated inoculations of erysipelas. With a report of ten original cases. 1893. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1991.3-11.
- Robert C, Thomas L, Bondarenko I, et al. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med 2011;364:2517-2526.
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med 2010;363:711-723.
- Robert C, Schachter J, Long GV, et al. Pembrolizumab versus Ipilimumab in Advanced Melanoma. N Engl J Med 2015;372:2521-2532.
- Robert C, Long GV, Brady B, et al. Nivolumab in previously untreated melanoma without BRAF mutation. N Engl J Med 2015;372:320-330.
- Postow MA, Chesney J, Pavlick AC, et al. Nivolumab and ipilimumab versus ipilimumab in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med 2015;372:2006-2017.
- 11. Lynch TJ, Bondarenko I, Luft A, et al. Ipilimumab in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin as first-line treatment in stage IIIB/IV non-small-cell lung cancer: results from a randomized, double-blind, multicenter phase II study. J Clin Oncol 2012;30:2046-2054.
- Brahmer J, Reckamp KL, Baas P, et al. Nivolumab versus Docetaxel in Advanced Squamous-Cell Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med 2015;373:123-135.
- Borghaei H, Paz-Ares L, Horn L, et al. Nivolumab versus Docetaxel in Advanced Nonsquamous Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med 2015;373:1627-1639.
- Zhou L, Wang XL, Deng QL, et al. The efficacy and safety of immunotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sci Rep 2016;6:32020.
- McDermott DF, Drake CG, Sznol M, et al. Survival, Durable Response, and Long-Term Safety in Patients With Previously Treated Advanced Renal Cell Carcinoma Receiving Nivolumab. J Clin Oncol 2015;33:2013-2020.
- Motzer RJ, Escudier B, McDermott DF, et al. Nivolumab versus Everolimus in Advanced Renal-Cell Carcinoma. N Engl J Med 2015;373:1803-1813.
- 17. McDermott DF, Sosman JA, Sznol M, et al. Atezolizumab, an Anti-Programmed Death-Ligand 1 Antibody, in

Metastatic Renal Cell Carcinoma: Long-Term Safety, Clinical Activity, and Immune Correlates From a Phase Ia Study. J Clin Oncol 2016;34:833-842.

- Rosenberg SA, Lotze MT, Muul LM, et al. Observations on the systemic administration of autologous lymphokineactivated killer cells and recombinant interleukin-2 to patients with metastatic cancer. N Engl J Med 1985;313:1485-1492.
- Atkins MB, Lotze MT, Dutcher JP, et al. High-dose recombinant interleukin 2 therapy for patients with metastatic melanoma: analysis of 270 patients treated between 1985 and 1993. J Clin Oncol 1999;17:2105-2116.
- Fyfe G, Fisher RI, Rosenberg SA, et al. Results of treatment of 255 patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma who received high-dose recombinant interleukin-2 therapy. J Clin Oncol 1995;13:688-696.
- 21. Grande C, Firvida JL, Navas V, et al. Interleukin-2 for the treatment of solid tumors other than melanoma and renal cell carcinoma. Anticancer Drugs 2006;17:1-12.
- 22. Pulliam SR, Uzhachenko RV, Adunyah SE, et al. Common gamma chain cytokines in combinatorial immune strategies against cancer. Immunol Lett 2016;169:61-72.
- 23. Motzer RJ, Rakhit A, Thompson JA, et al. Randomized multicenter phase II trial of subcutaneous recombinant human interleukin-12 versus interferon-alpha 2a for patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma. J Interferon Cytokine Res 2001;21:257-263.
- Tugues S, Burkhard SH, Ohs I, et al. New insights into IL-12-mediated tumor suppression. Cell Death Differ 2015;22:237-246.
- 25. Kaufman HL, Ruby CE, Hughes T, et al. Current status of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor in the immunotherapy of melanoma. J Immunother Cancer 2014;2:11.
- Drake CG, Lipson EJ, Brahmer JR. Breathing new life into immunotherapy: review of melanoma, lung and kidney cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2014;11:24-37.
- 27. Vansteenkiste JF, Cho BC, Vanakesa T, et al. Efficacy of the MAGE-A3 cancer immunotherapeutic as adjuvant therapy in patients with resected MAGE-A3-positive nonsmall-cell lung cancer (MAGRIT): a randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2016;17:822-835.
- 28. Giaccone G, Bazhenova LA, Nemunaitis J, et al. A phase III study of belagenpumatucel-L, an allogeneic tumour cell vaccine, as maintenance therapy for non-small cell lung cancer. Eur J Cancer 2015;51:2321-2329.
- 29. Quoix E, Lena H, Losonczy G, et al. TG4010

immunotherapy and first-line chemotherapy for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (TIME): results from the phase 2b part of a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2b/3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2016;17:212-223.

- Harper K, Balzano C, Rouvier E, et al. CTLA-4 and CD28 activated lymphocyte molecules are closely related in both mouse and human as to sequence, message expression, gene structure, and chromosomal location. J Immunol 1991;147:1037-1044.
- Tivol EA, Borriello F, Schweitzer AN, et al. Loss of CTLA-4 leads to massive lymphoproliferation and fatal multiorgan tissue destruction, revealing a critical negative regulatory role of CTLA-4. Immunity 1995;3:541-547.
- Leach DR, Krummel MF, Allison JP. Enhancement of antitumor immunity by CTLA-4 blockade. Science 1996;271:1734-1736.
- Baumeister SH, Freeman GJ, Dranoff G, et al. Coinhibitory Pathways in Immunotherapy for Cancer. Annu Rev Immunol 2016;34:539-573.
- Barber DL, Wherry EJ, Masopust D, et al. Restoring function in exhausted CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection. Nature 2006;439:682-687.
- Nishimura H, Nose M, Hiai H, et al. Development of lupus-like autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motif-carrying immunoreceptor. Immunity 1999;11:141-151.
- Keir ME, Butte MJ, Freeman GJ, et al. PD-1 and its ligands in tolerance and immunity. Annu Rev Immunol 2008;26:677-704.
- Garon EB, Rizvi NA, Hui R, et al. Pembrolizumab for the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2015;372:2018-2028.
- Powles T, Eder JP, Fine GD, et al. MPDL3280A (anti-PD-L1) treatment leads to clinical activity in metastatic bladder cancer. Nature 2014;515:558-562.
- Fehrenbacher L, Spira A, Ballinger M, et al. Atezolizumab versus docetaxel for patients with previously treated non-small-cell lung cancer (POPLAR): a multicentre, open-label, phase 2 randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2016;387:1837-1846.
- Boland JM, Kwon ED, Harrington SM, et al. Tumor B7-H1 and B7-H3 expression in squamous cell carcinoma of the lung. Clin Lung Cancer 2013;14:157-163.
- 41. Topalian SL, Taube JM, Anders RA, et al. Mechanismdriven biomarkers to guide immune checkpoint blockade in cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 2016;16:275-287.
- 42. Latchman Y, Wood CR, Chernova T, et al. PD-L2 is a second ligand for PD-1 and inhibits T cell activation. Nat

Immunol 2001;2:261-268.

- 43. Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med 2012;366:2443-2454.
- 44. Lipson EJ, Forde PM, Hammers HJ, et al. Antagonists of PD-1 and PD-L1 in Cancer Treatment. Semin Oncol 2015;42:587-600.
- Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, et al. Cancer immunology. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. Science 2015;348:124-128.
- Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, et al. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. Nature 2014;515:568-571.
- 47. ATHENS JW. Leukokinetic studies, HAAB OP, RAAB SO, et al. IV. The total blood, circulating and marginal granulocyte pools and the granulocyte turnover rate in normal subjects. J Clin Invest 1961;40:989-995.
- Renehan AG, Booth C, Potten CS. What is apoptosis, and why is it important? BMJ 2001;322:1536-1538.
- Botto M, Walport MJ. C1q, autoimmunity and apoptosis. Immunobiology 2002;205:395-406.
- Ramos PS, Brown EE, Kimberly RP, et al. Genetic factors predisposing to systemic lupus erythematosus and lupus nephritis. Semin Nephrol 2010;30:164-176.
- Hanayama R, Tanaka M, Miyasaka K, et al. Autoimmune disease and impaired uptake of apoptotic cells in MFG-E8-deficient mice. Science 2004;304:1147-1150.
- 52. Rothlin CV, Lemke G. TAM receptor signaling and autoimmune disease. Curr Opin Immunol 2010;22:740-746.
- Napirei M, Karsunky H, Zevnik B, et al. Features of systemic lupus erythematosus in Dnase1-deficient mice. Nat Genet 2000;25:177-181.
- Liu K, Iyoda T, Saternus M, et al. Immune tolerance after delivery of dying cells to dendritic cells in situ. J Exp Med 2002;196:1091-1097.
- Kiraz Y, Adan A, Kartal Yandim M, et al. Major apoptotic mechanisms and genes involved in apoptosis. Tumour Biol 2016;37:8471-8486.
- 56. Festjens N, Vanden Berghe T, Vandenabeele P. Necrosis, a well-orchestrated form of cell demise: signalling cascades, important mediators and concomitant immune response. Biochim Biophys Acta 2006;1757:1371-1387.
- 57. Vandenabeele P, Declercq W, Van Herreweghe F, et al. The role of the kinases RIP1 and RIP3 in TNF-induced necrosis. Sci Signal 2010;3:re4.
- 58. Bergsbaken T, Fink SL, Cookson BT. Pyroptosis:

host cell death and inflammation. Nat Rev Microbiol 2009;7:99-109.

- Zitvogel L, Tesniere A, Apetoh L, et al. Immunological aspects of anticancer chemotherapy. Bull Acad Natl Med 2008;192:1469-1487; discussion 1487-1489.
- Borg C, Terme M, Taïeb J, et al. Novel mode of action of c-kit tyrosine kinase inhibitors leading to NK cell-dependent antitumor effects. J Clin Invest. 2004;114:379-388.
- Ménard C, Blay JY, Borg C, et al. Natural killer cell IFNgamma levels predict long-term survival with imatinib mesylate therapy in gastrointestinal stromal tumor-bearing patients. Cancer Res 2009;69:3563-3569.
- 62. Golden EB, Pellicciotta I, Demaria S, et al. The convergence of radiation and immunogenic cell death signaling pathways. Front Oncol 2012;2:88.
- Nehs MA, Lin CI, Kozono DE, et al. Necroptosis is a novel mechanism of radiation-induced cell death in anaplastic thyroid and adrenocortical cancers. Surgery 2011;150:1032-1039.
- 64. Vande Walle L, Lamkanfi M. Pyroptosis. Curr Biol 2016;26:R568-R572.
- Ohshima Y, Tsukimoto M, Takenouchi T, et al. gamma-Irradiation induces P2X(7) receptor-dependent ATP release from B16 melanoma cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 2010;1800:40-46.
- 66. MOLE RH. Whole body irradiation; radiobiology or medicine? Br J Radiol 1953;26:234-241.
- Postow MA, Callahan MK, Barker CA, et al. Immunologic correlates of the abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. N Engl J Med 2012;366:925-931.
- 68. Golden EB, Chhabra A, Chachoua A, et al. Local radiotherapy and granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor to generate abscopal responses in patients with metastatic solid tumours: a proof-of-principle trial. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:795-803.
- 69. Golden EB, Demaria S, Schiff PB, et al. An abscopal response to radiation and ipilimumab in a patient with

Cite this article as: Campbell AM, Decker RH. Minireview of conventional and hypofractionated radiation therapy combined with immunotherapy for non-small cell lung cancer. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2017;6(2):220-229. doi: 10.21037/ tlcr.2017.03.02 metastatic non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Immunol Res 2013;1:365-372.

- Lugade AA, Moran JP, Gerber SA, et al. Local radiation therapy of B16 melanoma tumors increases the generation of tumor antigen-specific effector cells that traffic to the tumor. J Immunol 2005;174:7516-7523.
- 71. Dewan MZ, Galloway AE, Kawashima N, et al. Fractionated but not single-dose radiotherapy induces an immune-mediated abscopal effect when combined with anti-CTLA-4 antibody. Clin Cancer Res 2009;15:5379-5388.
- 72. Lee Y, Auh SL, Wang Y, et al. Therapeutic effects of ablative radiation on local tumor require CD8+ T cells: changing strategies for cancer treatment. Blood 2009;114:589-595.
- 73. Schaue D, Ratikan JA, Iwamoto KS, et al. Maximizing tumor immunity with fractionated radiation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012;83:1306-1310.
- 74. Klug F, Prakash H, Huber PE, et al. Low-dose irradiation programs macrophage differentiation to an iNOS<sup>+</ sup>/M1 phenotype that orchestrates effective T cell immunotherapy. Cancer Cell 2013;24:589-602.
- 75. Prakash H, Klug F, Nadella V, et al. Low doses of gamma irradiation potentially modifies immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment by retuning tumor-associated macrophages: lesson from insulinoma. Carcinogenesis 2016;37:301-313.
- 76. van den Heuvel MM, Verheij M, Boshuizen R, et al. NHS-IL2 combined with radiotherapy: preclinical rationale and phase Ib trial results in metastatic non-small cell lung cancer following first-line chemotherapy. J Transl Med 2015;13:32.
- 77. Butts C, Socinski MA, Mitchell PL, et al. Tecemotide (L-BLP25) versus placebo after chemoradiotherapy for stage III non-small-cell lung cancer (START): a randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2014;15:59-68.

Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and central nervous system (CNS) metastases: role of tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) and evidence in favor or against their use with concurrent cranial radiotherapy

Panagiota Economopoulou¹, Giannis Mountzios²

¹Department of Medical Oncology, Attikon University Hospital, Athens, Greece; ²Department of Medical Oncology, 251 Airforce General Hospital, Athens, Greece

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: All authors; (II) Administrative support: G Mountzios; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: P Economopoulou; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: P Economopoulou; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: All authors; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Giannis Mountzios. Department of Medical Oncology, 251 Airforce General Hospital, Athens, Greece. Email: gmountzios@gmail.com.

Abstract: Central nervous system (CNS) metastases, including brain metastases (BM) and leptomeningeal metastases (LM) represent a frequent complication of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Patients with BM comprise a heterogeneous group, with a median survival that ranges from 3 to 14 months. However, in the majority of patients, the occurrence of CNS metastases is usually accompanied by severe morbidity and substantial deterioration in quality of life. Local therapies, such as whole brain radiotherapy (WBRT), stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) or surgical resection, either alone or as part of a multimodality treatment are available treatment strategies for BM and the choice of therapy varies depending on patient group and prognosis. Meanwhile, introduction of tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) in clinical practice has led to individualization of therapy based upon the presence of the exact abnormality, resulting in a major therapeutic improvement in patients with NSCLC who harbor epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) activating mutations or anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) gene rearrangements, respectively. Based on their clinical activity in systemic disease, such molecular agents could offer the promise of improved BM control without substantial toxicity; however, their role in combination with radiotherapy is controversial. In this review, we discuss the controversy regarding the use of TKIs in combination with radiotherapy and illustrate future perspectives in the treatment of BM in NSCLC.

Keywords: Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC); central nervous system metastases (CNS metastases); tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs); concurrent radiotherapy

Submitted Aug 14, 2016. Accepted for publication Oct 08, 2016. doi: 10.21037/tlcr.2016.12.06 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/tlcr.2016.12.06

Introduction

Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), which accounts for 84% of lung cancer cases in the US, is one of the major causes of cancer-related deaths worldwide (1). Central nervous system (CNS) metastases, including brain metastases (BM) and leptomeningeal metastases (LM) represent a frequent complication; it has been postulated that approximately 40% and 5% of NSCLC patients will develop BM and LM respectively during the course of the disease (2). Patients with BM comprise a heterogeneous group, with a median survival that ranges from 3 to 14 months (3). However, in the majority of patients, the occurrence of CNS metastases is usually accompanied by severe morbidity and decrease in quality of life.

Through the years, advances in evaluation of BM, such as the development of the Diagnosis-Specific Graded Prognostic Assessment (GPA) score enabled quantification of prognosis and assessment of patient survival (4). Local therapies, such as whole brain radiotherapy (WBRT), stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) or surgical resection, either alone or as part of multimodality treatment are available treatment strategies for BM and the choice of therapy varies depending on patient group and prognosis. On the other hand, the role of systemic therapy in the treatment of patients with BM is less well-defined. Recent studies assessing the efficacy of chemotherapeutic agents, such as temozolomide, in combination with radiotherapy in patients with NSCLC and BM have failed to demonstrate any benefit compared to radiotherapy alone, possibly as a result of low blood brain barrier (BBB) penetration (5,6). However, several prospective trials in NSCLC patients with asymptomatic BM haves shown substantial activity of first line chemotherapy for BM, with intracranial response rates (RR) comparable to systemic RR, warranting further research on the role of chemotherapy in CNS disease from NSCLC (7-12).

Most recently, an improved understanding of the molecular pathways that drive malignancy in NSCLC triggered the development of agents that act against specific molecular targets in cancer cells, such as epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK). Introduction of tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) in clinical practice has led to individualization of therapy based upon the presence of the exact abnormality, resulting in a major therapeutic improvement in patients with NSCLC who harbor EGFR or ALK activating mutations. Based on their clinical activity in systemic disease, such molecular agents could offer the promise of improved BM control without substantial toxicity; however, their role in combination with radiotherapy is controversial.

In this review, we will discuss the controversy regarding the use of TKIs in combination with radiotherapy and illustrate future perspectives in the treatment of BM in NSCLC.

CNS metastases in NSCLC: current clinical practice

CNS metastases are present at initial diagnosis in approximately 10–20% of patients with NSCLC. Furthermore, it has been estimated that they develop as site of first recurrence following successful locoregional treatment for non-metastasized locally advanced NSCLC in approximately 18% of NSCLC patients (13). Traditionally, systemic therapies have a limited role in the treatment of CNS metastases, due to presence of a BBB that prevents systemic drugs from reaching brain parenchyma. The BBB is formed by brain endothelial cells connected by tight junctions with high electrical resistivity and acts as a selective barrier between the systemic circulation and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (14). BBB is surrounded by a basement membrane covered by podocytes and astrocytes. It permits the passage of lipid-soluble molecules by passive diffusion, in addition to molecules essential for neural function. Selective chemotherapeutic drugs that are able to achieve good BBB penetration are those that are not substrates of efflux transporters, such as P-glycoprotein, which is high expressed by the BBB and carries the majority of drugs outside the intracranial region (15). Nevertheless, the integrity of BBB is usually disrupted following the occurrence of BM at later stages, albeit permeability is inhomogeneous (16). More specifically, when BM reach a size more than 5 mm, the BBB is disrupted, as demonstrated by enhancement upon intravenous contrast medium injection during imaging techniques (12). In addition, WBRT commonly disrupts the BBB. The disruption of the BBB might explain the activity of first line chemotherapy in NSCLC BM (12). However, BM is frequently the site of relapse after curative treatment in NSCLC; this indicates that chemotherapeutic drugs might not sufficiently cross the BBB.

Initial therapy for symptomatic BM includes the administration of corticosteroids to reduce peri-tumoral edema and anticonvulsant therapies in case of seizures (17). Subsequently, treatment depends on the location, number of BM and prognosis. Patients with a single brain metastasis who are good surgical candidates should be offered surgical resection or SRS, as several studies have shown a survival advantage with the addition of surgery or SRS to WBRT compared to WBRT alone (18-20). Patients with 1-4 cerebral metastases should be treated with SRS with or without WBRT. The combination of SRS and WBRT has been shown to improve intracranial control but not overall survival (OS) in patients with oligo metastatic or oligo progressive disease (21,22). On the other hand, the vast majority of patients are not eligible for invasive strategies due to multiple metastases or poor performance status. WBRT represents the only therapeutic option for these patients; it results in improvement of neurological deficits in approximately 30% of patients (23). However,

in the recent randomized QUARTZ trial, that assessed the efficacy of WBRT compared to best supportive care in patients with BM and NSCLC, no clear survival advantage or improvement in quality of life was shown for patients that were treated with WBRT (24).

There is currently no standard of care for the treatment of LM; this is mainly due to the fact that LM occurs relatively rarely. Consequently, there is a lack of randomized studies; available therapeutic options, such as intravenous or intrathecal chemotherapy and radiation of the brain or affected neuro-axis are somewhat based on the treatment of patients with LM and hematological malignancies. In either case, patients with LM carry a dismal prognosis that ranges from 4 to 22 weeks (25,26).

TKIs and NSCLC-associated BM

EGFR TKIs

EGFR TKIs, such as erlotinib, gefitinib and afatinib are the standard therapy for advanced NSCLC patients with EGFR-activating mutations, having shown superiority in progression free survival (PFS) compared to chemotherapy as first line treatment (27-29). There is relative controversy regarding the change of EGFR mutational status during the metastatic process; several studies suggest a poor correlation (30,31), while others have shown consistency between EGFR mutations found in the primary tumor and corresponding BM (32). At present, there is some retrospective evidence supporting a higher incidence of BM in EGFR mutant tumors (33); however, it is unclear whether there is a difference at initial diagnosis. Most importantly, EGFR mutant tumors are more likely to develop BM during the course of the disease mainly due to longer life expectancy. On the other hand, it has been postulated that approximately 14-17% of patients with EGFR mutant NSCLC present with isolated CNS progression after front line treatment with EGFR TKIs (34-37). However, others have demonstrated a lower incidence of BM in the same population (38). In a retrospective report by Heon et al., patients with EGFR mutant NSCLC treated with front line erlotinib and gefitinib had a lower rate of CNS progression compared with patients treated with chemotherapy [21% vs. 32% at 1 year, HR =0.56; 95% confidence interval (CI), 0.34-0.94] (39).

In contrast to cytotoxic agents, EGFR TKIs have been shown to cross the BBB. This might be attributed to their low molecular weight; however, concentration in the CSF is generally much lower than in blood circulation, which partially hampers their ability to reach the brain parenchyma (40,41). Interestingly, higher concentrations are achieved with erlotinib than gefitinib, suggesting an increased efficacy of erlotinib in treating BM (40).

Several case reports have postulated complete and continuous responses following treatment of BM with gefitinib or erlotinib (42-44). Furthermore, gefitinib has clinical activity as monotherapy in unselected patients with NSCLC and BM after failure of standard therapy (45). In patients with EGFR mutant tumors, retrospective data suggest an overall intracranial response of 89% for gefitinib and 82% for erlotinib (2,14,46). Interestingly, erlotinib has been investigated as monotherapy in the management of BM. Gerber et al. retrospectively analyzed data from 222 patients with EGFR mutant tumors and newly diagnosed BM who were treated with either erlotinib, WBRT or SRS. WBRT was associated with better intracranial control, albeit similar OS compared to erlotinib. In this study, the authors underlined the importance of WBRT in achieving local control of BM (47). In another phase II trial, erlotinib was evaluated as second line therapy in NSCLC patients with asymptomatic BM and no extracranial progressive disease following first line platinum-based chemotherapy treatment. The median intracranial PFS was 15.2 months for patients with EGFR positive tumors, albeit only 4.4 months for EGFR unselected patients. It is important to note that a series of phase I/II studies using high dose erlotinib for the treatment of LM in patients with NSCLC has shown both efficacy and tolerability (48,49). On the other hand, second generation TKI afatinib has also shown clinical activity against BM. In a study by Hoffknecht et al., afatinib demonstrated a disease control rate (DCR) of 66% in NSCLC patients with BM pretreated with chemotherapy and first generation TKIs (50).

Finally, third generation irreversible EGFR TKI osimertinib, which has been proven effective against EGFRmutant tumors with acquired T790M resistance, has shown substantial CNS penetration and remarkable CNS activity both at preclinical and clinical level (phase II data) (51-53). Furthermore, in the recent I BLOOM study that was presented in the 2016 ASCO annual meeting and included 21 patients with LM from NSCLC, osimertinib provided LM disease control in 76% of patients, among which 33% had radiologic improvement (54). The majority of patients were heavily pretreated.

Of note, there is a question whether there is a potential role of prophylactic cranial irradiation (PCI) in patients with EGFR-mutant tumors that are characterized by a higher incidence of BM. In a recent report, patients with L858R mutations have been found to have a greater risk of developing BM (55). There are no randomized studies addressing this issue. A recent study has shown a potential benefit of PCI in patients with surgically resected stage IIIA-N2 NSCLC and high risk of BM after adjuvant chemotherapy (56); however, this study does not provide data on EGFR mutations.

ALK-TKIs

Rearrangement of ALK is seen in approximately 2-7% of patients with NSCLC and is a therapeutic target in advanced NSCLC. It is not clear whether patients with ALK positive tumors present more frequently with BM at initial diagnosis; however, it has been estimated that 60% of patients develop CNS metastases during treatment with first generation TKI crizotinib (57). Several reports suggest a very low CSF to plasma concentration ratio for crizotinib (58,59). In a retrospective analysis of patients with BM included in the pivotal trials PROFILE 1005 and PROFILE 1007 that let to approval of crizotinib as first and second line treatment in ALK positive NSCLC, crizotinib showed an intracranial RR of 18% in untreated BM and 33% in pretreated BM, compared to 50% overall response rate (ORR) in systematic disease (60). Furthermore, patients with no preexisting CNS disease developed BM in 20% of cases, while progressive disease in the CNS occurred in 71.1% of patients with known BM at baseline. Based on data of poor CNS activity of crizotinib, it is suggested that patients experiencing CNS progression on crizotinib should be offered local CNS therapies whereas the administration of crizotinib should be continued.

Novel ALK-TKIs such as ceritinib and alectinib have shown promising activity against BM. In a recent report, efficacy and safety of ceritinib was assessed in a subset of patients with BM in the phase I ASCEND-1 trial. Among 14 patients with BM, 7 had intracranial response, 4 of which have been previously treated with crizotinib (61). On the other hand, alectinib has been designated by the FDA as breakthrough therapy, following the high RR it demonstrated in the phase I/II trial in crizotinib-naïve ALK positive NSCLC patients (62). Alectinib has a better BBB penetration than crizotinib because it is not expelled by P-glycoprotein from the intracranial environment (57). In a phase II trial conducted in crizotinib-resistant or intolerant patients, 21 patients had BM; alectinib achieved a 52% RR (63). Furthermore, among for patients who have not received WBRT, CNS control was 100% with alectinib. This trial provides evidence that alectinib is active in BM after failure of crizotinib. However, prospective comparison across ALK-TKIs regarding CNS activity is hampered by lack of CSF pharmacokinetic measurements. The randomized phase III ALEX trial is currently assessing the efficacy of alectinib *vs.* crizotinib as front line treatment in ALK positive NSCLC; its design will allow discriminate between intracranial and extracranial failure. Finally, activity of ALK-TKIs in LM is anecdotal (63,64); results are eagerly expected from ongoing phase III trials ALEX and ASCEND-7, which include patients with LM (NCT02075840, NCT02336451).

TKIs with concurrent radiotherapy

Rationale and clinical data

The management of BM continues to pose a major challenge in oncology and current therapeutic options have modest results in achieving good or long intracranial responses. WBRT is the mainstay of treatment for patients with multiple metastases. According to NCCN guidelines, patients with poor performance status should receive a shorter course of WBRT. EGFR and ALK TKIs have demonstrated good clinical activity in systemic disease and might delay CNS progression in patients with EGFR mutant and ALK positive tumors respectively. However, in patients with driver mutations, whether EGFR-TKIs can enhance or replace cranial irradiation in the initial treatment of BM remains unclear. In a recent meta-analysis, upfront radiation therapy was shown to improve intracranial disease control and survival compared to TKI monotherapy in patients with EGFR mutant tumors (65). In this meta-analysis, a small proportion of patients received a combination of WBRT and EGFR TKI. On the other hand, there is evidence that sequential use of TKIs can delay administration of WBRT in EGFR mutant tumors (66). An intriguing question in clinical practice is whether a TKI could be safely combined with WBRT and in which patient population.

Preclinical data support the combined use of radiotherapy and EGFR inhibitors as a strategy for cancer treatment. In the clinical setting, anti-EGFR monoclonal antibody cetuximab has been suggested as a radiosensitizer, demonstrating improved OS in conjunction with radiation compared to radiation alone in patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (67), albeit having failed to show any
benefit in combination with chemoradiation in locally advanced NSCLC (68). On the other hand, EGFR TKIs have shown to potentiate radiotherapy response in human carcinoma cell lines *in vivo* and *in vitro* (69,70). Potential mechanisms of synergism include cell cycle arrest, induction of apoptosis, inhibition of radiation-induced DNA repair mechanisms and increased EGFR expression in radioresistant clones (69-71). In addition, radiotherapy might disrupt the BBB, facilitating passage of drugs into the brain (72).

A dose-escalation phase I trial reported by Lind *et al.* evaluated the tolerability of WBRT with concurrent and maintenance erlotinib in an unselected population of patients with NSCLC and BM (73). Patients in cohort 1 received erlotinib at a dose of 100 mg/d before and during WBRT, whereas in cohort 2, erlotinib was administered at a dose of 150 mg/d before and during WBRT; patients in both subgroups received maintenance erlotinib at a dose of 150 mg/d. Out of 11 patients, no serious treatment related toxicity was observed in cohort 1; however, in cohort 2, one patient developed grade 3 rash, one had grade 3 fatigue and two patients died of interstitial lung disease attributed to erlotinib. No neurotoxicity was reported. Interestingly, only one patient experienced intracranial progression, suggesting a high intracranial disease control (73).

Following the results of the phase I study, a phase II study was conducted in patients with NSCLC and newly diagnosed BM regardless of EGFR status (74). Erlotinib was given at a dose of 150 mg/d one week before and concurrently with WBRT followed by maintenance. ORR was 86% in the whole population and median survival was 11.8 months, significantly longer than historical controls. No neurotoxicity was noted. As expected, median PFS and OS were longer in patients with EGFR mutant tumors [PFS: 12.3 vs. 5.2 months and OS: 19.1 vs. 9.3 months in EGFR wild type (WT) tumors]. This is in concordance with a recent retrospective study that showed an excellent intracranial control and a median OS of 26 months in patients with EGFR mutant tumors treated with WBRT plus EGFR-TKIs (75).

A phase III trial was subsequently performed by the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) evaluating the addition of temozolomide or erlotinib in combination with WBRT and SRS in patients with 1–3 BM and unselected EGFR status (76). The study closed early due to accrual limitations. Median survival was numerically longer with WBRT + SRS compared to WBRT + SRS and temozolomide, or WBRT + SRS and erlotinib (13.1 *vs.* 6.3 *vs.* 6.1 months respectively) albeit not statistically significant. This deleterious

effect in survival was possibly attributed to increased grade 3 to 5 toxicity in the combination arms, which reached 49% with the addition of erlotinib (P<0.001) (76).

In a subsequent randomized, placebo controlled phase II study, patients were treated with WBRT with or without erlotinib in a population of predominantly EGFR-WT patients (77). In this study, only 37.5% of patients were alive and without neurological progression following WBRT and no advantage in neurological PFS or OS was observed with the addition of erlotinib (PFS and OS HR =0.95). This is the only study demonstrating an absence of efficacy of erlotinib in combination with WBRT in EGFR WT patients. This was confirmed in a recent meta-analysis presented in the 2015 ASCO meeting; in an unselected population of patients with BM, the addition of EGFR-TKIs to WBRT did not provide significant benefit (78).

Gefitinib has also been evaluated in combination with WBRT in phase II trials. In a phase II study conducted in a Chinese population, gefitinib was administered in combination with WBRT, followed by maintenance therapy (79). The study showed promising results; ORR was 86% and OS was 13 months. Most side effects were grade II (rash, diarrhea) and well tolerated. In another randomized phase II trial, patients with NSCLC and BM were treated with WBRT in combination with either gefitinib or temozolomide (80). Median OS was 6.3 months in the gefitinib-WBRT group compared to 4.9 months in the temozolomide-WBRT group. No significant toxicity was observed. Concomitant use of gefitinib and WBRT is further supported by a retrospective analysis that included Chinese patients with BM who were treated with gefitinib with or without WBRT (81). Patients in the combination group demonstrated a superior intracranial DCR, median time to progression of BM and median OS (71.1%, 10.6 and 23.40 months respectively in the gefitinib-WBRT vs. 42.2%, 6.57 and 14.83 months respectively in the gefitinibonly group). Nevertheless, these two studies both involve a Chinese population with known intrinsic sensitivity to gefitinib; it is unclear whether results can be generalized in the European population. Of note, no studies assessing the efficacy of afatinib with WBRT have been performed.

The results of those trials were assessed in two recent meta-analyses, designed to evaluate the efficacy and safety of the use of EGFR TKIs with concurrent intracranial radiotherapy in patients with NSCLC and BM. The first meta-analysis, which included 8 studies, demonstrated a superior ORR (HR =1.56, P=0.0008) and time to CNS progression (HR =0.58, P=0.03) in patients treated with

WBRT in combination with an EGFR-TKI (TKI-group) compared with patients treated with WBRT without an EGFR-TKI (non-TKI group) (82). Furthermore, no difference in severe adverse events was shown (HR =1.49, P=0.14). The second meta-analysis that included 15 studies had similar results; radiotherapy plus an EGFR TKI resulted in improved RR and DCR (RR =1.48; 95% CI, 1.12-1.96; P=0.005; and DCR =1.29; 95% CI, 1.02-1.60; P=0.035; respectively) than radiotherapy without an EGFR-TKI (83). Moreover, time to CNS progression and median OS were both prolonged (HR =0.56; 95% CI, 0.33-0.80; P=0.000 and HR =0.58; 95% CI, 0.42-0.74; P=0.000 respectively), albeit with an increased rate of any grade adverse events (RR =1.25; 95% CI, 1.01-1.57; P=0.009), especially rash and dry skin. The results of these meta-analyses should be interpreted with caution, due to heterogeneity of the included studies and different treatment modalities combined.

With regards to ALK-TKIs, there is currently no evidence in favor or against their concomitant use with radiotherapy. However, concurrent use should be applied with caution, as it is possible that concurrent radiotherapy could exacerbate ocular toxicity of crizotinib (84).

Clinical trials of radiotherapy plus TKIs in patients with NSCLC and BM are summarized in *Table 1*.

Expert opinion

The paradigm shift occurring in NSCLC is encapsulated by the management of patients harboring activating mutations. In patients with EGFR mutant or ALK positive tumors, front line treatment with EGFR or ALK inhibitors results in high systemic RRs and a lower risk of CNS progression. However, isolated or predominant CNS progression represents a major issue in patients treated with EGFR or ALK TKIs, regardless of impressive initial response. In an attempt to increase intracerebral efficacy, concurrent use of TKIs and radiotherapy is undoubtedly a tempting approach. Advantages would be the possible synergistic antitumor effect against BM, as suggested in preclinical studies, as well as prevention of disease flare, which refers to accelerated progression of disease and subsequent worsening of symptoms following TKI discontinuation (85).

At present, several clinical studies and meta-analyses have shown superior clinical activity in BM with the combination of WBRT and TKIs. However, there are many limitations that need to be addressed. First, most of the studies have been performed in an unselected population. Second, a phase III trial has demonstrated unacceptable toxicity of the combination of WBRT, SRS and erlotinib (76). Furthermore, in a recent randomized study, WBRT has been shown to impair cognitive function when added to SRS (86). Preservation of cognitive function is of major importance in these patients considering their younger age. In addition, studies evaluating the efficacy of gefitinib are mainly preformed in Asian populations, and it is unknown whether results can be globally generalized.

At this time, concurrent use of TKIs with radiotherapy is not recommended outside of a clinical trial. Interestingly, the data in EGFR mutant patients treated with erlotinib alone (47) prompt the question whether this could be a frontline approach in patients with asymptomatic BM, reserving WBRT for symptomatic cases. However, this should probably not be considered in ALK positive tumors, since patients with BM have been shown to have significantly better survival when treated with radiotherapy compared to patients with ALK WT tumors (87). These patients display prolonged survival and interventions to control intracranial disease is crucial (88). Therefore, radiotherapy should be a part of multimodality treatment somewhere in the course of their disease; it has been also suggested that the role of PCI could be reconsidered (89). In clinical practice, burden of extracranial disease and therefore concerns regarding disease flare might also guide treatment decisions; physicians might select not to discontinue a TKI during WBRT in case of extended extracranial disease.

Ongoing clinical trials are currently evaluating the effectiveness of concomitant use of radiotherapy and TKIs. Among them, ENTER is a phase III trial evaluating the addition of erlotinib to WBRT as front line treatment in patients with multiple BM from NSCLC (NCT01887795). Similarly, another study is assessing concurrent use of erlotinib and IMRT (NCT02556593), with the view to reduce neurotoxicity.

Conclusions

In conclusion, the incidence of BM from all cancers is increasing. Current research is focusing on improving management of BM based on genetic background of malignancies. In NSCLC, agents targeting EGFR and ALK have shown very promising results in systemic disease and delay of CNS progression. However, resistance to these agents commonly manifests as isolated CNS recurrence. In an attempt to improve management of BM, combining WBRT with TKIs is a promising approach. Because all these agents are relatively new, their role

Economopoulou and Mountzios. TKIs in combination with radiotherapy in brain metastases from NSCLC

Author/year	Phase	No of pts	EGFR mutation status	Treatment groups	Control group	Outcomes
Lind <i>et al</i> ., 2009	I	11	NA	Cohort 1: erlotinib 100 mg + WBRT; cohort 2: erlotinib 150 mg + WBRT	-	Grade 3–5 toxicity in cohort 2; high IDCR
Welsh <i>et al</i> ., 2013	II	40	EGFR mutant: 9 of 17 pts tested	Erlotinib 150 mg + WBRT	-	ORR 86%; median OS 11.8 months; median OS 19.1 months in EGFR mutant
Sperduto <i>et al.</i> , 2013	III	126 (closed early)	NA	Arm 2: TMZ + WBRT + SRS; arm 3: erlotinib 150 mg + WBRT + SRS	Arm 1: WBRT + SRS	OS not improved with addition of drugs; no difference in CNS-TTP between the three arms; 49% grade 3-5 toxicity in arm 3
Lee <i>et al.,</i> 2014	II	80	EGFR mutant: 1 out of 35 tested	WBRT + erlotinib	WBRT	No difference in OS
Ma <i>et al</i> ., 2009	II	21	NA	WBRT + gefitinib	-	ORR 86%; median OS 13 months; no significant grade 3 toxicity
Pesce <i>et al</i> ., 2012	II	59	NA	WBRT + gefitinib vs. WBRT + TMZ	-	Median OS 6.3 months (gefitinib arm), 4.9 months (TMZ arm); no relevant toxicity
Zeng <i>et al</i> ., 2012	Retrospective	90	NA	WBRT + gefitinib	Gefitinib	Higher ORR and OS with WBRT + gefitinib
Luo <i>et al.</i> , 2015	Meta-analysis	980 (8 trials)	NA	Radiotherapy + TKI (TKI group)	Radiotherapy or radiotherapy + chemotherapy (non-TKI group)	Higher RR, CNS-TTP and OS in radiotherapy + TKI group; no difference is serious AEs
Jiang <i>et al.</i> , 2016	Meta-analysis	1,552 (15 trials)	Variable among 15 studies	Radiotherapy + TKI	Radiotherapy or radiotherapy + chemotherapy	Higher RR, DCR, CNS-TTP and OS in radiotherapy + TKI group; increased rate of any grade AEs

Table 1 Summary of trials of rad	iotherapy plus TKIs in	patients with NSCLC and BM
----------------------------------	------------------------	----------------------------

AEs, adverse events; CNS-TTP, time to central nervous system progression; DCR, disease control; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor, IDCR, intracranial disease control, NA, not available; ORR, overall response rate; OS, overall survival; RR, response rate; SRS, stereotactic radio surgery; TKI, tyrosine kinase inhibitor; TMZ, temozolomide; WBRT, whole brain radio therapy.

as part of multimodality treatment is not clarified yet. Therefore, clinical trials that include patients with BM are warranted to help clarify the optimal timing of TKIs and cranial radiotherapy in NSCLC, with the view to reserve neurocognitive function and improve clinical outcomes.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- 1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2015. CA Cancer J Clin 2015;65:5-29.
- Metro G, Chiari R, Ricciuti B, et al. Pharmacotherapeutic options for treating brain metastases in non-small cell lung cancer. Expert Opin Pharmacother 2015;16:2601-2613.
- Sperduto PW, Chao ST, Sneed PK, et al. Diagnosisspecific prognostic factors, indexes, and treatment outcomes for patients with newly diagnosed brain metastases: a multi-institutional analysis of 4,259 patients. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;77:655-661.
- 4. Sperduto PW, Kased N, Roberge D, et al. Summary report on the graded prognostic assessment: an accurate and facile diagnosis-specific tool to estimate survival for patients with

brain metastases. J Clin Oncol 2012;30:419-425.

- Chua D, Krzakowski M, Chouaid C, et al. Whole-brain radiation therapy plus concomitant temozolomide for the treatment of brain metastases from non-small-cell lung cancer: a randomized, open-label phase II study. Clin Lung Cancer 2010;11:176-181.
- 6. Antonadou D, Paraskevaidis M, Sarris G, et al. Phase II randomized trial of temozolomide and concurrent radiotherapy in patients with brain metastases. J Clin Oncol 2002;20:3644-3650.
- Cortes J, Rodriguez J, Aramendia JM, et al. Front-line paclitaxelcisplatin-based chemotherapy in brain metastases from non-small-cell lung cancer. Oncology 2003;64:28-35.
- Bernardo G, Cuzzoni Q, Strada MR, et al. First-line chemotherapy with vinorelbine, gemcitabine, and carboplatin in the treatment of brain metastases from nonsmall-cell lung cancer: a phase II study. Cancer Invest 2002;20:293-302.
- Robinet G, Thomas P, Breton JL, et al. Results of a phase III study of early versus delayed whole brain radiotherapy with concurrent cisplatin and vinorelbine combination in inoperable brain metastasis of non-small-cell lung cancer: Groupe Francais de Pneumo-Cancerologie (GFPC) Protocol 95-1. Ann Oncol 2001;12:59-67.
- Barlesi F, Gervais R, Lena H, et al. Pemetrexed and cisplatin as first-line chemotherapy for advanced nonsmall-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) with asymptomatic inoperable brain metastases: a multicenter phase II trial (GFPC 07-01). Ann Oncol 2011;22:2466-2470.
- Bailon O, Chouahnia K, Augier A, et al. Upfront association of carboplatin plus pemetrexed in patients with brain metastases of lung adenocarcinoma. Neuro Oncol 2012;14:491-495.
- Zimmermann S, Dziadziuszko R, Peters S. Indications and limitations of chemotherapy and targeted agents in nonsmall cell lung cancer brain metastases. Cancer Treat Rev 2014;40:716-722.
- Senan S, Brade A, Wang LH, et al. PROCLAIM: Randomized Phase III Trial of Pemetrexed-Cisplatin or Etoposide-Cisplatin Plus Thoracic Radiation Therapy Followed by Consolidation Chemotherapy in Locally Advanced Nonsquamous Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. J Clin Oncol 2016;34:953-962.
- Jamal-Hanjani M, Spicer J. Epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors in the treatment of epidermal growth factor receptor-mutant non-small cell lung cancer metastatic to the brain. Clin Cancer Res 2012;18:938-944.

- Abbott NJ, Ronnback L, Hansson E. Astrocyte-endothelial interactions at the blood-brain barrier. Nat Rev Neurosci 2006;7:41-53.
- Lockman PR, Mittapalli RK, Taskar KS, et al. Heterogeneous blood-tumor barrier permeability determines drug efficacy in experimental brain metastases of breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2010;16:5664-5678.
- 17. Eichler AF, Loeffler JS. Multidisciplinary management of brain metastases. Oncologist 2007;12:884-898.
- Patchell RA, Tibbs PA, Walsh JW, et al. A randomized trial of surgery in the treatment of single metastases to the brain. N Engl J Med 1990;322:494-500.
- Noordijk EM, Vecht CJ, Haaxma-Reiche H, et al. The choice of treatment of single brain metastasis should be based on extracranial tumor activity and age. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1994;29:711-717.
- 20. Andrews DW, Scott CB, Sperduto PW, et al. Whole brain radiation therapy with or without stereotactic radiosurgery boost for patients with one to three brain metastases: phase III results of the RTOG 9508 randomised trial. Lancet 2004;363:1665-1672.
- 21. Aoyama H, Shirato H, Tago M, et al. Stereotactic radiosurgery plus whole-brain radiation therapy vs stereotactic radiosurgery alone for treatment of brain metastases: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2006;295:2483-2491.
- 22. Kocher M, Soffietti R, Abacioglu U, et al. Adjuvant wholebrain radiotherapy versus observation after radiosurgery or surgical resection of one to three cerebral metastases: results of the EORTC 22952-26001 study. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:134-141.
- Borgelt B, Gelber R, Kramer S, et al. The palliation of brain metastases: final results of the first two studies by the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1980;6:1-9.
- 24. Mulvenna PM, Nankivell MG, Barton R, et al. Whole brain radiotherapy for brain metastases from non-small lung cancer: Quality of life (QoL) and overall survival (OS) results from the UK Medical Research Council QUARTZ randomised clinical trial (ISRCTN 3826061). J Clin Oncol 2015;33:abstr 8005.
- Balm M, Hammack J. Leptomeningeal carcinomatosis. Presenting features and prognostic factors. Arch Neurol 1996;53:626-632.
- 26. Clarke JL, Perez HR, Jacks LM, et al. Leptomeningeal metastases in the MRI era. Neurology 2010;74:1449-1454.
- 27. Zhou C, Wu YL, Chen G, et al. Erlotinib versus chemotherapy as first-line treatment for patients with

advanced EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (OPTIMAL, CTONG-0802): a multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol 2011;12:735-742.

- Mok TS, Wu YL, Thongprasert S, et al. Gefitinib or carboplatin-paclitaxel in pulmonary adenocarcinoma. N Engl J Med 2009;361:947-957.
- 29. Sequist LV, Yang JC, Yamamoto N, et al. Phase III study of afatinib or cisplatin plus pemetrexed in patients with metastatic lung adenocarcinoma with EGFR mutations. J Clin Oncol 2013;31:3327-3334.
- Gomez-Roca C, Raynaud CM, Penault-Llorca F, et al. Differential expression of biomarkers in primary nonsmall cell lung cancer and metastatic sites. J Thorac Oncol 2009;4:1212-1220.
- 31. Italiano A, Vandenbos FB, Otto J, et al. Comparison of the epidermal growth factor receptor gene and protein in primary non-small-cell-lung cancer and metastatic sites: implications for treatment with EGFR-inhibitors. Ann Oncol 2006;17:981-985.
- Matsumoto S, Takahashi K, Iwakawa R, et al. Frequent EGFR mutations in brain metastases of lung adenocarcinoma. Int J Cancer 2006;119:1491-1494.
- Eichler AF, Kahle KT, Wang DL, et al. EGFR mutation status and survival after diagnosis of brain metastasis in nonsmall cell lung cancer. Neuro Oncol 2010;12:1193-1199.
- Chen MJ, Zhong W, Zhang L, et al. Recurrence patterns of advanced non-small cell lung cancer treated with gefitinib. Chin Med J (Engl) 2013;126:2235-2241.
- 35. Yoshida T, Yoh K, Niho S, et al. RECIST progression patterns during EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor treatment of advanced non-small cell lung cancer patients harboring an EGFR mutation. Lung Cancer 2015;90:477-483.
- Lee YJ, Choi HJ, Kim SK, et al. Frequent central nervous system failure after clinical benefit with epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors in Korean patients with nonsmall-cell lung cancer. Cancer 2010;116:1336-1343.
- Shukuya T, Takahashi T, Naito T, et al. Continuous EGFR-TKI administration following radiotherapy for non-small cell lung cancer patients with isolated CNS failure. Lung Cancer 2011;74:457-461.
- 38. Al-Halabi H, Sayegh K, Digamurthy SR, et al. Pattern of Failure Analysis in Metastatic EGFR-Mutant Lung Cancer Treated with Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors to Identify Candidates for Consolidation Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy. J Thorac Oncol 2015;10:1601-1607.

- 39. Heon S, Yeap BY, Britt GJ, et al. Development of central nervous system metastases in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer and somatic EGFR mutations treated with gefitinib or erlotinib. Clin Cancer Res 2010;16:5873-5882.
- 40. Togashi Y, Masago K, Masuda S, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid concentration of gefitinib and erlotinib in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 2012;70:399-405.
- Zhao J, Chen M, Zhong W, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of gefitinib in patients with lung adenocarcinoma. Clin Lung Cancer 2013;14:188-193.
- Fekrazad MH, Ravindranathan M, Jones DV 2nd. Response of intracranial metastases to erlotinib therapy. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:5024-5026.
- 43. Popat S, Hughes S, Papadopoulos P, et al. Recurrent responses to non-small cell lung cancer brain metastases with erlotinib. Lung Cancer 2007;56:135-137.
- 44. Gounant V, Wislez M, Poulot V, et al. Subsequent brain metastasis responses to epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors in a patient with non-small-cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2007;58:425-428.
- 45. Ceresoli GL, Cappuzzo F, Gregorc V, et al. Gefitinib in patients with brain metastases from non-small-cell lung cancer: a prospective trial. Ann Oncol 2004;15:1042-1047.
- 46. Porta R, Sanchez-Torres JM, Paz-Ares L, et al. Brain metastases from lung cancer responding to erlotinib: the importance of EGFR mutation. Eur Respir J 2011;37:624-631.
- 47. Gerber NK, Yamada Y, Rimner A, et al. Erlotinib versus radiation therapy for brain metastases in patients with EGFR-mutant lung adenocarcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2014;89:322-329.
- Clarke JL, Pao W, Wu N, et al. High dose weekly erlotinib achieves therapeutic concentrations in CSF and is effective in leptomeningeal metastases from epidermal growth factor receptor mutant lung cancer. J Neurooncol 2010;99:283-286.
- 49. Jackman DM, Holmes AJ, Lindeman N, et al. Response and resistance in a non-small-cell lung cancer patient with an epidermal growth factor receptor mutation and leptomeningeal metastases treated with high-dose gefitinib. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:4517-4520.
- 50. Hoffknecht P, Tufman A, Wehler T, et al. Efficacy of the irreversible ErbB family blocker afatinib in epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI)-pretreated non-small-cell lung cancer patients with brain metastases or leptomeningeal disease. J Thorac

Oncol 2015;10:156-163.

- 51. Ballard P, Yates JW, Yang Z, et al. Preclinical Comparison of Osimertinib with Other EGFR-TKIs in EGFR-Mutant NSCLC Brain Metastases Models, and Early Evidence of Clinical Brain Metastases Activity. Clin Cancer Res 2016;22:5130-5140.
- 52. Goss GD, Yang JC, Ahn MJ, et al. AZD9291 in pretreated patients with T790M positive advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): Pooled analysis from two Phase II studies. Eur J Cancer 2015;51:S640.
- 53. Ahn MJ, Tsai CM, Yang JC, et al. AZD9291 activity in patients with EGFR-mutant advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and brain metastases: Data from Phase II studies. Eur J Cancer 2015;51:S625-S626.
- 54. Yang CH, Kim DW, Kim SW, et al. Osimertinib activity in patients (pts) with leptomeningeal (LM) disease from non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): Updated results from BLOOM, a phase I study. J Clin Oncol 2016;34:abstr 9002.
- 55. Patel S, Rimner A, Foster A, et al. Risk of Brain Metastasis in EGFR-Mutant NSCLC Treated With Erlotinib: A Role for Prophylactic Cranial Irradiation?: Metastatic Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phy 2014;90:S40-S41.
- 56. Li N, Zeng ZF, Wang SY, et al. Randomized phase III trial of prophylactic cranial irradiation versus observation in patients with fully resected stage IIIA-N2 nonsmallcell lung cancer and high risk of cerebral metastases after adjuvant chemotherapy. Ann Oncol 2015;26:504-509.
- Zhang I, Zaorsky NG, Palmer JD, et al. Targeting brain metastases in ALK-rearranged non-small-cell lung cancer. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:e510-e521.
- Costa DB, Kobayashi S, Pandya SS, et al. CSF concentration of the anaplastic lymphoma kinase inhibitor crizotinib. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:e443-e445.
- Metro G, Lunardi G, Floridi P, et al. CSF Concentration of Crizotinib in Two ALK-Positive Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer Patients with CNS Metastases Deriving Clinical Benefit from Treatment. J Thorac Oncol 2015;10:e26-e27.
- 60. Costa DB, Shaw AT, Ou SH, et al. Clinical Experience With Crizotinib in Patients With Advanced ALK-Rearranged Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer and Brain Metastases. J Clin Oncol 2015;33:1881-1888.
- 61. Shaw A, Mehra R, Tan DSW, et al. Ceritinib (LDK378) for treatment of patients with ALK-rearranged (ALK+) non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and brain metastases (BM) in the ASCEND-1 trial. Neuro Oncol 2014;16:v39.
- 62. Seto T, Kiura K, Nishio M, et al. CH5424802

(RO5424802) for patients with ALK-rearranged advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (AF-001JP study): a single-arm, open-label, phase 1-2 study. Lancet Oncol 2013;14:590-598.

- 63. Gadgeel SM, Gandhi L, Riely GJ, et al. Safety and activity of alectinib against systemic disease and brain metastases in patients with crizotinib-resistant ALK-rearranged non-small-cell lung cancer (AF-002JG): results from the dose-finding portion of a phase 12 study. Lancet Oncol 2014;15:1119-1128.
- 64. Ahn HK, Han B, Lee SJ, et al. ALK inhibitor crizotinib combined with intrathecal methotrexate treatment for non-small cell lung cancer with leptomeningeal carcinomatosis. Lung Cancer 2012;76:253-254.
- 65. Soon YY, Leong CN, Koh WY, et al. EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors versus cranial radiation therapy for EGFR mutant non-small cell lung cancer with brain metastases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Radiother Oncol 2015;114:167-172.
- 66. Iuchi T, Shingyoji M, Sakaida T, et al. Phase II trial of gefitinib alone without radiation therapy for Japanese patients with brain metastases from EGFR-mutant lung adenocarcinoma. Lung Cancer 2013;82:282-287.
- 67. Bonner JA, Harari PM, Giralt J, et al. Radiotherapy plus cetuximab for squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck. N Engl J Med 2006;354:567-578.
- 68. Bradley JD, Paulus R, Komaki R, et al. Standard-dose versus high-dose conformal radiotherapy with concurrent and consolidation carboplatin plus paclitaxel with or without cetuximab for patients with stage IIIA or IIIB non-small-cell lung cancer (RTOG 0617): a randomised, two-by-two factorial phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:187-199.
- 69. Chinnaiyan P, Huang S, Vallabhaneni G, et al. Mechanisms of enhanced radiation response following epidermal growth factor receptor signaling inhibition by erlotinib (Tarceva). Cancer Res 2005;65:3328-3335.
- Liang K, Ang KK, Milas L, et al. The epidermal growth factor receptor mediates radioresistance. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2003;57:246-254.
- 71. Baumann M, Krause M, Dikomey E, et al. EGFR-targeted anti-cancer drugs in radiotherapy: preclinical evaluation of mechanisms. Radiother Oncol 2007;83:238-248.
- 72. Zeng YD, Liao H, Qin T, et al. Blood-brain barrier permeability of gefitinib in patients with brain metastases from non-small-cell lung cancer before and during whole brain radiation therapy. Oncotarget 2015;6:8366-8376.
- 73. Lind JS, Lagerwaard FJ, Smit EF, et al. Phase I study of

concurrent whole brain radiotherapy and erlotinib for multiple brain metastases from non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2009;74:1391-1396.

- 74. Welsh JW, Komaki R, Amini A, et al. Phase II trial of erlotinib plus concurrent whole-brain radiation therapy for patients with brain metastases from non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2013;31:895-902.
- 75. Lu Y, Fan Y. Combined action of EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors and whole-brain radiotherapy on EGFRmutated non-small-cell lung cancer patients with brain metastasis. Onco Targets Ther 2016;9:1135-1143.
- 76. Sperduto PW, Wang M, Robins HI, et al. A phase 3 trial of whole brain radiation therapy and stereotactic radiosurgery alone versus WBRT and SRS with temozolomide or erlotinib for non-small cell lung cancer and 1 to 3 brain metastases: Radiation Therapy Oncology Group 0320. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;85:1312-1318.
- 77. Lee SM, Lewanski CR, Counsell N, et al. Randomized trial of erlotinib plus whole-brain radiotherapy for NSCLC patients with multiple brain metastases. J Natl Cancer Inst 2014.106.
- 78. Liu L, Yang M, Guan J, et al. Whole Brain Radiotherapy (WBRT) plus EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) versus WBRT alone for brain metastases (BMs) in nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients: A meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol 2015;35:e19060.
- Ma S, Xu Y, Deng Q, et al. Treatment of brain metastasis from non-small cell lung cancer with whole brain radiotherapy and Gefitinib in a Chinese population. Lung Cancer. 2009;65:198-203.
- 80. Pesce GA, Klingbiel D, Ribi K, et al. Outcome, quality of life and cognitive function of patients with brain metastases from non-small cell lung cancer treated with whole brain radiotherapy combined with gefitinib or temozolomide. A randomised phase II trial of the Swiss Group for Clinical Cancer Research (SAKK 7003). Eur J Cancer 2012;48:377-384.
- 81. Zeng YD, Zhang L, Liao H, et al. Gefitinib alone

Cite this article as: Economopoulou P, Mountzios G. Nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and central nervous system (CNS) metastases: role of tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) and evidence in favor or against their use with concurrent cranial radiotherapy. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2016;5(6):588-598. doi: 10.21037/tlcr.2016.12.06 or with concomitant whole brain radiotherapy for patients with brain metastasis from non-small-cell lung cancer: a retrospective study. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2012;13:909-914.

- Luo S, Chen L, Chen X, et al. Evaluation on efficacy and safety of tyrosine kinase inhibitors plus radiotherapy in NSCLC patients with brain metastases. Oncotarget 2015;6:16725-16734.
- Jiang T, Min W, Li Y, et al. Radiotherapy plus EGFR TKIs in non-small cell lung cancer patients with brain metastases: an update meta-analysis. Cancer Med 2016;5:1055-1065.
- Kwak EL, Bang YJ, Camidge DR, et al. Anaplastic lymphoma kinase inhibition in non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2010;363:1693-1703.
- 85. Chaft JE, Oxnard GR, Sima CS, et al. Disease flare after tyrosine kinase inhibitor discontinuation in patients with EGFR-mutant lung cancer and acquired resistance to erlotinib or gefitinib: implications for clinical trial design. Clin Cancer Res 2011;17:6298-6303.
- 86. Brown PD, Jaeckle K, Ballman KV, et al. Effect of Radiosurgery Alone vs Radiosurgery With Whole Brain Radiation Therapy on Cognitive Function in Patients With 1 to 3 Brain Metastases: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 2016;316:401-409.
- 87. Mak KS, Gainor JF, Niemierko A, et al. Significance of targeted therapy and genetic alterations in EGFR, ALK, or KRAS on survival in patients with non-small cell lung cancer treated with radiotherapy for brain metastases. Neuro Oncol 2015;17:296-302.
- Johung KL, Yeh N, Desai NB, et al. Extended Survival and Prognostic Factors for Patients With ALK-Rearranged Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer and Brain Metastasis. J Clin Oncol 2016;34:123-129.
- Copur MS, Ramaekers R, Clark D. Is It Time to Reconsider Prophylactic Cranial Radiation in Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer? J Clin Oncol 2016;34:2314.

Management of non-small cell lung cancer with *EGFR* mutation: the role of radiotherapy in the era of tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy—opportunities and challenges

Bing Xia^{1,2,3}, Shirong Zhang², Shenglin Ma²

¹Zhejiang Province Key Laboratory of Anti-Cancer Drug Research, Institute of Pharmacology and Toxicology, School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou 310058, China; ²Translational Medicine Research Center, Nanjing Medical University, Affiliated Hangzhou Hospital, Hangzhou First People's Hospital, Hangzhou 310006, China; ³Department of Radiation Oncology, Hangzhou Cancer Hospital, Hangzhou 310006, China

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: S Ma; (II) Administrative support: None; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: None; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: None; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: None; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Dr. Shenglin Ma. Translational Medicine Research Center, Nanjing Medical University, Affiliated Hangzhou Hospital, Hangzhou First People's Hospital, Hangzhou 310006, China. Email: mashenglin@medmail.com.cn.

Abstract: In recent years, the treatment of advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) was greatly promoted by the discovery of oncogenic drivers and the development of targeted therapies specific for these drivers. Somatic mutations in epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) are the most common type in patients with NSCLC. Small-molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) targeting EGFR produced relatively high response rate and long duration with acceptable toxicity profile. Also, the life expectancy in patients with active *EGFR* mutation has been significantly prolonged than the past. Additionally, evolution of advanced imaging and radiation techniques has expanded the indications for radiotherapy in complex clinical situation. All of those factors contributed to the widely use of radiotherapy for advanced NSCLC treated with TKI therapy. In this review, we will discuss how to integrate radiotherapy into the comprehensive treatment of patients with TKI therapy in order to maximize the therapeutics effect.

Keywords: Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC); epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR); tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI); radiotherapy

Submitted Sep 01, 2017. Accepted for publication Sep 13, 2017. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.09.67 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2017.09.67

Background

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer-related deaths worldwide that constitute a significant global health burden. In 2017, it is estimated that there will be 222,500 new cases of lung and bronchus cancer and an estimate of 155,870 people will die of this disease in the United States (1). The situation is more serious in China because of the massive population and huge cigarette consumption; according to the cancer statistics released by the national central cancer registry of China in 2016, the estimated new cases and deaths of lung cancer per year were 733,300 and 610,200 in the last decade (2). The overall prognosis of lung cancer is poor due to late-stage detection and ineffective therapies. Approximately 50–60% of the patients are with advanced stages that have no chance of receiving radical surgery or chemoradiotherapy. In addition, cytotoxic chemotherapy agents and combinations yielded low response rates, high toxicity rates, and limited improvements in survival although progress has been made over the past years at a modest pace. In this context, radiotherapy is generally used as a means of palliative care in this setting (3).

Recently, with new advances including the discovery of

oncogenic drivers and therapies specific for these drivers in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), the application of oral small-molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) targeting these oncogenes was increased in clinic practice, which produced relatively high response rate and long duration with acceptable toxicity profile. Furthermore, the life expectancy in these patients has been significantly prolonged than those in the past with treatment of chemotherapy alone (4,5). In addition, evolution of advanced imaging and radiation techniques has also expanded the indications for radiotherapy in complex clinical situation (6). All of those factors contributed to the widely use of radiotherapy for advanced NSCLC treated with TKI therapy. In this review, we will discuss how to integrate radiotherapy into the comprehensive treatment of patients with TKI therapy in order to maximize the therapeutics effect.

Historical and current perspectives of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) TKI therapy in NSCLC

In the last decade, management of advanced NSCLC has evolved toward stratification of patients based on oncogenic drivers, such as *EGFR* mutation, anaplastic lymphoma kinase (*ALK*), *ROS1* rearrangement etc. (7). Somatic mutations in *EGFR* are the most common type in patients with NSCLC. The overall prevalence for *EGFR* mutations was about 30%, ranging from 38.4% in China to 14.1% in Europe. Besides ethnicity (Western/Asian), other factors, included smoking status (yes/no), sex (male/female) and histology (adenocarcinoma/squamous cell carcinoma), also affected the incidence rates of *EGFR* mutations (8).

The first-generation (gefitinib, erlotinib and icotinib) and second-generation (afatinib) EGFR TKIs are now standard as the first-line treatment for patients with advanced *EGFR*mutated NSCLC. For patients with active *EGFR* mutations, TKIs produced high response rates up to 75% and improved progression-free survival (PFS) to 9–13 months as compared with chemotherapy in randomized trials (4,9-11). However, majority of the patients developed acquired drug resistance after initial response to TKI, and the median overall survival in those patients was estimated to 30 months. Studies of tumors biopsied at the time of disease progression have elucidated mechanisms of acquired resistance, in which the development of T790M mutation is the most common resistance mechanism (approximately 50– 60%) (12,13). That discovery has led to the development of third-generation TKI, osimertinib, which has shown to be superior to standard platinum/pemetrexed chemotherapy in patients whose tumors have developed T790M mutations. Among patients receiving osimertinib, the response rate and median PFS were about 71% and 10.1 months in phase 3 trial (AURA3) (14). Although the overall survival was not available because of immature data, it can be expected that survival will be further extended in this population.

In the past, the life expectancy of most patients with metastatic NSCLC is measured in months; radiotherapy is frequently used to palliate symptoms with a low total dose and is often administrated relatively late. With the prolonged survival duration of those patients receiving TKI therapy, the timing and dose of radiotherapy need to be redefined in order to optimize the delivery of radiotherapy.

Palliative radiotherapy in advanced NSCLC treated with EGFR TKI

As for the patients with advanced stage NSCLC, various disease related symptoms often developed at diagnosis due to diverse causes such as superior vena cava obstruction, airway obstruction, bone destruction and brain metastasis. Generally, palliative radiotherapy is administrated immediately in this setting in order to quickly relieve symptoms and improve quality of life (QOL), and symptoms improvement rates of 50-80% were reported in literatures (15,16). Of note, systemic treatment is often delayed until the end of radiotherapy, with the concerns of the increased toxicities of combined modalities. In patients with active EGFR mutation, TKI therapy produces a high response rate up to 75%, which is comparable to the efficacy of palliative radiotherapy. In addition, the shorter time of response to TKI therapy may be useful for early symptom improvement for these patients. Imai et al. compared the efficacies of radiotherapy and TKI in NSCLC patient harbored sensitive EGFR mutation, based on the RECIST criteria (17). In this study, 17 patients were administrated with radiotherapy and 32 patients received TKI therapy. As to their report, the response rates were 64.7% and 81.3% and the timeto-partial response were 40 and 20 days respectively, with evaluation limited to patients with a response. Other studies have also reported that the median time to symptomatic relief was observed within 2-3 weeks for patients treated with EGFR TKIs (18,19). These results suggest that TKI can be considered as the first choice if the primary goal was to achieve prompt symptomatic relief. It is unclear whether

delivery of concomitant radiotherapy can be resulted in better outcomes, but such an approach of combined treatment deserved additional studies to explore, considered of the favorable toxicity profile when radiotherapy combined with TKI therapy reported in literatures (20,21).

With regard to the radiation prescription, a low dose and shorter overall treatment time are preferred in recent clinical guidelines of American Society for Radiation Oncology (ASTRO) and National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN), due to lower costs and greater convenience in the face of short life expectancy. However, in a recent study based on a national population cohort of metastatic NSCLC administrated with palliative radiotherapy, investigators found that a substantial proportion of patients received a greater number of treatments and higher doses than supported by current evidence (22). This observation reflected that providers may believe that intensive treatment can be delivered with minimal toxicity and will bring additional benefit from even higher doses, although such willingness is not supported by available data. Because of good response to TKI therapy, patients with active EGFR mutation can be considered as the candidate to test such tentative idea. In addition, the disease status of some patients became limited after TKI therapy, defined as induced oligo-metastases. Possibly, those patients have the chance to receive curative therapies such as surgery, ablation, or stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT). In a recent study aimed to evaluate the pattern of failure in patients receiving TKI therapy, about 20% of the patients were judged feasible for consolidation SBRT (23).

Radiotherapy at the time of disease progression after TKI therapy

In patients received first-line TKI therapy, acquired drug resistance was developed inevitably despite dramatically response initially. In clinical practice, several failure modes were conceived in order to favor strategies for subsequent management. In Yang's study, three modes of dramatic, gradual and local progression were proposed according to specific criteria derived from clinical factors, and continuation of TKI plus local intervention was recommended for the last situation (24). Weickhardt *et al.* investigated the benefits of local ablative therapy to limited systemic disease progression in patients who received TKI therapy and a second PFS of 6 months was observed (25). In another study considering the role of local therapy in patients with acquired resistance, Yu *et al.* reported that the time to progression after local therapy was 10 months and the median time from local therapy until a change in systemic therapy was 22 months (26). Although encouraging results were reported in these studies, it should be noted that the patients enrolled in the studies were strictly selected, and the proportion of such patients was not high accounting for the whole population treated with EGFR TKIs. Also, because of the inherent limitations in retrospective studies, the true benefit of local radiotherapy combined with continuation of TKI therapy argue for additional studies with standardized enrollment and research process in a prospective fragment.

Early intervention of radiotherapy in TKI therapy

Accumulating data revealed how tumors become resistant to EGFR TKI. The most common known mechanism is the acquisition of T790M that renders the kinase resistant to the first-line TKI (27,28). Studies showed that T790M existed at a low frequency within the tumor cells pretreatment and became the dominant clone after selection pressure of EGFR-TKI therapy (29). In addition, preclinical studies also demonstrated that a second mutation of T790M could be successfully induced in PC-9 lung cancer cells after about 120 days culture with TKI (30). These results indicated that both mechanisms of de novo and induced T790M could be present in the course of TKI treatment. In fact, cancer cells harbored T790M exhibited enhanced sensitivity to radiation (31), suggesting the potential role of radiotherapy in the management of EGFR-TKI related resistance. If intervention of radiation was administrated at the time of best response of TKI therapy, instead of disease progression, it may benefit patients by reducing the chance or delay the time of T790M-mediated EGFR TKI resistance. Meanwhile, radiotherapy provides opportunities of reducing systemic reseeding from the growth of resistant clones harbored T790M in the original sites. Actually, there were several clinical reports that supported such deduction. In a study of 25 patients with IIIb/IV NSCLC who responded to upfront TKI treatment, concomitant radiotherapy of 40-50 Gy in 16-20 fractions were delivered with tomotherapy for individual metastatic lesions (32). The overall response rate was 84.0% and the median PFS was 16 months. The 3-year overall survival rate was 62.5% and toxicities were generally tolerated. These encouraging results indicated that radiotherapy might aid

expansion the effectiveness of TKI therapy in those patients who are responding to TKI treatment. In another two studies using TKI combined with radiotherapy in stage III/ IV NSCLC, although enrolled patients was not selected based on the EGFR mutation status, the median PFS of 10-14 months and survival time of 20-22 months were observed with acceptable toxicities, indicated the feasibility of targeted therapy combined with advanced radiotherapy in clinical practice (33,34). Recently, we launched a phase II trial of hypofractionated radiotherapy for limited metastatic NSCLC harboring sensitizing EGFR mutations, the inclusion patients are required to be oligometastatic disease (≤ 5 discrete lesions of disease, exclusive of the brain metastases) after 3 months of TKI therapy, evaluated by PET/CT scan. The scheduled time of radiotherapy is 3 months after TKI therapy in patients responded to TKI, and the primary objective is to extent PFS to 16 months.

Now, for patients with active EGFR mutations who progress during or after first-line targeted therapy, subsequent therapy depends on the specific genetic alteration, the histologic subtype, and whether the patients have symptoms. Osimertinib is recommended for patients with T790M positive. Of interest, we recently revealed the correlations of the disease failure sites with the frequency and abundance of T790M mutations in 314 patients who progressed during TKI treatment. In these patients, plasma T790M mutations were detected in 46.8% of the populations by droplet digital PCR, and T790M mutation was associated with extensive progression of the tumor, suggesting that NSCLC tumor cells with acquired T790M mutation may indicate distinct natural history and are with capability of cancer cell invasion and migration. Other studies reported that plasma T790M mutation could be detected approximately at 2.2 months prior to clinical progression, indicating that the spread of tumor cell with T790M mutation in circulation might be an early event in the course of disease metastasis (35,36). Upon the sustaining TKI exposure, T790M mutation is more likely to develop and gain the upper hand in the original disease sites, and then the growth of resistant T790M cancer cell clones can systemically reseed and finally lead to distant failures in new sites of disease. Therefore, early intervention to eradicate residual disease after TKI therapy, which may contain low abundance of de novo or acquired T790M mutation, can provide an opportunity to reduce the risk of subsequent extensive progression. Taking together, the value of early intervention in patients treated with TKI therapy is worth to be further investigated.

Management of brain metastasis in patients with EGFR mutation

Brain metastasis and EGFR mutation

Many patients with NSCLC have brain metastases (30-50%), which is one of the most devastating complications threatening to life (37,38). Of note, the risk of brain metastases is relatively high in patients with EGFR mutation at the time of diagnosis, as well as during the course of follow up in those who administrated with surgery. Shin et al. reported a dramatic correlation of EGFR mutation status and brain metastasis (adjusted odds ratio =3.83, P=0.001) in 314 patients with testing of EGFR mutation and brain magnetic resonance imaging at diagnosis (39). In this study, they also found that, in a subgroup analysis of 133 patients treated with surgical resection, EGFR mutation status was a poor prognostic factor for the risk of brain metastasis [hazard ratio (HR) =4.49, P=0.026] after adjustment for pathologic N stage. In addition, during the course of TKI therapy in advanced NSCLC, about 30% of the treatment failure was the present with new lesions or progression of original sites intracranial, which may be related to the low drug concentration of first-line TKIs in the cerebrospinal fluid and the prolonged survival in those patients. Because of the high percentage and the devastating outcomes of brain metastases, how to optimize the management of brain metastasis has become a clinical challenge of the comprehensive treatment for patients with EGFR mutation.

Whole brain radiotherapy (WBRT) and stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS)

For patients with brain metastases, both WBRT and SRS can be considered, mainly depend on the number/volume of brain metastases and the performance status of the patient. Generally, WBRT is recommended for multiple metastases (e.g., >3) and SRS is preferred for limited brain metastases. Accumulating evidences have indicated that TKI is also efficient for brain metastases in patients with *EGFR* mutation. Chinese Thoracic Oncology Group (CTONG) 0803 showed that single-agent erlotinib was active and well tolerated in patients with asymptomatic brain metastases, the median PFS and overall survival were 15.2 and 18.9 months for patients with activating *EGFR* mutation (40). Encouraged by these findings, and the concern of the potential neurocognitive function in the use of WBRT, CTONG 1201 was initiated to compare the efficacy of TKI

(icotinib) versus WBRT with or without chemotherapy in NSCLC patients with EGFR mutation, who were naive to treatment with EGFR-TKIs or radiotherapy, and had at least three metastatic brain lesions. In this phase III prospective study, 176 patients were recruited and 158 cases were used for the final analysis. The results showed intracranial disease control rates of 85% and 67%, and median intracranial PFS of 10.0 and 4.8 months in the icotinib and WBRT groups, respectively. In addition, the evaluation of cognitive ability was available in 59 patients based on mini-mental state examination (MMSE) questionnaires, and no difference was found in these two groups. Also, there were no significant differences between groups for overall survival or time to increased brain metastases symptoms (41). Although the primary endpoint, intracranial PFS, was met in this study, there were some deficiencies in the design of the trial, for example, a combination therapy group was lacking.

It is well known that symptom control and QOL are the primary goal in the management of advanced NSCLC. Therefore, the phase III trial only provided evidences that first-line TKI might be considered as a therapeutic option in the treatment of EGFR-mutant NSCLC with brain metastases, and WBRT is still the standard of care in this setting. Actually, EGFR TKI and WBRT should be complementary rather than competitive, how to combination of both to make the patient live better is the most of important. Very recently, Magnuson et al. reported a multi-institutional retrospective analysis aiming to determine the optimal management of patients with EGFR-mutant NSCLC who develop brain metastases, and three modes of combination of TKI and radiotherapy was investigated (42). Their results showed that the median overall survival in patients received SRS followed by TKI, WBRT followed by TKI, and TKI followed by SRS/WBRT were 46, 30, and 25 months, respectively, indicating that the use of upfront EGFR-TKI and deferral of radiotherapy were associated with inferior survival in this setting. Besides the longest overall survival, SRS followed by TKI provided the opportunity for patients to avoid the potential neurocognitive sequelae of WBRT. Concomitant use of TKI may have the advantage of a synergistic effect on the brain metastases, but at the price of possibly increased risk of neurotoxicity. Such attempt had been reported in a lot of retrospective and prospective studies, but often with small sample size (20). Primary outcomes in these studies varied and the data were measured and reported in a nonuniform way. So, it is still difficult to draw any conclusion

about the efficacy and safety based on current data, although some reports showed that WBRT concurrent with TKI does not seem to increase neurotoxicity. Taking together, appropriate timing of radiotherapy is critical in the management of EGFR mutant NSCLC, investigation of the use of TKI in combination with radiotherapy (WBRT/ SRS) and optimal sequences between TKI and radiotherapy are warranted in future studies.

Prophylactic cranial irradiation (PCI)

PCI has been successfully used in patients with smallcell lung cancer in limited and extensive stage, which significantly reduced intracranial progression and prolonged over survival (43). However, the value of PCI in NSCLC remains controversial (44). No survival benefit and only decrease and/or delay of brain metastases were observed in many phase-III trials. The lack of survival benefit may be partially attributed to unintentionally selected patients with a high risk of brain metastasis. In addition, decline in tested and self-reported cognitive functioning after PCI in lung cancer were reported in a pooled secondary analysis of Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) randomized trials 0212 and 0214 (45). To prevent these adverse early cognitive effects of cranial radiation, modern radiotherapy techniques [intensitymodulated radiation therapy (IMRT)] have been used for avoiding the hippocampal neural stem-cell niche during WBRT. RTOG 0933 was a single-arm phase II study of radiotherapy for brain metastasis, and the results from this study showed that hippocampal-avoidance WBRT was associated with preservation of memory and QOL as compared with historical series (46). Notable, patient with EGFR mutation has the relatively high risk of developing brain metastases, and the reported intracranial progression during the course of TKI therapy is approximately 30% (39). Therefore, it is interesting to explore the role of PCI in the patients treated with TKIs, provided that preservation of memory and QOL can be ensured with modern radiotherapy techniques.

Management of local advanced NSCLC with TKI and radiotherapy

The combination of chemotherapy and radiotherapy is the standard of care in the management of locally advanced NSCLC. Concurrent chemoradiotherapy is the preferred approach for patients with good performance status; but the improved therapeutic effect may be at the cost with increased toxicities. Currently, the clinical outcomes are still unsatisfactory, and the 5-year survival rate of is approximately 20%. In recent published studies, attempts to improvement of the radiation dose (RTOG 0617) and use of a new generation of chemotherapy regimen (PROCLAIM) failed to demonstrate survival benefits compared with concurrent platinum-based doublet chemoradiotherapy conventionally used in clinical practice (47,48). Uncertainties resulted from high treatment-related toxicities and poor completion rates of chemoradiotherapy in these trials should be rethink profoundly in future studies, and further improvement in locally advanced NSCLC will require the development of more effective combined modality therapies with low toxicities.

The rational for integration of EGFR TKI in the comprehensive treatment of locally advanced NSCLC includes high expression of EGFR in 40-80% NSCLC and autophosphorylation of the EGFR induced by irradiation (49). Preclinical studies showed that EGFR TKI, such as gefitinib and erlotinib, have radiosensitizing effects at multiple levels including cell cycle arrest, apoptosis, accelerated repopulation and DNA damage repair (50). However, in previous clinical studies, incorporation of TKI in the combined chemoradiotherapy for locally advanced NSCLC was not associated with improved treatment outcomes (51); possible explanations include the cell cycle specific antagonism when combined with concurrent chemotherapy and the unselected patients in these trials. Recently, RECEL trial reported the preliminary results in 2017 American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) annual meeting. This was a multicenter, randomized, open-label, phase II trial of erlotinib versus etoposide plus cisplatin with concurrent radiotherapy in unresectable stage III NSCLC with EGFR activating mutation. The median PFS in this trial was significantly improved in the erlotinib group (n=20) compared with the control group (n=21) (27.9 vs. 6.4 months, HR 0.053, P<0.001). Both arms had same incidence of adverse effects (CTCAE grade >1), and most common sAE (grade >3) was rash (20%, 3/15) and hematological toxicity (26.7%, 4/15), respectively. Given the excellent outcomes in advanced NSCLC treated with EGFR TKIs, it is not surprising to have obtained such results in this trial. The questions need to be answered in future studies include the best duration of TKI therapy, the optimal combination algorithms of radiotherapy and TKI, and the potential beneficial population based on molecular characterization.

Conclusions

In NSCLC, patients with active EGFR mutation belong to a special group who has particular biological behavior and clinical management algorithms. Although wonderful outcomes of immediate responded to targeted therapies, and new generations of targeted drugs continued to be developed, all of these drugs are inevitably faced with the problem of resistance because of the tumor heterogeneity and evolutionary characteristics, and the inherent limitations of targeted treatment strategy. Advances in functional imaging and cutting-edge radiation techniques greatly expand the application field of radiotherapy in advanced NSCLC. Increasing evidences have been showed that integration of modern radiotherapy in the management of patients treated with EGFR TKI will be contributed to the improvement of treatment outcomes, early intervention of radiotherapy for limited disease, optimization the sequence of TKI and cranial radiotherapy, PCI and combination of TKI and thoracic radiotherapy in locally advanced NSCLC deserve further research in future studies.

Acknowledgements

Funding: This paper was supported by grants from the National Nature Science Foundation of China (grant no. 81301927), Zhejiang Provincial Nature Science Foundation (grant no. LY13H160023) and Hangzhou Medical Major Disease Project (grant no. 20130733Q03).

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- 1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer Statistics, 2017. CA Cancer J Clin 2017;67:7-30.
- 2. Chen W, Zheng R, Baade PD, et al. Cancer statistics in China, 2015. CA Cancer J Clin 2016;66:115-132.
- Johnson DH, Schiller JH, Bunn PA Jr. Recent clinical advances in lung cancer management. J Clin Oncol 2014;32:973-982.
- Mok TS, Wu YL, Thongprasert S, et al. Gefitinib or carboplatin-paclitaxel in pulmonary adenocarcinoma. N Engl J Med 2009;361:947-957.
- 5. Rosell R, Moran T, Queralt C, et al. Screening for

epidermal growth factor receptor mutations in lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2009;361:958-967.

- Fay M, Poole CM, Pratt G. Recent advances in radiotherapy for thoracic tumours. J Thorac Dis 2013;5 Suppl 5:S551-S555.
- Li T, Kung HJ, Mack PC, et al. Genotyping and genomic profiling of non-small-cell lung cancer: implications for current and future therapies. J Clin Oncol 2013;31:1039-1049.
- Zhang YL, Yuan JQ, Wang KF, et al. The prevalence of EGFR mutation in patients with non-small cell lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Oncotarget 2016;7:78985-78993.
- Soria JC, Wu YL, Nakagawa K, et al. Gefitinib plus chemotherapy versus placebo plus chemotherapy in EGFR-mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer after progression on first-line gefitinib (IMPRESS): a phase 3 randomised trial. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:990-998.
- Shi Y, Zhang L, Liu X, et al. Icotinib versus gefitinib in previously treated advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (ICOGEN): a randomised, double-blind phase 3 noninferiority trial. Lancet Oncol 2013;14:953-961.
- Yang JC, Sequist LV, Geater SL, et al. Clinical activity of afatinib in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer harbouring uncommon EGFR mutations: a combined post-hoc analysis of LUX-Lung 2, LUX-Lung 3, and LUX-Lung 6. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:830-838.
- Kuiper JL, Heideman DA, Thunnissen E, et al. Incidence of T790M mutation in (sequential) rebiopsies in EGFRmutated NSCLC-patients. Lung Cancer 2014;85:19-24.
- Oxnard GR, Arcila ME, Sima CS, et al. Acquired resistance to EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors in EGFRmutant lung cancer: distinct natural history of patients with tumors harboring the T790M mutation. Clin Cancer Res 2011;17:1616-1622.
- Mok TS, Wu YL, Ahn MJ, et al. Osimertinib or Platinum-Pemetrexed in EGFR T790M-Positive Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med 2017;376:629-640.
- 15. Samant R, Tucker T. How should we describe the benefits of palliative radiotherapy? Curr Oncol 2006;13:230-234.
- Rodrigues G, Macbeth F, Burmeister B, et al. Consensus statement on palliative lung radiotherapy: third international consensus workshop on palliative radiotherapy and symptom control. Clin Lung Cancer 2012;13:1-5.
- 17. Imai H, Shukuya T, Takahashi T, et al. Comparison of the time-to-response between radiotherapy and epidermal growth factor receptor--tyrosine kinase inhibitors for

advanced non-small cell lung cancer with EGFR mutation. Anticancer Res 2013;33:3279-3284.

- Cella D, Herbst RS, Lynch TJ, et al. Clinically meaningful improvement in symptoms and quality of life for patients with non-small-cell lung cancer receiving gefitinib in a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:2946-2954.
- Thongprasert S, Duffield E, Saijo N, et al. Health-related quality-of-life in a randomized phase III first-line study of gefitinib versus carboplatin/paclitaxel in clinically selected patients from Asia with advanced NSCLC (IPASS). J Thorac Oncol 2011;6:1872-1880.
- Hendriks LE, Schoenmaekers J, Zindler JD, et al. Safety of cranial radiotherapy concurrent with tyrosine kinase inhibitors in non-small cell lung cancer patients: A systematic review. Cancer Treat Rev 2015;41:634-645.
- 21. Ready N, Janne PA, Bogart J, et al. Chemoradiotherapy and gefitinib in stage III non-small cell lung cancer with epidermal growth factor receptor and KRAS mutation analysis: cancer and leukemia group B (CALEB) 30106, a CALGB-stratified phase II trial. J Thorac Oncol 2010;5:1382-1390.
- 22. Chen AB, Cronin A, Weeks JC, et al. Palliative radiation therapy practice in patients with metastatic non-smallcell lung cancer: a Cancer Care Outcomes Research and Surveillance Consortium (CanCORS) Study. J Clin Oncol 2013;31:558-564.
- 23. Al-Halabi H, Sayegh K, Digamurthy SR, et al. Pattern of Failure Analysis in Metastatic EGFR-Mutant Lung Cancer Treated with Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors to Identify Candidates for Consolidation Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy. J Thorac Oncol 2015;10:1601-1607.
- 24. Yang JJ, Chen HJ, Yan HH, et al. Clinical modes of EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor failure and subsequent management in advanced non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2013;79:33-39.
- 25. Weickhardt AJ, Scheier B, Burke JM, et al. Local ablative therapy of oligoprogressive disease prolongs disease control by tyrosine kinase inhibitors in oncogeneaddicted non-small-cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2012;7:1807-1814.
- 26. Yu HA, Sima CS, Huang J, et al. Local therapy with continued EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy as a treatment strategy in EGFR-mutant advanced lung cancers that have developed acquired resistance to EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors. J Thorac Oncol 2013;8:346-351.
- 27. Nabbout LA, Salti IS, Choucair MK. An unusual case of autonomous hyperparathyroidism in a patient with

Xia et al. Role of radiotherapy in the era of TKI therapy

X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets and Kallmann syndrome. Am J Med Sci 2009;337:134-137.

- Gazdar AF. Activating and resistance mutations of EGFR in non-small-cell lung cancer: role in clinical response to EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Oncogene 2009;28 Suppl 1:S24-S31.
- Watanabe M, Kawaguchi T, Isa S, et al. Ultra-Sensitive Detection of the Pretreatment EGFR T790M Mutation in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Patients with an EGFR-Activating Mutation Using Droplet Digital PCR. Clin Cancer Res 2015;21:3552-3560.
- Chmielecki J, Foo J, Oxnard GR, et al. Optimization of dosing for EGFR-mutant non-small cell lung cancer with evolutionary cancer modeling. Sci Transl Med 2011;3:90ra59.
- Zhang S, Zheng X, Huang H, et al. Afatinib increases sensitivity to radiation in non-small cell lung cancer cells with acquired EGFR T790M mutation. Oncotarget 2015;6:5832-5845.
- 32. Chang CC, Chi KH, Kao SJ, et al. Upfront gefitinib/ erlotinib treatment followed by concomitant radiotherapy for advanced lung cancer: a mono-institutional experience. Lung Cancer 2011;73:189-194.
- 33. Wang J, Xia TY, Wang YJ, et al. Prospective study of epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors concurrent with individualized radiotherapy for patients with locally advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;81:e59-e65.
- Iyengar P, Kavanagh BD, Wardak Z, et al. Phase II trial of stereotactic body radiation therapy combined with erlotinib for patients with limited but progressive metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2014;32:3824-3830.
- 35. Zheng D, Ye X, Zhang MZ, et al. Plasma EGFR T790M ctDNA status is associated with clinical outcome in advanced NSCLC patients with acquired EGFR-TKI resistance. Sci Rep 2016;6:20913.
- 36. Oxnard GR, Paweletz CP, Kuang Y, et al. Noninvasive detection of response and resistance in EGFRmutant lung cancer using quantitative next-generation genotyping of cell-free plasma DNA. Clin Cancer Res 2014;20:1698-1705.
- 37. Simoff MJ, Lally B, Slade MG, et al. Symptom management in patients with lung cancer: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013;143:e455S-97S.
- 38. Hu C, Chang EL, Hassenbusch SJ 3rd, et al. Nonsmall

cell lung cancer presenting with synchronous solitary brain metastasis. Cancer 2006;106:1998-2004.

- Shin DY, Na II, Kim CH, et al. EGFR mutation and brain metastasis in pulmonary adenocarcinomas. J Thorac Oncol 2014;9:195-199.
- 40. Wu YL, Zhou C, Cheng Y, et al. Erlotinib as second-line treatment in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer and asymptomatic brain metastases: a phase II study (CTONG-0803). Ann Oncol 2013;24:993-999.
- Yang JJ, Zhou C, Huang Y, et al. Icotinib versus wholebrain irradiation in patients with EGFR-mutant non-smallcell lung cancer and multiple brain metastases (BRAIN): a multicentre, phase 3, open-label, parallel, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Respir Med 2017;5:707-716.
- 42. Magnuson WJ, Lester-Coll NH, Wu AJ, et al. Management of Brain Metastases in Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor-Naive Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor-Mutant Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: A Retrospective Multi-Institutional Analysis. J Clin Oncol 2017;35:1070-1077.
- Daly ME, Palma DA. Prophylactic Cranial Irradiation for Small Cell Lung Cancer: New Insights. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2017;99:3-5.
- Péchoux CL, Sun A, Slotman BJ, et al. Prophylactic cranial irradiation for patients with lung cancer. Lancet Oncol 2016;17:e277-e293.
- 45. Gondi V, Paulus R, Bruner DW, et al. Decline in tested and self-reported cognitive functioning after prophylactic cranial irradiation for lung cancer: pooled secondary analysis of Radiation Therapy Oncology Group randomized trials 0212 and 0214. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;86:656-664.
- 46. Gondi V, Pugh SL, Tome WA, et al. Preservation of memory with conformal avoidance of the hippocampal neural stem-cell compartment during whole-brain radiotherapy for brain metastases (RTOG 0933): a phase II multi-institutional trial. J Clin Oncol 2014;32:3810-3816.
- 47. Bradley JD, Paulus R, Komaki R, et al. Standard-dose versus high-dose conformal radiotherapy with concurrent and consolidation carboplatin plus paclitaxel with or without cetuximab for patients with stage IIIA or IIIB non-small-cell lung cancer (RTOG 0617): a randomised, two-by-two factorial phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:187-199.
- 48. Senan S, Brade A, Wang LH, et al. PROCLAIM: Randomized Phase III Trial of Pemetrexed-Cisplatin or Etoposide-Cisplatin Plus Thoracic Radiation Therapy Followed by Consolidation Chemotherapy in Locally

176

Advanced Nonsquamous Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. J Clin Oncol 2016;34:953-962.

- Schmidt-Ullrich RK, Valerie K, Fogleman PB, et al. Radiation-induced autophosphorylation of epidermal growth factor receptor in human malignant mammary and squamous epithelial cells. Radiat Res 1996;145:81-85.
- 50. Tanaka T, Munshi A, Brooks C, et al. Gefitinib radiosensitizes non-small cell lung cancer cells by

Cite this article as: Xia B, Zhang S, Ma S. Management of non-small cell lung cancer with *EGFR* mutation: the role of radiotherapy in the era of tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy—opportunities and challenges. J Thorac Dis 2017;9(9):3385-3393. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.09.67

suppressing cellular DNA repair capacity. Clin Cancer Res 2008;14:1266-1273.

51. Lilenbaum R, Samuels M, Wang X, et al. A phase II study of induction chemotherapy followed by thoracic radiotherapy and erlotinib in poor-risk stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: results of CALGB 30605 (Alliance)/RTOG 0972 (NRG). J Thorac Oncol 2015;10:143-147.

Is post-operative radiotherapy of any benefit after R0 resection for N2 disease?

Robert J. Cerfolio, James H. Estes

Department of Thoracic Surgery, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, USA *Correspondence to:* Robert J. Cerfolio, MD, MBA. Professor of Surgery, Chief of Thoracic Surgery, University of Alabama at Birmingham, 1720 2nd Ave S, Birmingham, AL 35233, USA. Email: rcerfolio@uabmc.edu.

Submitted Jun 29, 2014. Accepted for publication Jul 04, 2015. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2015.07.01 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2015.07.01

This is another paper in a recent and growing trend of papers that takes a very large database and by the sheer basis of numbers tries to answer what is a very common posed question (1). Importantly, this particular question may not be answerable using a smaller more granular or detailed database.

Perhaps the three most important questions that are asked in tumor conference when a patient is to be considered for adjuvant radiotherapy after undergoing a completed-resected pathologically N2 non-small cell lung cancer is: (I) how many N2 stations were involved? (II) Is the cell type adenocarcinoma or squamous cell carcinoma? And (III) were the lymph nodes completely removed or only biopsied (sampled)?

Unfortunately, none of these particular data points are contained in the National Cancer Data Base. However, I do not think this fact detracts from the study for several reasons. First, the number of N2 and/or N1 stations is often biased by the surgeon or by his operative technique. Even the accuracy of lymph node count is dubious. Second, the definition of "complete thoracic lymphadenectomy" compared to "sampling" are mains unclear despite the fact that I argue adamantly for the former every day.

Given these caveats then a more detailed database may not shed any more light on the answer to this question. The sheer number of patients in the study may allow for the conclusions to remain valid. And, if so, then it is of significant clinical importance since it is a commonly posed question for patients. This study has a chance to have significant impact and be commonly cited. Finally, the authors are from a group that is well-known for delivering both high quality surgery and complicated statistical analyses of surgical data. This provides even more credence for the paper's conclusions. It is refreshing to have some science and data provided to a common question that is too often answered with opinions and dogma that we often hear at our tumor boards, i.e., "more than one N2 stations we radiate, if there is only one N2 station positive for cancer then we do not—and we radiate only those with squamous cell cancer."

Furthermore, these conclusions make sense since another large study using the SEER database (2) have shown a benefit of PORT for those with III A (N2) disease as opposed to harm with PORT for those with N1. Since the LUNGART study is several years away from completion, this study is our best data and for now may persuade many of us to recommend PORT for those with completely resected N2.

Acknowledgements

Dr. Robinson and colleagues are to be congratulated for presenting an interesting paper.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors disclose the following relationships: Intuitive Surgical—teacher, Ethicon—teacher, Covidien—teacher and Community Health Systems—consultant, KCI— teacher.

References

1. Robinson CG, Patel AP, Bradley JD, et al. Postoperative radiotherapy for pathologic N2 non-small-cell lung cancer treated with adjuvant chemotherapy: a review of the National Cancer Data Base. J Clin Oncol

Cite this article as: Cerfolio RJ, Estes JH. Is post-operative radiotherapy of any benefit after R0 resection for N2 disease? Transl Lung Cancer Res 2015;4(5):665-666. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2015.07.01

2015;33:870-876.

 Lally BE, Zelterman D, Colasanto JM, et al. Postoperative radiotherapy for stage II or III non-small-cell lung cancer using the surveillance, epidemiology, and end results database. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:2998-3006.

Response to "Is post-operative radiotherapy of any benefit after R0 resection for N2 disease?"

Cliff G. Robinson¹, Aalok P. Patel², Todd DeWees¹, Daniel Morgensztern³, Jeffrey D. Bradley¹, Varun Puri²

¹Department of Radiation Oncology, ²Department of Surgery, Division of Cardiothoracic Surgery, ³Department of Medicine, Division of Medical Oncology, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, Missouri, USA

Correspondence to: Cliff G. Robinson. Department of Radiation Oncology, Washington University School of Medicine, 4921 Parkview Place, Box 8224, St. Louis, MO 63017, USA. Email: crobinson@radonc.wustl.edu.

Submitted Aug 24, 2015. Accepted for publication Aug 25, 2015. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2015.08.12 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2015.08.12

We thank Drs Cerfolio and Estes (1) for their comments in regard to our recently published analysis from the National Cancer Data Base (NCDB) exploring the utility of postoperative radiotherapy (PORT) in completely resected N2 non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) treated with adjuvant chemotherapy (2). As they note, while the strength of such a multi-institutional database lies in its numbers (in this case, more than 4,000 patients), there is an expected loss of data fidelity and granularity. For example, in our analysis we had a limited ability to explore questions of lymph node station involvement, number of nodes, or completeness of lymph node sampling due to incomplete or completely missing data. As such, we could not control for these variables in our multivariate modeling. However, with respect to questions of lymph node involvement or sampling, it would be expected that those patients with less favorable features (incomplete dissection, more lymph node involvement, etc.,) would be more likely to receive PORT. It if were possible to account for this likely stacking of less favorable patients in the PORT group, it seems possible that we may have seen an even larger benefit to PORT. Nonetheless, such an imbalance could not reverse the survival curves, and therefore we believe our overall conclusions remain

Cite this article as: Robinson CG, Patel AP, DeWees T, Morgensztern D, Bradley JD, Puri V. Response to "Is postoperative radiotherapy of any benefit after R0 resection for N2 disease?" Transl Lung Cancer Res 2015;4(5):667. doi: 10.3978/ j.issn.2218-6751.2015.08.12 sound. Additionally, we appreciate Dr. Cerfolio and Estes' kind comments regarding the importance of our analysis in the absence of randomized data, and echo our support for randomized trials such as Lung ART.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Cerfolio RJ, Estes JH. Is post-operative radiotherapy of any benefit after R0 resection for N2 disease? Transl Lung Cancer Res 2015;4:665-666.
- Robinson CG, Patel AP, Bradley JD, et al. Postoperative radiotherapy for pathologic N2 non-small-cell lung cancer treated with adjuvant chemotherapy: a review of the National Cancer Data Base. J Clin Oncol 2015;33:870-876.

Salvage surgery after high-dose radiotherapy

Annemie Van Breussegem, Jeroen M. Hendriks, Patrick Lauwers, Paul E. Van Schil

Department of Thoracic and Vascular Surgery, Antwerp University Hospital, Edegem, Antwerp, Belgium

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: PE Van Schil; (II) Administrative support: None; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: None; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: PE Van Schil, A Van Breussegem; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: PE Van Schil, A Van Breussegem; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Paul E. Van Schil, MD, PhD. Department of Thoracic and Vascular Surgery, University Hospital of Antwerp, Wilrijkstraat 10, B-2650 Edegem, Antwerp, Belgium. Email: paul.van.schil@uza.be.

Abstract: Salvage surgery is a relatively new entity in thoracic surgery and oncology. Salvage resection after radiotherapy refers to surgery as only remaining therapeutic option in patients who were treated with high-dose stereotactic radiotherapy (SRT) for early-stage lung cancer or full-dose chemoradiation for locally advanced lung cancer. Indications include locally progressive tumors, recurrent local or locoregional disease, or specific complications after radiotherapy such as lung abscesses or infected, necrotic cavities. Small, retrospective series demonstrate that salvage surgery after high-dose radiotherapy is feasible and may yield good long-term results. A clear distinction should be made between salvage surgery after SRT for earlystage lung cancer and salvage procedures after full-dose chemoradiation for lung cancers with locoregional extension into the mediastinum. Salvage surgery after SRT may be rather straightforward and in specific cases even feasible by a minimally invasive approach. In contrast, surgery after a full dose of chemoradiation delivered several months or years earlier, can be quite challenging and the dissection of the pulmonary artery and mediastinal lymph nodes technically demanding. Due to the more central irradiation an intrapericardial dissection is often required. To prevent a bronchopleural fistula protection of the bronchial stump with well-vascularized flaps is recommended. Each individual patient in whom salvage surgery is considered, should be discussed thoroughly within a multidisciplinary board, detailed cardiopulmonary functional evaluation is required, and the operation should be performed by an experienced team including a thoracic surgeon, anaesthesiologist and intensive care physician. At the present time only retrospective series are available. Carefully designed prospective studies are necessary to more precisely define indications and results of salvage surgery not only after SRT for peripherally localized lesions but also following full-dose chemoradiation for locoregionally advanced disease.

Keywords: Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC); stereotactic radiotherapy (SRT); salvage surgery; early-stage lung cancer; locally advanced lung cancer

Submitted Jan 17, 2017. Accepted for publication Feb 09, 2017. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.03.88 **View this article at:** http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2017.03.88

Introduction

In 1895, X-rays were discovered by a German physicist, Wilhelm Conrad Rontgen. Soon thereafter their diagnostic but also their therapeutic potential was discovered. Ever since that time, they have been indispensable in the diagnosis and treatment of cancer. At the present time, surgery and radiotherapy are the most important local treatment modalities for lung cancer (1). Specific radiation delivery is an ever changing domain in the therapeutic armamentarium for lung cancer and recently, specific techniques have been developed allowing high-dose delivery to tumor cells with sparing of critical organs in close contact to the primary tumor (1).

At the present day, some subgroups of early-stage nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC), especially those with a compromised cardiopulmonary function, may be treated by stereotactic radiotherapy (SRT), also called stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT), stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR), or stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS). The latter term is confusing and should be avoided as surgical treatment is not a part of this specific therapy. For the sake of simplicity in this manuscript we prefer to use the term SRT which is currently considered to be an alternative to surgical treatment.

Treatment of locally advanced NSCLC remains highly controversial, mainly due to the fact that this represents a very heterogeneous population ranging from unexpected nodal involvement to bulky mediastinal lymph node metastases which do not qualify for surgical resection (2). The main treatment options comprise definitive concurrent chemoradiation which has become the standard treatment, sequential chemoradiation, induction chemotherapy followed by surgery or radiotherapy, and induction concurrent chemoradiation followed by surgery.

For those patients having persistent or recurrent disease after high-dose SRT or after full chemoradiation, salvage surgery has emerged as a possible treatment option (3). Salvage surgery is defined as surgical resection of persistent or recurrent primary lung cancer after previous local treatment without surgery, in case of urgency such as hemoptysis, bronchial stenosis, abscess cavity or empyema, or as therapy for chronic bronchopleural or bronchopulmonary fistulas (*Table 1*). It is considered to be technically more difficult due to post-radiation inflammation and fibrosis.

Every patient qualifying for salvage surgery should undergo a thorough cardiopulmonary evaluation and be discussed within a dedicated multidisciplinary tumor board, especially when a pneumonectomy or intrapericardial dissection is anticipated. Up till now, only limited data have been published. A best evidence topic on salvage surgical interventions after high-dose radiotherapy was published by Schreiner and colleagues in 2015 (4). In total, 4 out of 9 reports provided the best available evidence but all of them were retrospective. In 47 patients, 48 salvage resections were performed after high-dose radiotherapy, SRT or chemoradiation. There were 4 sublobar resections, 32 (bi) lobectomies (1 sleeve resection), and 12 pneumonectomies. Mean postoperative complication rate extracted from 4 studies was 42.5%. Median survival time ranged from 9 till 30 months. The authors concluded that salvage surgery may be considered a worthwhile treatment option with low mortality, acceptable morbidity and relatively good

survival.

In the present review, salvage surgery after highdose radiotherapy is discussed, making a clear distinction between surgical resection after SRT for early-stage lung cancer, and surgery after combined modality therapy for locoregionally advanced disease.

Salvage surgery in early-stage lung cancer

Approximately 20% of patients diagnosed with NSCLC have early-stage lung cancer. In the recently introduced 8th TNM edition further subdivisions are made in the T (tumor) descriptor with increments of 1 cm for T1 and T2 lung cancer, as prognosis is best for the smallest lung cancers (5). According to the guidelines of the European Society of Medical Oncology (ESMO) lobectomy is still considered the standard surgical treatment for early-stage lung cancer (6). In patients who are unable to undergo a lobectomy, but fit for surgery, sublobar resections represent an alternative option and are preferred over radiotherapy (7,8). In total, 10% to 15% of the patients, diagnosed with earlystage NSCLC are medically unfit for surgery or decline surgery and these patients are usually treated with SRT (9). An ultra-high dose is administered consisting of ablative fractions of radiation to a target, which allows for maximizing cell-killing effect on the primary tumor (1). In contrast to conventional irradiation, which is delivered daily for six to eight weeks, SRT is typically administered in one to ten fractions in doses of 6-34 Gy per fraction (10). Good results have been reported with SRT in medically inoperable patients with a local control rate of 80-100% and 3-year survival of 40-80% (10,11). However, it should be noted that a histological diagnosis is not obtained in every case, lymph node evaluation and clinical staging are less rigorous, and no universally accepted criteria are available for response evaluation (12). In this way, local control is often defined as "absence of progressive disease" in contrast to a complete surgical resection which implies that there is no remaining disease (13-15).

The promising results of SRT in medically unfit patients stimulated further research of SRT in patients with a good cardiopulmonary function as alternative treatment to surgical resection. Onishi *et al.* investigated SRT in stage I and II patients who were medically fit but refused surgery (16). SRT (45–72.5 Gy in 3–10 fractions) was associated with a 5-year cumulative local control rate of 92% for T1 tumors and 73% for T2 tumors. Five-year overall survival (OS) rates were 72% for stage IA and 62%

Table	1	Indications	for	sal	vage	surger	y
-------	---	-------------	-----	-----	------	--------	---

Early-stage NSCLC after SRT				
Persisting local disease				
Local recurrence				
Progressive disease				
Complications: lung abscess, pulmonary fistula				
Locoregionally advanced NSCLC after full-dose chemoradiation				
Persisting locoregional disease				
Locoregional recurrence				
Complications: hemoptysis, lung abscess, empyema, bronchopleural fistula				

NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; SRT, stereotactic radiotherapy.



Figure 1 Chest computed tomographic scan demonstrating a right upper lobe cancer, clinical stage IA, in an 81-year-old patient treated with stereotactic radiotherapy. This patient was initially considered functionally inoperable.

for stage IB, respectively, similar to outcomes reported in surgical series (16). The U.S. STARS (NCT 00840749) and Dutch ROSEL (NCT00687986) trials were randomized controlled trials comparing surgical resection to SRT but closed early due to poor accrual. Data were pooled in a subsequent analysis by Chang *et al.* showing a significant 3-year OS advantage in favor of SRT (95% *vs.* 79%; P=0.037) in the 58 included patients (17). Disease-free survival was not different between both groups. The authors state that these data suggest at least clinical equipoise between the two treatment modalities. Several Letters to the Editor pointed out that results cannot be generalized as mortality in the surgical arm was unacceptably high, detailed histology was not obtained in every case and a valid comparison of locoregional control between surgery and SRT is not possible (14,18-23). Further randomised studies are currently ongoing mainly recruiting patients at higher risk for surgical resection (24).

A recent question that emerged and which is currently discussed at major lung cancer conferences is how to treat locoregional recurrences after SRT and whether surgery may play a role as subsequent treatment. As mentioned before, specific diagnosis of persisting or recurrent tumor growth after SRT is challenging as an inflammatory reaction is induced by SRT giving rise to pneumonitis and fibrosis at the level of the primary tumor site. The appearance of a zone of consolidation on chest computed tomography (CT) could be radiation pneumonitis, radiation fibrosis, persisting tumor growth or local recurrence (25). Tumor serum markers as carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) and fluorodeoxyglucose positron-emission tomographic (FDG-PET) images may be helpful in the differential diagnosis although increased FDG-uptake may persist up to 2 years after SRT without evidence of recurrence (26,27).

Reported local recurrence rate after SRT for early-stage NSCLC mounts to 20% after 3 years (10). A larger tumor size and a lower retention index on FDG-PET scanning are risk factors for recurrence (28,29). Time between SRT and local recurrence is highly variable, ranging from 9 to 89 months (30). Therefore, close follow-up after SRT is indispensable.

Treatment options for local recurrence after SRT include salvage surgery, systemic chemotherapy, targeted agents, chemoradiation, repeat high-dose radiotherapy or best supportive therapy in patients with poor performance status (30-32). Indications for salvage surgery are listed in *Table 1* (*Figures 1,2*). Reassessment of cardiopulmonary functional operability at the time of local recurrence is very important. Rather surprisingly, patients undergoing salvage surgery may have been considered inoperable at the time of SRT as was the case in the patient described in *Figures 1,2*, and in 3 out of 12 patients in the series reported by Hamaji and colleagues (30). On the other hand, operable patients may become functionally inoperable over time giving rise to a high operative risk, and in these cases alternative options have to be considered (32).

Regarding literature data only retrospective series are available. Hamaji *et al.* reported a series of 49 patients with isolated local recurrence after SRT (30). Best supportive care was administered in 29 patients, chemoradiation in 8, and 12 patients underwent salvage surgery. For the latter subgroup 5-year OS was 79.5% calculated from local 184



Figure 2 Chest computed tomographic scan of the same patient showing progressive disease 18 months later. Salvage bilobectomy was necessary to obtain a complete resection. There were no postoperative complications.

recurrence on.

Sugimoto et al. reported a right upper lobectomy by video-assisted thoracic surgery (VATS) for a peripheral stage I NSCLC after radiotherapy (33). Adhesions were limited and easily divided. Central structures were intact, probably because of peripheral and not central irradiation. Neri and colleagues reported 7 patients who underwent salvage surgery after SRT for primary NSCLC or lung metastases (26). Median time period between SRT and salvage surgery was 10 months. There were 6 lobectomies and 1 segmentectomy; 2 patients had incomplete resections. The distance from the pleura to the tumor ranged from 5 to 30 mm. There were no technical difficulties and complications consisted of 1 pulmonary fistula and 4 cases of post-radiotherapy pneumonitis. Allibhai et al. reported a small but interesting series as detailed pathological examination was available (34). Out of a prospective series of 209 patients who underwent SRT for early-stage NSCLC 4 had salvage surgery consisting of lobectomy and nodal sampling. In one patient a partial chest wall resection was necessary. Pleural adhesions were encountered in every case but there were no significant technical complications. No viable tumor was found in one patient but the others had 5-65% viable cancer cells. After a median follow-up of 30 months there was no evidence of disease. Although in the cases of Hamaji, Sugimoto and Neri, only limited pleural adhesions were present after SRT, more extensive adhesions were encountered by Allibhai and also in 2 out of 9 patients published by Verstegen, which led to conversion in one case (34,35). This may be due to a different location

of the primary lesion and therefore a low radiation dose to the ipsilateral bronchial tree (33,35).

In a cumulative review presented at the 2016 Annual Meeting of the American Association for Thoracic Surgery (AATS) in Baltimore, 37 patients from 4 institutions underwent salvage surgery for pulmonary lesions previously treated with SRT (36). Twenty-six patients had NSCLC and 11 lung metastases with a median disease-free survival of 19.2 months. Of interest, 8 patients (21.6%) were initially considered medically inoperable. Median time interval between SRT and surgery was 16.1 months (range, 6.4–104.0 months). Median survival time following surgery was 46.9 months and 3-year OS 70.1% (36).

In selected cases of oligometastatic disease salvage surgery may also be considered after discussion within a dedicated multidisciplinary team (37). Recently, we reported a case of salvage lung surgery in a patient with oligometastatic disease who initially presented with a femoral bone metastasis from NSCLC treated by osteosynthesis and local radiotherapy (38). Chemoradiation was administered to the primary lung cancer located in the right upper lobe. Because of isolated local recurrence in the upper lobe, salvage lobectomy was performed 18 months later. After present follow-up of 8 years there are no signs of recurrent disease. This case indicates that salvage surgery may even be indicated in exceptional and complex cases on the condition that a complete resection is obtained.

Salvage surgery in locoregionally advanced lung cancer

At the time of lung cancer diagnosis 30% of the patients present with locoregionally advanced disease comprising stages IIIA and IIIB which include quite heterogeneous patient populations (2,39). For this reason treatment of stage IIIA and IIIB NSCLC remains controversial and should be tailored to the individual patient after discussion within a multidisciplinary tumor board. As many patients have extensive mediastinal invasion, concurrent chemoradiation with a high radiotherapy dose (>59 Gy) has become standard treatment in this patient population (1). For potentially operable patients with N2 involvement or T3–4 superior sulcus tumors, induction chemoradiation with systemic cisplatin-based chemotherapy followed by surgery 4 to 8 weeks later when there is no progressive disease.

Isolated local relapse occurs in 24–35% of patients after definitive chemoradiation for locally advanced NSCLC (40).



Figure 3 Large abscess cavity colonized by bacteria and fungi in a 39-year-old patient who underwent full-dose chemoradiation 6 months earlier for a right upper lobe adenocarcinoma with mediastinal involvement. A right intrapericardial pneumonectomy became necessary.



Figure 4 Postoperative chest X-ray of the same patient demonstrating irrigation system after right intrapericardial pneumonectomy. There is one inflow drain at the top and 2 basal outflow drains.

There is no consensus on the most effective therapy of those recurrences and treatment options include repeat irradiation, systemic chemotherapy, chemoradiation, cryotherapy, radiofrequency ablation, watchful waiting and salvage surgery (41-43). In selected patients salvage surgery may improve survival if a complete resection can be obtained. Specific indications are listed in *Table 1*. General data in this patient category are more limited but without any doubt, surgical procedures are technically more challenging compared to interventions after SRT for early-stage lung cancer (*Figures 3,4*). There are multiple reasons for this difference. By definition, locally advanced tumors are more centrally located which provokes hilar and

mediastinal fibrosis after high-dose radiotherapy. In its turn, this fibrotic reaction renders dissection of the pulmonary artery more hazardous and often, intrapericardial control of the pulmonary vessels is required. If complications as a lung abscess or an infected cavity occur, the technical complexity of the intervention is further increased with a higher incidence of postoperative complications as empyema and bronchopleural fistula with their associated high mortality rate (44).

Compared to induction chemoradiation the applied radiation dose in chemoradiation with curative intent is higher (>59 Gy) and the interval between radiation and intervention for recurrence is usually longer than two months. Following this period the tissue response to radiation is more pronounced as demonstrated in a rat model showing that the early post-radiation phase (6 to 12 weeks) is characterized by parenchymal and vascular inflammation, whereas in the late phase (34 to 38 weeks) fibroblast hypercellularity and collagen deposition are the main features (45). Increasing the interval between radiation and operation may give rise to a more difficult identification, manipulation and dissection of tissue, therefore leading to a more tedious intervention resulting in increased blood loss compared to a standard procedure. Major procedures may be necessary with clamping of intrapericardial pulmonary vessels or chest wall resection which prolong operative time (46). Subsequently, a more protracted postoperative course may be anticipated with a higher incidence of postoperative morbidity.

Already in 2008, Bauman and colleagues reported a retrospective series of 24 consecutive patients who underwent salvage resection after definitive high-dose radiation >59 Gy for NSCLC, 22 having concurrent chemotherapy (47). In total, 25 resections were performed, mostly (bi)lobectomies and pneumonectomies. One patient died of adult respiratory distress syndrome and 14 patients experienced perioperative morbidity, 8 of them having at least one major complication. No bronchopleural fistulas were recorded probably due to extensive protection of the stump which in 19 cases was covered by a vascularized flap consisting of 16 omental flaps, 2 intercostal muscle pedicles and 1 pericardial fat pad (47). Viable tumor was present in 19 patients. Median OS was 30 months and estimated 3-year survival rate 47%.

Schreiner and colleagues recently described 9 patients who underwent salvage surgery after definitive chemoradiation for a locally advanced NSCLC with a median radiation dose of 66.2 Gy (48). Median interval between chemoradiation and salvage surgery was 30.2 weeks. There was one postoperative death. Median OS time was 23 months, median progression-free survival 21 months, and overall 3-year survival rate 47%, similar to the results of Bauman *et al.* (47).

Shimada *et al.* reported a series of 18 patients, either with relapse or persistent tumor after a median radiotherapy dose of 60 Gy, who underwent salvage surgery (49). In 13 patients, a salvage lobectomy was performed and in 5 patients, a pneumonectomy was performed. There were no operative deaths but complications occurred in 28% of patients. Complete resection was obtained in 89% with a complete pathological response in 28%. Three-year overall and recurrence-free survival rates were 78% and 72%, respectively (49).

These reports show that salvage surgery after full-dose chemoradiation for locally advanced disease is feasible but technically more complex compared to salvage resection after SRT for peripheral, early-stage lung cancer.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- McCloskey P, Balduyck B, Van Schil PE, et al. Radical treatment of non-small cell lung cancer during the last 5 years. Eur J Cancer 2013;49:1555-1564.
- Eberhardt WE, De Ruysscher D, Weder W, et al. 2nd ESMO Consensus Conference in Lung Cancer: locally advanced stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. Ann Oncol 2015;26:1573-1588.
- Uramoto H. Current Topics on Salvage Thoracic Surgery in Patients with Primary Lung Cancer. Ann Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2016;22:65-68.
- Schreiner W, Dudek W, Sirbu H. Is salvage surgery for recurrent non-small-cell lung cancer after definitive nonoperative therapy associated with reasonable survival? Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2015;21:682-684.
- Rami-Porta R, Bolejack V, Crowley J, et al. The IASLC Lung Cancer Staging Project: Proposals for the Revisions of the T Descriptors in the Forthcoming Eighth Edition

of the TNM Classification for Lung Cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2015;10:990-1003.

- Vansteenkiste J, Crino L, Dooms C, et al. 2nd ESMO Consensus Conference on Lung Cancer: early-stage nonsmall-cell lung cancer consensus on diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2014;25:1462-1474.
- 7. De Waele M, Van Schil P. Limited resections in high-risk patients. Curr Opin Pulm Med 2015;21:309-313.
- Sihoe AD, Van Schil P. Non-small cell lung cancer: when to offer sublobar resection. Lung Cancer 2014;86:115-120.
- 9. Robinson CG, Bradley JD. The treatment of early-stage disease. Semin Radiat Oncol 2010;20:178-185.
- Simone CB 2nd, Dorsey JF. Additional data in the debate on stage I non-small cell lung cancer: surgery versus stereotactic ablative radiotherapy. Ann Transl Med 2015;3:172.
- Palma D, Visser O, Lagerwaard FJ, et al. Impact of introducing stereotactic lung radiotherapy for elderly patients with stage I non-small-cell lung cancer: a population-based time-trend analysis. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:5153-5159.
- Van Schil PE. Salvage surgery after stereotactic radiotherapy: a new challenge for thoracic surgeons. J Thorac Oncol 2010;5:1881-1882.
- Van Schil PE, Van Meerbeeck J. Surgery or radiotherapy for early-stage lung cancer--a potential comparison bias. Lancet Oncol 2013;14:e390.
- Van Schil PE. Results of surgery for lung cancer compared with radiotherapy: do we speak the same language. J Thorac Oncol 2013;8:129-130.
- Rami-Porta R, Wittekind C, Goldstraw P, et al. Complete resection in lung cancer surgery: proposed definition. Lung Cancer 2005;49:25-33.
- Onishi H, Shirato H, Nagata Y, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for operable stage I non-small-cell lung cancer: can SBRT be comparable to surgery? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;81:1352-1358.
- Chang JY, Senan S, Paul MA, et al. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy versus lobectomy for operable stage I nonsmall-cell lung cancer: a pooled analysis of two randomised trials. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:630-637.
- Meyers BF, Puri V, Broderick SR, et al. Lobectomy versus stereotactic body radiotherapy for stage I non-small cell lung cancer: Post hoc analysis dressed up as level-1 evidence? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2015;150:468-471.
- Cao C, D'Amico T, Demmy T, et al. Surgery versus SABR for resectable non-small-cell lung cancer. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:e370-e371.

- Zhang L, Tian J, Wang C. Surgery versus SABR for resectable non-small-cell lung cancer. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:e371-e372.
- Chang JY, Senan S, Smit EF, et al. Surgery versus SABR for resectable non-small-cell lung cancer - Authors' reply. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:e374-e375.
- 22. Dearman C, van As N, Crellin A, et al. Surgery versus SABR for resectable non-small-cell lung cancer. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:e373-e374.
- Opitz I, Rocco G, Brunelli A, et al. Surgery versus SABR for resectable non-small-cell lung cancer. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:e372-e373.
- McDonald F, De Waele M, Hendriks LE, et al. Management of stage I and II nonsmall cell lung cancer. Eur Respir J 2017;49.
- 25. Takeda T, Takeda A, Kunieda E, et al. Radiation injury after hypofractionated stereotactic radiotherapy for peripheral small lung tumors: serial changes on CT. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2004;182:1123-1128.
- 26. Neri S, Takahashi Y, Terashi T, et al. Surgical treatment of local recurrence after stereotactic body radiotherapy for primary and metastatic lung cancers. J Thorac Oncol 2010;5:2003-2007.
- 27. Hoopes DJ, Tann M, Fletcher JW, et al. FDG-PET and stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2007;56:229-234.
- Dunlap NE, Larner JM, Read PW, et al. Size matters: a comparison of T1 and T2 peripheral non-small-cell lung cancers treated with stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT). J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2010;140:583-589.
- 29. Satoh Y, Nambu A, Onishi H, et al. Value of dual time point F-18 FDG-PET/CT imaging for the evaluation of prognosis and risk factors for recurrence in patients with stage I non-small cell lung cancer treated with stereotactic body radiation therapy. Eur J Radiol 2012;81:3530-3534.
- 30. Hamaji M, Chen F, Matsuo Y, et al. Treatment and Prognosis of Isolated Local Relapse after Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy for Clinical Stage I Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: Importance of Salvage Surgery. J Thorac Oncol 2015;10:1616-1624.
- 31. Verstegen NE, Lagerwaard FJ, Hashemi SM, et al. Patterns of Disease Recurrence after SABR for Early Stage Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: Optimizing Follow-Up Schedules for Salvage Therapy. J Thorac Oncol 2015;10:1195-1200.
- Hearn JW, Videtic GM, Djemil T, et al. Salvage stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for local failure after primary lung SBRT. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys

2014;90:402-406.

- 33. Sugimoto S, Toyooka S, Suzawa K, et al. Thoracoscopic lobectomy as salvage surgery for local recurrence of nonsmall cell lung cancer after carbon ion radiotherapy in an initially operable patient. Ann Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014;20 Suppl:501-504.
- Allibhai Z, Cho BC, Taremi M, et al. Surgical salvage following stereotactic body radiotherapy for early-stage NSCLC. Eur Respir J 2012;39:1039-1042.
- 35. Verstegen NE, Maat AP, Lagerwaard FJ, et al. Salvage surgery for local failures after stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for early stage non-small cell lung cancer. Radiat Oncol 2016;11:131.
- 36. Antonoff MB, Correa A, Sepesi B, et al. Salvage pulmonary resection following SBRT: a feasible and safe option for local failure. AATS Annual Meeting 2016. Baltimore, 2016.
- Van Schil PE, Hendriks JM, Carp L, et al. Surgery for oligometastatic disease in non-small-cell lung cancer. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 2008;8:1931-1938.
- Duchateau N, Van Bouwel E, Van Schil PE. Salvage surgery in case of oligometastatic disease: a case report. ATS_30276. Ann Thorac Surg 2017. In Press.
- Van Schil PE, De Waele M, Hendriks JM, et al. Surgical treatment of stage III non-small cell lung cancer. Eur J Cancer 2009;45 Suppl 1:106-112.
- 40. Jeppesen SS, Schytte T, Jensen HR, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy versus conventional radiation therapy in patients with early stage non-small cell lung cancer: an updated retrospective study on local failure and survival rates. Acta Oncol 2013;52:1552-1558.
- Bradley J. New territory: surgical salvage for stereotactic body radiation therapy failures in lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2010;5:1879-1880.
- 42. Goto T, Izumi Y, Nakatsuka S, et al. Percutaneous cryoablation as a salvage therapy for local recurrence of lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2012;94:e31-e33.
- 43. Schoellnast H, Deodhar A, Hsu M, et al. Recurrent non-small cell lung cancer: evaluation of CT-guided radiofrequency ablation as salvage therapy. Acta Radiol 2012;53:893-899.
- Van Schil PE, Hendriks JM, Lauwers P. Focus on treatment complications and optimal management surgery. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2014;3:181-186.
- 45. Novakova-Jiresova A, van Luijk P, van Goor H, et al. Changes in expression of injury after irradiation of increasing volumes in rat lung. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2007;67:1510-1518.

Van Breussegem et al. Salvage surgery

- 46. Samson P, Keogan K, Crabtree T, et al. Interpreting survival data from clinical trials of surgery versus stereotactic body radiation therapy in operable Stage I non-small cell lung cancer patients. Lung Cancer 2017;103:6-10.
- Bauman JE, Mulligan MS, Martins RG, et al. Salvage lung resection after definitive radiation (>59 Gy) for non-small cell lung cancer: surgical and oncologic outcomes. Ann Thorac Surg 2008;86:1632-1638; discussion 1638-1639.

Cite this article as: Van Breussegem A, Hendriks JM, Lauwers P, Van Schil PE. Salvage surgery after high-dose radiotherapy. J Thorac Dis 2017;9(Suppl 3):S193-S200. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.03.88

- 48. Schreiner W, Dudek W, Lettmaier S, et al. Should salvage surgery be considered for local recurrence after definitive chemoradiation in locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer? J Cardiothorac Surg 2016;11:9.
- 49. Shimada Y, Suzuki K, Okada M, et al. Feasibility and efficacy of salvage lung resection after definitive chemoradiation therapy for Stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2016;23:895-901.

Surgery versus stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR) for early-stage non-small cell lung cancer: less is not more

Abby White, Scott J. Swanson

Division of Thoracic Surgery, Department of Surgery, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: All authors; (II) Administrative support: All authors; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: A White; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: A White; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: All authors; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Abby White, DO. Associate Surgeon, Division of Thoracic Surgery, Instructor in Surgery, Harvard Medical School, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Mail: 75 Francis Street, Boston, MA 02115, USA. Email: awhite12@partners.org.

Abstract: High level evidence from randomized studies comparing surgery to stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR) is lacking and available retrospective cohort and case control studies are highly variable in how thoroughly they define and stage lung cancer, in how they determine operability, and in the offered surgical approaches to operable lung cancer (open *vs.* video-assisted). This makes it difficult to compare best radiotherapy and best surgery approaches to treatment and to be confident in conclusions of equipoise between the two modalities. What has become clear from the controversy surrounding surgery versus SABR for early stage lung cancer is the desire to optimize treatment efficacy while minimizing invasiveness and morbidity. This review highlights the ongoing debate in light of these goals.

Keywords: Lobectomy; video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery (VATS); stereotactic; lung cancer

Submitted Feb 10, 2016. Accepted for publication Mar 10, 2016. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2016.04.40 **View this article at:** http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2016.04.40

Introduction

More than 1.8 million people are diagnosed with cancers of the lung and bronchus per year, and non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) remains the leading cause of cancer-related deaths worldwide (1). With increasing life expectancy and improvements in medical imaging, the number of affected patients is expected to escalate even further. While previous data suggested that only 25% of patients present with early-stage disease (2), the National Lung Screening Trial (NLST) (3) has confirmed that computed tomography (CT) screening leads to the detection of smaller and hence earlier stage lung cancers, resulting in a 20% mortality reduction. Standard therapy for operable, clinical stage 1 NSCLC is lobectomy with mediastinal lymph node dissection or sampling. That said, lung cancer is a disease of the elderly and a number of patients with early-stage lung cancer present with significant comorbid conditions. Tumor control in patients deemed too high risk to undergo surgery

was suboptimal in the era of conventionally fractionated radiotherapy, with 5-year overall survival rates ranging from 6-32% (4). Dose escalation studies during that time-frame demonstrated modest improvement in local control and survival, but with undesirable toxicity profiles (5). In the last decade, stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR) has emerged from applications in intracranial neoplasms and was evaluated in light of its ability to provide higher doses to more precisely targeted areas in a shorter timeframe than conventional radiotherapy. Unfortunately, high level evidence from randomized studies comparing surgery to SABR is lacking and available retrospective cohort and case control studies are highly variable in how they define and stage lung cancer, determine operability, and in the offered surgical approaches to operable lung cancer (open vs. video-assisted). This makes it difficult to compare best radiotherapy and best surgical approaches to treatment and to be confident in conclusions of equipoise between the two modalities. What has become clear from the controversy

surrounding surgery versus SABR for early stage lung cancer is the desire to optimize treatment efficacy while minimizing invasiveness and morbidity. This review attempts to highlight the ongoing debate in light of these goals.

Pre-treatment staging

Lung cancer survival is intimately linked to stage of disease (6) and well-established guidelines from the American Association of Chest Physicians (ACCP) (2) and National Cancer Care Network (NCCN) (7) highlight the importance of both tissue diagnosis and a complete metastatic workup in all stages of NSCLC. Pursuant to that and crucial to accurate staging is a thorough evaluation of the mediastinum. CT and 18-Fluoro-deoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET) imaging is valuable to that evaluation. However, false-negative rates of 5-15% and false-positive rates of 0 to 53% make it an imperfect tool (8), and make more invasive approaches to mediastinal staging, such as endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA) and cervical and videoassisted mediastinal lymph node sampling necessary. A large multi-institutional, prospective, randomized trial has demonstrated the importance of lymph node evaluation during the surgical treatment of NSCLC (9). Yet otherwise robust prospective studies evaluating SABR as primary therapy for both operable and inoperable early stage lung cancer have not consistently required tissue diagnosis and/ or formal lymph node staging. This is despite the fact that there was a 16% incidence of occult N1 or N2 disease in the 525 patients who underwent lymph node dissection for early stage lung cancer in the randomized American College of Surgeons Oncology Group (ACOSOG) Z0030 trial (9). Even data for very small tumors (<1 cm) demonstrates an occult lymph node metastasis in 7% of patients (10). In the era of electronavigational bronchoscopy, EBUS, endoscopic ultrasound (EUS), and CT-guided biopsy, providing patients with the necessary counseling, expertise and tools to accurately diagnose and stage suspected lung cancer cannot be over-emphasized. Current and future studies designed to compare the effectiveness of surgical and nonsurgical treatments of NSCLC should incorporate similar strategies in all treatment arms.

Defining operability

While the designation of operable versus inoperable

lung cancer receives great press in the literature, working definitions within the context of comparing SABR to surgery are not consistently applied. The 2013 ACCP guidelines for the preoperative evaluation of lung cancer patients suggest that potential candidates for resection with either forced expiratory volume in one minute (FEV₁) or diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide (DLCO) less than sixty percent predicted undergo an estimation of the postoperative predicted volumes. Patients with postoperative predicted FEV₁ or DLCO between 30% and 60% are at increased operative risk and further simple exercise testing (six-minute walk, stair climbing) should be considered. Data from radiation oncology literature rarely includes this specific data for patients. Likewise, not all surgical data reports information relative to the oncology community regarding performance status, such as the Eastern Oncology Group (ECOG) Performance Scale. Ideally, studies comparing surgery and SABR would incorporate morbidity data which is mutually interpretable. While algorithms and scales are valuable benchmarks, when dealing with a persistently elderly and medically frail population, nothing supplants best realtime clinical judgment. Given geographical resource and skill set variations, surgeons themselves are charged with evaluating their own limitations before offering surgery to marginal lung cancer patients, and the authors would like to emphasize that the determination of operability should always be made by a board certified thoracic surgeon.

Surgery for early stage lung cancer

Dr. Evarts Graham (St Louis) reported the first successful pneumonectomy for lung cancer using a tourniquet technique in 1933 and subsequent adaptations including lobectomy and segmentectomy came much later. In 1992, Lewis and colleagues reported 100 consecutive patients who underwent video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery (VATS), including three lobectomies with anatomic hilar dissection (11). The Lung Cancer Study Group published results of a randomized trial, in 1995 that compared a sublobar resection versus a lobectomy for early stage lung cancer (12). This demonstrated a higher rate of recurrence and associated trend toward decreased disease-free survival when comparing lobar to sublobar resection for patients with cancer. This analysis of 247 patients set the tone for lobectomy as the standard of care for non-small cell lung cancer (NCSLC) for decades to come. Of note, both wedge resection and anatomic segmentectomy were included in the

sublobar analysis for this study and the majority of patients underwent open resection. There were no statistically significant differences among the treatment groups relative to prognostic factors, morbidity or mortality. In this study however, the VATS was ill-defined and included patients with mini-thoracotomy incisions and did not exclude rib spreading. At that time, patients considered high risk for thoracotomy, due to poor cardiopulmonary reserve, were being referred for radiation therapy, even for small peripheral (T1) tumors. In this light, a multicenter trial sponsored by the Cancer and Leukemia Group B (CALGB) 9335 aimed to evaluate the role of VATS wedge resection and adjuvant radiation in treating lung cancer patients considered to be high risk for thoracotomy (13). The study found VATS to be a reasonable approach with minimal morbidity and mortality for T1 lung cancers (tumors ≤ 3 cm).

In 2002, the first multicenter prospective trial (14) to standardize VATS lobectomy and evaluate it as a viable therapy for lung cancer was opened. It enrolled 128 patients for VATS lobectomy, intentionally defined as one access incision, two or three 5 mm port incisions, and no retractor use or rib spreading. The perioperative morbidity was 7.4% and 30-day mortality was 2.7%, both comparable to standards of open thoracotomy in patients with small peripheral tumors. Prolonged air leak and perioperative arrhythmia were both decreased in the VATS group relative to historical controls, affirming assumptions that would ultimately be corroborated by others: that VATS offered a sound oncologic operation at reduced morbidity, even in high risk patients. With the advent of VATS-specific instrumentation, improved techniques for lung isolation and retraction, and newer and better video equipment, those morbidity and mortality numbers have gotten even better and studies continue to show benefit with VATS versus open surgery with respect to hospital length of stay, perioperative complications, and greater likelihood of independent home discharge compared with open lobectomy for early-stage lung cancer (15). These results are reproducible in countries outside the United States, as fewer postoperative complications and shorter length of stay were recently corroborated in a European Society of Thoracic Surgery Database project which propensity matched over 2,000 patients who underwent VATS lobectomy (16). Recent studies suggest that VATS lobectomy can be accomplished in patients with significant COPD (17) or marginal pulmonary function tests with 30-day mortalities below 1% (18). VATS segmentectomy remains an option

for patients whose lung function may not otherwise allow resection, and current randomized trials are underway to assess the oncologic equivalence of these sublobar resections (19,20) as they compare to standard lobectomy. Techniques for minimally invasive segmentectomy are well described and accomplishable in most VATS programs (21,22). Finally, the ACOSOG Z0030 trial (9), which included over 1,000 patients who underwent surgical treatment of early stage lung disease demonstrated that overall survival at 5 years was 72% for stage T1 tumors and 55% for stage T2 tumors. Local recurrence-free survival was 95% for stage T1 tumors and 91% for stage T2. As suggested by Su and colleagues in a 2014 analysis of the study, this robust, multiinstitutional and meticulously verified data should serve as the benchmark against which non-surgical therapy for early stage lung cancer is compared (23).

Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR) for inoperable early stage lung cancer

Stereotactic radiotherapy for intracranial cancers has been in use since the 1950's (24). The first attempts to apply it outside of the central nervous system were pioneered in the 1990's. There are several platforms through which SABR for lung cancer is delivered. The key feature which makes SABR attractive for lung cancer therapy is the ability to deliver highly specific radiation using some form of image guidance to identify and compensate for tumor motion within the respiratory cycle. In systems where 2-D imaging is utilized, fiducial markers are placed in and around the tumor to facilitate motion of tracking throughout the treatment. Planning treatment volume (PTV) is chosen based on tumor volume and some additional margin, which varies from 2-5 mm. An advantage of SABR over conventional radiotherapy is the ability to deliver doses that would precipitate much higher rates of fibrosis and pneumonitis using conventional techniques. Enthusiasm was gained by a 2005 phase I trial of SABR and completed by Timmerman and colleagues at Indiana University (25). The trial included 47 patients with stage 1A or 1B NCSLC and concluded that pathologic diagnosis was required for accrual and patients had to be deemed inoperable by a thoracic surgeon. Local failure was defined as recurrence within the treated tumor volume only, so a recurrence within the same lobe but outside the treated area, would be considered regional recurrence. The local failure rate was 21% in this study. Overall and disease free survival were not reported, but the study was designed as a dose

Study	Year	No. patients	5-year OS (%)	5-year DFS (%)	Local recurrence rate** (%)	Notes
ACOSOG Z0030 (Surgery)	2011	1,023			4.9	
Stage T1		578	72	77		
Stage T2		440	55	58		
RTOG	2014*					
Combined stage T1 and T2		55	40	26	23.6	
Bral et al.	2011					
Combined stage T1 and T2		40	NR	NR	7.5 (2 yr)	2 yr OS =56%, 2yr DFS =64%
Ricardi et al.	2010					
Combined stage T1 and T2		62	NR	NR	3.2 (2 yr)	35.5% had unknown histology, 3 yr OS =57.1%

 Table 1 Summary of prospective studies of surgery and SABR for early-stage NSCLC

*, the initial RTOG 0236 data was published in 2010 but longer-term data was presented by Timmerman *et al.* in 2014; **, defined as recurrence within the same lobe. SABR, stereotactic ablative radiotherapy; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; OS, overall survival; DFS, disease free survival; RTOG, Radiation Oncology Group.

escalation study. Treatment toxicities were notable and included pneumonitis, pericardial effusion, tracheal necrosis and pneumonia. The maximum tolerated dose of radiation was determined to be 66 Gy delivered in three fractions. Because this was still considerably better than outcome data for untreated or conventional radiotherapy-treated early stage lung cancer, it sparked much interest and enthusiasm, prompting the phase II Radiation Oncology Group (RTOG) 0236 study (26). Fifty five patients were treated with SABR between 2004 and 2006 for histologically confirmed NCSLC, of which 80% were stage T1a. Inoperability was determined by a pulmonologist or a thoracic surgeon. Local failure was defined as those occurring within 1 cm of the planning target volume (1.5-2.0 cm from the gross tumor volume); however, disease free survival was reported and included separate assessments of local-regional failure (within the primary site, involved lobe, hilum, or mediastinum) and disseminated recurrence (failure beyond the local and regional sites). Three-year overall and diseasefree survival were 55% and 48.3% respectively. The locoregional recurrence rate was 12.8% and 20% of patients had distant recurrence. Central tumors were exluded from this study because Timmerman and colleagues had identified the risk of treatment-related complications was higher in this cohort in a secondary analysis of the initial phase I study (27). Nearly 22% of patients had a rated Grade 3 or higher adverse event by the 90-day mark, which included reduction in PFTs, hypocalcemia, or pneumonitis

(rib fracture and chest wall pain were not reported). There were no treatment-related deaths and SABR gained rapid popularity. Several retrospective studies emerged in the radiation oncology literature reporting similar three-year overall and disease-free survival data (28-30), though the standards of histologically confirmed cancer diagnosis and surgeon-led evaluation of operability were sparsely acknowledged or reported and local and regional failure definitions inconsistent.

Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR) for operable early stage lung cancer

Table 1 highlights characteristics of randomized data (26,31,32) comparing SABR to the benchmark ACOSOG Z0030 trial (9). With increasing concerns of extrapolating retrospective data on inoperable and high-risk patients to operable patients, two prospective randomized controlled studies enrolled to evaluate surgery versus SABR in operable stage 1 NSCLC patients. Both trials closed due to poor accrual and were not designed to compare best surgical practice to SABR, as open lobectomy was the most common approach, and morbidity and mortality rates were far below accepted international norms. The STARS trial included 28 sites in the USA, China and France but only seven ultimately enrolled a total of 31 patients. In the ROSEL trial, ten centers in the Netherlands were approved and only four enrolled a total of 22 patients. Chang *et al.* attempted

analysis and interpretation of the combined data from these two studies, citing similar inclusion criteria, though no histologic cancer diagnosis was required for enrollment in the ROSEL trial, and could positively affect survival data in favor of SABR (33). Of the 58 patients analyzed, 27 were assigned to surgery and 70% of them underwent open lobectomy. The authors declared equipoise between the two treatment modalities quoting the overall and diseasefree survival data that favored SABR, yet the study was not designed as a non-inferiority project and was underpowered for both of these end points. Under highlighted was the 16% locoregional recurrence rate in the SABR-treated patients and surgical complication rates much higher than accepted standards. Two additional prospective randomized trials have been designed to help ascertain which patients stand to gain the most benefit from SABR. The VALOR study: Veterans Affairs Lung cancer surgery OR stereotactic Radiotherapy in the US and the SABRTooth study in the United Kingdom will aim to compare best surgical to best SABR treatments.

Treatment efficacy

Measures of treatment efficacy when comparing SABR and surgery are subject to similar constraints of comparing pathologic to clinical data, particularly as it relates to surveying for and defining disease recurrence. Pathologic data about tumor grade, margin and receptor status, pleural and lymphovascular invasion, and induction treatment effect have proven to be objective and insightful in the treatment of patients with early-stage NSCLC. Data in surgical literature suggests a relationship between surgical resection margin and local recurrence rates (34,35). A review of over 400 patients found that patients with a 10-mm margin distance had a 45% lower local recurrence risk than those with a 5-mm distance (34). Such information is available as a consequence of surgical resection, but unavailable within the context of nonsurgical therapies, including SABR. Evidence supports adjuvant chemotherapy for the 15-20% of patients with early stage NSCLC and occult lymph node metastasis on surgical pathologic review (36), information that is simply not available for patients without specimens to review. Post-treatment surveillance PET scanning will be important, but unlikely to provide timely insight until lymph node spread has become sufficient to produce avidity in mediastinal or hilar lymph node stations, at which point it is unclear whether adjuvant chemotherapy would still offer a survival benefit. The challenge of following SABR patients

post-treatment has been studied (37). Recognition of imaging patterns and development of tools and technology to detect locoregional recurrence earlier and with better accuracy will be essential to assessing the efficacy of nonsurgical therapies for lung cancer.

Discussion

Although surgery is the standard of care for early stage NSCLC, the rapid evolution of non-surgical therapies, such as SABR, has brought to light important concerns about patient selection, oncologic efficacy and treatmentrelated morbidity. Additionally, SABR has and will continue to have an important role to play in patients who cannot undergo or refuse surgery. Scientific and technological breakthroughs have expanded the diagnostic and therapeutic armamentarium for patients with lung cancer. The pace of innovation and discovery is promising, but must not outperform quality filtering and critical review of published data. Pathologic confirmation of disease is paramount when comparing surgical resection to SABR. In much the same way surgical survival data would have less impact if patients with hamartomas and granulomas were included, patients without confirmation of cancer should be excluded from SABR data. In the era of multidisciplinary tumor boards and clinics, electronavigational bronchoscopy, EBUS, EUS, imaged guided percutaneous biopsies, single-incision and even awake VATS lung and lymph node biopsies, it should be the exception to find patients who are unfit or unwilling to undergo tissue diagnosis and thorough mediastinal staging or restaging, not the norm. This is particularly true in light of targeted therapy and molecular sequencing advances, which necessitate at least a core of tissue for analysis. Review of current prospective randomized (most is not randomized) data as detailed in this review, highlights the need for large scale, multi-institution and multi-specialty collaborations to provide sound comparison between the standard of care and non-surgical therapies. Cost analyses will be critical to our understanding and longterm survival and quality of life data should be incorporated into well-designed clinical trials.

Conclusions

Surgical resection remains the standard of care for earlystage NCSLC. Minimally invasive approaches should be considered for all patients with operable tumors. Prospective data suggests improved morbidity and equivalent oncologic efficacy in VATS approaches to lung cancer, even in populations considered high-risk. SABR is a safe and valuable treatment option for patients who cannot or will not undergo surgery, and operability should be determined by a board-certified thoracic surgeon. More robust data is needed before drawing conclusions about the applicability of SABR as primary therapy for patients with operable early stage NSCLC, and caution should be taken when extrapolating available data.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, et al. Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin 2015;65:87-108.
- 2. Detterbeck FC, Lewis SZ, Diekemper R, et al. Executive Summary: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013;143:7S-37S.
- 3. National Lung Screening Trial Research Team, Aberle DR, Adams AM, et al. Reduced lung-cancer mortality with low-dose computed tomographic screening. N Engl J Med 2011;365:395-409.
- 4. Qiao X, Tullgren O, Lax I, et al. The role of radiotherapy in treatment of stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2003;41:1-11.
- Dosoretz DE, Katin MJ, Blitzer PH, et al. Radiation therapy in the management of medically inoperable carcinoma of the lung: results and implications for future treatment strategies. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1992;24:3-9.
- 6. Detterbeck FC, Boffa DJ, Tanoue LT. The new lung cancer staging system. Chest 2009;136:260-271.
- 7. National Cancer Care Network Guidelines. Non-small cell lung cancer. 2015. Available online: www.nccn.org
- Puri V, Meyers BF. Optimal initial pathologic mediastinal staging of lung cancer: EUS, EBUS, mediastinoscopy. Difficult decisions in thoracic surgery. London: Springer, 2011:67-75.
- 9. Darling GE, Allen MS, Decker PA, et al. Randomized

trial of mediastinal lymph node sampling versus complete lymphadenectomy during pulmonary resection in the patient with N0 or N1 (less than hilar) non-small cell carcinoma: results of the American College of Surgery Oncology Group Z0030 Trial. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2011;141:662-670.

- Miller DL, Rowland CM, Deschamps C, et al. Surgical treatment of non-small cell lung cancer 1 cm or less in diameter. Ann Thorac Surg 2002;73:1545-1550; discussion 1550-1551.
- 11. Lewis RJ, Caccavale RJ, Sisler GE, et al. One hundred consecutive patients undergoing video-assisted thoracic operations. Ann Thorac Surg 1992;54:421-426.
- Ginsberg RJ, Rubinstein LV. Randomized trial of lobectomy versus limited resection for T1 N0 non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer Study Group. Ann Thorac Surg 1995;60:615-622; discussion 622-623.
- Shennib HA, Landreneau R, Mulder DS, et al. Videoassisted thoracoscopic wedge resection of T1 lung cancer in high-risk patients. Ann Surg 1993;218:555-558; discussion 558-560.
- Swanson SJ, Herndon JE 2nd, D'Amico TA, et al. Videoassisted thoracic surgery lobectomy: report of CALGB 39802--a prospective, multi-institution feasibility study. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:4993-4997.
- Taylor MD, LaPar DJ, Isbell JM, et al. Marginal pulmonary function should not preclude lobectomy in selected patients with non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014;147:738-744.
- 16. Falcoz PE, Puyraveau M, Thomas PA, et al. Videoassisted thoracoscopic surgery versus open lobectomy for primary non-small-cell lung cancer: a propensitymatched analysis of outcome from the European Society of Thoracic Surgeon database. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2016;49:602-609.
- Nwogu CE, D'Cunha J, Pang H, et al. VATS lobectomy has better perioperative outcomes than open lobectomy: CALGB 31001, an ancillary analysis of CALGB 140202 (Alliance). Ann Thorac Surg 2015;99:399-405.
- Burt BM, Kosinski AS, Shrager JB, et al. Thoracoscopic lobectomy is associated with acceptable morbidity and mortality in patients with predicted postoperative forced expiratory volume in 1 second or diffusing capacity for carbon monoxide less than 40% of normal. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014;148:19-28, dicussion 28-29.e1.
- Nakamura K, Saji H, Nakajima R, et al. A phase III randomized trial of lobectomy versus limited resection for small-sized peripheral non-small cell lung

195

cancer (JCOG0802/WJOG4607L). Jpn J Clin Oncol 2010;40:271-274.

- Fox N, Bauer T. CALGB 140503: A randomized phase III trial of lobectomy versus sublobar resection for small (<2cm) peripheral non-small cell lung cancer. Oncology Issues November/December 2008. (Status: Active).
- McKenna RJ, Mahtabifard A, Swanson SJ. Atlas of minimally invasive thoracic surgery (VATS). 1st edition. Philadelphia: Elsevier/Saunders, 2011.
- 22. White A, Swanson SJ. Video-assisted thoracic surgery (VATS) segmentectomy: state of the art. Minerva Chir 2016;71:61-66.
- Su S, Scott WJ, Allen MS, et al. Patterns of survival and recurrence after surgical treatment of early stage non-small cell lung carcinoma in the ACOSOG Z0030 (ALLIANCE) trial. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014;147:747-52: Discussion 752-3.
- 24. Leksell L. The stereotaxic method and radiosurgery of the brain. Acta Chir Scand 1951;102:316-319.
- McGarry RC, Papiez L, Williams M, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy of early-stage non-small-cell lung carcinoma: phase I study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005;63:1010-1015.
- 26. Fakiris AJ, McGarry RC, Yiannoutsos CT, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for early-stage non-small-cell lung carcinoma: four-year results of a prospective phase II study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2009;75:677-682.
- Timmerman R, McGarry R, Yiannoutsos C, et al. Excessive toxicity when treating central tumors in a phase II study of stereotactic body radiation therapy for medically inoperable early-stage lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:4833-4839.
- 28. Onishi H, Shirato H, Nagata Y, et al. Hypofractionated stereotactic radiotherapy (HypoFXSRT) for stage I nonsmall cell lung cancer: updated results of 257 patients in a Japanese multi-institutional study. J Thorac Oncol

Cite this article as: White A, Swanson SJ. Surgery versus stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR) for early-stage non-small cell lung cancer: less is not more. J Thorac Dis 2016;8(Suppl 4):S399-S405. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2016.04.40

2007;2:S94-100.

- 29. Grills IS, Hope AJ, Guckenberger M, et al. A collaborative analysis of stereotactic lung radiotherapy outcomes for early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer using daily online cone-beam computed tomography image-guided radiotherapy. J Thorac Oncol 2012;7:1382-1393.
- Guckenberger M, Allgäuer M, Appold S, et al. Safety and efficacy of stereotactic body radiotherapy for stage 1 non-small-cell lung cancer in routine clinical practice: a patterns-of-care and outcome analysis. J Thorac Oncol 2013;8:1050-1058.
- 31. Bral S, Gevaert T, Linthout N, et al. Prospective, riskadapted strategy of stereotactic body radiotherapy for early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer: results of a Phase II trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;80:1343-1349.
- Ricardi U, Filippi AR, Guarneri A, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for early stage non-small cell lung cancer: results of a prospective trial. Lung Cancer 2010;68:72-77.
- 33. Chang JY, Senan S, Paul MA, et al. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy versus lobectomy for operable stage I nonsmall-cell lung cancer: a pooled analysis of two randomised trials. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:630-637.
- 34. Mohiuddin K, Haneuse S, Sofer T, et al. Relationship between margin distance and local recurrence among patients undergoing wedge resection for small (≤2 cm) non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014;147:1169-1175; discussion 1175-1177.
- El-Sherif A, Fernando HC, Santos R, et al. Margin and local recurrence after sublobar resection of non-small cell lung cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 2007;14:2400-2405.
- Winton T, Livingston R, Johnson D, et al. Vinorelbine plus cisplatin vs. observation in resected non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2005;352:2589-2597.
- Eradat J, Abtin F, Gutierrez A, et al. Evaluation of treatment response after nonoperative therapy for early-stage nonsmall cell lung carcinoma. Cancer J 2011;17:38-48.

Stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy (SABR): an alternative to surgery in stage I-II non-small-cell cancer of the lung?

René-Olivier Mirimanoff

Department of Radiation Oncology, Clinique de La Source, Lausanne CH-1004, Switzerland *Correspondence to:* René-Olivier Mirimanoff, MD. Clinique de La Source (CLS), Avenue Vinet 30, CH-1004 Lausanne, Switzerland. Email: rene-olivier.mirimanoff@chuv.ch.

> **Abstract:** For decades, surgery was considered to be the only standard therapy for early-stage non-smallcell lung cancer (NSCLC). However stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy (SABR) has been used in a growing number of patients and institutions since the early 2000's. Initially this technique was intended mainly for patients who were deemed to be medically inoperable due to co-morbidities or who refused surgery, but more recently it has been applied to operable patients as well. Strict criteria for treatment planning, the use of high-technology equipment and the appropriate selection of dose based on tumor size and location are of paramount importance for a proper application of SABR. Under these conditions, SABR offers high control rates with a moderate risk of severe toxicity, quite comparable to those of modern surgery. This article reviews the basic principles of SABR, its practical aspects, the definition of biologically equivalent doses, the results in terms of tumor control, survival and toxicity and an attempt will be made to compare the results of SABR with those of surgery.

> **Keywords:** Stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy (SABR); non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC); early-stage; local control; survival

Submitted Apr 21, 2015. Accepted for publication Oct 22, 2015. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2304-3865.2015.11.02 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2304-3865.2015.11.02

Introduction

In spite of the remarkable progress in the biological understanding, the pathological and clinical diagnosis and in the various treatments of non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC), its overall prognosis remains disappointing, even in early stages. For decades, surgery was considered to be the only standard therapy in early disease, however the 5-year survival rates after a surgical resection ranged 60% to 80% in stage I and only 40% to 50% in stage II (1). Surgery, like other curative treatments for NSCLC, including stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy (SABR), (see below) may be followed by important complications, and can even lead to a decline of quality of life (2), especially in elderly patients (3). Old age and the presence of multiple co-morbidities were, and still are, responsible for the undertreatment of early stage NSCLC in a significant proportion of patients. For example in the Netherlands,

up to the late 1990's, 32% of patients aged 75 years and older could not receive any curative local treatment for stage I NSCLC (4), but that was in an era before new treatments such as video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery (VATS), radiofrequency ablation, cryosurgery and SABR, were commonly available. However since the past decade, SABR has been more and more used in a large number of patients in a growing number of institutions. It is generally accepted that this technique represents now an alternative to surgery, under well-defined conditions, and can be administered to elderly patients and to patients with multiple co-morbidities, as reported by recent reviews (5-9). The present review is primarily intended for interested chest physicians, thoracic surgeons, medical oncologists and radiation oncologists not yet experienced in SABR, and who wish to become more familiar with this technique. In this article, the basic principles of SABR, its practical aspects, the definition of dose, and the results including tumor



Figure 1 Schematic representation of an internal target volume (ITV) with comparative CT scans of the same patient in expiration and inspiration, and treated at our institution (CLS) (courtesy Mrs Bressan RTT, CLS).

control and toxicity will be reviewed, and an attempt will be made to compare the results of SABR with those of surgery.

Stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy (SABR)

Rationale and indications

Long before the advent of SABR (also called SBRT for stereotactic body radiotherapy), conventional radiotherapy (RT) was sometimes given to patients with early stage NSCLC who were not candidates for surgery for medical reasons or who refused surgery (10). However, conventional RT techniques had their limitations. Sixty Gy, in conventional daily fractionation of 2 Gy, represents a biologically equivalent dose (BED10) of 72, which is clearly insufficient to control a NSCLC in most situations (see below). So even if some inoperable patients could be cured with conventional RT, the overall results were rather poor, with at least 40% local failures and 5-year overall survival (OS) rates of only 15-20% (10,11). Compared to conventionally fractionated RT, which for NSCLC typically delivers a dose of about 60 Gy in daily fractions of 1.8 to 2 Gy in 6 weeks, SABR represents a completely different philosophy, which delivers very high doses of highly conformal RT to relatively small volumes in a few days. This technique derives from the principles applied in intracranial stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS), which has been administered for decades for intracranial neoplasms (12), and thus uses rather similar technical tools and rather similar radiobiological principles. Thus SABR delivers very large doses, referred to by Timmerman et al., as "ablative" doses (13) of RT in a few high-dose fractionation schedules, typically in 3 to 8 fractions (see below). Compared to

considerations, referred to by Timmerman *et al.* in another paper as the "hypofractionated revolution" (14). Thus it is critical for the newcomers in the field to have a good understanding of these radiobiological principles, otherwise major problems and complications will be likely to be met. Besides this, in order to apply SABR, one needs to have at hand the most sophisticated technological tools, high competence in physics, imaging, RT planning and RT delivery, to administer safely this high, compact dose to the target. Each treatment should insure a steep gradient of dose for a maximum avoidance of normal sensitive structures, while hitting the target with the highest precision.

conventional RT, this implies major radiobiological re-

Target definition and treatment planning

After having confirmed the indication for SABR, the first technical step for planning SABR includes a careful identification of the target with the best currently available imaging tools, including a high-quality CT with appropriate windowing. Then, a planning 4 D CT is obtained, to define not only the gross tumor volume (GTV) and the clinical target volume (CTV), but also and most importantly the internal target volume (ITV, Figure 1), which represents the space occupied by the tumor during the whole respiratory cycle. Depending on the tumor volume and motion the radiation can be applied either (I) to the whole ITV, particularly in case of limited tumor volume and tumor motion, or (II) by using a "gating" technique, in which the irradiation is applied only during part of the respiratory cycle, or (III) using a "tracking" technology, in which the tumor is "followed" by the beam during the respiratory


Figure 2 Cell survival curves with various fractionation schedules for a total dose of 20 Gy. Note the largely different cell kill between 20 Gy given in one fraction versus 20 Gy given in 10 fractions.

cycle. During the planning procedure, (like for any highprecision RT), it is essential to determine the best treatment plan by optimal dose-volume histograms (DVH). Normal tissue constraints values, which are defined specifically for large fractions, have to be used, and can be found in related papers (13). Although many different technical approaches have been used, to ensure the best distribution of dose high-technology linacs with intensity modulation RT (IMRT), or volumetric arc therapy (V-MAT) and image-guided RT (IGRT) technology, or other tools like the Tomotherapy or the Cyberknife systems, or even the proton-beam technology, have to be used. However at present, there are no data demonstrating the superiority of any of these treatment techniques over any other ones. Stable and reproducible positioning is essential, using either various frame systems to better immobilize the patients, or frameless systems using markers and image-guided systems.

Definition of dose in SABR

SABR implies a large total dose in a few fractions. It should be remembered that what is called a radiobiological dose has not at all the same meaning as a physical dose. Due to the decreased or absent DNA repair when large individual doses per fraction are given to any tissue (tumor or normal tissue), a dose such as 20 Gy given in one fraction is much more efficient than 20 Gy given in 10 fraction (*Figure 2*).

Table 1 Examples of five different schedules used for SABRcompared with one conventional schedule of 60 Gy in30 fractions, and their corresponding BED10 values

, 1 0	
Total dose in Gy/number of fractions	BED10
48/4	106
45/3	113
60/30	72
60/8	105
60/5	132
60/3	180

SABR, stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy; BED, biologically equivalent dose.

Similarly, 60 Gy in 3 fractions is much more "tumoricidal" (and hugely more toxic!) than 60 Gy given in 30 fractions. Thus, to establish RT protocols with biologically equivalent doses while using different fractionation schedules, various calculation formulae can be used, like the BED equation, where (3,10):

$$BED = D(1 + d / \alpha / \beta)$$

where *BED* = biologically equibalent dose;

- D =total dose in Gy;
- d =dose perfraction in Gy;
- α / β = coefficient for tumors or normal tissues.

Some examples of SABR schedules and one of a conventional schedule of 60 Gy in 30 fractions, and their corresponding BED10 values are displayed on *Table 1*. One can see that any dose used for SABR is largely superior to that of the conventional RT scheme. The differences are even greater when taking an α/β value of 3 (BED3) for normal tissues. Specific normal tissue tolerance-dose constraints for 1-5 fractions schedules have to be used and recommendations can be found in the literature (13). This explains why, choosing a protocol for tumors in the vicinity of sensitive normal structures, most investigators today will carefully adapt the total dose and the dose per fraction to decrease the risk of major tissue complications (see below).

Results of SABR

Local control and survival

Following SABR for stage I and II NSCLC, several endpoints should be considered to evaluate its success or failure. Local control should ideally be the most important



Figure 3 CT scan of a 80-year-old patient treated at our institution (CLS) for a right upper lobe NSCLC (A). He received a SABR of 60 Gy in 5 fractions with a V-MAT technique (B). CT scan at 6 months shows some residual opacity secondary to the treatment (C).

Table 2 Summary of studies	on SABR for early stage	non-small cell lung cancer	(17 - 32)
	in brindige ion carry dauge	fion binan con rang cancer	(- /

Series	Year	Patients	LC	2 y S	3 y S
Onishi (17)	2004	245	85%	-	56%
Xia (18)	2006	43	81%	78%	-
Lagerwaard (19)	2007	206	81%	-	64%
Chen (20)	2008	65	88%	-	57%
Baumann (21)	2009	57	92%	-	60%
Bradley (22)	2010	91	86%	-	-
Timmerman (23)	2010	59	97%	-	56%
Ricardi (24)	2010	57	92%	-	60%
Matsuo (25)	2011	101	93%	80%	-
Widder (26)	2011	202	95%	72%	-
Takeda (27)	2012	173	80%	-	-
Shibamoto (28)	2012	180	87%	-	-
Taremi (29)	2012	108	-	63%	-
Hamamoto (30)	2012	128	87%	-	-
Crabtree (31)	2014	151	97%	-	52%
Kestin (32)	2014	483	91%	-	-

LC, local control; 2 y S: 2-year survival; 3 y S: 3-year survival.

endpoint in SABR, as it should reflect directly the efficacy of the technique, especially when compared to surgery. However the interpretation of the radiographic response is often difficult. A complete disappearance of the tumor is observed only in a minority of patients, and even in case of permanent local control one can still identify some abnormalities, even months later (*Figure 3*). In a review, 60% to 100% of patients were expected to have radiographic changes after SABR (15). The changes observed on CT could be scored into five categories: (I) diffuse consolidation, (II) patchy consolidation and ground-glass opacities (GGO), (III) diffuse GGO, (IV) patchy GGO, and (V) no evidence of increased density (15). All these can mean permanent local control. FDG-PET may be helpful but inflammatory response may persist more than 12 months (15,16). Interestingly, late radiological changes may differ depending on the SABR technique that was used. Arc-SABR trended towards more pronounced radiological changes, with a different pattern, compared to changes seen after fixedbeams SABR (16). Overall, after SABR, permanent local control of the tumor is observed in 81% to 97% of treated patients (*Table 2*) (17-32). The next other major endpoint is survival: in the same series, survival at 3 years was reported to be between 52% and 64% (*Table 2*) (17-32). Examples

of some typical series show fairly consistent results. Onishi et al. have treated 245 patients in 13 Japanese institutions, with a median BED dose of 108 Gy (57-180 Gy) (17). Local progression occurred in 14.5%, and the 3-year-survival was 56%, with a cause-specific survival of 78%, indicating that a significant proportion of deaths were not cancer-related but were due to other co-morbidities (17). Lagerwaard et al. from VUMC, Amsterdam, have reported on 206 patients treated with 3 schedules of 3×20 Gy, 5×12 Gy and 8×7.5 Gy, depending on T stage and proximity of sensitive structures (19) (see also below). Median survival was 34 months, local failures were observed only in 3% and regional failures in 9% (19). Bradley et al. prospectively registered and analyzed 91 patients from Washington University School of Medicine (WUSM) in St Louis, with 3×18 Gy for peripheral tumors and 5×9 Gy for tumors in close vicinity of critical structures (22). Most patients had either a poor performance status or poor lung functions. Two-year local control was achieved in 86% of patients (22). Crabtree et al. have reviewed 151 SABR patients, whom they compared to 458 surgical patients (31) (see below). BED10 varied between 85.5 and 151.2. For the SABR group, 3-year local control was 89% and OS 52% (31). **Optimal** dose of SBRT

Since the first reports on SABR, many different schedules of dose have been explored, in order to find the best therapeutic ratio, taking into account the best probability of tumor control with a minimal risk of causing major complications.

One initial dose-escalation phase I study was initiated at Indiana University to assess toxicity and local control rates (33). Forty-seven patients were treated with SABR escalating from a starting dose of 24 Gy in three fractions up to 72 Gy in three fractions. Patients were stratified by T stage and tumor size. The maximum tolerated dose (MTD) was 66 Gy in 3 fractions for tumors larger than 5 cm and was not reached for T1 tumors at 60 Gy in 3 fractions or tumors less than 5 cm at 66 Gy in 3 fractions (33). Chi et al. have extensively reviewed and linked radiobiological modeling and clinical outcome from 9 series of patients (34). Their estimates indicate a clear dose-response relationship: for example with BED10 values of 72, 84, 106 (see corresponding doses and fractions in Gray on Table 1), the progression-free survival at 30 months (PFS30) is only 15%, 24%, and 34%, respectively (34). With higher BED10, the PFS30 increases markedly: BED10 values of 113 and 125 correspond to a PFS30 of 95% and 99%, respectively and then of course a plateau is reached (34). Beyond these BED10 values, one may question the necessity to administer higher RT doses, as the toxicity of normal tissues increases even more (see below). Kestin et al. have reviewed 505 T1 and T2 NSCLC in 483 patients treated by SABR in 5 institutions in the USA, Germany, The Netherlands and Canada (32). All were treated with on-line imageguidance RT (32). Five different schedules, with a median prescription BED10 of 132 Gy, were used. A clear doseresponse relationship for local control was demonstrated, with an optimal BED10 > to 125 Gy (32). Zhang et al. have performed a meta-analysis on 2,587 patients from 34 observational studies (35). BED was divided into 4 dose groups: low (<83.2), medium (83.2-106), medium to high [106-146] and high (>146). As expected, overall 2- and 3-year survivals were higher in the medium dose and medium to high dose groups compared to the low dose group. However, and interestingly, the former two groups were also superior to the high dose group for OS (35). Not all studies however suggest the concept of the doseresponse hypothesis in SABR. Van Baardwijk et al. in their systematic overview of 15 studies on SBRT (=SABR) found no correlation between the freedom from local progression and the EQD2, T, or equivalent dose in 2 Gy fractions (36). In any case, it seems clear from most studies that a BED10 beyond a certain value (around 120-130 or so) may not only be unnecessary, as one could estimate from Chi et al.'s data (34), but may be even detrimental, due to an increased toxicity.

Patterns of failures

As seen in Table 2, the rate of local control in most series is above 85%. Provided that a careful initial work up is made, to exclude nodal disease, the regional failure rate should also be low (see below). Thus the largest proportion of failures are represented by distant metastases (37). Bradley et al. in their series of 91 patients from WUSM, have reported that the majority of the failures were distant, with 19 of them being distant metastases, with or without some local (7 cases) and/or regional component (22). Distant failures negatively impacted the OS. In addition, 15 patients developed a second primary lung cancer (22). The largest study to date regarding the pattern of failure was published by Senthi et al. from VUMC Amsterdam (38). They have assessed 676 patients treated by SABR between 2003 and 2011 (38). Eighteen percent had a disease recurrence, with an actuarial 2-year rate of local, regional (nodal) and distant



Figure 4 Example of two different patients treated at our institution (CLS) with stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy (SABR). (A) This patient received for two central lesions a dose of 60 Gy in 8 fractions of 7.5 Gy (BED10: 105); (B) the second patient received for a left upper lobe lesion a dose of 60 Gy in 5 fractions of 12 Gy (BED10: 132).

recurrence rate of 4.9%, 7.8%, and 14.7%, respectively, and with corresponding rates at 5 years of 10.5%, 12.7% and 19.9%. New pulmonary lesions, or second primary tumors, developed in 6% of all patients (38).

Toxicity

With SABR, like with high-dose, conventional RT, there is a potential risk of major complications, such as radiation pneumonitis, oesophagitis and brachial plexopathy. In addition, new severe and sometimes fatal complications have been reported with SABR, including tracheo-oesophagial fistulae, brocho-pulmonary fistulae, cardiotoxicity and chest wall necrosis (39). The latter complication, along with rib fractures, may be particularly severe and painful. Timmerman et al. in a seminal paper have reported their experience on 70 patients treated for T1 and T2 (<7 cm) with 60-66 Gy in 3 fractions (BED10: 180-211) (40). Significant grade 3 to 5 toxicity occurred in 14 patients, with 6 toxic deaths. Patients with peripheral lung tumors had a 2-year freedom from severe toxicity of 83% versus only 54% for centrally located tumors (40). They have defined an area referred to as the zone of the proximal bronchial tree, in which very high BED doses should be prohibited (40). In this regard, Lagerwaard et al. have designed a "riskadapted" protocol taking into account tumor size and location (19). T1 peripheral tumors received 60 Gy in 3 fractions (BED10: 180), T1 with broad contact with the thoracic wall or T2 tumors received 60 Gy in 5 fractions (BED10: 132) and tumors adjacent to the heart, hilus and mediastinum received 60 Gy in 8 fractions (BED10: 105) (19). With this protocol, which reduces considerably the biological dose given to the normal "central" organs,

severe toxicity was observed only in 3% of all patients, without compromizing the overall local control, which was excellent with only 3% crude local failure rate (19). *Figure 4* shows two examples of central or peripheral lesions treated at our institution (CLS), with doses adapted to their location. Senthi *et al.* have reviewed the toxicity of SABR based on 20 publications including 563 central lung tumors (5). They confirm that with the above-mentionned precautions, tumor location did not impact OS or toxicity (5).

Medically operable or inoperable patients

At its beginning, SABR was intended for patients who were deemed inoperable because of age or multiple comorbidities and inacceptable surgical risks. However patients who refused surgery were also candidates for this new procedure. Onishi et al. in their series of 245 patients, reported that 158 were considered to be inoperable and 87 to be operable (17). There was a highly significant difference in survival (P<0.01) between the two categories in favor of the operable patients, the latter having a 3-yearsurvival of 88%. In the group of inoperable patients, the rate of intercurrent deaths (deaths from other causes) was 19.1% versus only 3.4% for operable patients (17). This explains at least in part the large difference in OS between the two groups. Lagerwaard et al. found that in their prospective database of SABR, 177 patients (25% of their cases) were deemed potentially operable, using strict criteria (41). In this group of patients, the 1- and 3-year survival rates were 94.7% and 84.7%, respectively, and the local control rates 98% and 93%, respectively (41). Interestingly, in certain circumstances, a biopsy prior to SABR can be omitted. Verstegen et al. have analyzed a fairly large cohort of patients, with (209 patients) or without (382) a biopsy prior to SABR (42). Local control and OS were exactly the same in the two groups of patients (42). To not biopsy certain patients is based on the fact that only 1-4% of FDG-PET positive lesions undergoing surgery are benign (42), and thus with a careful imaging assessment, the risk without a biopsy of treating a benign lesion instead of a cancerous lesion is low.

At this point the question is raised whether SBRT could be an alternative to surgery, even in the most favorable category of patients with early NSCLC.

Surgery versus SABR for stage I and II NSCLC

Evidently to compare the efficiency of SABR vis-àvis surgery, randomized controlled trials are needed. Unfortunately, three major initiatives in the USA and Europe have failed recently, due to poor accrual (43). One has thus to rely on matched-paired analyses, in which carefully matched patients in each comparative groups are analyzed. Verstegen et al. have matched SABR patients and patients treated by VATS from six hospitals in The Netherlands (44). The cohort consisted of 64 SABR and 64 VATS. Post SABR local control rates were superior at 1 and 3 years (96.8% and 93%, versus 86.9% and 82.6% respectively, P=0.04), but distant recurrence and OS were not different (44). Crabtree et al. from WUSM compared 462 surgical patients to 76 receiving SABR, and found that surgical patients were healthier and had a better tumor control compared with those receiving SABR (31). However when they did a propensity analysis, they found that local recurrence and disease-specific survival were similar in the two groups (31). A meta-analysis of six studies containing 864 matched-paired patients was performed by Zhang et al. (45). Pooled data at 1 and 3 years indicate a better long-term OS with surgery. However the rate of cancer deaths was the same in the two groups of patients, which strongly suggests that in spite of the matching of patients, those undergoing SABR may have been less healthy than the surgical patients. This was indirectly demonstrated by the fact that there was no significant difference in cause-specific survival, disease-free survival or local control between the SABR and the surgical patients (45). Solda et al. have reviewed 45 reports containing 3,771 patients treated with SABR and compared them to 2,038 surgical patients (46). They found that the 2-year survival was 70% after SABR versus 68% after surgery (46). As regards performance status (PS) and comorbidity as independent prognostic

factors which may be used for treatment decisions, Louie *et al.* have constructed univariate and multivariate models to establish recursive partitioning analyses (RPA) classes and a nomogram (47). RPA identified two risk classes based on tumor diameter, age, PS and co-morbidity index, but performed poorly in surgical patients, whereas the nomogram retained a strong performance for surgery and SABR (47).

Finally, the enthusiasm generated by all the "positive" data on SBRT should be tempered by a more critical assessment of this new technique. Brada et al. in a recent editorial (48) have expressed a series of reservations visà-vis the "overconfidence" and "self-congratulation" around SABR (48). For example they remind that other newer approaches, like new surgical techniques (VATS), radiofrequency or thermal ablation may provide equivalent tumor control as SABR (48). They also underscore that the local control after SABR may be overestimated, given for example the difficulty to assess this endpoint with the current imaging means (see above), and that long-term toxicity may be underestimated as well. They question whether SABR impacts on the natural history of co-morbid situations. They also emphasize that more studies are needed to better define a series of unsolved or insufficiently solved issues, for example on respiratory and cardiac co-morbidities, on the optimal dose and fractionation and on long-term toxicities (48).

Conclusions

SABR is now a well-established technique for the treatment of early stage NSCLC, which requires a high quality of the teams and of the techniques to be used. Besides this high technology, a good understanding of the radiobiological principles is of paramount importance, in order to decrease the risk of severe complications. A dose-adapted scheme has to be used in each institution practicing SABR. Probably a BED10 dose over 120-130 is unnecessary for peripheral lesions, and should be even lower for centrally located tumors, probably not beyond 110. Results show at this point a very good local control, and an acceptable toxicity, provided a proper overall evaluation is made and the appropriate biological effective dose is selected. SABR is now a first choice for medically inoperable patients. For operable patients, at the present time, surgery remains the standard, but SABR can be a good second option for patients who refuse surgery. At the present time though,

more studies are needed because a number of problems have not been entirely solved and longer follow-ups are required.

Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank Mrs Stefania Bressan who has provided figures 1,3 and 4 in this article.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The author has no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Scott WJ, Howington J, Feigenberg S, et al. Treatment of non-small cell lung cancer stage I and stage II: ACCP evidence-based clinical practice guidelines (2nd edition). Chest 2007;132:234S-242S.
- Schulte T, Schniewind B, Dohrmann P, et al. The extent of lung parenchyma resection significantly impacts long-term quality of life in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. Chest 2009;135:322-329.
- Rueth NM, Parsons HM, Habermann EB, et al. Surgical treatment of lung cancer: predicting postoperative morbidity in the elderly population. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2012;143:1314-1323.
- Haasbeek CJ, Palma D, Visser O, et al. Early-stage lung cancer in elderly patients: a population-based study of changes in treatment patterns and survival in the Netherlands. Ann Oncol 2012;23:2743-2747.
- Senthi S, Haasbeek CJ, Slotman BJ, et al. Outcomes of stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for central lung tumours: a systematic review. Radiother Oncol 2013;106:276-282.
- Palma DA, Senan S. Improving outcomes for high-risk patients with early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer: insights from population-based data and the role of stereotactic ablative radiotherapy. Clin Lung Cancer 2013;14:1-5.
- Senan S, Paul MA, Lagerwaard FJ. Treatment of earlystage lung cancer detected by screening: surgery or stereotactic ablative radiotherapy? Lancet Oncol 2013;14:e270-e274.
- Boujelbene N, Elloumi F, Kamel ME, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy in stage I inoperable lung cancer: from palliative to curative options. Swiss Med Wkly 2013;143:w13780.
- 9. Louie AV, Palma DA, Dahele M, et al. Management of

early-stage non-small cell lung cancer using stereotactic ablative radiotherapy: controversies, insights, and changing horizons. Radiother Oncol 2015;114:138-147.

- Dosoretz DE, Katin MJ, Blitzer PH, et al. Radiation therapy in the management of medically inoperable carcinoma of the lung: results and implications for future treatment strategies. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1992;24:3-9.
- 11. Wisnivesky JP, Bonomi M, Henschke C, et al. Radiation therapy for the treatment of unresected stage I-II nonsmall cell lung cancer. Chest 2005;128:1461-1467.
- Kushnirsky M, Patil V, Schulder M. The history of stereotactic radiosurgery. In: Chin LS, Ragine WR, editors. Principles and practice of stereotactic radiosurgery. Springer, 2015:3-10.
- Timmerman RD. An overview of hypofractionation and introduction to this issue of seminars in radiation oncology. Semin Radiat Oncol 2008;18:215-222.
- Timmerman RD, Herman J, Cho LC. Emergence of stereotactic body radiation therapy and its impact on current and future clinical practice. J Clin Oncol 2014;32:2847-2854.
- Bradley J. Radiographic response and clinical toxicity following SBRT for stage I lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2007;2:S118-S124.
- Senthi S, Dahele M, van de Ven PM, et al. Late radiologic changes after stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for early stage lung cancer: a comparison of fixed-beam versus arc delivery techniques. Radiother Oncol 2013;109:77-81.
- Onishi H, Araki T, Shirato H, et al. Stereotactic hypofractionated high-dose irradiation for stage I nonsmall cell lung carcinoma: clinical outcomes in 245 subjects in a Japanese multiinstitutional study. Cancer 2004;101:1623-1631.
- Xia T, Li H, Sun Q, et al. Promising clinical outcome of stereotactic body radiation therapy for patients with inoperable Stage I/II non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006;66:117-125.
- Lagerwaard FJ, Haasbeek CJ, Smit EF, et al. Outcomes of risk-adapted fractionated stereotactic radiotherapy for stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2008;70:685-692.
- Chen Y, Guo W, Lu Y, et al. Dose-individualized stereotactic body radiotherapy for T1-3N0 non-small cell lung cancer: long-term results and efficacy of adjuvant chemotherapy. Radiother Oncol 2008;88:351-358.
- 21. Baumann P, Nyman J, Hoyer M, et al. Outcome in a prospective phase II trial of medically inoperable

stage I non-small-cell lung cancer patients treated with stereotactic body radiotherapy. J Clin Oncol 2009;27:3290-3296.

- 22. Bradley JD, El Naqa I, Drzymala RE, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer: the pattern of failure is distant. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;77:1146-1150.
- Timmerman R, Paulus R, Galvin J, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for inoperable early stage lung cancer. JAMA 2010;303:1070-1076.
- Ricardi U, Filippi AR, Guarneri A, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for early stage non-small cell lung cancer: results of a prospective trial. Lung Cancer 2010;68:72-77.
- 25. Matsuo Y, Shibuya K, Nagata Y, et al. Prognostic factors in stereotactic body radiotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;79:1104-1111.
- Widder J, Postmus D, Ubbels JF, et al. Survival and quality of life after stereotactic or 3D-conformal radiotherapy for inoperable early-stage lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;81:e291-e297.
- 27. Takeda A, Kunieda E, Sanuki N, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for solitary pulmonary nodules clinically diagnosed as lung cancer with no pathological confirmation: comparison with non-small-cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2012;77:77-82.
- Shibamoto Y, Hashizume C, Baba F, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy using a radiobiology-based regimen for stage I nonsmall cell lung cancer: a multicenter study. Cancer 2012;118:2078-2084.
- Taremi M, Hope A, Dahele M, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for medically inoperable lung cancer: prospective, single-center study of 108 consecutive patients. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012;82:967-973.
- Hamamoto Y, Kataoka M, Yamashita M, et al. Factors affecting the local control of stereotactic body radiotherapy for lung tumors including primary lung cancer and metastatic lung tumors. Jpn J Radiol 2012;30:430-434.
- 31. Crabtree TD, Puri V, Robinson C, et al. Analysis of first recurrence and survival in patients with stage I nonsmall cell lung cancer treated with surgical resection or stereotactic radiation therapy. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014;147:1183-1191; discussion 1191-1192.
- 32. Kestin L, Grills I, Guckenberger M, et al. Dose-response relationship with clinical outcome for lung stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) delivered via online image guidance. Radiother Oncol 2014;110:499-504.

- 33. Timmerman R, Papiez L, McGarry R, et al. Extracranial stereotactic radioablation: results of a phase I study in medically inoperable stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Chest 2003;124:1946-1955.
- 34. Chi A, Tom55.a phase I study in medically inoperable stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Chest 2003;124:1946-55.;124:1946-55.3;124:1946-55.124:1946-55.6-55.5.1 Clin Oncol 2011;34:432-41.
- 35. Zhang J, Yang F, Li B, et al. Which is the optimal biologically effective dose of stereotactic body radiotherapy for Stage I non-small-cell lung cancer? A meta-analysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;81:e305-e316.
- 36. van Baardwijk A, Tomjk A. Is high-dose stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for stage I non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) overkill? A systematic review. Radiother Oncol 2012;105:145-149.
- 37. Chi A, Liao Z, Nguyen NP, et al. Systemic review of the patterns of failure following stereotactic body radiation therapy in early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer: clinical implications. Radiother Oncol 2010;94:1-11.
- Senthi S, Lagerwaard FJ, Haasbeek CJ, et al. Patterns of disease recurrence after stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for early stage non-small-cell lung cancer: a retrospective analysis. Lancet Oncol 2012;13:802-809.
- Thibault I, Chiang A, Erler D, et al. Predictors of Chest Wall Toxicity after Lung Stereotactic Ablative Radiotherapy. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2015. [Epub ahead of print].
- Timmerman R, McGarry R, Yiannoutsos C, et al. Excessive toxicity when treating central tumors in a phase II study of stereotactic body radiation therapy for medically inoperable early-stage lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:4833-4839.
- 41. Lagerwaard FJ, Verstegen NE, Haasbeek CJ, et al. Outcomes of stereotactic ablative radiotherapy in patients with potentially operable stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012;83:348-353.
- 42. Verstegen NE, Lagerwaard FJ, Haasbeek CJ, et al. Outcomes of stereotactic ablative radiotherapy following a clinical diagnosis of stage I NSCLC: comparison with a contemporaneous cohort with pathologically proven disease. Radiother Oncol 2011;101:250-254.
- 43. Moghanaki D, Karas T. Surgery versus SABR for NSCLC. Lancet Oncol 2013;14:e490-e491.
- Verstegen NE, Oosterhuis JW, Palma DA, et al. Stage I-II non-small-cell lung cancer treated using either stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR) or lobectomy by

204

video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery (VATS): outcomes of a propensity score-matched analysis. Ann Oncol 2013;24:1543-1548.

- 45. Zhang B, Zhu F, Ma X, et al. Matched-pair comparisons of stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) versus surgery for the treatment of early stage non-small cell lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Radiother Oncol 2014;112:250-255.
- 46. Solda: F, Lodge M, Ashley S, et al. Stereotactic radiotherapy (SABR) for the treatment of primary non-

Cite this article as: Mirimanoff RO. Stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy (SABR): an alternative to surgery in stage I-II non-small-cell cancer of the lung? Chinese Clinical Oncology 2015;4(4):42. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2304-3865.2015.11.02

small cell lung cancer; systematic review and comparison with a surgical cohort. Radiother Oncol 2013;109:1-7.

- 47. Louie AV, Haasbeek CJ, Mokhles S, et al. Predicting Overall Survival After Stereotactic Ablative Radiation Therapy in Early-Stage Lung Cancer: Development and External Validation of the Amsterdam Prognostic Model. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2015;93:82-90.
- Brada M, Pope A, Baumann M. SABR in NSCLC-the beginning of the end or the end of the beginning? Radiother Oncol 2015;114:135-137.

Stereotactic ablative body radiation therapy or surgery for operable early non-small cell lung cancer patients: bound hand and foot to evidence

Antonin Levy^{1,2,3}, Olaf Mercier^{2,4}, Cécile Le Péchoux¹

¹Department of Radiation Oncology, Institut d'Oncologie Thoracique (IOT), Gustave Roussy, Université Paris-Saclay, Villejuif, France; ²Univ Paris Sud, Université Paris-Saclay, Le Kremlin-Bicêtre, France; ³INSERM U1030, Molecular Radiotherapy, Gustave Roussy, Université Paris-Saclay, Villejuif, France; ⁴Department of Thoracic and Vascular Surgery and Heart-Lung Transplantation, Institut d'Oncologie Thoracique (IOT), Marie-Lannelongue Hospital, Paris-Saclay University, Le Plessis Robinson, France

Correspondence to: Antonin Levy, MD. Department of Radiation Oncology, Institut d'Oncologie Thoracique (IOT), Gustave Roussy, Université Paris-Saclay, F-94805, Villejuif, France. Email: Antonin.LEVY@gustaveroussy.fr.

Provenance: This is an invited Editorial commissioned by the Section Editor Min Zhang (The First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China).

Comment on: Deng HY, Wang YC, Ni PZ, *et al.* Radiotherapy, lobectomy or sublobar resection? A meta-analysis of the choices for treating stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2017;51:203-10.

Submitted Feb 06, 2017. Accepted for publication Feb 06, 2017. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.03.25 **View this article at:** http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2017.03.25

Surgery is the standard treatment for operable early stage (stage I: T1–T2N0M0) non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients. Lobectomy, the surgical resection of a single lobe, is generally accepted as the standard procedure, since sublobar resection has not proved to provide equivalent results yet (1). Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery (VATS) is becoming the gold standard surgical approach compared to open thoracotomy, as there is no difference in outcomes (2,3). Importantly, a systematic lymph node dissection should be performed in all cases to ensure complete resection. The 5-year overall survival (OS) is 47–51% in patients with clinical stage IA–IB, and 58–73% in surgically staged IA–IB patients, respectively (4). The incidence of local recurrence ranged from 7–23% in large surgical retrospective studies (5,6).

Within the recent years, stereotactic ablative body radiation therapy (SABR) [or stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT)] has become the standard of care in non-operable early stage NSCLC patients. SABR is an external beam radiation therapy method used to very precisely deliver a high dose of radiation to an extracranial target within the body, using either a single dose or a small number of fractions. Given that this technique demonstrated high local control rate (85–95%), and a low toxicity profile (7), SABR has been experimentally proposed to a limited number of operable patients with encouraging results (8-10).

Several retrospective studies (overviews, matched-pair analyses and meta-analysis based on the literature) have tried to compare surgery and SABR with conflicting results. This is not surprising given that non-comparable patients have been included. SABR patients were generally inoperable, with higher comorbidities scores (11-14). Death, in the SABR population, is mostly due to intercurrent causes, and OS may then not be considered as a valid comparison endpoint (15). It is also likely that SABR and surgical populations itself were heterogeneous. Surgical procedures differed in reported series (wedge resection, segmentectomy, lobectomy, VATS or open surgery). Several critical factors for local control in SABR patients (mainly the tumor volume and the dose of irradiation) have been highlighted and varied widely in different protocols (16). The definition of the local relapse (within the planned target volume (PTV) or within the lobe), the prescription criteria (at the isocenter or at an encompassed isodose), and procedures for diagnosing relapses are others parameters that largely differ in series, thereby making comparisons more difficult. Finally, the absence of accurate node sampling prior to treatment in SABR patients may lead to a clinical under-staging. Retrospectives series have yet

showed that occult node metastasis can occur in 5-10% of selected stage IA NSCLC (17).

As an example, the last recently published meta-analysis by Deng *et al.* meets the previously described criteria. Selected retrospective studies integrated non-comparable (SABR *vs.* surgery) patients with mixed populations. Inoperable SABR patients had poorer conditions (older, higher comorbidities scores, and poorer respiratory tests results) than surgical patients, leading to decreased OS. Surgical and SABR technical procedures varied broadly and/or were not reported (12,18,19). In conclusion, existing retrospective data, including meta-analysis on the literature, should be interpreted with extreme caution (11-14).

There is few (mainly two small non-randomized phase II) available, but promising, prospective data on SABR in operable patients. In the Japan Clinical Oncology Group (JCOG) study 0403, SABR (48 Gy in 4 fractions) was delivered in 65/169 (38%) operable patients with histologically or cytologically proven peripheral cT1N0M0 NSCLC. The 3-year OS, progression-free survival (PFS), local PFS, and event-free survival rates were 76.5%, 68.6%, 54.5%, and 51.4%, respectively. The most frequent failure was distant metastases in 21 (33%) cases, followed by 16 (25%) regional lymph node failures (20). In the preliminary results of the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) 0618 phase II trial including 26 evaluable patients, the total prescribed SABR dose was 54 Gy delivered in 3 fractions. The 2-year estimates of local failure (primary tumor plus involved lobe failure), regional failure, and distant failures rates were 19.2%, 11.7%, and 15.4%, respectively (21).

Three randomized trials have failed to compare SABR to surgery in operable patients due to poor accrual (ACOSOG Z4099, ROSEL and STARS trials). Data from prematurely terminated STARS and ROSEL studies were pooled but the analysis of the included 58 patients could at best be hypothesis generating (10). New comparative randomized studies are ongoing such as POSTILV (NCT01753414), SABRtooth (NCT02629458), STABLE-MATES (NCT02468024; two later studies including borderline operable patients), and the Veterans Affairs VALOR (NCT02984761, active but not yet recruiting). Only such prospective randomized studies, including quality of life and cost analyses, will really be able to conclude if SABR should be proposed in operable early-stage NSCLC patients.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Ginsberg RJ, Rubinstein LV. Randomized trial of lobectomy versus limited resection for T1 N0 non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer Study Group. Ann Thorac Surg 1995;60:615-622; discussion 622-623.
- Yan TD, Black D, Bannon PG, et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized and nonrandomized trials on safety and efficacy of video-assisted thoracic surgery lobectomy for early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2009;27:2553-2562.
- Falcoz PE, Puyraveau M, Thomas PA, et al. Videoassisted thoracoscopic surgery versus open lobectomy for primary non-small-cell lung cancer: a propensitymatched analysis of outcome from the European Society of Thoracic Surgeon database. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2016;49:602-609.
- Goldstraw P, Crowley J, Chansky K, et al. The IASLC Lung Cancer Staging Project: proposals for the revision of the TNM stage groupings in the forthcoming (seventh) edition of the TNM Classification of malignant tumours. J Thorac Oncol 2007;2:706-714.
- Kelsey CR, Marks LB, Hollis D, et al. Local recurrence after surgery for early stage lung cancer: an 11-year experience with 975 patients. Cancer 2009;115:5218-5227.
- Martini N, Bains MS, Burt ME, et al. Incidence of local recurrence and second primary tumors in resected stage I lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1995;109:120-129.
- Vansteenkiste J, Crinò L, Dooms C, et al. 2nd ESMO Consensus Conference on Lung Cancer: early-stage nonsmall-cell lung cancer consensus on diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2014;25:1462-1474.
- Onishi H, Shioyama Y, Matsumoto Y, et al. Japanese Multi-institutional Study of Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy for 661 Medically Operable Patients With Stage I Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2015;93:S187.
- Lagerwaard FJ, Verstegen NE, Haasbeek CJ, et al. Outcomes of stereotactic ablative radiotherapy in patients with potentially operable stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012;83:348-353.
- 10. Chang JY, Senan S, Paul MA, et al. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy versus lobectomy for operable stage I non-

Levy et al. SABR or surgery for operable early stage NSCLC patients

small-cell lung cancer: a pooled analysis of two randomised trials. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:630-637.

- Soldà F, Lodge M, Ashley S, et al. Stereotactic radiotherapy (SABR) for the treatment of primary nonsmall cell lung cancer; systematic review and comparison with a surgical cohort. Radiother Oncol 2013;109:1-7.
- Deng HY, Wang YC, Ni PZ, et al. Radiotherapy, lobectomy or sublobar resection? A meta-analysis of the choices for treating stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2017;51:203-210.
- Zhang B, Zhu F, Ma X, et al. Matched-pair comparisons of stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) versus surgery for the treatment of early stage non-small cell lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Radiother Oncol 2014;112:250-255.
- Zheng X, Schipper M, Kidwell K, et al. Survival outcome after stereotactic body radiation therapy and surgery for stage I non-small cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2014;90:603-611.
- Levy A, Guckenberger M, Hurkmans C, et al. SBRT Dose and Survival in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer: In Regard to Koshy et al. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2015;92:945-946.
- Loganadane G, Martinetti F, Mercier O, et al. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for early stage non-small cell lung cancer: A critical literature review of predictive factors of

Cite this article as: Levy A, Mercier O, Le Péchoux C. Stereotactic ablative body radiation therapy or surgery for operable early non-small cell lung cancer patients: bound hand and foot to evidence. J Thorac Dis 2017;9(3):482-484. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.03.25 relapse. Cancer Treat Rev 2016;50:240-246.

- 17. Marulli G, Mammana M, Rea F. Impact of lymph node occult metastases in stage I non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): what is the evidence? J Thorac Dis 2016;8:E809-E812.
- Matsuo Y, Chen F, Hamaji M, et al. Comparison of long-term survival outcomes between stereotactic body radiotherapy and sublobar resection for stage I non-smallcell lung cancer in patients at high risk for lobectomy: A propensity score matching analysis. Eur J Cancer 2014;50:2932-2938.
- Crabtree TD, Puri V, Robinson C, et al. Analysis of first recurrence and survival in patients with stage I nonsmall cell lung cancer treated with surgical resection or stereotactic radiation therapy. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014;147:1183-1191.
- 20. Nagata Y, Hiraoka M, Shibata T, et al. A Phase II Trial of Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy for Operable T1N0M0 Non-small Cell Lung Cancer: Japan Clinical Oncology Group (JCOG0403). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;78:S27-S28.
- Timmerman RD, Paulus R, Pass HI, et al. RTOG 0618: Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) to treat operable early-stage lung cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 2013,abstr 7523.

Optimal sequencing of adjuvant chemotherapy and radiation therapy in resected non-small cell lung cancer with pathological N2 disease

George Rodrigues

Department of Radiation Oncology, London Health Sciences Centre, London N6A 4L6, Ontario, Canada Correspondence to: Dr. George Rodrigues, MD, PhD, FRCPC. A3-808, 790 Commissioners Rd E, London N6A 4L6, Ontario, Canada. Email: george.rodrigues@lhsc.on.ca.

Submitted Apr 06, 2016. Accepted for publication Apr 14, 2016. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2016.04.23 **View this article at:** http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2016.04.23

An impressive clinical trial record exists in the investigation of the clinical benefits and risks related to the utilization of post-operative radiation therapy (PORT) in resected localized and locally-advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). These trials generally demonstrated that local control can be improved with the application of PORT; however, the impact on overall survival was less certain. In response to this uncertainty, the PORT Meta-analysis Trialists Group published an individual patient metaanalysis on this important topic in 1998 (1). This report identified a statistically significant reduction in survival with the application of PORT to all nodal (N0–N2) groups. In the most recent update of the meta-analysis, PORT was associated with an 18% relative increase in the risk of death (i.e., hazard ratio: 1.18) (2).

The negative effect of PORT on survival was particularly pronounced in N0-N1 patient subgroup (1,2). In patients with N2 disease, there was no statistically significant reduction (or improvement) in survival, but a significant improvement in local recurrence rate (absolute 24%) was observed (1,2). Subsequent to the publication of this metaanalysis, utilization rate of PORT for resected NSCLC was substantially reduced. In a 2006 Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program analysis, utilization of PORT for all nodal (N0, N1 and N2) declined by an absolute 4%, 32%, and 28% from 1992 (6 years before the PORT publication) to 2002 (4 years after the PORT publication) (3). It is important to note that the PORT meta-analysis has been criticized due to the use of older two-dimensional radiation techniques which may have led to additional toxicities no longer seen in a modern treatment population (4,5).

Recently, the American Society of Radiation Oncology (ASTRO) issued guidance for the indication and radiation treatment of PORT in resected NSCLC (6,7). This guideline document recommended against the routine utilization of PORT in completely resected (R0 resection) N0-1 NSCLC. However, the use of PORT in incompletely resected (i.e., R1: positive margin/microscopic residual cancer or R2: gross residual primary or nodal disease) for any N status patient was felt to be potentially appropriate to improve local control. In terms of R0 resected N2 disease, the guideline stated that the application of PORT in this patient population is reasonable in order to primarily improve local control. Specifically in relation of adjuvant chemotherapy, the guideline document recommended that PORT should be given sequentially (not concurrently) with any chemotherapy as not to interfere with standard of care treatment. The use of adjuvant chemotherapy has been shown to be associated with a 5-15% absolute improvement in overall survival (8,9). Given the lack of proven survival benefit with PORT for N2 disease, the recommendation was structured this way out of concern regarding any potential toxicity associated with concurrent treatment that could lead to treatment breaks or chemotherapy de-intensification.

Recently, multiple publication have demonstrated that there may be a small but significant survival benefit with the application of PORT for completely resected N2 disease (10-15). In 2006, Lally *et al.* described a SEER analysis where an improvement of survival was demonstrated in the N2 patient subset with a hazard ratio of 0.855 (95% confidence interval: 0.762 to 0.959, P=0.0077) (10). This finding was confirmed in a secondary analysis of the Adjuvant Navelbine International Trialist Association (ANITA) trial in which the N2 subgroup of patients treated with adjuvant chemotherapy benefited from the addition of PORT (median survival improved to 47.4 months from 23.8 months) (11). A series of three recent National Cancer Database analyses (12-14) have all consistently shown survival benefits of adjuvant radiation for N2 NSCLC. Additionally, a fourth National Cancer Database analysis confirmed the survival benefits in N0–2 patients with incompletely resected disease (15). None of these papers specifically directly assessed the issue of sequencing of radiation treatment in terms of adjuvant chemotherapy.

Recently in the International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology, and Physics, Lee et al. presented an analysis entitled "Radiation Therapy-First Strategy After Surgery With or Without Adjuvant Chemotherapy in Stage IIIA-N2 Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer" (16). The objective of this manuscript was to investigate the issue of radiation sequencing as this institution has an institutional policy to deliver PORT prior to adjuvant chemotherapy. The authors argue that utilizing this sequencing approach may have clinical benefits if the overall tumor burden may be higher in the locoregional space rather than the systemic micrometastatic disease space. They hypothesized that this may improve locoregional control without significantly affecting overall survival.

This investigation retrospectively identified a total of 105 post-operative patients with stage IIIA (N2) NSCLC who received PORT first with (n=43, 41%) or without (n=62, 59%) subsequent post-operative adjuvant chemotherapy (POCT). Adjuvant radiotherapy with three dimension conformal radiotherapy techniques was delivered to a total dose of 50.4 to 60.0 Gy (at 1.8–2.0 Gy/day with potential of 66 Gy in margin positive cases). In terms of POCT, 4–6 cycles of platinum-based chemotherapy was initiated 3–4 weeks after completion of PORT in patients receiving such therapy. All patients were routinely followed according to a pre-existing schedule including chest X-rays, computed tomography and PET-CT.

In terms of the PORT prior to POCT and PORT alone groups, the authors described some differences in the two groups in terms of better performance status, higher forced expiratory volume in one second, and lower comorbidity index statistically favoring the PORT prior to POCT group. Additionally, the PORT prior to POCT was radiated to a higher mean dose (56.6 vs. 52.2 Gy, P<0.001). There were no significant differences in locoregional failure, distant metastases or both conjoint failures between the two study groups. However, the authors reported an improvement in 5-year survival favoring the PORT prior to POCT group (61.3% vs. 29.2%, P<0.001). In a multivariable analysis, the addition of POCT and lack of pneumonectomy were associated with improved survival.

The authors of this report did not directly test the hypothesis of a PORT first being either equivalent or superior to a PORT last treatment strategy. They did report on the 5-year survival of the PORT prior to POCT and did compare that to historical controls to indirectly conclude that this strategy may be appropriate and can lead to optimal outcomes. Unfortunately, such comparisons are hypothesis generating at best and should not change practice patterns unless confirmed ideally with a prospective randomized controlled trial. In particular, the favorable survival may in part be due to patient selection as disclosed by the authors in their comparative analysis of the PORT prior to POCT versus PORT alone cohorts. Another significant limitation of this work was the lack of descriptive toxicity, chemotherapy de-intensification/delay data to gauge any potential deleterious effects of the PORT first approach.

Overall this study should be considered a first step in the investigation of this question. Ideally prospective data should be acquired to investigate this sequencing question to either show equivalence (or superiority) of this approach in terms of important clinical outcomes such as survival, local control, and toxicity. The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) Lung Adjuvant Radiotherapy Trial (Lung ART) trial is an ongoing randomized trial enrolling patients with completed resected N2 NSCLC assessing adjuvant PORT versus no PORT therapy. The use of POCT as well as sequence (pre PORT or post PORT) will be a stratification variable for the clinical trial. Potentially, this trial may provide an important secondary analysis assessing this question of treatment sequencing and may be the basis of a future controlled trial if important clinical outcome differences are observed related to treatment sequence.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Provenance: This is an invited Commentary commissioned by the Section Editor Wenyong Tan (Department of Oncology, Shenzhen People's Hospital, Shenzhen, China).

Conflicts of Interest: The author has no conflicts of interest to declare.

Commentary on: Lee HW, Noh OK, Oh YT, *et al.* Radiation Therapy-First Strategy After Surgery With or Without Adjuvant Chemotherapy in Stage IIIA-N2 Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2016;94:621-7.

References

- Postoperative radiotherapy in non-small-cell lung cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis of individual patient data from nine randomised controlled trials. PORT Metaanalysis Trialists Group. Lancet 1998;352:257-263.
- 2. PORT Meta-analysis Trialists Group. Postoperative radiotherapy for non-small cell lung cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2005.CD002142.
- Bekelman JE, Rosenzweig KE, Bach PB, et al. Trends in the use of postoperative radiotherapy for resected nonsmall-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006;66:492-499.
- Munro AJ. What now for postoperative radiotherapy for lung cancer? Lancet 1998;352:250-251.
- Machtay M, Lee JH, Shrager JB, et al. Risk of death from intercurrent disease is not excessively increased by modern postoperative radiotherapy for high-risk resected non-small-cell lung carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 2001;19:3912-3917.
- Rodrigues G, Choy H, Bradley J, et al. Adjuvant radiation therapy in locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer: Executive summary of an American Society for Radiation Oncology (ASTRO) evidence-based clinical practice guideline. Pract Radiat Oncol 2015;5:149-155.
- Bezjak A, Temin S, Franklin G, et al. Definitive and Adjuvant Radiotherapy in Locally Advanced Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline Endorsement of the American Society for Radiation Oncology Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Oncol 2015;33:2100-2105.
- 8. NSCLC Meta-analyses Collaborative Group, Arriagada R,

Cite this article as: Rodrigues G. Optimal sequencing of adjuvant chemotherapy and radiation therapy in resected non-small cell lung cancer with pathological N2 disease. J Thorac Dis 2016;8(6):E463-E465. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2016.04.23

Auperin A, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy, with or without postoperative radiotherapy, in operable non-small-cell lung cancer: two meta-analyses of individual patient data. Lancet 2010;375:1267-1277.

- Burdett S, Pignon JP, Tierney J, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy for resected early-stage non-small cell lung cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015;3:CD011430.
- Lally BE, Zelterman D, Colasanto JM, et al. Postoperative radiotherapy for stage II or III non-small-cell lung cancer using the surveillance, epidemiology, and end results database. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:2998-3006.
- Douillard JY, Rosell R, De Lena M, et al. Impact of postoperative radiation therapy on survival in patients with complete resection and stage I, II, or IIIA non-smallcell lung cancer treated with adjuvant chemotherapy: the adjuvant Navelbine International Trialist Association (ANITA) Randomized Trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2008;72:695-701.
- Robinson CG, Patel AP, Bradley JD, et al. Postoperative radiotherapy for pathologic N2 non-small-cell lung cancer treated with adjuvant chemotherapy: a review of the National Cancer Data Base. J Clin Oncol 2015;33:870-876.
- Mikell JL, Gillespie TW, Hall WA, et al. Postoperative radiotherapy is associated with better survival in non-small cell lung cancer with involved N2 lymph nodes: results of an analysis of the National Cancer Data Base. J Thorac Oncol 2015;10:462-471.
- Corso CD, Rutter CE, Wilson LD, et al. Re-evaluation of the role of postoperative radiotherapy and the impact of radiation dose for non-small-cell lung cancer using the National Cancer Database. J Thorac Oncol 2015;10:148-155.
- Wang EH, Corso CD, Rutter CE, et al. Postoperative Radiation Therapy Is Associated With Improved Overall Survival in Incompletely Resected Stage II and III Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. J Clin Oncol 2015;33:2727-2734.
- 16. Lee HW, Noh OK, Oh YT, et al. Radiation Therapy-First Strategy After Surgery With or Without Adjuvant Chemotherapy in Stage IIIA-N2 Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2016;94:621-627.

Optimal sequencing of postoperative radiotherapy and chemotherapy in IIIA-N2 non-small cell lung cancer

Ugur Selek^{1,2}, Joe Y. Chang²

¹Department of Radiation Oncology, Koç University, School of Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey; ²Department of Radiation Oncology, The University of Texas, MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Correspondence to: Prof. Joe Y. Chang, MD, PhD. Department of Radiation Oncology, The University of Texas, MD Anderson Cancer Center, 1515 Holcombe Boulevard, Houston, TX 77030, USA. Email: jychang@mdanderson.org.

Submitted Apr 14, 2016. Accepted for publication Apr 21, 2016. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2016.05.16 **View this article at:** http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2016.05.16

Lee et al. questioned the optimal sequencing of postoperative radiotherapy (PORT) and postoperative chemotherapy (POCT) after surgery for patients with IIIA-N2 nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC) which was left untested in a prospective randomized setting (1); and performed the PORT-first strategy with an institutional multidisciplinary consensus, based on their hypothesis that the PORTfirst strategy possibly being more effective in locoregional control than the PORT after POCT without compromising proven overall survival benefit of POCT. Their study is a documentation of retrospective experience revealing a PORT-first strategy with POCT in eligible (43/105) and without POCT in medically (30/105) or protocolly (23/105) ineligible and refusing (8/105) patients. Lee et al. pointed out that their overall survival results of 40.2% was comparable with the literature (2,3) and their survival results of 61.3% in the patients with POCT was superior than previous series (2-5). Lee et al. deserves appreciation for drawing attention to the sequencing of adjuvant treatment in IIIA-N2 NSCLC to claim the possible benefit of PORT-first strategy.

Even after a radical resection, a high locoregional recurrence almost up to 40% was reported after adjuvant chemotherapy (4,6-9), and the common decision such as The American College of Radiology in their multidisciplinary Appropriateness Criteria was to encourage PORT for N2 NSCLC patients to improve locoregional control (10). One of the concerns in retrospective series presenting PORT such as in this manuscript is the variability of PORT target volume definition, especially in a wide range of years treated by different physicians, such as documented by different cohorts (11,12). The objective evaluation of PORT reveals a significant survival benefit for N2 disease independent from chemotherapy, while a local regional control assistance in patients with N1 disease who do not receive chemotherapy (4,13-17). It would not be wrong to note the major problem in all older trials with deaths due to radiotherapy technical weaknesses which avoided local regional control effect turning out into a survival benefit (15). The phase 3 trial of "The Lung Adjuvant Radiotherapy (Lung ART)" enrolling N2 disease into PORT with modern and standardized techniques is expected to shed light on the gray zone in a prospective manner (12,18,19).

The role of PORT seems to traverse a long way from Lung Cancer Study Group trial in 1980 revealing important decrease in local recurrence from 41% to 3% without survival benefit in 5 years (13); to a warning to withhold PORT by Groupe d'Etude et de Traitement des Cancers Bronchiques based on high numbers of death following PORT (31% vs. 8%) (15). Trodella et al. on the other side randomized stage I NSCLC patients to receive PORT or not and concluded a significant disease free benefit with a trend for survival benefit (17). The subgroup analysis of ANITA, trial investigating the benefit of adjuvant vinorelbine by Douillard et al., highlighted the significant survival benefit of PORT for N2 disease independent from chemotherapy in addition to survival benefit for N1 who did not receive chemotherapy (4). Besides, SEER data outlined a major survival gain for N2 patients with PORT (20). A recent meta-analysis, in stage IIIA-N2 NSCLC patients, acknowledged that modern PORT could improve the

5-year OS by 13% (21). A 2015 analysis of the National Cancer Data Base documented that PORT increased survival in pN2 patients (5). It is also evident that modern PORT claims additional survival advantage despite adjuvant chemotherapy (22).

PORT has also been discussed regarding the cohort who is gaining the benefit most; Matsuguma et al. claimed PORT to serve more in case of more than single station mediastinal nodal involvement (23), Saji et al. pointed out the poor prognostic group with less than ten nodes dissected and four or more nodes positive (24). SEER data could also documented the major improvement of survival in N2 group in addition to more than 50% involvement of nodes dissected (25). Lopez Guerra et al. analyzed retrospective MD Anderson Cancer Center series of 1,402 stage I-III (N0-N1) NSCLC patients who did not receive PORT to define local regional risk factors and documented 9% local regional recurrence which provoked decrement in survival (26); where multivariate analysis pointed out the surgical procedure (single/multiple wedge + segmentectomy × lobectomy + bilobectomy + pneumonectomy), tumor size larger than 2.7 cm and visceral pleura invasion to be independent risk factors for local recurrence; N1, visceral pleura invasion, and lymphovascular invasion (LVI) to be independent risk factors for regional recurrence (26). As there is a common consensus for PORT in treating close/positive surgical margins or N2 nodal involvement, multidisciplinary individualized decision for PORT is required based on number and station of N1 involvement, LVI, visceral pleura invasion and extracapsular invasion (26,27). Hui et al. recently emphasized a subgroup of proper candidates among resected IIIA-N2 NSCLC population in whom PORT significantly improved the OS as the ones having three or more of the five factors of SI (smoking index: number of cigarettes smoked per day x number of cigarette-years) \leq 400, cN2, pT3, SCC, and \geq 4 positive nodes (28). Details of the cohort by Lee et al. needs to be analyzed for the percent of the patients who were expected to get benefit most.

There are points to be extracted from their cohort to enlighten the comparison. The ratio of patients staged with PET-CT before surgery would be helpful hint to understand the cohort treated; besides the follow up of the patients treated in this cohort seems a little loose to be able to capture locoregional and systemic failure with simple chest radiography or chest CT or optional annual PET-CT. As the types of surgical resection were detailed as lobectomy & bilobectomy or pneumonectomy in their patients, quantification of regional lymph node involvement have not been detailed in this paper to reveal the patients' risk load. As the authors mentioned that no routine preoperative pathological evaluation for mediastinal disease performed and surgical resection decision was based on clinically N0-1 or single station minimal N2 disease, surgical data whether the dissection was formal or selective and postoperative data for the number of dissected nodes, positive N1 nodes/ station and positive N2 nodes/stations were lacking in the manuscript. Besides, it would be great to know the related pathological details of the cohort to reveal the accurate R0 complete resection rates in both treatments (29), not only microscopically confirmed free resection margins, but also a systematic nodal dissection and the ratio of extracapsular tumor extension in nodes removed. All the patients except two were defined as clear surgical margins and though there was an enormous difference (2 patients with positive margins, one on each arm; and 101 negative margin patients, 42 on PORT-first plus POCT and 61 PORT alone), the authors analyzed the resection status both univariately and multivariately, instead of exclusing these two patients.

As duration between the surgery and initiation date of POCT seemed to impact survival in colorectal and breast cancer patients, one of the most important questions about timing of PORT is whether postponing POCT might affect survival. In other tumor sites such as head and neck or breast cancer, the delay to initiate PORT has been presented to have a negative impact on outcome (30-33), while the data for lung cancer for this correlation is not reported much (34,35). A recent Canadian data documented 1,032 cases treated with POCT with a median time to adjuvant chemotherapy (TTAC) of 8 weeks where 35% of the cohort received POCT more than 10 weeks after surgery. Booth et al. have appreciated no association between TTAC and overall survival (OR =1.00, 95% CI =0.99-1.00) (36). In the lack of prospective data to clarify the TTAC, data by Lee et al. could also be defined as another cohort, though there is not a direct comparison, to point out the mild delay for POCT might not cause any sacrifice in overall survival.

The histology might have an influence on locoregional failure as adenocarcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma, due to the fact that squamous cell was pointed out to be a poor prognostic factor for survival (37); however the prognostic significance of the histology is yet to be defined in fully resected pN2 NSCLC (2). As the histology seemed to be evenly distributed here for both PORT & POCT and POCT alone groups, histology might not affect the

Selek and Chang. Optimal sequencing of PORT in IIIA-N2 NSCLC

outcome in this cohort.

As a summary, optimal sequencing of PORT and POCT after surgery for patients with IIIA-N2 NSCLC is a candidate topic to be discussed and studied prospectively, however for now, PORT-first strategy sounds to be feasible and triggering related research where Lee *et al.* provided a first-hand retrospective valuable information to initiate the discussion.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Provenance: This is an invited Editorial commissioned by the Section Editor Wenyong Tan (Department of Oncology, Shenzhen People's Hospital, Shenzhen, China). *Conflicts of Interest:* The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Comment on: Lee HW, Noh OK, Oh YT, *et al.* Radiation Therapy-First Strategy After Surgery With or Without Adjuvant Chemotherapy in Stage IIIA-N2 Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2016;94:621-7.

References

- Lee HW, Noh OK, Oh YT, et al. Radiation Therapy-First Strategy After Surgery With or Without Adjuvant Chemotherapy in Stage IIIA-N2 Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2016;94:621-627.
- Dai H, Hui Z, Ji W, et al. Postoperative radiotherapy for resected pathological stage IIIA-N2 non-small cell lung cancer: a retrospective study of 221 cases from a single institution. Oncologist 2011;16:641-650.
- Zou B, Xu Y, Li T, et al. A multicenter retrospective analysis of survival outcome following postoperative chemoradiotherapy in non-small-cell lung cancer patients with N2 nodal disease. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;77:321-328.
- 4. Douillard JY, Rosell R, De Lena M, et al. Impact of postoperative radiation therapy on survival in patients with complete resection and stage I, II, or IIIA non-smallcell lung cancer treated with adjuvant chemotherapy: the adjuvant Navelbine International Trialist Association (ANITA) Randomized Trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2008;72:695-701.

- Mikell JL, Gillespie TW, Hall WA, et al. Postoperative radiotherapy is associated with better survival in non-small cell lung cancer with involved N2 lymph nodes: results of an analysis of the National Cancer Data Base. J Thorac Oncol 2015;10:462-471.
- Winton T, Livingston R, Johnson D, et al. Vinorelbine plus cisplatin vs. observation in resected non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2005;352:2589-2597.
- Arriagada R, Bergman B, Dunant A, et al. Cisplatinbased adjuvant chemotherapy in patients with completely resected non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2004;350:351-360.
- NSCLC Meta-analyses Collaborative Group, Arriagada R, Auperin A, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy, with or without postoperative radiotherapy, in operable non-small-cell lung cancer: two meta-analyses of individual patient data. Lancet 2010;375:1267-1277.
- Douillard JY, Rosell R, De Lena M, et al. Adjuvant vinorelbine plus cisplatin versus observation in patients with completely resected stage IB-IIIA non-small-cell lung cancer (Adjuvant Navelbine International Trialist Association [ANITA]): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 2006;7:719-727.
- 10. Gopal RS, Dubey S, Rosenzweig KE, et al. ACR Appropriateness Criteria® on Induction and Adjuvant Therapy for Stage N2 Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: expert panel on radiation oncology-lung. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;78:969-974.
- Uno T, Sumi M, Kihara A, et al. Postoperative radiotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer: results of the 1999-2001 patterns of care study nationwide process survey in Japan. Lung Cancer 2007;56:357-362.
- 12. Spoelstra FO, Senan S, Le Péchoux C, et al. Variations in target volume definition for postoperative radiotherapy in stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: analysis of an international contouring study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;76:1106-1113.
- Effects of postoperative mediastinal radiation on completely resected stage II and stage III epidermoid cancer of the lung. The Lung Cancer Study Group. N Engl J Med 1986;315:1377-1381.
- Mayer R, Smolle-Juettner FM, Szolar D, et al. Postoperative radiotherapy in radically resected non-small cell lung cancer. Chest 1997;112:954-959.
- 15. Dautzenberg B, Arriagada R, Chammard AB, et al. A controlled study of postoperative radiotherapy for patients with completely resected nonsmall cell lung carcinoma. Groupe d'Etude et de Traitement des Cancers

Bronchiques. Cancer 1999;86:265-273.

- Feng QF, Wang M, Wang LJ, et al. A study of postoperative radiotherapy in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer: a randomized trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2000;47:925-929.
- 17. Trodella L, Granone P, Valente S, et al. Adjuvant radiotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer with pathological stage I: definitive results of a phase III randomized trial. Radiother Oncol 2002;62:11-19.
- Le Péchoux C, Dunant A, Pignon JP, et al. Need for a new trial to evaluate adjuvant postoperative radiotherapy in non-small-cell lung cancer patients with N2 mediastinal involvement. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:e10-e11.
- Le Péchoux C. Role of postoperative radiotherapy in resected non-small cell lung cancer: a reassessment based on new data. Oncologist 2011;16:672-681.
- Lally BE, Zelterman D, Colasanto JM, et al. Postoperative radiotherapy for stage II or III non-small-cell lung cancer using the surveillance, epidemiology, and end results database. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:2998-3006.
- 21. Billiet C, Decaluwé H, Peeters S, et al. Modern postoperative radiotherapy for stage III non-small cell lung cancer may improve local control and survival: a metaanalysis. Radiother Oncol 2014;110:3-8.
- 22. Robinson CG, Patel AP, Bradley JD, et al. Postoperative radiotherapy for pathologic N2 non-small-cell lung cancer treated with adjuvant chemotherapy: a review of the National Cancer Data Base. J Clin Oncol 2015;33:870-876.
- 23. Matsuguma H, Nakahara R, Ishikawa Y, et al. Postoperative radiotherapy for patients with completely resected pathological stage IIIA-N2 non-small cell lung cancer: focusing on an effect of the number of mediastinal lymph node stations involved. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2008;7:573-577.
- Saji H, Tsuboi M, Yoshida K, et al. Prognostic impact of number of resected and involved lymph nodes at complete resection on survival in non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2011;6:1865-1871.
- 25. Urban D, Bar J, Solomon B, et al. Lymph node ratio may predict the benefit of postoperative radiotherapy in non-small-cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2013;8:940-946.
- 26. Lopez Guerra JL, Gomez DR, Lin SH, et al. Risk factors for local and regional recurrence in patients with resected N0-N1 non-small-cell lung cancer, with implications for patient selection for adjuvant radiation therapy. Ann Oncol

2013;24:67-74.

- 27. Gomez DR, Komaki R. Postoperative radiation therapy for non-small cell lung cancer and thymic malignancies. Cancers (Basel) 2012;4:307-322.
- Hui Z, Dai H, Liang J, et al. Selection of proper candidates with resected pathological stage IIIA-N2 non-small cell lung cancer for postoperative radiotherapy. Thorac Cancer 2015;6:346-353.
- Rami-Porta R, Wittekind C, Goldstraw P, et al. Complete resection in lung cancer surgery: proposed definition. Lung Cancer 2005;49:25-33.
- Huang J, Barbera L, Brouwers M, et al. Does delay in starting treatment affect the outcomes of radiotherapy? A systematic review. J Clin Oncol 2003;21:555-563.
- 31. Bütof R, Baumann M. Time in radiation oncology keep it short! Radiother Oncol 2013;106:271-275.
- 32. Chen Z, King W, Pearcey R, et al. The relationship between waiting time for radiotherapy and clinical outcomes: a systematic review of the literature. Radiother Oncol 2008;87:3-16.
- 33. Froud PJ, Mates D, Jackson JS, et al. Effect of time interval between breast-conserving surgery and radiation therapy on ipsilateral breast recurrence. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2000;46:363-372.
- Bütof R, Kirchner K, Appold S, et al. Potential clinical predictors of outcome after postoperative radiotherapy of non-small cell lung cancer. Strahlenther Onkol 2014;190:263-269.
- 35. Würschmidt F, Bünemann H, Ehnert M, et al. Is the time interval between surgery and radiotherapy important in operable nonsmall cell lung cancer? A retrospective analysis of 340 cases. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1997;39:553-559.
- 36. Booth CM, Shepherd FA, Peng Y, et al. Time to adjuvant chemotherapy and survival in non-small cell lung cancer: a population-based study. Cancer 2013;119:1243-1250.
- 37. Asamura H, Goya T, Koshiishi Y, et al. A Japanese Lung Cancer Registry study: prognosis of 13,010 resected lung cancers. J Thorac Oncol 2008;3:46-52.

Cite this article as: Selek U, Chang JY. Optimal sequencing of postoperative radiotherapy and chemotherapy in IIIA-N2 non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Dis 2016;8(7):1394-1397. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2016.05.16

Neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy followed by surgery for stage IIIa and IIIb non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC): is it still justified?

René-Olivier Mirimanoff

Professor Emeritus in Radiation Oncology, Faculty of Biology and Medicine, University of Lausanne, Switzerland *Correspondence to:* René-Olivier Mirimanoff, MD. Clinique de La Source, Avenue Vinet 30, CH-1004 Lausanne, Switzerland. Email: rene-olivier.mirimanoff@chuv.ch.

> Abstract: For stage III non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC), overall survival after surgery alone is quite poor, in the range of 5% to 10% at five years, mainly due to the high incidence of local and distant failures. Randomized trials and meta-analyses have shown a modest improvement in survival with neo-adjuvant chemotherapy, however the local and distant failure rates remain high. Numerous retrospective studies and phase II trials have been published on the potential added value of radiotherapy in the neoadjuvant setting and are reviewed here. These studies have shown that the addition of radiotherapy to chemotherapy is followed by a high rate of complete resection, an encouraging rate of complete pathologic response, a high mediastinal clearance in case of N2 disease, all of which represent potential surrogates for survival. Until recently, only small randomized trials have compared neoadjuvant chemoradiation to neoadjuvant chemotherapy, and were not contributory. The recently published Swiss cooperative group (SAKK) phase III randomized trial is the only one to have accrued a sufficient number of patients for interpretation. It showed a superiority of neoadjuvant chemoradiation over neoadjuvant chemotherapy regarding overall response rate, complete resection rate and local control, with no increased haematologic toxicity or post-operative deaths. However there was no difference in the event-free survival (the primary endpoint) nor in overall survival between the two arms. Following the results of this trial, opposite opinions have been expressed regarding the possible causes of failures of this trial, and on the future role or not of radiotherapy associated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy before surgery. It is suggested that under certain conditions, in which the risk of local failures is quite high after surgery, studies on the role of neoadjuvant chemoradiation should be pursued, using novel radiotherapy techniques and schemes, and novel systemic treatments associated with radiotherapy.

Keywords: Neoadjuvant; radiotherapy; chemotherapy; surgery; non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC)

Submitted Dec 10, 2015. Accepted for publication Dec 21, 2015. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2304-3865.2015.12.05 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2304-3865.2015.12.05

Introduction

Neo-adjuvant or preoperative therapy for operable nonsmall-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) has been the subject of a large number of studies in the literature, and in spite of progress demonstrated by well conceived and well conducted phase III randomized trials and meta-analyses, many issues remain unsolved as of today, especially in locally advanced (LA) stages. In operable stage III NSCLC, there is still a considerable debate regarding the best strategy, which can include surgery followed by chemotherapy with or without radiotherapy, neo-adjuvant chemotherapy followed by surgery with or without post-operative radiotherapy, neo-adjuvant chemoradiation followed by surgery, comprehensive chemoradiation without surgery, proceeded or not by neo-adjuvant chemotherapy, and several other strategies (1,2). Neo-adjuvant treatments are aimed at improving the overall outcome of LA NSCLC by decreasing the rate of local failures and distant metastases observed after surgery alone.

After a brief reminder on the role of neo-adjuvant chemotherapy in NSCLC, this article will focus in more

details on the potential added value of radiotherapy in the neoadjuvant setting.

Neoadjuvant chemotherapy in LA NSCLC

In non-metastatic NSCLC surgery still represents the mainstay of curative treatments from stage IA to IIIA and even for part of stage IIIB. However, especially in LA NSCLC, overall survival after surgery alone remains poor, in the range of 5–10% at 5 years (3). The domain of neo-adjuvant or adjuvant chemotherapy spans from stage IB to part of stage IIIB (4-8), due to the subsequent high risk of distant metastases after surgery alone.

The recent meta-analysis on neo-adjuvant chemotherapy for NSCLC has collected individual participant data from 2,385 patients included in 15 controlled randomized trials (4). Patients were centrally analyzed, and the primary outcome was overall survival. The results showed a 13% reduction in the relative risk of death, with an absolute survival improvement of 5% at 5 years, from 40% to 45% (4). In this meta-analysis, stage did not seem to alter the effect of chemotherapy. Looking at the first events, local recurrence occured in 24%, distant recurrence in 31% and both local and distant recurrence in 9%. Altogether 33% of first events included a local failure (4). In a previous meta-analysis, which was not based on individual patient's data, the positive effect of chemotherapy was also observed, and looking specifically at 8 studies on stage III, the improvement in overall survival with chemotherapy remained statistically significant (5). However neo-adjuvant chemotherapy alone in stage III may not be sufficient, since even with this approach, the pathological complete response (pCR) rate was low, and the local-regional recurrence rate was high. For example, in three randomized trials comparing neoadjuvant chemotherapy followed by surgery to surgery alone in stage III NSCLC, the complete pCR in the induction arm was only between 6% and 10.5% (6-8). As pCR is an indicator of response and a possible surrogate for survival (see below), it seems logical to improve pCR by an additional local treatment to surgery such as radiation therapy. In a phase II trial of the Swiss cooperative group (SAKK), in which patients received neo-adjuvant docetaxel and cisplatin for stage IIIA NSCLC, there was a good correlation between pathological response and resectability; in addition, resectability and mediastinal clearance were strongly prognostic for survival, whereas patients with no mediastinal clearing and/or an incomplete resection did poorly (9). A subsequent analysis of this phase II revealed that at 5-year

217

follow-up, as many as 60% of patients suffered from a local relapse (10). For these different reasons, it appears that the addition of radiotherapy to chemotherapy in neo-adjuvant strategies deserves to be strongly considered.

Neoadjuvant radiochemotherapy in LA NSCLC: retrospective studies, database and phase II trials

Retrospective studies

A large number of retrospective studies on neo-adjuvant radiochemotherapy for stage III NSCLC have been published. The overall results of a selection of eight of these are briefly discussed here (11-18). They represent altogether a total of about 1,100 patients with operable stage IIIA and IIIB (11-18). In the majority, chemotherapy consisted of cisplatin doublets, with a few carboplatin doublets, and the radiotherapy schedules were mainly conventional fractionation schemes with a few hyperfractionated schemes, with doses between 43 and 60 Gy. The pCR, when reported, varied between 16% and 27 % (11,13-15,18), except in one study where it was as high as 40% (17). The median survival was between 21 and 36 months, and the 5-year overall survival between 31% and 40% (11-18). In several reports, a pCR was associated with an increased survival (11,12,17,18), and a mediastinal downstaging and/or pathological clearing was also heralding a superior outcome (12-14,16,17). Evidently, results from these retrospective studies are to be interpreted with caution due to patients' selection and other bias. However some striking results, like the rates of pCR and the relationship between pCR, downstaging and survival are encouraging and may be hypothesis-forming for prospective randomized trials.

Results of the American National Cancer Database (NCDB)

A cohort of 11,242 patients included in the NCDB, treated from 1998 to 2004 for stage IIIA (N2) NSCLC were analyzed according to the 5 following treatment categories: neoadjuvant chemoradiation followed by a lobectomy, neoadjuvant chemoradiation followed by pneumonectomy, lobectomy followed by adjuvant treatment, pneumonectomy followed by adjuvant treatment, or concomitant chemoradiation without surgery (19). Adjuvant treatments consisted of either chemotherapy alone, radiotherapy alone, or chemoradiation following surgery. Five-year overall survival was 33.5%, 20.7%, 20.3%, 13.3%, and 10.9%, respectively for the five treatment categories (19).

Mirimanoff. Neoadjuvant chemoradiation in NSCLC

Study (reference)	Stage IIIA/IIIB (%)	Patient's number	СХТ	RT (Gy)	Resection rate (%)	Operative mortality (%)	pCR (%)	Median survival (months)	3-y survival (%)	5-y survival (%)
Albain <i>et al</i> . (21)	60/40	126	[1]	Conc 45	80–85	7	21	13–17	24–27	NR
Ichinose et al. (22)	0/100	27	[2]	Conc 40	93	4	19	NR	56	NR
Edelman et al. (23)	70/30	47	[3]	Conc HF 69.6	62	0	28	29.6	64	NR
D'Angellilo et al. (24)	58/42	50	[4]	Conc 50.4	82	8	26	21.8	40.2	NR
Stupp <i>et al</i> . (25)	0/100	46	[5]	Sequ AF 44	76	6	13	29	47	40
Friedel et al. (26)	25/75	120	[6]	Conc AF 45	75	5	NR	19	NR	21.7
Eberhardt et al. (27)	39/61	64	[7]	Conc AF 45	89		44			26 (10 year)

Table 1 Overall results of 7 phase II, one-arm trials of neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer

CXT, types of chemotherapy: (I) cisplatin plus etoposide; (II) cisplatine plus tegafur; (III) carboplatin plus vinorelbine; (IV) cisplatin and gemcitabine; (V) cisplatin plus docetaxel; (VI) carboplatin and docetaxel; (VII) cisplatin and paclitaxel; and (VIII) cisplatin and etoposide. RT, radiotherapy schedules; Conc, concomitant chemoradiotherapy; Sequ, sequential chemoradiotherapy; HF, hyperfractionated radiotherapy; AF, accelerated fractionation radiotherapy; pCR, complete pathologic response; NR, not reported.

On multivariate analysis, the hazard ratio (HR) in favor of the neo-adjuvant chemoradiation treatment was 0.51 (CI: 0.45–0.58) (19). Of note however, no neo-adjuvant chemotherapy alone category was described in this report. A more recent study from the NCDB analyzed 1,076 patients with stage IIIA (N2) NSCLC, treated between 2003 to 2005, either with neo-adjuvant chemoradiation followed by surgery or neoadjuvant chemotherapy followed by surgery (20). Outcomes included overall survival, residual nodal disease, any adverse pathologic features, and 30-day postoperative mortality. The 5-year overall survival for the entire cohort was 39%, namely 39.2% for the neo-adjuvant chemoradiation category vs. 38.6% for the neo-adjuvant chemotherapy (P= NS). On multivariate analysis, neo-adjuvant chemoradiation was associated with an improved pathological outcome (20).

Phase II trials

Results of 7 selected prospective one-arm phase II studies are presented on *Table 1* (21-27). In 5 of these trials, there was a mixture of stage IIIA and IIIB, whereas 2 have included stage IIIB only (22,25). In all studies, chemotherapy consisted of cisplatin doublets or carboplatin doublets. All trials but one (25) included a concomitant chemoradiotherapy regimen, and radiotherapy schedules delivered doses between 40 and 50.4 Gy, except for one in which a hyperfractionated scheme of 69.6 Gy was administered (23). Surgical results showed a resectability rate between 62% and 93%, with a post-operative mortality between 0% and 8%. pCR, looking at the surgical specimen of the primary tumor, was reported to be between 13% and 44%. Median survival was between 13 and 29.6 months, and 3-year survival between 24% and 64%. When overall survivals of stage IIIA and IIIB were compared, there was no difference (21,26). This most likely reflected a favorable selection of operable stage IIIB patients, but at the same time it indicated that at least a subset of stage IIIB patients could benefit from neoadjuvant chemoradiation (21,22,25,26). Finally, when reported, there was a strong correlation between complete resection (R0) and survival (25,26), mediastinal clearing and survival (21,24,25), and pCR and survival (24,25).

Surrogates for survival

From a number of retrospective studies and prospective phase II studies mentioned above, it appears thus than pCR, mediastinal downstaging or clearing, and R0 resection were associated with an improved survival. It should be reminded that after neoadjuvant chemotherapy alone, pCR was between 6% and 10% only in stage III, whereas it was between 16% and up to 40% in retrospective neo-adjuvant chemoradiation studies, and between 13% and 44% in phase II prospective neoadjuvant chemoradiation trials. Radiotherapy has not only the potential to improve pCR of the primary tumor, but to increase mediastinal clearing in case of N2 disease and to ameliorate the R0 resection rate. Yet its impact on survival would have to be demonstrated by phase III randomized trials only.

Neoadjuvant radiochemotherapy in LA NSCLC: prospective randomized trials

Neo-adjuvant chemoradiation followed by surgery versus neoadjuvant chemotherapy followed by surgery and post-operative radiotherapy: the German phase III randomized German Lung Cancer Cooperative Group (GLCCG) trial (28)

The GLCCG in a large phase III trial has randomized 558 patients with stage IIIA and IIIB NSCLC into two treatment groups (28). The intervention group received three cycles of cisplatin and etoposide, followed by twice daily radiation to 45 Gy and concurrent carboplatin and vindesine, followed by surgical resection. The control group received three cycles of cisplatin and etoposide, followed by surgery, followed by postoperative radiotherapy to 54-68 Gy. Primary endpoint was progression-free survival and secondary endpoints were overall survival and resectability. Results showed no significant difference in progression-free survival (37% vs. 33%) and no difference in overall survival (39% vs. 31%) between the two groups (28). However the group with preoperative chemoradiation showed a better pathological response, defined here as >90% tumor clearing, with 60% vs. 20% (P=0.0001), and a better mediastinal downstaging, with 46% vs. 29% (P=0.002), with no difference in the occurence of treatment-related deaths (6.4% vs. 5.7%) (28).

Thus, this important trial could clearly demonstrate a greater local efficacy of chemoradiation compared to chemotherapy alone, but there was no impact on progression-free survival and overall survival. It may be that in the control group (neo-adjuvant chemotherapy alone), the systematic use post-operative radiotherapy may have «blurred» the impact of neo-adjuvant radiotherapy of the other arm. In any case, and unfortunately, this trial did not answer the question whether the addition of radiotherapy to chemotherapy in the neo-adjuvant setting improves or not the overall outcome.

Neo-adjuvant chemoradiation followed by surgery versus neo-adjuvant chemotherapy: phase II randomized (29) and incomplete phase III randomized trials (30)

A French phase II randomized study on 47 patients with stage IIIA N2 NSCLC aimed at comparing standard induction chemotherapy (arm A: cisplatin and gemcitabine), with 2 different induction chemoradiation regimens (arm B: cisplatin and vinorelbine) and radiotherapy dose: 46 Gy, arm C: carboplatin and paclitaxel and radiotherapy dose 46 Gy (29). Response rate was higher in the 2 chemoradiation arms compared to the chemotherapy only arm (87% *vs.* 57%, P=0.049). Feasibility rate was the same in the 3 arms, the overall survival for the entire cohort was 43% at 3 years, with no difference between the 3 arms (29). Neither the study design nor the small number of patients could allow to evaluate a possible difference in overall survival.

A Japanese phase III randomized trial for stage IIIA N2 NSCLC was sought to ascertain whether induction concurrent chemoradiation followed by surgery could improve survival compared to induction chemotherapy followed by surgery (30). Patients received either carboplatin and docetaxel plus concurrent radiation therapy to 40 Gy followed by surgery, or induction chemotherapy alone followed by surgery (30). The study had to be stopped because of slow accrual, but 60 patients could finally be randomized. Treatments were well tolerated and there was no toxic deaths. Combined chemoradiation conferred a better local control, however there was no differences in progression-free survival or overall survival when radiotherapy was added to chemotherapy (30).

Thus these two small randomized trials showed clearly a greater measurable therapeutic effect of neoadjuvant chemoradiation compared to adjuvant chemotherapy alone, but were unable to demonstrate any impact on progressionfree survival or overall survival, and this was, possibly in part, due to the small numbers of patients.

Neo-adjuvant chemoradiation followed by surgery versus neo-adjuvant chemotherapy: the Swiss phase III randomized SAKK trial (31)

The Swiss cooperative group, the SAKK, in a phase III randomized trial has enrolled 232 patients with stage IIIA N2 NSCLC into two treatment groups (31). At this time, it is the only fully completed phase III randomized trial with this design. The radiochemotherapy group (117 patients) received three cycles of neoadjuvant cisplatin and docetaxel, followed by radiotherapy with 44 Gy in 22 fractions over 3 weeks. The control group (115 patients) received the same chemotherapy alone, and all patients were scheduled to undergo surgery. Primary endpoint was event-free survival. Overall tumor response rate was 61% after chemoradiation, vs. 44% after chemotherapy alone (P=0.012). Overall, chemotherapy-related effects were moderate and similar in the two groups, and radiotherapy-related toxic effects were also moderate with 9 grade 3 events (31). Eighty five percent in the chemoradiotherapy group and 82% in the

chemotherapy group underwent surgery. A R0 resection was performed in 91% and 81%, respectively (P=0.06). In the 30 days after surgery, 3 patients in the chemotherapy group died, compared with none in the chemoradiotherapy group. Nodal downstaging (to N1 or N0) was observed in 64% and 53%, respectively, and the pCR in 16% and 12%, respectively in the chemoradiation group and chemotherapy only group (P= NS). The first event was death in 13% patients in the chemoradiation group vs. 8% in the chemotherapy group, and was local progression in 15% and 28%, respectively. The median event-free survival was 12.8 months in the chemoradiotherapy group and 11.6 months in the chemotherapy group (P=0.67). Median overall survival was 37.1 months in the chemoradiotherapy group, and 26.2 months in the chemotherapy group, but survivals at 2, 3 and 4 years were identical in the 2 treatment arms (31).

Thus, this study showed that patients who received chemoradiotherapy before surgery had an objective response, a pCR, a R0 resection rate and a mediastinal downstaging more frequently and less local progression than patients in the chemotherapy alone group. In spite of all of these, the addition of radiotherapy did neither improve event-free survival (the primary endpoint) nor overall survival (31). The reasons for this may have been due to several factors. Firstly radiotherapy was given sequentially to chemotherapy, and not concomitantly, whereas concomitant chemoradiation was shown in the NSCLC Collaborative Group meta-analysis to be superior to sequential schedules in LA disease (32). Secondly the radiotherapy dose (44 Gy), although given in a slightly accelerated schedule (equivalent to 48-50 Gy in conventional daily fractions of 2 Gy), may have been insufficient. These two factors may explain a pCR of 16%, which is inferior to the pCR rates observed in retrospective data and in phase II trials using concomitant schedules and/or higher RT doses (see Table 1). Other factors, including the high distant failure rates in both arms (37% and 33% rates of first relapse), the patients' selection and the relatively small number of patients may have contributed. On the other hand, the addition of radiotherapy was well tolerated and did neither increase hematological toxicity nor post-operative mortality, which were altogether low in this trial.

Discussion

Although results from retrospective data and from phase II trials have suggested that the addition of neo-adjuvant

radiotherapy to chemotherapy could improve the outcome of operable stage III NSCLC, none of the small randomized trials, including the recent SAKK trial could demonstrate any advantage in event-free, progression-free or overall survival (29-31). Does it mean that radiotherapy should be banned from the adjuvant setting in the future? At the present time, different opinions prevail:

- (I) Pless *et al.* in the conclusion of their SAKK trial, have argued that in stage III NSCLC, three modalities are not superior to two modalities, and that one local treatment may be enough (31). The main reasons were that on one hand, neoadjuvant chemotherapy alone gave similar results as neoadjuvant chemoradiation in the three published randomized trials (29-31), and that on the other hand three other large randomized trials have shown that after neoadjuvant chemotherapy, either high-dose radiotherapy alone or surgery alone were equivalent in terms of overall survival (33-35);
- Eberhardt and Stuschke in an editorial commenting (II)the results of the SAKK trial, consider that for most patients, the combination of chemotherapy and concurrent radiotherapy represents an acceptable standard (2). One of their arguments is based on their own data on intensive neoadjuvant concurrent chemoradiotherapy in which they found fairly high rates of pCR, between 30% and 40% (27,35), which were substantially higher than the 16% pCR of the SAKK study (31). They also stress that stage III disease is heterogeneous in terms of tumor volume and bulk, lymphogenic spread and co-morbidity (2). Thus, different subgroups of stage III may deserve different strategies, and personalized treatments based on co-morbidities might be a better solution (2).

Indeed, as almost all studies have shown better results with chemoradiation concerning response rate, pathological response, mediastinal clearing and local control of the disease, all of which being potential surrogates for survival, it seems justified to pursue the study of the role of concomitant chemoradiotherapy in the neoadjuvant setting, however only under certain conditions.

(I) Better selection of patients: one should first identify subgroups of operable stage III NSCLC who probably do not need additional RT, for example stage IIIA with minimal N2 disease, and exclude this group from radiochemotherapy trials. New trials should then be dedicated to subgroups with a higher risk of local failure, such as stage III-N2 bulky disease, stage IIIB, and superior sulcus tumors. In the latter situation in particular, neoadjuvant chemoradiation gave excellent results in phase 2 studies (36,37);

- (II) Better radiotherapy: new trials should include innovative, high-technology radiotherapy capable of delivering safely high doses of radiation, concomitantly (and not sequentially) to chemotherapy. Techniques using intensity modulated radiotherapy (IMRT), image-guided radiotherapy (IGRT) (17), and/or adaptive radiotherapy would be essential, and schedules like accelerated fractionation (26,27), concomitant boost (35), dose-escalation or hypofractionated schemes should be worth studying;
- (III) Better systemic treatments in combination with radiotherapy: it should be remembered that current "standard" cisplatin doublets have their limitations. The pCR and local control with currently available chemotherapy alone is low, and the rate of distant failures is still high (vide supra), indicating a limited efficacy even on microscopic disease.

In conclusion, neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy for stage III NSCLC is safe and efficient, with higher overall clinical response, higher pCR rates and a higher mediastinal clearing compared to neoadjuvant chemotherapy alone. Contrary to previous fears, radiotherapy does not add a higher toxicity nor does it increase post-operative mortality compared to chemotherapy alone. Numerous phase II trials have shown encouraging survival rates, up to 30-40% at 5 years. On the other hand, the yet available randomized studies have failed to demonstrate any advantage of adding radiotherapy in the neoadjuvant setting regarding progression-free survival or overall survival. Admittedly the number of patients enrolled was modest. Still the controversy is not being solved and further trials taking into account a better patients' selection, innovative radiotherapy and more efficient systemic treatments need to be undertaken.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The author has no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Eberhardt WE, De Ruysscher D, Weder W, et al. 2nd ESMO Consensus Conference in Lung Cancer: locally advanced stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. Ann Oncol 2015;26:1573-1588.
- Eberhardt WE, Stuschke M. Multimodal treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. Lancet 2015;386:1018-1020.
- Mountain CF. Revisions in the International System for Staging Lung Cancer. Chest 1997;111:1710-1717.
- NSCLC Meta-analysis Collaborative Group. Preoperative chemotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of individual participant data. Lancet 2014;383:1561-1571.
- Song WA, Zhou NK, Wang W, et al. Survival benefit of neoadjuvant chemotherapy in non-small-cell lung cancer: an updated meta-analysis of 13 randomized control trials. J Thorac Oncol 2010;5:510-516.
- Felip E, Rosell R, Maestre JA, et al. Preoperative chemotherapy plus surgery versus surgery plus adjuvant chemotherapy versus surgery alone in early-stage nonsmall-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:3138-3145.
- Pisters KM, Vallières E, Crowley JJ, et al. Surgery with or without preoperative paclitaxel and carboplatin in earlystage non-small-cell lung cancer: Southwest Oncology Group Trial S9900, an intergroup, randomized, phase III trial. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:1843-1849.
- Scagliotti GV, Pastorino U, Vansteenkiste JF, et al. Randomized phase III study of surgery alone or surgery plus preoperative cisplatin and gemcitabine in stages IB to IIIA non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2011;30:172-178.
- Betticher DC, Hsu Schmitz SF, Tötsch M, et al. Mediastinal lymph node clearance after docetaxel-cisplatin neoadjuvant chemotherapy is prognostic of survival in patients with stage IIIA pN2 non-small-cell lung cancer: a multicenter phase II trial. J Clin Oncol 2003;21:1752-1759.
- Betticher DC, Hsu Schmitz SF, Tötsch M, et al. Prognostic factors affecting long-term in patients with resected stage IIIA pN2 non-small-cell lung cancer: 5-year follow-up of a phase II study. Br J Cancer 2006;94:1099-1106.
- Machtay M, Lee JH, Stevenson JP, et al. Two commonly used neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy regimens for locally advanced stage III non-small cell lung carcinoma: longterm results and associations with patholgic response. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2004;127:108-113.
- 12. Stamatis G, Eberhardt W, Pöttgen C. Surgery after multimodality treatment for non-small-cell lung cancer.

Mirimanoff. Neoadjuvant chemoradiation in NSCLC

222

Lung Cancer 2004;45 Suppl 2:S107-S112.

- Pezzetta E, Stupp R, Zouhair A, et al. Comparison of neoadjuvant cisplatin-based chemotherapy versus radiochemotherapy followed by resection for stage III (N2) NSCLC. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2005;27:1092-1098.
- Higgins K, Chino JP, Marks LB, et al. Preoperative chemotherapy versus preoperative chemoradiotherapy for stage III (N2) non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2009;75:1462-1467.
- Kim AW, Liptay MJ, Bonomi P, et al. Neoadjuvant chemoradiation for clinically advanced non-small-cell lung cacner: an analysis of 233 patients. Ann Thorac Surg 2011;92:233-241; discussion 241-243.
- 16. Paul S, Mirza F, Port JL, et al. Survival of patients with clinical stage IIIA non-small-cell lung cancer after induction therapy: age, mediastinal downstaging, and extent of pulmonary resection as independant predictors. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2011;141:48-58.
- Shumway D, Corbin K, Salgia R, et al. Pathologic response rates following definitve dose image-guided chemoradiotherapy and resection for locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2011;74:446-450.
- Pöttgen C, Eberhardt W, Graupner B, et al. Accelerated hyperfractionated radiotherapy within trimodality therapy concepts for stage IIIA/B non-small-cell lung cancer: Markedly higher rates of pathologic complete remissions than with conventional fractionation. Eur J Cancer 2013;49:2107-2115.
- Koshy M, Fedewa SA, Malik R, et al. Improved survival associated with neoadjuvant chemoradiation in patients with clinical stage IIIA(N2) non-small-cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2013;8:915-922.
- 20. Sher DJ, Fidler MJ, Liptay MJ, et al. Comparative effectiveness of neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy versus chemotherapy alone followed by surgery for patients with stage IIIA non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2015;88:267-274.
- 21. Albain KS, Rusch V, Crowley JJ, et al. Concurrent cisplatin/etoposide plus chest radiotherapy followed by surgery for stages IIIA (N2) and IIIB non-small-cell lung cancer: mature results of Southwest Oncology Group phase II study 8805. J Clin Oncol 1995;13:1880-1892.
- 22. Ichinose Y, Fukuyama Y, Asoh H, et al. Induction chemoradiotherapy and surgical resection for selected stage IIIB non-small-cell lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2003;76:1810-1814; discussion 1815.
- 23. Edelman MJ, Suntharalingam M, Burrows W, et al. Phase I/II trial of hyperfractionated radiation and chemotherapy

followed by surgery in stage III lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2008;86:903-910.

- 24. D'Angelillo RM, Trodella L, Ciresa M, et al. Multimodality treatment of stage III non-small cell lung cancer: analysis of a phase II trial using preoperative cisplatin and gemcitabine with concurrent radiotherapy. J Thorac Oncol 2009;4:1517-1523.
- 25. Stupp R, Mayer M, Kann R, et al. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy and radiotherapy followed by surgery in selected patients with stage IIIB non-small-cell lung cancer: a multicentre phase II trial. Lancet Oncol 2009;10:785-793.
- 26. Friedel G, Budach W, Dippon J, et al. Phase II trial of a trimodality regimen for stage III non-small-cell lung cancer using chemotherapy as induction treatment with concurrent hyperfractionated chemoradiation with carboplatin and paclitaxel followed by subsequent resection: a single-center study. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:942-948.
- 27. Eberhardt WE, Gauler TC, Lepechoux C, et al. 10-year long-term survival (LTS) of induction chemotherapy with three cycles cisplatin/paclitaxel followed by concurrent chemoradiation cisplatin/etoposide/45 Gy (1.5 Gy bid) plus surgery in locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC)-a multicenter phase-II trial (CISTAXOL). Lung Cancer 2013;82:83-89.
- 28. Thomas M, Rübe C, Hoffknecht P, et al. Effect of preoperative chemoradiation in addition to preoperative chemotherapy: a randomised trial in stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. Lancet Oncol 2008;9:636-648.
- 29. Girard N, Mornex F, Douillard JY, et al. Is neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy a feasible strategy for stage IIIA-N2 non-small cell lung cancer? Mature results of the randomized IFCT-0101 phase II trial. Lung Cancer 2010;69:86-93.
- 30. Katakami N, Tada H, Mitsudomi T, et al. A phase 3 study of induction treatment with concurrent chemoradiotherapy versus chemotherapy before surgery in patients with pathologically confirmed N2 stage IIIA nonsmall cell lung cancer (WJTOG9903). Cancer 2012;118:6126-6135.
- Pless M, Stupp R, Ris HB, et al. Induction chemoradiation in stage IIIA/N2 non-small-cell lung cancer: a phase 3 randomised trial. Lancet 2015;386:1049-1056.
- Aupérin A, Le Péchoux C, Rolland E, et al. Meta-analysis of concomitant versus sequential radiochemotherapy in locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:2181-2190.
- 33. van Meerbeeck JP, Kramer GW, Van Schil PE, et

223

al. Randomized controlled trial of resection versus radiotherapy after induction chemotherapy in stage IIIA-N2 non-small-cell lung cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2007;99:442-450.

- 34. Albain KS, Swann RS, Rusch VW, et al. Radiotherapy plus chemotherapy with or without surgical resection for stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: a phase III randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2009;374:379-386.
- 35. Eberhardt WE, Pöttgen C, Gauler TC, et al. Phase III Study of Surgery Versus Definitive Concurrent Chemoradiotherapy Boost in Patients With Resectable Stage IIIA(N2) and Selected IIIB Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer After Induction Chemotherapy and Concurrent

Cite this article as: Mirimanoff RO. Neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy followed by surgery for stage IIIa and IIIb non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC): is it still justified? Chin Clin Oncol 2015;4(4):49. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2304-3865.2015.12.05

Chemoradiotherapy (ESPATUE). J Clin Oncol 2015;33:4194-4201.

- Rusch VW, Giroux DJ, Kraut MJ, et al. Induction chemoradiation and surgical resection for superior sulcus non-small-cell lung carcinomas: long-term results of Southwest Oncology Group Trial 9416 (Intergroup Trial 0160). J Clin Oncol 2007;25:313-318.
- 37. Kunitoh H, Kato H, Tsuboi M, et al. Phase II trial of preoperative chemoradiotherapy followed by surgical resection in patients with superior sulcus non-small-cell lung cancers: report of Japan Clinical Oncology Group trial 9806. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:644-649.









Print ISSN 2305-5839 Online ISSN 2305-5847 Vol 6, No 6 March 2018

ANNALS OF TRANSLATIONAL MEDICINE

inspirer ())

STATES AND

ł

 Focus on "Art of Minimally Invasive Spine Surgery "

 Guest Editors:
 Roger Hartl, MD. Department of Neurological Surgery, Weilt Cornell

 Medicine Center for Comprehensive Spine Care, New York, Presbyterian
 Medicine Center for Comprehensive Spine Care, New York, NY, USA

 Hospital, Weilt Cornell Brain and Spine Institute, New York, NY, USA
 Min Wu, MD, PhD. Department of Spine Surgery, Zhejiang Spine

 Surgery Centre, The Second Affiliated Hospital and Yuving Children's
 Surgery Centre, The Second Affiliated Hospital and Yuving Children's

 Medicine Wenzhou Medical University, The Second School of
 Medicine Wenzhou, China

 of Zhejiang Province, Wenzhou, China
 Original Province, Wenzhou, China

QIMS QUANTITATIVE IMAGING IN MEDICINE AND SURGERY





Australia, 1.32%

Geographical Distribution of Editorial Board Members





qims.amegroups.com

AME BOOKS

-00-





update on February 6, 2018